# IN THE ENVIRONMENT COURT AT CHRISTCHURCH

#### I TE KŌTI TAIAO O AOTEAROA KI ŌTAUTAHI

#### ENV-2024-CHC-

Under	The Resource Management Act 1991 (the <b>Act</b> )
In the Matter	of an appeal pursuant to clause 14 of schedule 1 of the Act
Between	AURORA ENERGY LIMITED, NETWORK WAITAKI LIMITED AND POWERNET LIMITED Appellant
And	OTAGO REGIONAL COUNCIL Respondent

## NOTICE OF APPEAL TO ENVIRONMENT COURT AGAINST DECISION ON PROPOSED OTAGO REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF AURORA ENERGY LIMITED, NETWORK WAITAKI LIMITED AND POWERNET LIMITED

**DATED 14 MAY 2024** 



GALLAWAY COOK ALLAN LAWYERS

Bridget Irving / Simon Peirce bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz simon.peirce@gallawaycookallan.co.nz PO Box 143 Dunedin 9054 Ph: (03) 477 7312 Fax: (03) 477 5564

## NOTICE OF APPEAL TO ENVIRONMENT COURT AGAINST DECISION ON PROPOSED OTAGO REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF AURORA ENERGY LIMITED, NETWORK WAITAKI LIMITED AND POWERNET LIMITED

To: the Registrar Environment Court Christchurch Registry

#### May it please the Court:

- Aurora Energy Limited (Aurora Energy), Network Waitaki Limited (Network Waitaki) and PowerNet Limited (PowerNet) (together Appellant or EDBs) appeal against a decision of the Otago Regional Council on the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 (Non-Freshwater Parts) (PORPS).
- 2. The Appellant made original and further submission on the PORPS:
  - (i) Aurora Energy Original Submission 0315 and Further Submission FS003153.
  - (ii) Network Waitaki Original Submission 0320 and Further Submission FS003203.
  - (iii) Powernet Original Submission 0511.
- The Appellant is not a trade competitor for the purposes of section 308D of the Act.
- 4. The Appellant received notice of the decision on 30 March 2024.

- 5. The decision was made by Otago Regional Council.
- 6. The Appellant appeals those parts of the decision that relate to its electricity distribution network in Otago; specifically (although not exclusively due to consequential amendments sought in this appeal):
  - (a) Part 2 Resource Management Overview:
    - (i) Definitions / Interpretation.
    - (ii) SRMR Significant resource management issues for the region.
  - (a) Part 3 Domains and Topics:
    - (i) CE Coastal environment.
    - (ii) LF Land and freshwater.
    - (iii) ECO Ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity.
    - (iv) EIT Energy, infrastructure and transport.
    - (v) HAZ Natural Hazards.
    - (vi) UFD Urban form and development.

#### The reasons for this appeal are:

- 7. The EDBs supply electricity to all the homes, communities, business and emergency services in Otago:
  - (a) Aurora Energy is the largest network operating in Otago and supplies approximately 92,000 customers across two noncontiguous networks in Dunedin, Central Otago and the Queenstown Lakes District.

- (b) PowerNet is a network management company which is contracted by OtagoNet Joint Venture to maintain and operate its network. That network is largely to the north and south of Dunedin, servicing towns south from Waihola, Balclutha, Lawrence and Clinton, and towns to the north of Dunedin including Waitati, Palmerston, Macrae Mine and Ranfurly.
- (c) Network Waitaki serves customers in north Otago and parts of the Canterbury region with the network extending from the Mackenzie Basin around Omarama and Ōhau to Oamaru.
- 8. The EDBs perform a critical function through the operation, maintenance, upgrade and development of the electricity distribution network. These networks provide the link between the National Grid and electricity consumers. It is essential that the PORPS recognise the critical role that the EDBs play in the function of society.
- 9. There is no direct recognition of electricity distribution in the RMA framework. This is unlike electricity generation and transmission which are both recognised through respective national policy statements as being infrastructure of national or regional significance. However, without a distribution network to carry that electricity to the end user the goals of the generation providers and transmission network will not be realised. This omission from the national planning instruments does not indicate a lack of importance in the context of the PORPS.
- 10. The Decision identified the regional significance of parts of the electricity distribution networks. Having done that the provisions must address this physical resource and achieve integrated management of it, alongside the other natural and physical resources of the reason. The Appellant considers that the PORPS does not provide for sustainable management of natural and physical resources in the region.

- 11. The entirety of the EDBs electricity distribution networks are classified as lifeline utilities by the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002. As a consequence, the EDBs networks must be maintained, developed or upgraded where necessary to ensure that critical function can be sustained during emergencies, particularly following natural hazard events. The frequency and severity of some natural hazards is projected to worsen because of climate change. The PORPS has erred by failing to include provisions to support the development or upgrade of the electricity network where required to adapt to the effects of natural hazards.
- 12. The PORPS does not adequately protect the existing electricity distribution network from reverse sensitivity effects created by urban intensification and expansion. Through a wholesale rewrite of the UFD Chapter, the PORPS has increased the risk of reverse sensitivity effects on the existing electricity distribution network by failing to incorporate provisions which seek to recognise and provide for its integration with built form. The evidence lodged by the EDBs was that this was an increasing issue as local authorities respond to the National Policy Statement on Urban Development. The decision has therefore failed to respond to that evidence.
- 13. The decision refused the Appellant's submission that sought a bespoke effects management hierarchy for the management of its network across areas of indigenous biodiversity, waterbodies, significant and outstanding natural landscapes and features, areas of significant cultural value (including heritage areas and wāhi tupuna). The basis of that refusal was (inter alia) that the PORPS must observe relevant environmental bottom lines required by Part 2 of the Act. In making that decision, the PORPS has failed to consider, or properly evaluate the evidence of the EDB's planning witness which was that those bottom lines were being observed and appropriately provided whilst also enabling the important functions of the electricity network.

- 14. Additionally, the decision fails to provide an appropriate consent pathway with respect to activities that need to occur within the coastal environment. Rather, the PORPS has been framed as a reflection of the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement without addressing complex issues around how the values of the coastal environment are to be provided for against the essential nature of the provision of infrastructure. The provisions of the NZCPS have been applied in absolute terms.
- 15. The PORPS fails to give effect to the provisions of the National Policy Statement for Urban Development, the National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity, National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management, National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land and the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement. In doing so, the PORPS fails to properly account for the functional needs and operational needs of the electricity distribution network which may need to locate in the environments subject to those policy statements. The PORPS needs to set out a framework for achieving the outcomes of the relevant national direction and the regional objectives associated with regionally significant infrastructure and reconcile any apparent conflicts between those elements.
- 16. The PORPS fails to recognise the role that electricity distribution networks have in achieving the objectives of the National Policy Statement for Renewable Electricity Generation as well as New Zealand's goals, targets and aspirations for reducing greenhouse gas emissions pursuant to the Emissions Reduction Plan.
- 17. These failures mean that the PORPS does not achieve integrated management of resources for Otago as is required by s 59 of the Act or achieve the purpose of the Act as set out in Part 2.

#### The Appellants seek the following relief:

- 18. The Appeal be allowed.
- 19. Amendments to the provisions outlined at **Appendix 1**, which for the avoidance of doubt, should not be considered to limit the generality of the relief sought by this notice or the Appellants original or further submissions.
- 20. Such further, other or consequential relief to give effect to the original and further submissions, and the reasons given in this notice of appeal.

#### The following documents are enclosed to this notice:

- 21. Appendix 1: Relief Sought
- 22. **Appendix 2**: A copy of the PORPS decision (limited to the non-freshwater parts only).
- 23. **Appendix 3**: A copy of the Appellant's original submission and further submissions, comprising:
  - (a) Aurora Energy Original Submission 0315
  - (b) Network Waitaki Original Submission 0320.
  - (c) PowerNet Original Submission 0511.
  - (d) Aurora Energy Further Submission FS003153.
  - (e) Network Waitaki Further Submission FS003203.
- 24. **Appendix 4**: A list of names of all submitters on the PORPS who will be served with a copy of this notice.



S R Peirce Solicitor for the Appellant

Dated 14 May 2024

Service details for Appellant

Attention	Bridget Irving / Simon Peirce
Address	Gallaway Cook Allan Lawyers
	123 Vogel Street, Level 2
	DUNEDIN 9054
Telephone	(03) 477 7312
Fax	(03) 477 5564
Email (preferred)	bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
	simon.peirce@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
	l

#### Appendix 1: Relief Sought

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
Interpreta	ition		
1.	Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure	The Appellants seek that this definition be updated to remove the requirement that significant electricity distribution infrastructure be identified on a district plan. As lifeline utilities the Appellants have a duty to ensure that their networks are able to function to the fullest possible extent, even though this may be at a reduced level, during and after an emergency. Although this obligation applies to the entire network (at all times) the reality is that there are key parts of the network which have a greater importance to enable this function. The Appellant's networks are constantly being developed, maintained and upgraded in order to create a resilient network that achieves this purpose. As a consequence, parts of the network may become SEDI but not receive policy recognition until district plan maps have been amended. That is not an appropriate approach for a Regional Policy Statement, because it will effectively prevent the policies having effect until District Plans have been amended. In reality the PORPS needs to create the policy imperative for District Plans to be amended.	<ul> <li>Amend the definition of Signific follows:</li> <li>Significant Electricity Distribution infrastructure ide distribution infrastructure ide 1. Essential and emergency sectors hospitals and lifeline utilities</li> <li>2. Other regionally significant is requiring supply of 1MW or</li> <li>3. 700 or more consumers; or</li> <li>4. Communities that are isolate supply in the event the line of are difficult to replace in the</li> </ul>
	Significant resource manage		
<b>SRMR – S</b> 2.	Significant resource manage SRMR-I10A – The social, cultural and economic well-being of Otago's communities depends on the use and development of natural and physical resources, but that use and development can compromise or conflict with the achievement of	<ul> <li>The Appellant sought inclusion of a bespoke issues statement applicable to its electricity distribution network to reflect the challenging intersectionality between its requirements to: <ol> <li>Provide electricity supply to consumers who may choose to locate anywhere.</li> <li>Provide for the functional needs and operational needs of the network.</li> <li>Locate in sensitive environments, of which Otago has many.</li> <li>Create a resilient network against a backdrop of increasing challenges associated with climate change, ambitious goals to reduce GHG emissions and a stated desire by the market to electrify the economy.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Amend SRMR - 10A by:</li> <li>1. Replacing it with the ve Statement from the Pla produced below.</li> <li>2. As secondary or alterna Decisions version to ind</li> <li>3. As further alternative re incorporating the relief</li> </ul>

#### addition) (strikethrough = removal)

icant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure as

#### bution Infrastructure means electricity dentified in a district plan which supplies:

services (such as <u>emergency services and</u> <u>es</u> facilities);

*t infrastructure* or individual consumers r more;

ated and which do not have an alternative e or cable is compromised and where the assets ne event of failure.

version described in the Joint Witness lanning Experts dated 22 March 2023 (**JWS**),

native relief, making amendments to the ncorporate the JWS version. relief, amend the Decisions version text by of sought in the original submission.

omic and cultural well-being of people and Ith and safety, relies on infrastructure. eration and development can conflict with nvironmental objectives.

beople, communities and the economy to thrive. by transport networks (land, sea and air), water ewater and stormwater reticulation), energy distribution networks, (electricity, gas and liquid networks (wired and wireless), communities other, people's health and wellbeing would

Appeal P Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
		<ul> <li>sensitive environments from inappropriate development against the need to locate infrastructure. However, that issue statement falls short in the following ways:</li> <li>Places limited weight on the importance of infrastructure to the social, cultural and economic wellbeing of the region. The RPS decision instead includes vague comments on infrastructure having benefits. The decision should be equivocal about those benefits.</li> <li>Does not consider the relationship between electricity generation/transmission/distribution and the reduction in GHG emissions/electrifying the economy. Although climate change is addressed elsewhere, there is a need to overtly recognise this relationship given those parties will have a role in meeting national targets.</li> <li>Fails to consider the reverse sensitivity effect of land use activities on existing infrastructure networks which can limit the ability to operate and maintain those networks or allow for planned upgrades and developments.</li> <li>Fails to consider that, in some instances, it may be necessary for regionally significant infrastructure to locate in sensitive environments desplite doing all practicable things to locate elsewhere or minimise effects. INF-P13 provides for this outcome, so it should be reflected in the SRMR so that the region understands that this may be a possibility.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>suffer, and opportunities for group infrastructure also provides environments structure in Otago is infrastructure is a significant pheauthority boundaries and different environments such as coastal a natural features and outstandin of significance to Kai Tahu. In mavoided because of functional not orecognise the importance of and to enable appropriate providup grading, operation and mainter to recognise the importance of and to enable appropriate providup grading, operation and mainter to be able to function during environments such as wates of this infrastructure is classified to be able to function during environing infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remain fit for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remain fit for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remain fit for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remain fit for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remewable electricity in national greenhouse graves in first for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example infrastructure has a number of a demographic change a remewable electricity in national greenhouse graves in first for purpose to and economy;</li> <li>improving providing safe drinking well as adapting to new a dapting to new and economy;</li> <li>improving infrastructure for example intervents including, streeter including, streeter including and replacement and resilience; and</li> <li>cost pressures - infrast large up-front costs to a to be planned years in the through rebuilding, streeter including example:</li> <li>For the transport sector and supporting people adopt low-emission velt transport and freight.</li></ul>

rowth and development would be limited. nvironmental benefits, for example renewable New Zealand's greenhouse gas emissions. is regionally or nationally significant.

ohysical resource that often crosses local rent zones, and can impact on sensitive areas, significant natural areas, outstanding ing natural landscapes, heritage sites and areas many cases some adverse effects cannot be I needs and operational needs. There is a need f infrastructure to the wellbeing of communities vision of new infrastructure, as well as the ntenance of existing infrastructure.

s communication, electricity generation and cluding airports, as well as the provision of ter supply and wastewater management. Much ed as lifeline utility infrastructure, which needs mergencies and recover quickly following major ters.

challenges for example:

and economic growth – infrastructure must to serve a growing and changing population

re quality – such as reducing carbon emissions, g water, and lifting environmental quality, as w technologies;

nange – such as recognising the role of in reducing fossil fuel use and responding to gas emission reduction targets;

hazards – providing resilience including rengthening or relocating existing infrastructure;

ate, maintain and renew infrastructure – ongoing nt of aging infrastructure and ensuring safety

structure investment is long term and involves develop and upgrade, and funding often needs advance meaning that certainty is important to

on many infrastructure providers to meet rgets and associated strategies or plans. For

or, there is a focus on reducing reliance on cars e to walk, cycle and use public transport; rapidly ehicles; and begin work to decarbonise heavy

tor, there is a need to develop considerable new generation capacity throughout New Zealand, and distribute that electricity to end users;

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
			reduce reliance on foss markets; and reduce en
			National policy statements prov and operation of infrastructure a effects of other activities (NPSR sensitive environments and natu Tensions between these direction ongoing provision of infrastructu and the health and safety of cor
			Impact Snapshot Environmental Infrastructure providers have a l emissions through development reducing carbon emissions. Infra solutions reducing demand for th connections).
			Infrastructure can have adverse be appropriately managed. How upgrading and development is f operational needs that impose le the extent to which it is feasible the environment.
			There are sensitive environmen infrastructure development and unavoidable to locate infrastruct
			Incompatible activities in close p adverse effects and reverse ser upgrade and development of int
			<b>Economic</b> Infrastructure supports economic particularly for the larger towns a destinations like Queenstown, w Efficient and effective transport communications, water, wastew electricity generation and conver- wider economic success of the i
			Inter-regional links such as trans traversing or originating from the other regions and New Zealand
			Electricity generation, transmiss the economic wellbeing of peop electricity assets and networks a and incompatible activities may develop the networks; increase not meeting demand.
			There has been, and is likely to our communities work and live,

ssil fuels and exposure to volatile global fuel emissions and energy use.

ovide directions for enabling the development e and the protection of infrastructure from the SREG, NPSET, NPSUD); and the protection of atural resources (NZCPS, NPSFM, NPSHPL). ctions need to be resolved to enable appropriate cture for social, economic and cultural wellbeing ommunities.

a huge role to play in enabling net-zero carbon ent of renewable electricity generation and afrastructure can also support work from home r travel (e.g., providing quality broadband

se effects on the environment, which needs to owever, infrastructure operation, maintenance, s frequently limited by functional needs and e locational and design constraints and can limit le to avoid or mitigate some adverse effects on

ents that are vulnerable to change from ad growth. In some instances, it may be acture in these areas.

e proximity to infrastructure can have direct ensitivity effects on the operation, maintenance, infrastructure.

mic growth and development. Within Otago, and s and cities and international tourism , well-functioning infrastructure is essential. rt infrastructure including airports, ewater and stormwater, as well as resilient veyance, is critical to support tourism and the e region.

ansport, electricity and communication networks the Otago Region also supports the economy of and generally.

ssion and distribution networks are critical to ople, industry, and communities. Impacts on s arising from natural hazards, climate change ay compromise the ability to operate, maintain or the the risk of network faults; or reduced supply

o continue to be, significant changes in the way e, with many now working remotely or from

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
			home. Reliable and efficient infr changes. Failing to proactively r the infrastructure and a lack of i strategic planning for land-use a for providers to provide secure a
			<b>Social</b> The ability to access reliable infu When these services are not availand wellbeing of families and co healthcare, reduced access to re others and disruptions to supply as drinking water and food supply to day infrastructure will be prov
			Infrastructure needs to be safe. to avoid serious injury or loss of
CE – Coas	tal Environment		
3.	CE-O5 – Activities in the	The New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement was issued prior to the New Zealand Planning	Amend CE-O5 as follows:
	Coastal Environment	Standards 2019. Since then, it has become common practice in New Zealand to use both <i>functional needs</i> and <i>operational needs</i> when referring to the constraints of infrastructure.	CE–O5 – Activities in the coas
		The terms are defined as:	Activities in the coastal environm
		<i>Functional need</i> means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that	(1) make efficient use of space of
		environment.	(2) are of a scale, density and de
		Operational need means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because of technical, logistical or operational	(3) are only provided for within a acknowledging that some activit need to be located in the coasta
		characteristics or constraints.	(4) maintain or enhance public a including for customary uses, su
		It is a requirement for the PORPS to give effect to the NZCPS. The decision appears to have limited the consideration to <i>functional needs</i> for that reason. However, this only goes so far in terms of providing for the technical constraints when considering whether to operate in the coastal environment. Although not included in the NZCPS, it is considered that the inclusion of this term would not be contrary to the NZCPS and would continue to give effect to that document.	access needs to be restricted for cultural sensitivity.
4.	CE-P1 – Links with other chapters	Refer to reasons on appeal at Relief point [11].	Amend CE-P1 such that the EIT
			CE–P1 – Links with other chap

frastructure is essential to supporting these manage incompatible activities in proximity to integrated management and long-term activities can impact negatively on the ability and reliable services.

nfrastructure networks is part of our way of life. available there are direct impacts on the health communities, such as schools closing, lack of recreation, an inability to communicate with ally networks for basic goods and services such oply. There is a community expectation that day ovided at all times.

e. Roads for example need to be fit for purpose of life.

#### astal environment

nment:

e occupied in the coastal marine area,

design compatible with their location,

appropriate locations and limits vities have a functional need <u>and operational</u> tal environment, and

e access to and along the coastal marine area, such as mahika kai, except where public for reasons of health and safety or ecological or

IT Chapter applies to the coastal environment.

apters

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
			(1) the provisions of the ECO, E environment, except for the follo
			(a) ECO-P3 to ECO-P6 and ass
			(b) EIT-INF-P13 and associated
			(c) HAZ-NH-P1 to HAZ-NH- P4
			(2) the provisions within the follo the provisions within this chapted
5.	CE-P4 – Natural Character	As it stands, the Coastal Environment Chapter provides little to no direction about the operation and maintenance of existing infrastructure (particularly RSI) or providing for the upgrade and development of that infrastructure where there is a demonstrated functional	Amend CE-P4 by either amendir introducing a new sub-clause wh uses.
		need or operational need.	(X) recognising and providing for
		Policy 1 of the NZCPS specifically recognises that the coastal environment <i>includes physical resources and built features, including infrastructure, that have modified</i> that environment. Although that has been reflected in CE-P2 there has been no commensurate recognition in CE-P4 or CE-P9 to direct how management of those existing activities is to	As additional and alternative reli include a carve out provision wh from the electricity network, as for
		occur. In many cases, the functional needs and operational needs of the electricity network will	(X) manage electricity distribution <u>PXXA.</u>
6.	CE-P9	require that the maintenance or upgrade of existing assets as opposed to the development of new assets. This may be a preferable approach in terms of reducing occupation in the coastal environment but should similarly be recognised as a land use that should be provided for.	Introduce a new Policy EIT-INF- electricity distribution network in
		CE-P9 is the sole policy dealing with activities in the coastal environment but does little to	EIT-INF-PXXA – Managing effect
		direct the effects management that is required to achieve the objectives of the chapter, beyond repeating the NZCPS. Through its submissions and expert evidence, the Appellant	within the coastal environment
		sought to introduce a carve out provision with respect to activities in the coastal	When providing for new electrici
		environment.	upgrading and maintenance of e
		Proposed Policy EIT-INF-PXXA was designed replace EIT-INF-P13A in so far as it relates	environment manage adverse en
		to electricity distribution infrastructure. This policy is required manage adverse effects of activities located within the coastal environment in areas identified as having outstanding	(1) Giving preference to avoiding
		natural character values to give effect to the Policy 13 of the NZCPS. Policy 13 of the	<u>coastal environment:</u>
		NZCPS requires the avoidance of adverse effects of activities in outstanding natural character areas and the avoidance of significant adverse effects in areas with high natural	<u>i. Areas of significant indige</u> indigenous fauna <u>:</u>
		character values.	ii. Outstanding natural char
		In order to ensure that the policy gives effect to the NZCPS, EIT-INF-PXXA applies to all	iii. Outstanding natural feat
		areas of the coastal environment that are identified as areas of outstanding natural	including seascapes;
		character, and it requires, as a first step, the avoidance of infrastructure locating in areas of outstanding natural character, outstanding natural landscapes and outstanding natural	(2) Where it is not practicable to
		features in the coastal environment, and areas of significant indigenous vegetation and	because of the functional needs
		significant habitats of indigenous fauna in the coastal environment.	i. Avoid adverse effects on
			outstanding nature of (1) i-

EIT, and HAZ chapters apply within the coastal illowing provisions:

ssociated methods,

<del>od methods,</del>

4 and associated methods, and

ollowing chapters of this RPS apply in addition to oter:

ding existing subclauses of that policy or which recognises and provides for existing

for existing uses by applying CE-P9.

elief related to appeals on the EIT Section, to which directs the consideration of effects arising follows:

tion infrastructure in accordance with EIT-EN-

F-PXXA to address effects management of the in the coastal environment.

ects of electricity distribution infrastructure

icity distribution infrastructure and the f existing infrastructure within the coastal effects of infrastructure, by: ing its location in all of the following within the

ligenous vegetation and significant habitats of

haracter;

atures and outstanding natural landscapes,

to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above ds and operational needs of that infrastructure: on the values that contribute to the significant or i-iii;

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
		The drafting of Policy EIT-EN-PXXA closely matches the drafting of Policy 4.3.4 of the	ii. Avoid significant adverse
		Partially Operative Otago RPS, which was settled via mediation.	landscapes in all other area
			(3) In the event of any conflict
			this regional policy statement, E
LF – Land	and freshwater		
7.	LF-FW-P12	EIT-INF-P13 cross-references LF-FW-P12 as the method by which effects arising from	Amend this policy to include a
		infrastructure are to be managed in respect of outstanding waterbodies. However, this	from inappropriate development
		provision does not at all, direct how the effects of infrastructure should be managed. Instead, it simply requires the values of significant and outstanding water bodies to be	LF-FW-P12 – Identifying and r
		protected. How they might be protected against inappropriate development is not provided for in the policy.	Identify outstanding water bodies
			in the relevant regional plans and
		The Appellant's submission sought a bespoke effects management hierarchy to manage the effects arising from the development of the electricity network and requiring sequential	<b>°</b>
		steps be followed to minimise adverse effects on the values that contributed to the	inappropriate development.
8.	LF-FW-P13 – Preserving natural character and instream values	protection of the relevant environment, including by:	
		i. Avoiding adverse effects, where practicable;	Amend LF-FW-P13 to provide a management for outstanding wa
			character and instream values to
		ii. Where adverse effects cannot be practicably avoided, they are remedied to the extent practicable;	
		iii. Where adverse effects cannot be practicably remedied, they are mitigated to the extent practicable	(X) despite (1)-(9), in the case of managed in accordance with EI
		The outcome sought by the Appellant would have provided a more robust framework for environmental protection than LF-FW-P12 currently provides.	
		Finally, this policy seeks to protect those waterbodies from any adverse effects on the	
		relevant values as opposed to just inappropriate development. Due to the functional needs	
		and operational needs of infrastructure it may be unavoidable to locate in these	
		environments. Where that is the case, there should be a consenting pathway that provides for this, while seeking to reduce adverse effects as far as possible.	
		It is quite possible that the cross-reference in EIT-INF-P13 is incorrect and should refer to	
		LF-FW-P13 which does provide for the management of effects. The Appellant's submission sought that the effects of the development of its network be addressed by way of the	
		proposed effects management hierarchy referred above. Other than a blanket refusal of all	
		bespoke effects management hierarchies, the decision does not consider whether the	
		submission was not fit for purpose for managing effects in that environment.	
ECO – Ec	osystems and indigenous b	iodiversity	
9.	ECO-P2, ECO-P3, ECO-	Refer to reasons on appeal at Relief point [11].	Consequential relief to these pol
	P4, ECO-P5 and ECO-P6		addressed by proposed policy at

se effects on natural character and natural reas of the coastal environment. It between EIT-INF-PXXA and other policies in EIT-INF-PXXA prevails over those policies.

a proviso that the relevant values as protected nt:

#### I managing outstanding water bodies

ies and their significant and outstanding values and district plans and protect those values *from* 

a new sub-clause that directs effects water bodies and preserving the natural to EIT-INF-P13 as sought by this appeal.

of infrastructure the effects of the activity are EIT-INF-PXX.

Consequential relief to these policies to provide a carve out for effects to be addressed by proposed policy at [11] or as otherwise required to enable

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
			specified infrastructure as provid Indigenous Biodiversity 2023.
EIT – Enei	rgy, infrastructure and	d transport	
10.	EIT-EN-P8	The Appellant sought to amend this policy to recognise the connection between community scale distributed electricity generation and the distribution network. The necessity and prevalence of the connection between community scale generation (including micro-generation) was detailed in the evidence of Megan Justice but does not feature in the decision. Enabling generation sources to connect to the distribution network is an important source of distributed energy to be fed back supplied to the community. Distributed Energy Generation has an important role to play in building network resilience and providing electricity efficiently due to reduced transmission loses. Therefore achieving the objectives of the NPSREG is reliant on the distribution network. Although small-scale generation is seeing an increased uptake in urban settings (where connection to the network can be facilitated very easily) there are isolated communities in rural or peri-urban communities who rely on small-scale generation as either the primary or secondary form of electricity (in the case of a fault on the network). Communities in those areas, like Glenorchy or Makarora may also be located in a sensitive landscape and face some difficulty when trying to consent a connection back to the network. It is therefore important to ensure that the barriers to enabling this type of generation are reduced in order to help achieve New Zealand's ambitious GHG reduction targets.	Amend EIT-EN-P8 as follows: Provide for small and communit, activities that increase the local supply, including by providing fo
11.	EIT-INF-P13 New Policy	<ul> <li>Part of the Appellant's primary relief was to provide a bespoke effects management regime for the management of effects of its electricity distribution network on various sensitive environments, including:</li> <li>(a) significant natural areas,</li> <li>(b) outstanding natural features and outstanding natural landscapes,</li> <li>(c) natural wetlands,</li> <li>(d) outstanding water bodies,</li> <li>(f) areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage, and</li> <li>(g) wāhi tūpuna</li> <li>The policy was adapted from EIT-INF-P13 and shares commonalities with the decisions version of that provision, except in the following material ways:</li> <li>1. EIT-INF-P13 still directs attention to various other policies in the RPS, including ECO, FW, WT and the NESF which contain their own effects management regimes.</li> <li>2. All infrastructure, that is not RSI, requires all adverse effects on the value of the relevant sensitive environment to be avoided.</li> </ul>	Insert a new policy to the POF EIT-INF-PXX – Locating and m network infrastructure outside When providing for new electricit (1) avoid, where practicable, loc (a) significant natural areas (b) outstanding natural feat (c) natural wetlands, (d) outstanding water bodie (f) areas or places of signif (g) wāhi tūpuna (2) if it is not practicable to avoid because of the functional nem manage adverse effects as f (a) for electricity distribution Natural Areas, in according
		The decision records that many infrastructure providers sought their own effects management hierarchy to replace EIT-INF-P13 this provision. The panel's view was that	(b) for electricity sub-transi
		management merarchy to replace EIT-INF-PT3 this provision. The parters view was that	electricity distribution i

#### addition) (<del>strikethrough</del> = removal)

rided by the National Policy Statement on

ity scale distributed electricity generation al community's resilience and security of energy for connection to the distribution network.

#### RPS to address the following:

#### managing effects of electricity distribution de the coastal environment

city distribution network infrastructure

ocating in all of the following: as, atures and outstanding natural landscapes,

<u>lies,</u> ificant or outstanding historic heritage, and

bid locating in the areas listed in (1) above eeds or operational needs of the infrastructure, follows: on network infrastructure within Significant ordance with Policy ECO-P4 smission infrastructure and significant infrastructure:

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a
		there does not appear to be anything gained by having a separate provision for every type of infrastructure given that each environment has their own "environmental bottom line".	(i) in natural wetlands in the NESF, (ii) in other areas liste
		The evidence of Megan Justice addressed the relevant bottom lines extensively in evidence before the hearing panel. There was no suggestion from the panel that those environmental bottom lines would not be addressed by the proposed provisions. Despite that, there appears to be a philosophical opposition to the submissions from various parties seeking a carve out from EIT-INF-P13 so that the PORPS is not flooded by a myriad of effects managements hierarchies. Whether a new management regime is warranted is a matter to be considered on the merits of the infrastructure and as against the relevant bottom lines. Besides roads (but perhaps even more so) the electricity distribution network is perhaps the most widespread of the infrastructure networks. It is required to be located in any sensitive environment because that is where its consumers are located. There is no dispute that the PORPS must give effect to environmental bottom lines, insofar as that statement goes. But given the sprawling nature of the Appellant's network it is considered that a single policy is required which addresses effects management across in a consistent way.	of the infrastructu importance, by: i. Avoiding adv ii. Where adver they are rem iii. Where adver they are rem iii. Where adver they are mitin (c) for all electricity distribut regionally significant infras listed in (1) above, avoid so or mitigate all other advers area's outstanding nature (3) in other areas outside the area mitigate adverse effects and for effects in accordance with Policy (4) in the event of any conflict be regional policy statement, EIT-IN The Appellant also seeks consect ECO, HAZ, LF and NFL to provid As alternative relief, to amend th LF-FW-P12 with LF-FW-P13
12.	EIT-INF-P13 New Policy		Insert a new policy to the POF
			EIT-INF-PXXA – Managing effect infrastructure within the coast When providing for new electricit upgrading and maintenance of electricit (1) Giving preference to avoid (1) Giving p

#### addition) (<del>strikethrough</del> = removal)

ds, in accordance with the relevant provisions

sted in (1) above, manage the adverse effects ture on the values that contribute to the area's

dverse effects, where practicable; erse effects cannot be practicably avoided, medied to the extent practicable; erse effects cannot be practicably remedied, itigated to the extent practicable;

ibution network infrastructure that is not astructure, where located within the areas d significant adverse effects and avoid remedy erse effects on the values that contribute to the re or significance, where practicable; and

areas listed in (1) above, avoid, remedy or or effects on indigenous biodiversity manage cy ECO-P6

between EIT-INF-PXX and other policies in this INF-PXX prevails over those policies.

equential relief is also sought to HCV, EIT, vide for the reasons of this appeal.

the cross-reference in EIT-INF-P13 to replace

#### ORPS as follows:

#### ffects of electricity distribution

#### stal environment

icity distribution infrastructure and the

existing infrastructure within the coastal

effects of infrastructure, by:

ding its location in all of the following within the

ous vegetation and significant habitats of

cter;

		iii. Outstanding natural feature         including seascapes;         (2) Where it is not practicable         above because of the funct         i. Avoid adverse effect         significant or outstar         ii. Avoid significant ad         landscapes in all oth         (2) In the event of any conflict to         this regional policy statement         Any consequential relief to the C         of this appeal.
		<ul> <li>(2) Where it is not practicable above because of the function i. Avoid adverse effections significant or outstart ii. Avoid significant ad landscapes in all oth (2) In the event of any conflict the this regional policy statement of the consequential relief to the Consequence of the consequence</li></ul>
		above because of the func <u>i. Avoid adverse effect</u> <u>significant or outstar</u> <u>ii. Avoid significant ad</u> <u>landscapes in all oth</u> (2) <u>In the event of any conflict the</u> <u>this regional policy statement</u> Any consequential relief to the C
		<ul> <li><u>i. Avoid adverse effect</u> significant or outstar</li> <li><u>ii. Avoid significant ad</u> landscapes in all oth</li> <li>(2) In the event of any conflict to this regional policy statement</li> <li>Any consequential relief to the C</li> </ul>
		significant or outstan ii. Avoid significant ad landscapes in all oth (2) In the event of any conflict b this regional policy statemen Any consequential relief to the C
		ii. Avoid significant ad landscapes in all oth (2) In the event of any conflict b this regional policy statement Any consequential relief to the C
		Iandscapes in all oth         (2) In the event of any conflict b         this regional policy statement         Any consequential relief to the C
		<ul> <li>(2) <u>In the event of any conflict to this regional policy statement</u></li> <li>Any consequential relief to the C</li> </ul>
		this regional policy statement Any consequential relief to the C
		Any consequential relief to the C
		Any consequential relief to the C
effects of climate change. The purpose of this policy was to address an existing policy gap with respect to the role of the electricity distribution network in adapting to the increasing frequency and severity of climate change related natural hazards, particularly severe weather events such as storm flooding, rainfall, and ancillary effects	HAZ-NH-PXX Recognise and provide for the electricity distribution network	
	The Appellant's electricity distribution networks are lifeline utilities and so have a critical	<u>1) Encouraging long-term plan</u> distribution network; and
		distribution network, and
	The decision records (by reliance on the s 42A Author Report) that the reasons for the policy are unclear and that HAZ-NH does not prevent the ongoing development of the network for the purposes stated in (1) and (2). That somewhat misses the point of the provision which was to provide additional policy support for particular activities which provide for those outcomes. The idea is that if a new high voltage line was proposed and would have the effect of assisting with the adapting to the effects of climate change, then that line would draw support from this policy and weigh towards consent being granted. An example of this was canvassed in the evidence of Ms Justice (albeit in a different	2) Integrated management with
		<ul> <li>weather events such as storm, flooding, rainfall, and ancillary effects.</li> <li>The Appellant's electricity distribution networks are lifeline utilities and so have a critical function to providing electricity supply to emergency services and vulnerable people in the region.</li> <li>The decision records (by reliance on the s 42A Author Report) that the reasons for the policy are unclear and that HAZ-NH does not prevent the ongoing development of the network for the purposes stated in (1) and (2). That somewhat misses the point of the provision which was to provide additional policy support for particular activities which provide for those outcomes. The idea is that if a new high voltage line was proposed and would have the effect of assisting with the adapting to the effects of climate change, then that line would draw support from this policy and weigh towards consent being granted.</li> </ul>

16

#### addition) (<del>strikethrough</del> = removal)

es and outstanding natural landscapes,

e to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) ctional needs of that infrastructure: cts on the values that contribute to the inding nature of (1) i-iii; dverse effects on natural character and natural her areas of the coastal environment. between EIT-INF-PXXA and other policies in ent, EIT-EN-PXXA prevails over those policies.

CE Chapter in order to provide for the reasons

as set out below:

he ongoing development and upgrade of the to adapt to the effects of climate change by:

nning for the development and upgrade of the

th infrastructure and lifeline utilities.

Appeal Point	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = a	
14.	14. UFD-O1 Development of urban areas		The UFD chapter received a significant overhaul in response to submissions and following on from the introduction of the National Policy Statement on Highly Productive Land. This has resulted in five objectives (including former O2 & O4 which the Appellant's submitted on) being distilled down to UFD-O1. As a consequence of that distillation, the contents of those objectives can now be found throughout policies: 1. UFD-P1 Strategic Planning.	Amend UFD-O1 by recognising <i>infrastructure</i> from the developm activities, including the potential infrastructure to provide for the response to the electrification of
		2. UFD-P3 Urban Intensification.	UFD-O1 -Development of urb	
		<ol> <li>UFD-P3 Urban Expansion.</li> <li>The Appellant had also sought relief seeking the inclusion of a new clause to</li> </ol>	The development and change o and coordinated way, which:	
		Recognise and provide for the distribution network by identifying electricity sub- transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure and	(1) accommodates the diverse a Otago's people and communitie	
	managing effects of potentially incompatible activities.		(2) integrates effectively with su	
		It is management of effects from incompatible activities that is of primary concern to the Appellant. Mapping those lines in District Plan is simply one way of highlighting the location	(2AA) Manages the effects of po operational needs and functional	
		of those lines (beyond simply seeing them on a property) to property developers, existing uses and Councils.	(2A) results in a consolidated, w which is integrated with infrastru	
		Management of incompatible uses, particularly through the development of new built areas	(2B) supports climate change ad	
15.	15. UFD-P1 – Strategic Planning	(whether residential, business, industrial or otherwise) has always been an issue for the Appellant. However, this issue has been, and will be, more prevalent as Councils respond to the National Policy Statement on Urban Development (2020) ( <b>NPSUD</b> ) which requires <i>at least</i> sufficient development capacity be provided for across the short, medium and long-term.	Amend this provision to give effe O1 by requiring urban growth ar increasing the density of existing which that growth or developme effects on existing regionally sig which the provider has indicated undertake in the long-term (inclu	
			UFD-P1 - Strategic planning	
				Strategic planning processes, up precede urban growth and deve
			(1A) ensure <u>the</u> integration of <i>la</i> <u>expansion</u> and <u>with</u> <i>infrastructul development infrastructure</i> and by whom,	
			(8A) identify areas of potential c sets out the methods by which t <u>consultation with infrastructure p</u>	

ng and providing for the management of existing pment of urban areas and incompatible ial maintenance and upgrade of that existing e needs of growing communities and in of the economy.

#### rban areas

of Otago's urban areas occurs in a strategic

e and changing needs and preferences of ties, now and in the future,

surrounding urban areas and rural areas,

potentially incompatible activities on the nal needs of existing infrastructure.

well-connected and well-designed urban form tructure, and

adaptation and climate change mitigation.

effect to the amendment sought to the objective and development planning (including ing residential zones) to consider the extent to nent will create adverse reverse sensitivity significant infrastructure, or such infrastructure ted to the local authority that it plans to cluding as required by the RPS).

undertaken at an appropriate scale and detail, velopment and:

*land* use, <u>urban intensification</u>, <u>urban</u> *ture*, including how, where and when necessary ad *additional infrastructure* will be provided, and

I conflict between incompatible activities and a these are to be resolved, including by e providers.

Appeal	Provision	Reasons for Appeal	Relief Sought ( <u>underlining</u> = ac
Point			
16.	UFD-P3 – Urban Intensification		Amend this provision by requiring avoiding reverse sensitivity effec- including by the following amend <b>UFD-P3 – Urban intensification</b> Manage intensification in urban a  (X) The functional needs and oper infrastructure are not compromise
17.	UFD-P4 - Urban expansion		Amend this provision by requiring reverse sensitivity effects on exis the following amendment: UFD-P4 – Urban expansion Expansion of existing urban area expansion:  (X) Does not compromise the fun existing and planned infrastructur

#### addition) (<del>strikethrough</del> = removal)

ing that urban intensification is managed by ects on existing and planned infrastructure, ndment:

#### ion

n areas, so that as a minimum,

operational needs of existing and planned nised.

ing that urban expansion is managed to avoid xisting and planned infrastructure, including by

eas may occur where at a minimum the

functional needs and operational needs of cture. Appendix 2: Copy of the PORPS decision (limited to the nonfreshwater parts only)



# **Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021**

Report and recommendations of the Non-Freshwater and Freshwater Hearings Panels to the Otago Regional Council

**MARCH 2024** 

# Table of contents

Prologue for the Non-Freshwater and Freshwater reports1	
Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel11 Section 1: Legal issues12	
Section 2: Introduction and general provisions49	
Section 3: Mana whenua and Resource Management Issues of Significance to Iwi Authorities in the Region (MW & RMIA)56	
Section 4: Significant resource management issues for the region (SRMR)68	
Section 5: Integrated Management (IM)81 Section 6: Air (AIR)103	
Section 7: Coastal Environment (CE)116	
Section 8: Land and Freshwater (LF)137	
Section 9: Ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity (ECO)208	
Section 10: Energy, Infrastructure and Transport (EIT)241	
Section 11: Hazards and Risks (HAZ)264	
Section 12: Historical and Cultural Values (HCV)282	
Section 13: Natural Features and Landscapes (NFL)	
Section 14: Urban Form and Development (UFD)	
Appendix Two: Report by the Freshwater Hearings Panel	
Legal issues	
Visions	
Wetlands Issues	
SRMR – Significant Resource Management Issues for the Region400	)
RMIA – Resource Management Issues of Significance to Iwi Authorities in the Region403	
LF – Land and Freshwater404	
LF – FW – Fresh water431	
LF – LS – Land and soils	

## Prologue for the Non-Freshwater and Freshwater reports

- 1. This Prologue is the same for each of the two reports as to the non-freshwater process termed Appendix One, and the freshwater planning instrument (FPI) which is Appendix Two.
- 2. The Prologue is intended to provide a procedural background. It is also intended to serve as an explanatory statement as to why and how the two reports were prepared, and how the two reports' recommendations are to be combined together to achieve one integrated regional policy statement (ORPS).
- 3. It also explains how the various Appendices work in with each other to enable a reader to track outcomes of submissions.

## 1. Background

- 4. The proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 (pORPS) is a critical document for the management of natural and physical resources in Otago underpinning the planning framework across the region.
- 5. The Non-Freshwater Parts of the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 along with the Freshwater Parts will replace the partially operative Otago Regional Policy Statement 2019 (RPS 2019). The RPS 2019 provided an overarching policy framework for the region and will become fully operative in March 2024. The Otago Regional Council notified a reviewed Regional Policy Statement on 26 June 2021.
- 6. The pORPS is a document that directs and informs the content of both regional and district level plans as well as other types of plans and strategies, for example the Regional Land Transport Plan. The structure of the pORPS is significantly different to the RPS 2019, because it aligns with the National Planning Standards introduced in April 2019. The National Planning Standards outline a mandatory structure and format for regional policy statements. Implementing these standards required revisiting many of the provisions and separating parts into different chapters.

## 2. Preliminary Integration Issues

#### 2.1 Statutory background

7. Every regional council is required by the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) to prepare and adopt a regional policy statement.

#### s.60(1) provides:

60. (1) There shall at all times be for each region 1 regional policy statement prepared by the regional council in the manner set out in Schedule 1.

8. Prior to 2020 that was a straightforward process with Schedule 1 requiring readily understood processes involving opportunities for community input through consultation, submission, and further submission processes. Those processes were followed by a standard hearing process, and a straightforward single appeal process utilising one jurisdiction, with all appeals to be by way of re-hearing before the Environment Court.

9. The result of that straightforward process was to be an integrated document. Section 59 provides that the sole purpose of the regional policy statement is for it to provide an <u>integrated</u> overview of the issues for a region:

#### 59 Purpose of regional policy statements

The purpose of a regional policy statement is to achieve the purpose of the Act by providing an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region.

10. That integrated procedural process in Part 5 of the RMA all changed from 1 July, 2020 with the introduction into the RMA of Sub-part 4 of Part 5 which introduced a new provision s.80A. It provides in sub-section 1 that:

#### 80A Freshwater planning process

The purpose of this subpart is to require all freshwater planning instruments prepared by a regional council to undergo the freshwater planning process.

- 11. The same 2020 amendment Act introduced a new freshwater planning process into the RMA which provided for hearings by specifically appointed Freshwater Hearing Panels to hear submissions on 'freshwater instruments'.
- 12. What resulted in Otago over the next two years was that the previous procedural process of straightforward integration for regional policy statements, became a complicated, expensive process bearing more hallmarks of dis-integration rather than integration.

#### 2.2 Otago Regional Council initial processes

- 13. That outcome was no fault at all of the Otago Regional Council (ORC). The ORC just happened to be the first regional council off the block throughout the country required to apply these new mandatory provisions which central government had laid down that it must follow.
- 14. The confusion arose because a regional policy statement must address <u>all</u> resources of a region, including physical and ecological resources including water resources. The ORC was very cognisant that the new definition of *'freshwater instrument'* in s.80A (2) included, at the very least, critical parts of the proposed regional policy statement, such as the objectives.
- 15. ORC did not wish to separate out freshwater aspects of what had been prepared as one integrated document, as the RMA required. It believed it was enabled by the new provisions to treat the whole of the regional policy statement as a freshwater instrument. ORC notified the whole of its new Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement (PORPS) for submissions as an integrated freshwater planning instrument, intending submissions on it would be heard by a freshwater planning panel under the new freshwater planning process.

#### 2.3 High Court declaratory proceedings

16. Because of questions being raised by some submitters about the freshwater planning process being applied to the whole of the regional policy statement, the Otago Regional Council out of understandable caution applied for a declaratory judgment from the High Court. It sought declarations confirming the validity of the course it had adopted in order to achieve the integrated document it was required to prepare.

- 17. However, the subsequent High Court decision in <u>ORC v. Royal Forest & Bird Protection Society</u> <u>of New Zealand Incorporated</u> (2022) NZHC 1777 made it plain that the new legislation did not allow that integrated procedural approach to be followed in respect of the whole of the PORPS.
- 18. The outcome was the making of declarations by the High Court that the ORC had to differentiate between provisions directly relating to the quantity and quality of water, and the other 'non-freshwater' aspects of the PORPS.
- 19. The High Court judgment required that ORC identify the freshwater instrument parts of the PORPS and re-notify those provisions as a freshwater planning instrument. That would require submitters who wished to submit under that freshwater planning process having to file fresh submissions to be heard by a Freshwater Planning Panel. The ORC carried out that separation of freshwater provisions, and their re-notification, by shading those freshwater parts of the PORPS in blue. The non-freshwater aspects then constituted the greater part of the PORPS.
- 20. The High Court endeavoured as far as it could to be pragmatic, by allowing the submissions in respect of the non-freshwater parts of the regional policy statement to be able to proceed utilising the existing submissions on those non-freshwater submission points.

#### 2.4 Processes of the Two Hearing Panels

- 21. Initially four commissioners were then appointed by the ORC to constitute the Non-Freshwater Hearing Panel - those members being R.D.Crosby (Chair), and RMA Commissioners R. Kirikiri, A. Cubitt and B. Sullivan.
- 22. Those hearings proceeded in the first half of 2023. The non-freshwater hearing Panel adjourned those proceedings at the end of hearings in May, 2023 to enable completion of the Freshwater hearing process in the hope that some form of integration of the two processes would be possible once the freshwater hearings had been completed.
- 23. In late 2022 and while the non-freshwater hearings were proceeding in the first half of 2023, the freshwater parts of the PORPS were notified, and submissions and further submissions lodged. The Chief Freshwater Commissioner then pragmatically appointed the same personnel to be the members of a Freshwater Planning Panel, and those freshwater hearings were conducted in August and September, 2023.

#### 2.5 Reporting challenges for the two hearing panels

- 24. So the Alice in Wonderland legal situation we now find ourselves in, is that we must embark on preparation of two separate reports making recommendations to ORC in respect of two entirely separate procedural processes – but in respect of one integrated document, the PORPS. Pursuant to s. 59 of the RMA the purpose of that one document is "...to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region." (Panel's emphasis)
- 25. In summary, in procedural terms we are required to make one set of recommendations which are subject to the non-freshwater hearing process, only on those aspects of the PORPS not shaded blue; and at the same time, we have to make another separate report of recommendations in respect of the freshwater parts, which are shaded in blue.

- 26. However, the overall outcome is required by s. 60 of the RMA to be <u>one</u> regional policy statement document. Section 59 of the RMA requires that one document has the purpose of achieving <u>integrated</u> management of the region's resources.
- 27. During some of the various hearings we have had urged upon us at various times in the two different processes a range of submissions as to the process we must observe. Those submissions have included inter alia that:
  - a. We must not take into account evidence or submissions proffered to us in the other process;
  - b. We cannot recommend changes in the different process that we have noticed require amendment in the other process;
  - c. The non-freshwater process is the 'senior' process and that the freshwater process must be co-ordinated with it;

and even that, (before we were appointed to common membership of both panels);

d. the two panels could not confer to achieve an integrated outcome as they each could only properly take into account material heard in their process;

and finally by ORC in closing on the freshwater hearing process

- e. that an elaborate process of further hearings should be timetabled to enable all submitters and ORC to call evidence and submit as to the impact of freshwater recommendations on the 'non-freshwater planning instrument parts of the RPS', i.e. involving by necessary implication a proposition that the freshwater report preceded the non-freshwater report.
- 28. We cannot see that there is any express statutory guidance providing a 'priority' or 'seniority' of any nature to the non-freshwater process as has been suggested directly, or by implication, in submissions. The sequential timing of non-freshwater and freshwater hearings that has occurred in this Otago setting has come about solely as a practical matter as a result of the High Court directions as to re-notification of the freshwater planning instrument. In our view neither report containing recommendations has any greater legal weight or priority than the other.
- 29. Most aspects of those non-integration approaches that were urged upon us are necessarily resolved by the pragmatic consequence of common membership of the two hearing panels. Each member of the two separate hearing panels has only the one brain we necessarily have been informed by both processes.
- 30. However, despite the best efforts of the High Court, ORC and the Chief Freshwater Commissioner to be pragmatic and enable us to achieve an integrated document, we still face some arguable jurisdictional procedural challenges as to our ability to make recommendations in one or other process. Moreover, we are keenly aware of the differing appeal rights that arise depending upon which process we make a recommendation in, and what that recommendation is – once again these disjuncts in appeal processes have occurred because of central government statutory direction.
- 31. The differences in appeal rights appear to be:

025

- a. In respect of the non-freshwater recommendations appeal rights lie to the Environment Court in the normal way, i.e by way of full re-hearing.
- b. In respect of the freshwater recommendations where ORC accepts our recommendations or accepts our recommendations for alternative relief outside the submission relief sought, appeal rights lie to the High Court, but are restricted to points of law.
- c. In respect of the freshwater recommendations where ORC does not accept our recommendations or does not accept our alternative recommended relief outside the scope of submissions, appeal rights lie to the Environment Court, but do not seem to be restricted to points of law.
- 32. We observe in passing, without having the temerity to express any views on the point, that it is not at all easy to see how the High Court and Environment Court, (and for that matter any higher courts on further appeal where again rights of appeal appear to differ), are to liaise on the different processes to be able to achieve one integrated document. There does not appear to be any clear procedural process provided by the RMA for any co-ordination to occur between the Environment Court and the High Court in respect of appeals relating to the same document but being heard in two different jurisdictions.
- 33. We must also grapple with the probably inevitable problem that some changes we consider are necessary in the PORPS provisions have been raised in or by a freshwater submission, but relate to unshaded non-freshwater provisions, and vice versa, i.e. a non-freshwater submission either expressly, or by implication, or by necessary consequence, affects a freshwater provision.
- 34. In respect of those latter matters we have decided the best we can do is to make the recommendation which best meets the s.59 imperative as to the single purpose of regional policy statements which we repeat is to provide:

... an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region.

- 35. That being the sole purpose of regional policy statements expressed in the RMA, we do not consider that procedural difficulties imposed by inadequate central legislation as to how the two processes are to be melded into the one regional policy statement should stand in the way of people and resources in Otago being able to have <u>one</u> regional policy statement which is intended to achieve <u>integrated</u> management of resources. That is the vital planning base in the RMA upon which regional and district plans are to be prepared.
- 36. Our recommendations will endeavour to identify which recommendations relate to which process, but our overall focus is to achieve one integrated document which works in managing the resources of the region.

# 2.6 Process and format adopted to enable integration of two separate Reports of Recommendations into one planning document

- 37. Since a 2017 amendment the provisions of the RMA now include some overall procedural principles in s.18A. We interpret those principles as being of particular relevance to a situation such as this where a clear procedural lacuna exists. We are required to achieve one integrated planning document, but are required to do that using two entirely different processes which have different appeal rights. The lacuna lies in the fact that there is no statutory procedural guidance as to how we are to integrate the recommendations we make in two separate reports to achieve that one planning document.
- 38. We consider that section 18A provides some helpful guidance:

#### **18A Procedural principles**

*Every person exercising powers and performing functions under this Act must take all practicable steps to—* 

- **a.** use timely, efficient, consistent, and cost-effective processes that are proportionate to the functions or powers being performed or exercised; and
- **b.** ensure that policy statements and plans
  - i. include only those matters relevant to the purpose of this Act; and
    - ii. are worded in a way that is clear and concise; and
- с. ....
- 39. Those provisions of s.18A must also be read and applied in conjunction with the hearings procedure provision s.39 (1) RMA relating to non-freshwater hearing processes. It concludes that a hearing panel in a non-freshwater process *"shall establish a procedure that is appropriate and fair in the circumstances."* In Schedule 1 Part 4 a similar direction is found in clause 48 (1) which provides that a freshwater hearings panel must *"regulate its own proceedings in a manner that is appropriate and fair in the circumstances..."*
- 40. Bearing those various directives in mind we have endeavoured to exercise our recommendatory powers to achieve an efficient and cost-effective process which ensures the purpose of the Act is met. We have sought to do that by ensuring sustainable management of Otago's resources is provided for in one regional policy statement that provides for the integrated management of Otago's resources which is what s.60 of the RMA requires.
- 41. Accordingly we have decided that each set of separate recommendations will have attached to it one final recommended regional policy statement, which will have the same blue shading as was required for the separate hearing processes to mark out the freshwater instrument provisions from the non-freshwater provisions.
- 42. We have also decided that in practical terms we should prepare this Introductory section, which would have been exactly the same for each of our recommendatory reports for each process. It would be contrary to common sense, and unnecessarily repetitive, expensive and pointless to do that.
- 43. Instead we intend to formally record that this introductory part of the report is able to be read and applied in both processes.

- 44. A report by the non-freshwater hearings panel containing recommendations for Otago Regional Council is contained in **Appendix One**.
- 45. A report by the freshwater hearings panel containing recommendations for Otago Regional Council is contained in **Appendix Two**.
- 46. **Appendix Three** is the recommended final form of the <u>one</u> PORPS required by s.60 of the RMA again with blue shading for the freshwater instrument provisions.
- 47. **Appendix Four** is a tracked change version of the original notified version of the PORPS. It is intended to enable submitters to follow the directions we address below under the sub heading of Part Two as to the structure of the reports and recommended PORPS Appendices One, Two and Three. That structure description explains how submitters can determine the reasoning and source of any recommended changes.
- 48. Because of the greater scope to make recommendations outside of relief requested in submissions in the freshwater process, on limited occasions where we encountered such problems we used that process to make recommendations for change. In respect of the non-freshwater text in the PORPS, where we have seen such changes as being necessary, we have recommended them as consequential changes.

## 3. General Observations

- 49. This whole separate hearing process laid down by central government has been required by the RMA to be funded by ORC as the regional council.
- 50. The separation of hearing and decision-making functions has involved a process we consider to be more akin to 'disintegration' rather than 'integration' as required by the RMA for regional policy statements. That 'disintegrating' procedural effect will have added significant extra cost to ORC, and probably will still involve major ongoing extra cost and uncertainty in trying to align any appeal processes.
- 51. We appreciate the following views are outside of our jurisdiction.
- 52. Nonetheless as the closest body informed as a result of having to operate under this system, we felt we should express the view we hold that Central government may wish to consider assisting ORC in meeting the extra cost incurred by it.
- 53. That extra cost burden hopefully will not be faced by other councils, who are fortuitously later in the process than the ORC, given the amendments made belatedly in August 2023 to s.80A of the Resource Management Act by s. 805 (4) of the Natural and Built Environment Act 2023 in an attempt to resolve some of the worst deficiencies in the process. (This whole area has become even more complex in that since drafting of our reports has commenced there has been a change of government and the Natural and Built Environment Act 2023 has already been repealed.)
- 54. It seems wrong that simply being at the front of the queue should result in ORC having to carry such an extra cost burden, that other later regional councils will not have to bear.

## 4. Structure of Recommendations

- 55. It is important that the topic decisions supporting recommendations in each of Appendices One and Two are read as a whole together with the tracked change version of the PORPS in Appendix Four. The decision on each topic contains the reasons for the Panel's recommendations. These comprise either adoption of the reasoning and recommendations of the original Section 42A Report, or the replies by s.42A report writers to evidence, or a specific reasoning by the Panel.
- 56. The tracked change version of the relevant PORPS provisions in Appendix Four forms an integral part of the decisions leading to the recommendations in Appendices One and Two. The source of any change that was dealt with is clearly identified in the track changes version of the PORPS. This records all amendments (additions and deletions) to the notified PORPS provisions recommended to be made by the respective Panels.
- 57. In an effort to avoid repetition and to be able to produce reasonably timely and concise reports, the Panels have relied upon the submission point identification numbers in the section 42A reports to link submitters to particular issues. All chapters will therefore deal with issues without necessarily repeating the particular submission point or identifying the submitter in respect of the submission giving rise to that consideration.
- 58. Where the PORPS provisions <u>remain as notified</u>, it is because:
  - a. The Panel involved has decided to recommend retention of the provision as notified for reasons set out in the relevant subject decision in Appendix One or Two; or
  - b. The Panel adopted the reasoning and recommendation of the Section 42A Report Writer to retain the provision as notified as recommended in the Reply to Evidence by the s.42A report writer; or
  - c. The Panel adopted the reasoning and recommendation of the Section 42A Report to retain the provision as notified in the original Section 42A report.
- 59. Where there is a **<u>change to a provision</u>** within the PORPS it is because:
  - a. The relevant hearing Panel has amended a provision for reasons set out in the relevant subject decision in Appendix One or Two in response to a submission point which the Section 42A report writer(s) does not recommend in their reports; or
  - b. The relevant hearing Panel adopted the reasoning and recommendation of the Section 42A Report Writer to change the provision to that recommended in the Reply to Evidence by the s.42A report writer; or
  - c. The relevant hearing Panel adopted the reasoning and recommendation of the Section 42A Report Writer to change the provision to that recommended in the original Section 42A report; or
  - d. A consequential change has been necessary following on from a decision in either a),b) or c); or
  - e. The Freshwater Panel made a decision on its own volition outside the scope of any particular submission for the reasons set out in Appendix Two.

- 60. Where there is a **different recommendation** between the Section 42A Report and the Reply to Evidence (i.e., the recommendation by the Section 42A report writer(s) has changed as a result of hearing the evidence of submitters), unless the relevant hearing Panel decision in Appendix One or Two specifically adopts the original report's reasoning and recommendations, the reasoning and recommendations in the (later) reply to evidence has been adopted and it must be taken to prevail.
- 61. There are limited circumstances where the Panel has taken the opportunity to give effect to national policy statements or implement national environmental standards. Where this occurs the relevant decision in Appendix One or Two clearly sets out the nature of the change and the reason for the change.
- 62. Finally, there are limited circumstances where the relevant hearing Panel has decided that alternative relief is more appropriate than that requested by the submitters, but still within the scope of the relief sought. This is recorded in the Panel's decision in Appendix One. As stated above in Appendix Two on some limited occasions alternative relief has been recommended which is beyond the scope of any submission.

## 5. Requirements of Section 32AA of the RMA

- 63. In relation to the requirements of s.32AA of the RMA the Panel has had regard to all the matters required to be considered in terms of s.32 as it has made its assessments of submissions, the s.42A responses and the evidence and submissions it has received.
- 64. In deciding how to report in a manner which meets the obligations in both the freshwater and non-freshwater processes, it has taken into account particularly the requirements of s.18A of the RMA. That section requires that:

*Every person exercising powers and performing functions under the Act must take all practicable steps to:* 

- (a) use timely, efficient, consistent, and cost-effective processes that are proportionate to the functions or powers being performed or exercised;
- 65. To endeavour to slavishly repeat the thought process of a s.32 analysis in respect of each decision on each submission would fly in the face of that requirement of practicable steps being taken. It would involve a massively costly and time consuming repetitive process serving no useful purpose.
- 66. Instead the Panel has decided this statement of general compliance with the s.32AA process should be recorded. The Panel in particular wishes to record that it believes the decisions it has made on each submission are the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of the Act in the most efficient, effective and reasonably practicable manner open to it, in each case where it has recommended changes to the PORPS.

030

For the Hearing Panels:

~

Ron Crosby

Chair

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement Hearings Panel, and Freshwater Hearings Panel

Dated 21 March 2024

## Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

## Section 1: Legal Issues

#### 1. Introduction

- 1. The Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement (PORPS) initially gave rise to 1463 submissions involving a very large number of submission points in respect of non-freshwater issues which this report must address, with many of those being impacted by a range of legal issues which have been raised.
- 2. The principal legal issues underlying the majority of those submission points arise out of a limited number of major concerns, as follows:
  - The assertion that the overall drafting of the PORPS has adopted an overly protective 'avoid adverse effects' approach, akin to that utilised in the National Policy Statement on Freshwater Management (NPSFM)
  - b. A consequent assertion that such an 'avoidance' approach with only very limited qualifications inhibits, or possibly even prevents, the operation, maintenance and development of the following existing or new significant infrastructure and activities, by leaving them without a practicable consent pathway:
    - Lifeline infrastructure including renewable electricity generation; the transmission of electricity through the National Grid; the distribution of electricity; telecommunications networks; water distribution, whether for irrigation or drinking water; roading infrastructure; port and airport operations
    - ii. Mining & quarrying (particularly for aggregate)
    - iii. Ski-field operations
    - iv. Aquaculture (particularly for off-shore salmon farming)
- 3. After the closing of the periods for submissions and further submissions, some caucusing and more informal discussions were conducted by the s.42A report writers in respect of many of those issues. Those pre-hearing processes led to a level of amended recommendations being made by report writers as each chapter of the PORPS was considered by the Hearing Panel ('Panel').
- 4. Persuasive cases were then presented by submitters to the Hearing Panel ('Panel') in respect of all those issues.
- 5. A positive feature of this five month long hearing process then occurred. That was demonstrated by the degree to which those major concerns of submitters were listened to and responded to by the s.42A report writers. In the reply reports they provided, many of their earlier recommendations were further amended to address or ameliorate to a greater or lesser extent the major concerns underlying the submission points.
- 6. Doubtless many submitters will still feel a level of disquiet that it was necessary to undertake the hearing process of preparing detailed legal submissions and providing expert and lay evidence to achieve those amended outcomes. In the Panel's view the outcome on many of the issues of concern is a sound one, which has been tested and resolved in an effective manner by the hearing process, rather than having to await an imposed outcome from this recommendatory report.
- 7. However, some issues have not been resolved by that process, and do require the Panel to make a decision as to the recommendations it makes.

8. The first of those is the major issue of prioritisation of protection which many submitters asserted underpinned the whole of the PORPS. As will be seen right up until the very last document filed in this proceeding ORC held to its position on this point. Given that fact, despite the very late major change in position by ORC we still consider it necessary to canvass the contrasting positions we had presented to us throughout the hearings.

### 2. Part 2 RMA – Prioritisation: a protective or enabling approach – or both?

- 9. In legal terms the fundamental difference in views, and perceptions, of the PORPS related in large part to the issue of how the various aspects of Part 2 of the RMA were to be applied in the PORPS.
- 10. Various activity groups, including the infrastructure providers and operators, the rural sector, the mining and quarrying and skifield operators, and aquaculture developers in particular, from their varying viewpoints were saying that the PORPS philosophical approach was not 'enabling' as they asserted Part 2 intended.
- 11. Rather they complained that the PORPS approach was too prescriptive, adopting a default base for all activities that required 'avoidance' of effects in a manner that was too strictly proscribed. The common thread of these submitters' cases was that their particular activity area had either not been recognised or provided for, either at all or adequately, in the identification of regional issues of significance, or that the activity chapters did not contain any, or an adequate, practical consent pathway for their desired activities.
- 12. The common concomitant approach taken by most of these submitters was that the NPSFM prioritisation hierarchy had effectively been adopted and applied to the broader region-wide natural environment, which resulted in an elevation of protection of every aspect of ecology and the natural environment above human needs and activities.
- 13. That approach was said to be contrary to the guidance provided by the Supreme Court in the NZ King Salmon litigation. (As these Panel considerations develop we will address later on the Supreme Court's more recent decision in Port Otago Limited v Environmental Defence Society Incorporated (2023) NZSC 112 as a result of which the major change in position by ORC eventuated.)
- 14. The Kāi Tahu and related mana whenua submitters' approach under Part 2 was more nuanced. They did not level the same degree of concerns about the prioritisation hierarchy of protection of the natural environment, as Kāi Tahu and its associated submitters sought a high level of such protection of the natural environment. Rather their focus was that in some respects the PORPS avoidance of effects approach did not properly give full effect to the Treaty obligations to enable mana whenua to exercise tino rangatirataka in respect of their own takiwa resources, and to exercise kaitiakitaka obligations in respect of that takiwa.
- 15. To the Panel's mind, those two bases of criticism stem from a common assertion that differing aspects of Part 2 of the RMA were not being properly applied in the overarching PORPS approaches. The Treaty related issue is such a discrete issue that it is best left for a later discussion on the mana whenua chapter provisions in the PORPS.
- 16. We turn now, then, to address the fundamental difference in approach between 'enabling' or 'protecting' arguments as to what is required for the PORPS to meet the Part 2 objectives of the RMA.
- 17. The initial ORC response reflected in the s.42A reports was in essence that rather than adopting a prescriptive approach to activities, the approach of the PORPS was to ensure, in accordance with Part 2, that the environment was protected as a first priority by use of priorities, effects

management hierarchies, and the setting of some limits. Ecological limits were a prime example. So long as the environmental bottom lines set to achieve a sustainable level of protection were not transgressed, this approach argued that the outcome would protect the natural environment and enable human activities to be conducted. In short, human activities involving resource use and development were enabled, but only so long as their effects did not breach limits, and for that reason protection of those limits was set as the first priority.

- 18. When looked at in that light it was said that the combination of the prioritisation hierarchy, limits and detailed effects management hierarchies provided the base protection mechanisms required by Part 2 for the natural environment, while enabling use and development of resources to occur without further restriction.
- 19. In the Panel's perception what these differing arguments boil down to is a consideration of how and when 'enabling' and 'effects management' regimes envisaged by Part 2 are to be addressed in a regional policy setting.
- 20. Obviously, the startpoint for that consideration must be the guidance provided by the highest court in the land, the Supreme Court in the *NZ King Salmon* litigation<sup>1</sup>. That case provides clear direction on the knotty potential for conflict between the protectionist language found variously in Part 2 in the ss. 5, 6 & 7 provisions, and the enabling terminology found in s.5 itself. The latter includes phrases such as 'enables people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being' and 'use and development' of resources. The protectionist language by way of contrast in ss.5,6 & 7 includes words such as 'sustaining', 'safeguarding', 'preserve', 'protect', 'maintain', 'manage' in relation to various aspects of the environment, and 'avoid' 'remedy', 'mitigate' and 'enhancement' as to effects.
- 21. The submitters supporting the 'enabling' approach understandably stressed the former 'enabling' phrases, while the ORC s.42A reports initially, and other submitters supportive of their protective approach, stressed the latter. In each case the opposing arguments were buttressed by concessionary assertions. On the one hand in support of the 'enabling' approach assertions were made that effects management hierarchies and/or limits were not opposed per se, but they were to the extent that they were so restrictive they did not provide real or practicable consent pathways. On the other hand those supportive of the 'protective' approach asserted that they were not opposed to use and development of resources, but only to the extent that the effects of use and development of limits.
- 22. In both the notifed version and in the final s.42A recommended change version of the PORPS a priority was adopted in relation to the integrated management of resources within the Otago region. Policy IM-P2 for example in the notified version used a heading IM-P2 Decision priorities. As notified it provided:

#### IM-P2 – Decision priorities

Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall:

(1) firstly, secure the long-term life-supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment,

(2) secondly, promote the health needs of people, and

(3) thirdly, safeguard the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EDS v. NZ King Salmon Co Ltd (2014) NZSC 38

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

23. In the final recommended version dated 15 September 2023, IM-P1 and IM-P2 were consolidated into the following form as IM-P1:

#### IM-P1 – Integrated approach to decision-making

Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this RPS requires decision-makers to consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them according to the terms in which they are expressed, and if there is a conflict between provisions that cannot be resolved by the application of higher order documents, **prioritise**:

(1) the life-supporting capacity and mauri of air, water, soil, and ecosystems, and then

(2) the health and safety of people and communities, and their ability to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future.

(Panel's emphasis)

035

- 24. The key issue then is whether or not an approach which expressly prioritises protection of the natural environment on a broad region-wide basis is in accordance with Part 2 of the RMA.
- 25. That issue is also critical to the more indirect criticisms of the PORPS by user submitters. They asserted that even if protection was not expressly stated in other provisions, then by omission of express provisions relating to the recognition of, provision for, and enabling of a raft of significant activities, but by contrast expressly protecting the natural environment, the PORPS was in effect prioritising protection over use and development of resources.
- 26. The Integrated Management chapter of the PORPS will be addressed in more detail later in this report in relation to the particular submission points that require addressing in detail, but the overall issue of how integrated management should be achieved in accordance with the law needs to be addressed first as a major discrete issue.
- 27. So what did the Supreme Court have to say in NZ King Salmon about this issue of prioritisation?

#### 2.1 NZ King Salmon case

- 28. The decision of the Supreme Court in *EDS v. NZ King Salmon* (hereafter simply '*King Salmon*') is by now nearly ten years old, but it remains the leading authority on how the purpose and objectives of the Act are to be achieved and how Part 2 is to be interpreted.
- 29. In the decade since that decision, aspects of its application have been reviewed by other courts on occasion. Most relevantly for the Otago region, such a potential reconsideration was live during our hearings in the Supreme Court itself, in a case involving Port Otago Limited. That case was heard in May, 2022, but the decision *Port Otago Limited v. EDS (2023) NZSC 112* only issued on 24 August, 2023, after the non-freshwater hearings were concluded but left open to resume if the Supreme Court's decision was received later in the year. When that happened we duly allowed submissions to be lodged as to the implications of that decision.
- 30. The *Port Otago* case involved the relationship between what was termed the 'Port' Policy 9 of the NZCPS and the 'avoid policies' of Policies 11,13,15 and 16 of the NZCPS. Policy 9 of the NZCPS is the policy which recognises the need nationally and internationally for an efficient port system, whereas Policy 11 protects indigenous biological diversity, Policy 13 protects natural character, Policy 15 protects natural features and landscapes, and Policy 16 protects nationally significant surfbreaks.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- 31. We will return to address the *Port Otago* case later but commence with a review of the *NZ King Salmon* case.
- 32. The principal passages of relevance to the priority issue being addressed at this stage of this report are found at paragraph 24 of the *King Salmon* case relating to the definition of 'sustainable management" which is the s.5 purpose of the Act:

24. (a)...

(b) ...

(c) Third, there has been some controversy concerning the effect of the word "while" in the definition. The definition is sometimes viewed as having two distinct parts linked by the word "while". That may offer some analytical assistance but it carries the risk that the first part of the definition will be seen as addressing one set of interests (essentially developmental interests) and the second part another set (essentially intergenerational and environmental interests). We do not consider that the definition should be read in that way. Rather, it should be read as an integrated whole. This reflects the fact that elements of the intergenerational and environmental interests referred to in sub-paras (a), (b) and (c) appear in the opening part of the definition as well (that is, the part preceding "while"). That part talks of managing the use, development and protection of natural and physical resources so as to meet the stated interests – social, economic and cultural well-being as well as health and safety. The use of the word "protection" links particularly to sub-para (c). In addition, the opening part uses the words "in a way, or at a rate". These words link particularly to the intergenerational interests in sub-paras (a) and (b). As we see it, the use of the word "while" before sub-paras (a), (b) and (c) means that those paragraphs must be observed in the course of the management referred to in the opening part of the definition. That is, "while" means "at the same time as".

(Panel's emphasis)

- 33. In broad terms what the Supreme Court termed as 'developmental interests' includes what we have termed as supporters of the 'enabling approach', and what it termed as 'intergenerational and environmental interests' we have termed the 'protectionist approach'. Regardless of the labels applied, those conclusions we have emphasised in *King Salmon* make it plain that the outcome has to be the same an integrated approach is required for both sets of interests, or on both approaches, to meet the sole purpose of the Act of sustainable management. Each of the elements in s.5(2) must be observed contemporaneously. In terms of a regional policy statement that requires each element to be observed or provided for in the same document. As the Court stressed at paragraph 64 that of course is what s.59 of the RMA requires *"by providing an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region."*
- 34. On their face, and if only taken that far, those conclusions would mean prioritisation could never be applied. However, the Supreme Court continued in its decision to make it plain that the statutory regime in Part 2 is far more complex than that.
- 35. It then addressed the provisions found in s.5(2) and observed, still in paragraph 24:
  - (d). Fourth, the use of the word "protection" in the phrase "use, development and protection of natural and physical resources" and the use of the word "avoiding" in sub-para (c) indicate that s.5(2) contemplates that particular environments may need to be protected from the adverse effects of activities in order to

*implement the policy of sustainable management; that is, sustainable management of natural and physical resources involves protection of the environment as well as its use and development.* The definition indicates that environmental protection is a core element of sustainable management, so that a policy of preventing the adverse effects of development on particular areas is consistent with sustainable management. This accords with what was said in the explanatory note when the Resource Management Bill was introduced:

The central concept of sustainable management in this Bill encompasses the themes of use, development and protection

(Panel's emphasis)

037

- 36. Later in its decision after analysing the terms or concepts of 'avoidance', 'protection' and 'inappropriate' and 'appropriate' use and development, the Court then went further in making the crucial decision for the purposes of that case as to what approach was required to observe Part 2 in the interpretation of the NZCPS policies.
- 37. Was it the 'overall judgment' approach, which would enable the 'balancing' of a wide range of statutory planning objectives and policies? Or the 'environmental bottom line' approach, which would operate more akin to a 'rules'-based approach? In relation to that issue the Court came down strongly in favour of the 'environmental bottom line' approach, holding at Paragraph 131 and at the start of paragraph 132 as follows:

[131] A danger of the "overall judgment" approach is that decision-makers may conclude too readily that there is a conflict between particular policies and prefer one over another, **rather than making a thoroughgoing attempt to find a way to reconcile them**. In the present case, we do not see any insurmountable conflict between policy 8 on the one hand and policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a) on the other. Policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a) provide **protections against adverse effects of development in particular limited areas of the coastal region – areas of outstanding natural character, of outstanding natural features and of outstanding natural landscapes (which, as the use of the word "outstanding" indicates, will not be the norm**). Policy 8 recognises the need for sufficient provision for salmon farming in areas suitable for salmon farming, but this is against the background that salmon farming **cannot occur in one of the outstanding areas if it will have an adverse effect on the outstanding qualities of the area**. So interpreted, the policies do not conflict.

[132] Policies 13(1)(a) and (b) and 15(a) and (b) do, in our view, provide something in the nature of a bottom line. We consider that this is consistent with the definition of sustainable management in s 5(2), which, as we have said, contemplates protection as well as use and development.

(Panel's emphasis)

38. The fundamental recurring feature in the Supreme Court's reasoning for a bottom lines approach keeps coming back to the s.6 distinction of particular protection of <u>particular</u> areas or aspects of the environment. Thus the Court emphasised that in s.6 outstanding areas were provided with the possibility of an elevated level of protection as compared to s.7 matters. The analysis at paragraphs 26 and 28 makes that distinction plain:

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

[26] Section 5 sets out the core purpose of the RMA – the promotion of sustainable management of natural and physical resources. Sections 6, 7 and 8 supplement that by stating the particular obligations of those administering the RMA in relation to the various matters identified. As between ss 6 and 7, the stronger direction is given by s 6 – decision-makers "shall recognise and provide for" what are described as "matters of national importance", whereas s 7 requires decision-makers to "have particular regard to" the specified matters. The matters set out in s 6 fall naturally within the concept of sustainable management in a New Zealand context. The requirement to "recognise and provide for" the specified matters as "matters of national importance" identifies the nature of the obligation that decision-makers have in relation to those matters when implementing the principle of sustainable management. The matters referred to in s 7 tend to be more abstract and more evaluative than the matters set out in s 6. This may explain why the requirement in s 7 is to "have particular regard to" them (rather than being in similar terms to s 6).

27. ...

[28] It is significant that three of the seven matters of national importance identified in s 6 relate to the preservation or protection **of certain areas**, either absolutely or from "inappropriate" subdivision, use and development (that is, ss 6(a), (b) and (c)). Like the use of the words "protection" and "avoiding" in s 5, the language of ss 6(a), (b) and (c) suggests that, within the concept of sustainable management, the RMA envisages that there will be areas the natural characteristics or natural features of which require protection from the adverse effects of development. In this way, s 6 underscores the point made earlier that protection of the environment is a core element of sustainable management.

(Panel's emphasis)

39. On the Panel's understanding of the current legal position, the Supreme Court was not directing that Part 2 of the RMA required protection of the natural environment to be prioritised above use and development on a broad-brush basis across a region. Instead, as it repetitively said, *"the RMA envisages that there will be areas the natural characteristics or natural features of which require protection from the adverse effects of development."* It seems plain to the Panel that the Supreme Court approach envisaged the identification of particular aspects or areas of the natural environment which needed protection for particular reasons, before the bottom-line approach of language like 'avoids' could be applied in objectives and policies.

40. This was made plain by way of repetition at paragraphs 148 and 149 of the decision:

[148] At the risk of repetition, s5(2) defines sustainable management in a way that makes it clear that **protecting the environment** from the adverse effects of use or development **is an aspect of sustainable management** – **not the only aspect, of course, but an aspect**. Through ss 6(a) and (b), those implementing the RMA are directed, "in relation to managing the use, development, and protection of natural and physical resources", to provide for the preservation of the natural character of the coastal environment and its protection, as well as the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes, from inappropriate development, these being two of seven matters of national importance. They are directed to make such provision in the context of "achieving the purpose of [the RMA]". We see this language as underscoring the point that **preservation and protection of the environment is an element of sustainable**  *management of natural and physical resources.* Sections 6(a) and (b) are intended to make it clear that those implementing the RMA must take steps to implement that protective element of sustainable management.

[149] Section 6 does not, we agree, give primacy to preservation or protection; it simply means that provision must be made for preservation and protection as part of the concept of sustainable management. The fact that ss 6(a) and (b) do not give primacy to preservation or protection within the concept of sustainable management does not mean, however, that a particular planning document may not give primacy to preservation or protection **in particular circumstances**. This is what policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a) in the NZCPS do. Those policies are, as we have interpreted them, entirely consistent with the principle of sustainable management as expressed in s 5(2) and elaborated in s 6.

(Panel's emphasis)

41. And similarly at paragraph 152 in relation to the NZCPs where the Court stated:

[152] The NZCPS is an instrument at the top of the hierarchy... Given that environmental protection is an element of the concept of sustainable management, we consider that the Minister was fully entitled to require in the NZCPS that **particular parts** of the coastal environment **be protected** from the adverse effects of development. That is what she did in policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a), **in relation to coastal areas with features designated as** "outstanding". As we have said, no party challenged the validity of the NZCPS.

(Panel's emphasis)

42. In the notified version of the PORPS, IM-P2 did not endeavour to identify particular aspects or areas of the natural environment requiring protection for particular reasons – instead it stated on an all-encompassing basis:

#### IM-P2 - Decision priorities

Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall: firstly, **secure** the long-term life-supporting capacity and mauri **of the natural environment,** ...

(Panel's emphasis)

43. Whilst the reply form of the PORPS dated 15 September 2023 recommended a more moderated approach in the consolidated IM-P1, nonetheless it still took a broad brush approach to the natural environment by prioritisation of protection:

#### IM-P1 – Integrated approach to decision-making

Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this RPS requires decision-makers to consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them according to the terms in which they are expressed, and if there is a conflict between provisions that cannot be resolved by the application of higher order documents, **prioritise**:

- 1) the life-supporting capacity and mauri of **air, water, soil, and ecosystems**, and then
- 2) ...

(Panel's emphasis)

- 44. The Panel's conclusion is that the both the notified and the recommended reply version of the PORPS had erred in adopting a broad prioritisation approach to include protection of all of the natural environment. ORC had adopted that approach both in the notified version and in the recommended reply version. The first priority accorded was of the whole of the air, water, soil, and ecosystems. (The definition of 'environment' in the RMA, which is replicated exactly in the PORPS, includes 'ecosystems and their constituent parts, including people and communities' so it is all encompassing.)
- 45. By way of contrast the protective absolute 'avoid' approach in the NZCPS was focussed on <u>outstanding</u> natural character (Policy 13 (1)(a)), <u>outstanding</u> natural features and <u>outstanding</u> natural landscapes (Policy 15 (1)(a)). In Policy 11(a) as to indigenous biodiversity the absolute 'avoid' approach was limited to at risk, rare and threatened species, or species and indigenous biodiversity which are nationally significant.
- 46. Similarly, by way of contrast the NPSFM has been issued against a background of a welter of reports that the states of the quality and/or quantity of many of New Zealand's freshwater bodies are so degraded or reduced that they are particularly sensitive to certain existing or ongoing levels of adverse effects from the use of water. Those are particular aspects of environmental concern as to the sensitivity of a particular aspect of the natural environment in freshwater bodies. As a consequence, in its expression of the concept of Te Mana o Te Wai at cl.1.3 the NPSFM provides a hierarchy of obligations expressed as follows:
  - (5) There is a hierarchy of obligations in Te Mana o te Wai that prioritises:

(a) first, the health and well-being of water bodies and freshwater ecosystems

(b) second, the health needs of people (such as drinking water)

(c) third, the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future

- 47. We observe in passing that the similarity between that NPSFM hierarchy and the prioritisation in the notified IM-P2 and the reply version IM-P1 is obvious. Each is based to an extent on aspects of the wording in s.5(2) of the RMA.
- 48. There is no such particularisation in the PORPS warranting its application of a prioritisation for protection purposes of all of *'the life-supporting capacity and mauri of air, water, soil, and ecosystems'*. Nor is there any region wide identification in the s.32 report of risk to all of those natural environment aspects or areas warranting such an all-encompassing protection approach reflected in the prioritisation of protection.
- 49. Absent such particularisation of aspects or areas needing protection, then in the Panel's view the King Salmon decision makes it plain that for an integrated regional policy statement like PORPS to be in accordance with Part 2 of the RMA it must apply subclauses (a), (b) and (c) of section 5(2) as an integrated whole. Those sub-clauses *"must be observed in the course of the management referred to in the opening part of the definition. That is, "while" means "at the same time as".* In short there is to be no general prioritisation of protection above the enabling function of the RPS.
- 50. We consider that conclusion is supported by the statements made at paragraphs 129 and 130 of the *King Salmon* decision which are very relevant to the more nuanced manner in which the reply version of the consolidated IM-P1 is worded, so that it only applies in situations of conflict of policies:

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

[129] When dealing with a plan change application, the decision-maker must first identify those policies that are relevant, paying careful attention to the way in which they are expressed. Those expressed in more directive terms will carry greater weight than those expressed in less directive terms. Moreover, it may be that a policy is stated in such directive terms that the decision-maker has no option but to implement it. So, "avoid" is a stronger direction than "take account of ". That said however, we accept that there may be instances where particular policies in the NZCPS "pull in different directions". But we consider that this is likely to occur infrequently, given the way that the various policies are expressed and the conclusions that can be drawn from those differences in wording. It may be that an apparent conflict between particular policies will dissolve if close attention is paid to the way in which the policies are expressed.

[130] Only if the conflict remains after this analysis has been undertaken is there any justification for reaching a determination which has one policy prevailing over another. The area of conflict should be kept as narrow as possible. The necessary analysis should be undertaken on the basis of the NZCPS, albeit informed by s 5. As we have said, s 5 should not be treated as the primary operative decision-making provision.

#### (Panel's emphasis)

51. An objective for an integrated RPS to meet the s.59 imperative of the RMA should be to ensure that as far as possible there are not irreconcilable provisions. A broad sweeping prioritisation involving a protectionist approach over an enabling one in the PORPS, either expressly or indirectly, does not in our view accord with Part 2.

#### 2.2 Port Otago case

- 52. The next point to consider is just how, if at all, the *Port Otago* decision of the Supreme Court can be said to have varied, developed or further clarified the *NZ King Salmon* guidance. The Supreme Court itself expressed the view that nothing it said in Port Otago changed the concepts laid down in the *NZ King Salmon* case.
- 53. The first point to note about this decision was that the Supreme Court in *Port Otago* did not depart at all from the general principles established in three of its earlier decisions those being:
  - (i) the *NZ King Salmon* case itself in 2014 about the interpretation approach to be adopted to the directive nature of policies in the NZCPS
  - (ii) the related *Sustain our Sounds* case<sup>2</sup> also in 2014 particularly as to application of adaptive management techniques to reduce or avoid adverse effects; and finally,
  - (iii) the *Trans-Tasman*<sup>3</sup> decision in 2021, which in relation to different related legislation introduced a concept of 'material harm' into the assessment of adverse effects under the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012.
- 54. In *Port Otago* all of those principles were adopted and applied in various ways. At paragraph 81 the Court particularly stressed that the 'structured analysis' approach it concluded would be necessary in resolving conflicting policies was not the same as the "overall judgment" approach it rejected in the *King Salmon* case. In relation to the *Trans-Tasman* case the Supreme Court noted (at para 65) that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> (2014) NZSC 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> (2021) NZSC 127

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

the standard was protection from material harm, albeit recognising that temporary harm can be material. Although in a different context, the comments are nonetheless applicable to the NZCPS. It is clear from <u>Trans-Tasman</u> that the concepts of mitigation and remedy may serve to meet the "avoid" standard by bringing the level of harm down so that material harm is avoided.

55. At paragraph 68 of the Port Otago decision the Supreme Court provided a summary of the application of those principles as follows:

All of the above means that the avoidance policies in the NZCPS must be interpreted in light of what is sought to be protected including the relevant values and areas and, when considering any development, whether measures can be put in place to avoid material harm to those values and areas.

- 56. The Court's analysis then shifted to address the issue of how the conflicting directive policies in the NZCPS were to be addressed in that case being the conflict between the directive policy enabling port development which it termed the 'ports' policy and the avoidance policies which were also directive.
- 57. Most importantly, at paragraph 72 the Court held that the resolution of such conflicts did need to be addressed "at the regional policy statement and plan level as far as possible." The Supreme Court's rationale for that approach was so that those considering particular projects would have guidance on what matters would be the focus of decision-making on any applications for consents where such conflicts in policies arose, and could weigh whether it was worth applying. Importantly, too, the Court observed that "decision-makers at the consent level will have as much guidance as possible on methods for addressing conflicts between policies."
- 58. It is of interest and significance to observe, however, that having made that decision as to process, the Supreme Court immediately found itself in the same predicament this Panel faces. That is that it simply did not have enough contextual factual material before it to provide other than high level guidance in the proposed policy it went on to suggest to reconcile the differences in the policies. At paragraph 75 it stated:

As there is not sufficient information before us to attempt any detailed reconciliation between the ports policy and the avoidance policies, we provide only general guidance as to how a decision-maker at the resource consent level might approach the reconciliation between the ports policy and the avoidance policies.

59. That general guidance was then described in paragraph 76 in terms that the decision-maker would have to be satisfied that:

(a) the project is required to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the ports in question (and not merely desirable);

(b) assuming the project is required, all options to deal with the safety or efficiency needs of the ports have been considered and evaluated. Where possible, the option chosen should be one that will not breach the relevant avoidance policies. Whether the avoidance policies will be breached must be considered in light of the discussion above on what is meant by "avoidance"; including whether conditions can be imposed that avoid material harm; and

(c) if a breach of the avoidance policies cannot be averted, any conflict between the policies has been kept as narrow as possible so that any breach of any of the avoidance

- 60. Importantly for the consideration of the policy approach in the PORPS the Court also held at paragraph 77 that *"There can be no presumption that one directive policy will always prevail over another."* That is a very clear direction from the Supreme Court that rules out a general prioritisation approach of avoidance policies above other directive policies.
- 61. At paragraphs 78 and 79 the Supreme Court stressed that the assessment of which policy prevails will depend upon "the particular circumstances of the case." And further that in the structured analysis approach it had laid down that decision-makers will need to assess what it is which is being directed to be provided for, and the "*importance and rarity of the environmental values at issue in the particular circumstances*" and the intrinsic worth of the protected environmental values." The Court concluded at paragraph 82 on these issues that:

Resolution of any conflict, through a structured analysis, will have to occur at resource consent level with regard to particular projects.

62. The Court stressed at paragraph 81 that the 'structured analysis' required was not a 'loose overall' evaluation but:

<u>Rather they are disciplined, through the analytical framework we have provided, to</u> focus on how to identify and resolve potential conflicts among the NZCPS directive policies.

The Court at paragraph 84 then continued to observe that:

...<u>all relevant factors would have to be considered in a structured analysis, designed to</u> <u>decide which of the directive policies should prevail, or the extent to which a policy</u> <u>should prevail, in the particular case.</u>

#### 2.2.1 ORC response to Port Otago decision

63. Given that guidance by the Supreme Court, it did not come as too much of a surprise when a significantly amended form of the provisions of the consolidated IM-P1 was finally presented by ORC's counsel in a version dated 10 October 2023 which encompassed all of the ORC recommended changes advanced by the s.42A report writers and its counsel. That final recommended form of IM-P1 in the 10 October version provides:

#### IM-P1 – Integrated approach to decision-making

Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this RPS requires decision-makers to:

(1) consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them according to the terms in which they are expressed, and

(2) if after (1) there is an irreconcilable conflict between provisions in this RPS which apply to an activity, only consider the activity if:

(a) the activity is necessary to give effect to a policy in this RPS and not merely desirable, and

(b) all options for the activity have been considered and evaluated, and (c) if possible, the chosen option will not breach any other policy of this RPS, and

(d) if (c) is not possible, any breach is only to the extent required to give effect to the policy providing for the activity, and

(3) if 2(d) applies, evaluate all relevant factors in a structured analysis to decide which of the conflicting policies should prevail, or the extent to which a policy should prevail, and

(4) in the structured analysis under (3), assess the nature of the activity against the values inherent in the conflicting policies in this RPS in the particular circumstances.

- 64. The major point to be noted about that change is that the previously recommended ORC position that in the event of a conflict between relevant provisions there was to be prioritisation of the protection of all of *'the life-supporting capacity and mauri of air, water, soil, and ecosystems'* has disappeared. Instead a complex sequence of provisions provides a consent pathway in the form of a 'structured analysis'. The manner in which that change came about is enlightening. It arose as late as 29 September 2023 in a 'Memorandum of submissions by ORC's counsel in response to submitters on the implications of the Supreme Court judgment in Port Otago Limited v Environmental Defence Society Incorporated.' Paragraph 26 of that submission which tendered the recommended version of IM-P1 merely said that amendment of that provision was "appropriate". We agree.
- 65. This prioritisation issue of protection objectives and policies as a rigid concept was the major issue in all of the submissions and presentations we read and heard over nearly twelve months. Until the very last week or so of that whole hearings process ORC's position had not changed that that prioritisation was the appropriate legal stance upon which the PORPS was to be based. The change was plainly a result of the Supreme Court decision, yet even then at paragraph 28 of the submission by ORC's counsel the following was stated:

28. It is proposed to adopt the Court's methodology not because the Court's judgment requires it, rather because it is a suitable policy response to resolve any conflict which (despite best efforts) remains in the PORPS, so as to achieve integrated management.

- 66. We consider this very late change and modification of position to be inevitable in the light of the two Supreme Court decisions. That Court had made it crystal clear in both decisions that the type of broad prioritisation of Part 2 RMA protection provisions previously recommended by ORC was not appropriate at all in the absence of clear statutory direction. In the event of conflict of provisions, prioritisation was only warranted when particular circumstances or particular features or areas warranted protection policies being given priority over enabling provisions.
- 67. In our view the outcome now finally recommended is much more in keeping with both Supreme Court decisions and provides a consent pathway through a structured analysis approach as was recognised by the Supreme Court in the Port Otago case was apposite in those limited situations where conflicting provisions could not be reconciled.
- 68. This more nuanced approach to situations where potential conflicts may arise between provisions will need to inform the Panel's consideration of other prioritisation positions for protective provisions in other parts of the PORPS as they are examined in detail. In our view the message to be taken form the Supreme Court's decisions is that every attempt is to be made to reconcile

provisions and in the very limited cases where that cannot be achieved a structured analysis approach is to be utilised to ensure in the confined factual context involved that an appropriate weighting is given in the final decision-making one way or the other.

- 69. The NPSFM provides a clear example of where a statutory prioritisation for protection is expressly made. Its effects management hierarchy based on that prioritisation is not apposite to be applied on a broad-brush approach to general Part 2 matters. However, it is also important to record that the death-knell sounded by the Supreme Court's guidance to general provisions of Part 2 matters in our view cuts both ways. In the absence of express statutory prioritisation of enabling provisions ahead of protection provisions so-called 'bespoke' priority provision for REG or electricity transmission infrastructure, or for any other activities, similarly is not appropriate.
- 70. Our consideration as to how the detailed submission points on the Integrated Management chapter, and other relevant chapters, are affected by this conclusion will be addressed in the topic chapters which follow in this report. In particular, the Supreme Court's guidance will need to be considered later by the Panel in its consideration of the effects management hierarchy wording recommended in the s.42A reports in this non-freshwater process.
- 71. However, at this stage it is also appropriate to continue to consider the final recommended form of IM-P1. It has been set out above but for convenience is repeated here:

#### IM-P1 – Integrated approach to decision-making

Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this RPS requires decision-makers to:

(1) consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them according to the terms in which they are expressed, and

(2) if after (1) there is an irreconcilable conflict between provisions in this RPS which apply to an activity, only consider the activity if:

(a) the activity is necessary to give effect to a policy in this RPS and not merely desirable, and

(b) all options for the activity have been considered and evaluated, and (c) if possible, the chosen option will not breach any other policy of this RPS, and

(d) if (c) is not possible, any breach is only to the extent required to give effect to the policy providing for the activity, and

(3) if 2(d) applies, evaluate all relevant factors in a structured analysis to decide which of the conflicting policies should prevail, or the extent to which a policy should prevail, and

(4) in the structured analysis under (3), assess the nature of the activity against the values inherent in the conflicting policies in this RPS in the particular circumstances.

72. The base framework for this recommended new form of IM-P1 is found in the Supreme Court's own suggested format for a policy in the previous 2019 version of the Otago RPS at the paragraph 87 of its decision. It provides for a cascade approach to avoidance of effects but still concludes with opportunity for resource consent to be sought where the adverse effects are shown to be the minimum necessary to achieve the *"efficient and safe operation of the port or ports."* That resource consent process would necessarily have to be carried out using the 'structured analysis' approach referred to in paragraph 84 of the Supreme Court's decision which means:

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

... all relevant factors would have to be considered in a structured analysis, designed to decide which of the directive policies should prevail, or the extent to which a policy should prevail, in the particular case

- 73. The problem we perceive with the ORC recommended wording for IM-P1 is that the opening words of the new provision and the opening words of sub-clause (2) would restrict the resource consent pathway which is opened up to only apply where there is irreconcilable conflict "between provisions in this RPS". That restriction is too restrictive.
- 74. The Port Otago case itself is an example of where the conflict did not exist between the proposed RPS provisions, (because it provided for a prioritisation of avoidance policies), but rather between two differing types of provisions in the NZCPS. There has now been a proliferation of such national policy statements, which to some degree or other in particular factual settings may well have the potential to be irreconcilably in conflict with each other or internally within each document. That may also occur in some other settings as between RMA's own provisions, or as between PORPS provisions. In other words at each level in the RMA schema there is potential for such conflict to arise in particular factual settings.
- 75. We also have one final observation to make about the Supreme Court's structured analysis approach. It is addressing primarily situations where an apparent irreconcilable conflict has arisen between relevant statutory provisions – usually in objective or policy form akin to a rule in effect. While we move on below to recommend some amendments to the ORC suggested adoption of the Supreme Court structured analysis approach, we wish to make the important observation that in some limited situations activities will be proposed which are not expressly provided for by a particular relevant objective or policy but which may appear contrary to another relevant policy. Yet in overall RMA terms the proposed activity may have limited if any real adverse effects. In those situations the structured analysis wording suggested by the Supreme Court requiring a necessity to 'give effect to' a relevant statutory provision may not be open. In our view that situation can be met, however, under sub-clause (1) of the proposed ORC response with subclauses (2) and (3) only applying where there is a clear potential for apparent irreconcilable conflict between statutory provisions. If a broad purposive analysis of policies or other statutory provisions is made under subclause (1) of the proposed ORC response, then for the majority of activities with a beneficial environmental outcome and limited effects, even if no express or specific policy or statutory provision identifying the activity exists, a consenting path will still be available.
- 76. What this highlights for the drafting of plans is the necessity to ensure that enabling policies are relatively broadly worded to ensure that protection policies do not unreasonably inhibit what might be in more general section 5 terms be beneficial activities for the community and the environment.
- 77. As a consequence the wording of IM-P1 must be amended to be less restrictive as it is not possible at this stage to be aware of all the potential contextual settings where an irreconcilable conflict may arise giving rise to the need for a resource consent to be able to be considered in a structured analysis, or where an express relevant policy or statutory provision may not be available for a proposed activity.
- 78. In our view the following changes are needed:

#### IM-P1 – Integrated approach to decision-making

Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this <u>RPS and other</u> relevant statutory provisions requires decision-makers to:

(1) consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them purposively according to the terms in which they are expressed, and

(2) if after (1) there is an irreconcilable conflict between <u>any of the relevant RPS</u> <u>and/or statutory provisions</u> which apply to an activity, only consider the activity if:

(a) the activity is necessary to give effect to a relevant policy or statutory provision and not merely desirable, and
(b) all options for the activity have been considered and evaluated, and
(c) if possible, the chosen option will not breach any other relevant policy or statutory provision, and
(d) if (c) is not possible, any breach is only to the extent required to give effect to the policy or statutory provision providing for the activity, and

(3) if 2(d) applies, evaluate all relevant factors in a structured analysis to decide which of the conflicting policies or statutory provisions should prevail, or the extent to which any <u>relevant</u> policy or statutory provision should prevail, and

(4) in the analysis under (1), (2) or the structured analysis under (3), assess the nature of the activity against the values inherent in the <u>relevant</u> policies or statutory provisions in the particular circumstances.

79. Before the report moves onto the topic chapters, we will also address the Supreme Court's guidance in *King Salmon* and the *Port Otago* cases on the interpretation of some other fundamentally important words or phrases, prior to addressing a range of other discrete legal issues which have arisen in the submissions or during the hearings. However, before addressing those legal matters of interpretation or definition we need to address two other discrete and significant Part 2 issues raised in submissions and presentations at the hearings.

## 3. Lack of provision of a rural chapter & the National Planning Standards 2019

- 80. One of those issues was related in part to the prioritisation issue, in that rural user submitters, such as OWRUG, NZ Beef and Lamb and Horticulture NZ in particular, had been critical of the lack of any specific rural chapter in the PORPS.
- 81. However, the omission of such a chapter has its own legal complications in that since 2019 the combination of s. 58I of the RMA and the National Planning Standards ('NPS') has meant that regional councils have certain statutory obligations that must be observed as a mandatory matter in the manner in which proposed regional policy statements are prepared.
- 82. Standard 2 of the NPS contains the mandatory requirements for regional policy statements and commences at clauses 1-5 by saying:

All parts and their titles in table 2 must be included, in the order shown. Additional parts must not be included.
 Chapters and sections that are black in table 2 must be included, in the order shown.

3. Unless otherwise specified, chapters and sections that are grey in table 2 must be included if relevant to the regional policy statement, in the order shown.

4. If a chapter in table 2 is included, its associated heading must also be included.

5. Local authorities must add sections and subsections within chapters where appropriate to organise related provisions.

The only words under the heading Domains and Topics that are coloured black and grey in Table2 are as follows (Those in black are bold in Table 2 and all the other words are coloured grey):

PART 3 – DOMAINS AND TOPICS	
DOMAINS	
Chapters:	Air
	Coastal environment Section: Coastal marine area
	Geothermal
	Land and freshwater
TOPICS	
Chapters:	Ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity
	Energy, infrastructure and transport
	Hazards and risks
	Historical and cultural values
	Natural character
	Natural features and landscapes
	Urban form and development

84. Table 2 of the NPS, therefore, did not require a rural chapter – strange though that might seem for a country most of which comprises rural land. It is even more odd when Table 19 of the NPS contains specific colours for planning maps specifically for General Rural, Rural Production and Rural lifestyle zones. Moreover, Table 16 of the NPS provides acronyms by way of a Table 16 for what is described as 'zone framework' which include the following:

RURZ – Rural zones GRUZ – General rural zone RPROZ – Rural production zone RLZ – Rural lifestyle zone

- 85. The NPS clearly therefore anticipates the likelihood or necessity in plans for Rural zones, but makes no express mandatory provision for Rural Chapters in an RPS to address the objectives and policies in plans for such zones.
- 86. ORC faced the problem, therefore, that in preparation of the PORPS Table 2 of the NPS did not make a provision for rural related issues as a Topic. Some rural related issues were included in the Urban form and development (UFD) chapter in the PORPS. Those issues related to aspects of UFD principally in respect of reverse sensitivity issues and control of the urban/rural interface for subdivision and development.
- 87. Strong bodies of evidence were provided by the interested submitters described above seeking that a rural chapter be incorporated to provide enabling provisions for their activities. The later chapters of this report relating to the UFD and Land and freshwater (LF) chapters will address the

Panel's views on the substantive merits of those requests, but the first question that requires to be addressed is whether that is legally possible given the mandatory nature of s.58I and the NPS 2019 Table 2 provisions.

- 88. The Panel sought specific submissions on that issue from Counsel for OWRUG and NZ Beef and Lamb and it was addressed by Horticulture NZ both in submissions and in the evidence of Lynette Wharfe the expert planning witness for Horticulture NZ.
- 89. Mr Page for OWRUG submitted that clause 10 of Standard 2 (which he termed Direction 10) provided a mandatory answer to the issue. It provides:

10. Any other matter addressed by the regional policy statement not covered by the structure in table 2 must be included as a new chapter, inserted alphabetically under the Topics heading in Part 3. Additional chapters must not be synonyms or subsets of the chapters in table 2.

(Panel's emphasis)

- 90. Mr Page submitted that because of the phrase 'Any other matter addressed by the regional policy statement not covered by the structure in table 2 <u>must</u> be included as a new chapter' cl.10 imposes a mandatory duty on a regional council to import different chapters.
- 91. We do not agree with Mr Page. The first use of the word 'must' in this clause is in our view only mandatory as to process i.e. if a regional council decides to add a new chapter, then clause 10 directs how that must be formatted "alphabetically under the Topics heading", and where "in Part 3".
- 92. However, clause 10 importantly does contain one direction as to substance and that is in the last sentence which we have highlighted in bold which plainly enables some additional chapter consideration. The words 'synonym' and 'subset' are not defined in the NPS, and their use is unhelpful. A synonym is defined in the Oxford Dictionary as being:

A word or phrase that means exactly or nearly the same as another word or phrase in the same language.

- 93. It is hardly a word that is useful when comparing two or more full potential chapters of an RPS.
- 94. The word 'subset' is not much better in that broad type of comparative context. Its Oxford Dictionary meaning is:

A smaller group of people or things formed from the members of a larger group.

- 95. Neither word is of much relevance to a broad comparison of potential chapters in an RPS addressing objectives, policies, methods, principal reasons and anticipated environmental results.
- 96. The basic approach to interpretation of enactments under the Legislation Act 2019 in s.10 is that the meaning must be ascertained from 'its text and in the light of its purpose and its context.
- 97. Applying that approach in this situation the purpose of the last sentence of clause 10 of Standard 2 appears to be to avoid repetition of chapter content by requiring that an additional chapter contains nothing which is similar in nature to the matters in one of the named chapters in Table 2.
- 98. Such a decision necessarily involves a consideration of the substance of the context of the possible rural chapter and a comparison with other chapter content in the UFD and LF chapters.

- 99. If that comparison finds similarities or subsets in a proposed rural chapter with the other two chapters, then any attempt to frame a separate chapter may well run a risk of not complying with clause 10 of Standard 2. However, at this point we do observe that as Mr. Page stressed in his submissions an example for formatting of a separate chapter not contained in Table 2 is provided for in clause 18 of Standard 10. Interestingly, the example provided is where a mining chapter may be included that appears in the right hand column of clause 18 Standard 10.
- 100. Further important considerations must be whether the form of the proposed draft new rural chapter was advanced with sufficient detail in the submission process enabling scope for the Panel to consider its inclusion; or, whether any lack of its inclusion in the consultation/submission process limits the ability to include it now.
- 101. Furthermore, one of the critical s.32A considerations may prove to be that the costs of uncertainty of potential litigation over the enforceability of such a chapter when it has not been a part of the consultation process, and/or to whether it accords with clause 10 of Standard 2 in the NPS, and the concomitant duration, uncertainty and cost of such litigation, may well outweigh the benefits of achieving certainty by adding provisions to either the UFD or LF chapters.
- 102. All of those considerations will need to be taken into account in the detailed substantive consideration of the UFD and LF chapters which follow.
- 103. As part of that consideration we also point out that the complaints listed in Mr Page's submissions at paragraph 29 that a rural activity at the moment will have to be considered under many different chapters depending on whether the effects produced affect indigenous biodiversity, transport issues, historic values, or natural features, may not be solved by insertion of a rural chapter. That is because the NPS requires at Standard 2 clause 9 (a) and (b) as follows:

9. Provisions (excluding the provisions in Part 2) that:

a. apply predominantly to only one topic must be located in the relevant chapter under the Topics heading

*b.* apply to more than one topic must be located in the relevant chapters under the Domains heading

104. In short the NPS does not pave a ready path for the substantive inclusion by way of submission of a new rural chapter – illogical as that may seem in a region which is 99% non-urban. There is, however, potential jurisdiction under the NPS for the inclusion of such a chapter so long as it can meet some vaguely worded concepts that require that they are not 'synonyms or subsets of the chapters in table 2.'

## 4. Mana Whenua Part 2 Issues & papakāika and Māori land definitions

105. The last of the major Part 2 issues was summarised in the s.42A report in the following way:

The request by Kāi Tahu related submitters ('Kāi Tahu') to see that the PORPS enabled them to exercise tino rangatiratanga in respect of their own "ancestral lands, water, sites, waahi tapu, and other taonga" (s.6 (e) RMA), according to their own tikanga, thus enabling them to exercise their kaitiakitanga (s.7(a) RMA) responsibilities. They asserted that was required by the s.8 obligation to "take into account the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi (Te Tiriti o Waitangi)".

106. The evidence we received as to the relationship between ORC and its s.42A report writer Mr Adams and Kāi Tahu related submitters showed a refreshing willingness by ORC in the PORPS

to acknowledge and give effect to the s.6(e), s.7(a) and s.8 statutory encouragements to ensure the RPS provided for Otago's Māori community. We say 'refreshing' because all members of the Panel at various times over the span of the RMA have heard tangata whenua Māori complaint about the challenging attitude of some councils that have adopted the legally technical position that the Crown is the Treaty partner, and that as local authorities are not strictly Treaty partners the Treaty principles need only be taken into account and are not required to be observed. Another common experience is to hear Māori complaints that the s.6(e) and s.7(a) imperatives and s.8 obligations have effectively only received lip service.

107. That has definitely not been the case in either respect with this PORPS. In the notified version a very proactive commitment was made by the ORC right at the start of the PORPS to the Part 2 approach it was to adopt with the statement at page 3:

...Developing this new Regional Policy Statement (RPS) has provided an opportunity for renewed partnership between Kāi Tahu in Otago and Southland, and the ORC. We present this foreword to the notified version together, in recognition of that partnership and in anticipation of the work to come.

- 108. Moreover, Kāi Tahu submitters all described how the ORC had made major efforts to engage on the proposed terms of the PORPS right down to and during the hearings process. That volunteered partnership approach was reflected also in the s.42A report writer's willingness to accept many of the requests made in the Kāi Tahu related submissions and to seek out submitters for pre-hearing discussions. It was plain from the extensive changes that were recommended by the s.42A reports to the mana whenua provisions throughout the PORPS at the request of various mana whenua submitters, that the wishes of the latter were listened to, and where considered appropriate, were recommended to be accepted.
- 109. Limited areas where no agreement was reached will be traversed in the later MW chapter which consider the submissions on mana whenua provisions throughout the PORPS. Some other issues where agreement was reached, or reached only in part, and where the Panel considers it also needs to discuss some of those issues in detail, will also feature in that later chapter. (One of those will be the very preference by Kāi Tahu interests for use of the term 'mana whenua' rather than 'takata or tangata whenua'.)
- 110. At this point of the report, however, we need to address two significant practical issues which arise from the consideration of Part 2 of the RMA, where the agreement on wording proposed by mana whenua was finally accepted by the s.42A report writer and recommended to be accepted by the Panel. That aspect of Part 2 relates to the effect of the combination of the definitions agreed upon for the phrase 'Māori land', when coupled with the definition of the word 'papakāika'.
- 111. The background to that agreed recommendation lies in large part in the issue as to what is the appropriate approach to be taken to the Part 2 considerations in respect of the 'enabling' within the PORPS of the tino rakatirataka rights and kaitiakitaka obligations which mana whenua sought.
- 112. In essence Kāi Tahu witnesses gave strong evidence, reinforced by submissions by their counsel Mr. Cameron and their expert planning witnesses, which emphasised the frustrations that have arisen historically for Kāi Tahu in the Otago region as a result of nearly all-encompassing land loss in breach of the Treaty. That land loss has been exacerbated in their view by the application of early planning and later RMA controls, in which they have in the past had little input. The result was described as being an outcome where Kāi Tahu had commonly been left only poorer quality lands, often near the coastline, where it was difficult for them to even grow sufficient food without removing native growth or affecting landcapes, or where infrastructure services were not available to enable development, let alone provide sources of employment and income.

- 113. The Treaty breaches that resulted in massive land loss of over 34 million acres for Kāi Tahu have been exhaustively detailed by the Waitangi Tribunal in the Ngāi Tahu Report WAI 27 on their historic 'nine tall trees' claims. Those breaches are a matter of public record. Minimal lands remained in Māori customary ownership in Otago. The consequence has been a Treaty settlement for Kāi Tahu recorded in the Ngāi Tahu Claims Settlement Act 1998 which, as with all Treaty settlements, provided amongst other recompense a monetary level of compensation. While that was significant on its face, it was a tiny percentage of the then current land value lost through historic Treaty breach. Those settlement funds have been particularly well husbanded and developed by Kāi Tahu, but the hard reality for Kāi Tahu people on the ground in Otago was that the settlement did not provide any significant land resource for Otago Kāi Tahu to occupy and use. Of the small amounts of poorer quality reserve lands that were set aside for Kāi Tahu's continued occupation we were told by Mr. Edward Ellison that only 50% remains in Māori ownership.
- 114. In the meantime before the Treaty settlement, repetitive planning legislation had vested planning control of all of their ancestral lands, water, sites, wāhi tapu, and other taonga, including any customary rights in respect of water or coastal waters, in the Crown, local authorities or Crown owned entities. So, too with fisheries, but as that has been the subject of the Fisheries Settlement legislation, Treaty of Waitangi (Fisheries Claims) Settlement Act 1992, we cannot address that further, other than as background to Kāi Tahu historical concerns. Similarly so with aquaculture claims, where another national settlement has occurred in the Māori Commercial Aquaculture Claims Settlement Act 2005, although an aspect of the consequence of that process will be considered later in the Coastal chapter of this report.
- 115. Those planning controls were described in the evidence as adding to the harsh outcomes for the Otago Kāi Tahu community, by imposing such restrictions and controls that they faced major costly legal hurdles in trying to develop their lands to support themselves. They described that they had suffered the experience of local authorities taking over by statutory authority control and management of all water and coastal water and fisheries, thus excluding them even further from control of use of their own resources or taonga through the exercise of kaitiakitaka responsibilities. Yet the outcome, they asserted, was to find those resources often degraded, pillaged, or adversely affected in a manner which was not acceptable to their own kawa and tikaka.
- 116. Their response to all that background was to strongly submit, as identified in the issue above, that the PORPS must recognise their needs and enable them to exercise tino rakatirataka in respect of their own "ancestral lands, water, sites, waahi tapu, and other taonga" (s.6(e) RMA), according to their own tikaka, thus enabling them to exercise their "kaitiakitanga" (s.7(a) RMA) responsibilities.
- 117. The overall approach of Kāi Tahu was succinctly summarised by their counsel Mr. A. Cameron in the following manner in the Coastal environments hearing week:

<u>1.Integrated management sits at the heart of a regional policy statement. It is core to</u> <u>the purpose of the PORPS, its function and its significance. From a Kāi Tahu perspective,</u> <u>integrated management is central to the concepts of "ki uta, ki tai", and the</u> <u>interconnected nature of whenua, wai, and moana.</u><sup>4</sup>

118. Counsel for Kāi Tahu and planning experts relied upon the major advances in recognition of Treaty rights and obligations as a result of three streams of jurisprudence over recent decades. The first was the much more developed recognition in the general Courts of tikanga as a source of law in New Zealand, particularly where referred to in legislation, and of certain Treaty principles as

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Submission on Integrated Management chapter A. Cameron counsel for Kāi Tahu 8 February, 2023

identified in the NZ Maori Council litigation from the 1980s; the second was the strong body of Waitangi Tribunal jurisprudence identifying a number of relevant Treaty principles; and thirdly, the Environment Court's increasing recognition of the weight of Treaty principles under s.8 of the RMA.

119. Much was made of these issues in support of requests for relief that very broad definitions be applied to Māori lands and customary concepts such as papakāika, so as to leave control of development and use of those lands in the hands of Kāi Tahu according to their tikaka. In general terms their counsel Mr Cameron described the current situation in the following terms:

58 ... The PORPS represents a significant opportunity to unlock native reserves and Māori land for Kāi Tahu whānau. As discussed in the evidence of Evelyn Cook, the Catlins area is a good example of such land, where recognition of Kāi Tahu rakatirataka would enable whānau to better use and develop their own land.<sup>5</sup>

120. The recommended definitions for the two terms at issue included the following aspects, (which have been highlighted below by the Panel), in respect of those parts that may be described as being the 'high-points' of that enabling approach:

Māori Land for the purposes of this RPS, means land within the region that is: (1) owned by Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu or its constituent papatipu rūnaka and to be used for the purpose of: (a) Locating papakāika development away from land that is either at risk from natural hazards, including climate change effects such as sea level rise, or is otherwise unsuitable for papakāika development, (b) extending the area of an existing papakāika development. (2) Māori communal land gazetted as Māori reservation under s338 Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993; (3) Māori customary land and Māori freehold land as defined in s4 and s129 Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993; (4) former Māori land or general land owned by Māori (as those terms are defined in Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993) that has at any time been acquired by the Crown or any local or public body for a public work or other public purpose, and has been subsequently returned to its former Kāi Tahu owners or their successors and remains in their ownership; (5) general land owned by Māori (as defined in Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993) that was previously Māori freehold land, has ceased to have that status under an order of the Māori Land Court made on or after 1 July 1993 or under Part 1 of the Māori Affairs Amendment Act 1967 on or after 1 April 1968, that is in the ownership of Kāi Tahu whānui; (6) vested in a Trust or Māori incorporation under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993: (7) held or claimed (whether as an entitlement, part of an ancillary claim, or because it was transferred or vested) either: (a) as part of redress for the settlement of Treaty of Waitangi claims; or (b) by the exercise of rights under a Treaty settlement Act or Treaty settlement deed (as those terms are defined under the Urban Development Act 2020); (8) owned by a person or persons with documentary evidence of Kāi Tahu whakapapa connection to the land, where that evidence is provided by either the Māori Land Court or the Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu Whakapapa Unit.

<sup>...</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Submission on MW chapter A. Cameron counsel for Kāi Tahu 8 February, 2023

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

Papakāika or<br/>papakāingameans subdivision, use and development by mana whenua, either on<br/>their own or in conjunction with other parties, of Māori Land and<br/>associated resources to provide for themselves in general accordance<br/>with tikanga Māori, which may include residential activities and non-<br/>residential activities for cultural, social, educational,151 recreational,<br/>environmental, or commercial purposes.

- 121. A challenge was raised for Transpower as to whether there was proper scope for the broader `Māori land' definition sought to be inserted when the PORPS did not have a definition of 'Māori land' originally. We have looked at the references in the Kai Tahu submissions that Mr. Cameron provided in his 8 February 2023 response which were repeated by Mr. Anderson for ORC in closing, and we accept they do indeed provide sufficient scope. The very term 'ancestral lands' used in the submissions Mr. Anderson took us through, in our view includes all of the lands in the Otago region which fell within the takiwā of Kāi Tahu. So any submission which made reference to those ancestral lands and sought definition of them in the PORPS was broad enough to cover what has been recommended to us by way of a definition.
- 122. The larger issue is what the consequence of that definition is when coupled with the definition of 'papakāika'.
- 123. One matter raised by the Panel during the hearings was that under clause 8 of the recommended definition of 'Māori land' all that was needed was whakapapa proof of connection to land, when the likelihood was that any Kāi Tahu with Otago whakapapa would be likely to be able to establish such a connection with ancestral land they were likely to acquire in Otago. Another related concern with the definition of 'papakāika' was that it arguably opened the door for possible joint venturers with no whakapapa linkages to the land to become involved in 'non-residential activities for ... commercial puposes' which would be within such a broad definition of 'papakāika'. That could include the non-customary entities, such as any major trading company operated by Kāi Tahu commercial interests, but could also include general commercial entities with no whakapapa linkages at all, whether direct or indirect.
- 124. The original s.42A report had recommended that the phrase 'commercial purposes' in the papakāika definition be prefaced with the word 'limited', but Kāi Tahu submitters strongly argued for the removal of the word 'limited', so that it would apply to any 'commercial purposes'. That request was made on the basis that it was asserted that tikaka could be relied upon to ensure that was not abused with major industrial or commercial developments, or large residential subdivisions being commenced under the guise of being papakāika.
- 125. That broader wording change sought by Kāi Tahu, and the general effect of the combination of the two definitions, were particularly challenged in evidence by the Dunedin City Council planner Mr. Freeland. The basis of the challenge was that, if granted, the relief sought by Kāi Tahu would mean that on change of ownership of any land in Otago into the ownership of anyone with Kāi Tahu whakapapa, an effective zoning change could occur by virtue of the combination of the very broad definitions of 'Māori land' and 'papakāika'. That could result in an enabling of a raft of uncontrolled industrial or commercial activities, or major residential developments on rural land with inadequate services. The DCC concern was that such an outcome would be in breach of legitimate expectations of natural justice under the RMA that such major changes in adjoining land use could not occur without undergoing a plan change or gaining a resource consent, involving a thorough assessment of effects of development in either pathway.
- 126. Another concern expressed by Mr Freeland was that there would be a real uncertainty as to what land might fall within the definition of 'Māori land' meaning the exposure to effects on adjoining

property owners was real with their having no opportunity for input on those effects. If needed he sought mapping of 'Māori land'.

- 127. The s.42A response to that assertion was to say that it was time some trust was placed by the general community in the Treaty partner to be able to control activities so they would not breach tikaka through the exercise of rakatirataka involving the responsibilities of kaitiakitaka, which should ensure adverse effects were controlled on Māori land by Māori, rather than by local authority controls.
- 128. Mr Cameron, counsel for Kāi Tahu, particularly addressed these issues in some further submissions in response on 9 February 2023. As to the uncertainty issue he responded:
  - 29. The Panel can rely on the evidence already before it as to the nature and extent of Kāi Tahu landholdings, to find that the changes, while momentous to Kāi Tahu as those most likely to benefit from them, are unlikely to be all that significant to the public at large.
  - 30. That is consistent with s 32(1)(c), which requires a level of detail that corresponds to the scale and significance of effects that are anticipated from the implementation of the proposal here, in our submission, few to none.... here the principal aim is to enable Kāi Tahu to develop their landholdings and take the lead in the management of any adverse effects. That is unlikely to pose many, if any, problems for other private landowners.
- 129. That submission might be argued to be correct if current land holdings by Kāi Tahu people could somehow be fixed in time, and limited to cultural or traditional uses. However, that is not the position, and is particularly not the position if the definition remains as recommended.
- 130. We do not see any real benefit, however in trying to impose restrictions in a planning context related to ownership issues. Section 6(e) requires that the PORPS 'recognise and provide' for the 'relationship of Maori and their culture and traditions with their ancestral lands.' Given that effectively all land in Otakou falls within the historic purview of ancestral lands for Kāi Tahu one might reasonably question what purpose a detailed definition provides. But given that the link with papakāika must in the end be based on whakapapa we can see benefit if clause 8 is utilised, but in a slightly amended form. The key to what happens in terms of controls on the use of such land should not rest on ownership, but rather the potential effects of activities on that land.
- 131. For example, if the definitions remain as recommended, then if major commercial opportunities were to be identified in future anywhere in Otago, a Kāi Tahu person with whakapapa links could be utilised and funded as owner by a commercial operator and be able to acquire the land. The land could then be used under the papakāika definition by being leased by the funder and developed, and after development acquired by that funder/developer and probably on-sold. We do not regard that scenario as being beyond possibility, or impractical, or unrealistic. It is the way of the world for commercial operators to look for and take advantage of such opportunities. Their drivers are returns of income or capital, not culture or traditions. It is the latter we understand Kāi Tahu to be seeking to enable under their tikaka and not the former.
- 132. The real concern arises out of that potential for commercial opportunity, as contrasted with a need for recognition of cultural and traditional relationships with ancestral lands, and that requires to be addressed.
- 133. Mr Cameron's response for Kāi Tahu in his 9 February 2023 submission on that issue was that a failure to adopt the recommended definition package would bring into play s.32 considerations:

- 31. It is also consistent with s 32(2)(c), which requires an assessment of the risk of acting or not acting where there is uncertainty about the subject matter of any provisions. In this case, failing to act on the proposed definition due to a lack of information as to its location would exclude from future consideration land that is subsequently acquired by Kāi Tahu, whether to substitute or supplement other landholdings, which might also benefit from the same enabling approach that applies to land in categories (2) to (6). Doing so would create a real risk of perverse outcomes and arbitrary barriers to the expression of rakatirataka, kaitiakitaka, and mana whenua.
- 134. For the reasons outlined above as to the positive development of attitudes to Part 2 matters affecting mana whenua of any area, which has been increasingly enforced by the Environment Court and the general courts, we do not think the risk of "*perverse outcomes and arbitrary barriers to the expression of rakatirataka, kaitiakitaka, and mana whenua*" is real into the future certainly not at law. Local authorities are now well aware of the changing RMA atmosphere, and that has been significantly reinforced at a national and regional level by the recognition of the concept of Te Mana o Te Wai and other strong provisions as to mātauranga and mahika kai in the NPSFM. In Otago it has also been demonstrated by the PORPS approach to 'partnership' with mana whenua.
- 135. However, we are also cognisant of the history of past bad planning practice outlined by Kāi Tahu traversed earlier in this discussion, and the inhibitions they have experienced through poor, overly restrictive planning controls on use and development of their lands.
- 136. In our view a balanced view of how to meet the Part 2 imperatives without handing a planning 'free pass' entirely to Kāi Tahu can be achieved through a tightening of the papakāika definition. We do not think the insertion of the word 'limited' before the concept of 'commercial purposes' assists much if at all. After all, how would 'limited' be interpreted and applied? Is it to be a measure of size of physical footprint of development in area, height, width or length? Or is it to relate somehow to production levels, or gross or net income, and how are those to be fixed, monitored and enforced?
- 137. In such a context it is always best to consider the nature of the 'problem' or issue being addressed to assess what is the purpose sought to be achieved by a provision. In this case the problem is a perceived inability of Kāi Tahu people to have the freedom to construct papakāika to meet their cultural and traditional practices as well as housing and some income needs. Housing provision readily falls into a definition for papakāika. The more vexed issue is what income purposes papakāika are intended to serve. The issue of commercial activities may be met to the extent warranted by s.6(e) if those purposes can be reasonably closely defined.
- 138. In Kai Tahu's submission at para 3.6 what was sought was referred to as provisions enabling Kāi Tahu to be able to use land for '*papakāika, marae or associated activities*'. We do not consider that any adjoining person could reasonably challenge that papakāika can meet the test for 6(e) of providing for the relationship of mana whenua with their ancestral lands when those lands are used for '*activities for cultural, social, educational, recreational, environmental, ... purposes.*' All of those purposes to some extent or other involve cultural or traditional aspects of use.
- 139. The problem arises when the word 'commercial' is inserted in that list. Immediately its insertion introduces potential adverse effects which do not need to have a cultural or traditional perspective at all, which is as far as s.6(e) goes. We do not believe that not enabling that freedom of commercial activity at whatever scale impacts on Kāi Tahu people's relationship with their ancestral lands. We anticipate that Kāi Tahu may feel a home-related occupation should be included. We can accept that such an inclusion would also enable what might be described on the evidence we heard of a common usage that might well be expected to occur in a papakāika.

140. We are satisfied that on the evidence we have heard that papakāika are most likely to be constructed adjacent to or in close proximity to marae, or locations of substantial Māori occupation. We also accept that tikaka will play a major role in where, and to what extent, that sort of papakāika development might occur. We do not consider it reasonable to seek to limit Kāi Tahu as to where any new such development may occur. Practicalities such as land availability and services availability will also have a natural limitation on their development.

#### 4.1 Recommendation

141. For those reasons we accept the definition of 'Māori land' as recommended in clause 8 but amend the wording of the Māori land and papakāika definitions to read:

Māori land for the purposes of this RPS, means land within the region that is:

(1) owned by Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu or its constituent papatipu rūnaka and to be used for the purpose of: (a) Locating papakāika development away from land that is either at risk from natural hazards, including climate change effects such as sea level rise, or is otherwise unsuitable for papakāika development, (b) extending the area of an existing papakāika development, (2) Māori communal land gazetted as Māori reservation under s338 Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993, (3) Māori customary land and Māori freehold land as defined in s4 and s129 Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993, (4) former Māori land or general land owned by Māori (as those terms are defined in Te Ture Whenua Maori Act 1993) that has at any time been acquired by the Crown or any local or public body for a public work or other public purpose, and has been subsequently returned to its former Kāi Tahu owners or their successors and remains in their ownership, (5) general *land* owned by Māori (as defined in Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993) that was previously Maori freehold land, has ceased to have that status under an order of the Maori Land Court made on or after 1 July 1993 or under Part 1 of the Māori Affairs Amendment Act 1967 on or after 1 April 1968, that is in the ownership of Kāi Tahu whānui, (6) vested in a Trust or Māori incorporation under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993, (7) held or claimed (whether as an entitlement, part of an ancillary claim, or because it was transferred or vested) either: (a) as part of redress for the settlement of Treaty of Waitangi claims, or (b) by the exercise of rights under a Treaty settlement Act or Treaty settlement deed (as those terms are defined under the Urban Development Act 2020), or (c) as SILNA lands, (8) owned by a person or persons with documentary evidence of Kāi Tahu whakapapa connection to the land, where that evidence is provided by either the Māori Land Court or the Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu Whakapapa Unit. Papakāika <del>or</del> means subdivision, use and development by mana whenua of Maori land papakāinga ancestral or tribal lands and associated resources to provide for sustain themselves in general accordance with tikaka tikanga Māori for their cultural and traditional purposes, which may include residential activities and non-residential activities for cultural, social, housing, educational, recreational, environmental, or home occupation limited commercial purposes.

## 5. Interpretation of other terms in the RMA

- 142. In the course of reaching its 'bottom line' approach decision the Supreme Court in *King Salmon* provided other guidance on the interpretation of the words or phrases such as 'avoid', 'adverse effects' and the concepts of 'protection' and 'inappropriate use and development' all of which are terms found throughout the PORPS.
- 143. The most important of those to be considered is the use of the word 'avoid'.
- 5.1 Avoid
- 144. The interpretation of this word was addressed quite succinctly in the *King Salmon* decision from paragraphs 92-97 which were summarised at paragraph 24(b) in discussing the meaning of 'sustainable management':

[24] We make four points about the definition of "sustainable management":

(a) First, ...

(b) Second, as we explain in more detail at [92] to [97] below, in the sequence "avoiding, remedying, or mitigating" in sub-para (c), **"avoiding" has its ordinary meaning of "not allowing" or "preventing the occurrence of".** The words "remedying" and "mitigating" indicate that the framers contemplated that developments might have adverse effects on **particular sites**, which could be permitted if they were mitigated and/or remedied (assuming, of course, they were not avoided).

(Panel's emphasis)

145. The consequence in practical terms, as many submitters stressed to us, is that the use of the word 'avoid' has a preventive effect, particularly if it is coupled with a requirement that 'activities' themselves are avoided rather than the 'adverse effects' of those activities.

#### 5.2 Adverse effects

146. Even though the Supreme Court in the *King Salmon* case held that a bottom lines approach was available under Part 2 for the protection of some aspects or particular areas of the environment, which required certain activities with adverse effects to be avoided, nonetheless the Court held that a correct application of Part 2 did not require prohibited activity status rules to be applied to rule out all effects which were transitory or minor in nature, stating:

[145] The definition of "effect" in s 3 is broad. It applies "unless the context otherwise requires". So the question becomes, what is meant by the words "avoid adverse effects" in policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a)? This must be assessed against the opening words of each policy. Taking policy 13 by way of example, its opening words are: "To preserve the natural character of the coastal environment and to protect it from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development". Policy 13(1)(a) ("avoid adverse effects of activities on natural character in areas of the coastal environment with outstanding natural character") relates back to the overall policy stated in the opening words. It is improbable that it would be necessary to prohibit an activity that has a minor or transitory adverse effect in order to preserve the natural character of the coastal environment, even where that natural character is outstanding. Moreover, some uses or developments may enhance the natural character of an area

(Panel's emphasis)

- 147. What is minor or transitory was not at issue in the *King Salmon* case and the interpretation of those words remain open for consideration in any particular factual context. It would be a bold approach, however, to accept that a type of activity or effect was not required to be avoided by a provision in the PORPS because it was argued to be minor or transitory. As to the latter, the issue of return frequency or intensity, (as of sound for example), may impact the outcome; and the amount of litigation over the meaning of 'minor effects' in the RMA provisions as to non-notification is indicative as to how vexed that consideration of what is 'minor' can prove to be.
- 148. However, some further guidance is now available from the Supreme Court decision in the *Port Otago* case which discussed the concept of avoiding effects from 'material harm'. At paragraph 66 of that decision the Supreme Court described the significance of that phrase:

[66] In summary, the Court in Trans-Tasman said that decision-makers must <u>either be</u> <u>satisfied there will be no material harm or alternatively be satisfied that conditions can</u> <u>be imposed that mean</u>:

(i) material harm will be avoided;

(ii) any harm will be mitigated so that the harm is no longer material; or

(iii) any harm will be remedied within a reasonable timeframe so that, taking into account the whole period harm subsists, overall the harm is not material...

(Panel's emphasis)

- 149. In short as with much of the terminology in this RMA area, the particular contextual factual setting both as to the nature of the effects and as to the mitigation measures available will have a significant influence as to the outcome of the consideration.
- 5.3 'Inappropriate use and development'
- 150. A similarly vexed issue of what is 'inappropriate' was squarely before the Supreme Court in the *King Salmon* case. On this issue it made the following opening observation:

[98] Both pt 2 of the RMA and provisions in the NZCPS refer to protecting areas such as outstanding natural landscapes from "inappropriate" development – **they do not refer to protecting them from any development**. This suggests that the framers contemplated that there might be "appropriate" developments in such areas, and raises the question of the standard against which "inappropriateness" is to be assessed.

(Panel's emphasis)

151. The Court also conducted a deeper analysis:

[29] The use of the phrase "inappropriate subdivision, use or development" in s 6 raises three points:

(a) First, s 6(a) replaced s 3(c) of the Town and Country Planning Act, which made "the preservation of the natural character of the coastal environment, and the margins of lakes and rivers, and the protection of them from unnecessary subdivision and development" a matter of national importance. In s 6(a), the word "inappropriate" replaced the word "unnecessary". There is a question of the significance of this change in wording, to which we will return. (b) Second, a protection against "inappropriate" development is not necessarily a protection against any development. Rather, it allows for the possibility that there may be some forms of "appropriate" development.

(c) Third, there is an issue as to the precise meaning of "inappropriate" in this context, in particular whether it is to be assessed against the particular features of the environment that require protection or preservation or against some other standard. This is also an issue to which we will return.

152. That later consideration appears at paragraphs 100 to 105 relevant portions of which stated:

[100] The scope of the words "appropriate" and "inappropriate" is, of course, heavily affected by context. ...

[101] We consider that where the term "inappropriate" is used in the context of protecting areas from inappropriate subdivision, use or development, **the natural meaning is that "inappropriateness" should be assessed by reference to what it is that is sought to be protected.** It will be recalled that s 6(b) of the RMA provides:

In achieving the purpose of this Act, all persons exercising functions and powers under it, in relation to managing the use, development, and protection of natural and physical resources, shall recognise and provide for the following matters of national importance:

...

(b) the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development:

... A planning instrument which provides that any subdivision, use or development that adversely affects an area of outstanding natural attributes is inappropriate is consistent with this provision.

...

[105] We consider that **"inappropriate" should be interpreted in s 6(a), (b) and (f) against the backdrop of what is sought to be protected or preserved**. **That is, in our view, the natural meaning.** The same applies to objective 2 and policies 13 and 15 in the NZCPS. Again, however, that does not resolve the fundamental issue in the case, namely whether the "overall judgment" approach adopted by the Board is the correct approach. We now turn to that.

(Panel's emphasis)

- 153. It is plain from the *King Salmon* decision that where that phrase 'inappropriate use and development' is used in the sense of 'protection' it is a qualifier of the absolute protection level which might otherwise have been seen as warranted to accord with the word 'avoid'.
- 154. That will become particularly relevant in the Ecology chapter of this report because while ss.6(a) and (b) contain that qualifier, s.6(c) does not. By contrast, in the Heritage chapter where the qualifier does apply the discussion in the Heritage topic in this report will address the complex issue of what is, or is not, inappropriate where Heritage structures have deteriorated. For that reason, this chapter of the report addressing legal issues will return later to address what effect that difference should make in the PORPS to the issue of the protection level of indigenous biodiversity or not.

## 5.4 'Protection' & 'Maintaining'

155. The word 'protection' also featured significantly in the reasoning in *King Salmon* with the Court stressing at paragraph 149, (cited earlier), that primacy was not given to protection by ss.6(a) and (b) of the RMA, but that <u>in particular circumstances</u> such protection may be required. In the context of a discussion considering the interpretation of the word 'protect' that consideration by the Court bears repetition:

[149] Section 6 does not, we agree, give primacy to preservation or protection; it simply means that provision must be made for preservation and protection as part of the concept of sustainable management. The fact that ss 6(a) and (b) do not give primacy to preservation or protection within the concept of sustainable management does not mean, however, that a particular planning document may not give primacy to preservation or protection **in particular circumstances**. This is what policies 13(1)(a) and 15(a) in the NZCPS do. Those policies are, as we have interpreted them, entirely consistent with the principle of sustainable management as expressed in s 5(2) and elaborated in s 6.

(Panel's emphasis)

#### 156. Earlier at paragraph 24 (d) (cited earlier) the Court had also observed:

(d) Fourth, the use of the word "protection" in the phrase "use, development and protection of natural and physical resources" and the use of the word "avoiding" in subpara (c) indicate **that s 5(2) contemplates that particular environments may need to be protected from the adverse effects of activities in order to implement the policy of sustainable management; that is, sustainable management of natural and physical resources involves protection of the environment as well as its use and development.** The definition indicates that environmental protection is a core element of sustainable management, so that a policy of preventing the adverse effects of development on particular areas is consistent with sustainable management. This accords with what was said in the explanatory note when the Resource Management Bill was introduced:

The central concept of sustainable management in this Bill encompasses the themes of use, development and protection.

(Panel's emphasis)

157. Then at paragraphs 62 and 90 the Court provided descriptions of the varying levels of protection envisaged by the RMA and the NZCPS in the coastal marine area:

[62] The overall purpose of these directions is to preserve the natural character of the coastal environment and to protect it from inappropriate subdivision, use and development (policy 13) or to protect the natural features and natural landscapes (including seascapes) from inappropriate subdivision, use and development (policy 15). Accordingly, then, the local authority's obligations vary depending on the nature of the area at issue. Areas which are "outstanding" receive the greatest protection: the requirement is to "avoid adverse effects". Areas that are not "outstanding" receive less protection: the requirement is to avoid significant adverse effects and avoid, remedy, or mitigate other adverse effects. In this context, "avoid" appears to mean "not allow" or "prevent the occurrence of", but that is an issue to which we return at [92] below.

...

[90] ... s 5(2)(c) of the RMA talks about "avoiding, remedying or mitigating any adverse effects of activities on the environment" and s 6(a) identifies "the preservation of the natural character of the coastal environment (including the coastal marine area) ... and the protection of [it] from inappropriate subdivision, use and development" as a matter of national importance to be recognised and provided for. The NZCPS builds on those principles, particularly in policies 13 and 15. Those two policies provide a graduated scheme of protection and preservation based on the features of particular coastal localities, requiring avoidance of adverse effects in outstanding areas but allowing for avoidance, mitigation or remedying in others.

(Panel's emphasis)

- 158. The graduated approach we have highlighted above, which has been taken in the NZCPS, has also been adopted either in the notified or amended reply versions in some provisions of the PORPS. As the consideration of the following domain and topic chapters will make plain, the significance of the varying levels of protection required in s.6 terms for differing contexts will dictate the wording we recommend for the PORPS.
- 159. The potential differences in treatment levels of the concept of 'protection' arose as to the context in which it is used in respect of areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna in s.6(c) RMA, where the word 'protection' is used, as contrasted to the regional function provisions in s.30(1)(ga). In the latter context the word 'maintaining' is used in respect of 'maintaining indigenous biological diversity'.
- 160. The question that gives rise to is whether that difference in wording between 'protection' in s6(c) of the Resource Management Act 1991 ('RMA') and 'maintaining' in s 30(1)(ga) RMA, has any legal significance; and if so, how should that difference manifest itself or be reflected in the PORPS?
- 161. This issue was canvassed in various ways by a number of counsel with a number of those seeking an enabling approach asserting that the difference in protective levels between s.6(c) and s.30(1)(ga) had been overlooked in the PORPS, particularly because of what was asserted to be a very high level of protection provided in the ECO chapter for indigenous biodiversity. During the ECO chapter hearings the Panel posed that statutory difference and the weight to be given to it to counsel for DOC Ms Warnock, to which she responded in Supplementary submissions dated 9 May 2023.
- 162. In those submissions she advanced the argument that 'protection' being a noun suggested a standard to be achieved, but in recognition of the *King Salmon* discussion in para 24(d) quoted above she submitted "you achieve protection of something (e.g., particular values) from something else (e.g., inappropriate uses, adverse effects)". The lack of an activity qualifier in s.6(c) such as 'inappropriate' activity against which protection is required she submitted meant that s.6(c) was requiring decision-makers to provide for protection against "all threats" including direct, indirect and naturally occurring threats. As counsel for DOC, therefore, she advocated that what was required of PORPS was to provide objectives, policies and methods which protected against all such threats.
- 163. By way of general authority for the discussion of s.6(a) to (c) Ms Warnock cited paragraph 28 of *King Salmon*. However as can be seen below, that paragraph does not refer to 'threats'. The introduction of that word is a rather new concept we do not favour when RMA terminology usually addresses adverse 'effects' of activities rather than any 'threat' which an activity itself might be said to constitute. Paragraph 28 of *King Salmon* only referred to adverse effects:

[28] It is significant that three of the seven matters of national importance identified in s 6 relate to the preservation or protection of certain areas, either absolutely or from

"inappropriate" subdivision, use and development (that is, ss 6(a), (b) and (c)). Like the use of the words "protection" and "avoiding" in s 5, **the language of ss 6(a)**, (b) and (c) suggests that, within the concept of sustainable management, the RMA envisages that there will be areas the natural characteristics or natural features of which require protection from the adverse effects of development. In this way, s 6 underscores the point made earlier that protection of the environment is a core element of sustainable management.

(Panel's emphasis)

164. Ms Warnock had earlier submitted:

16. In relation to the risk from direct human-made threats (subdivisions, use and development), case law states that protection is not metonymic with 'prevention' or 'prohibition' of all activities. However, in a planning sense, protection is commonly achieved by 'avoid adverse effects' policies ...

- 165. In relation to s.30(1)(ga) Ms Warnock commenced with the observation that it is a function setting provision which uses the verb form of 'maintaining' suggesting action or measures, as can be expected in a function setting provision. She then cited the Environment Court in *Oceana Gold* (*New Zealand*) *Ltd v Otago Regional Council* [2019] NZEnvC 41 (63) where the Court stated that s 30(1)(ga) (and s 30(1)(c)(iia)) required 'the maintenance of an existing level or quality' of biological diversity. That conclusion was reached on the basis that if a substantive standard was not being set a neutral verb such as 'managing' rather than 'maintaining' would have been used. The Court went on to hold what that meant was a standard whereby the quality of an indigenous resource on a region-wide basis "does not get worse".
- 166. However, at paragraph 22 of her submissions, counsel for DOC went a little further in our view by submitting:

22. Accordingly, in the context of regional council functions, 'maintaining' biodiversity encompasses a broad range of actions, across temporal dimensions, that includes, for example: maintaining as far as possible at present level, restoring to some previous level, repairing, **enhancing, improving, expanding** etc.

(Panel's emphasis)

- 167. We do not regard 'enhancing, improving, expanding' as being metonymic with the phrase 'does not get worse.' Each of those concepts involve a measure of improvement rather than maintenance. To some extent, though, we can accept that restoration or repair of degraded biodiversity may be said to result in maintaining of region-wide biodiversity at a level which meant it did not get worse.
- 168. In conclusion Ms Warnock submitted:

25. Accordingly, 'maintaining' indigenous biodiversity is not metonymic for protection but it can include protection, *i.e., protection is a subset of maintenance*.

(Panel's emphasis)

169. Maintenance can include a form of protection, but protection in the sense used by the Supreme Court in *King Salmon* in our view is set at a higher level of protection for particular areas or aspects of significance than is provided by the word 'maintaining', which relates at a broader regional level to all biodiversity. That difference between the two levels was really acknowledged in the DOC submissions at paragraph 24 where it was said:

24. Section 30(1)(ga) includes all indigenous biodiversity and so encompasses significant areas of biodiversity (i.e. s.6(c) matters).

170. However, while from a slightly different approach, we nonetheless accept as generally accurate the final paragraphs of the submissions for DOC on this issue when Ms Warnock said:

26. In 'maintaining' indigenous biodiversity, use and development leading to negative change will be tolerated if that change can be ameliorated in some way, minimised, remedied, offset or compensated, and actions can be quite interventionist in this sense.

28. In summary therefore, the core difference between 'protection' and 'maintaining' is that 'protection' of specific areas in s.6(c) is, of necessity, (ex) ante or pro-active. Whereas, 'maintaining' in s 30(1) (ga) is at the region-wide level and can be achieved using a range of actions, including ex post facto actions.

- 171. In the Panel's view an appropriate wording for a system of sustainable management that accords with the RMA would require replacing the phrase 'will be tolerated' with 'may be acceptable' in paragraph 26 of those submissions.
- 172. In summary then our view of the effect of the different wording in s.6(c) and s.30(1)(ga) is that the latter provision requires as a function of the regional council that it maintains the regionwide values of indigenous biodiversity- i.e. that it ensures through the PORPS provisions that the regionwide state of indigenous biodiversity is not made worse. That is a very broad function and of itself did not rule out or prevent the enabling of a degree of activity which in some locations may adversely affect indigenous biodiversity, so long as on a region-wide basis the state of indigenous biodiversity was not made worse. A good example would be the activity of pastoral farming involving grazing of tussocks which are present throughout the region. However, the advent of the NPS-IB with its specific provisions as to a limited consent pathway such as in subclauses 3.10(3) and 3.16(1) will affect the cascading assessment involved in the effects management hierarchy under that NPS.
- 173. Within that broad span of maintaining indigenous biodiversity throughout the region section 6(c) enables indigenous biodiversity to be specifically protected in areas or circumstances where it has a level of significance warranting protection that marks it apart from the general indigenous biodiversity. Obvious examples will be where a species is nationally or regionally under threat.
- 174. The challenge is to apply those approaches and the NPS-IB provisions to the Ecological chapter which will be addressed later in this report.
- 175. What also needs addressing first as a general matter is whether off-setting and compensation are available only as consent pathways for provisions imposed as part of the broader s 30(1)(ga) function, or whether they should also be available in respect of provisions protecting significant indigenous biodiversity under s.6(c). In respect of those aspects now covered by the NPS-IB its provisions will of course provide the direction to be taken.

## 6. Environmental Offsetting and Compensation

176. An argument raised strongly by Mr. S. Christensen as counsel for Oceana Gold Limited was that the PORPS did not properly address the provisions of s.104(1)(ab) which, as relevant, provides:

...

#### 104 Consideration of applications

(1) When considering an application for a resource consent and any submissions received, the consent authority **must**, **subject to Part 2** and section 77M, **have regard to–** 

(a) ...

(*ab*) any measure proposed or agreed to by the applicant for the purpose of ensuring positive effects on the environment to offset or compensate for any adverse effects on the environment that will or may result from allowing the activity; and

(Panel's emphasis)

- 177. As we understood his argument Mr Christensen submitted that since 2017 (the year when that provision was inserted in the RMA), it was mandatory for regard to be had as to any methods of offsetting or compensation provided for by that subsection in a resource consent application, that meant in turn that a methodology had to be provided for and that required an appropriate consent pathway in the PORPS. He noted that the notification date for the partially operative 2019 ORPS pre-dated the commencement date of the amendment so it could not be considered in that RPS.
- 178. Mr Christensen refined his arguments down to these propositions<sup>6</sup>:
  - *42. The position in the notified pORPS is therefore in error:*

a. Section 104(1)(ab) is clear that all offset and compensation proposals are to be had regard to.

b. The biodiversity and compensation principles in the NPSFM and exposure draft NPSIB post-date the enactment of section 104(1)(ab) and do not conflict with it by providing principles as to what proposals should and should not achieve that are able to be applied to guide the assessment of any proposal an applicant advances.

c. The partially operative RPS 2019 provisions regarding biodiversity offsetting and compensation could not consider section 104(1)(ab) and are in conflict with it by purporting to proscribe the circumstances when decision makers can consider a biodiversity offsetting and compensation proposals.

d. The PORPS largely repeats the provisions of the partially operative RPS 2019 as if section 104(1)(ab) does not exist, but the Otago Regional Council's own evidence on the matter acknowledges section 104(1)(ab) and notes that proposals that do not confirm to the PORPS 2021 will still be considered and may be accepted.

43. The result is that the provisions of APP3 and 4 as notified must be changed to read as considerations and not as presumptive limits. The revisions recommended by Oceana Gold's experts express matters as they must be expressed and should be adopted.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Opening Submissions on Behalf Of Oceana Gold (New Zealand) Limited –17 April 2023

179. In response to those submissions Ms Warnock counsel for DOC in her submissions on the ECO chapter<sup>7</sup> said:

33. Oceania Gold submits that – as a matter of  $law - s \ 104(1)(ab) \ RMA$  provides a veto (or, as a corollary, a mandatory rule) that an RPS cannot contain a threshold at all for when offsetting will/won't be considered. This submission is incorrect. The wording in s 104(1) RMA, requires consent authorities to 'have regard to' the list of matters in s 104(1)(a)(c). 'Have regard to' means give genuine attention and thought to; it does not mean that it must be achieved or actioned.

- 180. Both submissions in our view carry some weight.
- 181. Ms Warnock is strictly quite correct in her submission, but her paragraph probably underplays the weight that the wording of 'have regard to' plays in RMA language. In the context of a regional policy statement, which has the statutory purpose under s.59 of achieving "integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the region", a statutory provision under s.104 as to a methodology to which regard must be had on any resource consent application, must have some relevance under the Part 2 consideration of sustainable management.
- 182. However, we do not accept the inherent suggestion in Mr Christensen's argument that there is some mandatory aspect as to the need to provide a consent pathway involving the s.104(1)(ab) methodology of offsetting or compensation. The mandatory aspect is only triggered at resource consent stage, and is a mandatory requirement to give genuine consideration to the offsetting or compensation which has been proposed as part of the application for resource consent. That does not convert it into a mandatory matter at the regional policy statement stage.
- 183. We do, nonetheless, consider that the introduction of a mandatory requirement for consideration on a resource consent application of such a methodology is something which should be given considerable weight at the regional policy statement stage. The corollary of that view is that provisions which might have the effect at a regional policy stage of preventing such a consideration as part of a consent pathway, should be very carefully considered before being approved.

# 7. Terminology of 'limits', 'environmental limits', 'tipping points' and 'thresholds'

- 184. At various times in the PORPS as notified and as recommended to be amended in the s.42A report processes and evidence these various terms have come up for consideration.
- 185. A limited submission response addressed the terms listed above, as well as other similar terms such as 'constraints', 'bottom lines' or 'environmental bottom lines'. Fish & Game supported the use of the term 'environmental limits' as better addressing this type of descriptor or terminology. Other submitters as described in the original s.42A report (at paras 123- 130) sought a range of differing terms or definitions.
- 186. In her 22 October, 2022 brief of Supplementary Evidence as to the Introduction and General Themes section, Ms. Felicity Boyd set out as an Appendix locations where the word 'limit' was used in the PORPS or the s.42A reports. That brief recommended that the Panel utilise two different definitions for the word 'limit' depending upon whether the provision was being used in the freshwater or non-freshwater parts of the PORPS. (Previously in her original s.42A report on Introduction and General Themes on this issue Ms. Boyd had sought to achieve a broader context

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Submissions for the Director-General of Conservation on Ecosystems and Indigenous Biodiversity Chapter ('ECO') 19 April 2023

for 'limits' than purely biophysical limits by recommending use of a new definition for a phrase 'environmental limits'.)

187. The reason for the differentiation recommended finally by her was that the NPSFM provided a definition for the term 'limits' which was restricted to biophysical limits, whereas the general or natural meaning of the word 'limit' by the Oxford dictionary definition she quoted was broader in its application than just to biophysical limits. That Oxford definition is:

Any of the fixed points between which the possible or permitted extent, amount, duration, range of action, or variation of anything is confined; a bound which may not be passed, or beyond which something ceases to be possible or allowable.

188. The NZCPS uses the term 'limits' in that broader sense. That appears at Objective 6 as to enabling use and development in "...appropriate places and forms, and within appropriate limits;". The words 'limits' and 'thresholds' are also used in that broader context at Policy 7 (2) where the following appears:

"...Where practicable, in plans, set thresholds (including zones, standards or targets), or specify acceptable limits to change, to assist in determining when activities causing cumulative effects are to be avoided."

189. By contrast the NPSFM definition of 'limit' is used in a more limited biophysical sense:

limit means either a limit on resource use or a take limit

**limit on resource use** means the maximum amount of resource use that is permissible while still achieving a relevant target attribute state or a nutrient outcome needed to achieve a target attribute state (see clauses 3.12 and 3.14)

- 190. The use of the phrase 'tipping point' and the word 'threshold' is much more limited in the PORPS. The only use of the phrase 'tipping point' is in SRMR – I11 where it used in a context of either cumulative effects or gradual climate change resulting in a tipping point being reached.
- 191. The word 'threshold' is sparingly used in the PORPS. It appears at SRMR I11 in the Environmental section discussion, but otherwise mainly appears in various locations in the IM chapter and on one or two occasions in the CE, HCV-HH and HAZ chapters. Generally, we are satisfied with the s.42A recommendations to retain the notified use of those terms on the basis that in SRMR I11 what is being addressed are the outcome of usually gradual or incremental effects which take effects beyond limits that are sustainable. They may have the potential to be catastrophic in some settings but only once a tipping point has been passed. In the other contexts the use of the term 'threshold' we consider is appropriate as thresholds need to be identified or limits set for more identifiable effects to maintain a sustainable environment.
- 192. The only s.42A recommendation as to their use which we differ from is at the Environmental section discussion following on at SRMR I11. The relevant notified part of that discussion read:

At the same time a resilience approach is needed that identifies thresholds and sets limits on the use of natural resources to avoid permanent and potentially catastrophic changes occurring, as would occur if a tipping point is reached.

193. The s.42A report writer Ms. Boyd recommended in her 22 October, 2022 Appendix the deletion of the word 'threshold' but gave no particular reason for doing so other than that the newly defined 'limits' sufficed. We only differ slightly from her view on one aspect.

### 7.1 Recommendation

- 194. We are in agreement with the practical recommendation by Ms. Todd that the term 'limit' for freshwater purposes must accord with the NPSFM definition approach. That can be best achieved by her suggestion of a definition for freshwater purposes in the LF chapter, together with a separate definition of the word for all other purposes in the PORPS. At paragraph 21 of her brief her recommendation, with which we agree, was:
  - **Limit** In the LF Land and freshwater chapter, "limit" has the meaning defined in the NPSFM, and elsewhere, "limit" has its natural and ordinary meaning.
- 195. We see no need to delete the word 'threshold' in that discussion section of SRMR I11 and recommend the wording remains as notified, other than to change the word 'and' to 'or' to align with the wording used in Policy 7 (2) of the NZCPS which refers to them as alternatives. Therefore, we recommend the passage to read:

At the same time a resilience approach is needed that identifies thresholds and <u>or</u> sets limits on the use of natural resources to avoid permanent and potentially catastrophic changes occurring, as would occur if a tipping point is reached.

## Section 2: Introduction and General Provisions

## 1. Introduction

- 1. The PORPS commences with a chapter entitled Introduction and General Provisions which addresses the following subheading sections:
  - (i) Foreword or mihi
  - (ii) Contents
  - (iii) Purpose
  - (iv) Description of the region
  - (v) How the policy statement works
  - (vi) Interpretation
  - (vii) National direction documents; and
  - (viii) MW- Mana whenua
- 2. The last of those sections, MW, is dealt with in this report in Section 3: Mana Whenua. It is a significant area given the Part 2 RMA indentification of issues to be variously dealt with as either national interest matters of Māori relationships with their resources which are required to be recognised and provided for in s.6(e); kaitiakitanga matters to which particular regard is to be had under s.7(a); and matters of Treaty principle which are to be taken into account under s.8.
- 3. The balance of the matters listed in the Introduction and General Provisions chapter contents range in significance from formal introductory matters such as the Foreword/Mihi pages; or machinery/descriptive provisions such as the Contents, Description of region, and How the policy statement works; through to the more significant substantive matters such as the Purpose, Interpretation and National direction documents sections.
- 4. In the introductory Legal section to this report we have identified that in terms of Part 2 RMA, and in particular of the s.5 purpose of sustainable management of the environment, the PORPS as notified had a prioritised focus on environmental protection in a manner that in the Panel's view did not align with the approach of the Supreme Court in the *NZ King Salmon* and *Port Otago* decisions.
- 5. However, we also described in the Legal section how that prioritisation was amended in many respects as a result of the submission and hearing processes in the s.42A reply reports. As a result numerous changes were recommended by the s.42A report writers to the notified form of the PORPS, with a final significantly changed position being addressed after the issue of the *Port Otago* decision through the closing submissions of counsel for ORC. Those changes were all reflected in the final recommended version of the PORPS received by the Panel from ORC dated 10 October, 2023.
- 6. The overall result has in the Panel's view been a recommended regional policy statement which much better recognised the s.5 aspects of human use and enjoyment of resources, while at the same time protecting the environment, within limits, for future generations. As a further result the Panel's overview has often come down to a process of ensuring that an integrated approach to use and enjoyment of resources is enabled at the same time as protection of those resources within limits. The Panel believes the form of the PORPS which the Panel has recommended the ORC to adopt, does achieve that integrated outcome which aligns appropriately with the s.5 RMA purpose.

- 7. Necessarily the Legal section discussions of matters of:
  - overall statutory purpose and function
  - related higher court decisions;
  - integration with national direction documents in the form of National Policy Statements, (of which there are now a surfeit), National Environmental Standards, and other statutory regulations;

070

- and miscellaneous important interpretations of definitions
- 8. We have canvassed in considerable detail most of those issues in the Legal section of the Introduction, in Mana Whenua chapter or in the domain and topic chapters.
- 9. The balance of this chapter then will be restricted to addressing any final aspects of wording recommended in the 10 October 2023 version which we need to address, but which has not been addressed in those other areas of this report. The need for such discussion is really by now somewhat reduced, and often finely balanced as to whether further change is needed. A good example of that is the Foreword or mihi, to which we now turn.

# 2. Foreword or mihi

10. The only aspects of the wording here that have even caused some hesitation by the Panel arise again out of the earier notified prioritisation approach. Two sentences cause us to reflect as to whether that prioritisation approach is still reflected to some degree. (To the extent that that might be so, there are countless submissions, (e.g. Federated Farmers, Oceana Gold, OWRUG to name but three), enabling a rewrite of any text to ensure the enabling aspect of human use of resources is appropriately recognised). The phrases in the Foreword/mihi that cause us to reflect somewhat are:

We have placed the environment <u>at the centre of all we do</u> in our long-term vision... (Panel's emphasis.)

The purpose of these visions is to protect the mauri of water bodies in Otago, a responsibility shared by all. The aim is to achieve positive outcomes for water and habitat that also address the community's needs and interests.

11. The rationale in each case underlying these expressions is protection of the environment. A number of s.42A reports and evidence authored by Lisa Hawkins and Felicity Boyd under two differing titles were presented to us variously entitled as to the Introduction and General Provisions, or Themes. In the s.42A reply report of 23 May 2023 entitled 'Introduction and General Themes', Ms. Boyd had carefully traversed a series of reports from a range of experts and also referred to Kāi Tahu evidence to set out the threats which had developed over time to the sustainability of the environment. That survey covered paragraphs 18 to 34 of that reply report. It then led to the statement at paragraph 35 by Ms Boyd that:

In my view, given the evidence presented on the state of Otago's terrestrial, freshwater, and marine biodiversity, there is good reason to be cautious about the extent to which the use and development of resources should be enabled.

12. The concern we have is that a generally expressed 'good reason to be cautious' was utilised in the notified PORPS to warrant a prioritisation of protection of the environment over human use.

- 13. We had read or heard all of the information Ms Boyd stressed, and we are not in major disagreement with Ms Boyd, or the witnesses she referred to, as to the significance of those concerns. Where we have differed is in the overall approach to be adopted by the notified PORPS as a result. We have concluded that the Supreme Court's direction as to the appropriate approach for a regional policy statement or a plan is to ensure that both human use of resources <u>and</u> protection of the environment are enabled or addressed at the same time, with prioritisation of protection being utilised only in limited identifiable special circumstances. That will only occur where either by statutory direction, such as in the NPSFM, or as a result of unequivocal evidence, that is required to maintain sustainability of a particularly endangered resource.
- 14. In terms of the Introduction/mihi examples we have quoted above the first still leaves a concern for the Panel because we do not think it accurately reflects the change in the recommended amended long-term vision which follows it. That long-term vision has been recommended in the 10 October, 2023 version to refer to people and communities and their uses or well-being, and reads:

The management of natural and physical resources-in Otago, by and for the people of Otago, including in partnership with Kāi Tahu, and as expressed in all resource management plans and decision making, achieves <u>a</u> healthy, <u>and</u> resilient, and safeguarded natural systems <u>environment</u>, and <u>including</u> the ecosystem services they offer<u>it provides</u>, and supports the well-being of present and future generations, mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei.

15. In our view the sentence preceding that would be more appropriately worded:

Our long-term vision recognises that use of resources and protection of the environment must occur in an integrated sustainably managed way: ..."

16. The second quote we had identified to consider in the Introduction/mihi is less concerning as it appears to relate primarily to freshwater resources where the NPSFM direction as to priority must be followed. However, as we have discussed in our consideration of the term 'mauri' in the Legal section of the Introduction to our freshwater report in Appendix Two, we have recommended that what is protected is the wellbeing of the waters. That in turn will mean 'mauri' is protected but without having to become entangled in trying to define what 'mauri' precisely means. For that reason we recommend a slight change in this wording.

## 2.1 Recommendation

17. That the wording of the Introduction/mihi be amended to read in the last text paragraph on page 3 of the 10 October, 2023 version:

We have placed the environment at the centre of all we do in oOur long-term vision recognises that use of resources and protection of the environment must occur in an integrated sustainably managed way: ..."

and at the second paragraph of text at page 4:

The purpose of these visions is to protect the <u>wellbeing</u> of water bodies in Otago, <u>so as</u> <u>to protect their mauri</u>, a responsibility shared by all. The aim is to achieve positive outcomes for water and habitat that also address the community's needs and interests.

# 3. Purpose

18. At para 24 of the original s.42A report by Lisa Hawkins entitled Introduction and general provisions dated 22 May, 2022, the report writer had noted:

Federated Farmers considers the previous overview section of the partially operative RPS 2019 to be more aspirational, with the pORPS being seen to be too narrow and negative in its focus. The submitter seeks the overview of the partially operative RPS to be reinstated, specifically for the following text to replace the first two paragraphs in the pORPS

<u>"Continued prosperity and wellbeing is essential to ensuring the community is</u> <u>equipped to face the environmental, economic, cultural and social changes of the</u> <u>21st century, and to provide opportunities for all people to realise their aspirations.</u> <u>A thriving and healthy natural environment is vital to sustaining our wellbeing. The</u> <u>RPS is a high level policy framework for the sustainable integrated management of</u> <u>resources, identifying regionally significant issues, the objectives and policies that</u> <u>direct how natural and physical resources are to be managed and setting out how</u> <u>this will be implemented by the region's local authorities.</u> <u>"</u>

19. Ms Hawkins did not accept the underlying premise advanced by Federated Farmers that the PORPS was too narrow and negative in its focus, but nonethless she did conclude at para 30 that:

...the links between a thriving natural environment and community wellbeing could be more explicitly set out in the purpose.

20. Therefore, she recommended an amendment to reflect the second part only of the Federated farmers submission as follows:

The ORPS also promotes a thriving and healthy natural environment as being vital to sustaining our wellbeing.

- 21. With one reservation, the Panel considers the points made in the first paragraph advanced by Federated Farmers as to enabling opportunities for people to realise their economic, cultural and social aspirations or needs should also be reflected in the Purpose in this Introduction chapter. That is important given the changes we have recommended in the Legal section to the Introduction to this report to the overall approach required of enabling human activities while protecting the environment. The sole reservation relates to the proposed use of the word 'aspirations'. In Appendix Two when addressing that word in relation to LF-FW-P7A we expressed the view that the term 'aspirations' was too uncertain. Whilst it is being suggested here by a submitter in a more general context, for consistency reasons we prefer to use the term 'intentions'.
- 22. To include both concepts would involve a wording such as:

The ORPS also aims to provide communities, including mana whenua, with opportunities to carry out activities to achieve their economic, cultural and social needs and intentions, while at the same time promoting a thriving and healthy natural environment as being vital to sustaining our wellbeing.

23. Finally, on the Purpose section in the original s.42A report submission points by NZ Pork and Horticulture NZ were also not accepted which had sought to specifically add 'food production' to paragraph three of the Purpose statement. That paragraph as notified read: 24. The reasons given in paragraph 32 of the s.42A report for rejecting that request were:

The list included in paragraph three is not a list of 'significant regional values and resource management issues' as has been interpreted by the submitters. Rather it comprises descriptors which significant regional values and resource management issues may relate to. I consider these terms contained within the pORPS (environment, historic heritage, economy, recreational opportunities and communities) to be broad enough to encompass food production as it relates to the economy and the community. I therefore recommend to not accept these submission points.

25. The Panel struggles to understand why such an important aspect to the Otago community as food production or primary production should be excluded as a descriptor which 'significant regional value' may relate to, when heritage and recreation opportunities are. That is particularly so in a broad diverse rural region such as Otago where that descriptor of economic activity is so pervasive. We do not consider addition of the phrase 'food production' undermines this descriptor list, and in fact we consider it augments it appropriately for the Otago region.

# 3.1 Recommendation

26. That the second and third paragraphs of the Purpose section of the PORPS at p.6 of the 10 October 2023 version be amended to read:

The Otago Regional Policy Statement (ORPS) provides a policy framework that aims to achieve long-term environmental sustainability by integrating the protection, restoration, enhancement, and use and development of Otago's *natural and physical resources*. The ORPS also aims to provide communities, including mana whenua, with opportunities to carry out their activities to achieve their economic, cultural and social needs and intentions, while at the same time promoting a thriving and healthy natural *environment* as being vital to sustaining our wellbeing.

The ORPS responds to identified significant regional values and resource management issues relating to Otago's *environment*, *historic heritage*, economy, <u>food production</u> and recreational opportunities and communities. The ORPS sets out objectives, policies, and methods to <u>address and</u> resolve, over time, the identified issues as effectively and efficiently as possible. The ORPS gives effect to the statutory requirements set out in the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA-<u>1991</u>), as well as relevant national direction instruments, and <u>is informed by</u> iwi authority planning documents. *Regional plans* and *district plans* must give effect to the ORPS.

# 4. Description of the region

27. A corollary of the points we have just made about the importance of food or primary production in Otago relates to the section of the Introduction which describes the region. At paragraph 40 of the original s.42A report, and in following paragraphs, requests in submissions were identified seeking that this section more appropriately recognise the significance of the

primary production basis of the Otago region. At paragraph 46 to some measure that proposition was accepted but the comparative contribution of the rural productive sector to the Otago economy was queried but without any detailed analysis, or recognition of its export value. The latter was a point often stressed to us in the hearings.

28. The amendment recommended in the s.42A report was as follows:

Otago's economy centres around <u>construction</u>, <u>primary production</u> <u>agriculture</u>, tourism, <u>mineral mining</u>, and education. <u>The construction industry is a major</u> <u>contributor to employment numbers in Otago</u>, <u>supported by the region's population</u> <u>growth</u>. The primary production sector is a source of revenue and employment for the districts and the wider region. Otago's farms are also a key contributor to the <u>national food supply network</u>. The University of Otago enrols approximately 20,000 students each year from around New Zealand and internationally, contributing to annual population spikes in Dunedin and significantly boosting the economy. Tourism <del>has</del> also ha<u>s</u><del>d</del> a significant impact on the regional economy, contributing about a quarter of the region's total gross domestic product. This is the highest of any region in New Zealand, and primarily concentrated in the Queenstown Lakes District.

29. The reply report suggested some further amendments so that the paragraph as recommended finally to the Panel was:

<u>Otago's history recognises the early exploration and occupation of Otago by Māori</u> <u>followed by the arrival of settlers from Europe and Asia.</u> Otago's economy centres around <u>construction</u>, <u>primary production</u> agriculture, tourism, <u>mineral mining</u>, and education. <u>The construction industry is a major contributor to employment numbers</u> <u>in Otago, supported by the region's population growth. The primary production</u> <u>sector is a source of revenue and employment for the districts and the wider region.</u> <u>Otago's farms are also a key contributor to the national food supply network</u>. The University of Otago enrols approximately 20,000 students each year from around New Zealand and internationally, contributing to annual population spikes in Dunedin and significantly boosting the economy. Tourism <del>has</del> also <u>has had</u> a significant impact on the regional economy, contributing about a quarter of the region's total gross domestic product. This is the highest of any region in New Zealand, and primarily concentrated in the Queenstown Lakes District.

30. The Panel wishes to record its agreement with those recommended changes but wishes to also recognise the export value consideration. With that addition in its view the recommended paragraph now aligns with the recommended changes to the Purpose section above.

# 4.1 Recommendation

31. That the fifth paragraph of the section Description of the region in the PORPS be amended to read:

<u>Otago's history recognises the early exploration and occupation of Otago by Māori</u> <u>followed by the arrival of settlers from Europe and Asia.</u> Otago's economy centres around <u>construction, primary production</u> <del>agriculture</del>, tourism, <del>mineral mining</del>, and education. <u>The construction industry is a major contributor to employment numbers</u> <u>in Otago, supported by the region's population growth. The primary production sector</u> <u>is a source of domestic and export revenue and employment for the districts, the</u> wider region and the nation. Otago's farms are also a key contributor to the national food supply network. The University of Otago enrols approximately 20,000 students each year from around New Zealand and internationally, contributing to annual population spikes in Dunedin and significantly boosting the economy. Tourism has also hased a significant impact on the regional economy, contributing about a quarter of the region's total gross domestic product. This is the highest of any region in New Zealand, and primarily concentrated in the Queenstown Lakes District.

# 5. Remaining Introduction and General Provisions

- 32. As we have described above the balance of the substantive matters in the Introduction and General Provisions chapter of the PORPS as to Interpretation and Mana Whenua sections which the Panel has considered it needs to address have been dealt with elsewhere in our reports.
- 33. That has occured in large part for definitions in either the Legal section of the Introduction to this non-freshwater report, or in the legal section to the Freshwater Appendix Two report, or in the Mana Whenua section of this report.
- 34. Others have been addressed in other topic chapters as terms arise which were integral to the consideration of the issues addressed in those topic chapters. Good examples of the latter are the important definitions of 'effects management hierachy' which is dealt with in the ECO chapter and 'regionally sigificant infrastructure' which is dealt with in the EIT chapter. Otherwise where definitions or other provisions have not been specifically addressed, then as we have detailed in the Introduction to this report that is because the Panel has accepted the wording recommended by the s.42A report process and the reasons provided.

# Section 3: Mana Whenua and Resource Management Issues of Significance to Iwi Authorities in the Region (MW & RMIA)

# 1. Introduction

- 1. The PORPS contains numerous provisions which particularly impact on the interests of the iwi in Ōtākou, which is Kāi Tahu. While differing submissions, often on differing provisions, were lodged by Ōtākou Kāi Tahu and Murihiku Kāi Tahu organisations, other submission points were raised in a submission by Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu.
- 2. Unsurprisingly, given their close whakapapa based interrelationships, their interests were almost always commonly held, albeit on occasion differently expressed. No major issue, though, arose either in the formal written submissions or at the hearings between the provincial Kāi Tahu hapū based papatipu rūnaka or between them and the main Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu. For those reasons, and for ease of reference, we will utilise a common nomenclature for their submissions, that they conveyed 'mana whenua' or 'Kāi Tahu' views. Those views were often expressed at hearing through two Kāi Tahu consultancies Aukaha and Te Ao Marama Incorporated.
- 3. In the introductory legal section to the combined reports we have already stressed two major matters of importance that have arisen during this PORPS process which arise from Kāi Tahu history, and the ORC approach to Kāi Tahu history, and the ORC approach to Kāi Tahu history. We do not need repeat those in detail again here. A summary can suffice.
- 4. The first point is that the Panel accepted the overall thrust of the Kāi Tahu submissions and evidence that the extent of the Treaty breaches it had experienced had resulted in massive loss of land and other resources for Kāi Tahu. Those breaches have been the subject of a series of findings in favour of Kāi Tahu in the Waitangi Tribunal in WAI 27, and major settlement with that iwi which followed in the Ngāi Tahu Claims Settlement Act 1998. That settlement included all Kāi Tahu hapū with s.9 of the Settlement Act stating:

# 9 Meaning of Ngāi Tahu and Ngāi Tahu Whānui

- (1) For the purposes of this Act and any other enactment, unless the context otherwise requires, **Ngāi Tahu** and **Ngāi Tahu Whānui** each means the collective of individuals who descend from the primary hapū of Waitaha, Ngāti Māmoe, and Ngāi Tahu, namely Kāti Kurī, Kāti Irakehu, Kāti Huirapa, Ngāi Tuahuriri, and Kai Te Ruahikihiki.
- 5. As a consequence of the major Treaty breaches involved, Kāi Tahu had been left with tiny fragments of land in Otago often near the coastal environment, which environmentally happens to be a more sensitive area for Kāi Tahu to seek to use and develop the scarce resources left in their ownership. Their lay witnesses described how since World War 2 those hard realities had been exacerbated by restrictive planning approaches under previous Town and Country planning statutes, and by the manner in which even the more well-intentioned RMA provisions as to Māori and Treaty related issues, had been applied to their lands and resources.
- 6. From the point of view of Kāi Tahu interests, therefore, they had faced what they plainly perceived, even for cultural purposes, as a series of statutory and planning barriers to the use and development of their very limited landholdings and other resources, including wai Māori (freshwater), wetlands and wai tai (coastal waters). They expressed in strong terms that the

outcome was a trammelling of their tino rangatiratanga or rakatirataka in respect of those resources.

- 7. They sought relief that would give real effect to the s.6(e) and s.8 considerations that they argued should enable them to use those resources as they required. However, Kāi Tahu submitters also stressed two other major environmental considerations that underpinned their submissions.
- 8. They were that the concept of tino rakatirataka properly applied required that they be offered the opportunity through the PORPS of having their views on how the environmental footprint of humankind was to be imposed on the Otago region recognised as a true Treaty partner at the decision-making table, rather than being considered as just another interested party.
- 9. Coupled with that major concern was the concomitant kaitiaki responsibility for the environment recognised in s.7(a) of the RMA, which is an inherent part of the exercise of tino rakatirataka. It was made clear by Kāi Tahu witnesses that while the latter, tino rakatirataka, may enable use of resources, alongside it ran obligation and responsibility to care for the environment kaitiakitaka.
- 10. In respect particularly of wai Māori (freshwater) and wai tai (coastal waters), the thrust of the Kāi Tahu evidence was that the outcome of both national and local governments' management of those resources over the decades of their control and management had been well-nigh disastrous. In their view the outcome for freshwater had been increasing overallocation of water, and serious degradation of water quality from discharges and sedimentation. Similarly, they asserted there had been major degradation of some areas of coastal waters both as a result of discharges and sedimentation. They expressed not dissimilar views as to the state of the whenua in many locations.
- 11. In respect of all those resources they complained that they had in the past not been properly consulted as to their views, and certainly had been commonly excluded from decision-making roles. Moreover, they had either lost, or had reduced, most of their customary access to customary resources in freshwater and coastal waters. Added to all those concerns was the assertion that biodiversity of mahika kai had been suffering badly as well.
- 12. In a statutory planning sense these sorts of issues were sought by ORC to be addressed in the PORPS in a manner which accorded with the National Planning Standards in three principal sections being:
  - Mana Whenua, (MW) which is Chapter 4 of Part 1 of PORPS
  - Resource Management Issues of significance to Iwi Authorities in the region (RMIA), a section of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the PORPS; and
  - Wāhi Tūpuna, which are covered in the first section of the Historical Cultural Values (HCV) Chapter 13 of Part 3 of the PORPS
- 13. In addition to those specific sections of the PORPS there are a number of other provisions which have specific references to mana whenua interests of engagement in most of the topic chapters of the PORPS.
- 14. This section of this report will address the MW chapter and RMIA chapter respectively. The HCV chapter of this report will address any wāhi tupuna issues. All other mana whenua aspects will be dealt with as each subject topic chapter is addressed.

- 15. Finally, by way of introduction to these mana whenua issues one further aspect of the PORPS section bears a summarised repetition here from the observations of the Panel in the Introductory part of the legal section to both reports.
- 16. In that we had acknowledged that ORC had made genuine and repetitive efforts in the preparation of the PORPS and in the hearing of submissions to engage in a meaningful manner with Kāi Tahu entities and individuals. We noted that had occurred in the consultation phase; in the policy statement drafting; in the s.42A report responses to the mana whenua submissions; and finally in responses to mana whenua evidence and submissions in our hearings. We had also earlier observed that the genuineness of that engagement by ORC had led to a much larger measure of agreement with mana whenua as to the content of those provisions affecting or engaging mana whenua response.
- 17. The consequence of that co-operative engagement by all involved had been that relatively few major issues impacting on mana whenua require consideration by the Panel.
- 18. We would like to record our appreciation to the mana whenua submitters for the positive cooperative efforts they have made to resolve points of difference with ORC at the various stages involved and to ORC for its willingness to respond in an understanding and similarly positive manner to mana whenua concerns. Finally, we take this opportunity of acknowledging the value of the input of the s.42A report writer Mr James Adams who had demonstrated a real grasp of the historical, Treaty, statutory and related practical concerns of mana whenua who have engaged in this process.

# 2. MW – *Mana whenua* Chapter

# 2.1 Preliminary matters

- 19. Before moving to address issues on particular provisions, there are three preliminary issues we need to address of general application to this chapter and to other mana whenua provisions in the PORPS. They are:
  - The use of the phrase mana whenua rather than tangata whenua
  - The impacts of definitions of 'Māori land', and 'papakāika'
  - The dialectal spelling use of 'k' for 'ng' by Kāi Tahu.

# 2.1.1 Tangata whenua or Mana whenua

20. The term tangata whenua, or in Kāi Tahu dialectal spelling 'takata whenua', is the term commonly utilised in te ao Māori to refer to the people occupying a particular rohe. In the RMA, NZCPS, NPSFM, NPSIB (to identify just some of the NPSs more widely engaged in the PORPS), the term 'tangata whenua' is used. In the RMA the s.2 definition of 'tangata whenua' is:

*tangata whenua*, in relation to a particular area, means the iwi, or hapu, that holds <u>mana whenua</u> over that area

(Panel's emphasis)

21. In the lifelong knowledge of Te Reo Māori held by the kaumātua on our panel, Rauru Kirikiri, it was unusual – if not ungrammatical - to see the phrase 'mana whenua' used to describe

people (tangata/takata), rather than to describe the actual authority (mana) that those people held. In other words an iwi or hapū <u>has</u> mana whenua and therefore cannot be mana whenua.

- 22. Nevertheless, over time, and throughout the Māori world, the phrase 'mana whenua' has become accepted and is widely used as equating to 'tangata whenua'.
- 23. Furthermore, an indication that either phrase may be used in an authoritative statutory sense has been given in the NZ National Planning Standards. In the Regional Policy Statement Structure Standard as Chapter 2, Mandatory Directions are specified. Part 1 – Introduction and General Provisions uses the following terminology as an option:

#### [TANGATA WHENUA/MANA WHENUA]

Chapter: [Tangata whenua/mana whenua]

- 24. It was made clear to the Panel during the hearings by respected Kāi Tahu kaumātua, and by their counsel and planning witnesses, that Kāi Tahu in Ōtākou preferred the phrase 'mana whenua' instead of 'takata whenua' throughout the PORPS to relate to the people who hold mana in the region. In the spirit of co-operation that we have earlier referred to, ORC accepted that preference, and the notified and following versions of the PORPS all use that phrase.
- 25. Finally, no submitter sought a preference for the use of the words 'tangata whenua' in this context and that is decisive, in that we do not have jurisdiction to change the terminology, whatever view may be held as to its appropriateness.
- 2.1.2 Definition impacts of definitions of 'Māori land', 'papakāika'
- 26. The definitions of 'Māori land' and 'papakāika' are critical to those provisions seeking to enable Kāi Tahu interests to be able to utilise their lands.
- 27. Those issues have been discussed in detail in Section 1: Legal Issues of this report and will not be repeated here.

# 2.1.3 Dialectal spelling of 'k' for 'ng'

- 28. The Kāi Tahu dialect commonly utilised throughout its customary areas of occupation is to pronounce the northern form in Te Reo Māori of the dipthong 'ng' as a 'k'. However, that has not always been uniform and in the past certain words have been spelt with the 'ng' form, and that spelling has been adhered to. That is most significantly demonstrated by the name Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu (TRONT) itself where both in the 'Ngai' and in the 'Runanga' the 'ng' form has been used rather than the 'k'. That is because the 1996 legislation establishing TRONT the 'ng' form of spelling was used, and without tohutō or macrons Te Runanga o Ngai Tahu Act 1996. That spelling for the overarching Kāi Tahu governing body is used in the PORPS.
- 29. Similarly, in the spelling of the papatipu rūnanga the 'k' has not been used in the PORPS for Te Rūnanga o Moeraki, or Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou because that is their preference. So too, in Southland for the neighbouring Hokonui Rūnanga, and for Awarua Rūnanga, Waihopai Rūnanga and Ōraka-Aparima Rūnanga. However, one Ōtākou Rūnaka does use the 'k' form – Kāti Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki. We have adhered to these nomenclatures accordingly.
- 30. We are not aware of any submissions seeking changes to achieve uniformity of the use of the 'k' spelling and therefore leave this brief note of record as to why there are those differences in spelling in the PORPS.

# 2.2 Primary issues in the Mana Whenua Chapter

- 31. In his final reply on non-freshwater issues counsel for ORC, Mr Anderson identified the following matters as legal issues still requiring resolution:
  - 1. MW-P4 sustainable use of Māori land & native reserves
  - 2. Māori land definition jurisdiction
  - 3. SILNA land
  - 4. Aquaculture
  - 5. MW-M4 introductory words
  - 6. MW-M4(1) bias
  - 7. MW-M4(2) lawfulness
- 2.2.1 MW-P4 sustainable use of Māori land and native reserves
- 32. The final recommended version of the PORPS of 10 October 2023 recommended that MW-P4 read:

#### MW-P4 – Sustainable use of Māori land Native Reserves and Māori land

Kāi Tahu are able to <del>protect,</del> develop and use *land* and resources within native reserves and <del>land held under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993</del> <u>Māori land</u> in <u>accordance with mātauraka and tikaka, a way consistent with their culture and</u> traditions and to provide for their economic, cultural and social aspirations, including for *papakāika*, marae and marae related activities.- while:

- (1) avoiding adverse *effects* on the health and safety of people,
- (2) avoiding significant adverse *effects* on matters of national importance, and
- (3) avoiding, remedying, or mitigating other adverse *effects*.
- 33. The issues raised by some submitters was that as notified MW-P4 contained three subprovisions which Mr Anderson for ORC termed as 'qualifiers' of the ability to use and develop Māori lands to provide for their economic, cultural, and social aspirations. Those qualifiers were:

... while:

- (1) avoiding adverse effects on the health and safety of people,
- (2) avoiding significant adverse effects on matters of national importance, and
- (3) avoiding, remedying, or mitigating other adverse effects.
- 34. The concern of some submitters was that without any such 'qualifiers' in place there would be no constraints on the effects of Māori use and development of their lands even if those were being used for economic purposes, no matter how large or adverse the effects. The response of Kāi Tahu, and the s.42A report writer and counsel for ORC was effectively that it was incorrect to label future use and development by Māori as unconstrained, because there were other provisions limiting those uses in that they had to accord with 'mātauraka and

tikaka'. It was said that ensured appropriate kawa was followed underpinned by mātauraka and controlled by kaumātua. Those concepts involved the application of the ethic and exercise of kaitiakitaka principles which were singularly focused on protecting environmental health. The s.42A report writer went as far as to say that in Treaty terms it was time for the general public and ORC to trust the responsible exercise of those tikaka based responsibilities.

- 35. As we have said in the discussion of the definition earlier of Māori land and papakāika, that trusting approach in the opinion of the Panel has its risks. It cannot be ruled out that hard-nosed commercial players, either within or outside Māori entities, will see such a lack of formal regulation as an opportunity to avoid the usual impact of RMA 'limits' or 'standards' designed to protect the environment. Through the use of a variety of legal technical holding means such as leases or joint venture management contracts which maintained an underlying façade of 'Māori' ownership, practical tikaka based control could be lost, but the unconstrained use opportunity remain. It was those concerns that led us to decide that the practical way of resolving this issue was to recognise that the major Kāi Tahu demand expressed to us was to be able to carry on customary uses and development controlled by tikaka and kawa. The changes we have recommended to the definitions of Māori land and papakāika ensure that this is what is intended, which is to allow for customary uses.
- 36. For other non-customary economic uses we consider that RMA considerations should apply as they do in order to control potential adverse effects by others from economic use and development of land.
- 37. One other change which the Panel sees as being necessary relates to the barrier posed by planning controls, particularly in the Catlins area, to the customary use of Māori land. The area of Māori land is now so limited that we propose to recommend the MW-P4 uses should be enabled even if they happen to fall within ONFL overlays.

# 2.2.1.1 Recommendation

38. Therefore, consistent with the approach we have taken to the definition of the terms 'Māori land' and 'papakāika' we recommend that the wording of MW-P4 be as follows:

# MW–P4 – Sustainable use of Māori land Native Reserves and Māori land

Kāi Tahu are able to:

(1) protect, develop and use *land* and resources within native reserves and <u>Māori</u> <u>land</u> held under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993, including within land affected by an ONFL overlay, in accordance with mātauraka and tikaka, in a way consistent with their culture and traditions and to provide for their economic, cultural and social aspirations, including for *papakāika*, marae related activities, <del>while:</del>

(2) provide for the economic use of their Māori land or native reserves resources subject to the provisions of the RMA, this regional policy statement and any relevant plan, while:

- (1a) avoiding adverse *effects* on the health and safety of people,
- (2b) avoiding significant adverse *effects* on matters of national importance, and
- (<u>3c</u>) avoiding, remedying, or mitigating other adverse *effects*.

# 2.2.2 Māori land definition – jurisdiction

- 39. This issue arose out of submissions that there was no jurisdiction for the ORC in any submission to change the definition of 'Te Ture Māori land' in the notified version to 'Māori land' as recommended in the s.42A report.
- 40. We intend to deal with this point concisely as it is fully addressed to our satisfaction in the legal submissions in reply on 29 May 2023 by Mr Anderson for ORC at pages 23-29 and we do not need to repeat those submissions at any length here.
- 41. However, one aspect of those submissions by Mr Anderson addressed the term 'ancestral lands' and drew our attention to the formal written submissions on the notified PORPS reference to 'ancestral lands'. We record here once more that in our view it is beyond question that in Ōtākou all the whenua constitutes Kāi Tahu ancestral lands. Otherwise, we find ourselves in full agreement with Mr Anderson's identification of submissions which open up scope for using this terminology for amendment to reflect the identification of lands sought to be used by Kāi Tahu to meet their customary and social aspirations, as well as their economic ones.
- 42. We also record our agreement both with Kāi Tahu's planner and ORC's counsel that the areas of Māori land will be limited, but if at district plan level it was seen as of assistance to identify them, then that was the appropriate scale at which to address the matter. Despite the concerns expressed by Dunedin City Council's planner Mr Freeland, on the evidence we heard as to the small scale of Māori land ownership in Otago, it is not viewed as a regional scale issue by us. We agree with the Reply Report recommendation in that regard.

# 2.2.3 SILNA land

- 43. This issue is integrally part of the preceding discussion. The SILNA lands have had a tortuous path described by the Waitangi Tribunal in one report (WAI27) as a 'cruel-hoax' the lands involved being particularly poor quality and remote to access. Originally intended by the Crown to be available for other South Island landless iwi members, those areas now remaining in Kāi Tahu hands, or open to being so by future vesting order were always ancestral lands of Kāi Tahu. They were originally gained by the Crown in a series of transactions which have also been acknowledged both by the Waitangi Tribunal and by Parliament in the Ngai Tahu Claims Settlement Act 1998 as having been acquired in breach of the Treaty.
- 44. We accordingly regard them as being lands which should fall within MW-P4. No further amendments are required to achieve that outcome than those recommended in the 10 October 2023 version. Out of caution, we have recommended the inclusion of SILNA lands at clause 7(c) of the definition of Māori lands.

# 2.2.4 Aquaculture

45. Two new proposed sub-clauses as policy MW-P2(8A) and method MW-M5(3A) have been sought by Kāi Tahu. Those provisions read after relevant introductory wording as follows:

# **MW-P2** – Treaty principles

*Local authorities* exercise their functions and powers in accordance with <u>the</u> <u>principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi</u> Treaty principles,<sup>1</sup> by:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 00226.046 Kāi Tahu ki Otago

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

•••

(8A) *regional plans* and *district plans* recognising and providing for aquaculture settlement outcomes identified under the Māori Commercial Aquaculture Claims Settlement Act 2004, <sup>2</sup> and ...

# MW-M5 – Regional plans<sup>3</sup> and district plans

*Local authorities* must amend their *regional <u>plans</u><sup>4</sup>* and *district plans* to:

•••

(3A) provide for the outcomes of settlements under the Māori Commercial Claims Aquaculture Settlement Act 2004.

- 46. The final recommended version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023 recommends these two provisions be adopted. In this manner Kāi Tahu seek provisions requiring regional plans to recognise and provide for aquaculture settlement outcomes under the Māori Commercial Aquaculture Claims Settlement Act 2004.
- 47. As counsel for ORC has pointed out to us there is no mandatory statutory obligation upon a regional council to do so either in its policy statement or in its Regional Coastal Plan. However, there is the ability to do so.
- 48. The Panel has heard evidence that aquaculture space settlements are of course desired by Kāi Tahu and that space will be sought to be set aside in RMA terms to enable settlement agreements to be effectively implemented. The Panel is satisfied that it is in accord with both s.6(e) considerations and s.8 as to Treaty principles for these provisions to be included in the PORPS. The only change we have made from that sought is to delete reference to district plans as the aquaculture space will be in a regional coastal plan not a district plan.

# 2.2.4.1 Recommendation

49. We accordingly recommend that the PORPS is amended to include as MW-P2 and MW-M5 respectively the following sub-clauses:

#### **MW-P2** – Treaty principles

(9) regional plans recognising and providing for aquaculture settlement outcomes identified under the Māori Commercial Aquaculture Claims Settlement Act 2004.<sup>5</sup>

# MW-M5 – Regional plans and district plans

(4) provide for the outcomes of settlements under the Māori Commercial Claims Aquaculture Settlement Act 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 00234.008 Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Clause 16(2), Schedule 1, RMA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Clause 16(2), Schedule 1, RMA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 00234.008 Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

50. In the final 10 October 2023 recommended version of the PORPS the following wording was recommended for MW-M4:

#### MW-M4 – Kāi Tahu rakatirataka involvement in resource management<sup>6</sup>

*Local authorities* must facilitate Kāi Tahu involvement in resource management (including decision making), <u>to the extent *mana whenua* consider themselves able to accommodate,</u><sup>7</sup> by:

(1) including accredited Kāi Tahu commissioners including accredited commissioners approved or nominated by Kāi Tahu<sup>8</sup> on hearing panels for *resource consent* applications, notices of requirements,<sup>9</sup> plan changes or plans where Kāi Tahu values may be affected,

(2) resourcing Kāi Tahu participation in resource management decision making, including funding,

(3) joint management agreements and full or partial transfers of functions, duties or powers from *local authorities* to iwi authorities in accordance with section 33 of the RMA-1991,<sup>10</sup> and

(4) entering into a Mana Whakahono ā Rohe with one or more iwi authorities.

- 51. The original introductory wording recommended in the s.42A report suggested terminology of "to the extent desired by mana whenua, including by…". Concerns were expressed that the terminology conveyed an impression Kāi Tahu could control the local authority decision-making process.
- We agree with the final recommended version because as we understood matters the concern that terminology was intended to address was to avoid Kāi Tahu entities becoming swamped by RMA processes which they might be unable to accommodate.

#### 2.2.5.1 Recommendation

52. We recommend the amendment of the opening words of MW-M4 to read:

#### MW-M4 – Kāi Tahu rakatirataka involvement in resource management<sup>11</sup>

*Local authorities* must facilitate Kāi Tahu involvement in resource management (including decision making), to the extent *mana whenua* consider themselves able to <u>accommodate</u>,<sup>12</sup> by: ....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 00226.052 Kāi Tahu ki Otago

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 00223.034 Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Clause 16(2), Schedule 1, Resource Management Act 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 00223.034 Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Clause 16(2), Schedule 1, RMA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 00226.052 Kāi Tahu ki Otago

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 00223.034 Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku

#### 2.2.6 MW-M4(1) – bias

53. Another matter which arose out of MW-M4 was the provision in sub-clause (1) which as notified reads as follows:

(1) including accredited Kāi Tahu commissioners on hearing panels for *resource consent* applications, notices of requirements, plan changes or plans where Kāi Tahu values may be affected,

- 54. The Panel was concerned that such a provision had all the hallmarks of apparent bias being possible whenever a Kāi Tahu interest was at stake. It was explained to the Panel that was not the intent but rather that Kāi Tahu have the ability to engage in decision-making by nominating accredited commissioners. If Kāi Tahu were involved in the process such Commissioners could be impartial.
- 55. The response by October 2023 in the final recommended version stage was that the report writer and counsel for ORC recommended an amended version as follows:

(1) <u>including accredited Kāi Tahu commissioners</u> <u>including accredited</u> <u>commissioners approved or nominated by Kāi Tahu</u> on hearing panels for *resource consent* applications, notices of requirement<del>s</del>, plan changes or plans where Kāi Tahu values may be affected, ...

56. The Panel agrees that the amended wording resolves the concerns it had but for the sake of certainty the word 'commissioner' should be in the singular and the word 'independent' should be added because of the perception effect of this clause referring to matters where 'Kāi Tahu values' may be affected.

#### 2.2.6.1 Recommendation

57. We recommend that sub-clause (1) of MW-M4 is amended to read:

(1) <u>including accredited Kāi Tahu commissioners</u> <u>including an independent</u> <u>accredited commissioner approved or nominated by Kāi Tahu</u> on hearing panels for *resource consent* applications, notices of requirement<del>s</del>, plan changes or plans where Kāi Tahu values may be affected, ...

#### 2.2.7 MW-M4(2) – lawfulness as to proposed funding for Kāi Tahu

58. Both as notified and as finally recommended in the 10 October 2023 version of MW-M4(2) this provision stated:

#### MW-M4 – Kāi Tahu rakatirataka involvement in resource management

*Local authorities* must facilitate Kāi Tahu involvement in resource management (including decision making), to the extent *mana whenua* consider themselves able to accommodate, by:

...

(2) resourcing Kāi Tahu participation in resource management decision making, including funding,

....

- 59. The issue was initially raised by some submitters, and the Panel too, as to the validity and reasonableness of such a mandatory funding provision for Kāi Tahu when other funding processes under local government legislation appeared to control those sorts of expenditures.
- 60. At closing stage in May 2023 ORC still stood by the provision, but then a series of appeals involving Te Whānau a Kai and Gisborne District Council resulted in a ruling by the Court of Appeal that it was unlawful to circumvent or cut across the Local Government Act's framework for decisions about both funding and expenditure. That litigation culminated in the dismissal of an application for leave to appeal reported as *Te Whānau a Kai v. Gisborne District Council* 2023 NZSC 77.
- 61. ORC's counsel Mr Logan then filed a helpful memorandum for the Panel drawing attention to various provisions in the PORPS which would require reconsideration as a result of the Court of Appeal's decision in that case. One of those provisions was MW-M4(2) which Mr Logan advised could "no longer stand". That Memorandum was agreed with by memoranda filed by counsel for Kāi Tahu on 25 July 2023 and counsel for Dunedin City Council on 2 August 2023.
- 62. In the Memorandum by Counsel for Kāi Tahu Mr Cameron suggested change to MW-P4(2) to read as follows:

... (2) implementing actions to foster the development of mana whenua capacity to participate in resource management decision making,...

- 63. Mr Garbett as counsel for DCC accepted that change was appropriate and by memorandum of 25 September 2023 Mr Logan for ORC advised it too had no objection to that wording.
- 64. In the Panel's view, as the DCC submission on the provision challenged its validity, that opened scope for an amendment addressing that concern. The amendment proposed seems to accord with the overall sound working relationship between those two authorities and Kāi Tahu rūnaka who will come under pressure in meeting their kaitiaki and rakatirataka responsibilities and Mr Garbett in his memorandum had indicated a funding agreement was in place for DCC to assist in that regard anyway.
- 2.2.7.1 Recommendation
- 65. That MW-M4 be amended as follows:
  - (2) <u>implementing actions to foster the development of mana whenua capacity to participate</u> resourcing Kāi Tahu participation in resource management decision making, including funding,

# 3. Resource Management Issues of Significance to Iwi Authorities In the Region Chapter (RMIA)

66. The RMA provides as follows in s.62(1)(b):

# 62. Contents of regional policy statements

- (1) A regional policy statement must state—
  - (a) the significant resource management issues for the region; and
    - (b) the resource management issues of significance to iwi authorities in the region; and ...
- 67. At paragraph 554 of the original s.42A report the following was stated:

554. Iwi consultancies Aukaha and Te Ao Mārama Incorporated (as agents of, and in consultation with, Otago's mana whenua) have led preparation of the corresponding section of the PORPS 2021. The issues presented represent Kāi Tahu's key concerns with resource management in Otago.

68. As a consequence of the fact that Kāi Tahu led the development of this chapter, submissions by Kāi Tahu agencies were not major and in general constituted almost a process of 'polishing' the provisions Kāi Tahu had already shaped in the preparation stage. That is unsurprising, because as Mr Adams the s.42A report writer pointed out:

553. A regional policy statement must state the resource management issues of significance to iwi authorities in the region. Only mana whenua can make such statements with authenticity in Otago.

- 69. That reality, and the limited room for major submission points to be raised by those other than iwi authorities in relation to issues of significance to iwi authorities, is reflected by Mr Adams' repetitive observation in recommending the rejection of various limited submission points seeking amendment to particular provisions, that the notified provision is "a direct expression of iwi concerns."
- 70. In the closing submissions by ORC's counsel in reply, no major outstanding legal issues were identified as needing to be addressed in relation to this chapter. In the s.42A reply report some very limited further planning wording aspects were addressed which Kāi Tahu had requested. The Panel agree with the s.42A report on all those issues so no further analysis is required here.

# Section 4: Significant resource management issues for the region (SRMR)

# 1. Introduction

1. This section sets out the Panel's analysis and recommendations in relation to the non-Freshwater provisions for Significant resource management issues for the region. The analysis and recommendations for the Freshwater SRMR provisions can be found in Appendix Two.

# 2. New Issue statements

- 2. A number of submitters sought the introduction of a number of new significant resource management issues into the pORPS. Because Ms Todd, the s42A report author, did not recommend the addition of any new SRMRs, these issues were discussed at length at the hearing. While there was a high degree of commonality expressed by the various submitters, a range of different forms of wording were advanced, with most being relatively specific to the respective concern of each submitter. In response to this, the Panel issued Minute 6 which directed caucusing of planning experts for those submitters interested in pursuing such relief. The Panel considered that its deliberations would be assisted by any proposed wording for a new issue or issues that submitters may be able to agree upon.
- 3. Caucusing was undertaken by two separate groups of planning experts in March 2023, and as a result submitters are now seeking two new significant resource management issues for:
  - a. Infrastructure; and
  - b. Users of natural and physical resources, including primary production, mineral and aggregate extraction, tourism and industrial activities.
- 4. The parties who participated in the caucusing were identified in Ms Todd's reply report, so we do not repeat that here. The parties involved in the infrastructure caucusing prepared a Joint Witness Statement ("JWS for Infrastructure") which included the proposed wording for the new significant resource management issue. The following matters were agreed by parties at caucusing:
  - i. The issue should cover infrastructure in general (as defined in the pORPS and RMA), rather than Regionally Significant Infrastructure, given that the scope of the latter is yet to be determined and any distinction can be addressed at the objective and policy level in the ORPS.
  - ii. The purpose of an infrastructure issue is to acknowledge that because of functional needs and operational needs, it may not be possible to avoid sensitive environments in both rural and urban contexts.
  - iii. Infrastructure can both benefit and adversely affect Māori. The experts considered that Kāi Tahu is most appropriately placed to identify how infrastructure may affect their well-being and aspirations should they wish to do so and noted that any drafting resulting from the caucusing would be circulated to Kāi Tahu for comment (Minute 8).

- 5. The parties involved in the more general 'use of resources' SRMR also prepared a Joint Witness Statement ("JWS for resource users") which included proposed wording for a new significant resource management issue for users of natural and physical resources. While Fish and Game, Realnz and NZSki were a part of both caucusing groups, they still sought the inclusion of a further issue that stated the "social, cultural and economic well-being of Otago's communities depends on use and development of natural and physical resources."
- 6. After the caucusing occurred, all other submitters were given an opportunity to respond to the proposed new issue(s) by 21 April 2023. The only response received was from Mr Barr for QLDC. He agreed that there should be a dedicated issue for infrastructure in the SRMR chapter of the pORPS but suggested a range of amendments.
- 7. In her reply, Ms Todd considered the appropriateness of the two new SRMRs. She advised that "after considering the evidence provided on this matter, discussion at the hearing, and the guidance on the Quality Planning website", that "new significant resource management issues have been identified for the Otago region." In particular, she noted that:
  - a. The proposed new issues are consistent with the criteria on the Quality Planning website because:
    - i. The issues are about sustainable management of natural and physical resources, and the conflict between allowing the use of these resources to provide for the well-being of the community, while managing the adverse effects on these resources. In my opinion this is an issue that must be addressed to promote the purpose of the RMA; and
    - ii. The issues concern a conflict between users of resources, and effects on the environment.
  - b. A number of submitters participated in the caucusing and consider that these issues are significant for the region. I have considered the evidence submitted on behalf of these parties, and the drafting of the proposed new issues. Having considered these matters, and the importance of infrastructure, primary production, tourism and industry in the region, I agree that a significant resource management issue (or issues) has been identified for the region.
- 8. However, Ms Todd noted in her reply report that "the underlying issue is essentially the same across the three proposals: the conflict between using natural and physical resources, and the need to manage the adverse effects of these uses on the environment." As a consequence of that position, she recommended one combined SRMR for the region, based on the JWS for resource users SRMR.
- 9. Having reviewed the three options proposed by the submitters (which included the option of Fish and Game, Realnz and NZSki), we found ourselves in agreement with Ms Todd that the issues are similar and minor changes could encompass all matters of concern. Hence, we have accepted Ms Todd's proposed SRMR as mostly appropriate, subject to the reintroduction of the JWS for resource users paragraph regarding the benefits that activities can have on the natural environment, and the direct reference to the role infrastructure will play in addressing climate address found in the infrastructure JWS issue.

# 2.1. Recommendation

10. The Panel recommends the addition of a new significant resource management issue for the region:

<u>SRMR-I10A – the social, cultural and economic well-being of Otago's communities</u> <u>depends on the use and development of *natural and physical resources*, but that <u>use</u> <u>and development can compromise or conflict with the achievement of *environmental* <u>outcomes</u></u></u>

# **Statement**

The ability to access and use *natural and physical resources*, including for *infrastructure*, *primary production*, *mineral* and aggregate extraction, tourism and *industrial activities*, is essential for the social, cultural and economic well-being of the region. Access to, and the ability to use, *natural and physical resources* can be impacted by regulatory changes, incompatible *land* uses, *natural hazards* and *climate change*. Equally, the use and development of the region's *natural and physical resources* can have adverse *effects* on the *environment* which need to be appropriately managed.

# **Context**

The well-being of Otago's communities relies on the ability to access and use the region's *natural and physical resources*. The quality of these resources and the ability to access them has a direct bearing on the well-being of people and communities in the region.

Failing to plan and provide for activities that contribute to the regional economy can lead to adverse socioeconomic consequences. Conversely, failure of activities to sustainably manage their impact on *natural and physical resources* can also lead to poor socioeconomic outcomes.

Appropriate access to and use of *natural and physical resources* needs a planning framework that recognises and provides for the essential operational, locational and functional requirements of activities while managing the adverse *effects* of these activities. The ongoing *effects* of *climate change* (addressed elsewhere in the Issues section) will have an ongoing impact on the operation of activities.

# Impact snapshot

# **Environmental**

The use of natural and physical resources can have adverse effects on the environment, which need to be appropriately managed to avoid, remedy or mitigate the adverse effects. Loss or degradation of resources can diminish their intrinsic values. Some of Otago's resources are nationally or regionally important for their natural values and economic potential and so warrant careful management.

However, it is recognised that the natural *environment* can benefit as activities change how they interact with, access and use natural resources. Activities that use *natural* 

and physical resources can achieve positive environmental outcomes, for example riparian planting, habitat restoration and enhancement, public access, and pest control activities. This can be as mitigation or compensation for the effects of activities or as contributions from economically sustainable activities in the region. Some activities, for example renewable electricity generation and other infrastructure, will have a significant role to play in addressing climate change.

# **Economic**

Activities that rely on *natural and physical resources* generate direct and indirect economic benefits; therefore, their ability to operate, or to improve their operational efficiency, affects the economy of the region.

The ability to access and use *natural and physical resources* may impact the ability of activities to optimise the use of investments and assets and realise their potential economic value.

Activities that rely on *natural and physical resources* also rely on clear regulatory settings to inform investment decision-making about the use and development of *natural and physical resources*.

# <u>Social</u>

The ability for activities to access and use *natural and physical resources* provides for the social and cultural well-being of people and communities including by supporting employment, livability, recreation, resilience, food security and investment into communities. Inappropriately located *subdivision*, use and development can increase the potential for harm to human health arising from incompatible activities locating in close proximity to each other.

# 3. SRMR – Introductory section

# 3.1. Discussion

- 11. The introduction to the SRMR chapter was discussed in section 3.8.3 of Ms Todd's s42A report. Several submissions were made on this section of the SRMR chapter. Ms Todd made some minor changes in response, but several submitters pursued other changes at the hearing which she addressed in her reply.
- 12. In reassessing the Transpower submission, Ms Todd agreed that identifying issues only as they relate to natural resources is inappropriately narrow and inconsistent with the purpose of the RMA, and sections 59 and 30(1) of the RMA. As a consequence, she recommended adopting the amendments suggested by Ms McLeod in her EIC. We agree this appropriate and have adopted Ms Todd's position accordingly.
- 13. However, we did not believe the amendments made in response to the Fish and Game, Realnz and NZSki submission appropriately reflect the new issue recommended, which does in fact recognise that social and economic well-being depends on resource use. We have made a change to reflect that, which also addressed the Federated Farmers submission.

14. With respect to Horticulture NZ submission to add 'food production' to the sentence in the 2<sup>nd</sup> paragraph that deals with 'social and cultural perspective', Ms Todd stated that she:

"...did not consider that this level of detail is necessary for the issues statement. It is covered more generally by the reference to agricultural industries in the statement about impacts from an economic perspective. I have not changed my opinion on this."

- 15. However, we agree with HortNZ that food production is not just an economic resource issue but also an essential part of community well-being. As proposed, the HortNZ addition does appear out of place in this sentence because the provision does not reference 'health' and unfortunately, that part of s5 of the Act does not appear in the introductory text.
- 16. In response to the Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust, who sought the inclusion of 'health' benefits (as well as enabling social, economic and cultural well-being) within the introductory text, Ms Todd stated that 'health' is *"covered more generally by the existing text"*. We disagree with that and consider the lack of direct reference to that part of s5 of the RMA to be an oversight.
- 17. As a consequence, we have accepted the submission of the Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust and that of HortNZ as they more accurately reflect reality.

# 3.1.1. Recommendation

- 18. The Panel recommends the following amendments to the first three paragraphs of the Introduction section as follows:
  - a. Amend paragraphs one and two:

Otago's people and communities rely on the *natural <u>and physical</u> resources* that Otago's *environment* provides to enable their social, economic, and cultural wellbeing. Natural resources include *freshwater* (i.e. surface and groundwater, *wetlands*, estuaries), *land <u>and soil</u>*, terrestrial, and *freshwater* ecosystems, coastal and marine ecosystems, and air, landscapes, vegetation and natural landforms. Physical resources include *infrastructure*, *buildings* and facilities.

From an economic perspective *natural <u>and physical</u> resources* support, and are impacted by, agricultural industries (e.g. grazing, cropping, horticulture, viticulture), urban development, industrial development, *infrastructure*, energy generation, transport, marine industries (fishing and aquaculture), tourism and *mineral* extraction. From a social, <u>health</u>, and cultural perspective *natural <u>and</u> <u>physical</u> resources* support and are impacted by <u>food production</u>, recreation, housing, and cultural activities (Refer Figure 2).

# Figure 2 - Relationships between natural resources, resource use and strategies

- b. Delete Figure 2.
  - c. Amend paragraph three:

This RPS identifies the <u>eleven twelve</u> most significant issues impacting the Otago region. Issues firstly considered include *natural hazards, climate change, pest* species, *water* quantity and quality, and *biodiversity* loss, collectively the "natural asset-based issues". Two "place-based issues" of regional significance are then

addressed - being Otago's coast and Otago's *lake* areas. <u>The use and development of</u> <u>resources is also recognised as being essential to the wellbeing of the community,</u> <u>while acknowledging that this can lead to conflicts when managing the adverse</u> <u>effects of this use.</u> Finally, issues of economic and domestic pressures, cumulative impacts and *resilience* are considered.

# 4. SRMR-I1 – *Natural hazards* pose a *risk* to many Otago communities

# 4.1. Discussion

- 19. SRMR-I1 considers the risks and issues associated with natural hazards in Otago and the potential impacts of natural hazards on community, property, infrastructure and the wider environment. Eighteen submissions were received on this SRMR-I1, seeking a broad range of amendments.
- 20. SRMR-I1 was discussed in section 3.8.4 of Ms Todd's s42A report, revisited in her Supplementary Evidence 05A with regard to the ability of infrastructure and distribution networks to respond to natural hazard events, and further discussed in her reply report. We have reviewed her responses to the submissions, and the recommendations that have flowed from that. The Panel did not have any concerns with the amendments recommended by the s.42A reports for the reasons set out in those reports and was not persuaded at the hearings that any change to the s.42A final position was required.

# 5. SRMR-12 – *Climate change* is likely to impact our economy and environment

# 5.1. Discussion

- 21. SRMR-I2 considers the potential impacts of climate change on the Otago Region. The issue addresses the tensions and risks climate change poses to environmental, economic, and social well-being. A total of 28 submissions were received, including one from CIAL which requests that SRMR-I2 be retained as notified. The remaining submissions seek a range of general and specific amendments.
- 22. Ms Todd discussed SRMR-I2 in section 3.8.5 of the s42A report, with her analysis in paragraphs [145] to [167]. She made a number of recommendations which we generally consider appropriate, with a number of exceptions that we discuss below.
- 23. In relation to HortNZ's request for amendment to the first paragraph to acknowledge the impacts of climate change on food production systems and related food supply and food security needs, Ms Todd considers that this *"is covered more generally in the Statement by the sentence acknowledging that climate change may affect the number and types of crops and animals that the land can sustain."* We disagree. The current statement only notes that there will be a change in what the land can sustain. It does not identify one of the wider implications of that, which is the impact this may have on food supply and food security. Hence, we have accepted HortNZ's submission on this.

- 24. Ms Hunter, for Contact, sought the addition of two paragraphs that acknowledge the critical role that renewable electricity generation has to play in New Zealand's decarbonisation requirement. In response, Ms Todd did not agree that it is necessary to discuss the role of Otago's renewable energy facilities in achieving New Zealand's climate change and decarbonisation requirements. In her view, the suggested amendments go into a much greater level of detail about the response to climate change than is necessary to outline the issue.
- 25. While we agree with Ms Todd that the suggested amendments are possibly too detailed for inclusion here, we do agree with Ms Hunter's sentiment. We believe SRMR can and should state what the implications of the issue will be. In this case, it is likely to mean that human intervention will be required and that there will be effects arising from that. We have recommended amendments accordingly.
- 26. With respect to the change made in respect to the Fish and Game submission, we have deleted the last part of Ms Todd's addition, where it stated it 'may also exacerbate the original risk', as that was not sought by the submitters, and we heard no evidence on that. Likewise, with the amendment in response to QLDC request, we have removed reference to the word 'adversely', which was not sought by the submitter. While we accept climate change may impact on visual and recreation values of Otago landscape, it does not necessarily follow that they will all be negative.
- 27. We also agree with the Trojan and Wayfare submission that the notified text needs amendment in relation to the impact on skiing to recognise the reality of the situation.

# 5.2. Recommendation

- 28. The Panel recommends the following amendments:
  - Amend the title of SRMR-I2 as follows:
     SRMR-I2 Climate change will is likely to impact our economy and environment.
  - b. In the Statement, amend the third sentence as follows:

This will be compounded by stronger winds, increased temperatures and longer dry periods, which may affect the number and types of crops and animals that the land can sustain, food production systems and related food supply and food security needs, and the potential for renewable electricity generation.

c. Add the following after the first paragraph in the Statement:

Our responses to climate change, whether that be mitigation or adaptation, will also impact on our economy and environment. An example of this will be the need to protect and maximise existing renewable electricity generation activities in the region, as well as providing for the development of new renewable electricity generation activities.

d. In the Context, add the following paragraph to the end of the subsection:

Rainfall and temperature change may result in drier soils and changes to river flow (low flow and floods), as well as increased occurrence of slips/landslides. Sea level rise will have impacts on coastal communities, infrastructure and habitats, while the risk of wildfire will also increase. Changing climate also risks increased biosecurity issues of

# increased plant, fungal and animal pests and diseases.

- e. In the Impact snapshot, delete "OCCRA report",
- f. In the Environmental impact snapshot:
  - i. Remove the word 'native' from the first sentence as follows:

For terrestrial native ecosystems and species, higher frequency of severe events (e.g. high/low temperatures, intense rainfall, drought, fire weather) could reduce *resilience* of native terrestrial ecosystems and species over time with adverse impacts on biodiversity.

ii. Add the following sentence to the end of the subsection:

Human adaptation to climate change, such as building or expanding dams or flood protection schemes, will be necessary and may give rise to adverse impacts on ecosystems, in addition to those imposed by climate change itself.

g. In the 'regional industry' section, amend the last paragraph as follows:

For Some tourism activities may be affected. there will be negative impacts on skiing where For example, the number of snow days experienced annually could decrease by as much as 30-40 days in some parts of the region. This reduction in natural snowfall will mean that ski fields will be more reliant on snowmaking. The duration of snow cover is also likely to decrease, particularly at lower elevations. This will also lead to reduced summer waterflows.

 In the Social impact snapshot, add the following sentence to the end of the first paragraph:
 Additionally, the visual and recreational values of Otago's landscape may be impacted on by the effects of climate change.

# 6. SRMR-I3 – *Pest* species pose an ongoing threat to indigenous *biodiversity*, economic activities and landscapes

# 6.1. Discussion

- 29. SRMR-I3 considers pest species in Otago and the significant impact these species have on the region's environment, economy and social wellbeing. Twenty-one submissions were received on SRMR-I3, seeking a broad range of amendments.
- 30. SRMR-I3 was discussed in section 3.8.6 of Ms Todd's s42A report, and further discussed in her reply report. We have reviewed her responses to the submissions, and the recommendations that have flowed from that. We generally agree with her recommendations with the following exceptions.
- 31. Horticulture NZ and OWRUG sought an amendment to the Statement to recognise that climate change will potentially exacerbate the impacts of existing pest species and provide opportunities for new pest species to establish, potentially threatening food production and supply. Similarly, the Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust sought that the increased risks of pests and

diseases due to climate change be acknowledged, particularly with respect to declining endemic species.

32. Ms Todd considers that climate change is covered in SRMR-I2 and that this amendment is therefore not necessary. We respectfully disagree and consider that recognition of the potential impacts of climate change on the types and density of pest species is an important matter for SRMR-I3. Climate change is recognised in other SRMRs, for example SRMR-I1 where the context states that "natural hazards may be exacerbated by climate change...". We recommend that an additional sentence relating to climate change be added to the Statement that acknowledges the potential impact of climate change.

# 6.2. Recommendation

- 33. The Panel recommends the following amendment to SRMR-I3:
  - a. Add the following sentence to the end of the Statement of SRMR-I3 as follows:

<u>Climate change may compound the impacts of existing pest species and provide</u> <u>opportunities for new pest species to establish.</u>

# 7. SRMR-I4 – Poorly managed urban and residential growth affects productive *land*, treasured natural assets, *infrastructure* and community well-being

# 7.1. Discussion

- 34. SRMR-I4 considers the impacts of poorly managed urban and residential growth on environmental, economic, and social well-being. A total of 20 submissions were received on this SRMR-I4, seeking a broad range of amendments.
- 35. SRMR-I4 was discussed in section 3.8.7 of Ms Todd's s42A report, with a number of outstanding matters discussed in her reply report. We have reviewed her responses to the submissions, and the recommendations that have flowed from that, and are in agreement with her final position on this SRMR.

# 7.2. Recommendation

- 36. The Panel recommends the following amendments to SRMR-I4:
  - Amend the Title:
     SRMR–I4 Poorly managed urban and residential growth affects productive *land*, treasured natural assets, *rural industry*, *infrastructure* and community well-being
  - b. Amend the Statement as follows:

Natural resources used for urban development are permanently transformed – with the opportunity cost of removing urban activity being too high for land to revert to productive uses. Frequently, places that are attractive for urban growth also have landscape and productive values all of which must be balanced and where possible protected. The growth

of Wanaka <u>Wānaka</u> and Queenstown is changing the natural landscape. Mosgiel's <u>and</u> <u>Cromwell's</u> growth is occurring on some of Otago's most highly productive soil, which removes the option for agriculture. Towns like Arrowtown, Clyde and Milton experience poor air quality in winter, while experiencing pressure to grow.

- c. In the Context:
  - i. Amend the fourth paragraph as follows:

Urban growth, especially if it exceeds infrastructure capacity (either through sheer pace and scale or by lack of planning) or if it occurs in a way or at a rate that mean that appropriate infrastructure is not provided, is lagging or is inefficient, can result in adverse impacts on the environment, existing residents, business and wider society. Quality urban environments are those that maximise the positive aspects of urban areas and minimise the negative.

ii. Add the following paragraph to the end of the Context:

In addition, the productive *land* in Otago contributes to the social and economic wellbeing of the community through production of food and other rural production-based products. In some parts of Otago, *land* and soil resources are particularly valuable for food production. However, where development occurs in a place or manner that removes or reduces the potential to use productive *land*, including through *reverse sensitivity effects*, the ability of *land* to support *primary production* is compromised.

d. Amend the Environmental impact snapshot:

*Urban areas* and associated concentration of human activity result in adverse impacts on the natural *environment*, as a result of *land* consumption, landscape, waterway and vegetation modification for housing, industry, transport of goods and people and recreation areas, the diversion and use of *water*, and *waste* disposal and effluent and pollution *discharges* to air, *land* and *water*. <u>Urban or rural lifestyle expansion can remove</u> *land* and soil resources from productive uses, including for the production of food.<sup>56</sup> All of these can also impact *mana whenua* values. These impacts can also result in loss or impediment of access to important resources including significant *biodiversity* or natural features and landscapes. <u>Poorly managed urban growth can lead to additional carbon emissions, this can create tensions between the need to increase residential housing stock and the need to meet carbon reduction targets.</u>

Urban development growth within *rural areas* can also lead to reverse- sensitivity *effects* on existing *primary production* activities and related rural based activities, because urban activities can be sensitive to the *effects* generated by *primary production* activities and related rural based activities. whereby traditional methods of *pest* management or the undertaking of rural production activities cannot be deployed due the proximity of urban populations and the potential for adverse impacts on those populations.

...

e. Amend the Economic impact snapshot:

While potentially providing short term commercial returns, poorly managed urban growth and development may result in long term impacts including:

- the loss of *land* for *primary production* activities productive *land* (either directly though building on it, or indirectly though *reverse sensitivity effects*);
- the consequences of previous decisions (low density development, including rural residential <u>lifestyle</u>, in the short term can preclude higher density development in the medium to longer term);
- increased capital and operational costs for *infrastructure* which can foreclose other more suitable investments or spending, increased costs from less efficient spatial arrangements (such as increased transportation and *infrastructure* costs to both users and operators), and loss of valued natural capital and future opportunities; and
- housing affordability can be challenges are present in the region and are negatively affected by urban growth where demand outpaces supply.
- <u>conflict arising from the location of incompatible activities within proximity of each</u> <u>other, including the potential for *reverse sensitivity* <u>effects on the continued</u> <u>operation and growth of rural based activities.</u> <u>In Otago, housing has been more affordable for homeowners than the NZ average in</u> <u>recent years, however house value growth has been higher in Otago (12.6% per</u> <u>annum) than the NZ average (7%) since 2017.</u>
  </u>
- f. Amend the third paragraph of the Social impact snapshot:

Transportation of goods and people between and within urban areas can also generate impacts on humans. For example, increased traffic congestion and lack of safe and attractive alternatives within urban areas impacts people and businesses living near to high volume traffic routes, resulting in lost time for family and other activities for those who use them, and *road* fatalities on rural highways deaths and serious injuries on the transport network.

8. SRMR-I7 – Rich and varied *biodiversity* has been lost or degraded due to human activities and the presence of *pests* and predators

# 8.1. Discussion

•••

- 37. SRMR-I7 considers the issues associated with the loss of biodiversity in Otago, including habitat loss, land use change, vegetation clearance and invasive species. It addresses marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. Twenty-four submissions were received on SRMR-I7, seeking a broad range of amendments.
- 38. SRMR-I7 was discussed in section 3.8.10 of Ms Todd's s42A report and further discussed in her reply report. We have reviewed her responses to the submissions, and the recommendations that have flowed from that. The Panel did not have any concerns with the amendments recommended by the s.42A reports for the reasons set out in those reports and was not persuaded at the hearings that any change to the s.42A final position was required.

# 9. SMRM-I8 – Otago's coast is a rich natural, cultural and economic resource that is under threat from a range of terrestrial and marine activities.

- 39. Only 10 submissions were received on SRMR I8. With two of those supporting its retention unchanged, that left only 8 submissions seeking change. All of those submissions only sought limited changes to the Statement section following the issue and the accompanying Context section, but not to the issue wording itself.
- 40. The Panel did not have any concerns with the amendments recommended by the s.42A reports for the reasons set out in those reports and the Panel was not persuaded at the hearings that any change to the s.42A final position was required.

# 10. SRMR-I10 – Economic and domestic activities in Otago use natural resources but do not always properly account for the environmental stresses or the future impacts they cause

# 10.1. Discussion

- 41. SRMR-I10 considers the issues associated with economic and domestic activities on natural resources, such as development, water abstraction, discharges, primary production, transport and tourism. A total of 29 submissions were received in relation to this SRMR, including one from Beef+ Lamb and DINZ seeking it to be retained as notified. The remaining submissions seek a broad range of amendments across the whole of SRMR-I10.
- 42. Ms Todd addresses SRMR-I10 in section 3.8.13 of her s42A report and again in her reply report. She recommended a small number of changes, noting that the concerns expressed by some submitters around the lack of recognition of the importance of various activities are better dealt with by the new significant resource management issue for the region. We agree with that. Had that new issue not been introduced, the Panel would have made significant changes to this issue, given how negatively it is expressed.
- 43. However, we do acknowledge that this issue is in fact about activities not always accounting for the effects they may cause. With that in mind, we agree with the forest companies' submission that the words 'poorly managed' should be included in the statement.
- 44. We also had some sympathy for the submissions of Trojan and Wayfare who consider that the use of the term 'social licence' is not a good fit in the context of an RMA policy document. They question what it means and how its use is justified. We too do not understand the relevance of that term in an RMA document. As a consequence, we accept their opposition to this provision as a whole for the reasons they stated but prefer our amendments to theirs as it better addresses the concern.

# 10.2. Recommendation

- 45. The Panel recommends the following amendments to SRMR-I10:
  - a. Amend the Statement as follows:

Sediment from <u>poorly managed</u> development and <u>forestry primary production</u> activities flows into streams and builds up in the coastal *environment*, smothering kelp forests and affecting rich underwater habitats. *Water* abstraction and *wastewater* and *stormwater discharges* adversely affect the natural *environment*, cultural and *amenity values*, and recreation. Agriculture, fishing and *minerals* extraction support employment and economic well-being but also change landscapes and habitats. Otago's port moves freight to and from Otago and Southland, but operates alongside sensitive *environments*, including the Aramoana saltmarsh. Tourism <u>and recreation</u>, which relies on the *environment*, can also put pressure on natural *environments*.

b. Amend the 'Social' subsection as follows:

Damage to or loss of natural features and landscapes compromises *amenity values*. Failure of business to sustainably manage <u>their impact on</u> natural resources <u>can also have social</u> <u>impacts</u>. <u>compromise the social licence of a business sector to operate</u>. This adversely <u>impacts social capital (trust) and can create community division</u>. In extreme cases it can lead to <del>calls for</del> reduced access to resources.

# 11. SRMR – I11: Cumulative impacts and resilience – the environmental costs of our activities in Otago are adding up with tipping points potentially being reached

<sup>46.</sup> The issues related to the use of terminology such as 'limits' 'tipping points' and 'thresholds' were addressed in Section 1: Legal Issues of Appendix One. No further issues arise.

# Section 5: Integrated Management (IM)

# 1. Introduction

- 1. The purpose of a regional policy statement is to provide an overview of the resource management issues of the region and the policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the region. Integrated management is an approach to environmental management that seeks to manage resources together under one regime rather than creating silos by managing different areas, resources, or effects separately. The concept of integrated management is consistent with the Kāi Tahu understanding that all parts of the environment (te taiao) are interconnected, and that it is important to reflect this through holistic management. A holistic approach to managing te taiao must value all parts of the environment and recognise and reflect the interconnections between these components.
- 2. The National Planning Standards provide for (but do not require) an RPS to include a chapter on integrated management, within Part 2 Resource Management Overview. This allows for provisions to be included that address integrated management of resources across domains and topics, and as such ORC has incorporated such a chapter. The pORPS 2019 has been criticised for providing limited direction on how integrated management is to be achieved, particularly in relation to providing specific direction on matters that cross domains and topics, such as freshwater management. The Council considered that including an integrated management chapter, as provided for by the National Planning Standards, would assist with ensure this regional policy statement is more explicit and direct in setting out how integrated management is expected to occur.
- 3. The *IM Integrated management* chapter is to be read alongside all of the other chapters of the pORPS 2021. It directs how integrated management is to be achieved in the management of Otago's environment and provides specific direction on climate change adaptation and mitigation. It is intended that the provisions of this chapter will assist decision-makers to resolve tensions between provisions in other chapters of the pORPS.
- 4. The underlying principle expressed in s.59 of the RMA bears repetition at the start of this chapter consideration:

# 59 Purpose of regional policy statements

The purpose of a regional policy statement is to achieve the purpose of the Act by providing an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods <u>to achieve integrated management</u> of the natural and physical resources of the whole region.

(our emphasis)

- 5. The topics addressed particularly in IM-P1 and IM-P2 as to the Integrated Approach and Decision Priorities respectively tended to dominate and permeate the whole of the hearings before us. The significance of that focus on the issue of prioritisation of 'protection' of natural resources is reflected in the lengthy discussion in the Legal Section in Appendix One of the differing views which we broadly termed as 'enabling' or 'protectionist' approaches.
- 6. We do not intend to repeat any of that legal section discussion in this chapter consideration and hence only where necessary will make reference to the findings made there.
- 7. The consideration of particularly IM-O1 and IM-O3 and IM-P1, IM-P2 and IM-P14 in this chapter will accordingly be very limited.

8. In relation to the amendments we have suggested for those provisions, and for IM-P6, IM-P13, IM-P14 and IM-P15, there has been an underlying legal purpose. The 32AA assessment for those amendments, therefore, is that they all are intended to more accurately align the provisions involved with the purpose of the RMA in the manner directed by the Supreme Court's decisions in *NZ King Salmon, Save Our Sounds* and the *Port Otago* case.

# 2. IM-O1 and IM-O3

9. The notified versions of these two objectives were as follows:

# IM–O1 – Long term vision

The management of natural and physical resources in Otago, by and for the people of Otago, including Kāi Tahu, and as expressed in all resource management plans and decision making, achieves healthy, resilient, and safeguarded natural systems, and the ecosystem services they offer, and supports the well-being of present and future generations, mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei.

# IM–O3 – Environmentally sustainable impact

Otago's communities carry out their activities in a way that preserves environmental integrity, form, function, and resilience, so that the life-supporting capacities of air, water, soil, ecosystems, and indigenous biodiversity endure for future generations.

- 10. In essence the submissions on these objectives, as with those on IM-P1 and IM-P2, were primarily focussed on the prioritisation issues. The outcome of those considerations were affected by the Supreme Court decisions as discussed in the Legal Section of this report. The consequence is addressed in the finally recommended IM-P1 which recommended amalgamating IM-P1 and IM-P2 and creating a consent pathway utilising the 'structured analysis' approach applied by the Supreme Court in the *Port Otago* case.
- 11. There were some other changes which were consistent with that approach recommended by the final 10 October, 2023 reply report which we set out below:

# IM-O1 – Long term vision (mõ tātou, ā, mõ kā uri ā muri ake nei)

The management of *natural and physical resources* in Otago, by and for the people of Otago, including in partnership with Kāi Tahu, and as expressed in all resource management plans and decision making, achieves <u>a</u> healthy, <u>and</u> *resilient*, and safeguarded natural systems <u>environment</u>, and <u>including</u> the ecosystem services-they offer <u>it provides</u>, and supports the well-being of present and future generations, mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei.

# IM-O3 – Environmentally sSustainable impact

Otago's communities carry out their activities in a way provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being in ways that support or restore preserves environmental integrity, form, functioning, and resilience, so that the life-supporting capacities of air, water, soil, and ecosystems are safeguarded, and indigenous biodiversity endure for future generations.

12. The Panel agrees with the changes recommended with only one change to IM-O3 to amend the phrase 'are safeguarded' to read 'are sustainably managed' to be consistent with the aim of ensuring there is not an implied prioritisation, and to be closely consistent with the s.5 RMA language.

# 2.1. **Recommendation**

13. As discussed above, the 10 October, 2023 version wording for IM-O1 is recommended to be accepted, but the wording for IM-O3 is recommended to be amended as follows:

# IM-O1 – Long term vision (mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei)

The management of *natural and physical resources* in Otago, by and for the people of Otago, including in partnership with Kāi Tahu, and as expressed in all resource management plans and decision making, achieves <u>a</u> healthy, <u>and</u> *resilient*, and safeguarded natural systems <u>environment</u>, and <u>including</u> the ecosystem services-they offer <u>it provides</u>, and supports the well-being of present and future generations, mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei.

# IM-O3 – Environmentally sSustainable impact

Otago's communities carry out their activities in a way provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being in ways that support or restore preserves environmental integrity, form, functioning, and resilience, so that the life-supporting capacities of air, water, soil, and ecosystems are safeguarded sustainably managed, and indigenous biodiversity endure for future generations.

# 3. IM-P1 and IM-P2

- 14. In the final reply reports in May, 2023 these two policies were recommended to be amalgamated into one policy with which the Panel was in agreement.
- 15. Then in the aftermath of the *Port Otago* Supreme Court decision the ORC in final closing submissions of counsel outlined why the final 10 October, 2023 version of the PORPS recommended major changes to the prioritisation issue in these two policies, and recommended a 'structured analysis' approach to achieve intergated management.
- 16. In the Legal section of this report after the discussion of the *Port Otago* Supreme Court decision and the ORC change of position, we had continued on to address why the 10 October, 2023 recommended wording still required further amendment. That was because of the need to potentially resolve objective or policy differences arising between a range of various statutory instruments.

# 3.1. **Recommendation**

17. We do not propose to repeat that Legal section discussion here, but for the sake of the record as to this chapter topic we do set out below our recommendation as to the changes we recommend to the final 10 October, 2023 version of the amended and combined IM-P1 and IM-P2 by deleting those notified provisions and replacing them with the following IM-P1:

<u>Giving effect to the integrated package of objectives and policies in this RPS and other</u> relevant statutory provisions requires decision-makers to:

(1) <u>consider all provisions relevant to an issue or decision and apply them purposively</u> <u>according to the terms in which they are expressed, and</u>

(2) if after (1) there is an irreconcilable conflict between any of the relevant RPS and/or statutory provisions which apply to an activity, only consider the activity if:

(a) the activity is necessary to give effect to a relevant policy or statutory provision and not merely desirable, and
(b) all options for the activity have been considered and evaluated, and
(c) if possible, the chosen option will not breach any other relevant policy or statutory provision, and
(d) if (c) is not possible, any breach is only to the extent required to give effect

(d) if (c) is not possible, any breach is only to the extent required to give effect to the policy or statutory provision providing for the activity, and

(3) if 2(d) applies, evaluate all relevant factors in a structured analysis to decide which of the conflicting policies or statutory provisions should prevail, or the extent to which any relevant policy or statutory provision should prevail, and

(4) in the analysis under (1) or (2), and in the structured analysis under (3), assess the nature of the activity against the values inherent in the relevant policies or statutory provisions in the particular circumstances.

# 4. IM-P4 – Setting a Strategic approach to ecosystem health

18. This policy was notified as follows:

# IM–P4 – Setting a strategic approach to ecosystem health

Healthy ecosystems and ecosystem services are achieved through a planning framework that:

- (1) protects their intrinsic values,
- (2) takes a long-term strategic approach that recognises changing environments,
- (3) recognises and provides for ecosystem complexity and interconnections, and
- (4) anticipates, or responds swiftly to, changes in activities, pressures, and trends.
- 19. Submissions on IM-P4 requested the following:
  - Amendments to balance ecological health with use, development and growth;
  - Several amendments to increase clarity and give the policy more 'teeth', for example through clause (1) seeking to enhance as well as maintain intrinsic values, promote ecological resilience, and recognise that cumulative effects often undermine ecological health.

- Clarity as to whether the policy applies to resource consent processes or only to district and regional plan preparation;
- That clause (2) refer to RMIA-MKB-I5 to acknowledge the need for a partnership approach, and references the 'impacts of climate change';
- Recognition of the importance of robust science and monitoring data; and
- An additional clause recognising the importance of environmental limits in ecosystem health.
- 20. The s.42A and reply reports by Ms Boyd recommended a number of amendments in response to these submissions, including:
  - Clarifying that the policy applies to district and regional plan development and not resource consents;
  - Changing 'protects' to 'have particular regard' in clause (1) to better reflect s.7(d) of the RMA;
  - Recognising the impacts of climate change in clause (2);
- 21. We note that there are a number of provisions that are relevant to this policy, including RMIA-MKB-I5. Referring to this issue in isolation would potentially confuse matters. We also do not agree that this policy should reference resource use, as the impacts on ecosystem health are the subject of this policy. Such matters are appropriate to be addressed in the ECO chapter, and human impacts in a broader sense are addressed in IM-P14.
- 22. IM-P6 addresses the use of scientific data and monitoring and requires that the best available information be used. We do not consider it necessary to repeat this through recognising the importance of science and monitoring data in IM-P4, as requested by Federated Farmers. Similarly, cumulative effects are addressed by IM-P13 and environmental limits by IM-P14. We don't consider is appropriate to address these matters in IM-P4 as well.

# 4.1. Recommendation

23. We recommend that the wording in the reply report version of the PORPS be adopted for IM-P4, as follows:

# IM-P4 – Setting a strategic approach to ecosystem health

Healthy <u>and *resilient*</u> ecosystems and ecosystem services are achieved <u>by developing</u> <u>regional plans</u> and <u>district plans</u> through a planning framework that:

- (1) protects have particular regard to their the intrinsic values of ecosystems,
- (2) takes take a long-term strategic approach that recognises changing environments ongoing environmental change, including the impacts of climate change,
- (3) recognises recognise and provides provide for ecosystem complexity and interconnections, and
- (4) anticipates anticipate, or responds respond swiftly to, changes in activities, pressures, and trends.

# 5. IM-P5 – Managing environmental interconnections

24. The notified version of IM-P5 was as follows:

#### IM–P5 – Managing environmental interconnections

Coordinate the management of interconnected *natural and physical resources* by recognising and providing for:

- (1) situations where the value and function of a *natural or physical resource* extends beyond the immediate, or directly adjacent, area of interest,
- (2) the effects of activities on a *natural or physical resource* as a whole when that resource is managed as sub-units, and
- (3) the impacts of management of one *natural or physical resource* on the values of another, or on the *environment*.
- 25. In her s.42A report, Ms Boyd recommended deleting IM-P13 Managing cumulative effects and adding a new clause (4) to IM-P5 addressing cumulative effects. This was opposed by submitters, including Kāi Tahu ki Otago and the Director General of Conservation, and Ms Boyd recommended in her reply report that IM-P13 be reinstated, albeit in an amended form. We agree with that approach, which is addressed in relation to IM-P13 later in this report, and consider that a clause addressing cumulative effects in not required in IM-P5.
- 26. There was concern from submitters, including Wise Response and Kāi Tahu ki Otago, as to how IM-P5 would be applied and implemented. For example, would it apply to both regulatory and non-regulatory work? Ms Boyd discussed this in her supplementary evidence and reply report, stating that she considered that it should apply to all resource management processes. Ms Boyd's supplementary evidence recommended amending the chapeau as follows:

In resource management decision-making, manage the use and development Coordinate the management of interconnected *natural and physical resources* by recognising and providing for:

<u>...</u>

- 27. Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahu questioned "why the scope of the policy has been limited to "resource management decision-making", as recognition of environmental connections should be an integral part of all resource management processes".<sup>1</sup> In her reply report, Ms Boyd stated that she considered that decision-making "occurs in a range of resource management processes, such as plan-making, consent applications, and during monitoring and enforcement".<sup>2</sup>
- 28. We have some sympathy for Ms McIntyre's view that 'resource management decision-making' may be too narrow to capture the breadth of resource management processes that this integrated management policy is clearly intended to capture. Ms Boyd's list of examples only includes regulatory decision-making and, in our view, this could be a common interpretation. We prefer the following wording proposed by Ms McIntyre in Appendix 1 to her Evidence in Chief:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EIC of Ms Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, para82(b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Reply Report of Ms Felicity Boyd, 23 May 2023, para 84

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

Manage the use and development of interconnected natural and physical resources by recognising:

- ...
- 29. Turning to other submissions, we agree with Ms Boyd's recommendation to accept the request by Fish and Game and Kāi Tahu that clause (2) should refer to the 'environment' rather than 'natural and physical resources'.

# 5.1. **Recommendation**

30. We recommend the following amendments to IM-P5:

#### IM-P5 – Managing environmental interconnections

Coordinate the management of Manage the use and development of interconnected *natural and physical resources* by recognising and providing for:

- (1) situations where the value and function of a *natural or physical resource* extends beyond the immediate, or directly adjacent, area of interest,
- (2) the *effects* of activities on a *natural or physical resource* as a whole when that resource is managed as sub-units <u>situations where the *effects* of an activity</u> <u>extend to a different part of the *environment*, and</u>
- (3) the impacts of management of one *natural or physical resource* on the values of another, or on the *environment*.

# 6. IM-O4 – Climate change

31. As notified, IM-O4 reads:

# IM-O4 – Climate change

Otago's communities, including Kāi Tahu, understand what *climate change* means for their future, and *climate change* responses in the region, including adaptation and mitigation actions, are aligned with national level *climate change* responses and are recognised as integral to achieving the outcomes sought by this RPS.

- 32. Five submitters sought to retain this provision as notified while a number sought changes. Many of the changes sought requested that the objective reference local, regional, and national objectives and targets for climate change. Wise Response requested that the objective require a reduction in the rate of resource and energy use to sufficient "fair share" and concurrently promote a shift to essential renewable energy. Manawa Energy (Manawa) sought reference to strategic actions alongside adaptation and mitigation while Contact Energy (Contact) sought better recognition of renewable energy's role.
- 33. Ms Boyd, the s42A report author, made some changes in response to these submissions, and also in relation to the broader submissions on climate change. The changes did not include any recognition of the role renewable electricity generation will play in addressing climate change which, in her opinion, is the more appropriately located in the EIT-EN section is.
- 34. While we generally with, and accept, the changes Ms Boyd has made, we do feel that greater recognition should be provided for the role of renewable electricity generation in this provision.

We heard compelling evidence from all the REGs, particularly from Contact, on how significant this role will be. Ms Hunter, the planner for Contact, stated at paragraph 8.5 of her EIC:

Mr Hunt explains that New Zealand law sets a target for the country to reduce net emissions of greenhouse gases to zero by 2050.<sup>8</sup> The Government also has an aspirational target of transitioning to 100% REG by 2030.<sup>9</sup> Mr Hunt also explains that electricity demand is expected to grow substantially as New Zealand uses more electricity to decarbonise the economy.<sup>10</sup> The ongoing use and development of new REG facilities is, therefore, a critical and significant component of climate change mitigation in New Zealand.

35. While we agree with Ms Boyd in section 6.5 of her s42A report that REGs do not need a standalone provision in the IM section, we agree with Ms Hunter that it should at least be recognised, given the IM provisions address 'integrated management of resources across domains and topics', as Ms Boyd stated in her introductory chapter. The development of REGs generally affects 'resources across domains and topics', some of which will have restrictive limits to their use. In our view, IM-P12 recognises this by acknowledging that climate mitigation/adaption activities will potentially compromise these limits when addressing climate change. REGs projects are likely to be some of the most important of these activities in the near future.

# 6.1. **Recommendation**

36. The Panel recommends amending IM-O4 as follows:

## IM-O4 – Climate change

Otago's communities, including Kāi Tahu, understand what *climate change* means for their future, and <u>responses to</u> *climate change* <del>responses</del> in the region, (including <u>climate change</u> adaptation and <u>climate change</u> mitigation <del>actions,</del>):

- (1) are aligned with national level *climate change* responses,
- (2) assist with achieving the national target for emissions reduction, including by having a highly renewable energy system, and
- (3) are recognised as integral to achieving the outcomes sought by this RPS.

# 7. IM-P8 – Climate change impacts

37. As notified, IM-P8 reads:

# IM–P8 – Climate change impacts

Recognise and provide for *climate change* processes and *risks* by identifying *climate change* impacts in Otago, including impacts from a te ao Māori perspective, assessing how the impacts are likely to change over time and anticipating those changes in resource management processes and decisions.

38. A number of submitters sought retention of this policy as notified (CIAL, CODC, Greenpeace and Ravensdown) while others sought a range of wording changes along with the inclusion of reference to information requirements and consultation processes. Ms Boyd made some minor

changes in response to these submissions and promoted a restructuring of the policy so that its direction is more clearly expressed.

39. We have reviewed Ms Boyd's assessment of the submissions and find ourselves in agreement with the conclusions she has reached.

#### 7.1. **Recommendation**

40. The Panel recommends amending IM-P8 as follows:

#### IM-P8 – Effects of Cclimate change impacts

Recognise and provide for the *effects* of *climate change* processes and *risks* by:

- (1) identifying the effects of climate change impacts in Otago, including impacts from a te ao Māori the perspectives of Kāi Tahu as mana whenua, assessing how the impacts effects<sup>204</sup> are likely to change over time, and
- (2) anticipating taking into account<sup>205</sup> those changes in resource management processes and decisions.

# 8. IM-P9 – Community response to climate change impacts

41. As notified, IM-P9 reads:

#### IM–P9 – Community response to climate change impacts

By 2030 Otago's communities have established responses for adapting to the impacts of *climate change*, are adjusting their lifestyles to follow them, and are reducing their *greenhouse gas* emissions to achieve net-zero carbon emissions by 2050.

- 42. Six submitters sought retention of this policy. The Waitaki Irrigators requested that it either be deleted or that it become an anticipated environmental result. Federated Farmers also requested that it be deleted, questioning whether the policy aligned with the requirements of the RMA and suggested that it is a matter for climate change legislation or regulations. Several other submitters sought changes to the policy.
- 43. Ms Boyd agreed with the submitters who questioned whether IM-P9 is expressed as a policy. She felt that part of the policy is an outcome (the reference to 'achieving net-zero carbon emissions') with other parts being methods (that communities adjust their lifestyles and reduce greenhouse gas emissions). She recommended that it be deleted provided her recommendation to incorporate *"assist with achieving the national target for emissions reduction"* into IM-O4 is accepted.
- 44. We have recommended the requested amendment to IM-O4 and agree with Ms Boyd that the other parts of the provision are not appropriate for a policy and that they lack clarity. Hence, we have accepted her recommendation to delete IM-P9.

# 8.1. **Recommendation**

- 45. The Panel recommend as follows:
  - (a) Delete IM-P9.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

# 9. IM-P10 – Climate change adaptation and mitigation

46. As notified, IM-P10 reads:

## IM–P10 – Climate change adaptation and mitigation

Identify and implement *climate change* adaptation and mitigation methods for Otago that:

- (1) minimise the *effects* of *climate change* processes or *risks* to existing activities,
- (2) prioritise avoiding the establishment of new activities in areas subject to *risk* from the *effects* of *climate change*, unless those activities reduce, or are resilient to, those *risks*, and
- (3) provide Otago's communities, including Kāi Tahu, with the best chance to thrive, even under the most extreme *climate change* scenarios.
- 47. Along with support to retain the policy as notified, there were numerous requests for amendments on a range of issues. No submission sought the deletion of this policy. Ms Boyd has recommended a number of changes in response to the submissions. We generally accept this recommendation with the exception of deleting the phrase 'existing activities' from the first clause.
- 48. While we agree with the addition of the wider environment to clause (1), explicit reference to 'existing activities' is considered appropriate by the Panel given the focus of this provision. There will be some, if not many, existing activities that will require adaption plans to be implemented to protect them against the effects of climate change. Consequently, we have recommended a modified version of Ms Boyd's amendment as proposed in her supplementary report.
- 49. We also agree with Ms Boyd's recommendation, in response to the DCC submission to include IM-P11 into IM-P10 (with the amendments made in response to Dr Freeman for OWRUG), but we again agree with both Manawa and Contact that the policy needs to recognise the role that renewable electricity generation plays in mitigation. In the Panel's view, that activity will be critical in addressing the climate change issue. We have therefore adopted a combination of the wording proposed by Ms Styles (for Manawa) and Ms Hunter (for Contact), as follows:

*Protects its existing renewable electricity facilities and provides for the development of new renewable electricity generation and infrastructure.* 

# 9.1. **Recommendation**

- 50. The Panel recommend as follows:
  - (a) Amend IM-P10 as follows:

#### IM-P10 – Climate change adaptation and <u>climate change</u> mitigation

Identify and implement *climate change adaptation* and <u>climate change</u> mitigation methods for Otago that:

- (1) minimise the *effects* of *climate change* <del>processes or *risks* on existing activities <u>and the wider environment</u>,</del>
- (2) prioritise avoiding the establishment of new activities in areas subject to risk from the effects of climate change, unless those activities reduce, or are resilient to, those risks, and
- (3) provide Otago's communities, including Kāi Tahu, with the best chance to thrive, even under the most extreme *climate change* scenarios -
- (4) <u>enhance environmental, social, economic, and cultural resilience to the adverse</u> <u>effects of climate change, including by facilitating activities that reduce those</u> <u>effects, and</u>
- (5) protects Otago's existing renewable electricity facilities and provides for the development of new renewable electricity generation and infrastructure.
- (b) Delete IM-P11.

# 10. IM-P12 – Contravening environmental bottom lines for climate change mitigation

51. As notified, IM-P12 reads:

# IM-P12 - Contravening environmental bottom lines for climate change mitigation

Where a proposed activity provides or will provide enduring regionally or nationally significant mitigation of *climate change* impacts, with commensurate benefits for the well-being of people and communities and the wider *environment*, decision makers may, at their discretion, allow non-compliance with an environmental bottom line set in any policy or method of this RPS only if they are satisfied that:

- (1) the activity is designed and carried out to have the smallest possible environmental impact consistent with its purpose and *functional needs*,
- (2) the activity is consistent and coordinated with other regional and national *climate change* mitigation activities,
- (3) adverse *effects* on the *environment* that cannot be avoided, remedied, or mitigated are offset, or compensated for if an offset is not possible, in accordance with any specific criteria for using offsets or compensation, and ensuring that any offset is:
  - (a) undertaken where it will result in the best ecological outcome,
  - (b) close to the location of the activity, and
  - (c) within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,
- the activity will not impede either the achievement of the objectives of this RPS or the objectives of regional policy statements in neighbouring regions, and

- (5) the activity will not contravene a bottom line set in a national policy statement or national environmental standard.
- 52. This provision attracted a range of submissions including several submitters seeking its retention to those requesting it be deleted. Others sought that this approach be applied to other provisions that regulate important infrastructure. Wise Response submitted that the Government would legislate for individual projects if they are important enough so sought deletion of the policy or alternatively, that approval be sought from the Minister of Conservation to breach bottom lines. OWRUG also sought deletion of the policy or that it be amended for consistency with the purpose of the RMA. They submit it is not clear whether this policy achieves the purposes of the RMA or if it can be reconciled with other highly directive provisions within relevant NPSs or the pORPS 2021 itself. Federated Farmers considers that the policy sets such a high bar for these activities that it is unlikely any activities would meet the criteria. A range of other amendments were also sought by other submitters.
- 53. Ms Boyd recommended a number of amendments in her s42A report but revisited this provision in her reply given the lengthy discussion in the various hearings in relation to the importance of increasing renewable electricity generation as a method for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The REG submitters generally considered that IM-P12 provided an important pathway for developing climate change mitigation projects.
- 54. In response to that, Ms Boyd made further changes which led to the following provision being recommended by her:

# IM-P12 – Contravening *environmental* bottom lines *limits* for *climate change mitigation*

Where If a proposed activity provides or will provide enduring regionally or nationally significant <u>climate change mitigation</u> mitigation of <u>climate change</u> impacts, with commensurate benefits for the well-being of people and communities and the wider <u>environment</u>, decision makers may, <u>at their</u> discretion, allow non-compliance with an <u>environmental bottom line limit</u> set in, <u>or resulting from</u>, any policy or method of this RPS only if they are satisfied that:

(1) the activity is designed and carried out to have the smallest possible environmental impact consistent with its purpose and *functional needs* 

(2) the activity is consistent <del>and coordinated</del> with other regional and national *climate change mitigation* activities, <u>and</u>

(3) adverse *effects* on the *environment* that cannot be <u>are</u> avoided, remedied, or mitigated <u>so that they are minimised to the greatest extent</u> <u>practicable and any residual adverse *effects* are offset, or compensated for, <u>and</u> if an offset is not possible, in accordance with any specific criteria for using offsets or compensation, and ensuring that any offset is:</u>

(a) undertaken where it will result in the best ecological outcome,

(a) close to the location of the activity, and

(b) within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,

- (4) the activity will not impede either the achievement of the objectives of this RPS or the objectives of regional policy statements in neighbouring regions, and
- (5) the activity will not contravene <del>a bottom line set in</del> a national policy statement or national environmental standard.<u>, and</u>
- (6) <u>it is demonstrated that there are no other reasonable alternatives to the</u> <u>activity proposed.</u>
- 55. While the Panel considers this iteration of the policy to be an improvement, we are of the opinion that there are still a number of clauses that are unlikely to assist with the development of key projects that are designed to address climate change impacts. We address these below.
- 56. While Port Otago considered the policy a practical balancing approach to facilitate climate change mitigation projects, they sought explicit recognition of climate change adaptation because it is not clear whether this is provided for in the policy.
- 57. In her s42A report, Ms Boyd agreed with Port Otago that it is unclear whether the policy applies to climate change adaptation or climate change mitigation or both. But she went on to say:

"I note that the title and clause (2) refer only to climate change mitigation, but the chapeau refers to "mitigation of climate change impacts" which is more aligned with adaptation. In my opinion, environment limits are important to protecting the health of natural resources and breaches should only be provided for in limited circumstances. Climate change mitigation assists to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases, meaning that less adaptation may be required. I consider that breaching environmental limits for this purpose could be appropriate in certain circumstances due to the national and potentially international benefits of climate change mitigation. For these reasons, I consider the policy should be clearly focused only on climate change mitigation, not climate change adaptation, and therefore do not recommend accepting the submission point by Port Otago".

- 58. The Panel does not understand why this provision should not be available to projects that may be critical in protecting or relocating communities and infrastructure from actual or expected climate effects. In our view, this will be just as important in the response to climate change effects as reducing the source of that change. The rate and magnitude of climate change impacts is not known with any great certainty so communities must have all options available to them for any necessary response. Hence, we agree with Port Otago and have included *climate change adaptation* within the policy.
- 59. Meridian considers that clause (2) is unclear in terms of how 'consistency' is to be determined and seeks its deletion. That clause reads "the activity is with other regional and national climate change mitigation activities". The Meridian submission queried whether "this requires the same source of renewable electricity generation (e.g., hydro, solar or wind); or consistency of technology used; or scale of electricity generation; or scale of greenhouse emissions avoided relative to electricity generated."
- 60. In her response to this matter, Ms Boyd referred to the Climate Change Response Act which sets up the policy framework for climate change action in New Zealand. The emissions reduction plan

which will flow from this legislation will describe how the country will meet emissions budgets and make progress towards achieving the 2050 target. As a consequence, Ms Boyd considers that *"it is important that the application of this policy is consistent with the broader policy framework for climate change mitigation"* and recommended against accepting the submission.

- 61. We agree with Meridian on this point. In our view, this clause introduces an unnecessary degree of uncertainty in its current form. But regardless of this, it is not needed given the chapeau refers to 'regionally or nationally significant' projects, and given the fact that it is not mandatory to apply the policy. One would expect that any applicant looking to utilise this provision would need to address the matter Ms Boyd's report raises to convince the decision maker it is worthy.
- 62. On the point of it not being mandatory, several submitters requested that the decision makers must always apply the policy in such circumstances. However, we believe that where limits are being compromised, a value judgment will be required before it can be determined whether this policy should be applied or not. Hence, we have not recommended that change but do consider the word 'only' to be superfluous in the last line of the chapeau.
- 63. The remaining matter to discuss is Ms Boyd's response to Mr Farrell (for Fish and Game), who was of the view that, as she put it, " activity is to be provided the ability to "get around' the policies and methods of the pORPS ...then it is appropriate that this should be as a 'last resort' i.e. after assessment has determined that there are no other reasonable alternatives." Ms Boyd accepted this proposition, given the alternative pathway this policy provides, and recommended a clause addressing this matter accordingly.
- 64. Again, we consider this superfluous given that the chapeau refers to 'regionally or nationally significant' projects, and the fact that it is not mandatory to apply the policy. It raises similar issues to that which Meridian raised in respect of clause 2. There will always be alternatives to the project, but the issue is always whether there is a proponent for these projects. Hence, we do not accept this recommendation.
- 65. In line with our recommendations to other provisions, we also recommend that 'to the greatest extent practicable' be replaced 'to the extent reasonably practicable'.

# 10.1. **Recommendation**

66. The Panel recommends the following amendments to IM-P12 (changes compared to the Reply Report):

# IM-P12 – Contravening environmental bottom lines limits for climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation.

Where If a proposed activity provides or will provide enduring regionally or nationally significant <u>climate change mitigation</u> or <u>climate change adaptation</u> mitigation of <u>climate change</u> impacts, with commensurate benefits for the wellbeing of people and communities and the wider <u>environment</u>, decision makers may, at their discretion, allow non-compliance with an <u>environmental bottom line limits</u> set in, or resulting from, any policy or method of this RPS <del>only</del> if they are satisfied that:

- (1) the activity is designed and carried out to have the smallest possible environmental impact consistent with its purpose and *functional needs*,
- (2) the activity is consistent and coordinated with other regional and national

#### climate change mitigation activities, and

- (3) adverse effects on the environment that cannot be are avoided, remedied, or mitigated so that they are minimised to the extent reasonably practicable, and any significant residual adverse effects are offset, or compensated for, and if an offset is not possible, in accordance with any specific criteria for using offsets or compensation, and ensuring that any offset is:
  - (a) undertaken where it will result in the best ecological outcome,
  - (b) close to the location of the activity, and
  - (c) within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,
- (4) the activity will not impede either the achievement of the objectives of this RPS or the objectives of regional policy statements in neighbouring regions, and
- (5) the activity will not contravene a bottom line set in a national policy statement or national environmental standard.

# 11. Other IM Climate Change Provisions

- 67. Related to the IM climate change objectives and policies, are several methods, being IM-M1(2) and (3), IM-M3(1), IM-M4 and IM-M5. IM-AER3 is also related to climate change. We have reviewed the submissions on those provisions and Ms Boyd's responses. The Panel has not identified any issue of concern with these provisions as now recommended and adopt them accordingly.
- 68. Ms Boyd also addressed climate change in a general sense in section 6.3.1 of her s42A report. She made several recommendations on the relevant provisions in that section. We agree with those recommendations except where a change has been recommended in our decision report on the specific provisions.

# 12. IM-P6 and IM-P15 – Uncertainties and Precautionary approach

- 69. Two policies addressed these linked issues in the notified PORPS. Policy IM-P6 was initially notified as addressing the need to use the best available information and to avoid delay in doing so. Policy IM-P15 addressed the need to reflect the NZCPS 2010 Policy 3 imperative as to a precautionary approach to decision-making, (which also appears expressly or impliedly in other forms in other national policy statements). That required that a precautionary approach was to be adopted to RMA decision-making where effects are uncertain, unknown or little understood.
- 70. Policy IM-P6 as notified adopted a very simplistic response to a complex issue and read:

# IM–P6 – Acting on best available information

Avoid unreasonable delays in decision-making processes by using the best information available at the time, including but not limited to mātauraka Māori, local knowledge, and reliable partial data.

71. The risks of such a simplified approach can be at either end of the spectrum.

- 72. At the 'protectionist' end it can lead to decisions being made to always avoid effects because enough information as to those effects is not available. Particularly where an activity is new that may well always be the case. At the other end of the scale a permissive or too 'enabling' approach may lead to decisions being made to allow activities because adverse effects are not known, rather than incur delay whilst attempts are made to prove sustainable effects. If that was to occur then there is the risk that in actual practice serious adverse effects may occur, or cumulatively arise.
- 73. The notified version of IM-P15 addressed the precautionary principle as follows:

#### IM–P15 – Precautionary approach

Adopt a precautionary approach towards proposed activities whose effects are uncertain, unknown or little understood, but could be significantly adverse, particularly where the areas and values within Otago have not been identified in plans as required by this RPS.

- 74. The submission responses to these policies were varied. As to IM-P6 Kāi Tahu sought retention as notified; DOC sought an emphasis on the precautionary principle; DCC sought speedier albeit careful decision-making to enable evidence to be gathered; Federated Farmers and OWRUG sought that reliable data be available before decisions were made; Fonterra also sought more detailed reliable evidence before decisions were made; University of Otago and others such as Lauder Creek Farming and the Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust stressed the need for 'robust' or 'scientific' evidence. Harbour Fish and Southern Inshore Fisheries sought opportunity for stakeholder input. Wise Response sought greater emphasis on timely decision-making against reliable evidence.
- 75. As to IM-P15, similarly there was a wide variety of views in submissions (summarised at paragraphs 437 to 447 of the s.42A report). In the case of this policy, though, many sought that it be deleted for various reasons. One of the more compelling of those submissions was from OWRUG which asserted that where susceptible areas and values may not have been identified in the manner required by the PORPS, this policy potentially could operate as a holding pattern that prevented activities which could achieve the purpose of the RMA from commencing. It made the point that that outcome would not be reasonable or appropriate.
- 76. As had been demonstrated as long ago as 2014 in the Supreme Court decision in *Sustain our Sounds v. NZKS* SC 84/2013 [2014] NZSC 40, the issue of uncertainty as to effects of decisionmaking under the RMA has long been addressed, particularly in the aquaculture area, by a system of practical adaptive management. In large measure, as demonstrated by that case, that practice probably developed a particular impetus from the need to meet Policy 3 of the NZCPS, as well as the natural antipathy of decision-makers to grant consents when some potential adverse effects were uncertain or unknown.
- 77. In essence that adaptive management practice involves a proposition whereby consents are staged to enable some limited initial activity, often staged over years or seasons, where effects are closely measured and monitored, with those results being commonly compared to predictive computer-modelled outcomes. If the results of those measurements of effects demonstrates sustainable levels of effects, then the consent conditions imposed will allow movement to the next consented stage to be measured and monitored. That type of adaptive management approach was not expressly provided for in the notified PORPS. It has become standard now in many areas particularly also as to the effects of drawdown from both surface and groundwater takes where computer-modelled outcomes are given an opportunity to be proven in practice.

- 78. The outcome of the submission response and inputs from the Panel during the hearings was a recommended change by the s.42A report to amend IM-P6 and other provisions to enable an adaptive management approach to be adopted by regional, coastal and district plans. The report writer also recommended that IM-P6 and IM-P15 as to the precautionary principle be amalgamated as they were addressing related issues. That amalgamation had been sought by submitters such as DOC and Mr. Highton.
- 79. The recommended provision was:

## IM-P6 – Acting on best available information Managing uncertainties

Avoid unreasonable delays in decision making processes by using the best information available at the time, including but not limited to mātauraka Māori, local knowledge, and reliable partial data.

In resource management decision-making, manage uncertainties by using the best information available at the time, including scientific data and mātauraka Māori, and:

- (1) taking all practicable steps to reduce uncertainty, and:
  - (a) in the absence of complete and scientifically robust data, using information obtained from modelling, reliable partial data, and local knowledge, with preference for sources of information that provide the greatest level of certainty, and
  - (b) avoiding unreasonable delays in making decisions because of uncertainty about the quality or quantity of the information available, and
- (2) adopting a precautionary approach, including through use of adaptive management, towards activities whose *effects* are uncertain, unknown, or little understood, but potentially significantly adverse.
- 80. There was some resistance to that proposed amalgamation by Ms. McIntyre for Kāi Tahu on the basis that such a change would appear to emphasise the consenting aspect ahead of the precautionary principle. The report writer's view was that each aspect was important, neither was stressed as a priority, and that they sensibly could and should be in the same provision.
- 81. The Panel's desire to see adaptive amanagement practices identified as an appropriate decisionmaking tool was recognised by the wording proposed. Therefore, the Panel was satisfied that the suggested amendments addressed the concerns of submitters, and at the same time in the same provision appropriately applied the precautionary principle.

# 12.1.1. Recommendation

82. That IM-P6 and IM-P15 be amalgamated into an amended IM-P6 as follows, with IM-P15 being deleted:

#### IM-P6 – Acting on best available information Managing uncertainties

Avoid unreasonable delays in decision making processes by using the best information available at the time, including but not limited to mātauraka Māori, local knowledge, and reliable partial data.

In resource management decision-making, manage uncertainties by using the best information available at the time, including scientific data and mātauraka Māori, and:

- (1) taking all practicable steps to reduce uncertainty, and:
  - (a) in the absence of complete and scientifically robust data, using information obtained from modelling, reliable partial data, and local knowledge, with preference for sources of information that provide the greatest level of certainty, and
  - (b) avoiding unreasonable delays in making decisions because of uncertainty about the quality or quantity of the information available, and
- (2) adopting a precautionary approach, including through use of adaptive management, towards activities whose *effects* are uncertain, unknown, or little understood, but potentially significantly adverse.

# 13. IM-P13 – managing cumulative effects

- 83. The management of cumultaive effects has been one of the most vexed issues in relation to various parts of the environment. Effects such as the effects of discharges on freshwater and coastal water quality from sedimentation is a classic illustration in many parts of the country where multiple sources could potentially be contributing to the adverse effects on water quality. In the RMA itself in s.3 cumulative effects are defined as an integral part of the suite of 'effects' the definition including:
  - any cumulative effect which arises over time or in combination with other effects, regardless of the scale, intensity, duration, or frequency of the effect.
- 84. Significant new such effects over recent years have been the increasing, yet often hard to perceive, effects of climate change and related sea-level rise.
- 85. As notified the PORPS addressed cumulative effects issues in IM-P13 as follows:

# IM–P13 – Managing cumulative effects

Otago's environmental integrity, form, function, and resilience, and opportunities for future generations, are protected by recognising and specifically managing the cumulative effects of activities on natural and physical resources in plans and explicitly accounting for these effects in other resource management decisions.

- 86. Once again as with other notified provisions the emphasis in the notified version contained a protectionist tone.
- 87. The submitter response was again diverse (and is summarised at paragraphs 403-409 of the S.42A report by Ms. Boyd). Kāi Tahu identified the omission of climate change and sea level rise; some such as Federated Farmers were concerned that terms like 'accounting' were impractical and not RMA related language, and OWRUG maintained such effects were impractical to definitively 'account for'; a number sought use of the term 'environment' rather than natural and physical resources, as such resources fell within the definition of 'environment'; and DCC advanced a wording which provided more balance between use and protection of the environment.
- 88. It is significant, though, that no submitter sought the deletion of Policy IM-P13 which probably reflects the level of concern that is felt as to the serious potential impacts of cumulative effects in some areas of the environment. That reality is reflected most significantly by the stringent terms of the NPSFM attempting to address the dual problems of cumulative effects on water

quality, and over allocation. (That observation once more highlights how nonsensical it is to attempt to address integrated management of the environment in a discussion which is not supposed to address freshwater quality and quantity issues.)

89. The report writer Ms. Boyd waxed and waned about the outcome of the submitter response initially and after hearing their evidence and submissions. In her initial report she did not think policy IM-P13 provided particularly clear direction on how it should be implemented. She addressed this policy again in a statement of supplementary evidence, where she proposed to incorporate the direction about managing cumulative effects in a new clause in IM-P5 instead. In that evidence she also concluded that IM-P13 that provided the policy direction to IM-M1(4) and without that policy, it was difficult to understand what that part of the method is implementing. As notified IM-M1(4) had stated:

(4) ensure cumulative effects of activities on natural and physical resources are accounted for in resource management decisions by recognising and managing such effects, including:

- (a) the same effect occurring multiple times,
- (b) different effects occurring at the same time,
- (c) different effects occurring multiple times,
- (d) one effect leading to different effects occurring over time,
- (e) different effects occurring sequentially over time,
- (f) effects occurring in the same place,
- (g) effects occurring in different places,
- (h) effects that are spatially or temporally distant from their cause or causes, and,
- (i) more than minor cumulative effects resulting from minor or transitory effects,
- 90. All of those effects are variants of cumulative effects so without a policy as a base the method would have been left swinging unsupported by a policy framework. At that stage Ms. Boyd had recommended that Policy IM-P13 be deleted and be replaced by a new additional cumulative effects clause being added to Policy IM-P5.
- 91. But finally, in the face of strong opposition from DOC and Kāi Tahu to such a change the Reply report in May 2023 recommended a more balanced approach by amendment to Policy IM-P13 as follows:

#### IM-P13 – Managing cumulative effects

Otago's environmental integrity, form, function, and resilience, and opportunities for future generations, are protected by recognising and specifically managing the cumulative effects of activities on natural and physical resources in plans and explicitly accounting for these effects in other resource management decisions.

In resource management decision-making, recognise and manage the impact of cumulative effects on the form, functioning and resilience of Otago's environment (including resilience to climate change) and the opportunities available for future generations.

92. Given the Supreme Court's direction as to the need to avoid prioritisation, but also taking into account the general concern about the potential seriousness of cumulative effects, the Panel is satisfied that the policy should be retained, and that the wording finally recommended is appropriate. The reference to 'climate change' is possibly arguably unnecessary in this policy because that issue is subject to express policies in the final recommended version of IM-P8, IM-

P10 and IM-P12. However, as climate change is one form of cumulative effect we are not concerned about that added reference.

#### 13.1.1. Recommendation

93. The Panel recommends that the wording for policy IM-P13 in the reply report version dated 10 October 2023 be adopted as follows:

#### IM-P13 – Managing cumulative effects

Otago's environmental integrity, form, function, and resilience, and opportunities for future generations, are protected by recognising and specifically managing the cumulative effects of activities on natural and physical resources in plans and explicitly accounting for these effects in other resource management decisions.

In resource management decision-making, recognise and manage the impact of cumulative effects on the form, functioning and resilience of Otago's environment (including resilience to climate change) and the opportunities available for future generations.

# 14. IM- P14 – sustaining resource potential

94. The notified form of IM-P14 read:

#### IM–P14 – Human impact

Preserve opportunities for future generations by:

(1) identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the environment will be degraded,

(2) requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and

(3) regularly assessing and adjusting limits and thresholds for activities over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts.

- 95. Much of the submission response focussed on concerns at what was perceived to be a 'protectionist' approach by use of terminology such as 'preserve' in the chapeau, coupled with 'limits' on use for that purpose. In short much of the submission and argument about this Policy related to the prioritisation issue addressed earlier in relation to IM-P1, which was addressed as the initial major issue in the Legal section of the Introduction to this report. The removal of any aspect of prioritisation such as a start point of 'preservation' would necessarily require some amendment to this policy also to ensure the focus was on management of effects while addressing all relevant considerations.
- 96. However, much of the submission response also related to the use of the term 'limits' and that issue has been addressed in the Definitions section of the Introduction to this Report. In that discussion we concluded that we could not see any difficulty with the definition and use of that term in the manner proposed. Whilst not needing to repeat that consideration here, for ease of reading the discussion related to this policy we repeat that the definition we have recommended to be adopted is:

# Limit

In the LF – Land and freshwater chapter, "limit" has the meaning defined in the NPSFM, and elsewhere, "limit" has its natural and ordinary meaning.

97. The natural meaning of a 'limit' according to the Oxford dictionary is:

Any of the fixed points between which the possible or permitted extent, amount, duration, range of action, or variation of anything is confined; a bound which may not be passed, or beyond which something ceases to be possible or allowable.

- 98. In the definitions section the Panel had decided that was an entirely appropriate use of the term 'limit' for RMA purposes.
- 99. The final recommended 10 October 2023 version responded positively to the submission input seeking a more 'enabling' approach to activities and was worded as follows:

## IM-P14 – Human impact Sustaining resource potential

<u>When preparing *regional plans* and *district plans*, <u>Pp</u>reserve opportunities for future generations by:</u>

(1) where necessary to achieve the objectives of this RPS, identifying environmental limits to both growth and adverse *effects* of human activities beyond which the *environment* will be degraded,

(2) requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those environmental limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and

(3) regularly assessing and adjusting environmental limits and thresholds for the way activities are managed over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts, including those related to *climate change*, and

(4) providing for activities that reduce, mitigate, or avoid adverse *effects* on the *environment*.

- 100. At first sight the wording of sub-clause (4) as recommended may appear to be too 'protective' in tone by appearing to limit activities to those with no effects, by using the terms 'avoid' and 'reduce' adverse effects. However, on further reflection the use of 'mitigate' does envisage that adverse effects may not be able to be completely avoided, or reduced to any great extent. On that basis the Panel can accept that phraseology as being enabling, but appropriately requiring 'mitigation' of adverse effects.
- 101. The only other concern the Panel has with that suggested wording relates to its start point in a policy relating to human activities. The term 'preserves' in the chapeau is not consistent in our view with the Supreme Court's directions as discussed in the Legal section of the Introduction to this report. Again, as for the change we recommended in relation to IM-O3 above, we recommend that a wording is used of 'sustainably manage' rather than 'preserve'. As we observed above in relation to IM-O3 that phraseology better reflects s.5 RMA language and is consistent with the aim of ensuring there is not an implied prioritisation of 'preservation'.

#### 14.1.1. Recommendation

102. Accordingly we recommend that the wording of Policy IM-P14 is amended to read:

## IM-P14 – Human impact Sustaining resource potential

When preparing *regional plans* and *district plans*, Preserve sustainably manage opportunities for future generations by:

(1) where necessary to achieve the objectives of this RPS, identifying environmental limits to both growth and adverse *effects* of human activities beyond which the *environment* will be degraded,

(2) requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those environmental limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and

(3) regularly assessing and adjusting environmental limits and thresholds for the way activities are managed over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts, including those related to *climate change*, and

(4) providing for activities that reduce, mitigate, or avoid adverse *effects* on the *environment*.

# Section 6: Air

# 1. Introduction

- One of the functions of the ORC is to control the discharge of contaminants to air. This function is specified in section 30(f) of the RMA and is the subject of the AIR chapter of the PORPS. While the air quality in Otago is generally good for most of the year, many communities experience poor air quality in the winter months. In addition, point source discharges to air can result in localised adverse effects if they are not appropriately managed.
- 2. The provisions of the AIR chapter are in part dictated by the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Air Quality) Regulations 2004 (NESAQ) and address the significant resource management issues in the SRMR chapter. The AIR provisions address ambient air quality and discharges which can cause nuisance effects, with each provision generally dealing with one or other of these two purposes. The NESAQ applies to both purposes: it sets ambient air quality standards for some contaminants that must be achieved in defined airsheds to protect public health; and contains restrictions and prohibitions on the discharges to air from specified activities, which can have nuisance effects and/or adverse health effects. ORC has gazetted 22 airsheds in the Otago region in its Regional Plan: Air for Otago. These comprise Otago's main urban areas, with a 23rd airshed being the balance of the region.
- 3. Over 100 submission points were received on the AIR provisions. These submission points seek specific amendments to provisions as well as address the overall approach and direction of the provisions. There are a number of commonalities in these submission points and, where considered appropriate, we have grouped these for ease of discussion.
- 4. The section 42A Report, supplementary evidence and Reply Report of Ms Hannah Goslin have helped us immensely. Some of the matters raised have been resolved through the course of the hearing and these are given minimal attention in this report. Where not discussed, we have adopted the recommendations in the Reply Report.

# 2. General themes

- 5. Two general themes emerged from submissions and were addressed in the s42A report:
  - Consistency between the PORPS and the NESAQ; and
  - The inclusion of a policy to manage reverse sensitivity issues.
- 6. We address these two matters below prior to considering the specific provisions.
- 7. Ms Goslin also dealt with a number of definitions, but these are dealt with either in the context of the issue or elsewhere in the decision documents.

# 2.1. The PORPS and the NESAQ

8. Several submitters were concerned that some provisions are more stringent than the requirements of the NESAQ. The terms 'avoid' and 'protect' are used with little qualification, which submitters consider would place additional and unjustified restrictions on activities. They acknowledge that the RPS can go beyond the requirements of the NESAQ but consider

that extreme care should be taken in doing so and that the NESAQ provides an appropriate balance between the protection of natural resources and provisions for growth and development.

9. Updates to the NESAQ were due to be gazetted in late 2021, however these are yet to be released. There was some conjecture at the hearing as to what these updates may contain and whether we should future-proof the AIR provisions to account for the anticipated changes. We cannot, and do not want to, anticipate what amendments may be made to the NESAQ and have therefore focussed our consideration on whether the proposed provisions address the requirements of the existing NESAQ.

# 2.2. Reverse sensitivity

#### 2.2.1. Introduction

10. Horticulture NZ's Ms Wharfe seeks the addition of a new policy to manage reverse sensitivity issues as follows:

Avoid locating new sensitive activities near existing activities which are permitted or consented to discharge to air.

- 11. The inclusion of this policy was supported by Ms Tait for Fonterra<sup>1</sup> and a similar provision was proffered by Mr Tuck for Silver Fern Farms. At the hearing, Mr Tuck sought an amendment to Ms Wharfe's policy to refer to "existing primary production or rural activities". Submitters provided examples of reverse sensitivity issues, particularly in the rural sector, where urban and semi-urban development can impinge on traditional rural activities that emit odour, spray drift and dust.
- 12. Fonterra, Horticulture NZ and NZ Pork sought to either amend AIR-M3 or include a new method to require urban spatial planning to consider reverse sensitivity effects.
- 13. This matter was addressed by Ms Goslin in her s42A report<sup>2</sup> and reply report,<sup>3</sup> and by counsel for ORC, Mr Anderson. Ms Goslin considers that a policy response would be more appropriate at a regional plan level and noted that UFD-P7 and UFD-P8 address reverse sensitivity in rural areas, while UFD-P6 addresses reverse sensitivity in industrial areas. Mr Anderson considers that the Reply Report version of AIR-P5 is broad enough to address reverse sensitivity issues, although he acknowledged that AIR-P5 could be interpreted to only address discharges from activities. That amended AIR-P5 which was recommended provided:

#### AIR-P5 – Managing certain discharges

Manage the *effects* of *discharges* to air beyond the boundary of the property of origin from activities that include but are not limited to:

- (1) outdoor burning of organic material,
- (2) agrichemical and fertiliser spraying,
- (3) farming activities,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, paras [9.28] – [9.31]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> S42A Report of Hannah Goslin, paras 13-14, para 151

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Reply Report of Hannah Goslin, para 74

- (4) activities that produce dust, and
- (5) industrial and trade activities.

# 2.2.2. Discussion

- 14. We do not accept Ms Goslin's view that reverse sensitivity can be fully addressed through the regional plan. District council plan and consenting processes do not have to be consistent with a regional plan and a significant part of this issue, as we understand it, is to ensure that inappropriate development does not reversely affect existing activities that discharge to air. That is because while s.75(3) RMA requires that a district plan give effect to a regional policy statement, s.75(4)(b) only requires that a district plan not be inconsistent with a regional plan. We heard evidence from Ms Tait, Ms Wharfe and Mr Tuck that this is a particular issue in rural environments, but it is not just restricted to the urban/rural interface. A provision in a regional plan will not address the encroachment of sensitive activities, such as urban subdivisions, into rural or industrial areas.
- 15. Turning to AIR-P5, we consider that a long bow would need to be drawn to interpret AIR-P5 as applying to reverse sensitivity issues a common reading would have it apply solely to managing discharges rather than managing activities which may alter the effects of those discharges.
- 16. We agree that UFD-P6, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8 address reverse sensitivity issues and note that UFD-M2(3)(e) directs district plans to *"ensure that urban development is designed to…minimise the potential for reverse sensitivity effects to arise…"*. However, we acknowledge that reverse sensitivity issues can be significant for air discharges and agree with submitters that reference in the AIR chapter is appropriate, especially in relation to territorial authority plans.
- 17. While we do not support a new policy, we have recommended adding an additional clause to our recommended version of AIR-P4, which incorporates notified AIR-P4 and AIR-P5. The recommended wording acknowledges that, in some cases, reverse sensitivity effects can be managed. It will be for the district and regional plans to refine this, but we were reluctant to include an outright 'avoid' in this context. Reverse sensitivity issues are not limited to primary production and rural activities and we do not accept Mr Tuck's suggested addition.
- 18. AIR-M3 relates to territorial authorities' roles in 'achieving good air quality' and we consider that reverse sensitivity issues should also be addressed here. We have recommended that wording similar to that proposed by Ms Wharfe is inserted into AIR-M3. We do not consider that reference to UFD-P6, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8 is necessary, as these provisions should be considered anyway in relation to developments.
- 19. Considering s.32AA, we consider that the proposed amendments address a gap in this chapter and that the proposed additions to the policy and method further clarify the intent of AIR-O1 and AIR-O2.
- 2.2.3. Recommendation
- 20. Add an additional clause to the 10 October 2023 reply report version of AIR-P4 (which merged AIR-P4 and AIR-P5) as follows:

(4) locating new sensitive activities to avoid potential reverse sensitivity effects from existing consented or permitted discharges to air, unless these can be appropriately managed.

21. Add an additional clause to AIR-M3 as follows:

(3) managing new sensitive activities to avoid reverse sensitivity effects in relation to consented and permitted activities that discharge to air.

# 3. AIR-O2 – Discharges to air

# 3.1. Introduction

22. As notified, AIR-O2 reads:

## AIR-O2 – Discharges to air

Human health, *amenity* and *mana whenua* values and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems are protected from the adverse *effects* of *discharges* to air.

- 23. Only QLDC sought to retain AIR-O2 as notified, while many submitters sought amendments on the basis of concerns that 'protection' is unqualified<sup>4</sup> and similar to avoidance<sup>5</sup>. 'Protected' in this policy is used very broadly and applies to a broad range of environmental facets. Those submitters in opposition expressed a preference for management rather than avoidance.
- 24. Ms Wharfe proposed the following amended wording for AIR-O2 in her rebuttal evidence, which was generally supported by the planners for Fonterra, Horticulture NZ, Ravensdown and Silver Fern Farms:

The localised adverse effects of discharges on human health, amenity values and mana whenua values and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems are appropriately managed protected from the adverse effects of discharges to air.  $^6$ 

- 25. The options, as identified by Ms Goslin at paragraph 14 of her reply report, are to retain the goal of 'protecting human health, amenity values and mana whenua values and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems'; soften the objective to include a qualifier to the goal of protection; or redraft the objective to relate to the managing of adverse effects. Ms Tait and Ms Wharfe preferred the latter option and suggested wording.
- 26. We consider that there is also a further option, whereby protection only applies to some of the matters listed. For example, should amenity values be protected from the adverse effects of air discharges in the same way as human health?
- 27. More minor amendments were also sought to AIR-O2, including clarifying that AIR-O2 relates to the localised effects from discharges to air, rather than ambient air quality which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture NZ, para [34] – [35]; Steve Tuck for Silver Fern Farms Limited, para [6.1]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, paras [9.2] – [9.4]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Rebuttal evidence of Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture NZ, para [41]

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

addressed by AIR-O1.<sup>7</sup> This request was supported by other submitters<sup>8</sup> and recommended by Ms Goslin in her reply report.<sup>9</sup>

# 3.2. Discussion

- 28. We agree with submitters that the term 'protected' in AIR-O2 goes too far. Ms Goslin states<sup>10</sup> that: "I do not consider that 'protection' is akin to 'avoid' or infers prohibition of discharges to air as stated by Ms Tait. As I understand it the goal of 'protection' of particular values can be achieved in a number of ways which are expressed by the policies (particularly AIR-P3 to AIR-P5)."
- 29. We are unconvinced by Ms Goslin's approach, whereby AIR-O2 requires wide-ranging protection but associated policies AIR-P3 and AIR-P4 take a more enabling approach. We refer back to our discussion in the legal section of our recommendation report, where we discussed 'protection' and 'maintaining'. This discussion was primarily in relation to indigenous biodiversity but it is also relevant here. We acknowledged that protection of particular areas or values from adverse effects is appropriate in some situations and is consistent with s.5(2). However, there is a need to be specific about what those areas or values are being protected from. In the case of AIR-O2, we would be protecting the specified values from all localised adverse effects of discharges to air. We consider that this is akin to avoid.
- 30. This is especially the case for amenity values, which can be problematic to determine given their subjective nature. Section 7(c) requires that we "shall have particular regard to" "the maintenance and enhancement of amenity values" (our emphasis). We consider that the protective approach to AIR-O2 goes beyond s.7(c). In addition, the recommended change to AIR-P4(3)<sup>11</sup> requires that the amenity effects listed are to be avoided, remedied or mitigated. The policy appears consistent with s.7(c) however there is a disconnect between AIR-P4(3) and AIR-O2.
- 31. We agree with Ms Goslin that 'appropriately managed', as requested by Ms Wharfe and Ms Tait, is too subjective and provides little clarity. That said, we agree with submitters that 'protected' is not appropriate. There will likely be situations where discharges will adversely affect amenity values and mana whenua values, and even perhaps human health and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems, but these effects may be determined appropriate. We consider that 'not compromise' signals the importance of the attributes and values listed, while providing some flexibility to provide for such discharges if the level of adverse effects is acceptable.
- 32. In terms of s32AA, we consider the revised wording of AIR-O2 is more appropriate to achieve the purpose of the RMA as it:
  - a. Clarifies the outcome sought by the policy framework; and
  - b. More clearly responds to parts of the issues of regional significance, including SRMR-I4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Para 5.23 of the EIC for Ravensdown (Carmen Taylor)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Para [37] – [41] of the Rebuttal Statement of Evidence for Horticulture NZ (Lynette Wharfe)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Para 16 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Para 15 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Para 60 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin recommends AIR-P4 and AIR-P5 are amended and merged

# 3.3. Recommendation

33. That Objective AIR-O2 be amended as follows:

#### AIR-O2 – Discharges to air

The localised adverse effects of *discharges* to air do not compromise <u>h</u>Human health, *amenity <u>values</u>*, and *mana whenua* values and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems. are protected from the adverse *effects* of *discharges* to air.

# 4. AIR-P1 – Maintain good ambient air quality

# 4.1. Introduction

34. AIR-P1 was notified as follows:

## AIR-P1 – Maintain good ambient air quality

Good ambient air quality is maintained across Otago by:

- (1) ensuring *discharges* to air comply with ambient air quality limits where those limits have been set, and
- (2) where limits have not been set, only allowing *discharges* to air if the adverse *effects* on ambient air quality are no more than minor.
- 35. AIR-P1 was discussed in Section 7.7 of the section 42A report and in section 3 of Ms Goslin's reply report. Three submitters sought that AIR-P1 be retained as notified, while other submitters expressed concerns about the consistency of the policy with the NESAQ<sup>12</sup> and use of the phrase 'no more than minor'. <sup>13</sup> QLDC and Ravensdown also expressed concern about use of 'good' in relation to ambient air quality, which Ms Goslin has since recommended be deleted in the heading and policy wording.
- 36. AIR-P1 and AIR-P2 support AIR-O1, with AIR-P1 seeking to maintain ambient air quality where it is within the NESAQ standards, and AIR-P2 seeking to improve air quality that is degraded – that is, not meeting the relevant NESAQ standards. In relation to ambient air quality, the wording in AIR-P1 refers to 'limits' while the NESAQ uses 'standards'. Ms Tait for Fonterra and Ms Taylor for Ravensdown consider this is unclear, with Ms Taylor stating that:

In addition, for other contaminants, there are a range of international guidelines that are used by air quality specialists when considering the 'health' of ambient air quality and the effect of an activity or activities (i.e., guidelines provide guidance and thus absolute compliance is not always appropriate). On this basis, the development of new regional 'limits' within regional plans is not appropriate or required.<sup>14</sup>

37. Ravensdown, Silver Fern Farms and Fulton Hogan oppose use of the term 'no more than minor' in AIR-P1, with both Ms Taylor and Ms Tait considering that the term has specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.9]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.11]; Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.8]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.7]

application under the RMA that should not be applied here.<sup>15</sup> In response. Ms Goslin's response is that:

In circumstances where there have been no limits set for a particular contaminant, I consider an assessment to ensure that adverse effects on ambient air quality are no more than minor is appropriate as the future Regional Air plan is unlikely to provide an exhaustive list of all contaminants that could be discharged into air.<sup>16</sup>

38. Ms Tait and Ms Taylor request that the existing wording for AIR-P1 is replaced with the following:

Otago's ambient air quality is, at a minimum, maintained, where ambient air quality standards are complied with, by allowing discharges to air where the discharge complies with relevant air quality standards, limits or guidelines.<sup>17</sup>

39. The final recommended version of this provision in the 10 October 2023 version is as follows:<sup>18</sup>

#### AIR-P1 – Maintain good-ambient air quality

Good aAmbient air quality is, at a minimum, maintained across Otago by:

- (1) ensuring *discharges* to air comply with ambient air quality limits where those limits have been set, and
- (2) where limits have not been set, only allowing *discharges* to air if the adverse *effects* on ambient air quality are no more than minor.

# 4.2. Discussion

- 40. Considering whether the policy should refer to 'limits' or 'standards and guidelines', we agree with Ms Goslin's position that using the broader term 'limits' allows the Council to include standards and guidelines in the Air Plan, with additional flexibility for the future. This is an important consideration given that the NESAQ is currently under review.
- 41. We understand that the NESAQ includes 'ambient air quality standards' and that guidelines are also commonly used in air quality assessments and regional plans. We acknowledge the submitters' concerns that 'limits' is not a term commonly used in air quality and therefore recommend that the wording is amended to clarify that 'limits' include 'ambient air quality standards' and 'guidelines'. The term 'ambient air quality standards' is defined in the PORPS, with reference to the NESAQ definition. We do not think that 'guideline' needs to be defined if and how a guideline is used would need to be considered for each airshed.
- 42. We note that the word 'limits' is also used in AIR-M2. As recommended in the Reply Report, this method requires the Council to "prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to (1A) set limits (including ambient air quality standards) to maintain ambient air quality in accordance with AIR-P1, and improve ambient air quality in accordance with AIR-P2". To be consistent with our recommendation for AIR-P1, we recommend a consequential amendment to AIR-M2 to refer to 'ambient air quality standards and guidelines'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.8]; Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.11]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Para 27 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.19]; Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.13]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Para 29 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

- 43. Turning to the use of 'no more than minor' in clause (2), we agree with submitters that the term is not used appropriately in this policy. However, the alternate wording proposed by Ms Taylor and Ms Tait would only apply where air quality standards have been set. The policy as proposed by ORC also importantly includes maintaining air quality for parameters where such standards have not been set. We consider that it is important that the policy continues to cover both scenarios.
- 44. A key concern about the inclusion of 'no more than minor' is that it would provide for the incremental addition of small discharges which could, over time, degrade air quality. We agree with Ms Tait and Ms Taylor that some deterioration of ambient air quality may be acceptable in situations where air quality is good. We agree with the intent of the policy to maintain Otago's air quality but recommend that discharges to air should only be allowed "if the adverse *effects* on ambient air quality are no more than minor avoided, remedied or mitigated".
- 45. In terms of s32AA, we consider the change is more effective in achieving the outcome sought as:
  - a. It aligns with the outcomes sought in AIR-O1 and AIR-O2;
  - b. There has been no technical evidence provided during the course of this hearing that indicates a more stringent regime than that set out in the NESAQ is required in the Otago Region; and
  - c. The amended wording provides flexibility for the future Air Plan to set limits that are not prescribed in the NESAQ currently or that may be set in the future.

# 4.3. Recommendation

46. That Objective AIR-P1 be amended as follows:

#### AIR-P1 – Maintain <del>good</del>-ambient air quality

Good a<u>A</u>mbient air quality is, <u>at a minimum</u>, maintained across Otago by:

- (1) ensuring discharges to air comply with ambient air quality limits, <u>including</u> <u>ambient air quality standards</u> and guidelines, where those <u>have been set as</u> limits have been set, and
- (2) where limits, <u>including ambient air quality standards and guidelines</u>, have not been set, only allowing *discharges* to air if the adverse *effects* on ambient air quality are <u>avoided</u>, <u>remedied</u> or <u>mitigated</u>-no more than minor.

# 5. AIR-P3 – Providing for discharges to air, AIR-P4 – Avoiding certain discharges and AIR-P5 – Managing certain discharges

- 5.1. Introduction
- 47. As notified, AIR-P3 reads:

#### AIR-P3 – Providing for discharges to air

Allow discharges to air provided they do not adversely affect human health, amenity and mana whenua values and the life supporting capacity of ecosystems.

## 48. As notified, AIR-P4 reads:

#### AIR-P4 – Avoiding certain discharges

Generally avoid discharges to air that cause offensive, objectionable, noxious or dangerous effects.

49. The reply report version dated 10 October 2023 of AIR-P5 currently reads:<sup>19</sup>

## AIR-P5 – Managing certain discharges

Manage the *effects* of *discharges* to air beyond the boundary of the property of origin from activities that include but are not limited to:

- (1) outdoor burning of organic material,
- (2) agrichemical and fertiliser spraying,
- (3) farming activities,
- (4) activities that produce dust, and
- (5) industrial and trade activities.
- 50. Policies AIR-P3, AIR-P4 and AIR-P5 address direct discharges to air and implement AIR-O2. Ms Goslin states that the *"intent of AIR-P3 is to provide a bookend for how effects are to be managed at the lower end of the effects spectrum"*.<sup>20</sup> This essentially provides for a permitted activity rule, although Ms Goslin acknowledges that this may not be appropriate in all situations. AIR-P4 and AIR-P5, as notified, address discharges as they progress along the effects spectrum with AIR-P4 addressing those discharges with significant and potentially unacceptable adverse effects, and AIR-P5 setting out what effects can be managed.
- 51. Submitters proposed wording changes to AIR-P3 to clarify the terminology and intent.<sup>21</sup> These were accepted by Ms Goslin in her right of reply.<sup>22</sup> Submitters on AIR-P4 sought outcomes ranging from deleting the policy<sup>23</sup>, to requesting less stringency for offensive or objectionable effects<sup>24</sup>, to redrafting to remove 'avoid'.<sup>25</sup> Submitters on AIR-P5 sought removal of the phrase 'beyond the boundary of the property of origin',<sup>26</sup> and the acknowledgement of lifeline utilities and infrastructure.<sup>27</sup>
- 52. Policies AIR-P4 and AIR-P5 were a focus at the hearing and a range of alternatives were discussed. These included alternatives for 'avoid' in AIR-P4, including 'avoid, as a first priority'

<sup>22</sup> Para 42 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This version includes the recommendations from the hearing reports prepared under s42A of the RMA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Para 40 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.16]; Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.29]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Including: James Taylor for Dunedin City Council, para [16]; Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture NZ, para [49]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Including: Claire Hunter for Oceana Gold, para [9.3]; Steve Tuck for Silver Fern Farms, para [6.7]; Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.17]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.21]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Carmen Taylor for Ravensdown, para [5.23]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> James Taylor for Dunedin City Council, para [18]; Luke Peters for Queenstown Lakes District Council, para [4.7]

or 'avoid, where reasonably practicable'. While 'avoid' was accepted for noxious or dangerous effects, it was considered by submitters to be too restrictive for the more subjective offensive or objectionable effects. In response, the Chair suggested that AIR-P4 and AIR-P5 are merged into one policy which addresses the management of discharges to air. This was considered by Ms Goslin and recommended in her reply report, as follows:<sup>28</sup>

AIR-P4 – <u>Managing</u> Avoiding certain discharges:

Avoid discharges to air that cause offensive, objectionable, noxious or dangerous effects.

Manage the adverse *effects* of *discharges* to air by:

- (1) avoiding noxious or dangerous effects,
- (2) ensuring discharges to air do not cause offensive or objectionable effects,
- (3) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects* from *discharges* to air, including but not limited to *discharges* arising from:
  - (a) outdoor burning of organic material,
  - (b) agrichemical and fertiliser applications,
  - (c) primary production activities,
  - (d) activities that produce dust, and
  - (e) industrial and trade activities.

# 5.2. Discussion

- 53. We agree with evidence and discussions at the hearing that some redrafting is required to clarify the intent of these policies. We generally agree with Ms Goslin's recommendations in her reply report and consider that these go a long way to addressing the submitters' concerns. We adopt her recommendations for AIR-P3, AIR-P4 and AIR-P5, with the exception of the additional clause in AIR-P4, discussed above, to address reverse sensitivity.
- 54. In relation to offensive or objectional effects in AIR-P4(2), Ms Goslin accepted Ms Taylor's request to replace 'avoid' with 'ensure discharges to air do not cause', although noted that she considers there to be little difference between the two phrases.<sup>29</sup> We agree that avoid is too restrictive and could infer a prohibited activity status. While we acknowledge that such effects will generally be unacceptable, we do not consider that a blanket 'avoid' is justified. We consider that the wording proposed by Ms Taylor softens 'avoid' and opens the door to further consideration of activities with such effects, even if this is via a non-complying activity rule. We note that methods to assess the extent of offensive or objectionable effects are well established, and discharges with potentially offensive or objectionable effects may be able to be located in appropriate locations.
- 55. Turning to S32AA, we consider the recommended changes will be more efficient at achieving the outcome sought in AIR-O2, are consistent with Part 2 and will better provide for section 17 of the RMA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Para 60 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Para 57 of the Reply Report of Hannah Goslin

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

# 5.3. Recommendation

56. Amend AIR-P3 as follows:

#### AIR-P3 – Providing for discharges to air

<u>Provide for Allow discharges</u> to air <u>that</u> provided they do not adversely affect human health, *amenity <u>values</u>*, and *mana whenua* values and the life supporting capacity of ecosystems.

57. Amend AIR-P4 as follows:

#### AIR-P4 – Managing certain discharges

Generally avoid *discharges* to air that cause offensive, objectionable, noxious or dangerous *effects*.

Manage the adverse effects of discharges to air by:

- (1) avoiding noxious or dangerous effects,
- (2) ensuring discharges to air do not cause offensive or objectionable effects,
- (3) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects* from *discharges* to air, including but not limited to *discharges* arising from:
  - (a) outdoor burning of organic material,
  - (b) agrichemical and fertiliser applications,
  - (c) primary production activities,
  - (d) activities that produce dust, and
  - (e) industrial and trade activities.
- (4) locating new sensitive activities to avoid potential reverse sensitivity effects from existing consented or permitted discharges to air, unless these can be appropriately managed.

#### 58. Delete AIR-P5:

#### AIR-P5 – Managing certain discharges

Manage the *effects* of *discharges* to air beyond the boundary of the property of origin from activities that include but are not limited to:

- (1) outdoor burning of organic material,
- (2) agrichemical and fertiliser spraying,
- (3) farming activities,
- (4) activities that produce dust, and
- (5) industrial and trade activities.

# 6. AIR-M2 – *Regional plans*

# 6.1. Introduction

59. The notified version of AIR-M2 reads as follows:

## AIR-M2 – Regional plans

No later than 31 December 2024, Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its *regional plans* to:

- (1) avoid offensive, objectionable, noxious or dangerous *discharges* to air,
- (2) include provisions to mitigate the adverse *effects* from *discharges* to air beyond the boundary of the property of origin,
- (3) implement the prioritisation of actions set out in AIR-P2,
- (4) mitigate the adverse *effects* of *discharges* to air in areas adjacent to *polluted airsheds* where the *discharge* will adversely affect air quality in the *polluted airshed*, and
- (5) give effect to the Air Quality Strategy for Otago and any subsequent amendments or updates.
- 60. Several submitters sought amendments to AIR-M2, while QLDC sought that it be retained as notified. Some of the suggested amendments were to align AIR-M2 to the respective submitters' objective and policy amendments.
- 61. Cosy Homes Charitable Trust sought to advance the timeline for the regional plan from 2024 to 2023, while Ms Goslin noted in her reply report that ORC do not intend to notify the future Regional Air Plan until 30 June 2025.<sup>30</sup>
- 62. Ms Goslin recommended the addition of clause (1A) as a consequential change to provide for AIR-P4. She also recommended consequential changes to clauses (1) and (2) to reflect changes she recommended to the policy framework.
- 63. Both Ms Wharfe and Ms Tait raised concerns at the hearing about the requirement in clause (5) to require territorial authorities to 'give effect to' the Air Quality Strategy for Otago. Ms Tait requested that the clause be deleted, and Ms Wharfe sought to replace 'give effect to' with 'have regard to.'<sup>31</sup> Ms Wharfe considered that a date for the Strategy should be included.<sup>32</sup> We were told that this is a non-statutory document and, upon review, we could not find a date reference on the document.

# 6.2. Discussion

64. We recommend the version of AIR-M2 that is included in Ms Goslin's Reply Report, with a consequential amendment from AIR-O2 to include reference to 'ambient air quality standards and guidelines' in AIR-M2(1A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Reply Report of Hannah Goslin, para 89(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand, paras [78]-[79] Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [9.33](d)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand, para [77]

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- 65. We agree with Ms Goslin that the date for the Regional Air Plan should be aligned with the Council's intentions signalled in the draft Annual Plan 2021-2031, and we do not have the justification to bring this forward, as sought by the Cosy Homes Charitable Trust. The date that they sought has already past and we consider that the Regional Air Plan should be prepared to give effect to this RPS.
- 66. Ms Goslin has recommended deleting clause (5) in response to the evidence of Ms Wharfe and Ms Tait. We support this and do not consider it appropriate to refer to a non-statutory and undated document in an RPS.
- 67. In relation to s32AA, several of the suggested changes are consequential to the recommended changes to policy direction set out above and in Ms Goslin's Reply Report. Therefore, we consider the amendments will be more efficient and effective at achieving AIR-O1 and AIR-O2.

# 6.3. Recommendation

68. Amend AIR-M2 as follows:

## AIR-M2 – Regional plans

No later than 31 December 2024, Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its *regional plans* to:

- (1A) set limits (including *ambient air quality standards* and guidelines) to maintain ambient air quality in accordance with AIR-P1, and improve ambient air quality in accordance with AIR-P2,
- (1) <u>manage the adverse effects of discharges to air by avoiding noxious or</u> <u>dangerous effects and ensuring discharges to air do not cause offensive or</u> <u>objectionable effects</u>, <del>avoid offensive</del>, <del>objectionable</del>, <del>noxious or dangerous</del> <u>discharges to air</u>,
- (2) include provisions to <u>avoid</u>, <u>remedy or</u> mitigate <u>other</u> the adverse *effects* from *discharges* to air <del>beyond the boundary of the property of origin</del>,
- (3) implement the prioritisation of prioritise the actions set out in AIR-P2 to reduce *PM*<sub>10</sub> and *PM*<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations in *polluted airsheds*,
- (4) mitigate the adverse *effects* of *discharges* to air in areas adjacent to *polluted airsheds* where the *discharge* will adversely affect air quality in the *polluted airshed*, and
- (5) give effect to the Air Quality Strategy for Otago and any subsequent amendments or updates.
- (5) include measures to ensure that discharges to air do not adversely affect mana whenua values.

# Section 7: Coastal Environment (CE)

# 1. Introduction

- 1. The coastal environment of the Otago region is some 480 kilometres long and encompasses a range of differing types of environments including open coast, harbours, estuaries and terrestrial features and ecosystems which together comprise the coastal marine area and areas adjacent to it. The coastal marine area is defined in s.2 of the RMA as being the area that extends as its seaward boundary from the outer limit of the territorial sea inshore to the line of mean high water springs. That inner boundary is extended where it crosses a river at which locations the inland line is drawn at the lesser point of one kilometre upstream from the river mouth, or a point five times the width of the river mouth. In other words fully or partially estuarine areas are included in the coastal marine area.
- 2. The term 'coastal environment' itself is not defined, either in the RMA or in the PORPS. Nor is it specifically defined even in the NZCPS 2010 which repetitively applies its objectives and policies to the 'coastal environment'. That repetitive reference in the NZCPS to the 'coastal environment' is of course consistent with the expression in Part 2 of the RMA that the protection of the 'coastal environment' is a matter of national importance. The provisions of s.6(a) of the RMA commence as follows:

#### 6 Matters of national importance

In achieving the purpose of this Act, all persons exercising functions and powers under it, in relation to managing the use, development, and protection of natural and physical resources, shall recognise and provide for the following matters of national importance:

> (a) the preservation of the natural character of the <u>coastal environment</u> (including the coastal marine area), wetlands, and lakes and rivers and their margins, and the protection of them from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development: ...

> > (Panel's emphasis)

- 3. However, Policy 1(2) of the NZCPS does describe the extent of the coastal environment in very broad terms. That description includes, amongst other matters, coastal lakes and wetlands and their margins, as well as features of coastal vegetation and landscapes, and other interrelated coastal marine and terrestrial systems. Policy 1 provides:
  - (1) Recognise that the extent and characteristics of the coastal environment vary from region to region and locality to locality; and the issues that arise may have different effects in different localities.
  - (2) Recognise that the coastal environment includes:
    - (a) the coastal marine area;
    - (b) islands within the coastal marine area;
    - (c) areas where coastal processes, influences or qualities are significant, including coastal lakes, lagoons, tidal estuaries, saltmarshes, coastal wetlands, and the margins of these;
    - (d) areas at risk from coastal hazards;

- (e) coastal vegetation and the habitat of indigenous coastal species including migratory birds;
- (f) elements and features that contribute to the natural character, landscape, visual qualities or amenity values;
- (g) items of cultural and historic heritage in the coastal marine area or on the coast;
- (h) inter-related coastal marine and terrestrial systems, including the intertidal zone; and
- *(i) physical resources and built facilities, including infrastructure, that have modified the coastal environment.*
- 4. Against that broad background description of the coastal environment the PORPS as notified identified a range of significant resource management issues for the coastal environment listed in the SRMR chapter. The issue most directly identified in this chapter related to the coastal environment is also identified in SRMR-I8 as follows:

# SRMR–I8 – Otago's coast is a rich natural, cultural and economic resource that is under threat from a range of terrestrial and marine activities

- 5. SRMR-I1 as to natural hazard effects; SRMR-I2 as to climate change impacts; SRMR-I3 as to pest species; SRMR-I7 as to effects of predators and pests; and SRMR-I10 as to environmental impacts of activities, also relate in varying degrees to the coastal environment.
- 6. In addition in the RMIA chapter as to resource management issues of significance to iwi authorities in the region, the section under the sub-header RMIA-CE identified 5 issues arising from: a lack of integrated management across the land-water interface RMIA-CE-I1; the degradation of water quality from discharges RMIA-CE-I2; the effects of activities on Kāi Tahu ability to access and harvest kaimoana RMIA-CE-I3; the decline in species as a result of habitat disturbance and modification RMIA-CE-I4; and the poor recognition and protection of wāhi tapu and wāhi tūpuna values RMIA-CE-I5.
- 7. In relation to most of those issues the hearing panel accepted the reasoning and conclusions advanced by the s.42A reports as they developed, which in large part particularly as to the coastal environment accepted propositions advanced by Kāi Tahu submitters and DOC. As we observed in the overall Introduction to the joint reports ORC made every effort to liaise with Kāi Tahu and the outcome was often an agreed position which the panel accepted. Therefore, only a few limited issues related to Kāi Tahu's relationship with the coastal environment need specific discussion in this chapter.
- 8. As discussed in the legal section of this report the preservation of the natural character of the coastal environment, wetlands and lakes and rivers required by s.6(a) of the RMA is qualified by the additional words "and the protection of them from inappropriate subdivision, use and development". The NZCPS consequently has a range of policies aimed at providing that level of preservation and protection, while at the same time it contains other policies aimed at enabling activities, which must be taken as being recognised by the NZCPS as being appropriate in some settings within that coastal environment. It is in those activity areas in the coastal environment where potential conflicts between protection and activity policies may arise, and where, unsurprisingly, emphasis arose in the PORPS submissions process and hearings.
- 9. The start point of that consideration of the NZCPS policies has to be s.62(3) of the RMA which requires that an RPS "must give effect" to a New Zealand coastal policy statement.

- 10. Examples of the NZCPS objectives and policies which provide for activities include Objective 6 which includes direction enabling certain forms of subdivision, use, and development in the coastal environment. In particular, bullet points 1 and 2 of Objective 6 acknowledge that:
  - the protection of the values of the coastal environment does not preclude use and development in appropriate places and forms, and within appropriate limits;

138

 some uses and developments which depend upon the use of natural and physical resources in the coastal environment are important to the social, economic and cultural wellbeing of people and communities;

Then bullet point 3 recognises that: 'funtionally some uses and developments can only be located on the coast or in the coastal marine area': with bullet point 4 acknowledging that:

- the coastal environment conains renewable energy resources of significant value;
- 11. More specifically, there are then a range of policies in the NZCPS supportive of the enabling of activities, or in some cases requiring provisions for them. They include Policy 6 as to provision of infrastructure and extraction of minerals; Policy 7 as to varying types of urban activity; Policy 8 as to aquaculture; Policy 9 as to ports; and Policy 10 as to closely limited circumstances for reclamations providing significant regional or national benefit.
- 12. Another area of activity identified in the NZCPS which is particularly relevant to the evidence called by Kāi Tahu entities is Policy 6(d) which provides:

Policy 6: Activities in the coastal environment

- 1. In relation to the coastal environment:
  - (a) ...
  - (b) ...
  - (c) ...
  - (d) recognise tangata whenua needs for papakāinga, marae and associated developments and make appropriate provision for them; ...
- 13. The reason why Policy 6(1)(d) is so crucial to Kāi Tahu communities in Otago is because their evidence was clear that in gross historical breaches of the Treaty they have lost almost all of their lands, and have been left with only a few pockets of Māori lands or Māori-owned general lands which are commonly near the coast. Their marae are in or near the coastal environment in Otago.
- 14. In terms of other Part 2 RMA considerations we will not repeat here the conclusions reached in the legal section of this report other than to emphasise what is now the clear legal outcome, that no general priority is to be afforded to directive protection policies over other directive policies which enable activities. In the legal section of this report, and in the Integrated Management chapter topic discussion, particularly of IM-P1, we have also taken up the direction of the Surpeme Court in the <u>Port Otago</u> case to ensure consent pathways exist to enable a consideration of activity applications for consent in a structured analysis approach.
- 15. An example of where a general prioritisation has been recommended is in a new CE-P3(1A) as follows:

#### CE-P3 – Coastal water quality

Manage water quality in the coastal environment by: (1A) prioritising the restoration of coastal water quality where it is considered to have deteriorated to the extent described within CE-P2(2), ...

For reasons described in the legal section and summarised above this wording is not in accord with the Supreme Court's judgment in the *Port Otago* case and we do not accept that aspect of the suggested new policy. The issue of restoration will be one of the factors needing to be assessed in a structured way.

16. In terms of s.32AA of the RMA the wording we recommend below is necessary to ensure that the policy is the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act.

# 1.1 Recommendation

17. That can be achieved by rewording the suggested new subclause 1A as follows:

# CE-P3 – Coastal water quality

Manage water quality in the coastal environment by: (1A) restoring coastal water quality where it is considered to have deteriorated to the extent described within CE-P2(2), ...

- 18. In some respects, for example as to wetland protection, the coastal chapter is treated somewhat differently in the PORPS provisions, often because of the application of NZCPS or exclusionary definitions in the NPSFM and NPSIB as to coastal wetlands. The challenge for this part of the report on the Coastal Environment topic chapter is to ensure that a consistent approach is adopted for the vexed protection and enabling provisions in response to submissions.
- 19. We agree with the nearly all of the summary of the primary issues needing consideration in respect of this chapter provided in the reply report of 23 May 2023 by the s.42A report writer Mr Andrew McLennan. That summary was as follows:
  - a. Kāi Tahu relationship with the coastal environment
  - b. Identifying biodiversity in the coastal environment
  - c. Providing for infrastructure in the coastal environment
  - d. Connections to other chapters within the pORPS21
  - e. Identifying the extent of the coastal environment
  - f. Providing for aquaculture
- 20. We propose to address each of those issues other than (e) in that order, as we do not consider that we need to address issue (e). We do, however, also address in this section a legal funding issue, and regional surf breaks.

# 2. Kāi Tahu relationship with the coastal environment

21. The relationship of Kāi Tahu with the coastal environment in the notified version of the PORPS in its coastal environment chapter was encompassed primarily in Objective CE-O1:

#### CE–O1 – Safeguarding the coastal environment

The integrity, form, functioning and resilience of Otago's coastal environment is safeguarded so that:

(1) the mauri of coastal water is protected, and restored where it has degraded,
(2) coastal water quality supports healthy ecosystems, natural habitats, waterbased recreational activities, existing activities, and customary uses, including practices associated with mahika kai and kaimoana, ...

22. That objective was supported by a more specific objective CE-O4 as follows:

# CE–O4 – Kāi Tahu associations with Otago's coastal environment

The enduring cultural association of Kāi Tahu with Otago's coastal environment is recognised and provided for, and mana whenua are able to exercise their kaitiaki role within the coastal environment.

- 23. The relevant policies included first a requirement in Policy CE-P2(2) and (3) to identify areas where adverse effects on coastal water was restricting mahika kai practices, and areas of particular interest to mana whenua (using that term for takata whenua for reasons discussed in the MW chapter). In addition, other policies of relevance to mana whenua included CE-P3 as to water quality requiring protection against adverse effects on the identified areas of particular interest to mana whenua; CE-P5 as to indigenous biodiversity requiring avoidance of significant adverse effects on habitats of importance for cultural purposes; CE-P8 as to public access, which at subclause (5) excepted the right for unimpeded public access where required to 'protect places or areas of significance to takata whenua, including wāhi tūpuna'; CE-P11 as to aquaculture which sought to enable this activity at appropriate locations taking into account, inter alia, potential '..cultural benefits associated with the operation and development of aquaculture activities'.
- 24. The most specific policy, however, was CE-P13 as follows:

# CE–P13 – Kaitiakitaka

Recognise and provide for the role of Kāi Tahu as kaitiaki of the coastal environment by:

(1) involving mana whenua in decision making and management processes in respect of the coast,

(2) identifying, protecting, and improving where degraded, sites, areas and values of importance to Kāi Tahu within the coastal environment, and managing these in accordance with tikaka,

(3) providing for customary uses, including mahika kai and the harvesting of kaimoana,

(4) incorporating the impact of activities on customary fisheries in decision making, and

(5) incorporating mātauraka Māori in the management and monitoring of activities in the coastal environment.

25. In submissions by mana whenua submitters a more specific objective and policy suite was sought principally seeking greater flexibility for mana whenua to carry out activities which

were either in or affected the coastal environment. The particular objective was sought as a primary objective, rather than as a sub-clause to CE-O1 as notified, but was finally recommended to be adopted in the reply report by Mr Maclennan in the following restricted form. (We observe in passing that the title to this new provision emanated from mana whenua submitters):

## CE-O1A – Te Mauri o te Moana

The mauri, health and well-being of Otago's coastal water is protected, and restored where it is degraded, including through enhancing coastal water quality where it has deteriorated from its natural condition.

- 26. This recommended provision effectively adapts a highly protective concept very similar to that utilised in the NPSFM for Te Mana o te Wai. We accept the evidence and reasoning advanced in support of such an objective seeking to protect the health and wellbeing of coastal waters, and the enhancement of them where degraded, because that will protect the mauri of the coastal waters. We do have, though, two reservations.
- 27. The first is that there is an important, albeit subtle, difference in the wording proposed here, as compared to the wording used in the NPSFM. In the NPSFM the fundamental concept of 'Te Mana o te Wai' is described by recognising that 'protecting the health of freshwater protects the health and wellbeing of the wider environment. It protects the mauri of the wai. ...' As we discussed in the legal section of this report that approach neatly avoids any need to define what is 'mauri', whereas this proposed wording will require that 'mauri' is closely defined because it is specifically required to be protected. That wording arose from the notified version of subclause (1) of CE-01, which was worded in a manner that emphasised the protection of 'mauri' even more specifically, as follows:
  - (1) the mauri of coastal water is protected, and restored where it has degraded,
- 28. The second problem is that as recommended once again there is a failure in this provision to recognise the qualifier in s.6(a) of the RMA that protection of the coastal environment is only required against inappropriate activities.
- 29. Once again in terms of s.32AA of the RMA the wording we recommend below is needed to ensure that the objective is worded in a manner that ensures it is the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act.

# 2.1 Recommendation

30. In our view those two problems can be overcome by some small but important changes as follows:

#### CE-O1A – Te Mauri o te Moana

The mauri, health and well-being of Otago's *coastal water* is: (a) protected from inappropriate activities so as to protect the health and wellbeing of the wider environment and the mauri of coastal waters, and (b) restored where it is degraded, including through enhancing *coastal water* quality where it has deteriorated from its natural condition. 31. A consequential change would also need to be made to the final recommended version of CE-P2 (2)(a)(i) as to identification of degraded quality water areas which was recommended in the following form:

## **CE-P2** – Identification

Identify the following in the coastal environment: ...

(2) areas of water quality in the coastal marine area that are considered to have deteriorated so that:

- (a) it is having a significant adverse effect on:
- (i) the mauri of coastal water

# 2.2 Recommendation

32. Consistency would require that provision to read:

## (i) the mauri health of coastal water

33. Other provisions in the coastal environment chapter which directly relate to Kāi Tahu's relationship with the coastal environment included Policies CE-P9 and CE-P10 as to activities respectively on land and otherwise in the coastal environment. Kāi Tahu through its planning witness Mr Bathgate particularly sought inclusion of specific policy provision enabling mana whenua to provide for their needs for papakāika, marae and associated developments. The final s.42A report response (at paragraph 149) was that CE-M3 and CE-M4 (1)-(3) already addressed location issues. However, Policy 6 of the NZCPS specifically stated in this regard as follows:

# Policy 6 Activities in the coastal environment

(1) In relation to the coastal environment:

 (d) recognise tangata whenua needs for papakāinga, marae and associated developments and make appropriate provision for them;

34. We do not consider that mention of activities in methods CE-M3 and CE-M4 (1)-(3) specifically apply to that goal or are at all sufficient to meet that specific directive in the NZCPS. CE-M4(9) by contrast does make that provision in respect of district plans when it says:

(9) recognise takata whenua needs for papakāika, marae and associated developments within the coastal environment and make appropriate provision for them,

- 35. However, that is a method which rather 'hangs' out on its own at the moment as there is no policy support for it.
- 2.3 Recommendation
- 36. We agree with Mr Bathgate that a new clause is required in CE-P9 as follows:

(7) enabling mana whenua to provide for their cultural and social needs for papakāinga, marae and associated developments and make appropriate provision for them.

#### 2.4 Recommendation

- 37. Finally, in accordance with the conclusions reached in the Mana Whenua chapter consideration we accept that all references to 'takata whenua' in this coastal chapter should be changed to 'mana whenua'.
- 38. In terms of s.32AA of the RMA that two recommendations are respectively required first to ensure the policy support for the method is the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act, and secondly is required for consistency.

# 3. Identifying biodiversity in the coastal environment

- 39. The first point to be noted in respect of indigenous biodiversity in the coastal environment chapter is that the new NPSIB specifically acknowledges that it only applies in the 'terrestrial environment' (clause 1.3(1) of the NPSIB) and that while both NPSs apply in the terrestrial coastal environment that in the event of conflict between the two "the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement prevails." (clause 1.4(1) and (2) NPSIB).
- 40. The base problem faced in both terrestrial and coastal environments is the identification and mapping of areas of significant indigenous biodiversity or natural character that may be under threat. That problem is often capable of being at least reduced in scope in the terrestrial environment by means of recourse to desktop reviews of aerial photography, and doubtless in future assisted by drone footage all of which can be readily available at relatively low cost for large areas with follow-up ground research in addition being practical by using the assistance of vehicles on a broad basis.
- 41. In the coastal environment those low-cost methods of identification on a broad basis are not available. Marine biological research is a painstakingly slow process involving divers carrying out benthic assessments, aided in deeper waters to some extent by submersibles operated from larger surface vessels but again with only short distance viewing available and at huge cost. Moreover, for a large stretch of unprotected coast as in the Otago region off-shore weather and visibility conditions have a major impact.
- 42. These concerns were raised by the hearing panel repetitively during the coastal hearings as it seemed that the massive cost and time span required to identify and map indigenous biodiversity and natural character in the marine environment may not have been properly appreciated. The panel was concerned at that cost factor given the provisions of CE-P5 which as notified stated:

#### CE–P5 – Coastal indigenous biodiversity

Protect indigenous biodiversity in the coastal environment by:(1) identifying and avoiding adverse effects on the following ecosystems, vegetation types and areas:

(a) indigenous taxa that are listed as threatened or at risk in the New Zealand Threat Classification System lists,

(b) taxa that are listed by the International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources as threatened,

(c) indigenous ecosystems and vegetation types in the coastal environment that are threatened or are naturally rare,

(d) habitats of indigenous species where the species are at the limit of their natural range, or are naturally rare,

(e) areas containing nationally significant examples of indigenous community types, and (f) areas set aside for full or partial protection of indigenous biodiversity under other legislation, and

(2) identifying and avoiding significant adverse effects and avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects on the following ecosystems, vegetation types and areas:

(a) areas of predominantly indigenous vegetation in the coastal environment,

(b) habitats in the coastal environment that are important during the vulnerable life stages of indigenous species,

(c) indigenous ecosystems and habitats that are only found in the coastal environment and are particularly vulnerable,

(d) areas sensitive to modification, including estuaries, lagoons, coastal wetlands, dunelands, intertidal zones, rocky reef systems, eelgrass and saltmarsh,

(e) habitats of indigenous species in the coastal environment that are important for recreational, commercial, traditional or cultural purposes,(f) habitats, including areas and routes, important to migratory species, and(g) ecological corridors, and areas important for linking or maintaining biological values identified under this policy.

43. The method that flowed from Policy CE-P5 was CE-M3 which required that local authorities must work collaboratively together to:

3) identify areas and values of indigenous biodiversity within their jurisdictions in accordance with CE–P5, map the areas and describe their values in the relevant regional and district plans, and

- 44. One of the major concerns expressed by some submitters was a concern at how workable or practical the policy was when it required 'avoidance' of effects with all its near prohibitive connotations on areas that it would be well-nigh impossible physically and financially to have identified during the life of the coastal plan.
- 45. The Panel itself was not so concerned about the cost imposition on applicants for resource consent because as a matter of preparation on their assessment of environmental effects, they would have to carry out benthic research which would disclose what types of species were present and estimate effects and propose mitigation measures if warranted anyway. The concern was more at the overall cost to councils of imposing those mapping burdens and particularly on ORC itself in respect of the marine environment.
- 46. Moreover, adding to that concern was the fact that the NZCPS did not require such a detailed level of identification and mapping for indigenous biodiversity in Policy 11 as it did for areas

of high natural character in Policy 13(1)(c) and for natural features and landscapes in Policy 15(d). Counsel for ORC in closing opined that the reason for that mapping not being required for Policy 11 purposes in the NZCPS was because it seemed likely that the Board of Inquiry into the NZCPS was contemplating DOC would provide the requisite mapping. That has not occurred.

47. The cost and practical concerns were raised by the hearing panel with ORC's counsel who in closing on 29 May 2023 formally responded as follows:

332. The concern was that, at least in the marine environment, little work had been done and ORC was imposing upon itself a significant and costly obligation.

333. Substantial progress had in fact been made by the Regional Council through the NIWA report, Identification of Significant Ecological Areas for the Otago Coastal Marine Area, June 2022; although the report does identify gaps in available information and makes recommendations for cost-effective ground-truthing and monitoring programmes.

*334. ORC does not resile from the task of identifying important and vulnerable biodiversity in the coastal environment* 

- 48. The marine area involved is so vast, (including as it does the whole of the territorial sea area out to 12 nautical miles or approximately 22 kilometres off-shore), the task required by CE-P5 so detailed, and the costs potentially so large that the panel still holds serious concerns as to its practicality. However, faced with that formal response by ORC through its counsel the panel is unable to gainsay such a formal assurance by ORC. As it can take the matter no further, no change is recommended.
- 49. One other related matter that we need to address is the recommended move of CE-P5 to replace the notified version of ECO-P7 which as notified stated:

## ECO-P7 - Coastal indigenous biodiversity

Coastal indigenous biodiversity is managed by CE–P5, and implementation of CE– P5 also contributes to achieving ECO–O1.

- 50. We struggle to understand why that change is recommended.
- 51. Other changes that were recommended to us for the ECO chapter in the final 10 October 2023 version included the insertion of the phrase "Outside the coastal environment". That occurs now in the final recommended version at the start of ECO-P3 as to protection of significant natural areas and taoka, and ECO-P4 as to consent pathways for certain new activities. Plainly in those important areas in the ECO chapter those exclusionary words mean it is recommended that the CE chapter provisions will apply to the coastal environment and the ECO chapter outside it. Even more relevant is the fact that in the final recommended version of ECO-P6 as to management of effects on indigenous biodiversity the same qualifier appears that it only applies "Outside the coastal environment". We fail to understand why one would then follow those provisions in the ECO chapter with a provision applying only to the coastal environment, particularly when it opens with the words:

Protect indigenous biodiversity in the coastal environment by:

52. Finally, as to this recommended move, we wonder if the s.42A report writer considered clause 9 of the National Planning Standards which provides:

8. Excluding the provisions in Part 2, provisions that apply to the coastal marine area must be located in the Coastal marine area section.

53. The provisions in Part 2 (of Table 2 in the National Planning Standards) relate to overview matters being:

Significant resource management issues for the region

Resource management issues of significance to iwi authorities in the region

Integrated management

- 54. In other words, all other coastal marine area provisions, such as CE-P5, must be in the CE chapter as we read clause 8 of the National Planning Standards.
- 55. In terms of s.32AA of the RMA the discussion above describes sufficiently the factors that have led us to the recommendation that CE-P5 remains in the coastal chapter.

# 3.1 Recommendation

56. As a consequence of all those considerations we recommend that CE-P5 remains in the coastal chapter. (In the discussions below on provision for infrastructure and aquaculture development we look again in more detail at the extent of the protective wording of CE-P5).

# 3.2 Scientific Uncertainty

- 57. The final issue we need to discuss as to indigenous biodiversity in the coastal environment chapter related to methods CE-M3(6) and CE-M4(6). Those provisions require a precautionary approach in assessing the effects of activities where "there is scientific uncertainty". The concern raised was whether that was broad enough to cover actual gaps in knowledge because many such gaps exist or may not have been filled in sufficient detail, i.e. where there was no or inadequate information available.
- 58. The response in closing by ORC's counsel was that "Deficits in knowledge do create uncertainty" on the basis that "When there are information shortfalls, there is scientific uncertainty." (paras 337-338). Whilst we can see the force of those arguments we would still prefer to see the precautionary approach broadened to include the phrase "or a lack of relevant knowledge" in both those methods so that no arguments can arise, as we fear that lack of relevant knowledge will be the most likely scenario for years to come.
- 59. Again, in terms of s.32AA of the RMA that recommendation is the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act.
- 3.2.1 Recommendation
- 60. That methods CE-M3(6)(a) and CE-M4(6)(a) be amended to read:

(a) there is scientific uncertainty or a lack of relevant knowledge, or ...

# 4. Providing for infrastructure in the coastal environment

- 61. The concerns of infrastructure providers in terrestrial settings were echoed in the coastal chapter hearings. In short infrastructure submitters who took part in the coastal chapter hearings were concerned that the same overly protectionist objectives and policies framework also applied in the coastal environments chapter as applied on land. In the Panel's view those Part 2 RMA issues are in principle guided by the Supreme Court's decisions in *King Salmon* and *Port Otago* both of which of course related to and arose out of provisions in the NZCPS. We do not need, therefore, to repeat the discussion canvassed in the legal section of this report here.
- 62. Rather it is a matter of standing back and considering whether the protectionist prioritisation complained of in terrestrial settings applies in the coastal environment chapter, and whether there is a consent pathway providing for the 'structured analysis' approach specified by the Supreme Court in the event of an apparent conflict between applicable policies.
- 63. In that regard there are two areas of policy and methods which immediately come to attention. The first is that CE-P4 as to natural character does not contain the qualifier of protection from inappropriate use development and subdivision that occurs in s.6(a) RMA and also in Policy 13(1) of the NZCPS.
- 64. Another aspect of concern in the PORPS is that CE-M3 (5)(a) as to regional plan content in the notified version controlled the use and development of the coastal marine area, in order to:

(a) <u>preserve</u> natural character; natural features, landscapes and seascapes; and indigenous biodiversity of the coastal marine area in accordance with CE–P4, CE–P5 and CE–P6.

(Our emphasis)

- 65. Again, no qualifier appeared in that provision as to protection from inappropriate activities. (We also record that no qualifier appears in the chapeau to CE-P6, which it should do, to be consistent with the s.6 RMA approach.)
- 66. Finally, the term 'prioritising', (which given the *Port Otago* case must raise flags), appears again in the recommended final version of Policy CE-P3 as we have discussed above.
- 67. These protective provisions in the coastal environment chapter have been sought to be reconciled as to provision for infrastructure in the coastal environment by the provision of Objective CE-O5 and Policies CE-P9 as to activities on land within the coastal environment; and CE-P10 as to activities within the coastal marine area; (with CE-P11 being enabling as to aquaculture). The NZCPS at Policy 6(1)(a) and other provisions requires a recognition of the vital need for enabling some crucial energy related infrastructure and mining activities in some settings:

# Policy 6 Activities in the coastal environment

# (1) In relation to the coastal environment:

(a) recognise that the provision of infrastructure, the supply and transport of energy including the generation and transmission of electricity, and the extraction of minerals are activities important to the social, economic and cultural well-being of people and communities; ...

68. The most crucial policy in the coastal marine area in the PORPS for infrastructure is Policy CE-P10. It opens with wording that is directive. However, as notified, it was most difficult to accept it as being truly enabling when it commenced with the use of the word 'must' allied with 'maintain or improve' in subclause (2):

## CE-P10 – Activities within the coastal marine area

Use and development in the coastal marine area must:

(1) enable multiple uses of the coastal marine area wherever reasonable and practicable, <u>and</u>

(2) maintain or improve the <u>health</u>, integrity, form, function and resilience of the coastal marine area, <u>or</u> <del>and</del>

(3) have a functional <u>need</u> or operational need to be located in the coastal marine area, or

(4) have a public benefit or opportunity for public recreation that cannot practicably be located outside the coastal marine area.

- 69. The construction of infrastructure, such as for example a main state highway armouring or a telecom tower or some renewable energy construction such as for tidal or wind power capture, simply cannot always 'maintain or improve the health, integrity, form, function and resilience of the coastal marine area,'. Construction of such infrastructure is always going to have some adverse effect. This wording as notified was too prescriptive to meet the needs recognised in Policy 6(1)(a) of the NZCPS, but the recommended addition of the alternative between subclauses (1) and (2) and sub-clauses (3) and (4) by the use of the word 'or' instead of the word 'and' resolves that issue.
- 70. Once more in terms of s.32AA of the RMA that recommended wording which we agree with is the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act by enabling a realistic consent pathway.

# 4.1 Recommendation

The chapeau to CE-P6 should be amended to read:

Protect natural features, and landscapes and (including seascapes) in the coastal environment from inappropriate activities by:

...

71. The recommended use of 'or' after subclause (2) of CE-P10 as in the recommended 10 October 2023 version is adopted providing consent pathways through subclauses (3) and (4).

# 5. Connections to other chapters within the pORPS21

72. In para 61 of the opening legal submissions on the CE chapter Mr Logan counsel for ORC said:

61. The National Planning Standards provide that if specific provisions relating to the coastal environment are located in other chapters, they must be cross-referenced to the coastal environment chapter."

73. As authority for that he cited clause 7 of the National Planning Standards. It provides:

7. Any specific provisions relating to the coastal environment which are located in other topic chapters must be cross-referenced in the Coastal environment chapter.)

74. In other parts of the PORPS which are addressed in other sections of this report other views may be expressed as to the need or otherwise for such cross-referencing. However. in the CE chapter we accept that the National Planning Standards do require such cross-references and we do not therefore recommend any removal from that chapter of cross-referencing that has occurred.

# 6. Providing for aquaculture

75. The major submitters in the aquaculture area were Kāi Tahu, DOC and Sanford Limited. At the time of our hearings Sanford had under active development a concept for a series of consents to enable major off-shore marine structures for salmon farming. While this process plainly does not involve decision-making on that proposal, it was a useful example against which to test the assertions made by Sanford that the PORPS notified provisions made appropriate provision for aquaculture consent pathways as required by Policy 8 of the NZCPS and should not be significantly changed. Policy 8 of the NZCPS provides:

# Policy 8 Aquaculture

Recognise the significant existing and potential contribution of aquaculture to the social, economic and cultural well-being of people and communities by:

(a) <u>including in regional policy statements</u> and regional coastal plans <u>provision for aquaculture activities in appropriate places</u> in the coastal environment, recognising that relevant considerations may include:

(i) the need for high water quality for aquaculture activities; and

(ii) the need for land-based facilities associated with marine farming;

(b) <u>taking account of the social and economic benefits of aquaculture</u>, including any available assessments of national and regional economic benefits; and

(c) ensuring that development in the coastal environment does not make water quality unfit for aquaculture activities in areas approved for that purpose.

(Panel's emphasis)

76. The propositions advanced by some of DOC's and Kāi Tahu's planning witnesses which caused concern for Sanford related to requests to effectively strengthen the protective provisions of the RPS in relation to indigenous biodiversity and as to significant natural areas. We have discussed above in relation to infrastructure our concerns about the level of protection for natural character in CE-P4 failing to adopt the qualifier of protection from inappropriate activities contained in s.6(a) of the Act. We have also discussed in the legal section of this

report the distinction between s.6(a) and (b) protection with that qualifier, as compared to s.6(c) as to indigenous biodiversity which does not have that qualifier.

77. The difference in protection levels by the two subclauses (1) and (2) of CE-P5 are that in subclause (1) protection is required to avoid effects on ecosystems within the tightly described types of at-risk species or fauna habitats in subclause (1). In other words that is a strong 'avoid' directive as to <u>all</u> effects, based squarely on s.6(c). By contrast in subclause (2) the requirement is worded as follows:

(2) identifying and avoiding significant adverse effects and avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects on the following ecosystems, vegetation types and areas:

- 78. The difference in protection levels reflects what is found between Policies 11(a) and 11(b), 13(a) and 13(b), and 15(a) and 15(b) of the NZCPS.
- 79. What that distinction highlights is the necessity to ensure a provision like CE-P5 does not extend beyond the s.6(c) protection which bears repeating:

*(c)* the protection of areas of <u>significant</u> indigenous vegetation and <u>significant</u> habitats of indigenous fauna:

(Panel's emphasis)

- 80. Both the notified and recommended versions of CE-P5 distinguished between the protection offered by subclauses (1) and (2). The list of matters protected under subclause (1) as notified were all matters which it is unlikely could be challenged as being "significant\_indigenous vegetation and significant\_habitats of indigenous fauna". In fact they echo those in Policy 11(1) of the NZCPS. The initial s.42A response to the DOC and Kāi Tahu planning evidence seeking additional protection for more species or habitats was to suggest addition of a subclause to CE-P5(1) that added in areas identified in accordance with APP2. That caused concern for Mr Low, the Sanford planning witness. However, in his final recommendations Mr Maclennan the s.42A report writer sought to ensure that concern was removed by moving down the recommended reference to: "(h) significant natural areas identified in accordance with APP2 that are not included in (1) above" from the subclause (1) level of protection to subclause (2) level.
- 81. In our view that amendment would have been appropriate on the recommended wording of the definition of *'significant natural area'* in the PORPS as it was at the coastal environment hearings in May 2023 prior to the promulgation of the NPSIB. In that form it was recommended as follows:

**Significant natural area** means areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna-that are located outside the coastal environment.

82. However, the definition of SNA or significant natural area has now changed in the October 2023 recommended version to read:

Significant natural area <sup>1</sup>	means areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna that are located outside the coastal environment.					
	has the same meaning as in the Interpretation in the National Policy Statement for					
	Indigenous Biodiversity 2023 (as set out in the box below):					
	means:					
	(a) any area that, after the commencement date, is notified					
	or included in a district plan as an SNA following an assessment of the area in					
	accordance with Appendix 1; and					
	(b) any area that, on the commencement date, is already identified in a policy					
	statement or plan as an area of significant indigenous vegetation or significant					
	habitat of indigenous fauna (regardless of how it is described); in which case it					
	remains as an significant natural area unless or until a suitably qualified ecologist					
	engaged by the relevant local authority determines that it is not an area of					
	significant indigenous vegetation or significant habitat of indigenous fauna.					

83. There is a need to amend that definition as the NPSIB definition refers to APP 1, whereas in the PORPS APP 1 is headed 'APP 1- Criteria for identifying outstanding water bodies' with APP 2 containing 'Criteria for identifying areas that qualify as significant natural areas (SNAs)'. That definition in (a) needs correction so that we can recommend that the final recommended version of CE-P5 is adopted.

# 6.1 Recommendation

84. Accordingly, we need to recommend the definition of SNA in (a) is amended to delete the reference to APP 1 and for it to read APP 2 as follows:

Significant natural area	means areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna that are located outside the coastal environment.					
	has the same meaning as in the Interpretation section of the National Policy Statement for         Indigenous Biodiversity 2023 (except with a reference to Appendix 2 rather than Appendix         1) as set out below:         means:         (a) any area that, after the commencement date, is notified					
	or included in a district plan as an SNA following an assessment of the area in accordance with Appendix 2; and					
	(b) any area that, on the commencement date, is already identified in a policy statement or plan as an area of significant indigenous vegetation or significant habitat of indigenous fauna (regardless of how it is described); in which case it remains as an significant natural area unless or until a suitably qualified ecologist engaged by the relevant local authority determines that it is not an area of significant indigenous vegetation or significant habitat of indigenous fauna.					

85. With that amendment to the definition of an SNA the wording of CE-P5 does leave open a consent pathway for aquaculture which will have to address any potential for conflict between the protective CE-P5 and the enabling policies in Policy 8 of the NZCPS and Policy CE-P11 of the PORPS, as to provision for aquaculture. That will have to occur in a structured analysis approach reconciling the relevant policies in their particular factual setting in accordance with the *Port Otago* case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 00139.129 DCC, 00237.049 Beef & Lamb NZ

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

86. The enabling Policy CE-P11 as to aquaculture was recommended in the October 2023 final version to provide:

## CE-P11 – Aquaculture

Provide for the development and operation of aquaculture activities within appropriate locations and limits where this is in accordance with CE-P3 to CE-P12, taking into account:

- (1) the need for high quality water required for an aquaculture activity,
- (2) the need for land-based facilities and infrastructure required to support the operation of aquaculture activities, and
- (3) the potential social, economic and cultural benefits associated with the operation and development of aquaculture activities.
- 87. We do have a concern, though, with the words "where this is in accordance with". From one point of view that phrase potentially gives rise to the possibility of an argument that failure to comply with any provision in CE-P3 to CE-P12 would mean consent cannot be given. We do not understand that that is what was intended. Rather what we take those words to be intended to mean is that any consideration of particular aquaculture proposals has to take into account all of the relevant policies in the particular factual context involved. Some of those policies have an 'avoid' approach, and some have an 'enabling' approach.

# 6.2 Recommendation

88. We consider it is necessary instead to adapt the Supreme Court approach in the <u>Port Otago</u> case of specifying that all relevant matters have to be considered. As a consequence, we recommend an amended wording as follows for the opening words of CE-P11:

## CE-P11 – Aquaculture

Provide for the development and operation of aquaculture activities within appropriate locations and limits taking into account policies CE-P3 to CE-P12, and:

- (1) the need for high quality water required for an aquaculture activity,
- (2) the need for land-based facilities and infrastructure required to support the operation of aquaculture activities, and
- (3) the potential social, economic and cultural benefits associated with the operation and development of aquaculture activities.
- 89. In terms of s.32AA of the RMA that recommendation is needed to ensure the policy provides for the most appropriate way to achieve the purpose of this Act

# 7. Funding Issue

90. In the Mana Whenua chapter, we discussed the effect of the litigation involving Te Whānau a Kai v. Gisborne District Council which culminated in an exchange of memoranda between counsel for ORC and Kāi Tahu and DCC accepting that provisions requiring mandatory funding of resources in an RPS was not in accordance with relevant Local Government Act provisions controlling funding processes for local governments. One of the PORPS provisions of that nature identified by Mr Logan for ORC was CE-M1A(2). As recommended in the final 10 October 2023 version it provided:

(2) implementing actions to foster the development of *mana whenua* capacity to contribute to the Council's decision-making processes, including resourcing,

- 91. In the ORC memorandum on this issue Mr. Logan as counsel for ORC observed that this provision could not stand. The panel agrees but only as to the last phrase 'including resourcing.' Otherwise the balance wording is the same as the wording proposed by Kāi Tahu's counsel on 25 July and accepted by ORC's counsel on 25 September, 2023.
- 92. We have also considered CE-M5 which is worded differently with its opening wording stating:

"Local authorities <u>shall</u> consider the use of other mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving Policies CE-P2 to CE-P12<u>3</u>, including" and there then follow a range of possible actions including "(4) funding assistance for restoration projects (for example, through Otago Regional Council's ECO Fund)."

(Panel's emphasis)

- 93. We agree with Mr Logan who classed such provisions as being discretionary, and that being so, they are able to comply with local government funding requirements before being adopted. That provision in our view does not offend the Te Whānau a Kai judicial direction.
- 94. In terms of s.32AA this change to CE-M1A(2) is needed to respond to a legal clarification made of the restrictions imposed on RMA funding commitments by the need to observe other local government funding legislation.
- 7.1 Recommendation
- 95. We recommend that CE-M1A(2) be amended to read:
  - (2) implementing actions to foster the development of *mana whenua* capacity to contribute to the Council's decision-making processes

# 8. Surf breaks – CE-P2, CE-P7, and CE-M3(2), CE-M3(5)(b), CE-M4(10) and CE-M5(6)

96. These provisions as notified provided, (with only relevant parts quoted):

## CE–P2 – Identification

Identify the following in the coastal environment:

•••

(5) the nationally significant surf breaks at Karitane, Papatowai, The Spit, and Whareakeake and any regionally significant surf breaks.

## CE–P7 – Surf breaks

Manage Otago's nationally and regionally significant surf breaks so that:

(1) nationally significant surf breaks are protected by avoiding adverse effects on the surf breaks, including on access to and use and enjoyment of them, and

(2) the values of and access to regionally significant surf breaks are maintained.

#### CE-M3 - Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans no later than 31 December 2028 to:

(1) map areas of deteriorated water quality in the coastal environment, in accordance with CE- P2(2) and CE-P2(3),

(2) map the areas and characteristics of, and access to, nationally and regionally significant surf breaks,

•••

(5) control the use and development of the coastal marine area, in order to:

(a) preserve the natural character; natural landscapes, features, and seascapes; and indigenous biodiversity of the coastal marine area in accordance with CE–P4, CE–P5 and CE–P6, and

(b) manage Otago's nationally and regionally significant surf breaks in accordance with CE- P7,

#### CE-M4 – District plans

Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:

...

(10) provide access to nationally and regionally significant surf breaks, and

- 97. Submissions were made in support by Kāi Tahu, Wise Response, Forest & Bird, and in opposition as to the regional aspect by DCC and Port Otago. The s.42A report concluded no change needed to be made, and no recommendation was made to delete the reference to regional surf breaks.
- 98. The thrust of the opposition was that while the NZCPS in Policy 16 specifically directed protection for national significant surf breaks, it did so by specific identification of those in Schedule 1. Four of those listed in Schedule 1 of the NZCPS are located in the Otago Region. They are identified for protection by that specific method as being expressly identified as being of national significance.
- 99. In the PORPS in the Environmental section of the Impact Snapshot for SRMR-I8 surf breaks are referred to in the second paragraph, but only at a nationally significant level:

Natural features, landscapes, seascapes, and surf breaks of national significance can be affected by human activity, climate change, and natural hazards.

154

100. In the notified objectives CE-O1(5) specifically seeks to protect surf breaks but only those of national significance:

#### CE-O1 - Safeguarding the coastal environment

The integrity, form, functioning and resilience of Otago's coastal environment is safeguarded so that:

...

(5) surf breaks of national significance are protected.

101. Then the policy in CE-P2(5), already cited above, specifically identifies where those national significance surf breaks are located:

(5) the nationally significant surf breaks at Karitane, Papatowai, The Spit, and Whareakeake and any regionally significant surf breaks.

- 102. The problem raised in opposition submissions was that there is no method specifying how surf breaks qualify to be identified as regional surf breaks, and no criteria exist in the PORPS to assist in that regard.
- 103. The s.42A response to that problem at paragraph 291 was to refer to the provisions of Policy 13(2)(c) of the NZCPS and Policy CE-P4 of the PORPS which each together might enable identification of areas of natural character requiring protection from inappropriate development. The conclusion reached was:

Therefore, in a general sense there is a mechanism within CE – P4 of the pORPS to identify and preserve surf breaks within the region that are not identified as nationally significant within Schedule 1 of the NZCPS. However, there is a growing body of research that highlights the need to provide greater protection of surf breaks within the RMA framework. This research has also developed a methodology for identifying surf breaks of regional significance (Atkin, Bryan, Hume, Mead, & Waiti, 2019).

- 104. However, that research methodology is not specified in the PORPS and no submission we are aware of sought its inclusion.
- 105. We are of the view that with no such mechanism or criteria for identification existing in the PORPS for regionally significant surf breaks, that it is not appropriate to have policies and methods providing for their protection and identification.

# 8.1 Recommendation

106. That all references to regionally significant surf breaks in CE-P2, CE-P7, and CE-M3(2), CE-M3(5)(b), CE-M4(10) and CE-M5(6) as follows:

CE–P2 – Identification Identify the following in the coastal environment:

(5) the nationally significant surf breaks at Karitane, Papatowai, The Spit, and Whareakeake and any regionally significant surf breaks.

...

Manage Otago's nationally and regionally significant surf breaks so that:

(1) nationally significant surf breaks are protected by avoiding adverse effects on the surf breaks, including on access to and use and enjoyment of them, and

(2) the values of and access to regionally significant surf breaks are maintained.

#### CE-M3 - Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans no later than 31 December 2028 to:

(1) map areas of deteriorated water quality in the coastal environment, in accordance with CE-P2(2) and CE-P2(3),

(2) map the areas and characteristics of, and access to, nationally and regionally significant surf breaks,

...

- (5) control the use and development of the coastal marine area, in order to:
  - (a) preserve the natural character; natural landscapes, features, and seascapes; and indigenous biodiversity of the coastal marine area in accordance with CE–P4, CE–P5 and CE–P6, and
  - (b) manage Otago's nationally and regionally significant surf breaks in accordance with CE- P7,

#### CE-M4 – District plans

Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:

•••

(10) provide access to nationally and regionally significant surf breaks, and

# Section 8: Land and Freshwater (LF)

- 1. LF-FW Fresh water
- 1.1. Integrated catchment management
- 1.1.1. Introduction
- 1. Beef + Lamb and DINZ, through the legal submissions of Dr Somerville and the opening statement of Ms Perkins, proposed a new policy on integrated catchment management be inserted in the LF-WAI section of the PORPS. Their proposed wording is as follows:

# LF-WAI-P3A – Integrated Catchment Management

- (1) When developing and implementing planning instruments to give effect to the objectives and policies in this policy statement through integrated management of land and freshwater, Otago Regional Council must actively engage with local communities and tangata whenua, at the rohe and catchment level,
- (2) Provide for integrated management at a catchment level by supporting the establishment of Integrated Catchment Management Groups that incorporate Otago Regional Council with local community and tangata whenua representatives, and
- (3) Progress and implement integrated management of catchments through the preparation of Catchment Action Plans by the Integrated Catchment Groups, in accordance with clause 3.15 of the NPSFM that:
  - (a) <u>develop visions, identify values and environmental outcomes for</u> Otago's catchments and the methods to achieve those outcomes, including as required by the NOF process,
  - (b) develop and implement actions that may be adapted over time with trigger points where additional regulatory and/or non-regulatory intervention is required,
  - (c) make recommendations on amendments that may be required to the provisions of this policy statement, including the visions and timeframes in the parent FMU, and any other changes necessary to achieve integrated catchment management pursuant to clauses 3.2(2) and 3.5(2) of the NPSFM
  - (d) at a local catchment level, encourage community initiatives to maintain or improve the health and well-being of waterbodies and their freshwater ecosystems, to meet the health needs of people, and enable the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future.

- 2. This proposed policy reflected the evidence from these submitters, along with those of OWRUG, that there is a substantial amount of freshwater improvement work being done across the region by established catchment groups. As we have previously discussed, we were impressed by the commitment and achievements of these groups. We heard that ORC staff already support and work with many of these groups and the submitters wanted these catchment-based approaches to be recognised through the PORPS.
- 3. Ms Boyd provided additional information in her reply report that discussed ORC's commitment to integrated catchment management through its Long term Plan 2021-31.<sup>1</sup> A pilot Catlins Integrated Catchment Group is underway and more groups are proposed to follow. From the information we received, this ORC-led approach is different to the more 'grass-roots', community-led approach that we heard about from the submitters. We consider that there is a place for both types of approaches.
- 4. Ms Boyd supports including a provision that addresses integrated management and considered whether the proposed provision should be a policy or a method. The Panel support her view that a method is more appropriate. The method proposed by Ms Boyd in her reply report is as follows:

## LF-FW-M8AA – Integrated catchment management

Otago Regional Council may:

- (1) <u>develop and implement an integrated catchment management programme</u> for the region, and
- (2) work in partnership with *mana whenua* and in collaboration with communities to develop catchment action plans that:
  - (a) collate and build on existing work in the catchment,
  - (b) incorporate science and mātauraka Māori, and
  - (c) identify and target effective environmental management actions.
- 5. The method recommended by Ms Boyd captures the catchment action plan approach included in the Long-term Plan but would not capture the established community-led groups that may not fit with the Council-led catchment action plan approach. We consider that the PORPS should acknowledge the role of both approaches and note that community initiatives at a local catchment level are recognised in the submitters' proposed clause (d). This is in part done through Ms Boyd's proposed clause (2)(a) but this is in relation to development of catchment action plans rather than on-the-ground delivery of these plans.
- 6. We propose adding the following clause to Ms Boyd's recommended wording to ensure that both approaches are captured:
  - (3) Encourage and support community initiatives, at varying catchment levels, that help to deliver catchment action plans.
- 7. This work will be dependent on funding and interest by mana whenua and local communities. The chapeau of this method includes the word 'may' which we consider is appropriate given these potential limitations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> FPI Reply Report of Ms Felicity Boyd, 15 September 2023, from para 78

- 1.1.2. Recommendation
- 8. We recommend the following new method be added to the LF-FW section:

LF-FW-M8AA – Integrated catchment management

Otago Regional Council may:

- (1) develop and implement an integrated catchment management programme for the region,
- (2) work in partnership with mana whenua and in collaboration with communities to develop catchment action plans that:
  - (a) collate and build on existing work in the catchments,
  - (b) incorporate science and mātauraka Māori, and
  - (c) identify and target effective environmental management actions, and
- (3) encourage and support community initiatives, at varying catchment levels, that help to deliver catchment action plans.
- 1.2. Wetland management
- 1.2.1. Introduction
- 9. We addressed the legal issues around wetland definitions in the Legal Issues section of Appendix Two. While we are not going to revisit that discussion in detail, a summary is needed here to put the discussion that follows into context. The issues primarily arise due to a requirement to address the RMA's broad approach to wetland protection and the NPSFM's more narrow approach through its focus on 'natural inland wetlands'.
- 10. The RMA has broadly defined 'wetland' in s.2 as:

**wetland** includes permanently or intermittently wet areas, shallow water, and land water margins that support a natural ecosystem of plants and animals that are adapted to wet conditions

- 11. Section 6(a) recognises and provides for 'the preservation of the natural character of ... wetlands ... from inappropriate subdivision, use and development' as a matter of national importance.
- 12. In addition to s.6 recognition in the RMA, the NZCPS includes provisions that apply to wetlands in the coastal environment, most specifically Policy 11(b). While earlier versions of the NPSFM included general, protective provisions which related to 'wetlands', the NPSFM 2020 contained more specific provisions with definitions of 'natural wetlands' and 'natural inland wetlands'.
- 13. The PORPS was notified under the original 2020 version of the NPSFM and later amended in response to the 2023 amendments to the NPSFM. As discussed in the Legal Issues section, the NPSFM amendments amalgamated the previous definitions of 'natural wetland' and 'natural inland wetland' into one definition of 'natural inland wetland'. The definition of 'natural inland wetland' introduced to the NPSFM in the 2023 amendments reads as follows:

natural inland wetland means a wetland (as defined in the Act) that is not:

(a) in the coastal marine area; or

(b) a deliberately constructed wetland, other than a wetland constructed to offset impacts on, or to restore, an existing or former natural inland wetland; or

(c) a wetland that has developed in or around a deliberately constructed water body, since the construction of the water body; or

(d) a geothermal wetland; or

(e) a wetland that:

(i) is within an area of pasture used for grazing; and

(ii) has vegetation cover comprising more than 50% exotic pasture species (as identified in the National List of Exotic Pasture Species using the Pasture Exclusion Assessment Methodology (see clause 1.8)); unless

(iii) the wetland is a location of a habitat of a threatened species identified under clause 3.8 of this National Policy Statement, in which case the exclusion in (e) does not apply

14. Policy 6 of the NPSFM places a strong emphasis on the protection of 'natural inland wetlands', as follows:

*Policy 6: There is no further loss of extent of natural inland wetlands, their values are protected, and their restoration is promoted.* 

15. Policy 6 is in part implemented by clause 3.22 of the NPSFM, which directs that a policy is included in regional plans with wording the same or similar to that provided in the clause. The opening wording of this policy states:

The loss of extent of natural inland wetlands is avoided, their values are protected, and their restoration is promoted, except where:...

- 16. The policy enables a 'loss of extent or values' in a natural inland wetland where that arises from a wide-ranging list of activities. The activities are, with one exception, subject to there being a functional need to locate the activity in the specified area and the effects of the activity being managed through applying the NPSFM effects management hierarchy (defined in clause 3.21).
- 17. Following some debate through the hearing process, we concluded in the 'Legal Issues' section of Appendix Two that there is no difference in stringency between the principles for the effects management hierarchies in the NPSFM and the NPSIB.
- 18. Turning back to the definition of 'natural inland wetland', as we stated in the 'Legal Issues' section of Appendix Two,

That new combined definition is intended to exclude some RMA defined wetlands from the detailed level of protection and restoration otherwise required by the NPSFM, and to provide a base for a closely controlled consent pathway in clause 3.22(1) of the NPSFM for some types of activities which are described in that subclause.

19. In response to what the report writers perceived as a gap between the NPSFM 'natural inland wetlands' and the RMA definition, the ORC officers proposed a definition for 'natural wetland' that is broader than the NPSFM 'natural inland wetland' definition, as follows:

*Natural wetland* means a wetland (as defined in the Act) that is not:

- (a) a deliberately constructed wetland, other than a wetland constructed to offset impacts on, or to restore, an existing or former natural wetland; or
- (b) a wetland that has developed in or around a deliberately constructed water body, since the construction of the water body.
- 20. The officers considered that the RMA definition arguably includes constructed wetlands, which can be built for purposes including stormwater or wastewater detention and treatment, and that such wetlands should be excluded from the pORPS provisions.
- 21. Ms Hunter for Oceana Gold expressed concern that the definitions, coupled with amendments to LF-FW-P9, "would likely result in a more onerous policy environment for activities where there may be 'natural wetlands' present, and likely result in significant costs to resource users which have not been properly quantified."<sup>2</sup> She considers that, as recommended, a broader level of protection would apply to 'natural wetlands' than to 'natural inland wetlands', which are proposed to be managed under clause 3.22 of the NPSFM and have the accompanying exemptions for activities. Ms Hunter considers that a "more appropriate approach would see the policy framework responding more specifically to the distinction between higher value "natural inland wetlands" and "natural wetlands"."<sup>3</sup>
- 22. The extent of wetland loss in Otago was not a matter of contention, with both historical losses and more recent losses being highlighted by Ms Boyd, Mr Couper for Fish and Game, Mr McKinlay for the Director General of Conservation, and numerous witnesses for Kāi Tahu. We heard evidence about the extent of loss of both wetland extent and condition. This has resulted from drainage predominantly for farmland as well as the introduction and spread of invasive species.
- 23. Submitters, including the Director General of Conservation and Fish and Game, highlighted the different types of high value wetlands that fall outside of the NPSFM definition of 'natural inland wetland'. The evidence in chief of Mr McKinlay for the Director General of Conservation addressed the importance of Otago's ephemeral wetlands and the values that they can hold.
- 24. Mr McKinlay drew our attention to the Upper Taiari and Paerau Wetland Scroll Plain complex, which he stated is unique in New Zealand and is 'the largest intact scroll plain complex in the Southern Hemisphere'<sup>4</sup>. The complex provides habitat for a wide range of indigenous flora and fauna. He goes on to state that there are three distinct categories of wetland within the complex: permanent river and lagoon, semi-permanent shallow, marshy areas, and temporary/ephemeral wetlands which exist for two months or less on average a year. Some categories would be considered as 'natural inland wetland' while others would not, potentially leading to inconsistent and inadequate management.

161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Supplementary evidence of Ms Claire Hunter for Oceana Gold, 18 August 2023, para 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ibid., para 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Evidence in Chief of Mr Bruce McKinlay for the Director General of Conservation, 23 November 2022, para 63.

162

- 25. Mr McKinlay also highlighted Otago's nationally significant inland saline ecosystems and referred us to a Wildlands Consultants report prepared for ORC.<sup>5</sup> He discussed the geology of these areas and the threatened plant, lichen and lepidoptera species that these areas support.<sup>6</sup>
- 26. We stated in the Legal Issues section that:

As we understand the concerns of the DOC witnesses and Ms Boyd, it is that areas like the Taiari scroll plain and other locations with ephemeral wetlands which are grazed will likely have significant aspects of ecological and hydrological importance which are exposed to potential degradation unless the RPS recognises those risks. In our view, the s.6 protection and the protection intended by policies 5 and 9 of the NPSFM is still able to be provided by the requirement for protection from inappropriate activities. The RPS can assist by the LF and/or the ECO chapter identifying particular values where development activities may be inappropriate. We consider that a better mechanism than attempting to insert a new definition of 'natural wetlands'.

## 27. We went on to conclude that:

"... the 'natural wetland' definition is superfluous, and worse that it is potentially raising the level of protection of all wetlands as defined to a level of absolute preservation and restoration through recommended Objective LF-FW-O9(3) and recommended policies LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10 which are beyond the outcomes intended by s.6(a) of the RMA. The recommended objective and the two recommended policies do not provide the qualifier of protection from inappropriate use and development that s.6(a) provides. Nor do they provide the consent pathways and the application of the effects management hierarchy that the provisions relating to natural inland wetlands apply. We are concerned that that strict absolute outcome provides a higher level of protection for wetlands exempted from the 'natural inland wetland' definition in the NPSFM than the protection level accorded to those falling within that definition. That means that the recommended PORPS provisions have the potential to be considered as being contrary to the overall scheme in the 2023 NPSFM as to the manner of treatment of non-coastal wetlands through the 'natural inland wetland' terminology and effects management hierarchy provisions.

28. We accept that constructed wetlands should not be subject to the same level of protections as 'natural' wetlands, however constructed wetlands would arguably not support *"a <u>natural</u> ecosystem of plants and animals that are adapted to wet conditions"* (Panel's emphasis) as per the RMA definition of 'wetland'. We also consider it unlikely that constructed wetlands would have a level of natural character that would justify being preserved as per s.6(a) of the RMA. We therefore do not consider that an exclusion for constructed wetlands is necessary.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Evidence in Chief of Mr Bruce McKinlay for the Director General of Conservation, 23 November 2022, para 79. <sup>6</sup> Ibid, para 80-85.

- 29. With these conclusions in mind, we turn to addressing the specific wetland management provisions of the LF-FW section. As notified, these provisions fall in both the non-FPI and FPI processes, as follows.
  - a. LF-FW-O9 Natural wetlands
  - b. LF-FW-P8 Identifying natural wetlands
  - c. LF-FW-P9 Protecting natural wetlands
  - d. LF-FW-P10 Restoring natural wetlands
  - e. LF-FW-AER AER11
- 1.2.2. LF-FW-O9
- 30. As notified, LF-FW-O9 reads as follows:

#### LF-FW-O9 – Natural wetlands

Otago's natural wetlands are protected or restored so that:

- (1) mahika kai and other mana whenua values are sustained and enhanced now and for future generations,
- (2) there is no decrease in the range and diversity of indigenous ecosystem types and habitats in natural wetlands,
- (3) there is no reduction in their ecosystem health, hydrological functioning, amenity values, extent or water quality, and if degraded they are improved, and
- (4) their flood attenuation capacity is maintained.
- 31. Four submitters supported LF-FW-O9 as notified, one sought its deletion and several submitters sought amendments. The amendments sought to include the following:
  - (a) Oceana Gold considered that the objective is unclear on what is to be achieved what the reference to the range of values means, what needs to be enhanced, and what the endpoint of enhancement is.
  - (b) The Director General of Conservation sought that ephemeral wetlands are specifically referenced, for the reasons discussed above.
  - (c) The Director General also sought the that 'protect or restore' is replaced with 'protect and restore', although the planning evidence of Mr Brass accepted that this does not need to be pursued.
  - (d) DairyNZ sought that wetlands only be restored only where they are degraded, and Oceana Gold sought that wetlands are 'protected, improved or restored'.
  - (e) Beef + Lamb and DINZ, Kāi Tahu ki Otago, and Ballance seek that 'range' be replaced with 'extent' in clause (2).

- (f) Ballance, NZSki, Realnz, Silver Fern Farms, and Fulton Hogan sought varying amendments to clauses (2) and (3) to reduce their stringency.
- (g) Beef + Lamb and DINZ sought that 'amenity values' be deleted from clause (3), considering that wetlands do not need to be aesthetically pleasing.
- (h) Wise Response sought that wetland flood attenuation capacity in clause (4) should be steadily improved rather than just maintained, while Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought reference to water storage capacity alongside flood attenuation capacity in clause (4).
- (i) DOC sought the addition of a new clause to recognise the importance of wetlands in providing habitat to mobile species such as waterfowl and rails.
- Federated Farmers sought that the objective be deleted, as it is inconsistent with the NPSFM and a duplication of provisions located in *ECO Ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity* chapter. We have dealt with these matters above and in the Legal Issues section.
- 33. Consistent with our determinations above, we are recommending that the PORPS does not use the term 'natural wetlands'. We agree with Oceana Gold that the objective is unclear, particularly as there are no benchmarks to guide whether it is being achieved.
- 34. We also find that LF-FW-O9, as notified, is not consistent with s.6(a) of the RMA through seeking protection or restoration of all 'natural wetlands', therefore not necessarily providing for appropriate subdivision, use and development. Our recommended amendments seek to clarify this.
- 35. We carefully considered whether to remove 'amenity values' from clause (3), as requested by Beef + Lamb and DINZ. Ms Boyd's s.42A report directs us to the RMA definition of 'amenity value' and, more importantly, to the definition of 'loss of values' in clause 3.21(1) of the NPSFM which the PORPS adopts. The latter definition includes 'amenity values' in the list of values in clause (b). While this definition applies to natural inland wetlands and rivers, we consider it appropriate to apply to the broader consideration of wetlands in LF-FW-O9.

## 1.2.2.1. Recommendation

36. The Panel recommends the following amendments to LF-FW-O9:

## LF-FW-O9 – Natural wWetlands

Otago's natural wetlands are protected from inappropriate subdivision, use and development and, where degraded, or restored restoration is promoted so that:

- (1) mahika kai and other mana whenua values are sustained and enhanced now and for future generations,
- (2) there is no <u>net</u> decrease, <u>and preferably an increase</u>, in the <u>range extent</u> and diversity of <u>wetland</u> indigenous ecosystem types and habitats <u>in natural</u> wetlands, and
- (3) there is no reduction <u>and, where degraded, there is an improvement</u> in their <u>wetland</u> ecosystem health, hydrological functioning, amenity values, extent or water quality, and <u>if degraded they are improved</u>, and
- (4) their flood attenuation <u>and water storage</u> capacity is maintained <u>or improved</u>.

- 'natural wetlands'.
  - 45. The relevant portion of the 2023 NPSFM definition of 'natural inland wetland' for LF-FW-P8 is:

Means a wetland (as defined in the Act) that is not:

#### Section 8: Land and Freshwater (LF) 145

- 37. As a consequential amendment, we recommend deleting the definition of 'natural wetland' from the PORPS. We note that the RMA definition of 'wetland' was included in the notified PORPS and it is appropriate that this remains.
- 38. As a further consequential amendment, we recommend deleting 'natural' from 'natural wetland' or wetlands' in other provisions in the PORPS, specifically LF-FW-M6(7), LF-VM-E2 paragraph 3 and LF-FW-AER11.
- LF-FW-P8 1.2.3.
- 39. As notified, LF-FW-P8 reads as follows:

#### LF–FW–P8 – Identifying natural wetlands

Identify and map *natural wetlands* that are:

- (1) 0.05 hectares or greater in extent, or
- (2) of a type that is naturally less than 0.05 hectares in extent (such as an ephemeral *wetland*) and known to contain threatened species.
- 40. QLDC, DCC, Kāi Tahu ki Otago, and CODC support LF-FW-P8 and seek to retain it as notified. Forest and Bird also support LF-FW-P8 but submitted that the policy should specify that mapping is to be completed by 2030.
- 41. Submissions by PWCG and Lloyd McCall sought that the wetland area in (2) is increased from 0.05 hectares to 1 hectare, while City Forests sought that it be increased to 0.25 hectares to be consistent with the NESPF. The 0.05 hectare area included in LF-FW-P8(1) is consistent with clause 3.23(1) of the NPSFM and we consider that increasing this area would result in the policy being inconsistent with the NPSFM.
- 42. As outlined above, the NPSFM approach to managing wetlands was amended after the s42A report and evidence in chief were prepared. The 2023 amendments to the NPSFM deleted the definition of 'natural wetland' and introduced a new definition of 'natural inland wetland' that is provided in paragraph 384 above. The amended definition of 'natural inland wetland' is narrower than that included in the NPSFM 2020 (and RMA) and is accompanied by an additional suite of clauses which provide consent pathways for urban development, mining, quarrying and landfills and clean-fills, in addition to specified infrastructure activities (which were provided for in the NPSFM 2020).
- 43. LF-FW-P8(1) and (2) replicate Clause 3.23(1)(a) and (b) of the NPSFM which did not change through the 2023 amendments. What did change in the PORPS is the recommended amendment in clause (1) from 'natural wetland' to 'natural inland wetland'. As discussed above, we consider that there are differences between the two.
- 44. Ms Boyd's supplementary evidence on the NPSFM 2023 amendments addressed the difference in the definitions but did not specifically consider the implications for LW-FW-P8. This policy was also not addressed in Ms Boyd's reply report, however was amended under Clause 16(2) of Schedule 1 of the RMA to apply to 'natural inland wetlands' rather than

... (a) a watlan

(e) a wetland that:
(i) is within an area of pasture used for grazing; and
(ii) has vegetation cover comprising more than 50% exotic pasture species (as identified in the National List of Exotic Pasture Species using the Pasture Exclusion Assessment Methodology (see clause 1.8)); unless
(iii) the wetland is a location of a habitat of a threatened species identified under clause

3.8 of this National Policy Statement, in which case the exclusion in (e) does not apply

- 46. The Director General of Conservation and Otago Fish and Game raised concerns about the large number of wetlands that would fall outside of the 'natural inland wetland' definition, many of which may provide habitat for threatened species. However, we point out that the presence of threatened species is one of the double negatives that is in the provision to ensure these are natural inland wetlands.
- 47. Ms Boyd, in her supplementary evidence for the FPI process on the implications of the NPSIB, recognised that some wetlands will "fall through the cracks" due to not being mapped or due to the prevalence of exotic pasture species. We agree with the Director General and Fish and Game that mapping is an important precursor to managing wetlands and will help to reduce the likelihood of some wetlands falling through the cracks. Broader mapping would also mean that the Council would be better able to give effect to s.6(a) of the RMA and Policies 5, 13 and 14 of the NPSFM.
- 48. A Wildland Consultants report on ecosystem mapping was provided as Appendix 13 to the s.32 report<sup>7</sup>. This Wildland report details the mapping of potential and actual natural terrestrial and wetland ecosystems using a methodology agreed to by regional councils across New Zealand. In relation to mapping of ephemeral wetlands, the report states at section 2.6:
- 49. Ephemeral wetlands were poorly mapped in existing layers such as LCDB and FENZ, as they generally occur at much smaller areas than the minimum mapping units of these classifications. However, ephemeral wetlands are in most cases easily distinguished in aerial imagery, and were mapped by hand digitisation across all parts of Otago where ephemeral wetlands occur. Almost 3,000 ephemeral wetlands were ultimately mapped. Very shallow ephemeral wetlands would be less easy to distinguish and are not likely to have been mapped, and other ephemeral wetlands where the wetland boundary is not sharp.
- 50. This section of the Wildland report goes onto conclude that:

The end result of these wetland ecosystem mapping approaches is wetland mapping of significantly better spatial and thematic resolution than any other existing regional scale mapping of wetlands.

- 51. It therefore appears that a comprehensive mapping exercise has been completed to a high level for all wetlands and not just 'natural inland wetlands'.
- 52. While we understand Ms Boyd's reason for recommending that LF-FW-P8 apply solely to 'natural inland wetlands', given the 2023 amendments to the NPSFM, we do not accept that the proposed change can be justified under Clause 16(2) of Schedule 1 of the RMA. Such an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Lloyd, K. (2020) Mapping of potential natural ecosystems and current ecosystems in Otago Region. Wildlands Consultants Contract Report No. 5015a prepared for Otago Regional Council.

- 53. As we explained in the Legal section to the Introduction to this Appendix Two report the legal situation is that a 'wetland' not falling within the definition of 'natural inland wetland' does not magically lose all RMA protection. It will still remain a defined 'wetland' under the RMA and the protective policies in the NPSFM still apply to it. What that means in practice is that for such wetlands falling outside the 'natural inland wetland' definition any proposed activity will still at law have to be assessed as to whether it is an inappropriate use or development under s.6(a) RMA. Moreover, it will have the protective policies applying to it under the NPSFM such as policies 5 and 9. The manner in which we have recommended the adoption of the RMA 'wetland' definition above, and the use of only that term in the heading and chapeau to the objective LF-FW-09 ensures that level of protection is addressed in both plan and consenting processes.
- 54. Care is needed in considering what is required by the NPSFM for both identification and mapping of wetlands and how that is reflected in the PORPS. Identification in the NPSFM is required by regional councils of both 'natural inland wetlands', (see cl.3.8(3)(e)), and importantly of 'the location of habitats of threatened species', (see cl.3.8(3)(c).
- 55. However, sub-clause 3.23(1) of the NPSFM refers to both identifying and mapping and commences by requiring:
  - (1) Every regional council must identify and map every natural inland wetland in its region that is:
    - (a) 0.05 hectares or greater in extent; or
    - (b) of a type that is naturally less than 0.05 hectares in extent (such as an ephemeral wetland) and known to contain threatened species.
- 56. In other words as the chapeau of cl. 3.23 in sub-clause(1) commences with reference only to identifying and mapping of every 'natural inland wetland' then sub-clauses (a) and (b) only appear to apply to 'natural inland wetlands'. That at first sight also appears to mean that in terms of cl.23(1) of the NPSFM those wetlands falling outside the definition of 'natural inland wetland' are not required to be identified or mapped.
- 57. But that becomes confused even further in that sub-clause 3.23(4) then states that all mapping must be completed within 10 years of commencement date and specifies the regional council must:
  - ... prioritise its mapping, for example by:
  - (a) first, mapping any wetland at risk of loss of extent or values; then
  - (b) mapping any wetland identified in a farm environment plan, or that may be affected by an application for , or a review of, a resource consent; then
  - (c) mapping all other natural inland wetlands of the kind described in subclause (1).
- 58. Whilst we acknowledge that the priority provided is stated in cl.23 (4) as being 'by way of example' it is still a mandatory requirement to carry out the mapping. The word used is 'must.' In the absence of any other priority being suggested in our view it must be followed.

- 59. The result is an unhappy state of confusion as to whether wetlands not falling within the definition of 'natural inland wetlands' are required to be mapped, but sub-clause 3.23(4) appears to expressly require that to be done.
- 60. Given that confusing statutory background we do recognise that in respect of policies like LF-FW-P8 as to both identification and mapping of wetlands, if that policy is restricted only to identification pursuant to cl.3.23(1) of the NPSFM as to 'natural inland wetlands', then some significant wetlands that fall within the exclusion of 'natural inland wetlands' may be overlooked in plan formulation and consenting processes. That is because an assumption may be made by some planners that the *R J Davidson Family Trust v Marlborough District Council* [2018] NZCA 316 decision means that higher level protection issues have been addressed in the RPS with no identification or mapping process needed for those sensitive areas. That would not be legally correct because as we have explained any 'wetland' still has the higher level protection as described above. Moreover, sub-clause 3.23(4) (a) also expressly requires them to be mapped. Therefore, out of an excess of caution to safeguard against that possibility we consider this identification and mapping policy in LF-FW-P8 needs another limb in addition to requiring identification and mapping solely of 'natural inland wetlands' as apparently required by cl.3.23(1) of the NPSFM.

## 1.2.3.1. Recommendation

61. In the amended wording we have recommended below we have addressed two other areas of significance – one as to threatened species and another as to extent. That recommended wording reflects the priority and wording specified in clause 3.23(4) of the NPSFM, which the regional council is bound at law to comply with, (but subject to the area limitations for 'natural inland wetlands' in sub-clause 3.23(1)). LF-FW-P8 should read:

## LF–FW–P8 – Identifying *natural wetlands*

By 3 September 2030, Identify identify and map natural wetlands that are:

- 1. any wetland at risk of loss of extent or values,
- 2 <u>any wetland identified in a farm environment plan, or that may be affected by</u> <u>an application for, or a review of, a resource consent, and</u>
- 3. <u>all other natural inland wetlands that are:</u>
  - (i) 0.05 hectares or greater in extent, or
  - (ii) of a type that is naturally less than 0.05 hectares in extent (such as an ephemeral *wetland*) and known to contain threatened species.
- 62. We make the closing observation that in terms of the s.32AA analysis we had earlier expressed concerns in the Legal section about not having enough information to decide cost issues as to identification and mapping if a 'natural wetlands' definition was adopted and applied in the PORPS. That issue does not arise with this recommended change above. The regional council is bound at law to comply with the NPSFM. What we have finally recommended for LF-FW-P8 is taken expressly from a combination of clauses 3.23(1) and (4) of that statutory instrument the NPSFM. We do not consider there is any discretion to depart from that legal obligation.

## 1.2.4. LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10

63. As notified, LF-FW-P9 reads as follows:

	LF-FW-P9 – Protecting natural wetlands					
	Protect natural wetlands by:					
	(1)	avoiding a reduction in their values or extent unless:				
		(a)	the <i>lo</i>	ass of values or extent arises from:		
			(i)	the customary harvest of food or resources undertaken in accordance with tikaka Māori,		
			(ii)	restoration activities,		
			(iii)	scientific research,		
			(iv)	the sustainable harvest of sphagnum moss,		
			(v)	the construction or maintenance of wetland utility structures,		
			(vi)	the maintenance of operation of <i>specific infrastructure</i> , or other infrastructure,		
			(vii)	natural hazard works, or		
		(b)	the R	egional Council is satisfied that:		
			(i)	the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of <i>specified infrastructure</i> ,		
			(ii)	the <i>specified infrastructure</i> will provide significant national or regional benefits,		
			(iii)	there is a <i>functional need</i> for the <i>specified infrastructure</i> in that location,		
			(iv)	the <i>effects</i> of the activity on indigenous <i>biodiversity</i> are managed by applying either ECO–P3 or ECO–P6 (whichever is applicable), and		
			(v)	the other <i>effects</i> of the activity (excluding those managed under (1)(b)(iv)) are managed by applying the <i>effects</i> <i>management hierarchy</i> , and		
	(2)	-	-	esource consents for activities under (1)(b) unless the Regional sfied that:		
		(a)	man	application demonstrates how each step of the <i>effects</i> agement hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) will be applied to loss of values or extent of the natural wetland, and		
		(b)	-	consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the <i>effects agement hierarchies</i> in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v).		
LF-FW-P10 was notified as follows:						

LF-FW-P10 – Restoring natural wetlands

Improve the ecosystem health, hydrological functioning, water quality and extent of

64.

- (1) an increase in the extent and quality of habitat for indigenous species,
- (2) the restoration of hydrological processes,
- (3) control of pest species and vegetation clearance, and
- (4) the exclusion of stock.
- 65. As notified, LF-FW-P9 largely reflected clause 3.22 of the 2020 version of the NPSFM. The key differences are: the split between protection in LF-FW-P9 and restoration in LF-FW-P10, whereas clause 3.22 addresses both; and the reference in LF-FW-P9 to the biodiversity effects management hierarchy in the ECO chapter rather than the NPSFM effects management hierarchy. The 2023 amendments to the NPSFM resulted in LF-FW-P9 becoming more stringent than the updated requirements, with the addition of Clause 3.22(1)(c)-(f) in the NPSFM. Following consideration of submissions and evidence, including in the context of the 2023 NPSFM amendments, Ms Boyd recommended substantial amendments to LF-FW-P9 as follows:

# LF-FW-P9 – Protecting *natural wetlands*

# Protect natural wetlands by:

- (1) in the coastal environment, managing them in accordance with the NZCPS in addition to (2) or (3) below,
- (2) except as provided for by (3), managing activities to ensure they maintain or enhance the ecosystem health, indigenous biodiversity values, and hydrological functioning of *natural wetlands*,
- (3) for natural inland wetlands, implementing clause 3.22(1) to (3) of the NPSFM.
- 66. Clause (2) of the revised recommended LF-FW-P9 was developed through discussions between Mr Farrell for Fish and Game, Mr Brass for the Director-General of Conservation, Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, Ms Bartlett for Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku, and Ms Boyd for ORC. The intent of the clause is to provide flexibility for the LWRP to manage different activities in different ways, provided activities are collectively achieving a common outcome. We acknowledge the collaborative efforts of the parties.
- 67. Parties including Oceana Gold raised concerns that LF-FW-P9 was stricter for wetlands that are not considered to be natural inland wetlands. We acknowledge that this could be the case and consider that the wording proposed in clause (2) is problematic. This clause could be interpreted to directly link an activity to its effects on a specific wetland and require the listed values of that wetland to be managed. This would close the door to approaches such as compensation and offsetting. In addition, clause (2) would apply to all activities without having the exceptions provided by clause 3.22 of the NPSFM, or the s.6(a) of the RMA qualifier of protection *"from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development"*.
- 68. The Panel considers that, for the reasons discussed above, the exceptions in clause 3.22 should also apply to those wetlands that aren't 'natural inland wetlands'. This would provide for the effects management hierarchy to apply to proposed activities that could affect such wetlands, for such activities to need to demonstrate a functional need to be in the proposed location, and for there to be significant national or regional benefits from these activities.

- 69. It is also important here to refer to Policy 5 and Policy 9 of the NPSFM, which we discussed in the Legal Issues section. These refer to water bodies and freshwater ecosystems, and habitats of freshwater indigenous species, respectively. The RMA definition of 'water body' includes 'freshwater' in a 'wetland', with 'freshwater' including 'all water except coastal water and geothermal water'.
- 70. Given that a water body includes a wetland, we also have to give effect to Policy 5 and Policy 9 of the NPSFM. In short, wetland health needs to be improved where it is degraded and otherwise maintained, and the habitats of freshwater indigenous species are to be protected. Policies 5 and 9 of the NPSFM are implemented through LF-FW-P7 clauses (1) and (2) respectively, which we discuss later in this section of our report, but we must ensure that the wetland provisions are consistent with these national directions.
- 71. Whereas LF-FW-P9 deals with protecting natural wetlands, LF-FW-P10 addresses restoring natural wetlands. Both protecting and restoring are part of Policy 6 and clause 3.22(1) of the NPSFM, in relation to 'natural inland wetlands'. Policy 6 reads:

**Policy 6:** There is no further loss of extent of natural inland wetlands, their values are protected, and their restoration is promoted.

- 72. The 'no further loss of extent' component of Policy 6, which is largely mirrored by clause 3.22(1), is implemented through clause (3) of LF-FW-P9 which refers to clause 3.22(1) to (3) and only applies to 'natural inland wetlands'. Clause (2) of LF-FW-P9 also indirectly addresses the 'no further loss of extent' through its expression to 'maintain or enhance'. We are therefore satisfied that policies LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10 give effect to the NPSFM.
- 73. We do question whether there needs to be separate protect and restore policies, or whether the same could be achieved through one policy relating to managing natural wetlands. LF-FW-P9 is not strictly about natural wetland protection given the reasonably long list of exceptions that are provided through clause 3.22(1) of the NPSFM. Similarly, LF-FW-P10 is not restricted to restoration but is also about managing wetlands to retain their existing values (for example, through controlling pest species and vegetation clearance in clause (3)).
- 74. Ms Boyd notes in her s.42A report that some aspects of clause 3.22(4) of the NPSFM are not addressed through LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10, namely Māori freshwater values, and amenity values. Clause 3.22(4) of the NPSFM states:

Every regional council must make or change its regional plan to include objectives, policies, and methods that provide for and promote the restoration of natural inland wetlands in its region, with a particular focus on restoring the values of ecosystem health, indigenous biodiversity, hydrological functioning, Māori freshwater values, and amenity values.

75. While this clause applies to a regional plan and not a regional policy statement, we note that all the matters of focus that are listed are addressed in LF-FW-O9. These matters will also need to be considered where the NPSFM effects management hierarchy applies to a proposed activity. Ms Boyd advises<sup>8</sup> that no submitter sought amendments to add Māori freshwater values and amenity values to LF-FW-P9 and LF-LW-P10. However, as these provisions are part of the freshwater process, we can recommend amendments that are outside the scope of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> S.42A report of Ms Felicity Boyd, para 1475.

submissions. We consider that addition of Māori freshwater values and amenity values would aid to implement LF-FW-O9 and ensure that the PORPS is consistent with the NPSFM.

- 76. Some submitters sought changes to the chapeau of LF-FW-P10 to either reduce or increase its stringency. Policy 6 and clause 3.22(1) of the NPSFM require that restoration of natural inland wetlands is 'promoted', while clause 3.22(4) requires regional plans to include provisions that "provide for and promote" restoration. The notified version of LF-FW-P10 uses the term 'requiring, where possible' and, following consideration of submissions and evidence, Mr Boyd recommended that this be amended to 'requiring, to the greatest extent practicable'. It is important to note that LF-FW-P10 applies to improving the values and extent of wetlands that have been degraded or lost and is likely to be applied through non-regulatory methods. It will not apply to more intact, high value wetlands.
- 77. Policy 6 of the NPSFM requires a halt to the loss of extent and the protection of values (of natural inland wetlands) but there is no <u>requirement</u> to increase wetland extent. We are concerned about a potentially strict interpretation of 'requiring' in a regulatory sense and, while we acknowledge the importance of wetland restoration, we consider that 'promoted' is an appropriate term to use in the PORPS. It's relevant here to note that Policy 5 of the NPSFM is to improve the health and well-being of water bodies "if communities choose".
- 78. Turning to clause (4)(d) of LF-FW-P10, Beef + Lamb and DINZ, Federated Farmers and John Highton consider that some sheep grazing can be beneficial to wetland health and referenced the Stock Exclusion Regulations as already managing this issue (sheep were deliberately excluded from the regulations). We accept these submissions and refer particularly to the evidence of Emma Crutchley for OWRUG and Federated Farmers, who considers that stock access *"can cause water quality issues but they also control aggressive pasture species and weeds enhancing natural character and hydrology"*. From the evidence, we accept that sheep grazing in certain circumstances can be a useful tool for managing pasture and weed species, and we do not consider that the door should be shut to this. No wording has been proposed so we have recommended an amendment in line with the evidence.

## 1.2.4.1. Recommendation

79. We recommend deleting LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10 as notified and replacing it with the following:

## LF-FW-P10A – Managing wetlands

Otago's wetlands are managed:

- (1) in the coastal environment, in accordance with the NZCPS in addition to (2) and (3) below,
- (2) by applying clause 3.22(1) to (3) of the NPSFM to all wetlands, and
- (3) to improve the ecosystem health, hydrological functioning and extent of wetlands that have been degraded or lost by promoting:
  - (a) an increase in the extent and condition of habitat for indigenous species,
  - (b) the restoration of hydrological processes,
  - (c) control of pest species and vegetation clearance, and
  - (d) the exclusion of stock, except where stock grazing is used to enhance wetland values.

#### 1.2.5. LF-FW-O8 – Fresh water and LF-FW-P7 – Fresh water

#### 80. As notified, LF-FW-O8 reads:

#### LF-FW-O8 – Fresh water

In Otago's water bodies and their catchments:

- (1) the health of the wai supports the health of the people and thriving mahika kai,
- (2) water flow is continuous throughout the whole system,
- (3) the interconnection of *fresh water* (including *groundwater*) and *coastal waters* is recognised,
- (4) native fish can migrate easily and as naturally as possible and taoka species and their habitats are protected, and
- (5) the significant and outstanding values of Otago's *outstanding water bodies* are identified and protected.
- 81. Ms Boyd recommended deleting LF-FW-O8 and moving most of its content to LF-FW-O1A. We accepted the addition of LF-FW-O1A, albeit with some amendments, and agree that retaining LF-FW-O8, with the exception of clause (5), would result in unnecessary duplication. We therefore accept Ms Boyd's recommendation to delete LF-FW-O8.
- 82. As notified, LF-FW-P7 reads:

#### LF-FW-P7 – Fresh water

*Environmental outcomes, attribute* states (including target *attribute* states) and limits ensure that:

- (1) the health and well-being of *water bodies* is maintained or, if *degraded*, improved,
- (2) the habitats of indigenous species associated with *water bodies* are protected, including by providing for fish passage,
- (3) *specified rivers and lakes* are suitable for primary contact within the following timeframes:
  - (a) by 2030, 90% of rivers and 98% of lakes, and
  - (b) by 2040, 95% of rivers and 100% of lakes, and
- (4) mahika kai and drinking water are safe for human consumption,
- (5) existing *over-allocation* is phased out and future *over-allocation* is avoided, and
- (6) *fresh water* is allocated within environmental limits and used efficiently.
- 83. After considering the submissions and evidence, Ms Boyd recommended the following amendments in her s.42A report:

#### LF-FW-P7 – Fresh water

*Environmental outcomes, attribute* states (including target *attribute* states), <u>environmental flows and levels</u>, and limits ensure that:

- (1) the health and well-being of *water bodies* is maintained or, if *degraded*, improved,
- (2) the habitats of indigenous <u>freshwater</u> species <del>associated</del> with *water bodies* are protected <u>and sustained</u>, including by providing for fish passage,
- (2A) the habitats of trout and salmon are protected insofar as this is consistent with (2),
- (3) *specified rivers and lakes* are suitable for primary contact within the following timeframes:
  - (a) by 2030, 90% of *rivers* and 98% of *lakes*, and
  - (b) by 2040, 95% of *rivers* and 100% of *lakes*, and
- (4) <u>resources harvested from water bodies including</u> mahika kai and drinking water are safe for human consumption, <u>and</u>
- (5) existing over-allocation is phased out and future over-allocation is avoided., and
- (6) *fresh water* is allocated within environmental *limits* and used efficiently.
- 84. A number of submitters raised concerns about the phrase 'protected and sustained' in clause (2). Meridian and Oceana Gold considered that this clause should only apply to 'significant indigenous species, with Oceana Gold also requesting that the protection requirement be replaced with 'maintain and enhance. Similarly, Horticulture NZ suggests 'maintain and improve'. Conversely, Fish and Game consider that restoration should be required as well as protection, and Contact and Kāi Tahu favour habitats to be sustained as well as protected.
- 85. We agree with Ms Boyd's assertion that use of the word 'protection' is consistent with the NPSFM, specifically Policy 9 which reads:

**Policy 9:** The habitats of indigenous freshwater species are protected.

- 86. We do not accept the submitters' requests to remove reference to 'protected', as softening this policy would result in the PORPS being less stringent than Policy 9.
- 87. Continuing with clause (2), Ballance seeks an amendment to refer to 'indigenous freshwater species', rather than the broader reference to 'indigenous species associated with water bodies'. Ballance consider this terminology to be more consistent with Policy 9 and Clause 3.26 of the NPSFM, which we acknowledge that it is.
- 88. This proposed amendment was challenged in the evidence of Ms McIntyre from Kāi Tahu. Ms McIntyre considers that such a rewording "could exclude species such as water and wading birds that do not spend all their time in the water but are still reliant on the health of the water body for some part of their life stages".<sup>9</sup> We consider this is an important point and, similar to the view of Ms Boyd, irrespective of the wording in Policy 9 we favour Ms McIntyre's evidence. We support the amendment that Ms Boyd has recommended to clause (2) in this regard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Evidence in chief of Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahu, para 78(a).

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

89. Considering other submissions, we adopt the recommendations and reasoning of Ms Boyd. There were a number of submissions on clauses (5) and 6) requesting additional direction on the allocation and use of water. Ms Boyd has recommended deleting these clauses and that an additional policy, LF-FW-P7A, be inserted to address water allocation and use. We support this recommendation and discuss LF-FW-P7A below.

1.2.6. LF-FW-P7A – Water allocation and use

90. LF-FW-7A was recommended by Ms Boyd in the Freshwater Hearing s.42A report as follows:<sup>10</sup>

LF-FW-P7A – Water allocation and use

Within *limits* and in accordance with any relevant environmental flows and levels, the benefits of using *fresh water* are recognised and *over-allocation* is either phased out or avoided by:

- (1) allocating *fresh water* efficiently to support the social, economic, and cultural well-being of people and communities to the extent possible within *limits*, including for:
  - (a) <u>community drinking water supplies</u>,
  - (b) renewable electricity generation, and
  - (c) land-based primary production,
- (2) ensuring that no more *fresh water* is abstracted than is necessary for its intended use,
- (3) ensuring that the efficiency of *freshwater* abstraction, storage, and conveyancing *infrastructure* is improved, including by providing for off-stream storage capacity, and
- (4) providing for spatial and temporal sharing of allocated *fresh water* between uses and users where feasible.
- 91. As highlighted above, LF-FW-P7A was recommended in response to submissions on LF-FW-P7(5) and (6). Given its late introduction through the s42A report, there was substantial discussion on this policy at the hearing. Some of these submitters sought amendments that would prioritise allocation to specific uses or uses based on efficiency of water use. These submitters were essentially asking that LF-FW-P7A specify what uses would be considered as priority (2) of Te Mana o Te Wai. We have addressed this previously in the Legal Issues section where we determined that it is not appropriate for the PORPS to determine what activities are to be considered as priority (2) or (3). We therefore do not accept submissions for such determinations in LF-FW-P7A.
- 92. Ms Styles for Manawa Energy has requested additional recognition of the use of water for REG in LF-FW-P7A to give effect to the NPS-REG.<sup>11</sup> In response to questions from the Panel, Ms Styles amended her proposed wording in clause (1) as follows (amendments in addition to those in her EIC are in red):

(1) allocating fresh water efficiently to support the social, economic, and cultural well-being of people and communities to the extent possible within limits, including **prioritising** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> S.42A report prepared for the Freshwater Hearings, para 1417.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Evidence in Chief of Ms Styles for Manawa Energy, para 8.21-8.27.

#### allocation of available fresh water for:

(a) community drinking water supplies, **and** 

(b) maintaining existing generation output and capacity and future generation from existing renewable electricity generation schemes, and then

(c) land-based primary production, and then (d) other commercial and industrial uses, ...

- 93. We do not support including the phrase "prioritising allocation of available fresh water" in clause (1), as we consider that this is akin to the prioritisation that was discussed in the previous paragraph. In addition, such a phrase as proposed would apply to all uses listed in clause (1) and not just to REG. We note that LF-FW-P7A would need to considered alongside the provisions in the EIT chapter which give effect to the enabling stance of the NPS-REG for REG activities. We do support Ms Styles' amendments to clause (1)(b), as we consider that limiting this provision to existing REG is consistent with the visions.
- 94. The policy as proposed in the s.42A report did not address water harvesting and storage. In response to submissions by Horticulture NZ, the Chair invited them to file a memorandum that suggests policy wording to address this gap.<sup>12</sup> Mr Hodgson for Horticulture NZ proposed amendments to LF-FM-P7A, LF- VM-M3, and LF-FW-M6. However, LF-VM-M3 is not an FPI provision and Ms Boyd did not recommend a consequential amendment through the non-FPI process, as it occurred prior. Ms Boyd accepted Mr Hodgson's proposed amendments to LF-FM-P7A and LF-FW-M6, with some amendments to ensure consistency with other provisions. We accept these changes and the reasoning of Horticulture NZ and Ms Boyd. We consider that LF-VM-M3 should also be amended to ensure consistency and address this in relation to this method.
- 95. The Panel is unclear how water would be allocated for 'aspirations' in clause (2)(c). We consider that 'aspirations' does not provide sufficient certainty and recommend that this clause read as "mana whenua customary or cultural needs and activities". We consider that this amendment is consistent with the relief sought by Kāi Tahu ki Otago.
- 96. Ms Hunter for Oceana Gold requested that 'land based primary production' in clause (2)(d) be amended to 'primary production' so that it also includes mining and quarrying and associated processing and production.<sup>13</sup> Ms Boyd considers that in community feedback on the freshwater visions, such activities *"were not highlighted as being important region-wide in the way that pastoral, arable and horticultural activities were*".<sup>14</sup> While we accept this, we acknowledge the importance of mining and quarrying at a regional level and the requirement of these activities for water. For these reasons, we accept Ms Hunter's proposed amendment.

## 1.2.6.1. Recommendation

97. We recommend the following wording for LF-FW-P7A:

#### LF-FW-P7A – Water allocation and use

Within *limits* and in accordance with any relevant environmental flows and levels, the benefits of using *fresh water* are recognised and *over-allocation* is either phased out or avoided by:

(1) managing over-allocation as set out in LF-FW-M6,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Memorandum of counsel for Horticulture NZ dated 13 September 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Evidence in Chief of Ms Hunter for Oceana Gold, paras 48-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> FPI Reply Report of Ms Boyd, para 144.

- allocating fresh water efficiently to support the social, economic, and (2) cultural well-being of people and communities, including for: community drinking water supplies, (a) (b) maintaining generation output and capacity from existing *renewable* electricity generation schemes, mana whenua customary or cultural needs and activities, and (c) (d) primary production, (3) ensuring that no more *fresh water* is abstracted than is necessary for its intended use, ensuring that the efficiency of *freshwater* abstraction, storage, and (4) conveyancing infrastructure is improved, (5) providing for the harvesting and storage of *fresh water* to meet increasing demand for water, to manage water scarcity conditions and to provide resilience to the *effects* of *climate change*, and providing for spatial and temporal sharing of allocated fresh water between (6) uses and users where feasible.
- 98. We recommend the follow consequential change to LF-FW-M6:

LF–FW–M6 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water *Regional Plan* no later than 31 December 2023 and, after it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

...

(5A) provide for the allocation and use of *fresh water* in accordance with LF-FW-P7A, including for *water* harvesting and storage,

...

# 1.3. Outstanding water bodies

- 1.3.1. LF–FW–P11 Identifying outstanding water bodies
- 99. Outstanding water bodies are addressed through LF-FW-P11 and LF-FW-P12 and LF-FW-M5. LF-FW-P11 and LF-FW-M5 refer to the criteria for identifying outstanding water bodies that are provided in APP1. We discuss each of these provisions in turn below.
- 100. LF-FW-P11 was notified as follows:<sup>15</sup>

## LF–FW–P11 – Identifying *outstanding water bodies*

Otago's outstanding water bodies are:

- (1) the Kawarau River and tributaries described in the Water Conservation (Kawarau) Order 1997,
- (2) Lake Wanaka and the outflow and tributaries described in the Lake Wanaka

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> S.42A report prepared for the Freshwater Hearings, para 1417.

Preservation Act 1973,

- (3) any *water bodies* identified as being wholly or partly within an outstanding natural feature or landscape in accordance with NFL–P1, and
- (4) any other *water bodies* identified in accordance with APP1.
- 101. Once again confusion arises in this LF-FW area between the two processes in respect of these related water body provisions now under consideration here. LF-FW-P11 as to outstanding water bodies, LF-FW-P12 as to identifying and managing those water bodies, LF-FW-P13 as to protecting instream values, LF-FW-P14 as to instream values, and LF-FW-M5 as to outstanding water bodies are not shaded blue as FPI provisions. (Nor was the definition of 'effects management hierarchy' in the notified version shaded blue as part of the FPI, despite it specifically adopting the NPSFM definition in that respect.) These are so integrally freshwater issues located in the LF-FW chapter, (even the very title used is 'FW' i.e. freshwater), that we have dealt with the subject matter in this Appendix Two report. This is a classic illustration of the reason why, out of caution, because of the lack of shading, we have also formally included this consideration of those provisions in the non-freshwater report in Appendix One as well.
- 102. There were several submissions on LF-FW-P11, including three in support and several seeking amendments. Ms Boyd recommended deleting clause (3) in response to submissions by Beef + Lamb and DINZ and Federated Farmers. We consider this to be appropriate and agree with the submitters that being wholly or partly in an outstanding natural feature or landscape does not necessarily mean that a waterbody is outstanding. We agree with Ms Boyd's amendments and reasoning provided in her s.42A report and Reply Report and do not discuss LF-FW-P11 further.

## 1.3.1.1. Recommendation

103. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-P11:

## LF-FW-P11 – Identifying <u>Otago's</u> outstanding water bodies

Otago's outstanding water bodies are:

- (1) the Kawarau River and tributaries described in the Water Conservation (Kawarau) Order 1997,
- (2) Lake Wanaka and the outflow and tributaries described in the Lake Wanaka Preservation Act 1973, and
- (3) any water bodies identified as being wholly or partly within an outstanding natural feature or landscape in accordance with NFL-P1, and
- (4) any other *water bodies* identified in accordance with APP1.

## 1.3.2. LF-FW-P12 – Protecting outstanding water bodies

104. Turning to LF-FW-P12, as notified this provision reads:

#### LF–FW–P12 – Protecting outstanding water bodies

The significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies are:

(1) identified in the relevant regional and district plans, and

- (2) protected by avoiding adverse effects on those values.
- 105. Forest and Bird and Federated Farmers expressed concern that LF-FW-P12 was not well aligned with Policy 8 of the NPSFM, which reads:

Policy 8: The significant values of outstanding water bodies are protected.

- 106. As notified, LF-FW-P12 requires the significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies to be identified, rather than identifying outstanding water bodies and protecting their significant values. We agree with the submitters that there are differences between the two provisions. We also agree with Ms Boyd that *"if significant values must be protected then to my mind it is consistent to apply the same requirement to outstanding values"*.
- 107. We do not agree with Meridian Energy who considers there is no difference between outstanding values and significant values. They sought to delete references to "outstanding values" in LF-FW-P12 and LF-FW-M5. The Panel's view is that outstanding is a 'higher' classification than significant and therefore, by default, any value that is outstanding would also be significant and therefore requiring protection under Policy 8 of the NPSFM.
- 108. Several submitters sought a way through the 'protected' restriction in Policy 8 of the NPSFM, requesting varying relief to qualify the protection or manage effects to a certain level. Similarly, OWRUG, Aurora Energy, Waka Kotahi, and Transpower sought a pathway for infrastructure that may have an operational and functional need to operate in a way that would affect an outstanding waterbody. We consider that the 'protective' direction of Policy 8 of the NPSFM is clear and do not consider that we can 'water down' the requirements in the ways proposed by submitters.
- 109. Relevant to this, the NPSFM defined 'outstanding waterbody' as follows:

**outstanding water body** means a water body, or part of a water body, identified in a regional policy statement, a regional plan, or a water conservation order as having one or more outstanding values.

110. It therefore follows that outstanding values have to be identified in order to determine whether a waterbody is outstanding. To achieve Policy 8 of the NPSFM, significant values would also have to be identified for such waterbodies to enable the protection of those significant values.

#### 1.3.2.1. Recommendation

111. We accept Ms Boyd's final recommended wording for LF-FW-P12 in her Reply Report and recommend the following amendments:

#### LF-FW-P12 – Protecting Identifying and managing outstanding water bodies

The significant and outstanding values of *outstanding water bodies* are:

(1) identified in the relevant regional and district plans, and

(2) protected by avoiding adverse *effects* on those values.

Identify *outstanding water bodies* and their significant and outstanding values in the relevant *regional plans* and *district plans* and protect those values.

112. LF-FW-M5 sets out the process for identifying outstanding waterbodies and was notified as follows:

#### LF–FW–M5 – Outstanding water bodies

No later than 31 December 2023, Otago Regional Council must:

- undertake a review based on existing information and develop a list of *water* bodies likely to contain outstanding values, including those *water* bodies listed in LF-VM-P6,
- (2) identify the outstanding values of those *water bodies* (if any) in accordance with APP1,
- (3) consult with the public during the identification process,
- (4) map *outstanding water bodies* and identify their outstanding and significant values in the relevant *regional plan(s)*, and
- (5) include provisions in *regional plans* to avoid the adverse effects of activities on the significant and outstanding values of *outstanding water bodies*.
- 113. We generally agree with the analyses of submissions and Ms Boyd's recommended amendments as per her Reply report and the 10 October 2023 version of the PORPS. We note that the date in the chapeau has not been recommended to change, and our understanding is that the work to identify outstanding waterbodies has largely been completed by ORC. That said, clauses (4) and (5) of LF-FW-M5 are to map outstanding waterbodies in the relevant regional plan and include provisions to protect the significant and outstanding waterbodies, respectively. Our understanding is that the date that the regional plan will be publicly notified is uncertain and we consider it appropriate to delete the date requirement in the chapeau to reflect this. This would be consistent with other references in the PORPS that refer to regional plan requirements, including LF-FW-M6.

1.3.3.1. Recommendation

114. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-M5:

#### LF-FW-M5 – Outstanding water bodies

No later than 31 December 2023, Otago Regional Council must:

- in partnership with Kāi Tahu, undertake a review based on existing information and develop a list of *water bodies* likely to contain outstanding values, including those *water bodies* listed in LF-VM-P6 LF-FW-P11,
- (2) identify the outstanding values of those *water bodies* (if any) in accordance with APP1,
- (3) consult with the public <u>and relevant local authorities</u> during the identification process,
- (4) map *outstanding water bodies* and identify their outstanding and significant values in the relevant *regional plan(s),* and

(5) include provisions in *regional plans* that protect to avoid the adverse effects of activities on the significant and outstanding values of *outstanding water bodies*.

#### 1.3.4. APP1 – Criteria for identifying outstanding waterbodies

- 115. Turning to APP1, several submissions were received on APP1 which sought to improve the clarity of the criteria. In her s.42A report Ms Boyd recommended accepting Manawa Energy's submission to replace the notified APP1 criteria with those adopted in Hawke's Bay Regional Council's Plan Change 7. Following responses by parties in evidence and at the hearing, Ms Boyd changed her recommendation to that of amending the notified APP1 criteria rather than adopting the Hawkes Bay criteria.
- 116. Concerns were raised by submitters in evidence about use of the Hawkes Bay criteria, particularly by the Director General for Conservation and Fish and Game. The evidence of Dr Richarson for the Director General considered that the notified APP1 provided for more expert evaluation and interpretation.<sup>16</sup> She expressed concern about the ecological considerations in the Hawke's Bay criteria and considered that aspects weren't relevant to the Otago region. Her recommendations were supported by Mr Brass for the Director General, who helpfully provided suggested amendments to APP1.
- 117. The evidence of Mr Couper and Mr Paragreen for Fish and Game discussed their concerns with the Hawke's Bay criteria for recreation<sup>17</sup> and, in his statement to the LF hearing, Mr Paragreen also helpfully provided tracked amendments to APP1 to address their concerns.<sup>18</sup>
- 118. As mentioned previously, Ms Boyd also explained to us, both at the hearing and in her Reply Report, that ORC staff have done a considerable amount of work to determine outstanding waterbodies against the notified criteria and that changing to the Hawkes Bay criteria would mean that at least some of this work would need to be redone. We support her recommendation to retain and modify the notified APP1, rather than adopting the Hawkes Bay criteria.
- 119. Of importance, Kāi Tahu ki Otago and Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku sought that the reference to cultural and spiritual values be deleted, as ranking waterbodies does not reflect the relationship of Kāi Tahu with water. The two submitters sought different relief: Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought an addition to Table 4 to ensure that the cultural and spiritual values are recognised and protected for the waterbodies that are identified using APP1; while Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku sought to separate the outstanding waterbody process from the process for developing wāhi tupuna relevant to waterbodies, noting that wāhi tūpuna should be identified through APP7 identifying wāhi tūpuna.
- 120. The Hawkes Bay criteria do not include consideration of cultural and spiritual values and Ms McIntyre stated at the hearing that:

The s. 42A report recommendation to change the criteria for identification of outstanding waterbodies resolved this problem by adopting a set of criteria that does not include cultural and spiritual values ... If the recommendation is reversed, then the Kai Tahu submissions on this matter will also need to be considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Dr Marine Richarson for DOC, para 123-127

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Jayde Couper for Fish and Game, paras [146]-[157]; Nigel Paragreen for Fish and Game, para [125]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Opening statement of Nigel Paragreen for LF hearing, Appendix 2

- 121. We note that in the absence of a values criterion for cultural and spiritual values, LF-FW-P12 (and NPSFM Policy 8) would still require that significant cultural and spiritual values are protected for each waterbody that is identified as outstanding the criteria in APP1 are only for identifying outstanding waterbodies and are not to be used to identify the significant values of those outstanding waterbodies. It is Policy 8 of the NPSFM that requires that significant values of outstanding waterbodies are protected, i.e. there will be more significant values for a waterbody that is identified as outstanding through APP1. Therefore, while the absence of a criterion would mean that waterbodies would not be ranked according to their cultural and spiritual values, it would not mean that such values would go unprotected. We recognise the importance of APP7 in assisting to identify these significant values, as part of the process of identifying wāhi tūpuna.
- 122. Ms Boyd has recommended amendments to APP1 following consideration of submissions and evidence. We accept these recommendations, with the following amendments:
  - (a) For landscape values, deletion of 'high' in clause (2), as criteria should relate to outstanding rather than high values;
  - (b) Similarly, for natural character values, delete 'high' from the introductory sentence in the description.

#### 1.3.4.1. Recommendation

123. We recommend the following amendments to APP1 – Criteria for outstanding waterbodies, which are consistent with those recommended in the 10 October 2023 version of the PORPS.

#### APP1 – Criteria for identifying outstanding water bodies

*Outstanding water bodies* include any *water body* with one or more of the following outstanding values, noting that sub-values are not all-inclusive:

Values	Description	Example sub-values
<del>Cultural and</del> <del>spiritual</del>	A water body which has outstanding cultural and spiritual values.	Wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, wai tapu, rohe boundary, battle sites, pa, kāika, tauraka waka, mahika kai, pa tuna; and acknowledged in korero tuku iho, pepeha, whakatauki or waiata
Ecology	<ul> <li>A water body which has outstanding ecological value as a habitat for:</li> <li>Native birds</li> <li>Native fish</li> <li>Salmonid fish</li> <li>Other aquatic species</li> </ul>	Native birds, native fish, native plants, aquatic macroinvertebrates
Landscape	A water body <u>that:</u> (1) is an essential which forms a key component of a landscape <u>or natural feature</u> that is "conspicuous, eminent, remarkable or iconic" within the region, <u>and or is critical to an</u> outstanding natural feature.	Scenic, association, natural characteristics (includes hydrological, ecological and geological features)

Table 1 - Values of outstanding water bodies

Natural character	<ul> <li>(2) has landscape, wild and/or scenic values that contain distinctive qualities which are outstanding in the context of the region.</li> <li>A water body with high naturalness that:         <ul> <li>(1) exhibits an exceptional combination of natural processes, natural patterns and natural elements with low levels of modification to its form, ecosystems and the surrounding landscape that is exceptional in the context of the region, and</li> <li>(2) has little to no human modification to its form, ecosystems, and the surrounding landscape.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Natural characteristics (includes hydrological, ecological and geological features)
Recreation	A <i>water body</i> which is recognised as providing an outstanding recreational experience for an activity which is directly related to the <i>water</i> .	Angling, fishing, kayaking, rafting, jetboating
Physical	A water body which has an outstanding geomorphological, geological or hydrological feature which is dependent on the water body's condition and functioning.	Science

## 1.4. Natural character and instream values

- 124. Natural character and instream values are addressed through LF-FW-P13 and LF-FW-P14. We discuss each of these provisions in turn below.
- 1.4.1. LF-FW-P13 Preserving natural character and in stream values
- 125. LF-FW-P13 was notified as follows:

#### LF–FW–P13 – Preserving natural character

Preserve the natural character of *lakes* and *rivers* and their *beds* and margins by:

- (1) avoiding the *loss of values* or extent of a *river*, unless:
  - (a) there is a *functional need* for the activity in that location, and
    - (b) the *effects* of the activity are managed by applying:
      - (i) for *effects* on indigenous *biodiversity*, either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and
      - (ii) for other effects, the effects management hierarchy,
- (2) not granting resource consent for activities in (1) unless Otago Regional Council is satisfied that:
  - (a) the application demonstrates how each step of the *effects* management hierarchies in (1)(b) will be applied to the *loss of values* or extent of the *river*, and

- (b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the *effects* management hierarchies in (1)(b),
- (3) establishing environmental flow and level regimes and *water* quality standards that support the health and well-being of the *water body*,
- (4) wherever possible, sustaining the form and function of a *water body* that reflects its natural behaviours,
- (5) recognising and implementing the restrictions in Water Conservation Orders,
- (6) preventing the impounding or control of the level of Lake Wanaka,
- (7) preventing modification that would reduce the braided character of a *river*, and
- (8) controlling the use of *water* and *land* that would adversely affect the natural character of the *water body*.
- 126. This provision attracted over 40 submission points which have some common themes. These include:
  - (a) That the policy should recognise instream values alongside natural character;
  - (b) Concerns about clause (1)(b) which refers to 'functional need';
  - (c) How the effects management hierarchy is referred to in clause (2);
  - (d) Exclusions for regionally significant infrastructure;
  - (e) Requests to have a separate policy for environmental flows and levels (clause (3));
  - (f) Providing for some modification of natural character, particularly if it is associated with mitigating risks to health and safety; and
  - (g) An additional clause that addresses the values of riparian margins.
- 127. Ms Boyd recommended a number of amendments to LF-FW-P13, which are presented in the PORPS version dated 10 October 2023 and with reasoning in her s42A report, supplementary evidence and reply report.<sup>19</sup> Barring one exception which we address below, we agree with her recommendations and reasons and recognise that some of the amendments are discussed elsewhere in our report. These include amendments to the reference to the effects management hierarchy in clause (2), which we address in Legal Issues section, and the provision for regional infrastructure which we address in the EIT section of our report.
- 128. Kāi Tahu ki Otago's requested addition of a new clause that specifically related to riparian margins was discussed in Ms Boyd's Reply Report.<sup>20</sup> Ms Boyd recommended:

... I am not convinced that listing the specific outcomes to be achieved from maintaining or enhancing the values of riparian margins is necessary. In my view, there are many

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> S42A Report 1: Introduction and general themes, para 1095-1124; Fourth brief of supplementary evidence of Felicity Ann Boyd, LF – Land and freshwater (NPSFM amendments), dated 24 February 2023; Reply Report from para170.
 <sup>20</sup> Paras 174-175 and 178-179

- 129. This recommendation is not incorporated into the recommended amendment to clause (9) in Ms Boyd's Reply Report or in the PORPS version dated 10 October 2023. In any event, we prefer the additional phrase 'supporting natural flow behaviour' that Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahu proposed at the hearing.<sup>22</sup> We consider that the addition of this phrase, and retaining the proposed wording after 'riparian margins', will assist to clarify the intent of the clause.
- 130. We have considered the appropriateness of LF-FW-P13(2)(c) referring to 'Appendix 6 and 7 of the NPSFM' rather than these appendices being included as appendices in the PORPS. Our view is that these should be included as PORPS appendices, both to provide additional certainty to the policy and to be consistent with the ECO chapter, where Appendix 3 and 4 of the NPSIB are included as APP3 and APP4 of the PORPS. Therefore we have recommended that Appendix 6 and 7 of the NPSFM are included in the PORPS as APP4A and APP4B, with the wording of LF-FW-P13(2)(c) amended accordingly.

1.4.1.1. Recommendation

131. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-P13:

#### LF-FW-P13 – Preserving natural character and instream values

Preserve the natural character <u>and instream values</u> of *lakes* and *rivers* and <u>the natural</u> <u>character of</u> their *beds* and margins by:

- (1) avoiding the *loss of values* or extent of a *river*, unless:
  - (a) there is a *functional need* for the activity in that location, and
  - (b) the *effects* of the activity are managed by applying:
    - (i) for *effects* on indigenous *biodiversity*, either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and
    - (ii) for other effects the effects management hierarchy (in relation to natural inland wetlands and rivers),
- (2) not granting *resource consent* for activities in (1) unless Otago Regional Council the consent authority is satisfied that:
  - (a) the application demonstrates how each step of the *effects management hierarchies* in (1)(b) *effects management hierarchy (in relation to natural inland wetlands and rivers)* will be applied to the *loss of values* or extent of the *river*, and
  - (b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the <u>effects</u> <u>management hierarchies in (1)(b)</u> <u>effects management hierarchy (in</u> <u>relation to natural inland wetlands and rivers) in respect of any loss of</u> <u>values or extent of the river</u>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Para 178

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, Appendix 2

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- (c) if aquatic offsetting or aquatic compensation is applied, the applicant has complied with principles 1 to 6 in APP4A and APP4B, and has had regard to the remaining principles in APP4A and APP4B, as appropriate, and
- (d) if aquatic offsetting or aquatic compensation is applied, any consent granted is subject to conditions that will ensure that the offsetting or compensation will be maintained and managed over time to achieve the conservation outcomes,
- (3) establishing environmental flow and level regimes and *water* quality standards that support the health and well-being of the *water body*,
- (4) wherever possible to the extent practicable, sustaining the form and function of a *water body* that reflects its natural behaviours,
- (5) recognising and implementing the restrictions in Water Conservation Orders,
- (6) preventing the impounding or control of the level of Lake Wanaka,
- (7) preventing modification that would <u>permanently</u> reduce the braided character of a *river*, <del>and</del>
- (8) controlling the use of *water* and *land* that would adversely affect the natural character of the *water body-*, and
- (9) maintaining or enhancing the values of riparian margins to support habitat and biodiversity, reduce contaminant loss to water bodies and support natural flow behaviour.
- 132. We also recommend that Appendix 6 of the NPSFM is included in the PORPS as APP4A and Appendix 7 of the NPSFM is included in the PORPS as APP4B.
- 1.4.2. LF-FW-P14 Restoring natural character and instream values
- 133. LF-FW-P14 was notified as follows:

## LF–FW–P14 – Restoring natural character

Where the natural character of *lakes* and *rivers* and their margins has been reduced or lost, promote actions that:

- (1) restore a form and function that reflect the natural behaviours of the *water body*,
- (2) improve *water* quality or quantity where it is *degraded*,
- (3) increase the presence, *resilience* and abundance of indigenous flora and fauna, including by providing for fish passage within *river* systems,
- (4) improve *water body* margins by naturalising bank contours and establishing indigenous vegetation and habitat, and
- (5) restore *water* pathways and natural connectivity between *water* systems.

- 134. Submissions on LF-FW-P14 varied from support for the notified provision, to requests to make the provision more directive by replacing 'promote' with 'require', to relaxing the provision by replacing 'promote' with 'support' or 'encourage' or adding 'where practicable'.
- 135. We consider that 'promoting' is appropriate for a restoration policy such as LF-FW-P14. Instances where restoration is required should be determined through the regional plan, for example where restoration is needed to meet desired environmental outcomes. We do not have the information before us to determine such requirements and do not consider that a blanket requirement is appropriate. Conversely, we do not see a material difference between 'promoting' and 'supporting' or 'encouraging', and consider that 'where practicable' is more appropriate for directive provisions.
- 136. Many of the submission points have been accepted by Ms Boyd, either in full or in part, and we consider that these amendments strengthen the intent and clarity of the policy. The submission points that have not been accepted seek, in many instances, to soften the policy. For example, Contact and OWRUG consider that restoring some waterbodies would result in significant adverse effects. We acknowledge that restoring a highly modified waterway such as the Clutha-Mata-au would not be a feasible proposition, however the policy is not determinative and there would likely be actions that could improve the natural character and instream values of the Clutha-Mata-au. We discussed this earlier in relation to LF-VM-O2 Clutha Mata-au vision.

#### 1.4.2.1. Recommendation

137. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-P14:

#### LF-FW-P14 – Restoring natural character and instream values

Where the natural character <u>or instream values</u> of *lakes* and *rivers* <del>and</del> <u>or the natural</u> <u>character of</u> their margins has been reduced or lost, promote actions that, <u>where</u> <u>practicable</u>:

- (1) restore a form and function that reflect the natural behaviours of the *water body*,
- (2) improve *water* quality or quantity where it is *degraded*,
- (3) increase the presence, resilience and abundance of indigenous flora and fauna, including by providing for fish passage within river systems and, where necessary and appropriate, creating fish barriers to prevent incursions from undesirable species,
- (4) improve *water body* margins by naturalising bank contours and establishing *indigenous vegetation* and habitat, and
- (5) restore *water* pathways and natural connectivity between <u>and within</u> *water* systems.

## 1.5. Stormwater, animal effluent and wastewater

138. LF-FW-P15 was notified as follows:

#### LF–FW–P15 – *Stormwater* and *wastewater* discharges

(1) except as required by LF–VM–O2 and LF–VM–O4, preferring *discharges* of *wastewater* to *land* over *discharges* to *water*, unless adverse *effects* associated with a *discharge* to *land* are greater than a *discharge* to *water*, and

- (2) requiring:
  - (a) all sewage, industrial or trade waste to be *discharged* into a reticulated *wastewater* system, where one is available,
  - (b) all *stormwater* to be *discharged* into a reticulated system, where one is available,
  - (c) implementation of methods to progressively reduce the frequency and volume of wet weather overflows and minimise the likelihood of dry weather overflows occurring for reticulated *stormwater* and *wastewater* systems,
  - (d) on-site *wastewater* systems to be designed and operated in accordance with best practice standards,
  - (e) *stormwater* and *wastewater discharges* to meet any applicable water quality standards set for *FMUs* and/or rohe, and
  - (f) the use of water sensitive urban design techniques to avoid or mitigate the potential adverse *effects* of *contaminants* on receiving *water bodies* from the *subdivision*, use or development of *land*, wherever practicable, and
- (3) promoting the reticulation of stormwater and wastewater in urban areas.
- 139. DOC, Fonterra, DCC, Ravensdown, and Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought that LF-FW-P15 be split into two policies. The submitters' requests varied, with Fonterra considering that industrial and trade waste should be included in the direction on stormwater, while DCC, Ravensdown, and Kāi Tahu ki Otago considering that it should be included with wastewater. Ms Boyd's s.42A report recommended that LF-FW-P15 address stormwater, while a new policy LF-FW-P16 be included to address animal effluent, sewage and industrial and trade waste.<sup>23</sup> Ms Tait for Fonterra considered that this split was appropriate but sought that the title and wording of LF-FW-P16 should also include greywater.
- 140. We agree with the general proposition that stormwater and wastewater should be the subject of separate policies. Ms Boyd's s.42A report directed us to the National Planning Standards definition of industrial and trade waste, which reads:

liquid waste, with or without matter in suspension, from the receipt, manufacture or processing of materials as part of a commercial, industrial or trade process, but excludes sewage and greywater.

141. We agree with Ms Boyd that the contaminants and treatment associated with industrial and trade waste are more closely aligned with wastewater than stormwater and support their inclusion in LF-FW-P16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> At para 1552.

142. Turning to greywater, we note that 'wastewater' is defined by the National Planning Standards and in the PORPS as follows:

Means any combination of two or more the [sic] following wastes: sewage, greywater or industrial and trade waste.

- 143. The proposed policy split sees LF-FW-P16 addressing animal effluent, sewage, and industrial and trade waste, in place of wastewater that was included alongside stormwater in the notified LF-FW-P15.
- 144. Industrial and trade waste is defined in the National Planning Standards, and in the pORPS, as:

liquid waste, with or without matter in suspension, from the receipt, manufacture or processing of materials as part of a commercial, industrial or trade process, <u>but excludes</u> <u>sewage and greywater.</u>

[Panel's emphasis]

145. Sewage is defined in the National Planning Standards, and in the pORPS, as:

Means human excrement and urine.

- 146. The definition of sewage therefore also excludes greywater.
- 147. We consider that Ms Tait for Fonterra has a justified concern that greywater is excluded. We support her recommended amendments to include greywater in the heading and in the chapeau of LF-FW-P16.<sup>24</sup> We note that greywater would be addressed by the policy wording by its inclusion in the definition of 'wastewater', a term which is used in clauses (2)(d) to (e) and clause (3). We agree with Ms Tait that a consequential change is required to include greywater in LF-FW-M6(8). A further consequential change is needed to insert the National Planning Standard definition of greywater into the Interpretation section of the PORPS.
- 148. Unsurprisingly, there was considerable discussion in evidence and at the hearing about whether there should be some provision for direct wastewater overflows to surface water. We heard from Kāi Tahu ki Otago witnesses that direct discharges of human or animal effluent to surface water are unacceptable, with Mr Ellison stating that:

The discharge of human waste to water is contrary to tikaka and kawa and renders affected waterways inaccessible for customary practices such as harvesting and eating mahika kai or using water for cultural purposes and rituals.<sup>25</sup>

149. Mr Ellison provided the example of wastewater discharging from the Waihola wastewater treatment plant into the Waihora (Lake Waihola) outflow channel. Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahu told us that change in practice away from direct discharge has been slow in Otago and she considers that the qualifier "to the greatest extent possible" in clause (1) of LF-FW-P16 "does not recognise the strength of the concern about the impact of these discharges on mauri".<sup>26</sup> She sought that this phrase be deleted from clause (1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Evidence in chief of Ms Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para 7.15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Evidence in chief of Mr Edward Ellison for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, para. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Evidence in chief of Ms Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, para. 73.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- 150. We heard from DCC about the degraded state of their three waters infrastructure, with Ms Moffat (DCC 3 Waters Planning Manager) providing a useful overview. <sup>27</sup> She stated that over 50 per cent of DCC's infrastructure is expected to require renewal by 2060. She discussed the Council's 3 Waters Strategic Direction Statement 2010-2060 and told us that \$3.6 billion would need to be invested in the next 30 years to maintain the existing levels of service.
- 151. The DCC operates seven wastewater treatment plants and hold four resource consents to discharge wastewater overflow to waterways or the coast. These overflows operate during heavy rain when stormwater and/or groundwater enters wastewater pipes. The overflows are part of the system design, with the alternative being the back-up of wastewater onto private property. While Ms Moffat outlined the Council's commitment to reducing direct discharges to freshwater, we acknowledge that this is a long-term project.
- 152. Mr Simon Mason from QLDC informed us that the four wastewater plants in the Queenstown district discharge to land, although he acknowledged that the Shotover treatment plant discharges into gravels in close proximity to the river. Waitaki District Council, Clutha District Council and Central Otago District Council did not submit on the FPI however Ms Boyd's Table 1 of her Opening Statement provided a useful summary of municipal wastewater discharges in the Otago Region.<sup>28</sup> It shows that these smaller councils all have consented wastewater discharges to freshwater, with Clutha and Central Otago District Councils each having several.
- 153. We also heard from Fonterra about the importance of their Stirling processing plant and the difficulties they have disposing of wastewater. Mr Watt's evidence stated that Fonterra are consented to discharge up to 3,700 m3/day of treated wastewater from the plant into the Clutha Mata-Au, with the consent expiring in 2043.<sup>29</sup> Mr Watt told us that, while discharge volumes and contaminant concentrations have reduced with upgrades to the plant and Fonterra continue to investigate improvement options, the steep topography and wet soils surrounding the site make land disposal challenging.<sup>30</sup>
- 154. We support phasing out direct discharges of wastewater to surface water and acknowledge the impact that these discharges have on Kāi Tahu values. Ms McIntyre pragmatically acknowledged at the hearing that only a certain amount of progress can be made in 10 years and, from the evidence that we have received from DCC and Fonterra, we have concluded that full removal of such discharges is not feasible within the lifetime of this RPS.
- 155. That said, we consider that the PORPS should send a clear signal that such discharges are to be phased out. We consider that this is achieved by clause (1). Some submitters suggested that 'to the greatest extent possible' be replaced with 'to the greatest extent practicable'. We consider that the use of 'to the extent practicable' is appropriate, primarily to ensure consistency with LF-FW-O1A(8) which we have discussed earlier.
- 156. Turning to the LF-FW-M6, our understanding is that the date that the regional plan is to be publicly notified is uncertain and we consider it appropriate to delete the date requirement in the chapeau to reflect this. This is consistent with our approach to LF-FW-M5 and LF-LS-M11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Evidence in chief of Ms Zoe Moffat for DCC, paras. 47-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Opening Statement of Ms Felicity Boyd, 28 August 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Evidence in chief of Mr Morgan Watt for Fonterra, para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Evidence in chief of Mr Morgan Watt for Fonterra, para. 29

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

#### 1.5.1. Recommendation

157. Other than the points discussed above, we adopt the recommendations and reasoning of Ms Boyd. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-P15:

LF-FW-P15 – Stormwater and wastewater discharges

Minimise the adverse *effects* of direct and indirect *discharges* of *stormwater* and <del>wastewater</del> to *fresh water* by:

- (1) except as required by LF-VM-O2 and LF-VM-O4, preferring discharges of wastewater to land over discharges to water, unless adverse effects associated with a discharge to land are greater than a discharge to water, and
- (2) requiring:
  - (a) all sewage, industrial or trade waste to be discharged into a reticulated wastewater system, where one is available,
  - (ab) integrated catchment management plans for management of stormwater in urban areas,
  - (b) all stormwater to be discharged into a reticulated system, where one is made available by the operator of the reticulated system, unless alternative treatment and disposal methods will result in the same or improved outcomes for fresh water,
  - (c) implementation of methods to progressively reduce <u>unintentional</u> <u>stormwater inflows to</u> the frequency and volume of wet weather overflows and minimise the likelihood of dry weather overflows occurring for reticulated stormwater and wastewater systems,
  - (d) on-site wastewater systems to be designed and operated in accordance with best practice standards,
  - (e) <u>that any stormwater and wastewater discharges do not prevent water</u> <u>bodies from to</u> meeting any applicable water quality standards set for *FMUs* and/or rohe, and
  - (f) the use of water sensitive urban design techniques to avoid or mitigate the potential adverse effects of contaminants on receiving water bodies from the subdivision, use or development of land, wherever practicable, and
- (3) promoting the reticulation of *stormwater* and wastewater in *urban areas* where appropriate-, and
- (4) promoting source control as a method for reducing *contaminants* in <u>discharges</u> and the use of good practice guidelines for managing *stormwater*.

#### 1.5.2. Recommendation

158. We recommend the following amendments to new LF-FW-P16 recommended in the Reply Report:

<u>LF-FW-P16 – Discharges containing animal effluent, sewage, greywater and industrial and trade waste</u>

Minimise the adverse *effects* of direct and indirect *discharges* containing animal effluent, *sewage*, *greywater* and *industrial* and *trade* waste to *fresh* water by:

- (1) phasing out existing *discharges* containing *sewage* or *industrial and trade waste* directly to water to the extent practicable,
- (2) requiring:
  - (a) <u>new discharges containing sewage or industrial and trade waste to be</u> to land,
  - (b) *discharges* of animal effluent from *land-based primary production* to be to *land*,
  - (c)that all discharges containing sewage or industrial and trade waste are<br/>discharged into a reticulated wastewater system, where one is made<br/>available by its owner, unless alternative treatment and disposal<br/>methods will result in improved outcomes for fresh water,
  - (d) implementation of methods to progressively reduce the frequency and volume of wet weather overflows and minimise the likelihood of dry weather overflows occurring from reticulated *wastewater* systems,
  - (e) on-site *wastewater* systems and animal effluent systems to be designed and operated in accordance with best practice standards,
  - (f) that any *discharges* do not prevent *water bodies* from meeting any applicable water quality standards set for FMUs and/or rohe,
- (3) to the greatest extent practicable, requiring the reticulation of *wastewater* in *urban areas*, and
- (4) promoting source control as a method for reducing *contaminants* in <u>discharges.</u>

#### 1.5.3. Recommendation

159. We recommend a consequential change to include the definition of greywater in the Interpretation section as follows:

Greywater	has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below)	
	means liquid waste from domestic sources including sinks, basins, baths, showers and similar fixtures, but does not include <i>sewage</i> , or <i>industrial and trade waste</i> .	

#### 1.5.4. Recommendation

160. We recommend a further consequential change is required to include 'greywater' in LF-FW-M6(8) as follows: Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water *Regional Plan* no later than 31 December 2023 and, after it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

...

(8) manage the adverse *effects* of *stormwater* and *wastewater* <u>discharges</u> <u>containing</u> <u>animal effluent</u>, *sewage*, *greywater* or *industrial and trade waste* in accordance with LF-FW-P15 <u>and LF-FW-P16</u>, and-

...

## 1.6. LF-VM-M3 – Community involvement

161. LF-VM-M3 was notified as follows:

#### LF–VM–M3 – Community involvement

Otago Regional Council must work with communities to achieve the objectives and policies in this chapter, including by:

- (1) engaging with communities to identify *environmental outcomes* for Otago's *FMUs* and rohe and the methods to achieve those outcomes,
- (2) encouraging community stewardship of *water* resources and programmes to address *freshwater* issues at a local catchment level,
- (3) supporting community initiatives that contribute to maintaining or improving the health and well-being of *water bodies*, and
- (4) supporting industry-led guidelines, codes of practice and environmental accords where these would contribute to achieving the objectives of this RPS.
- 162. This method is intended to implement provisions that are part of the freshwater process, including the vision objectives, LF-FW P7, LF-FW-P7A and some wetland provisions, and non-freshwater process, for example natural character and outstanding water body provisions.
- 163. Some submitters sought amendments to clause (1) to more directly reference the requirements of the NPSFM National Objectives Framework, including in identifying attributes, target attribute states, timeframes for achieving target attribute states, limits, and action plans. The notified clause (1) refers to environmental outcomes, which are defined in the NPSFM and the PORPS as follows:

means, in relation to a value that applies to an FMU or part of an FMU, a desired outcome that a regional council identifies and then includes as an objective in its regional plan.

164. Environmental outcomes are expressed in Clause 3.9 of the NPSFM, whereby regional councils must identify values that apply to an FMU or part of an FMU (clauses (1) and (2)) and identify an environmental outcome for each of these values (clause 3). These are to be expressed as an objective(s) in the regional plan (clause (4). Once the values and environmental outcomes are determined, the NPSFM requires attributes and their baseline states to be identified

(clause 3.10), target attribute states set (clause 3.11), limits set (clause 3.12) and action plans prepared (clause 3.15).

- 165. We agree with Ms Boyd that there is no need to specify these requirements, but that reference to 'values' in clause (1) alongside 'environment outcomes' is appropriate. This better reflects clause 3.9 of the NPSFM which then applies to the next steps in the NOF process.
- 166. The Panel is in agreement with Ms Boyd's recommended amendments and reasons for LF-VM-M3.
- 167. We also addressed LF-VM-M3 in the FPI report in our discussion on LF-FW-P7A. We considered that a consequential amendment to LF-VM-M3 to add clause (4A) is appropriate for consistency with recommended amendments to freshwater provisions LF-FW-P7A and LF-FW-M6. These amendments were in response to a request by Mr Hodgson for Horticulture NZ as part of the freshwater process.

#### 1.6.1. Recommendation

168. We therefore recommend the following consequential change to LF-VM-M3.

#### LF-VM-M3 – Community involvement

Otago Regional Council must work with <u>Kāi Tahu and</u> communities to achieve the objectives and policies in this chapter, including by:

- engaging with <u>Kāi Tahu</u>, communities <u>and stakeholders</u> to identify <u>values and</u> environmental outcomes for Otago's FMUs and rohe and the methods to achieve those outcomes,
- (2) encouraging community stewardship of *water* resources and programmes to address *freshwater* issues at a local catchment level, <u>including through</u> catchment groups,
- (3) supporting community initiatives, industry-led guidelines, codes of practice and <u>environmental accords</u>that contribute to maintaining or improving the health and well-being of *water bodies*, and
- (4) supporting industry-led guidelines, codes of practice and environmental accords where these would contribute to achieving the objectives of this RPS.
- (4A) education, advocacy and co-ordination to encourage efficient use of freshwater, including water harvesting, use of storage and consideration of alternative water supply.

## 1.7. LF-FW-M6 – Regional plans

169. LF-FW-M6 was notified as follows:

#### LF–FW–M6 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water *Regional Plan* no later than 31 December 2023 and, after it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

(1) identify the compulsory and, if relevant, other values for each Freshwater

Management Unit,

- (2) state *environmental outcomes* as objectives in accordance with clause 3.9 of the NPSFM,
- (3) identify *water bodies* that are *over-allocated* in terms of either their *water* quality or quantity,
- (4) include environmental flow and level regimes for *water bodies* (including *groundwater*) that give effect to *Te Mana o te Wai* and provide for:
  - (a) the behaviours of the *water body* including a base flow or level that provides for variability,
  - (b) healthy and resilient mahika kai,
  - (c) the needs of indigenous fauna, including taoka species, and aquatic species associated with the *water body*,
  - (d) the hydrological connection with other *water bodies*, estuaries and coastal margins,
  - (e) the traditional and contemporary relationship of Kāi Tahu to the *water body*, and
  - (f) community *drinking water* supplies, and
- (5) include limits on resource use that:
  - (a) differentiate between types of uses, including *drinking water*, and social, cultural and economic uses, in order to provide long-term certainty in relation to those uses of available *water*,
  - (b) for *water bodies* that have been identified as *over-allocated*, provide methods and timeframes for phasing out that *over-allocation*,
  - (c) control the *effects* of existing and potential future development on the ability of the *water body* to meet, or continue to meet, *environmental outcomes*,
  - (d) manage the adverse *effects* on *water bodies* that can arise from the use and development of *land*, and
- (6) provide for the off-stream storage of surface *water* where storage will:
  - (a) support Te Mana o te Wai,
  - (b) give effect to the objectives and policies of the LF chapter of this RPS, and
  - (c) not prevent a surface *water body* from achieving identified *environmental outcomes* and remaining within any limits on resource use, and
- identify and manage *natural wetlands* in accordance with LF–FW–P7, LF– FW– P8 and LF–FW–P9 while recognising that some activities in and around *natural wetlands* are managed under the NESF, and
- (8) manage the adverse *effects* of *stormwater* and *wastewater* in accordance with LF–FW–P15.

- 170. This method pertains to the regional plan which is the main regulatory document that will implement the land and water provisions in the PORPS. A number of amendments were requested through submissions and evidence, many of which are consequential to requested changes to objective and/or policy wording, to plug gaps in references to policies, or to improve consistency with the NPSFM. We have discussed many of these matters already in this section. The s.42A recommended changes in response include:
  - (a) Deleting notified clauses (1), (2), (4) and (5) and replacing them with a new clause (1A) to *"implement the required steps in the NOF process in accordance with the NPSFM"*;
  - (b) Amending clause (3) to better reflect the methods to address over-allocation;
  - (c) Adding a new clause (5A) to implement the new recommended policy LF-FW-P7A regarding allocation and use of water;
  - (d) Amending the policy references in clause (7) to delete LF-FW-P8 and include LF-FW-P10, and include reference to the NPSPF in this clause; and
  - (e) Consequential amendments to clause (8) to add reference to LF-FW-P16 to reflect the splitting of LF-FW-P15.
- 171. Some submitters, for example McArthur Ridge and COWA, sought amendments that would result in allocation priority for certain water use activities based on water use efficiency or industry type. We consider that such considerations are better addressed through the NOF process with resulting provisions included in a regional plan. Such submissions are also dangerously close to seeking what uses would be considered as priority (2) of Te Mana o Te Wai. We have addressed this previously in this section in relation to LF-FW-P7A and in the Legal Issues section, where we determined that it is not appropriate for the PORPS to determine what activities are to be considered as priority (2) or (3). We therefore do not accept submissions for such determinations in LF-FW-M6.
- 1.7.1. Recommendation
- 172. We recommend the following amendments to LF-FW-M6:

## LF-FW-M6 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water *Regional Plan* no later than 31 December 2023 and, after it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

- (1A) implement the required steps in the NOF process in accordance with the <u>NPSFM</u>,
- (1) identify the compulsory and, if relevant, other values for each *Freshwater Management Unit*,
- (2) state *environmental outcomes* as objectives in accordance with clause 3.9 of the NPSFM,
- (3) identify water bodies that are over-allocated in terms of either their water quality or quantity and the methods and timeframes for phasing out that over-

allocation (including through environmental flows and levels and *limits*) within the timeframes required to achieve the relevant *freshwater* vision,

- (4) include environmental flow and level regimes for *water bodies* (including *groundwater*) that give effect to *Te Mana o te Wai* and provide for:
  - (a) the behaviours of the *water body* including a base flow or level that provides for variability,
  - (b) healthy and resilient mahika kai,
  - (c) the needs of indigenous fauna, including taoka species, and aquatic species associated with the water body,
  - (d) the hydrological connection with other *water bodies*, estuaries and coastal margins,
  - (e) the traditional and contemporary relationship of Kāi Tahu to the *water body*, and
  - (f) community drinking water supplies, and
- (5A) provide for the allocation and use of *fresh water* in accordance with LF-FW-P7A, including by providing for off-stream water storage,
- (5) include *limits on resource use* that:
  - (a) differentiate between types of uses, including *drinking water*, and social, cultural and economic uses, in order to provide long term certainty in relation to those uses of available *water*,
  - (b) for *water bodies* that have been identified as *over-allocated*, provide methods and timeframes for phasing out that *over-allocation*,
  - (c) control the *effects* of existing and potential future development on the ability of the *water body* to meet, or continue to meet, *environmental outcomes*,
  - (d) manage the adverse *effects* on *water bodies* that can arise from the use and development of *land*, and
- (6) provide for the off-stream storage of surface water where storage will:
  - (a) support Te Mana o te Wai,
  - (b) give effect to the objectives and policies of the LF chapter of this RPS, and
  - (c) not prevent a surface water body from achieving identified environmental outcomes and remaining within any limits on resource use, and
- (7) identify and manage natural wetlands in accordance with LF-FW-P7, LF-FW-P8 and LF-FW-P9 and LF-FW-P10 while recognising that some activities in and around natural wetlands are managed under the NESF and the NESPF, and

- (8) manage the adverse *effects* of *stormwater* and *wastewater* <u>discharges</u> <u>containing animal effluent</u>, *sewage*, or *industrial and trade waste* in accordance with LF-FW-P15 <u>and LF-FW-P16</u>, and -
- (9) recognise and respond to Kāi Tahu cultural and spiritual concerns about mixing of water between different catchments.

## 1.8. LF-FW-M7 –District plans

173. LF-FW-M7 was notified as follows:

#### LF-FW-M7 – District plans

*Territorial authorities* must prepare or amend and maintain their *district plans* no later than 31 December 2026 to:

- map *outstanding water bodies* and identify their outstanding and significant values using the information gathered by Otago Regional Council in LF-FW-M5, and
- (2) include provisions to avoid the adverse *effects* of activities on the significant and outstanding values of *outstanding water bodies*,
- (3) require, wherever practicable, the adoption of water sensitive urban design techniques when managing the *subdivision*, use or development of *land*, and
- (4) reduce the adverse *effects* of *stormwater discharges* by managing the *subdivision,* use and development of *land* to:
  - (a) minimise the peak volume of *stormwater* needing off-site disposal and the load of *contaminants* carried by it,
  - (b) minimise adverse *effects* on *fresh water* and *coastal water* as the ultimate receiving environments, and the capacity of the *stormwater* network,
  - (c) encourage on-site storage of rainfall to detain peak *stormwater* flows, and
  - (d) promote the use of permeable surfaces.
- 174. Similar to LF-FW-M6 for regional plans, LF-FW-M7 is the method for district councils to implement the policies in the LF-FW section through their district plans. Similar to LF-FW-M6, some of the issues raised by submitters are consequential to submissions on other provisions in this section and have been addressed previously. For example, submissions requesting amendments to clauses (1) and (2) have been addressed above in our discussion of the outstanding waterbody provisions.
- 175. The Panel agrees with Ms Boyd's proposed amendments and her reasons. While some of the requested amendments have merit, we agree that they are too detailed for an RPS and should be left for the district plan to address. The key recommended amendment to LF-FW-M7 is the addition of a new clause (2A) that addresses the natural character of the margins and surface of lakes and rivers. We consider that this addresses a gap in this method and reflects the functions of territorial authorities. It also implements LF-FW-P13 which is part of the non-freshwater process.

## 1.9. LF-FW-M8 – Action plans

176. LF-FW-M8 was notified as follows:

#### LF-FW-M8 – Action plans

Otago Regional Council:

- (1) must prepare an action plan for achieving any target *attribute* states for *attributes* described in Appendix 2B of the NPSFM,
- (2) may prepare an action plan for achieving any target *attribute* states for *attributes* described in Appendix 2A of the NPSFM, and
- (3) must prepare any action plan in accordance with clause 3.15 of the NPSFM.
- 177. This method reflects the NPSFM requirement to prepare action plans as part of the NOF process, specifically clause 3.15. Action plans can be appended to a regional plan or published separately, and so are not necessarily covered by LF-FW-M6 Regional plans.
- 178. LF-FW-M8 largely reflects the requirements of the NPSFM and, for that reason, DairyNZ sought that it be deleted. We can understand the reasons for this request, however action plans are a key requirement under the NPSFM in some circumstances and sit alongside regional plans as the ORC's means to achieve target attribute states. The requirements of the NPSFM are reflected through other provisions in this section and we consider it appropriate to include a method to reflect the requirement for action plans.
- 179. This method sits alongside LF-VM-M3 which provides for community involvement and reflects the requirements of clause 3.7(1) to engage with communities and tangata whenua.
- 180. The Panel considers that this method should be retained, with the addition of clause (2A) sought by The Fuel Companies to better reflect clause 3.15 of the NPSFM, as recommended by the Reply Report.

# 1.10. New method –Identifying and managing species interactions between trout and salmon and indigenous species

- 181. Fish and Game sought the addition of a new method to manage the interactions between trout and salmon and indigenous species through both the freshwater and non-freshwater processes. Such a method would give effect to LF-FW-P7 as well as Policies 9 and 10 of the NPSFM.
- 182. The legal submissions of Ms Baker-Galloway, Fish and Game's counsel, addressed this method through both processes however expressed a preference for the provision to be included as a freshwater provision. Ms Baker-Galloway submitted that the new method would implement LF-FW-O8 and LF-FW-P7 which are freshwater provisions, and that the full suite of trout and salmon habitat provisions should be considered together.
- 183. Ms Boyd considered the proposed method in her non-freshwater s.42A report and reply report. She recommended that such a method be included in the PORPS and recommended

Fish and Game made a similar request in its submission on the non-FPI part of the pORPS. Legal advice confirmed that was the appropriate process for including the new method, therefore I have recommended the method sought be included in the non-FPI part of the pORPS.

- 184. We respectfully disagree with the ORC's advice and consider that the appropriate place for such a method to be considered is through the freshwater process. We have found the split between freshwater and non-freshwater provisions particularly difficult to decipher where related provisions are split between the two processes. In our view, the proposed method would qualify for inclusion as a freshwater provision and we consider that there are distinct advantages of it being in the same process as its associated objectives and policy, in particular if these provisions should be appealed.
- 185. We support the wording proposed and acknowledge the collaborative way in which it was developed with input from Fish and Game, ORC, DoC and Kāi Tahu.
- 1.10.1. Recommendation
- 186. We recommend that a new LF-FW-M8A be included as a freshwater provision:

LF-FW-M8A – Identifying and managing species interactions between trout and salmon and indigenous species

- (1) When making decisions that might affect the interactions between trout and salmon and indigenous species, *local authorities* will have particular regard to the recommendations of the Department of Conservation, the Fish and Game Council for the relevant area, Kāi Tahu, and the matters set out in LF-FW-M8A(2)(a) to (c), and
- (2) Otago Regional Council will work with the Department of Conservation, the relevant Fish and Game Council and Kāi Tahu to:
  - (a) describe the habitats required to provide for the protection of indigenous species for the purposes of (2)(a), (b), and (c),
  - (b) identify areas where the protection of the habitat of trout and salmon, including fish passage, will be consistent with the protection of the habitat of indigenous species and areas where it will not be consistent,
  - (c) for areas identified in (b), develop provisions for any relevant action plans(s) prepared under the NPSFM, including for fish passage, that will at minimum:
    - (i) determine information needs to manage the species,
    - (ii) set short, medium and long-term objectives for the species involved,
    - (iii) identify appropriate management actions that will achieve the objectives determined in (ii), including measures to manage the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Freshwater s.42A report, para 1654.

adverse effects of trout and salmon on indigenous species where appropriate, and

(iv) consider the use of a range of tools, including those in the Conservation Act 1987 and the Freshwater Fisheries Regulations 1983, as appropriate.

## 1.11. LF-FW-M9 – Monitoring

187. LF-FW-M9 attracted three submissions, with QLDC in support and DCC and Kāi Tahu seeking amendments. Ms Boyd discussed these requests at paragraphs 1315 to 1316 of her s.42A report and recommended amendments to address the submitters' concerns. We agree with Ms Boyd's recommendations and consider that they address the submitters' concerns.

## 1.12. LF-FW-M10 – Other methods

- 188. QLDC and Kāi Tahu ki Otago submitted in support of LF-FW-M10, while the Director General of Conservation sought amendments to recognise that the methods in the ECO chapter also apply. As notified, the LF chapter comprised four sections. This has been reduced to three, LF-WAI, LF-FW and LF-LS, and LF-FW-M10 aims to ensure that the three sections are treated as a coherent whole. We agree with Ms Boyd that referring to the ECO chapter methods is not consistent with the intent of this method. There are a number of methods in other chapters that would assist with achieving the policies in the LF chapter and which would need to be considered if we were to refer to the ECO chapter.
- 189. We support Ms Boyd's recommendation in the 10 October 2023 reply version of the PORPS to delete the reference to LF-VM, the provisions of which we are recommending be incorporated into the LF-FW section.

## 1.13. LF-VM-E2 - Explanation and LF-FW-E3 - Explanation

- 190. We recommended that the LF-VM and LF-FW sections be combined, as recommended by Ms Boyd. As a consequence, LF-VM-E2 and LF-FW-E3 were recommended to be combined in the 10 October 2023 reply version of the PORPS with the combined version being numbered LF-VM-E2. We agree with this recommendation.
- 191. OWRUG sought consequential amendments to LF-VM-E2 to reflect relief sought elsewhere that we have not accepted.<sup>32</sup> Similarly, Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku sought consequential amendments to LF-FW-E3 to reflect relief sought to LF-FW-M5. We did not accept the relief sought elsewhere by either of these submitters, therefore we do not accept the relief they seek for this explanation.
- 192. Ms Boyd recommended accepting what we consider to be reasonably minor amendments requested by Kāi Tahu ki Otago. We agree that these better reflect the policy direction and aid in consistency with the remainder of the PORPS.
- 193. Some of the paragraphs in this explanation are shaded blue as freshwater provisions and some are non-freshwater. We consider this to be a good example of the nonsensical way that the freshwater and non-freshwater provisions are split. The amendments that we are recommending are all in the third paragraph of the 10 October 2023 version of the PORPS, which is a freshwater paragraph. However for ease of digestion, we are duplicating the

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$  For example, Uncoded submission point – p.54 of submission by OWRUG

discussion and recommendation for LF-VM-E2 (that is, the combined LF-VM-E2 and LF-FW-E3) in both the freshwater and non-freshwater sections of our recommendation report. Those paragraphs that are part of the freshwater planning instrument are shaded blue.

#### 1.13.1. Recommendation

194. We recommend that LF-FW-E3 is incorporated into LF-VM-E2 and that the combined LF-VM-E2 is amended as follows:

#### LF-VM-E2 – Explanation

This section of the LF chapter outlines how the Council will manage *fresh water* within the region. To give effect to *Te Mana o te Wai*, the *freshwater* visions, and the policies set out the actions required in the development of *regional plan* provisions to implement the NPSFM. [Note to reader: originally LF-FW-E3 para 1]

Implementing the NPSFM requires Council to identify *Freshwater Management Units* (*FMUs*) that include all *freshwater bodies* within the region. Policy LF-VM-P5 identifies Otago's five *FMUs*: Clutha Mata-au *FMU*, Taieri Taiari *FMU*, North Otago *FMU*, Dunedin & Coast *FMU* and Catlins *FMU*. The Clutha Mata-au *FMU* is divided into five sub-*FMUs* known as 'rohe'. Policy LF-VM-P6 sets out the relationship between *FMUs* and rohe which, broadly, requires rohe provisions to be no less stringent than the parent *FMU* provisions. This is to avoid any potential for rohe to set lower standards than others which would affect the ability of the *FMU* to achieve its stated outcomes.

The outcomes sought for *natural wetlands* are implemented by requiring identification, protection and restoration. The first two policies reflect the requirements of the NPSFM for identification and protection but apply that direction to all *natural wetlands*, rather than only inland natural wetlands (those outside the *coastal marine area*) as the NPSFM directs. This reflects the views of *takata mana whenua* and the community that *fresh* and *coastal water*, including *wetlands*, should be managed holistically and in a consistent way. While the NPSFM requires promotion of the restoration of natural inland wetlands, the policies in this section take a stronger stance, requiring improvement where *natural wetlands* have been *degraded* or lost. This is because of the importance of restoration to Kāi Tahu and in recognition of the historic loss of *wetlands* in Otago and the indigenous biodiversity and hydrological values of wetland systems. [Note to reader: originally LF-FW-E3 para 2]

The policies respond to the NPSFM by identifying a number of *outstanding water bodies* in Otago that have previously been identified for their significance through other processes. Additional *water bodies* can be identified if they are wholly or partly within an outstanding natural feature or landscape or if they meet the criteria in APP1 which lists the types of values which may be considered outstanding: cultural and spiritual, ecology, landscape, natural character, recreation and physical. The significant values of *outstanding water bodies* are to be identified and protected from adverse *effects*. [Note to reader: originally LF-FW-E3 para 3]

Preserving the natural character of *lakes* and *rivers*, and their *beds* and margins, is a matter of national importance under section 6 of the RMA 1991. The policies in this section set out how this is to occur in Otago, reflecting the relevant direction from the

NPSFM but also a range of additional matters that are important in Otago, such as recognising existing Water Conservation Orders, the Lake Wanaka Act 1973 and the particular character of braided *rivers*. Natural character has been reduced or lost in some *lakes* or *rivers*, so the policies require promoting actions that will restore or otherwise improve natural character. [Note to reader: originally LF-FW-E3 para 4]

The impact of *discharges* of *stormwater* and *wastewater* on *freshwater bodies* is a significant issue for *mana whenua* and has contributed to *water* quality issues in some *water bodies*. The policies set out a range of actions to be implemented in order to improve the quality of these *discharges* and reduce\_their adverse *effects* on receiving environments.

## 1.14. LF-VM-PR2 – Principal reasons and LF-FW-PR3 – Principal reasons

- 195. For the same reasons as LF-VM-E2 and LF-FW-E3, Ms Boyd recommended that LF-FW-PR3 be incorporated into LF-VM-PR2. We agree with amalgamation of these principal reasons and also with the amendments and reasons recommended by Ms Boyd. Some of these amendments are in response to direct submissions while others are consequential to amendments to other provisions in the LF chapter.
- 196. Similar to the explanation discussed previously, two of the paragraphs in LF-VM-PR2 are shaded blue as freshwater provisions and one is non-freshwater, LF-FW-PR3 is solely freshwater and the resulting combined principal reason comprises both freshwater and non-freshwater provisions. Again, for ease of digestion, we are duplicating the discussion and recommendation for LF-VM-PR2 (that is, the combined LF-VM-PR2 and LF-FW-PR3) in both the freshwater and non-freshwater sections of our recommendation report. Those paragraphs that are part of the freshwater planning instrument are shaded blue.

#### 1.14.1. Recommendation

197. We recommend that LF-FW-PR3 is incorporated into LF-VM-PR2 and that the combined LF-VM-PR2 is amended as follows:

#### LF-VM-PR2 – Principal reasons

To support the implementation of the NPSFM, the Council is required to develop longterm visions for *fresh water* across the Otago region. *Fresh water* visions for each *FMU* and rohe have been developed through engagement with Kāi Tahu and communities. They set out the long-term goals for the *water bodies* (including *groundwater*) and *freshwater* ecosystems in the region that reflect the history of, and environmental pressures on, the *FMU* or rohe. They also establish ambitious but reasonable timeframes for achieving these goals. The Council must assess whether each *FMU* or rohe can provide for its long-term vision, or whether improvement to the health and well-being of *water bodies* (including *groundwater*) and *freshwater* ecosystems is required to achieve the visions. The result of that assessment will then inform the development of *regional plan* provisions in the *FMU*, including *environmental outcomes*, *attribute* states, target *attribute* states and *limits* (*in relation to freshwater*). Otago's *water bodies* are significant features of the region and play an important role in Kāi Tahu beliefs and traditions. <u>They support people and communities to provide</u> for their social, economic, and cultural well-being. A growing population combined with increased *land* use intensification has heightened demand for *water*, and increasing nutrient and sediment contamination impacts *water* quality. The legacy of Otago's historical mining privileges, coupled with contemporary <u>urban and rural</u> *land* uses, contribute to ongoing *water* quality and quantity issues in some *water bodies*, with significant cultural effects. [Note to reader: originally LF-FW-PR3 para 1]

This section of the LF chapter contains more specific direction on managing *fresh water* to give effect to *Te Mana o te Wai* and contributes to achieving the long term *freshwater* visions for each *FMU* and rohe. It also reflects key direction in the NPSFM for managing the health and well-being of *fresh water*, including *wetlands* and *rivers* in particular, and matters of national importance under section 6 of the RMA 1991. The provisions in this section will underpin the development of the Council's *regional plans* and provide a foundation for implementing the requirements of the NPSFM, including the development of *environmental outcomes*, *attribute* states, target *attribute* states and limits. [*Note to reader: originally LF-FW-PR3 para 2*]

## 1.15. Anticipated environmental results: LF-VM-AER3

- 198. LF-VM-AER3 is the only anticipated environmental result that is not part of the freshwater planning instrument. This seems highly unusual and counter-intuitive to us given that the freshwater visions to which it refers are all part of the freshwater planning instrument. Thankfully we do not wish to make any consequential amendments to LF-VM-AER3 resulting from changes to the freshwater vision objectives concerningly, we would have been unable to do so had this been the case.
- 199. We support the recommendation and reasoning provided by Ms Boyd at paragraph 696 of her s.42A report to amend LF-VM-AER3 in response to a submission by Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku.
- 200. The remaining anticipated environmental result provisions, LF-FW-AER4 to LF-FW-AER11, are part of the freshwater planning instrument and are discussed in the freshwater planning instrument section of our report.

## 1.16. Anticipated environmental results: LF-FW-AER4 to LF-FW-AER11

- 201. LF-FW-AER4 to LF-FW-AER11 are all part of the freshwater planning instrument, with LF-VM-AER3 being the sole non-freshwater anticipated environmental result. LF-FW-AER4 to LF-FW-AER11 were notified as follows:
  - **LF-FW-AER4** Fresh water is allocated within limits that contribute to achieving specified *environmental outcomes* for *water bodies* within timeframes set out in *regional plans* that are no less stringent than the timeframes in the LF–VM section of this chapter.
  - **LF-FW-AER5** *Specified rivers* and *lakes* are suitable for primary contact within the timeframes set out in LF-FW-P7.

**LF-FW-AER6** Degraded water quality is improved so that it meets specified environmental outcomes within timeframes set out in regional plans that are no less stringent than the timeframes in the LF–VM section of this chapter.

- **LF-FW-AER7** *Water* in Otago's aquifers is suitable for human consumption, unlessthat *water* is naturally unsuitable for consumption.
- **LF-FW-AER8** Where *water* is not *degraded*, there is no reduction in *water* quality.
- **LF-FW-AER9** The frequency of *wastewater* overflows is reduced.

**LF-FW-AER10** The quality of *stormwater discharges* from existing *urban areas* is improved.

**LF-FW-AER11** There is no reduction in the extent or quality of Otago's *natural wetlands*.

- 202. There were few submissions on these AERs and many of these were to ensure consistency with other requested relief. We agree with the amendments recommended by Ms Boyd and her reasoning in paragraphs 1688 to 1696 of her freshwater s.42A report, including the addition of a new AER, labelled LF-FW-AER11A in the 10 October 2023 version of the PORPS.
- 203. The one exception to this is in relation to LF-FW-AER11 where, in response to Silver Fern Farms' submission, Ms Boyd has recommended the following amendment:

**LF-FW-AER11** There is no reduction an improvement in the extent or quality condition of Otago's natural wetlands.

- 204. With the replacement of 'no reduction' with 'an improvement', the 'or' should change to 'and'. It was appropriate for there to be no reduction 'in the extent or condition', but to be consistent with the objectives and policies in the LF chapter, improvement should be sought in both.
- 1.16.1. Recommendation
- 205. We recommend the following amendments and the addition of a new AER, as follows:
  - **LF-FW-AER4** Fresh water is allocated within limits that contribute to achieving specified environmental outcomes for water bodies within timeframes set out in regional plans that are no less stringent than the timeframes in the LF-VM section of this chapter.
  - **LF-FW-AER5** *Specified rivers* and *lakes* are suitable for primary contact within the timeframes set out in LF-FW-P7.
  - **LF-FW-AER6** Degraded water quality is improved so that it meets specified environmental outcomes within timeframes set out in regional plans that are no less stringent than the timeframes in the LF-VM objectives in the LF-FW section of this chapter.
  - **LF-FW-AER7** *Water* in Otago's aquifers is suitable for human consumption, unless that *water* is naturally unsuitable for consumption.
  - **LF-FW-AER8** Where *water* is not *degraded*, there is no reduction in *water* quality.

- **LF-FW-AER9** Direct *discharges* of *wastewater* to *water* are phased out to the greatest extent practicable and the The frequency of *wastewater* overflows is reduced.
- **LF-FW-AER10** The quality of *stormwater discharges* from existing *urban areas* is improved.
- **LF-FW-AER11** There is no reduction an improvement in the extent and or quality condition of Otago's *natural wetlands*.

**LF-FW-AER11A** The economic, social, and cultural well-being of communities is sustained.

## 2.1. Introduction

- 206. This section of the LF Land and freshwater chapter is focused on the management of land and soils, including for soil quality and conservation purposes as well as in relation to the management of fresh water. The Otago region contains a land area of 31,186 square kilometres (Stats NZ, 2022). The region has a diverse and varied range of land types and landscapes, from mountains and drylands in the western and central parts of the region to coastline and rainforests in the east.
- 207. This section of the report addresses the following provisions:

LF-LS-O11 – Land and soil LF-LS-O12 – Use of land

LF-LS-P16 – Integrated management

LF-LS-P17 – Soil values

LF-LS-P18 - Soil erosion

LF-LS-P19 – Highly productive land

LF-LS-P20 – Land use change

LF-LS-P21– Land use and freshwater

LF-LS-P22 – Public access

LF-LS-M11– Regional plans

LF-LS-M12 – District plans

LF-LS-M13 – Management of beds and riparian margins

LF-LS-AER14 – Other methods

LF-LS-E4 – Explanation

LF-LS-PR4 – Principal reasons

LF-LS-AER12

LF-LS-AER13

LF-LS-AER14

## 2.2. Objectives: LF-LS-O11 – Land and soil and LF-LS-O12 – Use of land

- 2.2.1. Discussion
- 208. As notified, the Land and Soil chapter had two objectives as follows:

## LF–LS–O11 – Land and soil

The life-supporting capacity of Otago's soil resources is safeguarded and the availability and productive capacity of highly productive land for *primary production* is maintained now and for future generations.

#### LF-LS-O12 - Use of land

The use of *land* in Otago maintains soil quality and contributes to achieving *environmental outcomes* for *fresh water*.

- 209. The submissions on these provisions addressed a range of issues including how productivity is provided for, including highly productive land; provision for supporting activities; the links to achieving freshwater outcomes; the balance with urban development; and the biophysical capacity of soils. New objectives in relation to biodiversity were also sought.
- 210. A number of these issues were addressed by the restructuring of the UFD chapter. This led to amendments to UFD-O4 and the recommendation that it is included in the LS chapter, which we accepted in our decision on the UFD chapter. The focus of UFD-O4 is on development (including urban) that occurs in the rural area, and it reads as follows:

#### UFD-O4 – Development in rural areas

Development in Otago's rural areas occurs in a way that:

- (4) provides for the ongoing use of *rural areas* for *primary production* and *rural industry*, and
- (4A) does not compromise the *productive capacity* and long-term viability of *primary production* and rural communities.
- 211. The 'highly productive land' issue was complicated by the fact the pORPS was notified in 2021, well before the NPSHPL was gazetted in September 2022. Several of the reporting officers, in particular Ms White and Ms Boyd, prepared supplementary evidence on the content of the NPSHPL and its implications for the pORPS. A number of amendments were recommended as a result. This matter is dealt with later in this decision.
- 212. The objectives above went through a number of iterations through the hearings process, including a standalone objective dealing specifically with highly productive land. A final consideration of these provisions was undertaken in Ms Boyd's 'Introduction and General Themes' reply report, dated 23 May 2023.
- 213. In that report, Ms Boyd advised that some submitters still sought additions to the objectives. She identified these as follows:
  - a. The availability of rural land for primary production (Fulton Hogan),

*b.* Recognition of the role of resource use and development in the region and its contribution to enabling people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being (Oceana Gold),

c. Land environments support healthy habitats for indigenous species and ecosystems (DOC), and

*d.* Manage land use activities to recognise and protect terrestrial, freshwater, and coastal values which may be affected by these activities (DOC).

214. In addressing these matters, Ms Boyd took the approach of re-drafting the "objectives to address these matters in a more integrated way …preferable to simply inserting a range of additional objectives". In her opinion, "listing a series of separate objectives does not assist with attempting to address … tension and runs the risk of 'trading off' objectives against one another." In addition to recommending the inclusion of the amended UFD-O4 (which we have previously accepted), she recommended the two existing objectives be redrafted as follows:

#### LF-LS-O11 – Land and soil

The life-supporting capacity of Otago's soil resources is safeguarded and the availability and productive capacity of highly productive land for *primary production* is maintained now and for future generations.

<u>Otago's land and soil resources support healthy habitats for indigenous species and ecosystems.</u>

#### LF-LS-O12 – Use, development, and protection of land

The use of *land* in Otago maintains soil quality and contributes to achieving *environmental outcomes* for *fresh water*.

The use, development, and protection of land and soil:

(1) safeguards the life-supporting capacity of soil,

(2) contributes to achieving environmental outcomes for fresh water, and

(3) recognises the role of these resources in providing for the social, economic, and cultural well-being of Otago's people and communities.

- 215. Ms Boyd considered that Fulton Hogan's request was provided for by UFD-O4(1) while the concerns of Oceana Gold and other submitters with an interest in mineral and aggregate extraction are addressed in the amended LF-LS-O12 and its reference to the importance of resource use to well-being. While she initially considered DOC's requested objectives to be inappropriate in this chapter, given these matters are specifically addressed in the ECO chapter, Ms Boyd specifically provided for them within the amended LF-LS-O11. She also recommended deleting reference to 'highly productive land' in LF-LS-O11 as she considers it to be adequately addressed in her recommended LF-LS-P19.
- 216. While we do not necessarily agree with Ms Boyd that 'separate' objectives will run the risk of creating scenarios where objectives are traded off against one another, the drafting style of this RPS is particularly broad and it is difficult to now adopt a different approach of including objectives relating to specific activities. In the Panel's view, the changes proposed to the issues by the inclusion of SRMR-I10A and now these provisions, corrects the balance of the pORPS by providing recognition that resource use is essential to the wellbeing of people and communities, where previously the provisions tended to have a more protectionism focus.
- 217. Hence, we are comfortable with amended LF-LS-O12. However, as with Ms Boyd in her s42A report, we do not agree that the new LF-LS-O11 is appropriate in this chapter. In managing the use of land and soil, regard will need to be given to the provisions of the ECO chapter. Hence, the new LF-LS-O11 provision is not required in this chapter.
- 218. As we will discuss in section 2.4 below, nor we are comfortable with the deletion of that part of LF-LS-O11 which deals with highly productive land.

#### 2.2.2. Recommendation

219. Our recommendation is therefore to delete the notified LF-LS-O12 and the reference to life supporting capacity of soil in LF-LS-O11, and replace both of those provisions with the following objective:

#### LF-LS-O12 – Use, development, and protection of land

The use of *land* in Otago maintains soil quality and contributes to achieving *environmental outcomes* for *fresh water*.

The use, development, and protection of land and soil:

(1) safeguards the life-supporting capacity of soil,

(2) contributes to achieving environmental outcomes for fresh water, and

(3) recognises the role of these resources in providing for the social, economic, and cultural well-being of Otago's people and communities.

- 2.3. LF-LS-P18 Soil erosion
- 2.3.1. Introduction
- 220. As notified LF-LS-P18 reads:

#### LF–LS–P18 – Soil erosion

Minimise soil erosion, and the associated risk of sedimentation in water bodies, resulting from *land* use activities by:

- (1) implementing effective management practices to retain topsoil in situ and minimise the potential for soil to be *discharged* to *water bodies*, including by controlling the timing, duration, scale and location of soil exposure,
- (2) maintaining vegetative cover on erosion-prone land, and
- (3) promoting activities that enhance soil retention.
- 221. While no submitters opposed LF-LS-P18 in its entirety, there were a range of amendments requested as follows:
  - changes to chapeau of the policy to include an element of 'practicability' (Oceana Gold, Contact, Ravensdown).
  - clause (1): removal of the term "effective" (DairyNZ); addition of reference to <u>"appropriate and effective management practices</u>" (Ravensdown); and clarity around "scale" (Fed Farmers).
  - clause (2): include reference to re-establishing, as well as maintaining, vegetative cover (Silver Fern Farms), and add reference to enhancing (QLDC) to
  - clause (3): reference to soil structure alongside soil retention (Wise Response).
- 222. Ms Boyd did not support the introduction of a practicability test on the basis that the notified wording provides flexibility for resource users to adopt practices based on the activity being undertaken. She was also of the opinion that the use of "appropriate" as well as "effective"

- 223. That initial amendment still required topsoil to be retained in-situ, which Ms. Hunter for both Contact and Oceana Gold took issue with at the hearing, highlighting the fact that it this is not always possible. She also considers the changes made did not make grammatical sense and suggested an amendment to remove the reference to 'retain topsoil in situ'.
- 224. We note that in the final recommended version of this policy, 'in situ' has been removed by Ms Boyd as a 'minor' change in response to Ms Hunter's evidence. However, we agree with Ms. Hunter that the rest of that phrase should also be removed. This provision is about minimising soil erosion and loss of soil to water, not retaining topsoil per se. Not all activities will retain topsoil and it is not always possible to completely reinstate topsoil once an activity is finished (for example, Oceana Gold's mining operation). With this phrase removed, there is no need to include Ms Boyd's proposed change.
- 225. We also agree with DairyNZ that the word 'effective' is unnecessary in this provision. The management practice is required to minimise the potential soil for loss to water. It is Implicit that this be 'effective'.
- 226. We do agree with Ms Boyd that the amendment sought by QLDC to include reference to enhancement is not needed as clause (2) does not prevent this from occurring. We would also note that 'enhancement' may be promoted under clause (3). We also agree with Ms Boyd's response to the Wise Response's submission. Improving soil structure is also an activity that can be promoted under clause (3) to enhance soil retention.
- 2.3.2. Recommendation
- 227. We recommend that LF-LS-P18 be amended as follows:

#### LF-LS-P18 - Soil erosion

Minimise soil erosion, and the associated risk of sedimentation in water bodies, resulting from *land* use activities by:

- (2) maintaining vegetative cover on erosion-prone *land*, to the extent practicable, and
- (1) implementing effective management practices to retain topsoil in situ and minimise the potential for soil to be *discharged* to *water bodies*, including by controlling the timing, duration, scale and location of soil exposure, <u>and</u>
- (3) promoting activities that enhance soil retention.

## 2.4. Highly Productive Land

## 2.4.1. Discussion

228. As notified, highly productive land was referenced in LF-LS-O11 (as discussed above) and LF-LS-P19 which, as notified, reads as follows:

#### LF-LS-P19 - Highly productive land

Maintain the availability and productive capacity of highly productive *land* by:

- (1) identifying highly productive *land* based on the following criteria:
  - (a) the capability and versatility of the *land* to support primary production based on the Land Use Capability classification system,
  - (b) the suitability of the climate for primary production, particularly crop production, and
  - (c) the size and cohesiveness of the area of *land* for use for primary production, and
- (2) prioritising the use of highly productive *land* for primary production ahead of other *land* uses, and
- (3) managing urban development in rural areas, including rural lifestyle and rural residential areas, in accordance with UFD–P4, UFD–P7 and UFD–P8.
- 229. As noted in the previous discussion, the NPSHPL came into force after the pORPS was notified. Section 62(3) of the RMA requires that a regional policy statement must give effect to a national policy statement. However, as Mr Logan for the ORC advised, the ability to make changes to the RPS is constrained by the submissions received as the NPSHPL has been introduced 'mid-process'.
- 230. Ms Boyd carefully reviewed the submissions received and identified where the NPSHPL can be given effect to, within the scope of those submissions. She advised that:

"several submitters acknowledged the proposed NPSHPL in their submissions and sought that the provisions of the pORPS better align with the (then draft) NPSHPL. The New Zealand Cherry Corp sought any further relief necessary to give effect to the NPSHPL when it is gazetted while Beef and Lamb + DINZ sought that the LF Chapter be better aligned with the NPSHPL when it is made operative."

- 231. While the Panel considers this particular NPS to be a very blunt instrument, which creates a number of issues with the inclusion of LUC 3 land (particularly in the Clutha District context, where most of their flat land is LUC 3), along with its lack of flexibility and recognition of reality, we consider we are obligated to give effect to it as far as possible. The new government has signalled that there will be changes to the national planning framework, and we anticipate any review that precedes those change may include this NPS. Hence, the issues that concern us may well be addressed in due course but not in time for this process.
- 232. To align these provisions as closely as possible with the NPS, Ms Boyd has proposed a range of amendments, where submissions allow. Some of those amendments were supported by submitters and some were not. Ms Boyd advised that the key matters still in contention are as follows:
  - a. whether the 'interim' identification of highly productive land in the NPSHPL will protect land in Otago valued for horticulture and viticulture and, if not, whether (and how) the pORPS should 'fill the gap'.
  - b. Whether highly productive land is to be maintained or protected,

- c. Use of the term 'productive capacity'.
- 233. We first discuss the matter of 'maintain' or 'protect', which is also relevant to LF-LS-O11. Horticulture NZ sought that "the outcome related to the protection of [highly productive land] is focused on protecting the productive capacity of highly productive land from inappropriate subdivision, use and development" and Ms Wharfe provided some amendments to achieve that. In her initial s42A report, Ms Boyd agreed that it would be preferable to adopt the same wording as the NPSHPL but did not consider there is scope to make this amendment. However, in her final reply she accepted there was scope and recommended the following change to the title and chapeau of the policy:

## LF-LS-P19 – <u>Rural land and h</u>Highly productive land

Maintain Protect the availability of rural land and the productive capacity of highly productive land by:

- 234. In her supplementary evidence on the NPSHPL, she recommended the standalone objective "the availability and productive capacity of highly productive land for land-based primary production is maintained now and for future generations", which is the second part of the original LF-LS-O11. Her final reply amendments recommended deleting this phrase altogether.
- 235. The changes recommended, however, do not reflect what HortNZ requested. Ms Wharfe's use of 'protection' was in relation to highly productive land (not rural land in general) in the previously recommended LF-LS-O11A and she did not request a change to the chapeau of LS-LS-P19. Furthermore, the change to that chapeau proposed by Ms Boyd significantly widens the application of the policy because it captures all rural land for protection.
- 236. We believe Ms Boyd's recommended LF-LS-O11A, with the changes proposed by Ms Wharfe, more appropriately reflects the NPS and we have adopted them accordingly. We note this approach to splitting the original LF-LS-O11 was also requested by Fulton Hogan. In terms of Fulton Hogan's other concerns, the request to maintain the availability of rural land for primary production is addressed by UFD-O4 while the reference to the NPS-HPL in LF-LS-P19 (2) (and UFD-P7(3)) acknowledges the consent pathway for mining activities.
- 237. With this change to LF-LS-O11, no change is required to the chapeau of LF-LS-P19.
- 238. In relation to the interim identification criteria, the issue related to the view of several submitters that some land in Otago valued for horticulture and viticulture will not be considered 'highly productive land' in the interim period because it is not located on LUC 1, 2, or 3. Ms Boyd agreed that this is problematic and was of the opinion that productive land outside LUC classes 1, 2, and 3 should be protected until such time as the mapping process is undertaken. Ms Boyd stated "that many of these areas are under pressure from urban development, which makes their protection even more important" although no evidence was produced to back up this statement.
- 239. However, Horticulture NZ raised concern with the amendments recommended in Ms Boyd's supplementary evidence. They felt that land valued for horticulture and viticulture that would have been identified as highly productive land using notified LF-LS-P19, would not be identified as such under the recommended amendments.
- 240. Ms Boyd took this onboard in her reply but was reluctant to support either of Ms Wharfe's proposed amendments. Being mindful of Mr Logan's legal submissions, she did not attempt to redefine criteria or definitions from the NPSHPL, but rather recommended a simpler

## (2A) until clause 3.5(1) of the NPSHPL has been implemented, protecting land that is suitable for horticulture or viticulture from uses that are not *land-based primary production* or *rural industry*.<sup>35</sup>

- 241. We were presented with a significant volume of evidence throughout the hearings from Otago's agriculture, horticulture, and viticulture industry about the importance of the region as a primary producer. We have accepted that and have made changes to the pORPS to provide more recognition of what a significant contributor this sector is to not only the local economy, but also the national economy as the country's most significant export.
- 242. However, as with our concern over the inclusion of LUC 3 land in the NPS, we are now being asked to widen a protectionist/prioritisation approach further, through the proposed amendment. Mr Ford for HortNZ went so far as suggesting LUC 4 and 5 land should be included in the definition of HPL, while Mr Dicey for OWRUG stated that grapevines flourish on LUC 1 to LUC 6 land. Ms Wharfe's first suggested amendments would have had a region wide effect although her supplementary evidence restricted its application to central Otago (a restriction that would be difficult to define).
- 243. Our concern is that while submitters spoke broadly about urban and lifestyle encroachment on this land, very limited evidence was provided as to any reality about such a threat, where it was occurring, and what form it was taking. Nor was any cost benefit analysis provided on the effect of widening this restriction as requested, in terms of the impact it may have on other land uses (for example, the activities of Matakanui Gold) that look to operate, or can only operate, in rural areas. Furthermore, the issue does not appear to be a regional issue, being confined to certain parts of central Otago (in the geographic sense as opposed to local authority boundaries) so it does not seem to meet the threshold test of being a significant resource management issue for the region.
- 244. We do not necessarily agree with Ms Wharfe and Ms Boyd that it can be said, with any certainty, that the notified provision would provide protection for LUC 4 and 5 land, as that has not historically been seen as highly productive land (and we observe in passing the same can be said about LUC 3 land). Hence, the Panel does not think it appropriate to extend interim RPS protection this far, when the implications of it are unclear to us. However, there is nothing stopping the relevant District Council from initiating its own process to address the issue raised by HortNZ and the viticulture industry, if they think it is significant in the context of their district.
- 245. We do, however, accept Ms Boyd's recommendations in relation Ms Wharfe's concerns about the use of the term 'productive capacity' in the pORPS and where it should be deleted.
- 246. We also agree with the consequential amendments to the methods proposed by Ms Boyd in her supplementary evidence on the NPSHPL which require the identification and mapping of highly productive land.

## 2.4.2. Recommendation

- 247. As a consequence of the foregoing, the Panel recommend the following amendments:
  - 1. In SRMR-I10 Economic, replacing 'productive capacity of agricultural land' with 'the ability of land to support primary production'.

2. Amend LF-LS-O11 to read as follows:

#### LF–LS–O11 – Land and soil

The life-supporting capacity of Otago's soil resources is safeguarded and The availability and productive capacity of highly productive land for land based *primary production* is maintained\_protected-now and for future generations.

3. Amend LF-LS-P19 as follows:

#### LF-LS-P19 – Highly productive land

Maintain the availability and the *productive capacity* of *highly productive land* by:

- (1) identifying *highly productive land* based on the following criteria:
  - (a) the capability and versatility of the *land* to support primary production based on the Land Use Capability classification system,
  - (b) the suitability of the climate for primary production, particularly crop production, and
  - (c) the size and cohesiveness of the area of *land* for use for primary production, and
  - (d) land must be identified as highly productive land if:
    - (i) it is in a general rural zone or rural production zone, and
    - (ii) it is predominantly LUC 1, 2, or 3 land, and
    - (iii) it forms a large and geographically cohesive area,
  - (e) land may be identified as highly productive land if:
    - (i) it is in a general rural zone or rural production zone, and
    - (ii) it is not LUC 1, 2, or 3 land, and
    - (iii) it is or has the potential to be highly productive for *land-based primary production* in Otago, having regard to the soil type, the physical characteristics of the land and soil, and the climate.
  - (f) land must not be identified as highly productive land if it was identified for future urban development on or before 17 October 2022, and
- (2) prioritising the use of highly productive land for <u>land-based</u> primary production<u>in accordance with the NPSHPL</u> ahead of other land uses, and
- (3) managing urban development in rural areas, including rural lifestyle and rural residential areas, in accordance with UFD-P4, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8.
- 4. Add a new method as follows:

#### LF-LS-M11A – Identification of highly productive land

- (1) <u>In collaboration with *territorial authorities* and in consultation with *mana* <u>whenua</u>, Otago <u>Regional Council must identify *highly productive land* in</u> <u>Otago in accordance with LF-LS-P19(1), and</u></u>
- (2) <u>Otago Regional Council must include maps of the highly productive land</u>

- 5. Add the following new clause to LF-LS-M12:
  - (4) maintain the availability and *productive capacity* of *highly productive land* identified and mapped under LF-LS-M11A in accordance with LF-LS-P19, and

# 2.5. LF-LS-P16 – Integrated management

- 2.5.1. Discussion
- 248. As notified, LF-LS-P16 reads:

### LF–LS–P16 – Integrated management

Recognise that maintaining soil quality requires the integrated management of *land* and *freshwater* resources including the interconnections between soil health, vegetative cover and *water* quality and quantity.

- 249. While most submitters supported this policy, Ravensdown opposes the provision in its entirety, because of duplication. Kāi Tahu ki Otago submitted that the policy direction should be stronger. Ms Boyd originally rejected the submissions of both Ravensdown and Kāi Tahu, but after further discussion with them, she recommended changes to ensure there is no duplication, and that maintaining soil quality requires managing land and freshwater was specifically highlighted as suggested by Kāi Tahu.
- 250. We agree with her changes and recommend them accordingly.
- 2.5.2. Recommendation
- 251. That LF-LS-P16 be amended as follows:

### LF-LS-P16 – Integrated management Maintaining soil quality

Recognise that maintaining Maintain soil quality requires the integrated management of by managing both land and freshwater resources, including the interconnections between soil health, vegetative cover and water quality and quantity.

# 2.6. LF-LS-P17 – Soil values

- 2.6.1. Introduction
- 252. As notified, LF-LS-P17 reads:

### LF–LS–P17 – Soil values

Maintain the mauri, health and productive potential of soils by managing the use and development of *land* in a way that is suited to the natural soil characteristics and that sustains healthy:

- (2) soil structure, and
- (3) soil fertility.
- 253. No submitters oppose the provision in its entirety with several supporting it. The DCC submitted that urban development cannot avoid effects on soil and also requested clarity on how forestry fits within this. They suggested replacing the term 'maintain' with "minimise to the degree practical, considering other objectives in the RPS". OWRUG sought the reference to 'mauri' be replaced with well-being, and that the word "natural" is deleted. Toitu Te Whenua seeks that the soil characteristics and values listed in the policy are replaced with the national soil quality indicators, and soil biology. J Griffin requested that the policy promote management systems that build soil carbon, which will in turn improve soil biodiversity, structure and fertility, and provide some degree of climate remediation.
- 254. In relation to the DCC submission, Ms Boyd considered the policy provides flexibility for a range of actions to occur, so no changes were required. She recommended rejecting the OWRUG submission because clauses (1)-(3) of LF-LS-P17 are considered to provide clear guidance on this. With respect to the Toitū Te Whenua and Griffin submissions, she felt the factors they discuss are already provided for under the three clauses of the policy as notified. In addition, she was of the view that specific details relating to target ranges, if any, are best placed in a regional plan.
- 255. While the DCC did not address their submission at the hearing, the Panel has some sympathy for their position. Quite clearly, many activities that people and communities carry out will not maintain the productive potential of soils. Urban development is one such example, but mining is another. Hence, we consider the phrase to 'the extent reasonably practical' is also appropriate in this policy.
- 256. While we agree with Ms Boyd in relation to the Toitū Te Whenua and Griffin submissions, we do not agree with her position in relation to 'mauri'. We have discussed this elsewhere in our decision, and the same reasoning applies here. As we said there, "'mauri' is not readily definable as it relates to a combination of physical and ecological elements which are scientifically demonstrable, as well as amenity aspects which are far less capable of precise description. In addition, it can involve a range of te ao Māori concepts, both physical and metaphysical." We agree with OWRUG that the focus should be on the health and productive potential of soil which, if taken care of, will maintain mauri.
- 257. We also agree with OWRUG that the reference to 'natural' should be removed as this suggests soils that might have improved fertility compared to their natural state, would need to revert back. It also suggests any improvement in fertility may not be possible.

# 2.6.2. Recommendation

258. The Panel recommends that LF-LS-P17 be amended as follows:

### LF-LS-P17 – Soil values

Maintain the mauri, health and productive potential of soils, to the extent reasonably practicable by managing the use and development of *land* in a way that is suited to the natural soil characteristics and that sustains mauri through healthy:

(1) soil biological activity and *biodiversity*,

- (2) soil structure, and
- (3) soil fertility.

# 2.7. LF-LS-P20 – Land use change

## 2.7.1. Discussion

259. As notified, LF-LS-P20 reads:

# LF–LS–P20 – Land use change

Promote changes in *land* use or *land* management practices that improve:

- (1) the sustainability and efficiency of *water* use,
- (2) resilience to the impacts of *climate change,* or
- (3) the health and quality of soil.
- 260. There were several submissions on this policy, including two in support and one seeking its deletion. Several submitters sought amendments ranging from minor adjustments to the addition of new clauses addressing a range of matters.
- 261. Ms Boyd made two small changes to the policy in her s42A report. We agree with her response to the submissions and have accepted her recommendations accordingly.

## 2.7.2. Recommendation

262. The Panel recommends LF-LS-P20 be amended as follows:

### LF-LS-P20 – Land use change

Promote changes in *land* use or *land* management practices that <u>support and</u> improve:

- (1) the sustainability and efficiency of *water* use,
- (2) resilience to the impacts of *climate change*, or
- (3) the health and quality of soil<sub>*i*</sub>, or
- (4) water quality.

# 2.8. LF-LS-P21 – Land use and fresh water

- 2.8.1. Introduction
- 263. As notified LF-LS-P21 reads:

### LF–LS–P21 – Land use and fresh water

Achieve the improvement or maintenance of fresh water quantity or quality to meet environmental outcomes set for Freshwater Management Units and/or rohe by:

218

- (1) reducing direct and indirect discharges of contaminants to water from the use and development of land, and
- (2) managing land uses that may have adverse effects on the flow of water in surface water bodies or the recharge on groundwater.
- 264. A wide range of submissions were received on this provision, with Beef + Lamb and DINZ seeking that the policy be deleted, or moved to the LF-FW chapter, on the basis that it is in the wrong subchapter. Ms. Boyd disagreed with this, and we accept her position as the policy is addressing land use activities.
- 265. Several submitters sought changes to the chapeau of the policy and Ms Boyd agreed that the chapeau wording of the could be simplified. She adopted the amendment sought by Contact and others, as she considered this consistent with the wording of LF-FW-P7 and that gives effect to policy 5 of the NPSFM. This amendment also included changing 'fresh water' to 'water bodies'. This was in response to the DairyNZ submission to ensure 'coastal water' is not addressed within this policy, as that would be inconsistent with the NPSFM.
- 266. The amendment promoted did not include the request from Kāi Tahu ki Otago and DOC which seeks to include reference to ecosystem values. While she agreed with their reasoning for the change, she was unsure what is meant by the term 'ecosystem values'. In response to this, Ms McIntyre for Kai Tahu noted that *"other amendments recommended to the chapeau align wording more closely to that in the sole NPSFM objective, but without the reference to freshwater ecosystems included in that sole objective."* In her view including reference to freshwater ecosystems in this policy would give better effect to the NPSFM objective.
- 267. We agree with Ms McIntyre and have included reference to 'freshwater ecosystems' in the chapeau. This change will also better reflect Policy 5 of the NPSFM.
- 268. Several submitters also sought amendments to clause (1) to recognise that it is not necessary to reduce discharges of contaminants to water, and that there are often circumstances where management of discharges may be more appropriate than their reduction or avoidance. Ms Boyd agreed with these submitters and promoted a change to the wording to include "or otherwise managing" after "reducing". This wording was generally accepted by submitters who presented evidence at the hearing, with the exception of Kai Tahu who felt this change does not provide clear guidance. We disagree with Ms McIntyre as the reason for the management of adverse effects is clear it is to maintain the health and well-being of water bodies and freshwater ecosystems. Hence, we agree with Ms Boyd's approach to this matter and recommend her changes accordingly.
- 269. Ms Boyd did not recommend any changes to clause (2). In relation to DairyNZ's request to delete "may" from clause (2), she considered a more cautious approach to managing those activities is required on the basis that it may not be certain if some land uses will have adverse effects on freshwater. Given such land uses could be for long time periods (e.g. production forestry), the Panel agrees that caution is warranted in catchments that may be susceptible to this.
- 270. Three submitters sought the addition of a new clause regarding the maintenance and enhancement of riparian margins. Ms Boyd agreed that healthy riparian margins contribute to the wider health and well-being of freshwater bodies and that this should be recognised in the policy. However, she did not consider it necessary to identify specific reasons for this in the policy (such as reducing sedimentation, improving the functioning of catchment processes

etc. as requested) because there may be many reasons for this action. We agree and have accepted her recommended amendment as appropriate.

- 271. In the Reply Report, a recommended subclause (2A) was advanced which we believe may have emanated from DOC's submission on the FMU Vision objectives. We are comfortable with the recommended wording in that subclause say for the wording being amended to refer to some catchments. o avoid any issues about scope for its inclusion, we rely upon clause 49(2)(b) of the First Schedule.
- 2.8.2. Recommendation
- 272. We recommend that LF-LS-P21 is amended as follows:

#### LF-LS-P21 – Land use and fresh water

Achieve the improvement or maintenance of *fresh water* quantity, or quality <u>The</u> <u>health and well-being of *water bodies* and freshwater ecosystems is maintained</u> to meet *environmental outcomes* set for *Freshwater Management Units* and/or rohe by:

- (1) reducing <u>or otherwise managing the adverse effects of</u> direct and indirect discharges of contaminants to water from the use and development of land, and
- (2) managing *land* uses that may have adverse *effects* on the flow of *water* in surface *water bodies* or the recharge of *groundwater*-, and
- (2A) recognising the drylands nature of some of Otago's catchments and the resulting low *water* availability, and
- (3) maintaining or, where degraded, enhancing the values of riparian margins.

## 2.9. LF-LS-P22 – Public access

- 2.9.1. Discussion
- 273. As notified, LF-LS-P22 reads:

#### LF–LS–P22 – Public access

Provide for public access to and along *lakes* and *rivers* by:

- (1) maintaining existing public access,
- (2) seeking opportunities to enhance public access, including by *mana whenua* in their role as kaitiaki and for gathering of mahika kai, and
- (3) encouraging landowners to only restrict access where it is necessary to protect:
  - (a) public health and safety,
  - (b) significant natural areas,
  - (c) areas of outstanding natural character,
  - (d) outstanding natural features and landscapes,

- (e) places or areas with special or outstanding *historic heritage* values, or
- (f) places or areas of significance to *takata whenua*, including wāhi tapu and wāhi tūpuna.
- 274. This policy was supported by four submitters while several others sought amendments to, and clarification of, the notified wording. A number of submitters sought the addition of subclauses in (3) to include other values or circumstances where access should be restricted. These included:
  - Areas of establishing vegetation/restoration projects, on the basis that access should be restricted to avoid or minimise damage to young and establishing vegetation,
  - Against negative impacts of public access on farming business, to ensure negative impacts from public access on farming businesses can be mitigated.
  - Protect against interruption of business operations, for health and safety matters, and for animal welfare issues, in order to provide for landowner's interests.
  - Critical farming activities including lambing, fawning, mustering and the movement of stock.
  - Biosecurity.
  - To ensure a level of security with the operational requirements of a lawfully established activity.
- 275. Ms Boyd recommended several changes to the policy including an addition to clause (3) to restrict access to reflect the operational requirements of an activity. Overall, we are comfortable with the recommendations made by Ms Boyd and have adopted them accordingly.

# 2.9.2. Recommendation

276. The Panel recommends that LF-LS-P22 be amended as follows:

# LF-LS-P22 – Public access

Provide for public access to and along *lakes* and *rivers* by:

- (1) maintaining existing public access,
- seeking opportunities to enhance public access, including <u>access</u> by mana whenua in their role as kaitiaki and for gathering of <del>mahika kai</del> mahika kai, and
- (3) encouraging landowners to only avoid restricting access where unless it is necessary to protect:
  - (a) public health and safety,
  - (b) significant natural areas,
  - (c) areas of outstanding natural character,
  - (d) outstanding natural features and landscapes,

- (e) places or areas with special or outstanding *historic heritage* values, or
- (f) places or areas of significance to takata whenua Kāi Tahu, including wāhi taoka, wāhi tapu and wāhi tūpuna,.
- (g) establishing vegetation, or
- (h) a level of security consistent with the operational requirements of a lawfully established activity.

# 2.10. Pest species (including wilding conifers)

## 2.10.1. Discussion

277. As notified, the pORPS contains two policies focused on managing the impacts of wilding conifers on outstanding natural features and landscapes and significant natural areas through NFL-P5 and ECO-P9. These were as follows:

### ECO-P9 – Wilding conifers

Reduce the impact of wilding conifers on indigenous biodiversity by:

- (1) avoiding *afforestation* and *replanting* of *plantation forests* with *wilding conifer* species listed in APP5 within:
  - (a) areas identified as *significant natural areas,* and
  - (b) buffer zones adjacent to *significant natural areas* where it is necessary to protect the *significant natural area*, and
- (2) supporting initiatives to control existing *wilding conifers* and limit their further spread.

# NFL-P5 – Wilding conifers

Reduce the impact of *wilding conifers* on outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* by:

- (1) avoiding *afforestation* and *replanting* of *plantation forests* with *wilding conifer* species listed in APP5 within:
  - (a) areas identified as outstanding natural features or landscapes, and
  - (b) buffer zones adjacent to outstanding natural features and landscapes where it is necessary to protect the outstanding natural feature or landscape, and
- (2) supporting initiatives to control existing *wilding conifers* and limit their further spread.
- 278. A number of submitters sought inclusion of new provisions, or amendments to existing provisions, to provide clear policy direction on pest control. DOC sought a new policy in the ECO chapter addressing pests to complement ECO-P9. However, their planning witness, Mr Brass, suggested this would be better placed in LF-LS section. Ms Lynette Baish for Ernslaw One also sought a new policy, focused specifically on wilding conifers. At the hearing, many of the witnesses who appeared for OWRUG, Federated Farmers, and DairyNZ noted the impacts of pests on productive land while Mr Brass for DOC also highlighted the need to enable pest control activities such as the use of pesticides. Associated with this issue was the request from some submitters to include in the pORPS, the definition of 'pest' from the Biosecurity Act 1993.

- 279. In her opening statement for the LF hearing, Ms Boyd addressed this issue, stating that she "was not opposed to incorporating this type of direction in the pORPS and that the LF-LS section was the appropriate place for this given its focus on land resources." After hearing the evidence presented at the various hearings, Ms Boyd's final assessment of the matter was carried out in her reply report on 'Introduction and General Theme' matters. She noted that the evidence confirmed that "biodiversity has been lost or degraded due to human activities and the presence of pests and predators" and that "the direction on managing pest species in the pORPS is unnecessarily narrowed to only managing the effects of specific wilding conifer species on outstanding natural features and landscapes and significant natural areas." As a consequence, she recommended a new policy for inclusion in the LS chapter that addressed both pests and wilding conifers, which incorporate the direction from ECO-P9 and NFL-P5, as generally supported by submitters.
- 280. A number of submitters sought to expand the scope of ECO-P9 and APP5, which currently just lists conifers prone to spread, to apply to all invasive/wilding tree species, not only wilding conifers. Others sought the restriction of such plantings in not just plantation forests but in shelterbelts and amenity plantings also.
- 281. While Ms Boyd accepted that there are other tree species that may result in wilding spread, she did not make any changes to the policy or APP5. Nor did she recommend widening the framework to include smaller plantings. While she considered it appropriate for the pORPS to contain broader direction on the management of pests, she was concerned that this should not duplicate the requirements of the Biosecurity Act 1993 or the Otago Regional Pest Management Plan 2019-2029 (Otago PMP). Furthermore, she was unsure if this was a region wide concern. Despite this, she felt that her recommendation to incorporate additional direction on pest species will assist with addressing the concerns of the submitters. As a part of that, she accepted the need for the definition of pest as requested.
- 282. Having reviewed Ms Boyd's recommended policy, and other evidence the Panel is of the view that pest species, particularly wilding conifers, are a region-wide issue. The Panel are comfortable that Ms Boyd's recommended wording addresses the issue appropriately. While the policy framework does not identify other wilding tree species, there is nothing stopping local authorities from addressing these concerns in lower order planning documents. That is in fact what currently occurs in District Plans.

# 2.10.2. Recommendation

- 283. The Panel recommends as follows:
  - (1) the deletion of ECO-P9 and NFL-P5 and their replacement with the following new policy in the LF-LS chapter:

# LF-LS-P16A – Managing pests

Reduce the impact of *pests*, including *wilding conifers*, by:

- (1) avoiding afforestation and replanting of plantation forests with wilding conifer species listed in APP5 within:
  - (a) areas identified as outstanding natural features, outstanding natural landscapes, or *significant natural areas*, and
  - (b) buffer zones adjacent to the areas listed in (a) where it is necessary to protect those areas,

- (2) outside *plantation forests*, avoiding the planting of *wilding conifer* species listed in APP5 and any other *pests* in a way that is consistent with the Otago Regional Pest Management Plan 2019-2029,
- (3) enabling the control of *pests* on *land*, and
- (4) supporting initiatives to control *pests* and limit their further spread.
- (2) Include the following new clause in LF-LS-M12 (District plans):

# LF–LS–M12 – District plans

(1) manage *land* use change by:

# (aa) avoiding the planting of pest plants in accordance with LF-LS-P16A,

- (3) Include reference to the policies of the LF chapter seeking to 'reduce the impacts of pests' in the first line of LF-LS-E4 (Explanation).
- (4) Including the following new paragraph at the beginning of LF-LS-PR4 (Principal Reasons):

<u>Pests</u>, including wilding conifers, pose a range of threats to Otago's environment. While the regional pest management plan is the primary tool for controlling pests under the Biosecurity Act 1993, it is important that the management of land works alongside that tool to reduce the impacts of pests.

# 2.11. LF-LS-M12, LF-LS-M13, Explanation and Principal Reasons

- 284. In addition to the consequential amendments already discussed, Ms Boyd has recommended several other relatively minor amendments to these provisions, generally to reflect amendments in the policy approach. We have reviewed the submissions and Ms Boyd's final response to those, and are generally comfortable with the position she reached, with one exception in relation to LF-LS-M12.
- 285. City Forests Limited opposes clause 1(a), which requires "controlling the establishment of new or any spatial extension of existing plantation forestry activities or permanent forestry activities where necessary to give effect to an objective developed under the NPSFM" and requested that it be deleted. Rayonier and Ernslaw One also raised concern with this provision while the Waitaki DC sought two new sub-clauses that would provide guidance for managing water short catchments.
- 286. Mr Peter Oliver for City Forests and Ms Lynette Baish for Ernslaw One addressed this issue at the hearing. Mr Oliver and Ms Baish did not consider the evidence was as clear as Ms Boyd suggested in her s42A report when she said that afforestation can affect water yield and "given the dry nature of some of Otago's catchments and recent increases in forestry expansion, it may be necessary to control forestry activities in order to give effect to environmental outcomes established under the NPSFM."
- 287. In this context, Ms Boyd highlighted regulation 4(1)(a) of the NESPF that specifically allows plan rules to be more stringent than the NES if those rules give effect to an objective

288. Hence, we agree with Ms Baish that the method "is overly directive and narrowly targeted" and as a consequence, we prefer her recommended amendment, as follows:

"controlling the establishment of new or any spatial extension of existing <u>land use</u> <u>activities</u> where necessary to give effect to an objective developed under the NPSFM;"

# 2.12. LF-LS-M11 – Regional plans

- 2.12.1. Discussion
- 289. As notified LF-LS-M11 reads:

## LF–LS–M11 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water *Regional Plan* no later than 31 December 2023 and then, when it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

- manage *land* uses that may affect the ability of *environmental outcomes* for *water* quality to be achieved by requiring:
  - (a) the development and implementation of *certified freshwater farm plans* as required by the RMA and any regulations,
  - (b) the adoption of practices that reduce the *risk* of sediment and nutrient loss to *water*, including by minimising the area and duration of exposed soil, using buffers, and actively managing critical source areas,
  - (c) effective management of effluent storage and applications systems, and
  - (d) earthworks activities to implement effective sediment and erosion control practices and setbacks from water bodies to reduce the risk of sediment loss to water, and
- (2) provide for changes in *land* use that improve the sustainable and efficient allocation and use of *fresh water*, and
- (3) implement policies LF-LS-P16 to LF-LF-P22.
- 290. There were several submissions received on this provision, with Beef + Lamb and DINZ again seeking that it be deleted, or moved to the LF-FW chapter, on the basis that it is in the wrong subchapter. Ms. Boyd disagreed with this, and we again accept her position given the policy is addressing land use activities.
- 291. Ms Boyd agreed with Fish & Game and Kāi Tahu ki Otago that the clause (1)(a) reference to the 'RMA and any regulations' is not necessary and recommended its removal. She did not recommend any further amendments to the method in her s42A report except in relation to a consequential amendment to enable implementation of a new policy (LF-LS-P16A) that was recommended during the non-freshwater process.

- 292. The proposed sub-clause 2A addition by way of an amendment to LF-LS-M11 is required because this method specifies how the full suite of LF-LS policies will be implemented in regional plans, and therefore needs to reflect any amendments to non-FPI provisions as well as FPI provisions. The proposed wording is "enable the discharge of contaminants to land for pest control". Ms Boyd notes that "although arising from the non-FPI part, I consider this also responds to DOC's FPI submission." We agree the amendment is appropriate and have recommended the change accordingly.
- 293. Ms. Boyd did, however, make some further amendments in response to submissions in her opening statement. However, these were not discussed but were merely referred to as 'minor' changes. We do not consider them to be minor as they broaden the impact of the provisions. One such change was to clause (1)(b), where 'reduce' was deleted and replaced with 'avoid or minimise' in response to a submission from Fish & Game, who sought reference to avoiding land uses which result in any pugging in critical source areas and limiting high risk activities on steep slopes. Given the direction in LF-LSP18 and 21 (which refer to 'minimising' and 'reducing'), we consider 'reduce' to be the appropriate word in this instance so have not recommended that change.
- 294. Ms Boyd initially rejected Kāi Tahu ki Otago's request to amend clause (2) to delete 'efficient allocation' and instead reference reducing demand on freshwater resources to give effect to objectives developed under the NPSFM. She subsequently made this amendment as a 'minor' change. While we do not agree that it is a minor change, we do agree that the change is appropriate based on Ms McIntyre's' reasoning in her evidence for Kai Tahu. She advised that Kai Tahu sought that:

this method refer to the ability for regional plans to provide for changes in land use that reduce demand for water by methods other than simply improving efficiency of use. This has not been accepted in the section 42A report, but not clear reason is given for this. I consider that in areas where there is a need to reverse over-allocation, a broad range of tools must be available to ORC to achieve this. In some areas I consider that improvements in water use efficiency alone are unlikely to achieve this. In such circumstances, controls on water demanding land uses should be a tool that ORC can consider in development of the LWRP.

- 295. We agree with Ms McIntyre so have recommended the change accordingly.
- 296. As discussed above in relation to LF-FW-M5 and LF-FW-M6, our understanding is that the date that the regional plan is to be publicly notified is uncertain and we consider it appropriate to delete the date requirement in the chapeau to reflect this.
- 297. The Panel has carefully considered Ms Boyd's response to the other submissions made on this provision. We are comfortable with her conclusions so adopt them accordingly.
- 2.12.2. Recommendation
- 298. We recommend that LF-LS-M11 is amended as follows:

### LF-LS-M11 – Regional Plans

Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water Regional Plan no later than 31 December 2023 and then, when it is made operative, maintain that *regional plan* to:

(1) manage land uses that may affect the ability of environmental outcomes for water quality to be achieved by requiring: the development and implementation of certified freshwater farm (a) plans, as required by the RMA and any regulations, (b) the adoption of practices that reduce the *risk* of sediment and nutrient loss to water, including by minimising the area and duration of exposed soil, using buffers, and actively managing critical source areas, (c) effective management of effluent storage and application systems, and earthworks activities to implement effective sediment and erosion (d) control practices and setbacks from water bodies to reduce the risk of sediment loss to water, and (2) provide for changes in *land* use that improve the sustainable and efficient allocation and use of *fresh water* and that reduce water demand where there is existing over-allocation, and (2A) enable the discharge of contaminants to land for pest control, and

# Section 9: Ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity (ECO)

# 1. Introduction

- This chapter presents our recommendations on the Indigenous Ecosystems and Biodiversity (ECO) chapter of the PORPS. All of the provisions of this chapter are part of the non-freshwater process.
- 2. The "protection of areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna" is a matter of national importance under section 6(c) of the RMA. Also of relevance are sections 7(d), (f) and (g) which require the panel to have particular regard to the 'intrinsic values of ecosystems', maintenance and enhancement of the quality of the environment', and 'any finite characteristics of natural and physical resources' respectively. Section 30(1)(ga) requires regional council to establish "objectives, policies and methods for maintaining indigenous biological diversity". The directions in the RMA underpinned the development of the PORPS and the evidence we received.
- 3. Biodiversity means the variability among living organisms, and the ecological complexes of which they are a part, including diversity within species, between species, and of ecosystems. The Otago region contains a varied biological diversity, from albatrosses and yellow-eyed penguins on the Otago Peninsula to endangered skinks of Central Otago and kea of the Southern Alps, as well as internationally rare, braided rivers. The Otago region, like other areas in New Zealand, has experienced significant loss of indigenous biodiversity, including mahika kai and taoka species, and continues to be subject to significant pressure.
- 4. Indigenous biodiversity is present in terrestrial, freshwater and marine environments. Section 62(1)(i)(iii) of the RMA requires that the RPS sets out which local authority is responsible for specifying provisions that control the use of land to maintain indigenous biodiversity. Local authorities have duties under sections 30 and 31 of the RMA 1991 to have objectives, policies and methods to maintain indigenous biological biodiversity. This creates a need to be clear about the responsibilities for each local authority, as well as ensuring an integrated approach is taken across the policy statement.

# 1.1 The National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity

- 5. After many years of gestation and two draft iterations, the National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity 2023 (NPSIB) was gazetted on 7 July 2023 and came into force on 4 August 2023. The hearings on the non-freshwater parts of the pORPS were adjourned on 29 May 2023, so there was no opportunity during the formal hearing process for parties to address the NPSIB.
- 6. The Panel issued Minute 15 on 13 July 2023 which directed a timetable (later amended by Minute 19 issued on 13 September 2023) for the circulation of material by ORC and submitters to address the implications of the NPSIB for the non-freshwater process. ORC officers were invited to provide evidence and supporting submissions, with submitters then provided time to respond, and the ORC officers provided a final response. The Panel considered this material

on the papers and the hearing was not reconvened. Any implications for the freshwater process were addressed through those hearings.

- 7. Over 416 submission points were received on the ECO chapter provisions and related appendices. Many of the submission points have since become redundant by the gazettal of the NBSIB, which has complicated some matters and simplified others. It is important to note that the Panel can only amend a provision to be consistent with the NPSIB if a submission provides the scope to do so.
- 8. In response to the NPSIB, the ORC officers have recommended substantial changes to the ECO chapter, the PORPS definitions and related Appendices 2, 3 and 4. Some of the key issues addressed at the hearing have been superseded by the NPSIB, and the Panel has had to reconcile the information presented in submissions and evidence with the subsequent NPSIB and supporting material.
- 9. In addition to the NPSIB, the NZCPS and the NPSFM contain direction relating to the management of indigenous biodiversity in coastal and freshwater environments respectively.
- 10. There are commonalities between many of the submission points, as there are between some of the provisions. We have grouped topics and provisions where appropriate for ease of discussion, after first addressing the general themes. We discuss below where key matters that arose during the submissions and hearing have been superseded by the NPSIB.
- 11. The Panel received a helpful s42A report and reply report from Ms Melanie Hardiman, with statements on the implications of the NPSIB being prepared by Mr Andrew Maclennan. Given the technical nature of this chapter, we received technical advice from a number of ecologists and we acknowledge their efforts at caucusing on Appendix 2 of the RPS, on identifying significant biodiversity. To say that the ECO chapter has been complicated is an understatement and we particularly thank Mr Maclennan and Dr Lloyd for ORC for their advice and recommendations on the implications of the NPSIB, and the submitters who provided supplementary submissions or evidence on this matter.

# 2. General themes

- 12. The following general themes emerged:
  - Maintaining and protecting
  - Effects management hierarchies, biodiversity offsetting and biodiversity compensation;
  - Nationally and regionally significant infrastructure; and
  - Significant natural areas.
- 13. We address these matters below prior to considering definitions and the specific provisions.

# 2.1 Maintaining and protecting

- 14. This was the subject of much debate and the legal position was discussed in detail in our Legal Issues section. We revisit this briefly here, as it is an integral part of the position we take in our recommendations. As stated above, we interpreted s 30(1)(ga) as requiring the regional council to maintain the region-wide values of indigenous biodiversity. This means that the PORPS provisions cannot have the result of worsening the region-wide state of indigenous biodiversity. The emphasis here is on region-wide, which does not mean that activities cannot have some level of adverse effect on indigenous biodiversity. It means that, if they do, an equivalent improvement needs to be made elsewhere.
- 15. The concept of protection fits within the region-wide requirement to maintain, whereby s6(c) directs specific protection of *"significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna"*. This applies to areas or circumstances where the values mark them apart from the general indigenous values in the region, and the level of significance warrants protection.
- 16. We also note here the sole objective of the NPSIB, which is as follows:

The objective of this National Policy Statement is:

- (a) to maintain indigenous biodiversity across Aotearoa New Zealand so that there is <u>at least no overall loss</u> in indigenous biodiversity after the commencement date; and
- (b) to achieve this:
  - (i) through recognising the mana of tangata whenua as kaitiaki of indigenous biodiversity; and
  - (ii) by recognising people and communities, including landowners, as stewards of indigenous biodiversity; and
  - (iii) by protecting and restoring indigenous biodiversity as necessary to achieve the overall maintenance of indigenous biodiversity; and
  - (iv) while providing for the social, economic, and cultural wellbeing of people and communities now and in the future.

[Panel's emphasis]

- 17. The PORPS must therefore maintain indigenous biodiversity to ensure that there is no overall loss, as per clause (a), while also protecting significant natural areas (SNAs) as required by s.6(c) and Policy 7 of the NPSIB. This protection in s.6(c) is definitive, and it is important to note that s.6(c) does not have the qualifier of protection 'from inappropriate subdivision, use and development'. Policy 7 requires that 'SNAs are protected by avoiding or managing adverse effects from new subdivision, use and development'.
- 18. This is addressed in the PORPS in ECO-O1, which we consider reflects well the direction outlined above. ECO-O1 was notified as follows:

## ECO-O1 - Indigenous biodiversity

Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* is healthy and thriving and any decline in quality, quantity and diversity is halted.

19. This evolved through the process to the final recommended ECO-O1 which reads:

# ECO-O1 – Indigenous *biodiversity*

Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* is healthy and thriving and any <u>overall</u> decline in <u>quality</u> <u>condition</u>, quantity and diversity is halted.

- 20. The addition of 'overall' reflects the direction of the NPSIB. We note that 'indigenous biodiversity' is defined in the NPSIB and that the Panel later recommend that this definition is included in the PORPS. We therefore recommend that 'indigenous' should also be italicised to refer to this definition.
- 21. The NPSIB also includes a definition of 'maintenance of indigenous biodiversity' which is relevant to ECO-P6 Maintaining indigenous biodiversity. Mr Maclennan's NPSIB Reply Report recommends that this definition be included and referenced in ECO-P6. We agree that this is appropriate to give effect to the NPSIB.

## 2.1.1 Recommendation

22. We recommend that the following definition be inserted into the Interpretation section of the PORPS:

<u>Maintenance of</u> indigenous	has the same meaning as in the National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity 2023 (as set out in the box below):
indigenous biodiversity	<ul> <li>2023 (as set out in the box below):</li> <li>means: <ul> <li>(a) the maintenance and at least no overall reduction of all the following:</li> <li>(i) the size of populations of <i>indigenous species</i>:</li> <li>(ii) indigenous species occupancy across their natural range:</li> <li>(iii) the properties and function of ecosystems and <i>habitats</i> used or occupied by <i>indigenous biodiversity</i>:</li> <li>(iv) the full range and extent of ecosystems and <i>habitats</i> used or occupied by <i>indigenous biodiversity</i>:</li> <li>(v) connectivity between, and buffering around, ecosystems used or occupied by <i>indigenous biodiversity</i>:</li> <li>(vi) the resilience and adaptability of ecosystems; and</li> </ul> </li> <li>(b) where necessary, the restoration and enhancement of ecosystems and <i>habitats</i>.</li> </ul>

23. We recommend that ECO-O1 be amended as follows:

### ECO-O1 – Indigenous biodiversity

Otago's *indigenous biodiversity* is healthy and thriving and any <u>overall</u> decline in <u>condition</u>, -quality quantity and diversity is halted.

# 2.2 The effects management hierarchy, biodiversity offsetting and biodiversity compensation

- 24. The legal aspects of biodiversity offsetting and compensation were also addressed in our Legal Issues section. Mr. Christensen, for Oceana Gold, had submitted that there is a mandatory need to provide a consent pathway involving the s.104(1)(ab) methodology of offsetting or compensation. We did not accept this, considering that "the mandatory aspect is only triggered at resource consent stage, and is a mandatory requirement to give genuine consideration to the offsetting or compensation which has been proposed as part of the application for resource consent. That does not convert it into a mandatory matter at the regional policy statement stage".
- 25. Principles for biodiversity offsetting and compensation are provided in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4 of the NPSIB respectively, and these are applied through the application of an effects management hierarchy. The effects management hierarchy is defined in the NPSIB as follows and directions for its applications are in clauses 3.10, 3.11 and 3.16:

*effects management hierarchy* means an approach to managing the adverse effects of an activity on indigenous biodiversity that requires that:

- (a) adverse effects are avoided where practicable; then
- (b) where adverse effects cannot be avoided, they are minimised where practicable; then
- (c) where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are remedied where practicable; then
- (d) where more than minor residual adverse effects cannot be avoided, minimised, or remedied, biodiversity offsetting is provided where possible; then
- (e) where biodiversity offsetting of more than minor residual adverse effects is not possible, biodiversity compensation is provided; then
- (f) if biodiversity compensation is not appropriate, the activity itself is avoided.
- 26. Appendix 3 and Appendix 4 of the PORPS also provide for biodiversity offsetting and compensation. These attracted considerable debate through submissions and evidence, which we consider has been superseded by the NPSIB. Mr Maclennan recommended that these appendices be replaced with those in the NPSIB. In his reply report relating to additional evidence as to the NPSIB (the NPSIB Reply Report), he accepted amendments requested by the Director General of Conservation and Oceana Gold to amend the heading from 'criteria' to 'principles' and clarify the requirements of clause 3.10(4)(b) of the NPSIB to comply with principles (1) to (6) and have regard to the remaining principles.

- 27. We accept these amendments and consider that in the case of biodiversity offsetting and compensation, the clearest way to implement the requirements of the NPSIB is through replicating its requirements.
- 28. The notified PORPS defined 'effects management hierarchy' in the Interpretation section, and effectively replicated it in ECO-P6, which was then cross-referenced in ECO-P3 and ECO-P4. The notified PORPS applied the NPSFM definition of effects management hierarchy to the ECO chapter. Through submissions, the NPSIB and subsequent evidence, the NPSIB Reply Report recommended adopting the definition of 'effects management hierarchy' in the NPSIB. While we consider there to be little difference between this definition and the NPSFM definition, we consider it to be a preferable and more appropriate approach to implement the NPSIB definition which is specifically aimed at this aspect of the general environment rather than the NPSFM which has a prioritised base to it.
- 29. As a consequence, the Reply Report version of the PORPS recommends that
  - The NPSIB definition of 'effects management hierarchy' be included in the Interpretation section titled 'effects management hierarchy (in relation to indigenous biodiversity)' to distinguish it from the NPSFM definition which is also included;
  - ECO-P6 refers to the definition in the Interpretation section rather than replicating the definition; and
  - ECO-P3 and ECO-P4 utilise the definition rather than referring to ECO-P6.
- 30. We consider that this approach is simpler, clearer and better reflects the requirements of the NPSIB.

# 2.2.1 Recommendation

- 31. We recommend that:
  - The versions of APP3 Principles for biodiversity offsetting and APP4 Principles for biodiversity compensation contained in the PORPS reply version dated 10 October 2023 be adopted; and
  - The NPSIB definition of 'effects management hierarchy' be included in the Interpretation section titled 'effects management hierarchy (in relation to indigenous biodiversity)'.
- 32. Amendments to ECO-P3, ECO-P4 and ECO-P6 are discussed later in this section.
- 33. Considering s.32AA, we consider that these amendments are necessary to implement the NPSIB.

# 2.3 Nationally and regionally significant infrastructure

34. A number of submitters raised concerns about the implications of the ECO chapter provisions for nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. These included extensive submissions

and evidence from Waka Kotahi, Oceana Gold, Contact Energy and Manawa Energy. Provisions ECO-P3, ECO-P4 and ECO-P6 are relevant here, and we also note that EIT-INF-P13 directs new nationally and regionally significant infrastructure to avoid locating in SNAs as a first priority.

35. Clause 1.3(3) of the NPSIB is of particular relevance to renewable electricity generation and electricity transmission networks and states:

Nothing in this National Policy Statement applies to the development, operation, maintenance or upgrade of renewable electricity generation assets and activities and electricity transmission network assets and activities. For the avoidance of doubt, renewable electricity generation assets and activities, and electricity transmission network assets and activities, are not "specified infrastructure" for the purposes of this National Policy Statement.

- 36. The Government is preparing replacements for the current NPSREG and NPSET and we understand that the draft releases of these documents each contained an effects management hierarchy for these activities. As these documents are draft, they have no weight in these proceedings, and we have not considered them further.
- 37. In response to clause 1.3(3) of the NPSIB, Mr Maclennan recommended a new ECO-P6A to address renewable electricity generation and electricity transmission networks. This in effect amended the effects management hierarchy for these activities. This approach was not supported by submitters for varying reasons, and in response, Mr Maclennan recommended in his NPSIB Reply Report to delete ECO-6A and references to it. He recommended to amend the definition of 'effects management hierarchy (in relation to indigenous biodiversity)' to reflect the direction in clause 1.3(3) and add an additional clause to ECO-P6 to reflect the different approach for renewable electricity generation and electricity transmission networks.
- 38. We agree with Mr Maclennan's recommended approach and consider it preferable to what was a complex ECO-P6A. We consider that the exclusion in brackets in the introductory sentence of ECO-P6 should be part of the main text.
- 39. We return to nationally and regionally significant infrastructure that is not for renewable electricity generation or electricity transmission networks in relation to the specific relevant provisions.

# 2.3.1 Recommendation

40. We recommend that the following definition is inserted into the Interpretation section of the PORPS:

Effects management	means an approach to managing the adverse effects of an activity on indigenous
hierarchy (in	biodiversity that requires that:
relation to indigenous biodiversity)	<ul> <li>(a) adverse effects are avoided where practicable; then</li> <li>(b) where adverse effects cannot be avoided, they are minimised where practicable; then</li> </ul>

- (c) where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are remedied where practicable; then
- (d) where more than minor residual adverse effects cannot be avoided, minimised, or remedied, *biodiversity offsetting* is provided where possible; then
- (e) where *biodiversity offsetting* of more than minor residual adverse effects is not possible, *biodiversity compensation* is provided; then
- (f) if Biodiversity compensation is not appropriate, the activity itself is avoided,<br/>unless the activity is regionally significant infrastructure and nationally significant<br/>infrastructure that is either renewable electricity generation or the National Grid<br/>then:
- (g) if compensation is not appropriate to address any residual adverse effects:
  - (i) the activity must be avoided if the residual adverse effects are significant; but
  - (ii) if the residual adverse effects are not significant, the activity must be enabled if the national significance and benefits of the activity outweigh the residual adverse effects.
- 41. We recommend that ECO-P6 be amended as follows:

### ECO-P6 – Maintaining indigenous biodiversity

<u>Outside the coastal environment and excluding areas managed protected under ECO-P3,</u> <u>Maintain manage</u> Otago's *indigenous biodiversity* <del>(excluding the coastal environment and areas managed under ECO-P3)</del> by:

- (1) applying the following biodiversity effects management hierarchy (in relation to indigenous biodiversity) to manage significant adverse effects on indigenous biodiversity, and
- (2) requiring the maintenance of indigenous biodiversity for all other adverse effects of any activity, and
- (3) notwithstanding (1) and (2) above, for regionally significant infrastructure and nationally significant infrastructure that is either renewable electricity generation or the National Grid avoid, remedy, or mitigate adverse effects to the extent practicable.

in decision-making on applications for resource consent, and notices of requirement:

- (1) avoid adverse *effects* as the first priority,
- (2) where adverse *effects* demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, they are remedied,
- (3) where adverse *effects* demonstrably cannot be completely avoided or remedied, they are mitigated,
- (4) where there are residual adverse *effects* after avoidance, remediation, and mitigation, then the residual adverse *effects* are offset in accordance with APP3, and
- (5) if *biodiversity* offsetting of residual adverse *effects* is not possible, then:

- (a) the residual adverse *effects* are compensated for in accordance with APP4, and
- (b) if the residual adverse *effects* cannot be compensated for in accordance with APP4, the activity is avoided.

## 2.4 Significant natural areas

42. As stated above, s.6(c) of the RMA provides for the *"protection of areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna"* as a matter of national importance. This is implemented through the following NPSIB policies:

**Policy 6:** Significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous fauna are identified as SNAs using a consistent approach.

**Policy 7:** SNAs are protected by avoiding or managing adverse effects from new subdivision, use and development.

**Policy 9:** Certain established activities are provided for within and outside SNAs.

- 43. Part 3 Subpart 2 of the NPSIB sets out how to identify and manage SNAs and Appendix 1 provides the criteria for identifying SNAs. Mr Maclennan's evidence on the implications of the NPSIB helpfully summarises the relevant provisions in Part 3 Subpart 2 and we do not repeat these here.
- 44. Clause 3.8 requires territorial authorities to assess land to identify areas that qualify as SNAs, and clause 3.9 dictates how these areas are to be included in district plans. These clauses are given effect to in the PORPS by ECO-P2 and ECO-M2 which were notified as follows:

### ECO-P2 - Identifying significant natural areas and taoka

Identify:

- (1) the areas and values of *significant natural areas* in accordance with APP2, and
- indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO– M3.

### ECO-M2 - Identification of significant natural areas

Local authorities must:

- (1) in accordance with the statement of responsibilities in ECO–M1, identify the areas and values of *significant natural areas* as required by ECO–P2, and
- (2) map the areas and include the values identified under (1) in the relevant *regional* and *districtplans*,
- (3) recognise that indigenous *biodiversity* spans jurisdictional boundaries by:
  - (a) working collaboratively to ensure the areas identified by different *local authorities* are not artificially fragmented when identifying *significant natural areas* that span jurisdictional boundaries, and
  - (b) ensuring that indigenous *biodiversity* is managed in accordance with this

RPS,

- (4) require ecological assessments to be provided with applications for resource consent and notices of requirement that identify whether affected areas are *significant natural areas* in accordance with APP2,
- (5) in the following areas, prioritise identification under (1) no later than 31 December 2025:
  - (a) intermontane basins that contain indigenous vegetation and habitats,
  - (b) areas of dryland shrubs,
  - (c) braided *rivers*, including the Makarora, Mātukituki and Lower Waitaki Rivers,
  - (d) areas of montane tall tussock grasslands, and
  - (e) limestone habitats.
- 45. There were 15 submissions on ECO-P2, ranging from Fish and Game who sought that the policy is retained as notified, to Fulton Hogan who sought its deletion. Concerns about APP2 emerged here as well, with concerns expressed that ECO-P2 combined with APP2 could see large areas of Otago classified as SNAs. The NPSIB requirements largely override these submissions and, in response, the NPSIB Reply Report of Mr Maclennan recommended a substantial rewording of clause (1) to refer to the SNA assessment criteria in APP2. We consider this to be appropriate, with minor amendments to correct italicising.
- 46. Additional clauses were recommended to be added to ECO-M2 and amendments made to existing clauses to obtain consistency with clauses 3.8 and 3.9 of the NPSIB. We have reviewed the supplementary submissions and evidence received from submitters, along with Mr Maclennan's recommendations and consider that the recommended amendments are appropriate, with minor amendments to correct italicising.
- 47. NPSIB clause 3.10 sets out the requirements for managing adverse effects of new subdivision, use or developments on SNAs. Adverse effects specified in clause 3.10(2) must be avoided unless provided for by the exceptions in clause 3.11 whereby the effects are to be managed by applying the effects management hierarchy.
- 48. In the PORPS ECO-P3 is to protect SNAs and taoka and ECO-P4 provides the exemptions for new activities. ECO-P3 and ECO-P4 were notified as follows:

### ECO–P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka

Except as provided for by ECO–P4 and ECO–P5, protect *significant natural areas* and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka by:

- (1) avoiding adverse *effects* that result in:
  - (a) any reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant)identified under ECO-P2(1), or
  - (b) any loss of Kāi Tahu values, and

- (2) after (1), applying the *biodiversity effects management hierarchy* in ECO–P6, and
- (3) prior to *significant natural areas* and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified in accordance with ECO–P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance with IM–P15.

# ECO-P4 - Provision for new activities

Maintain Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* by following the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy set out in ECO–P6 when making decisions on plans, applications for resource consent or notices of requirement for the following activities in *significant natural areas*, or where they may adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka:

- (1) the development or upgrade of *nationally* and *regionally significant infrastructure* that has a *functional* or *operational need* to locate within the relevant *significant natural area(s)* or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka,
- (2) the development of *papakāika*, marae and ancillary facilities associated with customary activities on Māori land,
- (3) the use of Māori land in a way that will make a significant contribution to enhancing the social, cultural or economic well-being of *takata whenua*,
- (4) activities that are for the purpose of protecting, restoring or enhancing a *significant natural area* or indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, or
- (5) activities that are for the purpose of addressing a severe and immediate *risk* to public health or safety.
- 49. Again, substantial amendments were recommended to these policies. The supplementary evidence from Mr Brass for the Director General of Conservation recommended that the adverse effects listed in clause 3.10(2) be included in clause (1) of ECO-P3. These contain more prescriptive ecological criteria, and we agree that these are necessary inclusions to ensure consistency with the NPSIB. Mr Maclennan recommended accepting Mr Brass's addition and we consider that the resulting amended ECO-P3 is appropriate with the following exception.
- 50. ECO-P3 as notified excluded those matters covered by ECO-P4 and ECO-P5. As we soon discuss, we consider it appropriate to delete ECO-P5 and we support a replacement ECO-P5A to implement the requirements of the NPSIB. We consider that ECO-P5A should be referred to as an exclusion in ECO-P3, replacing the reference to ECO-P5.
- 51. It is important to note the 'except as provided for by ECO-P4...' in the chapeau of ECO-P3 as this provides for the exemptions in ECO-P4 to apply.
- 52. Turning to ECO-P4, again substantial amendments were recommended to ensure that the exemptions are consistent with those in clause 3.11 of the NPSIB, and the approach to managing effects is consistent with clause 3.10(3) and (4). We note here that clause 3.11(1)(a)(i) includes the term 'specified infrastructure' which is defined as:

### **specified infrastructure** means any of the following:

- (a) infrastructure that delivers a service operated by a lifeline utility (as defined in the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002):
- (b) regionally or nationally significant infrastructure identified as such in a National Policy Statement, the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement, or a regional policy statement or plan:
- (c) infrastructure that is necessary to support housing development, that is included in a proposed or operative plan or identified for development in any relevant strategy document (including a future development strategy or spatial strategy) adopted by a local authority, in an urban environment (as defined in the National Policy Statement on Urban Development 2020):
- (d) any public flood control, flood protection, or drainage works carried out:(i) by or on behalf of a local authority, including works carried out for the
  - purposes set out in section 133 of the Soil Conservation and Rivers Control Act 1941; or
  - (ii) for the purpose of drainage, by drainage districts under the Land Drainage Act 1908:
- (e) defence facilities operated by the New Zealand Defence Force to meet its obligations under the Defence Act 1990.
- 52. This new definition of specified infrastructure is broader than the definitions of regionally significant infrastructure and nationally significant infrastructure in the PORPS. Mr Maclennan has appropriately recommended that this definition be included, and we consider that the breadth of submissions on this policy provide the scope for this amendment.
- 53. A new ECO-P5A is recommended to replace notified ECO-P5. Concerns were raised by submitters as to whether ECO-P5 would conflict with activities which had existing use rights under s.10 of the RMA. We shared the submitters' concerns and were pleased to see that Ms Hardiman recommended in her reply report to delete ECO-P5. This left a gap for managing the effects of existing activities on SNAs.
- 54. **Policy 9** of the NPSIB states that:

Certain established activities are provided for within and outside SNAs.

This policy is implemented within SNAs through clause 3.15 of the NPSIB which manages the effects of activities established within or affecting an SNAs. Clause 3.15(2) requires that local authorities include provisions in policy statements and plans:

...to enable specified established activities, or specified types of established activities, to continue where the effects of the activity on an SNA (including cumulative effects):

- (a) are no greater in intensity, scale, or character over time than at the commencement date; and
- (b) do not result in the loss of extent, or degradation of ecological integrity, of an SNA.
- 55. It is a mandatory requirement to include provisions in a policy statement in accordance with clause 3.15 and, with the deletion of ECO-P5, this requirement was not met. ECO-P5A was therefore recommended by Mr Maclennan as follows:

# ECO-P5A – Managing adverse effects of established activities on *significant natural areas*

Enable the maintenance, operation, and upgrade of established activities (excluding activities managed under ECO-P3 and ECO-P4), where the *effects* of the activity, including cumulative *effects*, on a *significant natural area*:

- (1) are no greater in intensity, scale, or character over time than at 4 August 2023, and
- (2) do not result in the loss of extent or degradation of *ecological integrity* of an *significant natural area*.
- 56. We consider that the wording of proposed ECO-P5A appropriately reflects the requirements of clause 3.15 of the NPSIB however, consistent with the approach taken to managing activities through ECO-P3, ECO-P4 and ECO-P6, we consider that it should not apply to the coastal environment. Accordingly, we do not accept the addition of the officer's proposed clause (3A). There were broad submissions requesting amendments to ECO-P5 which provide scope for the addition of ECO-P5A.
- 57. APP2 of the PORPS as notified contained 'significant criteria for indigenous biodiversity' which were referenced through ECO-P2 and ECO-M2. While not labelled as such, these criteria were essentially to be used to determine SNAs. They were the subject of a large number of submissions and expert evidence, with some submitters requesting that the criteria for identifying SNAs that was included in the draft NPSIB be included in the PORPS. These matters were largely but not completely resolved through expert caucusing and a joint witness statement. We thank the submitters' respective ecological experts for their engagement in this process.
- 58. Appendix 1 of the NPSIB contains criteria for identifying SNAs and clause 3.8(2) provides a set of six principles that must be used for SNA assessments. Mr Maclennan has recommended that the Appendix 1 NPSIB criteria replace APP2 and that the principles in clause 3.8(2) are included in APP2 prior to the criteria. He notes that a key distinction between Appendix 1 of the NPSIB and APP2 of the PORPS is that APP2 applies not only to ecological districts but also to freshwater and marine bioregions.
- 59. One key amendment to the criteria is recommended by Dr Lloyd and supported by Mr Maclennan. Dr Lloyd recommended that an additional criterion for Otago addressing fauna habitat be added as an attribute to the Ecological Context Criterion. Dr Lloyd stated at paragraph 28 of his evidence:<sup>1</sup>

Both the PORPS and NPS-IB criteria sets contain attributes for buffering and connectivity, but the NPS-IB criterion does not capture important indigenous fauna habitats. The PORPS criterion for indigenous fauna habitats is particularly important in an Otago context, providing a basis for the recognition and protection of indigenous

#### Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Prepared for ORC and dated 8 September 2023.

fauna habitats across many species groups.<sup>2</sup> The joint witness statement includes the following agreed fauna habitat criterion:

An area that is important for a population of indigenous fauna during a critical part of their life cycle, either seasonally or permanently, e.g. for feeding, resting, nesting, breeding, spawning, or refuges from predation.<sup>3</sup>

60. This recommended addition was not supported by Ms Justice for the EDBs or by Mr Christensen for Oceana Gold. Mr Christensen's view is informed by clause 3.1(2) of the NPSIB which, states:

Nothing in this Part:

(a) prevents a local authority adopting more stringent measures than required by this National Policy Statement..."

Mr Christensen maintains that this clause "does not allow a local authority to include more stringent matters in a RPS or plan, and cannot override a statutory requirement in the RMA to "give effect to the NPS".<sup>4</sup>

- 61. While we acknowledge the distinction between these clauses in the NPSFM and NPSIB, we struggle to agree with Mr Christensen that clause 3.1(2) of the NPSIB prevents us from including a more stringent and Otago-focussed addition. If this were the intent, we would have expected it to be explicitly stated. In our view the wording of clause 3.1(2) is permissive, i.e. if a local authority for a particular reason in a particular contextual setting saw it as its duty to protect the maintenance of indigenous biodiversity by use of a particular provision applicable to that setting, it is open to it to adopt such a provision even if it is not in the NPSIB.
- 62. We acknowledge the conclusions reached in the joint witness statement and agree that the additional criterion proposed by Dr Lloyd is appropriate in the Otago context.
- 2.4.1 Recommendations
- 63. We recommend the following amendments to ECO-P2:

# ECO-P2 – Identifying significant natural areas and taoka

Identify and map:

- (1) the areas of significant indigenous vegetation or significant habitat of indigenous fauna that qualify as significant natural areas using the assessment criteria in APP2 and in accordance with ECO-M2, and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2 and
- (2) <u>where appropriate</u>, *indigenous species* and ecosystems that are taoka, <u>including</u> <u>those identified by *mana whenua* as requiring protection</u>, in accordance with ECO-M3.
- 64. We recommend the following amendments to ECO-M2:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Paragraphs 13, 14 and 20 of Dr Lloyd's evidence, dated 8 September 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Joint Witness Statement of Ecologists dated 31 March 2023 at page 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Submissions on behalf of Oceana Gold prepared by Mr Stephen Christensen, paragraph 13

## ECO-M2 – Identification of significant natural areas

Local authorities must:

- in accordance with the statement of responsibilities in ECO-M1, identify the areas and <u>indigenous biodiversity</u> values of significant natural areas as required by ECO-P2, and
- (2) map<u>and verify</u> the areas and include the <u>indigenous biodiversity</u> values identified under (1) in the relevant <u>regional plans</u> and <u>district plans</u>, no later than 31 <u>December 2030</u>,
- (3) recognise that *indigenous biodiversity* spans jurisdictional boundaries by:
  - (a) working collaboratively to ensure the areas identified by different *local authorities* are not artificially fragmented when identifying *significant natural areas* that span jurisdictional boundaries, and
  - (b) ensuring that *indigenous biodiversity* is managed in accordance with this RPS,
- (4) <u>until significant natural areas are identified and mapped in accordance with (1) and (2)</u>, require ecological assessments to be provided with applications for *resource consent*, <u>plan changes</u> and notices of requirement that identify whether affected areas are *significant natural areas* in accordance with APP2, <u>and</u>
- (5) in the following areas, prioritise identification under (1) no later than 31 December 2025:
  - (a) intermontane basins that contain *indigenous vegetation* and habitats,
  - (b) areas of dryland shrubs,
  - (c) braided *rivers*, including the <del>Makarora</del> <u>Makarore</u>, <del>Mātukituki</del> <u>Mātakitaki</u> and Lower Waitaki Rivers,
  - (d) areas of montane tall tussock grasslands, and
  - (e) limestone habitats.
- (6) when identifying *significant natural areas*, ensuring that:
  - (a) if the values or extent of a proposed *significant natural area* are disputed by the landowner, the local authority:
    - (i) conducts a physical inspection of the area,
    - (ii) or, if a physical inspection is not practicable, uses the best information available to it at the time, and
  - (b) if requested by a *territorial authority*, the *regional council* will assist the *territorial authority* in undertaking its district-wide assessment, and
  - (c) where a territorial authority has identified a significant natural area prior to 4 August 2023, and prior to 4 August 2027, a suitably qualified ecologist is engaged by the territorial authority to confirm that the methodology originally used to identify the area as a significant natural area, and its application, is consistent with the assessment approach in APP2, and

- (d) if a *territorial authority* becomes aware (as a result of a resource consent application, notice of requirement or any other means) that an area may be an area of significant *indigenous vegetation* or significant *habitat* of indigenous fauna that qualifies as a *significant natural area*, the *territorial* <u>authority:</u>
  - (i) conducts an assessment of the area in accordance with APP2 as soon as practicable, and
  - (ii) if a new significant natural area is identified as a result, includes it in the next appropriate plan or plan change notified by the *territorial* authority, and
- (e) when a *territorial authority* does its 10-yearly plan review, it assesses its district in accordance with ECO-P2 and APP2 to determine whether changes are needed, and
- (7) allow an area of Crown-owned land to qualify as a *significant natural area* without the need for the assessment required by ECO-P2, using APP2, if:
  - (a) the land is managed by the Department of Conservation under the Conservation Act 1987 or any other Act specified in Schedule 1 of that Act, and
  - (b)the territorial authority is reasonably satisfied, after consultation with theDepartment of Conservation, that all or most of the area would qualify as asignificant natural area under APP2, and
  - (c) the area is:
    - (i) a large and more-or-less contiguous area managed under a single protection classification (such as a national park), or
    - (ii) a large, compact, and more-or-less contiguous area under more than one classification (such as adjoining reserves and a conservation park), or
    - (iii) a well-defined landscape or geographical feature (such as an island or mountain range), or
    - (iv) a scientific, scenic or nature reserve under the Reserves Act 1977, a sanctuary area, ecological area, or wildlife management area under the Conservation Act 1987, or an isolated part of a national park.
- 65. We recommend the following amendments to ECO-P3:

### ECO-P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka

<u>Outside the coastal environment, and</u> <u>Eexcept as provided for by ECO-P4 and ECO-P5 ECO-P5A</u>, protect *significant natural areas* and *indigenous species* and ecosystems that are taoka by:

(1) <u>first</u> avoiding adverse *effects* that result in:

- (a) any reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant identified under ECO-P2(1), or
- (aa) loss of ecosystem representation and extent,
- (ab) disruption to sequences, mosaics, or ecosystem function,
- (ac) fragmentation of *significant natural areas* or the loss of buffers or connections within an SNA,
- (ad) a reduction in the function of the *significant natural area* as a buffer or connection to other important habitats or ecosystems, <del>or</del>
- (ae) a reduction in the population size or occupancy of *Threatened or At Risk* (declining) species that use an significant natural area for any part of their life cycle, or
- (b) any loss of Kāi Tahu taoka values identified by mana whenua as requiring protection under ECO-P2(2), and
- (2) after (1), applying the biodiversity effects management hierarchy (in relation to indigenous biodiversity) in ECO-P6 to areas and values other than those covered by ECO-P3(1), and
- (3) prior to significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified and mapped in accordance with ECO-P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance with IM-P15IM-P6(2).
- 66. We recommend the following amendments to ECO-P4:

### ECO-P4 – Provision for new activities

<u>Outside of the coastal environment, Mmaintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity</u> by following the sequential steps in the *effects management hierarchy* <u>(in relation to indigenous biodiversity)</u> <u>set out in ECO-P6</u> when making decisions on plans, applications for *resource consent* or notices of requirement for the following activities in *significant natural areas*, or where they may adversely affect *indigenous species* and ecosystems that are taoka that have been identified by *mana whenua* as requiring protection:

- (1) the development, operation, maintenance or upgrade of <u>specified</u> <u>infrastructure</u> nationally significant infrastructure and regionally significant infrastructure that provides significant national or regional public benefit that has a functional <u>need</u> or operational need to locate within the relevant significant natural area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, and there are no practicable alternative locations,
- (1A) the development, operation and maintenance of *mineral* extraction activities that provide a significant national public benefit that could not otherwise be achieved within New Zealand and that have a *functional need* or *operational need* to locate within the relevant *significant natural area(s)* or where they may adversely affect *indigenous species* or ecosystems that are taoka, and there are no practicable alternative locations,

- (1B) the development, operation and maintenance of aggregate extraction activities that provide a significant national or regional benefit that could not otherwise be achieved within New Zealand and that have a *functional need* or *operational need* to locate within the relevant *significant natural area(s)* or where they may adversely affect *indigenous species* or ecosystems that are taoka,
- (1C) the operation or expansion of any coal mine that was lawfully established before August 2023 that has a *functional need* or *operational need* to locate within the relevant *significant natural area(s)* or where they may adversely affect *indigenous species* or ecosystems that are taoka, and there are no practicable alternative locations; except that, after 31 December 2030, this exception applies only to such coal mines that extract coking coal,
- (2) the development of *papakāika*, marae and ancillary facilities associated with customary activities on <u>Native reserves and</u> *Māori land*,
- (2A) the sustainable use of mahika kai and kaimoana (seafood) by mana whenua,
- (3) the use of <u>Native reserves and</u> Māori land in a way that will make a significant contribution to <u>enable mana whenua</u> to maintain their connection to their whenua and enhanceing the social, cultural or economic well-being, of takata whenua,
- (4) activities that are for the purpose of protecting, <u>maintaining</u>, restoring or enhancing a *significant natural area* or *indigenous species* or ecosystems that are taoka, <del>or</del>
- (5) activities that are for the purpose of addressing a severe and <u>or</u> immediate risk to public health or safety-<u>,</u>
- (6) activities that are for the purpose of a developing a single residential dwelling on an allotment that was created before 4 August 2023, and can demonstrate there is no practicable location within the allotment where a single residential dwelling and essential associated on-site infrastructure can be constructed, or
- (7) activities that are for the purpose of harvesting indigenous tree species from an significant natural area carried out in accordance with a forest management plan or permit under Part 3A of the Forests Act 1949.
- 67. We recommend that notified ECO-P5 be deleted and that an additional policy, ECO-P5A, be inserted as follows:

# ECO-P5A – Managing adverse effects of established activities on *significant natural areas*

Outside of the coastal environment, Eenable the maintenance, operation, and upgrade of established activities (excluding activities managed under ECO-P3 and ECO-P4), where the *effects* of the activity, including cumulative *effects*, on a *significant natural area*:

(1) are no greater in intensity, scale, or character over time than at 4 August 2023, and

246

68. We recommend that APP2 be amended as per the Reply Report version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023.

significant natural area.

# 3. Definitions

- 69. There are a range of submissions relating to the terms defined in the ECO chapter. There are also a number of terms that are defined in the NPSIB that are used in the PORPS. Officers have recommended that definitions be amended to reflect the NPSIB, or that NPSIB definitions be included for terms used in the PORPS that were not defined. We consider that this is an appropriate approach and note that, in some cases, submitters requested definitions be introduced that are now defined by the NPSIB. It is important to note that were NPSIB-defined terms not to be included in the PORPS, the definitions would apply anyway.
- 70. We recommend below that NPSIB definitions are adopted in the PORPS. In some cases, this means an amendment to refer to the NPSIB rather than any material change to the definition.

# 3.1 Recommendation

- 71. We recommend that the NPSIB definitions of the following terms are included in the Interpretation section of the PORPS, in addition to those discussed and recommended previously. Where terms are already included in the PORPS, they are to be replaced with the NPSIB definition of these terms:
  - Biodiversity compensation
  - Biodiversity offset
  - Depositional landform
  - Ecological district
  - Ecosystem function
  - Exotic pasture species
  - Habitat
  - Improved pasture
  - Indigenous biodiversity
  - Maintenance of improved pasture
  - Restoration (in relation to indigenous biodiversity)
  - SNA or significant natural area, but with the reference to "Appendix 1" changed to "APP2"
  - Specified infrastructure
  - Threatened or At Risk, and Threatened or At Risk (declining)

# 4. ECO-O2 – Restoring or enhancing and ECO-P8 – Enhancement

72. ECO-O2 seeks an increase in Otago's indigenous biodiversity through restoration and enhancement, while ECO-P8 sets out the actions to achieve this. These provisions were notified as follows:

### ECO-O2 - Restoring or enhancing

A net increase in the extent and occupancy of Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* results from restoration or enhancement.

### ECO–P8 – Enhancement

The extent, occupancy and condition of Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* is increased by:

- (1) restoring and enhancing habitat for indigenous species, including taoka and mahika kai species,
- (2) improving the health and *resilience* of indigenous *biodiversity*, including ecosystems, species, important ecosystem function, and *intrinsic values*, and
- (3) buffering or linking ecosystems, habitats and ecological corridors.
- 73. These two provisions implement Policy 13 and Policy 14 of the NPSIB which are included below:

**Policy 13:** Restoration of indigenous biodiversity is promoted and provided for.

**Policy 14:** Increased indigenous vegetation cover is promoted in both urban and nonurban environments.

74. We also note here Policy 8:

**Policy 8:** The importance of maintaining indigenous biodiversity outside SNAs is recognised and provided for.

75. Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku and Fulton Hogan were unsure what the term 'occupancy' meant in ECO-O2 and requested either that it be deleted or defined.<sup>5</sup> In response, Ms Hardiman recommended the following definition of occupancy be included in the Interpretation section:

Means, in relation to measuring indigenous biodiversity, the number of units per area occupied by a species or taxa.

76. Other submitters, including QLDC and Forest and Bird, sought additional clarity with Forest and Bird requesting consistency with the language used in ECO-O1. We note that the final recommended version of ECO-O1 refers to the 'condition, quality and diversity' of indigenous biodiversity, whereas ECO-P2 uses 'extent and occupancy'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Refer p25 of s.42A

- 77. We also observe that the final recommendation for ECO-O1 uses the term 'overall decline' while ECO-O2 uses 'net increase'. 'Net' was recommended by Ms Hardiman in her reply report prior to the release of the NPSIB, and this was recommended to be replaced by 'overall' to ensure consistency with the objective of the NPSIB.
- 78. We consider that consistency of language between provisions is important unless there is a good reason not to. This is primarily to avoid future debates about what different phrases mean and whether the difference in phraseology is significant. It also makes regulatory documents much easier to digest.
- 79. While we acknowledge Forest and Bird's desire for consistency, we accept Ms Hardiman's position in her Reply Report that 'extent' and 'occupancy' are ecological terms that relate to restoration outcomes. We accept that in this instance it is appropriate to use different terms and, as we discuss below, we also consider it appropriate to use these terms in ECO-P8.
- 80. We consider that 'overall increase' is a suitable phrase to use in ECO-O2 to ensure consistency with the NPSIB and ECO-O1. In our view it has the same meaning as net in this context and we recommend that this is a consequential amendment from ECO-P1.
- 81. Restoration is defined in the NPSIB and we have earlier recommended that this definition be included in the PORPS. This is not reflected in the recommended ECO-O2 through italicising 'restoration' and we recommend this as a consequential amendment. Similarly, we consider that 'indigenous' should be italicised to reflect the new definition of 'indigenous biodiversity'.
- 82. Clause 3.21 of the NPSIB promotes the restoration of indigenous biodiversity and is relevant to ECO-P8. Sub-clause (1) of clause 3.21 of the NPSIB requires the PORPS to include provisions *"to promote the restoration of indigenous biodiversity, including through reconstruction of areas"* and sub-clause (2) states that:

The objectives, policies and methods must prioritise all the following for restoration:

- (a) SNAs whose ecological integrity is degraded:
- (b) threatened and rare ecosystems representative of naturally occurring and formerly present ecosystems:
- (c) areas that provide important connectivity or buffering functions:
- (d) natural inland wetlands whose ecological integrity is degraded or that no longer retain their indigenous vegetation or habitat for indigenous fauna:
- (e) areas of indigenous biodiversity on specified Māori land where restoration is advanced by the Māori landowners:
- *(f)* any other priorities specified in regional biodiversity strategies or any national priorities for indigenous biodiversity restoration.
- 83. Sub-clause (2)(d) is implemented through LF-FW-P10, whereas the remaining sub-clauses are implemented through the ECO chapter. As notified, ECO-P8 falls short of achieving the above directive through setting out actions but not prioritising areas for restoration. Mr Maclennan recommends that the above prioritised areas in clause 3.21(2) of the NPSIB be included in ECO-P8. We agree that this is necessary with the exception of clause (2)(d) which is addressed in the LF chapter through LF-FW-P10.

- 84. Turning to submissions on ECO-P8, we agree with the submission of Kāi Tahu ki Otago and Forest and Bird to include the term 'restoration' in the heading. Forest and Bird consider the term 'enhancement' to be too subjective and preferred 'improving'. We agree with Ms Hardiman that 'enhancement' is a well understood term that is used throughout the PORPS in a similar context.
- 85. QLDC requested that 'intrinsic values' be added to the chapeau of ECO-P8 to more clearly link to clause (2). Ms Hardiman recommended accepting this amendment but we consider that this is unnecessary duplication with clause (2).

## 4.1 Recommendation

86. We recommend that ECO-O2 be amended as follows:

### ECO-O2 – Restoring or and enhancing

<u>Restoration and enhancement activities result in an A net overall</u> increase in the extent and <u>occupancy</u> of Otago's <u>indigenous</u> biodiversity results from restoration or enhancement.

87. We recommend the following amendments to ECO-P8:

### ECO–P8 – <u>Restoration and e</u>Enhancement

The extent, *occupancy* and condition of Otago's *indigenous biodiversity* is increased by:

- (1) restoring and enhancing *habitat* for *indigenous species*, including taoka and *mahika kai* species,
- (2) improving the health and *resilience* of *indigenous biodiversity*, including ecosystems, species, <del>important</del> ecosystem function, and *intrinsic values*, <del>and</del>
- (3) buffering or linking ecosystems, habitats and ecological corridors-, ki uta ki tai and
- (4) prioritising all the following for *restoration*:
  - (a) significant natural areas whose ecological integrity is degraded,
  - (b) threatened and rare ecosystems representative of naturally occurring and formerly present ecosystems,
  - (c) areas that provide important connectivity or buffering functions,
  - (d) areas of *indigenous biodiversity* on native reserves and *Māori land* where *restoration* is advanced by the Māori landowners,
  - (e) any other priorities specified in regional biodiversity strategies or any national priorities for *indigenous biodiversity restoration*.

# 5. ECO-O3 – Kaitiakitaka stewardship and ECO-P1 - Kaitiakitanga

88. ECO-O3 and ECO-P1 were notified as follows:

## ECO-O3 - Kaitiakiaka and stewardship

*Mana whenua* are recognised as kaitiaki of Otago's indigenous *biodiversity*, and Otago's communities are recognised as stewards, who are responsible for:

- (1) te hauora o te koiora (the health of indigenous *biodiversity*), te hauora o te taoka (the health of species and ecosystems that are taoka), and te hauora o te taiao (the health of the wider *environment*), while
- (2) providing for te hauora o te takata (the health of the people).

### ECO–P1 – Kaitiakitaka

Recognise the role of Kāi Tahu as kaitiaki of Otago's indigenous *biodiversity* by:

- (1) involving Kāi Tahu in the management of indigenous *biodiversity* and the identification of indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka,
- (2) incorporating the use of mātauraka Māori in the management and monitoring of indigenous *biodiversity*, and
- (3) providing for access to and use of indigenous *biodiversity* by Kāi Tahu, including mahika kai, according to tikaka.

89. We note that NPSIB Policy 2 contains similar direction to ECO-O3 and ECO-P1, stating:

Tangata whenua exercise kaitiakitanga for indigenous biodiversity in their rohe, including through:

- (a) managing indigenous biodiversity on their land; and
- (b) identifying and protecting indigenous species, populations and ecosystems that are taonga; and
- (c) actively participating in other decision-making about indigenous biodiversity.
- 90. We have considered the submissions and amendments recommended by Ms Hardiman and Mr Maclennan. We have put particular weight on the NPSIB and the submissions of Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu and Kāi Tahi ki Otago. We found the supplementary evidence of Mr Bathgate for iwi submitters on the NPSIB particularly helpful, as was the discussion in the NPSIB Reply Report of Mr Maclennan. We do not repeat the key points of those discussions here and support the final recommendations for these provision, with minor amendments to italicise 'indigenous' and 'biodiversity' in ECO-P1(3).

# 5.1 Recommendation

91. We recommend that ECO-O3 be amended as follows:

### ECO-O3 – Kaitiakiaka Kaitiakitaka and stewardship

*Mana whenua* <u>exercise their role</u> are recognised as kaitiaki of Otago's <u>indigenous</u> *biodiversity*, and Otago's communities are recognised as stewards, who are responsible for:

- te hauora o te koiora (the health of <u>indigenous</u> biodiversity), te hauora o te taoka (the health of species and ecosystems that are taoka), and te hauora o te taiao (the health of the wider *environment*), while
- (2) providing for te hauora o te takata (the health of the people).

### ECO-P1 – Kaitiakitaka

Recognise the role of Enable Kāi Tahu to exercise their role as kaitiaki of Otago's *indigenous biodiversity* by:

- (1) involving partnering with Kāi Tahu in the management of *indigenous* biodiversity to the extent desired by mana whenua,
- (1A) working with Kāi Tahu to identify and the identification of indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka,
- (2) incorporating the use of mātauraka Māori in the management and monitoring of *indigenous biodiversity*, and
- (3) providing for <u>facilitating</u> access to and use of <u>indigenous biodiversity</u> by Kāi Tahu, including mahika kai, according to tikaka.

# 6. Coastal indigenous biodiversity

92. The PORPS as notified contained ECO-P7 as follows:

ECO-P7 - Coastal indigenous *biodiversity* 

Coastal indigenous *biodiversity* is managed by CE–P5, and implementation of CE–P5 also contributes to achieving ECO–O1.

93. The final recommendation from the officers was to move CE-P5 to the ECO chapter and delete ECO-P7. We considered this in the CE chapter where we rejected that change, recommending that CE-P5 remain in the CE chapter. Part of our consideration in this regard was clause 9 of the National Planning Standards, which states:

8. Excluding the provisions in Part 2, provisions that apply to the coastal marine area must be located in the Coastal marine area section.

94. The NPSIB applies to indigenous biodiversity in the terrestrial environment. 'Terrestrial environment' is described as follows:

**terrestrial environment** means land and associated natural and physical resources above mean high-water springs, excluding land covered by water, water bodies and freshwater ecosystems (as those terms are used in the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020) and the coastal marine area.

95. We interpret this as meaning that the NPSIB applies to land in the coastal environment that is above mean high water springs and is not covered by water, water bodies and freshwater ecosystems. Therefore, there may potentially be some overlap with the provisions of the NZCPS where Policy 11 starts with:

To protect indigenous biological diversity in the coastal environment

and 'coastal environment' is given a rather broad and indistinct description of its extent and characteristics in Policy 1 of the NZCPS.

96. Any potential for conflict between the provisions of the NPSIB and the NZCPS is helpfully resolved by clause 1.4(2) of the NPSIB which states:

*If there is a conflict between the provisions of this National Policy Statement and the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement 2010 (or any later New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement issued under the Act), the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement prevails.* 

- 97. CE-P5 is intended to implement Policy 11 of the NZCPS in an Otago context. If there is any conflict between the provisions of the ECO and CE chapters, it is likely that this will be resolved through consideration of the higher order NZCPS and NPSIB, where the NZCPS will prevail.
- 98. Of note, some provisions in the ECO chapter do not apply to the coastal environment, including ECO-P3, ECO-P4 and ECO-P6. The identification of SNAs under ECO-P2 does apply to the coastal environment and we consider that this is consistent with the NPSIB and CE-P5.
- 99. This takes us back to considering ECO-P7 and whether such a policy that cross-references to CE-P5 is necessary. We consider that it is, especially due to the close association and, on occasion, potentially overlapping provisions of the ECO and CE chapters. We consider that the s.42A recommended wording of ECO-P7 should be reinstated with amendments to reflect ECO-P5A replacing ECO-P5. Some submitters, including Port Otago, considered the CE-ECO split unclear. We agree and hope that the recommended version aids users by specifying which provisions apply and which are excluded from consideration in the coastal environment.
- 6.1 Recommendation
- 100. We recommend that ECO-P7 be amended as follows:

#### ECO-P7 - Coastal indigenous biodiversity

Coastal <u>iIndigenous</u> biodiversity in the coastal environment is managed by CE-P5<sub>7</sub> in addition to all objectives and policies of the ECO chapter except ECO-P3, ECO-P4, ECO-P5A and ECO-P6 and implementation of CE-P5 also contributes toachieving ECO-O1.

# 7. Wilding conifers

- 101. We heard from submitters, including the Director General of Conservation and DCC, who requested broader policy direction on pest species recognising that their impacts are not only on indigenous biodiversity but also on other matters including primary production and landscape values. This also linked with submissions we received from OWRUG and other primary sector groups who sought increased recognition and direction for impacts on primary production.
- 102. This was addressed in the reply report with Ms Hardiman and Ms Boyd recommending that ECO-P9 be replaced with a new policy in the LF-LS chapter which also incorporates NFL-P5. We accepted this recommendation and discuss the new policy and associated changes in the LF-LS section of this report. As a consequence ECO-M5(6), paragraph 3 of ECO-E1, and ECO-AER4 become redundant.

#### 7.1 Recommendation

103. We recommend that the following are deleted: ECO-P9, ECO-M5(6), paragraph 3 of ECO-E1, and ECO-AER4.

### 8. ECO-P10 – Integrated management and ECO-M6 – Engagement

- 104. Subpart 1 of Part 2 of the NPSIB details the approach to implementing the objective and policies. Of relevance here is clause 3.4 which requires local authorities *"to manage indigenous biodiversity and the effects on it from subdivision, use and development in an integrated way, which means:* 
  - (a) recognising the interconnectedness of the whole environment and the interactions between the terrestrial environment, freshwater, and the coastal marine area; and
  - (b) providing for the coordinated management and control of subdivision, use and development, as it affects indigenous biodiversity across administrative boundaries; and
  - (c) working towards aligning strategies and other planning tools required or provided for in legislation that are relevant to indigenous biodiversity.
- 105. This is implemented in part in the PORPS through ECO-P10 and ECO-M6 which were notified as follows:

#### ECO–P10 – Integrated management

Implement an integrated and co-ordinated approach to managing Otago's ecosystems and indigenous *biodiversity* that:

- (1) ensures any permitted or controlled activity in a *regional* or *district plan* rule does not compromise the achievement of ECO–O1,
- (2) recognises the interactions ki uta ki tai (from the mountains to the sea)

between the terrestrial *environment, fresh water*, and the *coastal marine area*, including the migration of fish species between *fresh* and *coastal waters*,

- (3) promotes collaboration between individuals and agencies with *biodiversity* responsibilities,
- (4) supports the various statutory and non-statutory approaches adopted to manage indigenous *biodiversity*,
- (5) recognises the critical role of people and communities in actively managing the remaining indigenous *biodiversity* occurring on private *land,* and
- (6) adopts regulatory and non-regulatory regional pest management programmes.

#### ECO-M6 - Engagement

Local authorities, when implementing the policies in this chapter, will:

- work collaboratively with other *local authorities* to adopt an integrated approach to managing
   Otago's *biodiversity* across administrative boundaries,
- (2) engage with individuals (including landowners and *land* occupiers), community groups, government agencies and other organisations with a role or an interest in *biodiversity* management, and
- (3) consult directly with landowners and *land* occupiers whose properties potentially contain or are part of *significant natural areas*.
- 106. ECO-P10 goes a long way to implement clause 3.4 of the NPSIB but focuses on managing ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity rather than *"indigenous biodiversity and the effects on it from subdivision use and development"*. We agree with Mr Maclennan that the chapeau of ECO-P10 should be amended to reflect the broader scope of clause 3.4.
- 107. Similarly, Mr Maclennan recommends amending clauses (3) and (4) of ECO-P10 to reflect the wording in subclauses (b) and (c) of clause 3.4 of the NPSIB. We consider this to be appropriate.
- 108. Turning to submissions, there were 11 submissions on ECO-P10 with two submitters seeking it be retained as notified. Some of the submission points have been superseded by the requirements of the NPSIB. Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought that clause (2) better reflects the connection between the terrestrial and coastal environments. Ms Hardiman has recommended amendments in response to that submission and, while we consider that these strengthen the intent of the policy, we also note that these matters are addressed in a more general sense in the IM chapter.
- 109. Kāi Tahu ki Otago also sought an additional clause to acknowledge the effects of climate change on indigenous biodiversity and we agree with Ms Hardiman that this is an important consideration in this policy. We recommend a minor wording change below to refer to activities which 'may' exacerbate the effects of climate change and also note that this assists to implement Policy 4 and clause 3.6 of the NPSIB.

- 110. We note that the final recommended reply report version of the PORPS has an amendment to the title of ECO-P10 from 'integrated management' to 'Co-ordinated approach'. This was requested by Kāi Tahu ki Otago. Given the focus of the policy is on integration rather than co-ordination, we are reluctant to accept this change. Our preference is for a hybrid title of 'Integrated approach' which reflects the title of clause 3.4 of the NPSIB.
- 111. Turning to ECO-M6, we agree with Mr Maclennan's assessment that this method is consistent with clause 3.4(1)(b) of the NPSIB and that no amendments are required to ensure consistency with the NPSIB.
- 112. There were seven submissions on ECO-M6 with five of these seeking that it be retained as notified. Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought that the provision be clarified with respect to how Kāi Tahu will be involved in the management of indigenous biodiversity. Ms Hardiman considered that this was addressed in the MW chapter, specifically MW-M3 and MW-M4. We consider that this matter should also be addressed in the ECO chapter methods and note the recommended addition of ECO-M4D Native reserves and Māori land and ECO-M7A Kāi Tahu kaitiakitaka in response to the NPSIB. We consider that these address Kāi Tahu's concerns.

#### 8.1 Recommendation

113. We recommend that ECO-P10 be amended as follows:

#### ECO-P10 – Integrated-management approach

Manage *indigenous biodiversity* and the *effects* on it from subdivision, use and development in an integrated way, which means: Implement an integrated and coordinated approach to managing Otago's ecosystems and indigenous *biodiversity* that:

- (1) ensuresing any permitted or controlled activity in a *regional <u>plan</u>* or *district plan* rule does not compromise the achievement of ECO-O1,
- (2) recognisesing the interactions ki uta ki tai (from the mountains to the sea) between the terrestrial *environment, fresh water*, and the *coastal marine area*, including:
  - (a) the migration of fish species between *fresh* and *coastal waters*, and
  - (b) the effects of land-use activities on coastal biodiversity and ecosystems,
- (2A) acknowledging that *climate change* will affect *indigenous biodiversity* and managing activities which may exacerbate the *effects* of *climate change*,
- (3) providing for the coordinated management and control of subdivision, use and development, as it affects indigenous biodiversity across administrative boundaries, promotes collaboration between individuals and agencies with biodiversity responsibilities,
- (4) working towards aligning strategies and other planning tools required or provided for in legislation that are relevant to *indigenous biodiversity*, supports the various statutory and non-statutory approaches adopted to manage indigenous *biodiversity*,

- (5) recognisesing the critical role of people and communities in actively managing the remaining *indigenous biodiversity* occurring on private *land*, and
- (6) adoptsing regulatory and non-regulatory regional *pest* management programmes.
- 114. We recommend that ECO-M6 be retained as notified.

# 9. New policies ECO-P11 and ECO-P12

- 115. In his NPSIB evidence Mr Maclennan recommended two new policies to address matters in the NPSIB that are not addressed in the PORPS.
- 116. The first of these is resilience to climate change. Policy 4 of the NPSIB states:

**Policy 4:** Indigenous biodiversity is managed to promote resilience to the effects of climate change.

- 117. Clause 3.6 of the NPSIB addresses resilience to climate change and implements Policy 4. It reads as follows:
  - (1) Local authorities must promote the resilience of indigenous biodiversity to climate change, including at least by:
    - (a) allowing and supporting the natural adjustment of habitats and ecosystems to the changing climate; and
    - (b) considering the effects of climate change when making decisions on:
      - (i) restoration proposals; and
      - (ii) managing and reducing new and existing biosecurity risks; and
    - (c) maintaining and promoting the enhancement of the connectivity between ecosystems, and between existing and potential habitats, to enable migrations so that species can continue to find viable niches as the climate changes.
  - (2) Local authorities must recognise the role of indigenous biodiversity in mitigating the effects of climate change.
- 118. Mr Maclennan has recommended wording for ECO-P11 that closely mirrors that above and we consider his recommendation is appropriate and that there is scope in submissions to include this additional policy.
- 119. The second matter is the management of the effects of plantation forestry activities on SNAs. This is addressed in the NPSIB through Policy 12 and clause 3.14. Policy 12 reads as follows:

**Policy 12:** Indigenous biodiversity is managed within plantation forestry while providing for plantation forestry activities.

- 120. Clause 3.14 reads as follows:
  - (1) Except as provided in subclause (2), the adverse effects of plantation forestry activities in any existing plantation forest on any SNA must be managed in a manner that:

- (b) providing for plantation forestry activities to continue.
- (2) Despite clause 3.10, any part of an SNA that is within an area of an existing plantation forest that is planted, or is intended to be, replanted in trees for harvest must be managed over the course of consecutive rotations of production in the manner necessary to maintain the long-term populations of any Threatened or At Risk (declining) species present in the area.
- (3) Every local authority must make or change its policy statements and plans to be consistent with the requirements of this clause.
- 121. Similar to his recommendation for ECO-P11, Mr Maclennan has recommended wording for ECO-P12 that closely mirrors the wording of clause 3.14. We consider that this is appropriate and that there is scope in submissions to include this additional policy.

#### 9.1 Recommendation

122. We recommend the addition of two new policies, numbered ECO-P11 and ECO-P12 as follows:

#### ECO-P11 – Resilience to *climate change*

Promote the resilience of *indigenous biodiversity* to *climate change*, including at least by:

- (1) allowing and supporting the natural adjustment of *habitats* and ecosystems to the changing climate, and
- (2) considering the *effects* of *climate change* when making decisions on:
  - (a) restoration proposals, and
  - (b) managing and reducing new and existing biosecurity risks, and
- (3) maintaining and promoting the enhancement of the connectivity between ecosystems, and between existing and potential *habitats*, to enable migrations so that species can continue to find viable niches as the climate changes, and
- (4) recognising the role of *indigenous biodiversity* in mitigating the *effects* of *climate change*.

#### **ECO-P12 – Plantation forestry activities**

#### Manage:

- (1) the adverse *effects* of *plantation forestry* activities in any existing *plantation forest* on any *significant natural area* in a manner that:
  - (a) maintains *indigenous biodiversity* in the *significant natural area* as far as practicable, while
  - (b) provides for plantation forestry activities to continue, and

(2) over the course of consecutive rotations of production, any part of a significant natural area that is within an area of an existing plantation forest that is planted, or is intended to be, replanted in trees for harvest in the manner necessary to maintain the long-term populations of any *Threatened or At Risk (declining)* species present in the area.

# 10. Other provisions

- 123. We have reviewed the submissions and recommendations of the officers for the following remaining methods that have not been addressed above:
  - ECO-M1 Statement of responsibilities
  - ECO-M3 Identification of taoka
  - ECO-M4 Regional plans
  - New recommended ECO-M4A Increasing indigenous vegetation cover in response to Policy 14 and clause 3.22 of the NPSIB
  - New recommended ECO-M4B Specified highly mobile fauna in response to Policy 15 and clause 3.20 of the NPSIB
  - New recommended ECO-M4C Maintenance of improved pasture for farming in response to clause 3.17 of the NPSIB
  - New recommended ECO-M4D Native reserves and Māori land in response to clause 3.18 of the NPSIB
  - ECO-M5 District plans
  - New recommended ECO-M7A Kāi Tahu kaitiakitaka in response to clause 3.3 of the NPSIB
  - New recommended ECO-M7B Information requirements in response to Policy 17 and clause 3.24 of the NPSIB
  - ECO-M7 Monitoring
  - ECO-M8 Other incentives and mechanisms
  - New recommended ECO-M9 Regional Biodiversity Strategy in response to clause 3.23 and Appendix 5 of the NPSIB
- 124. There are several new methods proposed to implement the requirements of the NPSIB and, similar to those discussed earlier, the proposed wording generally mirrors that of the respective NPSIB provisions. We consider that the amendments in response to the NPSIB are appropriate and support the additional recommendations and reasoning in the reply report for those amendments that are not in response to the NPSIB.
- 125. Turning to ECO-E1 Explanation, there are consequential amendments which follow from our recommendations above. We have not accepted moving CE-P5 to the ECO chapter and therefore do not accept Ms Hardiman's recommendation to amend ECO-P1 to reflect this. We

are referring to her recommendation to add a sentence referring to protecting coastal indigenous biodiversity at the end of the first paragraph, and her recommendation to delete the first sentence of the second paragraph. We consider that the first and second paragraphs should remain as notified.

- 126. The third paragraph of ECO-E1 refers to wilding conifers, which we addressed earlier in our discussion and recommendation to delete ECO-P9.
- 127. ECO-PR1 Principal reasons is recommended to remain largely as notified, with a minor correction to italicise 'Mahika kai' and an additional reference to 'coastal indigenous biodiversity' at the end of the second bullet point. As for ECO-E1 and given that we have not accepted the recommendation to move CE-P5 to the ECO chapter, we do not support this addition. We also recommend a minor amendment to italicise 'indigenous' when referring to 'indigenous biodiversity'.
- 128. Ms Hardiman has recommended minor amendments to ECO-AER1 and ECO-AER2 to replace 'quality' with 'condition'. This is consistent with our recommended wording for ECO-O1 as well as other provisions in the ECO chapter. We therefore accept this recommendation. Ms Hardiman has also recommended deleting ECO-AER4 which addressed wilding pines and which we have addressed earlier in relation to the deletion of ECO-P9.

#### 10.1 Recommendation

- 129. Adopt the Reply version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023 for the following provisions:
  - ECO-M1 Statement of responsibilities
  - ECO-M3 Identification of taoka
  - ECO-M4 Regional plans
  - ECO-M4A Increasing indigenous vegetation cover
  - ECO-M4B Specified highly mobile fauna
  - ECO-M4C Maintenance of improved pasture for farming
  - ECO-M4D Native reserves and Māori land
  - ECO-M5 District plans
  - ECO-M7A Kāi Tahu kaitiakitaka
  - ECO-M7B Information requirements
  - ECO-M7 Monitoring
  - ECO-M8 Other incentives and mechanisms
  - ECO-M9 Regional Biodiversity Strategy
- 130. We recommend that ECO-E1 be retained as notified except for the deletion of the third paragraph commencing *"Wilding conifers are a particular issue..."*.

- 131. We recommend that ECO-PR1 be retained as notified with minor corrections to italicise 'indigenous' when referring to 'indigenous biodiversity', and the italicisation of 'Mahika kai'
- 132. We recommend that the anticipated environmental results are amended as follows:
  - **ECO-AER1** There is no further decline in the <u>condition</u> <del>quality</del>, quantity or diversity of Otago's indigenous *biodiversity*.
  - **ECO-AER2** The <u>condition</u> <del>quality</del>, quantity and diversity of indigenous *biodiversity* within Otago improves over the life of this Regional Policy Statement.
  - **ECO-AER3** Kāi Tahu are involved in the management of indigenous *biodiversity* and able to effectively exercise their *kaitiakitaka*.
  - **ECO-AER4** Within *significant natural areas,* the area of *land* vegetated by *wilding conifers* is reduced.

# Section 10: Energy, Infrastructure and Transport (EIT)

# 1. Introduction

- 1. The Otago region includes nationally and regionally significant renewable energy resources, infrastructure, and transport networks, as well as other infrastructure that is important at a local level. There are overlapping responsibilities between regional and district councils for managing the effects from energy, infrastructure, and transport networks in accordance with their functions under the RMA. In addition, there is a suite of regulations under several other statutes which interface with RMA functions. Many of the energy, transport and infrastructure matters also traverse the coastal environment, both within the coastal marine area and adjacent to it and interact with urban form and development.
- 2. The EIT chapter addresses these matters in three sub-chapters as follows:
  - Energy,
  - Infrastructure, and
  - Transport.
- 3. The original reporting officer on the EIT chapter was Mr Peter Stafford, who was at the time a Senior Policy Analyst at the Otago Regional Council. Mr Stafford left the Council before the hearing on the EIT chapter. Mr Marcus Langman, an independent planning consultant, was engaged by the Council to take over the reporting on the EIT chapter. Mr Langman produced several supplementary reports, including a final reply report that addressed outstanding matters.
- 4. This Recommendation Report largely follows the format of Mr Langman's reply report although not entirely. We also address a number of other matters that were not considered in Mr Langman's reply. As has been our approach in other chapters, we have not addressed provisions where we agree with the recommendation of the officer, although we have made some recommendations in the SODR table on some minor changes requested by submitters.

# 2. Chapter structure

- 5. As we noted above, Mr Langham was not the author of the s42A report but became involved prior to the pre-hearing meetings on the EIT chapter. In his supplementary evidence, he addressed the structure of the EIT chapter. He advised that the format of the chapter followed the specific order of the National Planning Standards, being Energy, then Infrastructure, then Transport. Mr Langham considered this to be a mandatory chapter in the National Planning Standards, although we note it must only be included if it is relevant to the regional policy statement. Quite obviously it is relevant to this RPS as these matters are significant resource management issues for the region, particularly the management of renewable energy resources and the activities that utilise them.
- 6. After reviewing the chapter, he came to the conclusion it would be better arranged if it began with the general infrastructure provisions followed by the more specific provisions relating to energy and transport. This has resulted in the structure of the chapter changing significantly, but the Panel agrees that it is a more logical layout.

- 7. As a part of that review, Mr Langman also agreed with the electricity transmission and distribution companies that better alignment could be achieved by including the electricity distribution and transmission activities in the EIT-EN Energy sub-chapter (alongside renewable electricity generation), rather than in the EIT-INF Infrastructure section. Again, we agree given that distribution and transmission are solely associated with energy.
- 8. In response to submissions from the REGs, Mr Langman also considered whether standalone provisions (or "carve out" provisions) are required to address separately the management of the effects of REG infrastructure and of electricity transmission and distribution infrastructure. In his opinion, there would need to be a clear justification for treating this type of infrastructure differently from other regionally or nationally significant infrastructure, particularly if EIT-INF-P13 was not to apply. He concluded that standalone or carve-out provisions for this infrastructure is not appropriate and would not give effect to or address the various bottom-line approaches of the relevant NPSs or other section 6 matters.
- 9. We largely deal with this issue in the next section of this report, but given the style of this particular RPS, we agree that standalone provisions are not necessary for these types of infrastructure. However, throughout the PORPS we have strengthened the recognition of how important this infrastructure will be in addressing the climate change issue.

# 3. Definition of regionally significant infrastructure

#### 3.1. Discussion

10. As notified, the definition of Regionally significant infrastructure reads:

	means:		
Regionally significant infrastructure	(1)	roads classified as being of regional importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification	
	(2)	electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,	
	(3)	renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable electricity generation facilities designed and operated principally for supplying a single premise or facility,	
	(4)	telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities	
	(5)	facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,	
	(6)	the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, Wanaka Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, Oamaru, Taieri.	
	(7)	navigation <i>infrastructure</i> associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,	
	(8)	defence facilities	
	(9)	community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution <i>infrastructure</i> that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution <i>infrastructure</i> (excluding delivery systems or infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of	

water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies)

- (10) community stormwater infrastructure,
- (11) *wastewater* and sewage collection, treatment and disposal *infrastructure* serving no fewer than 25 households, and
- (12) Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection infrastructure and drainage schemes.
- 11. A number of submitters requested the addition of other types of infrastructure, or amendments to the definitions of regionally significant infrastructure (RSI), or nationally significant infrastructure (NSI). The s42A report author accepted a number of these requests which led to the inclusion of Dunedin's oil terminals and bulk fuel storage facilities in the RSI list along with some other amendments for clarification.
- 12. Those submitters whose submission points were not recommended for acceptance, addressed their concerns at the hearing. A number of other submitters were concerned with the recommendations that were made to broaden the definition because the framework for RSI and NSI is more enabling than for general infrastructure, which they believe could lead to an inappropriate level of effects on s6 matters.
- 13. Mr Langman revisited this issue in his reply report. In reviewing the submissions, he applied a number of qualitative matters that he considered would qualify the infrastructure for inclusion into the definition of RSI. These were:
  - a. The infrastructure serves a regional or national benefit;
  - b. There will often be operational or functional constraints in terms of the location of the infrastructure;
  - c. The infrastructure may include lifeline utilities;
  - d. The infrastructure is at a scale that could result in the potential for significant adverse effects on significant environmental values;
  - e. The infrastructure is generally of a physical nature, being 'hard infrastructure' and does not support living, social or commercial activities; and
  - f. Similar activities are provided for in the definition of RSI in adjacent regions, in particular where there are cross boundary issues where different management regimes may give rise to difficulties with implementation.
- 14. These matters are wider than the opinion expressed by Ms McIntyre for Kai Tahu that RSI should be limited to infrastructure that has a lifeline utility function. To broaden the definition would, in Ms McIntyre's view, *"give inappropriate priority to the needs of infrastructure over the life-supporting capacity of the environment and the matters to be recognised and provided for in section 6 of the RMA"*. While we agree that lifeline utilities will be RSI, and most RSI will be lifeline utilities, we do not agree that RSI should be solely restricted to lifeline utilities. Hence, we agree with Mr Langman that the matters he identifies provide useful guidance in this context.

- 15. Assessing the submissions against this criteria, Mr Langman recommended changes in respect to the following activities:
  - a. Significant electricity distribution infrastructure (SEDI) (RSI);
  - b. Municipal landfills (RSI);
  - c. Established community scale irrigation and stockwater infrastructure (RSI);
  - d. Ski area infrastructure (RSI);
  - e. The expression of facilities for public transport (RSI); and
  - f. Changes to how airports might be included within the definition of regionally significant infrastructure (RSI).
- 16. He advised that those additions/amendments sought by a submitter that he did not address was on the basis that he did not recommend any change for the reasons stated in the s42A report.
- 17. In relation to municipal landfills, both the DCC and QLDC sought the inclusion of these within the RSI definition. This was initially rejected by the s42A report author, but Mr Langman accepted the amendment proposed by Mr Barr to be appropriate and consistent with the matters outlined above. The amendment links the landfill to a local authority ownership or operation. While we accept that landfills are regionally significant infrastructure, we do have some apprehension around the qualifier as landfills are now often privately owned facilities even though they may serve a region. A good example of that is the AB Lime landfill near Winton, Southland. That facility is privately owned but takes most of the waste from the Southland region. It is also the only Class 1 landfill south of Christchurch.
- 18. However, no evidence was provided that dealt with this issue, so we are comfortable with Mr Langman's final recommendation.
- 19. In relation to SEDI, Mr Langman recommended in his supplementary evidence the inclusion of this infrastructure in the RSI definition, along with a framework for electricity distribution. We agree. The evidence from Ms Justice, Mr Zweis, and Ms Dowd on behalf of distribution companies was significant in this regard. They outlined some of the practical challenges to the network in light of growth and increased demand for electricity. These challenges are compounded by the fact that such infrastructure often needs to locate within sensitive environments. While we understand the concern expressed by HortNZ, we do not think it outweighs the need to recognise such critical infrastructure. Reverse sensitivity issues can still be dealt with, regardless of the infrastructure classification.
- 20. Mr Langman was also comfortable with including established community-scale stockwater and irrigation infrastructure as RSI (sought by Federated Farmers and Waitaki Irrigators), largely on the basis of the cross-boundary issue with the Canterbury RPS, which classifies them as RSI. We were swayed by the evidence of Ms Soal (for Waitaki Irrigators) on this matter, who highlighted the fact that a number of water schemes in Otago serve a dual purpose (community water supply and irrigation) but that the notified definition would mean that only part of the system was RSI. We agree that this addition should be made to the RSI definition.
- 21. With respect to the inclusion of ski area infrastructure, we agree with Mr Langman's approach of aligning the definition with that included in the NPSFM. That definition is confined to the

actual infrastructure required for the operation of the ski area as opposed to the ski field itself, or commercial activities associated with it. We note that Ms Galloway-Baker's legal submission highlighted the addition of this definition to the NPSFM and did not address the definition sought by Trojan and Wayfare.

- 22. With respect to Ms McIntyre's (for Kāi Tahu ki Otago) requested amendments to the definition of public transport facilities, Mr Langman agreed with the suggested deletions but not to the insertion of "rail lines". That was because the rail network is identified as nationally significant infrastructure (NSI), and as a result, is also automatically identified as RSI.
- 23. We therefore question why the definition of 'airport' needs to be amended to recognise other airports that are serviced by aeroplanes capable of carrying more than 30 passengers. Such airports are recognised as NSI and are also automatically identified as RSI. With the exception of the Dunedin and Queenstown, the listed airports would not meet the nationally significant threshold but are regionally important.
- 24. Hence, while we agree with Mr Langman in relation to public transport, we do not agree with the amendment proposed to the airport clause within the RSI definition. It is already provided for in the appropriate definition, as it is included in the NSI definition.
- 25. One issue that Mr Langman did not address in his reply was the DCC's concern with the amendment made to the 'road' entry in the RSI definition. In his evidence on behalf of the DCC, Mr Taylor was concerned that the use of the 'One Network' terminology required consequential adjustment to refer to which of the specific One Network categories are Regionally Significant Infrastructure. In Mr Taylor's opinion the variability and flexibility of classifications within the One Network Framework mean that it is possible that some roads that have regional importance are not classified with a sufficiently high road order. He gave examples of lower order roads that provide lifeline connections to communities to illustrate this concern.
- 26. To overcome this issue, he recommended an amendment to recognise *"roads which provide a lifeline connection for a community"* within the RSI definition. In the Panel's opinion, this raises an issue similar to that explained to us by the distribution companies in relation to some of their lines that service remote communities such as Makarora and Glenorchy. Accordingly, we recommend that Mr Taylor's submission be accepted on this point.

#### 3.2. Recommendation

27. The Panel recommends that the definition of RSI is amended as follows:

Regionally significant infrastructure	(1)	roads which provide a lifeline connection for a community O roads classified as being of regional importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification One Network Framework,		
	(2)	electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,		
	<u>(2A)</u>	significant electricity distribution infrastructure,		
	(3)	renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable		

electricity generation facilities designed and operated

principally for supplying a single premise or facility,

(4)	telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities, networks,
(5)	facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,
(6 <del>)</del>	the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, <del>Wanaka</del> <u>Wānaka</u> , Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, <del>Oamaru</del> <u>Ōamaru</u> , <del>Taieri</del> , <u>Taiari</u> ,
(7)	navigation <i>infrastructure</i> associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,
(8)	defence facilities for defence purposes in accordance with the Defence Act 1990,
<u>(8A)</u>	established community-scale irrigation and stockwater infrastructure,
(9)	community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution <i>infrastructure</i> that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution <i>infrastructure</i> (excluding delivery systems or infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies)
(10)	community stormwater infrastructure,
(11)	wastewater and sewage collection, treatment and disposal infrastructure serving no fewer than 25 households, and
<u>(11A)</u>	oil terminals, bulk fuel storage and supply infrastructure, and ancillary pipelines at Port Chalmers and Dunedin,
(12)	Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection <i>infrastructure</i> and drainage schemes- <u>,</u>
<u>(13)</u>	landfills and associated solid waste sorting and transfer facilities which are designated by, or are owned or operated by a local authority,
<u>(14)</u>	ski area infrastructure, and
<u>(15)</u>	any infrastructure identified as nationally significant infrastructure.

Ski<br/>infrastructurehas the same meaning as in the clause 3.21(1) of the National Policy<br/>Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 (as set out in the box<br/>below)

infrastructure necessary for the operation of a ski area and includes: transport mechanisms (such as aerial and surface lifts, roads, and tracks); facilities for the loading or unloading of passengers or goods; facilities or systems for *water*, sewerage, electricity, and gas; communications networks; and snowmaking and snow safety systems

# 4. EIT-INF-P11

- 4.1. Discussion
- 28. As notified, EIT-INF-P11 reads:

#### EIT-INF-P11 - Operation and maintenance

Except as provided for by ECO–P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing *nationally* and *regionally significant infrastructure* while:

(1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse *effects* on the *environment*, and

(2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse *effects*, minimising adverse *effects*.

- 29. There were a range of submissions on EIT-INF-P11, with some seeking it be retained as notified and others seeking its deletion. Others sought amendments to clarify its intent, and to make it more enabling.
- 30. In relation to those who sought deletion of the policy or amendment to merely 'allow' infrastructure (Contact, Network Waitaki and PowerNet and NZIC), Mr Stafford (the original s42A report author) was of the view that:

"the present policy wording provides better direction for the treatment of adverse effects. **Removal of the wording as proposed would effectively permit development of infrastructure without consideration of its effects** and would not represent sustainable management of natural and physical resources or recognise and provide for the matters set out in s6 RMA. The alternative provided through the amendments requested would have a similar effect. I also refer to my consideration of the Aurora submission in relation to removal of reference of ECO-P4...". (Panel emphasis)

31. In her evidence for the EDBs, Ms Justice raised concern about the implementation of the policy (as did others), particularly with the fact that it only relates to existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. This, too, is of concern to the Panel. Mr Stafford's statement repeated above suggests that it would apply in a consenting scenario. However, we agree with Ms Justice's interpretation, and struggled to understand the intention of the policy, when existing use rights will as a matter of law allow for operation and maintenance of existing activities without the qualifier in this policy. The only benefit we can see is the recognition of 'maintenance' but again that is all part of operating an existing, consented activity.

- 32. As a consequence of the forgoing, we recommend that the policy be deleted as requested by Contact, Network Waitaki and PowerNet and NZIC.
- 4.2. Recommendation
- 33. The Panel recommends that EIT-INF-P11 be deleted.

# 5. REG Policy Framework

#### 5.1. Discussion

- 34. The Panel notes that a similar provision to EIT-INF-P11 is included in the Energy sub-chapter. EIT-EN-P1 reads "the operation and maintenance of existing renewable electricity generation activities is provided for while minimising its adverse effects". We have similar concerns about this provision although we note in this context, Policy E2 of the NPS-REG requires plans to include objectives, policies, and methods to provide for the operation of these facilities as well as their development, maintenance and upgrading. The likely application of the policy is when REGs that utilise water are being re-consented.
- 35. There are a number of submissions on this provision, with some requesting upgrading and expansion be included in its scope while the DCC request that it be combined with P3 (Development and upgrade of REG activities) and P4 (Identifying new sites or resources), and that the management of effects clause is moved into EIT-EN-P6. As recommended, P3 and P4 read as follows:

# EIT-EN-P3 – Development and upgrade of renewable electricity generation activities

The security of renewable electricity supply is maintained or improved in Otago through appropriate provision for the development or upgrading of *renewable electricity generation activities* and diversification of the type or location of <u>renewable</u> *electricity generation activities*.

#### EIT-EN-P4 – Identifying new sites or resources

Provide for activities associated with the investigation, identification and assessment of potential sites and energy sources for *renewable electricity generation* and, when selecting a site for new *renewable electricity generation*, prioritise those where adverse *effects* on highly valued *natural and physical resources* and *mana whenua* values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.

36. Similar submissions have been made on EIT-EN-P3 but the s42A report author advised that the focus of this policy is on security and diversification, which is consistent with Policy A(a) of the NPSREG. While we accept that, we do agree with submitters that EIT-EN-P1 (and EIT-EN-02) require amendment to better reflect the NPSREG around the maintenance and increase of electricity generation capacity. We have commented numerous times throughout our recommendation reports on the importance of REGs in addressing the climate issue. As a consequence, we agree with the REG submitters that the policy framework should not only provide for the protection of generation capacity but also for its increase where appropriate.

- 37. We also accept the DCC's submission that these provisions do not need to address effects management as that is dealt with in EIT-EN-P6 and P13. In the same context, we agree with the REG submitters who sought to remove the 'prioritisation' requirements of EIT-EN-P4 and other similar provisions. As the Contact Energy submission noted, *"it is not clear whether this policy is targeted towards resource developers, district and regional plan developers or decision makers."* The Panel is also unsure how the policy will be implemented and who will be responsible for that prioritisation. We agree with Contact that it would not be appropriate for the RPS (or any other local authority for that matter) to have a role in site selection given the range of locational, operational, environmental, commercial, and economic considerations involved in that process. We also agree that the second part of the policy is a duplication and is not necessary given the requirements of EIT-EN-P6 and P13.
- 38. In relation to EIT-EN-P6, Meridian Energy request a number of amendments that we consider appropriate. However, we do not agree that alternatives should not at least be considered when there are potentially significant or irreversible effects. A consequential amendment is required to the third paragraph of EIT-EN-E1 to change 'residual adverse effects' to 'significant residual adverse effects'.
- 39. A number of submitters also sought the deletion or clarification of this requirement in EIT-INF-M4 and M5 of the INF sub-chapter (for example, the DCC, Jim Hopkins, Trojan, and Wayfare) for similar reasons. We also agree that is not necessary in these provisions given they already contain provisions to manage effects of infrastructure.
- 40. We also take the opportunity at this point to discuss EIT-INF-M5(6) which was essentially opposed by the DCC, in particular the 'avoid' approach which they say could be read as requiring a plan to prohibit any development that cannot connect to infrastructure. They also questioned the broad definition of 'infrastructure' and its use in this clause, presumably because not all development will need all types of infrastructure. They also highlight the fact that there are various ways infrastructure is funded, including by the developer. Kai Tahu also opposed this clause given that marae and whanau housing is often located in unreticulated areas. They requested that this provision be deleted.
- 41. The s42A report author disagreed with both Kai Tahu and the DCC submission as in his view the clause does not preclude the use of private on-site provision of infrastructure and nor does it determine methods of funding. However, the Panel shares the concern of both the Kai Tahu and the DCC given this provision is broadly worded to apply to all development and uses the 'avoid' directive. We do not consider that appropriate in the context of what is largely a rural region, but more importantly as we discussed in the Legal section of the Introduction to this report, such a broad-sweeping prioritisation does not accord with Supreme Court decisions. The Panel also notes that the provisions of both the UFD and LF chapters contain provisions that address the servicing of development with infrastructure and EIT-INF-P17 directly refers to the relevant UFD policies in this regard.
- 42. In our view, EIT-INF-M5(6) merely needs to ensure that development is adequately served with infrastructure. We have recommended such a change accordingly.
- 43. The Panel also notes that QLDC sought amendment to EIT-EN-2(7) so that it is not a requirement in all instances, rather it is required when there is an opportunity to connect with an existing transport infrastructure network. The DCC seek clarification on what is being 'required'. We agree with the approach proposed by QLDC. It is highly unlikely that it will be possible to provide multi-nodal transport options in rural lifestyle areas.

44. QLDC also request that EIT-EN-2(7) be located to either the infrastructure or transport sub-sections. We are of the view that it should be relocated to EIT-TRAN-M8 in the transport sub-section.

#### 5.2. Recommendation

45. As a consequence of the foregoing, the Panel recommends the following amendments to the REG provisions:

#### EIT-EN-O2 – Renewable electricity generation

The generation capacity of renewable electricity generation activities in Otago:

(1) is <u>protected and</u> maintained, and, <del>if practicable maximised, within</del> environmental limits, where appropriate, increased, and

(2) contributes to meeting New Zealand's national target for *renewable electricity generation*.

#### EIT-EN-P1 – Operation,-and maintenance and upgrade

The operation, and maintenance, and upgrade of existing renewable electricity generation activities is provided for including the maintenance of generation output and protection of operational capacity while minimising its adverse effects.

# EIT-EN-P3 – <del>Development and upgrade of</del> <u>The security of</u> renewable electricity generation <del>activities</del> supply

The security <u>and installed capacity</u> of renewable electricity supply is maintained or improved in Otago through appropriate provision for the development or upgrading of *renewable electricity generation activities* and diversification of the type or location of <u>renewable electricity generation activities</u>.

#### EIT-EN-P4 – Identifying new sites or resources

Provide for activities associated with the investigation, identification and assessment of potential sites and energy sources for *renewable electricity generation*. and, when selecting a site for new *renewable electricity generation*, prioritise those where adverse *effects* on highly valued *natural and physical resources* and *mana whenua* values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.

#### EIT-EN-P6 - Managing *effects*

Manage the adverse effects of renewable electricity generation activities by:

- (1) applying EIT–INF–P13,
- (2) having <u>particular</u> regard to:

(a) the *functional need* to locate *renewable electricity generation activities* where resources are available,

271

(b) the *operational need* to locate where it is possible to connect to the *National Grid* or *electricity sub-transmission infrastructure*, and

- (3) <u>having regard to</u> (c) the extent and magnitude of adverse *effects* on the *environment* and the degree to which unavoidable adverse *effects* can be remedied or mitigated, or <u>significant</u> residual adverse *effects* are offset or compensated for; and
- (4) requiring consideration of alternative sites, methods and designs, and offsetting or compensation measures (in accordance with any specific requirements for their use in this RPS), where adverse *effects* are potentially significant or irreversible.

#### EIT-EN-M1 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its *regional plans* to:

(1) provide for activities associated with the investigation, identification and assessment of potential sites and energy sources for *renewable electricity generation*,

(2) require the prioritisation of sites for new *renewable electricity generation activities* where adverse *effects* on highly valued *natural and physical resources* and *mana whenua* values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised,

(3) manage the adverse *effects* of developing or upgrading *renewable electricity generation activities*, including identifying activities that qualify as minor upgrades, that:

(a) are within the beds of lakes and rivers and the coastal marine area, or

(b) involve the taking, use, damming or diversion of *water* and *discharge* of *water* or *contaminants*,

(4) provide for the operation and maintenance of existing *renewable electricity generation activities*, including their *natural and physical resource* requirements, along with opportunities to increase the installed capacity of renewable electricity generation assets within the environmental limits, and

(5) restrict the establishment of activities that may adversely affect the efficient functioning of *renewable electricity generation* <u>activities</u> <u>infrastructure</u> (including impacts on generation capacity).

#### EIT-EN-M2 – District plans

*Territorial authorities* must prepare or amend and maintain their *district plans* to:

(1) provide for activities associated with the investigation, identification and assessment of potential sites and energy sources for *renewable electricity generation*,

(2) require the prioritisation of sites for new renewable electricity generation activities where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised,

- (3) manage the adverse *effects* of developing or upgrading *renewable electricity* generation activities <u>and electricity transmission</u> <u>National Grid infrastructure</u>, including identifying activities that qualify as minor upgrades, that:
  - (a) are on the surface of *rivers* and *lakes* and on *land* outside the *coastal marine area,* or
  - (b) the *beds* of *lakes* and *rivers*,
- (4) provide for the continued operation and maintenance of *renewable electricity generation activities* on the surface of *rivers* and *lakes* and on *land* outside the *coastal marine area* and the *beds* of *lakes* and *rivers*,
- (5) restrict the establishment or occurrence of activities that may adversely affect the efficient functioning of *renewable electricity generation infrastructure,*
- (5A) enable planning for National Grid,
- (5B) map the *National Grid*, and identify a buffer corridor within which *sensitive activities* shall generally not be allowed,
- (5C) map significant electricity distribution infrastructure and, where necessary, provide controls on activities to ensure that the functional needs of the significant electricity distribution infrastructure are not compromised,
- (5D) where necessary, establishing controls for *buildings, structures* and other activities adjacent to electricity *infrastructure*, to ensure the *functional needs* of that *infrastructure* are not compromised based on NZECP34:2001 Electrical Code of Practice for Electrical Safe Distances and the Electricity (Hazards from Trees) Regulations 2003 (prepared under the Electricity Act 1992),
- (6) require the design of *subdivision* development to optimise solar gain, including through roading, lot size, dimensions, layout and orientation, and

46. And amend EIT-EN-M2(7) as follows and relocate it to EIT-TRAN-M8:

(7) require <u>the</u> design of transport *infrastructure* <u>to</u> <del>that</del> provides</del> for multi-modal transport options in <u>urban areas</u>, and in rural lifestyle locations where there is a practical opportunity to connect with an existing transport infrastructure network -and rural residential locations.

#### EIT-INF-M4 – Regional plans

Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its *regional plans* to:

(1) manage the adverse *effects* of *infrastructure* activities, <u>including</u>, where appropriate, identifying activities that qualify as minor upgrades, that:

- (a) are in the *beds* of *lakes* and *rivers*, or
- (b) are in the *coastal marine area*, or
- (c) involve the taking, use, damming or diversion of water or,
- (d) involve the *discharge* of *water* or *contaminants*, and

(2) require the prioritisation of sites for *infrastructure* where adverse *effects* on highly valued *natural and physical resources* and *mana whenua* values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.

#### EIT-INF-M5 – District plans

*Territorial authorities* must prepare or amend and maintain their *district plans* to:

(1) require a strategic approach to the integration of *land* use and *nationally significant infrastructure* or *regionally significant infrastructure*,

(2) enable planning for the electricity transmission network and *National Grid* to achieve efficient distribution of electricity,

(3) map the electricity transmission network, and in relation to the *National Grid*, identify a buffer corridor within which *sensitive activities* shall generally not be allowed, and

(4) manage the *subdivision*, use and development of *land* to ensure *nationally* <u>significant infrastructure</u> or *regionally significant infrastructure* can develop to meet increased demand,

(5) manage the adverse *effects* of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading *nationally <u>significant infrastructure</u>* or *regionally significant infrastructure*, <u>including</u>, where appropriate, identifying activities that qualify as minor upgrades</u>, that are on:

(a) the surface of *rivers* and *lakes* and on *land* outside the *coastal marine area*, and

- (b) the *beds* of *lakes* and *rivers*,
- (6) ensure that development is avoided where:

(a) it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,

(b) it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or

(c) the required upgrading of *infrastructure* is not funded, and

(7) require the prioritisation of sites where adverse *effects* on highly valued *natural and physical resources* and *mana whenua* values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.

# 6. Structure of EIT-INF-P13 and the application of the effects management regime, and EIT-INF-P16

#### 6.1. Discussion

47. Proposed policy EIT-INF-P13 relates to the development of new infrastructure, regardless of its type or significance. As notified, it requires avoidance of sensitive environments as a first priority. If avoidance is not possible because of the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, then the effects management hierarchies in

other policies for particular resources (for example, indigenous biodiversity) apply. Where these do not exist, adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's significance are to be minimised. For all other infrastructure, where it has a functional or operational need to locate within the areas specified, the direction is to avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's significance.

- 48. The provision attracted a large number of submissions from a wide range of organisations. Nearly all submitters seek amendment to, or exclusion from, this policy, including through the provision of bespoke effects management provisions for particular types of infrastructure such as for REG, the electricity distribution network, and the National Grid (although acknowledging that Ms McLeod for Transpower had a preference for amendment of EIT-INF-P13 and P13A). These submitters all sought effects be managed following an effects management hierarchy, but that the process is not "bookended" with an "avoid the activity" approach if significant residual adverse effects remain.
- 49. The basis of many of the infrastructure providers' submissions was that a more flexible approach was necessary given the importance of certain infrastructure activities in achieving climate targets. We have accepted this throughout our recommendations on the various provisions of the PORPS, in particular in relation to new renewable electricity generation and infrastructure. However, we do not think there is anything to be gained by providing a separate effects management hierarchy for each type of infrastructure. We now have a situation where there are National Policy Statements for indigenous biodiversity and freshwater, each with their own mandatory effects management hierarchy. We cannot override or amend their impact in any way.
- 50. We are also conscious of the fact that draft national policy statements on REGs and the National Grid have been released for consultation. While we do not know when (or if) these will be gazetted, both propose an effects management hierarchy where adverse effects on areas with significant environmental values are managed according to an effects management hierarchy, similar to what is required in the other NPSs referred to in this policy. The drafts also note that if there is a conflict between the NPSFM and NZCPS, then those documents shall prevail. As with other NPSs, changes will be required to lower order documents without using the Schedule 1 process. Hence, we agree with Mr Langman that there is little point in trying to predetermine the outcome of the NPSs or provide separate effects management hierarchies for these activities now, given that the changes can be made directly to the planning instrument.
- 51. In relation to the sensitive environments listed in the policy that do not already have an NPS effects management hierarchy, these are the section 6 matters where protection is qualified by the phrase "from inappropriate subdivision, use and development". In these environments, we prefer the effects management hierarchy approach proposed by Manawa Energy, Meridian, Contact Energy, and other submitters (including Forest and Bird). Manawa and Contact Energy both opposed EIT-INF-P13 and promoted alternatives that adopted the 'avoid, remedy or mitigate' approach rather than the use of 'minimise'. An activity may be considered appropriate in such locations, when all other policies are considered, but not be able to minimise effects i.e. to reduce those effects to the lowest possible level.
- 52. We do agree with the report writers that it is not appropriate to limit the 'avoid as a first priority' approach to scheduled areas only. While lower order documents will be required to identify and map these areas, that may take some time. If an area meets the criteria for significance, it should be treated as such regardless of whether it is scheduled in a plan or not.

- 53. A number of submitters were concerned about the use of the word 'possible' in clause 2 as it is always "possible" to avoid locating within those areas by not undertaking development of the infrastructure. The New Zealand Infrastructure Commission requested the use of 'reasonably practicable' in its place while Queenstown Airport requested just the use of 'practicably'.
- 54. Mr Langman recommended the phrase "demonstrably practicable" on the basis that it "provides a high test to be met before infrastructure locates within one of these areas, but enables an evaluative process to take place (which should include assessment of the route, method or site selection process)" and that it "clearly outlines that the providers are able to demonstrate that infrastructure cannot practicably be located in an area outside of those resources listed."
- 55. The Panel does not favour the use of 'demonstrably', which is not a phrase commonly used in RMA plans. The 'reasonably practicable' test, as requested by New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, also requires the proponent of a project to demonstrate that infrastructure cannot practicably be located to avoid a sensitive environment. The use of 'demonstrably' is largely superfluous in this context.
- 56. Mr Langman also addressed the inclusion of areas of "high recreational value" alongside high amenity value in EIT-INF-P13(1)(h). Manawa Energy sought that this clause be deleted while Mr Barr for QLDC recommended it be replaced with "highly valued natural features and landscapes"<sup>50</sup>. Mr Langman accepted Mr Barr's assessment as set out in his evidence and recommended that phrase. However, the Panel has recommended deletion of 'amenity landscapes' from the NFL chapter for a number of reasons, including that it is not a significant regional issue. We specifically acknowledged the difficulty identifying such landscapes will have for the REG development necessary to address the climate change issue.
- 57. Manawa and Queenstown Airport Corporation also sought the removal of high' natural character from clause 1(e) for similar reasons. We agree as a 'high' natural character landscape is also an amenity landscape issues, and its use here has only been adopted to address the NPSET, which does not apply to all infrastructure. That reference should be included in EIT-INFP16, which applies to the National Grid. Transpower sought an amendment to that effect when promoting a new policy specifically for the National Grid.
- 58. The reference to areas of 'high recreation value and amenity' is also recommended to be relocated to EIT-INFP16 to reflect Policy 8 of the NPSET, again as requested by Transpower. Because Policy 8 only 'seeks' to avoid, we think it appropriate that the management of effects is addressed by the application of EIT-INF-P13(2)(a)(vi) as recommended below.
- 59. The reference to outstanding natural character has also been deleted from EIT-INF-P13 as a consequential amendment because it is already reflected in clause 1(b).
- 56. We also note that Mr Stafford has recommended the inclusion of "areas of significance to mana whenua such as wāhi tupuna" to clause (5) of this policy in response to a submission from Kai Tahu. This is not needed as this matter is addressed in EIT-INF-P13(1) (g), which applies in both an urban and rural setting whereas EIT-EN-P16(5) only applies in an urban setting.

#### 6.2. Recommendation

57. Amend EIT-INF-P13 and EIT-INF-P16 as follows:

EIT-INF-P13 – Locating and managing effects of infrastructure, *nationally significant infrastructure* and *regionally significant infrastructure* outside the coastal environment

When providing for new *infrastructure*, <u>nationally significant infrastructure</u> and <u>regionally significant infrastructure</u> outside the coastal environment:

- (1) avoid, as the first priority, locating *infrastructure* in all of the following:
  - (a) significant natural areas,
  - (b) outstanding natural features and landscapes,
  - (c) natural wetlands,
  - (d) outstanding water bodies,
  - (e) areas of high or outstanding natural character,
  - (f) areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage, and
  - (g) <u>wāhi tupuna</u>, <del>wāhi tapu</del>, <del>wāhi taoka</del>, <del>and areas with protected customary rights,</del> and
  - (h) areas of high recreational and high amenity value, and
- (2) if it is not <u>possible reasonably practicable</u> to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the *functional <u>needs</u>* or *operational needs* of the *infrastructure*, *nationally significant infrastructure* and *regionally significant* <u>infrastructure</u> manage adverse *effects* as follows:
  - (a) for nationally <u>significant infrastructure</u> or regionally significant infrastructure:
    - (i) in *significant natural areas*, in accordance with ECO-P4 and ECO-P6,
    - (ii) in *natural wetlands*, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF,
    - (iii) in *outstanding water bodies*, in accordance with LF-FW-P12,
    - (iiia) in relation to wāhi tūpuna, in accordance with HCV-WT-P2,
    - (iv) in other areas listed in EIT-INF-P13(1) above, minimise\_the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance, and shall be:
      - (I) remedied or mitigated to the extent practicable,
      - (II) where they cannot be practicably remedied or mitigated, regard shall be had to offsetting and/or compensation of more than minor residual adverse effects.

(b) for all *infrastructure* that is not *nationally <u>significant infrastructure</u>* or *regionally significant <u>infrastructure</u>,* avoid adverse *effects* on the values that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance <u>except in relation</u> <u>to historic heritage, which is not significant or outstanding, then HCV-HH-P5(3) will apply.</u>

#### EIT-INF-P16 – Providing for electricity transmission and the National Grid

Maintain a secure and sustainable electricity supply in Otago by:

- providing for <u>the effective operation, maintenance, upgrading and</u> <u>development of the National Grid</u> <u>development of, and upgrades to, the</u> <u>electricity transmission network</u> and requiring, as far as <u>reasonably</u> practicable, its integration with *land* use,
- (2) considering the requirements of and constraints associated with the *functional* and *operational needs* of the electricity transmission network <u>National Grid</u> in its management,
- (3) providing for the efficient and effective development, operation, maintenance, and upgrading of the *National Grid*,
- (4) enabling the reasonable operation, maintenance and minor upgrade requirements of established electricity transmission <u>National Grid</u> assets, and
- (5) minimising the adverse *effects* of the <u>electricity transmission network</u> <u>National Grid</u> on urban amenity, and avoiding adverse *effects* on town centres, areas of high amenity or recreational value and existing *sensitive activities*-<u></u>.
- (6) in rural areas, seek to avoid adverse effects in areas of high natural character and areas of high recreation value and amenity, and, where this is not practicable, apply EIT-INF-P13(2)(a)(iv), and
- (7) in addition to clause (6), apply EIT-INF-P13 where relevant.

# 7. Application of EIT-INF-P5 relating to non-renewable energy generation activities

- 7.1. Discussion
- <sup>58.</sup> As notified, EIT-EN-P5 was reads:

#### EIT-EN-P5 – Non-renewable energy generation

Avoid the development of non-renewable energy generation activities in Otago and facilitate the replacement of non-renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation.

59. As Mr Langman noted in his reply report, a number of submitters raise concerns regarding the approach in EIT-EN-P5 to avoiding development of non-renewable energy generation

activities. This concern mainly centred around the lack of recognition of backup sources required for lifeline services, or where alternatives are not available for industrial processes. Submitters requested that more flexibility be provided where power resilience is required, with some submitters requesting the 'avoid' approach be subject to a test of practicality.

- 60. Mr Langman acknowledged in his reply that "the wording is very tight and directive, and given the examples provided by the submitters in evidence and at the hearing, that there are likely to be necessary exceptions." To address the issue, he recommended including the words "unless no other renewable energy options exist" as in his opinion this still provides a pathway for new non-renewable energy generation, but the circumstances are very restricted.
- 61. The Panel agrees with submitters that an 'avoid' policy in these circumstances is too onerous and does not reflect reality. We do not think the wording proposed by Mr Langman assists in addressing the issues raised by submitters. That is because the example given by submitters illustrate that there is generally likely to be a renewable energy source existing at a site. Most, if not all, sites are connected to the national grid. The issue the EDSs illustrated is the need for resilience in a system when that connection fails. Ms Dowd, for Aurora, advised that in Glenorchy, for example, a generator running on non-renewable fuel is often required when this occurs. Ms Taylor, on behalf of Ravensdown, gave an example of how non-renewable energy is required as part of an industrial process, for which no alternative has yet been found even though a renewable energy source does exist at a site (i.e. they are connected to the national grid).
- 62. Hence, we favour an amended version of the approach proposed by Ravensdown in their submission. We have moved the 'where practicable' phrase to relate to the restriction on developing non-renewable energy. It is not needed in relation to the second part of the policy, which is about facilitating the replacement of non-renewable. That does not direct replacement but indicates the regulatory path to achieve it will be made easier.
- 63. We also note that this policy has been amended to reflect a new NPS and NES on Greenhouse Gases from Industrial Process Heat, as recommended by Mr Langman in the memorandum received on this matter dated 16 August 2023.

#### 7.2. Recommendation

- 64. Our final recommended amendments to the notified version of the pORPS are:
  - a. The following amendments to Policy EIT-EN-P5:

#### EIT-EN-P5 – Non-renewable energy generation

In relation to non-renewable energy generation:

(1) except as provided for in (2) below, Avoid restrict the development of nonrenewable energy generation activities in Otago, where practicable, and facilitate the replacement of non-renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation, -, and

(2) in relation to *new heat devices* for *industrial process heat*:

(a) avoid discharges from *new heat devices* that burn coal and deliver heat at or above 300 degrees Celsius, unless there is no technically feasible and financially viable lower emissions alternative, (b) avoid discharges from *new heat devices* that burn coal and deliver heat below 300 degrees Celsius, and

(c) avoid discharges from *new heat devices* that burn any *fossil fuel* other than coal, unless there are no technically feasible and financially viable lower emissions alternative, and

(3) in relation to *existing heat devices* for *industrial process heat*:

(a) restrict *discharges* from existing *heat devices* that burn coal and deliver heat at or above 300 degrees Celsius,

(b) restrict and phase out *discharges* from *existing heat devices* that burn coal and deliver heat below 300 degrees Celsius, and

(c) restrict *discharges* from *existing heat devices* that burn any *fossil fuel* other than coal.

- b. Adding the following new definitions to the Interpretation section as defined in the National Environmental Standards for Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Industrial Process Heat to assist with the interpretation of Policy EIT-EN-P5:
  - Existing, for a heat device (for the interpretation of EIT-EN-P5)
  - Fossil fuel
  - Heat device
  - Industrial process heat
  - New, for a heat device (for the interpretation of EIT-EN-P5)

### 8. Reverse sensitivity effects on infrastructure

- 8.1. Discussion
- 65. As notified, EIT-INF-P15 reads as follows:

'Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity *effects* on *nationally* or *regionally significant infrastructure*, and/or where they may compromise the *functional* or *operational needs* of *nationally* or *regionally significant infrastructure'*.

66. As a consequence of changes proposed in response to a submission from Queenstown Airport, EIT-INF-P15 was recommended by the s42A report authors to read as follows:<sup>1</sup>

EIT-INF-P15 – Protecting nationally significant <u>infrastructure</u> <del>or</del> <u>and</u> regionally significant infrastructure

Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity *effects* on *nationally* or *regionally significant infrastructure*, and/or where they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This version includes the recommendations from the hearing reports prepared under s42A of the RMA, all supplementary evidence, and the opening statements.

may compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure.

<u>Protect the efficient and effective operation of nationally significant infrastructure</u> and regionally significant infrastructure by:

- (1) avoiding activities that may give rise to an adverse effect on the *functional* needs or operational needs of nationally significant infrastructure or regionally significant infrastructure,
- (2) avoiding activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally significant infrastructure or regionally significant infrastructure, and
- (3) avoiding activities and development that foreclose an opportunity to adapt, upgrade or develop nationally significant infrastructure or regionally significant infrastructure to meet future demand.
- 67. A number of submitters raised concern with the recommended provision, with Ms Wharfe for Horticulture NZ considering the wording to be tighter than that provided for under the NPSET. She offered alternative wording along with amendments to the chapeau. For Kai Tahu, Ms McIntyre raised concerns that the amendments could create an uncertain 'sterilisation' of areas where there may be the possibility of infrastructure being developed in the future.<sup>2</sup> DCC seeks amendments to the reverse sensitivity provisions in EIT-TRAN-P21, which addresses reverse sensitivity effects on the transport system, by seeking to remove the use of 'avoid', and replacing it with "mitigate" or "minimise as far as practicable". No evidence was provided to support this change. QLDC also sought amendments, including the replacement of "protecting" with an alternative. Mr Barr, for QLDC, was concerned that the addition of clause (3) in the policy could stifle residential expansion promoted by a local authority to give effect to the NPSUD, and that the level of protection is disproportionate given that the majority of NSI and RSI operators are requiring authorities and can designate for future development.<sup>3</sup>
- 68. In his response to the submitters, while not accepting all the submission points, Mr Langman did consider the policy too directive in nature. He recommended amendments to clause (1) and (2) to incorporate the concept of "avoiding activities to the extent reasonably possible". He also noted that this also aligns with Policy 7 of the proposed NPSREG and proposed NPSET which both seek that reverse sensitivity effects on REG and electricity transmission are avoided or mitigated where practicable.
- 69. However, he did not agree with Ms Wharfe's recommendation to change "protect" to "recognising and providing" as the policy is about protecting the efficient and effective operation of NSI and RSI. Nor did he agree with Mr Barr that protecting existing infrastructure, and possible future extensions to it, would be inconsistent with the NPSUD.
- 70. The Panel agrees with Mr Langman for the most part but notes that the policy applies all *nationally significant infrastructure* and *regionally significant infrastructure*, not just those provided for by an NPS. Having said that, we note that current Policy 10 of the NPSET only uses the phrase "avoiding activities to the extent reasonably possible" in relation to reverse sensitivity. We prefer the use of the word 'practicable' in clause (2) given it applies to all such infrastructure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, para [127]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Craig Barr for QLDC), para [5.41]-[5.44]

- 71. We also note that the remainder of Policy 10 of the NPSET addresses the "operation, maintenance, upgrading, and development of the electricity transmission" and only requires local authorities to ensure those things are not "compromised". Hence, we consider the 'avoid' approach in clause (3) to be more restrictive than the NPSET and nor is it appropriate in respect to other infrastructure not covered by the NPSET. We consider a better phrase here is to use "avoid or minimise the effects of activities and development so that the opportunity ...to meet future demand is not compromised". This gives better effect to Policy 10 of the NPSET and should address to a degree at least, the concerns raised by both Ms McIntrye and Mr Barr.
- 72. In relation to the first clause (1) of the policy, we again recommend that 'possible' be replaced with 'practicable'. With respect to the NPSET, we note that this clause is not addressing reverse sensitivity as such so there is no inconsistency with the NPSET.
- 73. In relation to EIT-TRAN-P21, Mr Langman noted that the transport system is wider than just NSI and RSI, so accepted the DCC submission to make similar changes to this provision. We agree with that, but we prefer the wording we have recommended for EIT-INF-P15 for the reasons we outlined in relation to that provision.
- 74. EIT-EN-P7 addresses reverse sensitivity in the context of REGs. Mr Langman considers the final amended form of that policy gives effect to the NPSREG and does not recommend any changes. We agree.

#### 8.2. Recommendation

75. The Panel recommends the following amendments of EIT-INF-P15 and EIT-TRAN-P21:

EIT-INF-P15 – Protecting nationally <u>significant infrastructure</u> or <u>and</u> regionally significant infrastructure

Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, and/or where they may compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure.

<u>Protect the efficient and effective operation of nationally significant infrastructure</u> and regionally significant infrastructure by:

- (1) avoiding activities, to the extent reasonably practicable, that may give rise to an adverse effect on the functional needs or operational needs of nationally significant infrastructure or regionally significant infrastructure,
- (2) avoiding activities, to the extent reasonably practicable, that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally significant infrastructure or regionally significant infrastructure, and
- (3) avoid or minimise the effects of activities and development so that the opportunity to adapt, upgrade or extend existing *nationally significant infrastructure* or *regionally significant infrastructure* to meet future demand is not compromised.

#### EIT-TRAN-P21 – Operation of the transport system

The efficient and effective operation of the transport system is maintained by:

- (1) avoiding <u>or mitigating</u> adverse *effects* of activities on the functioning of the transport system,
- (2) avoiding the impacts of incompatible activities, to the extent reasonably practicable, including those that may result in *reverse sensitivity effects*,
- (3) <u>avoiding or minimising the effects of activities and development so that the</u> opportunity to adapt, upgrade or develop the transport system to meet future transport demand, <u>is not compromised</u>,
- (4) promoting the development and use of transport hubs that enable an efficient transfer of goods for transport and distribution across different freight and people transport modes,
- (5) promoting methods that provide more efficient use of, or reduce reliance on, private motor vehicles, including ridesharing, park and ride facilities, <u>bus hubs</u>, <u>bicycle facilities</u>, demand management and alternative transport modes, and
- (6) encouraging a shift to using renewable energy sources.

# 9. Consideration of provisions related to Commercial Port Activities

#### 9.1. Discussion

- 76. In his reply report, Mr Langman addressed a number of concerns raised by Mr Brass for DOC, Ms O'Callahan for Port Otago, and Ms Taylor for Ravensdown. He recommended accepting the submissions to remove limits and Ms Taylor's request for consequential changes to EIT-TRAN-M8.
- 77. He also recommended adopting one of Ms O'Callahan's two drafting options to provide a pathway for activities essential to the efficient and safe operation of the port. The option chosen would depend on the outcome of the Supreme Court decision regarding Port Otago's appeal on the ORPS 2019, which had not been decided at the time of the preparation of Mr Langman's reply evidence.
- 78. However, the Port Otago decision was released prior to the close of the hearings and addressed how the NZCPS should be reconciled where there are potential conflicts between the ports policy, and the avoidance policies of the NZCPS. Ms O'Callahan and Mr Langman considered the implications of that decision and produced a joint witness statement that provided agreed amendments to EIT-TRAN-O10 and EIT-TRAN-P23. Counsel for the Port, Mr Garbett, advised that *"the wording has adopted the wording recommended by the Supreme Court as closely as possible, while incorporating it into the current framework of the proposed RPS."*
- 79. The Panel has reviewed the proposed wording and is comfortable with what has been recommended. We consider that it fits well with the amendments we have made to 'IM-P1 Integrated approach to decision-making' to reflect the Port Otago case, and with our amended 'IM-P6 Managing uncertainties', which introduces the 'adaptive management' concept.

#### 9.2. Recommendation

80. The Panel recommends that EIT-TRAN-O10, EIT-TRAN-P23, and EIT-TRAN-M8 be amended as follows:

#### EIT-TRAN-O10 – Commercial port activities

Commercial port activities operate safely and efficiently, and within environmental limits.

#### EIT-TRAN-P23 – Commercial port activities

Recognise the national and regional significance of the commercial port activities associated with the ports at Port Chalmers and Dunedin (respectively) by:

(1) within environmental limits as set out in Policies CE-P3 to CE-P12, providing for the efficient and safe operation of these the ports and efficient connections with other transport modes,

(2) within the environmental limits set out in Policies CE-P3 to CE-P12, providing for the development of the ports' capacity for national and international shipping in and adjacent to existing port activities, and

(3) ensuring that development in the coastal environment does not adversely affect the efficient and safe operation of these ports, or their connections with other transport modes-, and

(4) if any of policies CE-P3 to CE-P12 cannot be achieved while providing for the safe and efficient operation or development of *commercial port activities*, then resource consent for such activities may be sought where:

(a) the proposed work is required for the safe and efficient operation of *commercial port activities*, and

(b) the adverse effects from the operation or development are established to be the minimum necessary to achieve the safe and efficient operation of the *commercial port activities.* 

#### EIT-TRAN-M8 – District plans

*Territorial authorities* must prepare or amend and maintain their *district plans* to:

- (1) ...
- ...
- (6) include policies and methods that provide for commercial port activities associated with the operations at Otago Harbour and the ports at Port Chalmers and Dunedin and avoid encroachment of activities which give rise to reverse sensitivity effects.

# Section 11: Hazards and Risks (HAZ)

## 1. Introduction

- The Hazards and Risks chapter of the PORPS is split into two sections: natural hazards (HAZ-NH) and contaminated land (HAZ-CL). This chapter of our recommendation report addresses the provisions in the HAZ chapter and associated APP6 – Methodology for natural hazard risk assessment.
- 2. The Otago Region is prone to a wide range of natural hazards, from coastal erosion, tsunami, flooding, wildfires, an earthquake (particularly on the alpine fault), and extreme weather events. Climate change has the potential to exacerbate the frequency or severity of these hazards. These risks of natural hazards are set out in SRMR-I1, along with their environmental, economic and social impacts. The ORC must manage the significant risks from natural hazards as a matter of national importance under s.6(h) of the RMA.
- 3. Contaminated land is also the subject of this chapter of the PORPS, applying to land in Otago that is either on the Hazardous Activities and Industries List (HAIL) or likely to have had a HAIL activity undertaken on it.
- 4. Relevant to this chapter, the ORC's functions under the RMA include:
  - a. Controlling "the use of land for the purpose of the avoidance of natural hazards" (s.30(1)(c)(iv));
  - b. Investigating "land for the purposes of identifying and monitoring contaminated land" (s.30(1)(ca)); and "
  - c. Controlling "discharges of contaminants into or onto land, air, or water..."(s.30(1)(f).
- 5. Of particular relevance to this chapter, the PORPS must give effect to the following national documents:
  - a. The New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement under s.62(3) of the RMA, which requires councils to avoid increasing risk in coastal hazard areas and encourage development that reduces the risk of effects from hazards in the coastal environment;
  - b. The National Adaptation Plan<sup>1</sup>, under s.61(2)(e) of the RMA, which requires the PORPS to apply minimum climate change scenarios; and
- 6. The Resource Management (National Environmental Standard for Assessing and Managing Contaminants in Soil to Protect Human Health) Regulations 2011 (NESCS), which regulates activities on contaminated or likely to be contaminated land and provides guideline soil contaminant values.
- 7. In addition, there is a suite of regulations under several other statutes which interface with RMA functions, including the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002, the Building

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ministry for the Environment, 2022. Aotearoa New Zealand's first national adaptation plan. Published by the Minister of Climate Change under section 5ZT of the Climate Change Response Act 2002.

Act 2004, Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act 2019, the Waste Minimisation Act 2008, and the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.

- 8. The hearing of the Hazards and Risks chapter of the PORPS was held on 26 and 27 April 2023. The s.42A report was prepared by Mr Andrew Maclennan, who also prepared a supplementary statement of evidence updating a number of recommendations, and a reply report. A technical report prepared by GNS Science was appended to the s.42A report which addressed the technical aspects of submissions on natural hazards. We acknowledge the work of Mr Maclennan and submitters to engage to resolve outstanding issues. Their constructive approach to conferencing has resulted in agreement on a number of key matters and has made our job considerably easier.
- 9. As a result, we consider that many of the matters raised have been resolved through the final recommendations of Mr Maclennan. In this report we only cover what we consider to be the key points of contention or provisions that we consider require further amendment. Where provisions are not addressed, we have accepted the recommendations and reasons in the Reply Report, with the amended provision wording in the 10 October 2023 Reply Report version of the PORPS.

## 2. Definitions

- 10. Several terms used in this chapter are not used elsewhere in the PORPS. The following terms were discussed in Mr Maclennan's s.42A report:
  - Hard protection structure
  - Major hazard facility
  - Resilient or resilience
  - Residual risk
  - Vulnerability
- 11. Mr Maclennan recommended restructuring the definition of 'hard protection structure' which we consider strengthens the definition. Waka Kotahi requested that rip rap be added to the examples listed in the definition. While we agree with Mr Maclennan that the list of hard protection structures in the definition is not exclusive, the evidence and hearing presentation of Ms McMinn from Waka Kotahi made it clear that rip rap is commonly used by Waka Kotahi for erosion protection. To avoid any future confusion, we consider that 'rip rap' should be included in the list of example hard protection structures in the definition.
- 12. Turning to the other definitions listed above and discussed in paragraphs 20-42 of the s.42A report, we make the following observations:
  - a. We agree with Mr Maclennan that a new definition of 'major hazard facility' is not required.
  - b. We support the recommendation to clarify the definition of risk to only apply to natural hazards.
  - c. We agree that the definitions of 'resilient or resilience' and 'residual risk' should be retained as notified.

d. Forest and Bird requested that the definition of 'vulnerability' is clarified to only apply to natural hazards. We agree with Mr Maclennan that this is sufficiently clear in the definition but that the term should be removed from SRMR-I8.

#### 2.1. Recommendation

13. We recommend amending the definition of 'hard protection structure' as follows:

#### Hard protection structure

...outside the coastal environment, means <u>any kind of structure which is</u> <u>specifically established for the purpose of natural hazard risk mitigation, including</u> <del>any</del> dams, weirs, stopbanks, carriageways, groynes, or</del> reservoirs <u>and rip rap</u> <del>and</del> <del>any structure or appliance of any kind which is specifically established for the</del> <del>purpose of natural hazard risk mitigation</del>.

14. We recommend that SRMR–I8 is amended by replacing 'vulnerability' with 'susceptibility' in the second paragraph of the environmental impact snapshot.

# 3. HAZ-NH – Natural hazards

#### 3.1. Introduction

- 15. This section of the HAZ chapter establishes the framework for natural hazards management within regional and district plans. Both regional and district councils have responsibilities for managing activities as they relate to hazards and risks under the RMA. There are also additional statutes which interact with RMA functions, including:
  - Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002;
  - Building Act 2004; and
  - Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act 2019.
- 16. Unlike many other chapters in the PORPS, hazard and risk matters also traverse the coastal environment. The interface between the CE chapter and this chapter becomes important, as is consistency with the NZCPS.
- 17. More than 250 submission points were received on this section of the pORPS. In response, a number of amendments were recommended in the s.42A report and supplementary evidence, meaning that the breadth of issues addressed at the hearing was considerably more limited.
- 18. Mr Maclennan's Reply Report identified the following key matters of contention at the hearing, which we consider to be accurate:
  - a. Management of coastal hazards.
  - b. Infrastructure located in areas subject to natural hazards.
  - c. Amendments to APP6.
  - d. Kaitiaki decision making.

286

- 19. Kaitiaki decision making was addressed by HAZ-NH-P11 in the notified version of the PORPS. Mr Maclennan recommended deleting this in his s.42A report but, following discussions with Kāi Tahu ki Otago planners, has recommended a replacement HAZ-NH-P11 titled Kāi Tahu rakatirataka. We thank the parties for their constructive engagement on this matter and consider that the replacement policy is appropriate and well-aligned with the MW chapter.
- 20. We address the first three points in turn below. Note that we do not address the objectives HAZ-NH-O1 and HAZ-NH-O2 below. We agree with the recommendation and reasoning of Mr Maclennan and do not consider that there are any material issues remaining in relation to these provisions that require further discussion.

#### 3.2. Management of coastal hazards

- 21. Submitters sought additional clarity as to which provisions apply in the coastal environment, with Port Otago seeking a number of amendments in this regard.<sup>2</sup> Specifically, Ms O'Callahan for Port Otago considered that HAZ-NH-P1A and HAZ-NH-P1O apply to the management of coastal hazard risk, and sought that additional notes be added to policies HAZ-NH-P2 to HAZ-NH-P4 and to clarify that these provisions do not apply to any area subject to coastal hazard risk. She also suggested an amendment to HAZ-NH-P10(2) to address non-coastal hazard risks such as earthquakes affecting the coastal environment. Specifically, she suggested that 'and mitigate any other natural hazard risk' be added to HAZ-NH-P10.<sup>3</sup>
- 22. Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahi ki Otago expressed concern over the uncertainty as to when HAZ-NH-P3 and HAZ-NH-P4 apply and when the approach for coastal hazards in HAZ-NH-P10 would apply.<sup>4</sup> This could be an issue in coastal communities where river flooding and coastal storm surges combine.
- 23. We acknowledge the work of the submitters and Mr Maclennan to resolve the uncertainty in the drafting as to which provisions would apply to coastal hazards. As a result, Mr Maclennan recommended amendments in his opening statement to the hearing, which were further refined in his Reply report.<sup>5</sup> His view is that, to ensure a consistent approach, hazards that may be both coastal and non-coastal, such as fault lines, should be managed by HAZ-NH-P2, HAZ-NH-P3, and HAZ-NH-P4.
- 24. We agree that a consistent approach should be taken to managing such hazard risks. We also note that the use of the term 'coastal hazards' in HAZ-NH-P10 is intended to refer to hazards generated in the coastal environment. This is clearly articulated through Policy 24 of the NZCPS, which states:

There are a number of potential sources of inundation in the coastal environment, including:

- storm tides (comprising storm surges, high tides and short-term fluctuations in mean sea level at timescales of seasons to years);
- high spring or larger 'king' tides

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, 00301.047 00301.051 Port Otago

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mary O'Callahan for Port Otago, para [104]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, paragraph [141]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> HAZ Reply Report of Andrew Maclennan, para 19.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- wave set-up and run-up;
- short-term fluctuations in mean sea level (seasons to years);
- river flooding (which can also be influenced by storm surge and tide conditions);
- groundwater (from rising water tables with tidal connectivity);
- sea-level rise; and
- tsunami (which ride on the back of the sea level at the time of the event).

Therefore, the combined effect of these sources will need to be considered, including the combined, cumulative effects of sea, river/stream catchment and groundwater influences.

25. As such, we are satisfied that non-coastal hazard risks that may affect the coastal environment can be managed by HAZ-NH-P2, HAZ-NH-P3, and HAZ-NH-P4, with hazard risks generated in the coastal environment being managed by HAZ-NH-P10. We agree with Mr Maclennan's recommendation in his Reply Report to include a definition of 'coastal hazard' in the PORPS, and with the inclusion of HAZ-NH-P1A which requires the identification of areas potentially affected by coastal hazards. These amendments should ensure that there is no confusion in the application of these policies.

#### 3.2.1.Recommendation

26. We recommend the addition of a new policy, HAZ-NH-P1A as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P1A – Identifying areas subject to coastal hazards

Identify areas that are potentially affected by *coastal hazards* (including tsunami), giving priority to the identification of areas at high *risk* of being affected.

27. We recommend that HAZ-NH-P1 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P1 – Identifying areas subject to natural hazards

For hazards not identified in accordance with HAZ-NH-P1A, Uusing the best available information, Indentify areas where natural hazards may adversely affect Otago's people, communities and property, by assessing:

(1) ...

28. We recommend that HAZ-NH-P2 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P2 – Risk assessments

Within areas identified under HAZ-NH-P1 as being subject to *natural hazards*, <u>Aassess</u> the level of *natural hazard risk* <u>as significant</u>, tolerable, or acceptable by determining a range of *natural hazard* event scenarios and their potential consequences in accordance with the criteria set out within APP6.

29. We recommend that HAZ-NH-P4 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P4 – Existing *natural hazard risk* activities

<u>In areas identified under HAZ-NH-P1 as subject to *natural hazards*, -Rreduce existing *natural hazard risk* to a tolerable or acceptable level by:</u>

...

- 30. Note that HAZ-NH-P4 is discussed further below in relation to other matters.
- 31. We recommend that HAZ-NH-P10 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P10 – Coastal hazards

In addition to HAZ-NH-P1 to HAZ-NH-P9 above, <u>oO</u>n any *land* that is potentially affected by *coastal hazards* over at least the next 100 years:

- (1) avoid increasing the *risk* of social, environmental and economic harm from *coastal hazards*,
- (2) ensure no *land* use change or redevelopment occurs that would increase the *risk* to people and communities from that *coastal hazard*,
- (3) encourage *land* use change or redevelopment that reduces the *risk* from that *coastal hazard*, <del>and</del>
- (4) ensure decision making about the nature, scale and location of activities considers the ability of Otago's people and communities to adapt to, or mitigate the *effects* of, sea level rise and *climate change*--, and

#### (5) apply HAZ-NH-P5 to HAZ-NH-P9.

32. We recommend a new definition of 'coastal hazard' as follows:

means a subset of *natural hazards* covering tidal or coastal storm inundation, rising sea level, tsunami or meteorological tsunami inundation, coastal erosion (shorelines or cliffs), rise in *groundwater* levels from storm tides and sea-level rise (plus associated liquefaction), and salinisation of surface *fresh waters* and *groundwater* aquifers

33. Turning to s32AA, we agree with Mr Maclennan that "the suggested amendments setting out which provisions apply to coastal hazards, and which apply to other hazards will be more efficient and effective in achieving both HAZ-NH-O1 and HAZ-NH-O2. I consider they will create greater clarity as to which management approach will be used".<sup>6</sup>

#### 3.3. Infrastructure located in areas subject to natural hazards

34. A number of submitters, including Transpower, Contact Energy, Oceana Gold and Waka Kotahi, were concerned that the natural hazards provisions would restrict key infrastructure in potentially high-risk hazard environments. A number of policies are relevant here and are discussed below.

289

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> HAZ Reply Report of Mr Andrew Maclennan, para 21.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

35. HAZ-NH-P3 and HAZ-NH-P4, which cover new and existing activities respectively, were of particular concern. These provisions were notified as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P3 – New activities

Once the level of *natural hazard risk* associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ–NH–P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes:

- (1) when the *natural hazard risk* is significant, the activity is avoided,
- (2) when the *natural hazard risk* is tolerable, manage the level of *risk* so that it does not become significant, and
- (3) when the *natural hazard risk* is acceptable, maintain the level of *risk*.

#### HAZ-NH-P4 – Existing activities

Reduce existing *natural hazard risk* by:

- (1) encouraging activities that reduce *risk*, or reduce community vulnerability,
- (2) restricting activities that increase *risk*, or increase community vulnerability,
- (3) managing existing *land* uses within areas of significant *risk* to people and communities,
- (4) encouraging design that facilitates:
  - (a) recovery from *natural hazard* events, or
  - (b) relocation to areas of acceptable *risk*, or
  - (c) reduction of *risk*,
- (5) relocating *lifeline utilities*, and facilities for essential and emergency services, away from areas of significant *risk*, where appropriate and practicable, and
- (6) enabling development, upgrade, maintenance and operation of *lifeline utilities* and facilities for essential and emergency services.
- 36. Submitters sought varying relief to provide for activities to occur in areas of significant natural hazard risk, where there is a functional or operational need. Relief sought for HAZ-NH-P3 includes:
  - a. Ms McLeod for Transpower seeking that HAZ-NH-P3(1) focuses on avoiding significant risk rather than avoiding activities where the risk is significant.<sup>7</sup>
  - b. Ms McMinn for Waka Kotahi sought that nationally significant infrastructure be excluded from HAZ-NH-P3; and<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ainsley McLeod for Transpower, para [8.82]-[8.86]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Julie McMinn for Waka Kotahi, para [7.3]-[7.5]

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- 37. Ms Hunter for Contact Energy sought an amendment to HAZ-NH-P3(1) for the risk to be appropriately managed for nationally significant infrastructure that has a functional need or operational need for its location.<sup>9</sup>
- 38. Mr Maclennan, in his s.42A report, was not convinced that an exemption is required, stating at paragraph 132:

"I note that APP6 requires an assessment of the likelihood and consequence of an event occurring. This assessment takes place through plan reviews, plan changes, or resource consents. If an infrastructure project was considered a 'significant' risk, it would mean that the consequences of undertaking that project would be considerable. In this instance I consider it is appropriate that the significant risk is avoided. Given the nature of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, I consider most if not all new infrastructure projects would likely have an 'Insignificant' or 'Minor' consequence when assessed in accordance with APP9 [sic] (or even reduce the risk of natural hazards) and therefore would not trigger the 'significant' risk threshold."

39. This was not accepted by the submitters, with Ms McLeod for Transpower stating when considering HAZ-NH-P3 that:

"the Policy does not directs [sic] the avoidance of 'significant risk, but instead directs the avoidance of an activity. In my opinion the expression used in this Policy may have unintended consequences in its implementation, particularly in the context of plan making. This is because, the HAZ-NH-M3 – Regional plans and HAZ-NH-M4 – District plans directs that plans manage activities to achieve, amongst other matters, Policy HAZ-NH-P 3 and it follows that, to achieve the 'avoidance' required by the Policy, the future regional and district plans would likely set out areas where activities are avoided, rather than allowing for the consideration of a specific new activity or level of risk."

- 40. We consider this is a valid point and also acknowledge Ms Hunter's evidence for Contact Energy, which noted the complexity of APP6 and the discussed the uncertainty as to how the Clutha Hydro Scheme would be assessed against the APP6 criteria. She considered that "activities can be managed in a way that significant risks are reduced to a lower risk level and that the potential consequences can be mitigated. Accordingly, APP6 should not prevent resource users from undertaking activities where a conservative hazard risk management approach is employed."
- 41. Mr Maclennan's Reply Report accepted that the alternative drafting of Ms McLeod for clause (1) provides more certainty that the intent is to avoid significant natural hazard risk. We agree with this recommendation and consider that it should provide sufficient certainty that activities may be appropriate where the natural hazard risks have been sufficiently mitigated or managed. We will discuss APP6 later in this chapter.
- 42. Turning to HAZ-NH-P4 which applies to existing activities, there was a high level of support for this policy which should enable work to reduce risk for existing activities and enable lifeline utilities to locate away from areas of significant risk. A number of amendments were sought

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Claire Hunter for Contact Energy, para [12.1]-[12.5]

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

in the submission of QLDC and the subsequent evidence of Mr Place. Mr Maclennan recommended accepting the majority of these, with some amendments to reduce complexity, and including amending the heading of the policy to clarify that it applies to 'existing natural hazard risk' rather than 'existing activities'. We consider that these amendments add clarity and certainty to the policy. We do not consider that any additional amendments are necessary.

- 43. HAZ-NH-P5 is also relevant here, applying a precautionary approach to natural hazard risk. There was support for this policy from parties including Waka Kotahi, Graymont and QLDC, however others such as DCC and Ravensdown were concerned about the use of the 'precautionary approach' in this context and, in particular for DCC, the interaction with the UFD chapter. We acknowledge these concerns and agree that, to some extent uncertainty is addressed through APP6. However, we consider that this policy is broader than APP6 and relevant for consideration of natural hazard risks. We accept Mr Maclennan's recommendation in his reply report and do not discuss this policy further.
- 44. HAZ-NH-P6 is to protect existing features and systems that provide hazard mitigation, whether natural or modified, and sits alongside HAZ-NH-P7 which addresses new risk management approaches. In response to submissions, Mr Maclennan recommended amendments to clarify that the policy is not to *"protect natural or modified features and systems that contribute to mitigating the effects of natural hazards and climate change"* but to *"protect the ability of natural or modified features and systems..."*. We consider this to be an important distinction that clarifies the intent of the policy. We agree with Mr Maclennan's reply report recommendation for HAZ-NH-P6.
  - 45. HAZ-NH-P7 and HAZ-NH-P9, which relate to mitigating natural hazards and protection from hazards respectively, are also relevant here. These were notified as follows:

#### HAZ–NH–P7 – Mitigating natural hazards

Prioritise *risk* management approaches that reduce the need for *hard protection structures* or similarengineering interventions, and provide for *hard protection structures* only when:

- (1) *hard protection structures* are essential to manage *risk* to a level the community is able to tolerate,
- (2) there are no reasonable alternatives that result in reducing the *risk* exposure,
- (3) *hard protection structures* would not result in an increase in *risk* to people, communities and property, including displacement of *risk* off-site,
- (4) the adverse *effects* of the *hard protection structures* can be adequately managed, and
- (5) the mitigation is viable in the reasonably foreseeable long term or provides time for futureadaptation methods to be implemented, or
- (6) the *hard protection structure* protects a *lifeline utility*, or a facility for essential or emergency services.

#### HAZ–NH–P9 – Protection of hazard mitigation measures

Protect the *functional needs* of hazard mitigation measures, *lifeline utilities*, and essential or emergencyservices, including by:

- (1) avoiding significant adverse *effects* on those measures, utilities or services,
- (2) avoiding, and only where avoidance is not practicable, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects* on those measures, utilities or services,
- (3) maintaining access to those measures, utilities or services for maintenance and operational purposes, and
- (4) restricting the establishment of other activities that may result in reverse sensitivity *effects* on those measures, utilities or services.
- 46. Turning to HAZ-NH-P7, submissions covered a wide range of matters:
  - a. Clause (1) was considered to overlap with clause (2) and was considered unnecessary;
  - b. there was support for providing for hard protection structures to protect lifeline utilities in clause (6) but a request to widen this to cover other types of significant infrastructure;
  - c. Port Otago considered that hard protection structures may be necessary for the Port's commercial port activities and were concerned that clauses (1) to (3) may not allow this;
- 47. Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku and Kāi Tahu ki Otago support limitations on the use of hard protection structures, with Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku suggesting the word 'and' be inserted after each subclause. In response to submissions, evidence and pre-hearing discussions, Mr Maclennan recommended deleting clause (1) and restructuring the policy so that clause (6) becomes stand-alone, with clauses (2) to (5) connected with 'and'. This is consistent with the approach requested by Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku and is a sound one in our view. Like Mr Maclennan, we agree with the suggested wording of Mr Brass for the Director General of Conservation to amend clause (2) to provide certainty as to which alternatives should be considered. Similarly, we support the amendment requested by Ms O'Callahan to clause (3) to provide for hard protection structures that result in a 'more than minor' increase in risk.
- 48. Ms McIntyre for Kāi Tahi ki Otago requested amending clause (4) to clarify the types of effects that should be considered. She stated that *"where there is a clear acknowledgement that a particular effect is relevant, it would be more helpful, efficient and effective to include reference to that effect in the policy than to rely on general reference to adverse effects"*.<sup>10</sup> We respectfully disagree that this is necessary and agree with Mr Maclennan that the relevant effects can be managed on a case-by-case basis. We do not recommend any amendments to the Reply Report version of NH-HAZ-P7.
- 49. We have considered the submissions, evidence and recommendations of Mr Maclennan for NH-HAZ-P9. In response to a submission by DCC, Mr Maclennan has recommended

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> EIC of Ms Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahui ki Otago, para 153.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

broadening the title of the policy to include 'lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency services'. We agree that this better reflects the intent of the policy. On other matters raised, we agree with the recommendations and reasoning of Mr Maclennan, and consider that his recommendation in the Reply Report version of the PORPS is appropriate.

#### 3.3.1.Recommendation

50.

We recommend adopting the versions of HAZ-NH-P3 in the Reply Report version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023, as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P3 – New activities

Once the level of *natural hazard risk* associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ-NH-P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes:

- (1) <u>significant</u> when the natural hazard risks <u>are avoided is significant</u>, the activity is avoided,
- (2) when the *natural hazard risk* is tolerable, manage the level of *risk* so that it does not become significant exceed tolerable, and
- (3) when the *natural hazard risk* is acceptable, maintain the level of *risk*.
- 50. We recommend adopting the version of HAZ-NH-P4 on the Reply Report version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023, as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P4 – Existing *natural hazard risk* activities

In areas identified under HAZ-NH-P1 as subject to *natural hazards*, Reduce existing *natural hazard risk* to a tolerable or acceptable level by:

- (1) encouraging activities that reduce *risk*, or reduce community *vulnerability*,
- (2) restricting activities that increase *risk*, or increase community vulnerability,
- (3) managing existing <u>activities</u> *land* uses within areas of significant *risk* to people, and communities and property.
- (4) encouraging design that facilitates:

(a) recovery from natural hazard events, or

- (b) relocation to areas of acceptable *risk*, or
- (c) reduction of *risk*,
- (5) relocating *lifeline utilities*, and facilities for essential and emergency services, away from areas of significant *risk*, where appropriate and practicable, and
- (6) enabling development, upgrade, maintenance and operation of *lifeline utilities* and facilities for essential and emergency services.

51. We recommend adopting the version of HAZ-NH-P7 in the Reply Report version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023, with a minor correction to the numbering of clause (6), as follows:

#### HAZ-NH-P7 – Mitigating natural hazards

Prioritise *risk* management approaches that reduce the need for *hard protection structures* or similar engineering interventions, and provide for *hard protection structures* only when:

- (1) *hard protection structures* are essential to manage *risk* to a level the community is able to tolerate,
- (1A) the following apply:
  - (2<u>a</u>) there are no reasonable alternatives that result in reducing manage or reduce the risk exposure to a level the community is able to tolerate,
  - (3b) hard protection structures would not result in an a more than minor increase in risk to people, communities and property, including displacement of risk off-site,
  - (4<u>c</u>) the adverse *effects* of the *hard protection structures* can be adequately managed, and
  - (5<u>d</u>) the mitigation is viable in the reasonably foreseeable long term or provides time for future adaptation methods to be implemented, or
- (61B) the *hard protection structure* protects a *lifeline utility*, or a facility for essential or emergency services.
- 52. We recommend adopting the version of HAZ-NH-P9 in the Reply Report version of the PORPS dated 10 October 2023, as follows:

# HAZ-NH-P9 – Protection of hazard mitigation measures, <u>lifeline utilities, and</u> <u>essential or emergency services</u>

Protect the *functional <u>needs</u>* and *operational needs* of hazard mitigation measures, *lifeline utilities*, and essential or emergency services, including by:

- (1) avoiding significant adverse *effects* on those measures, utilities or services,
- (2) avoiding, and only where avoidance is not practicable, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects* on those measures, utilities or services,
- (3) maintaining access to those measures, utilities or services for maintenance and operational purposes, and
- (4) restricting the establishment of other activities that may result in *reverse sensitivity effects* on those measures, utilities or services.

# 3.4. APP6 – Methodology for natural hazard risk assessment

53. APP6 prescribes the four-step process to be used for determining natural hazard risk and is referenced in HAZ-NH-P2 – Risk assessments, which informs a number of other provisions. Mr Maclennan describes the purpose of APP6 as follows:

First and foremost, it is a framework that will be used to inform future plan review processes where community input will ensure that the risk thresholds in district and regional plans are appropriate for those communities. Prior to that occurring, APP6 provides a framework for undertaking a risk assessment within resource consent processes.<sup>11</sup>

- 54. Mr Maclennan has recommended substantial changes to the notified version of APP6 through his s.42A report, supplementary evidence and reply report. We acknowledge those who participated in pre-hearing discussions in relation to APP6 and also Mr Place from QLDC and Mr Kelly representing ORC for their clear presentations to the Panel on what is a technical matter.
  - 55. We have reviewed the submissions and responses on APP6 and recommend the following:
    - a. Amend clause (3) of Step 1 to direct which Shared Socio-Economic Pathway (SSP) scenarios or Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) scenarios should be used as part of the APP6 assessment. This was requested by QLDC and recommended to be accepted both by Mr Kelly at the hearing and Mr Maclennan in his reply report, but was omitted in the reply report version of APP6.
    - Replace 'territorial authorities' with 'local authorities' in Note 1 and Note 2 of Step 2 to better reflect the collaborative approach required of regional councils and territorial authorities to managing natural hazard risk, which is reflected in the HAZ-NH methods.
    - c. Amend paragraph 2 of Step 4 to ensure consistency with the quantitative risk assessment requirements indicated in Table 8. As recommended, Table 8 would require that a quantitative risk assessment be undertaken for a tolerable risk with a major consequence. The wording in paragraph 2 of Step 4 only requires a quantitative risk assessment be undertaken for a tolerable risk with a catastrophic consequence.

#### 3.4.1.Recommendation

- 56. We recommend the following amendments:
  - a. Amend clause (3) of Step 1 as follows:
    - (3) The likelihood assessment shall include consideration of the *effect* of *climate change* and should use the Shared Socio-Economic Pathway (SSP) scenarios or <u>Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) scenarios provided in the</u> <u>National Adaptation Plan.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Reply Report of Mr Andrew Maclennan, para 158.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- Replace 'territorial authorities' with 'local authorities' in Note 1 and Note 2 of Step 2.
- c. Amend paragraph 2 of Step 4 as follows:

If the assessment undertaken in Steps 1-3 determines that one of the three *natural hazard* scenarios generate *risk* that is significant, <u>or a tolerable risk with a major or</u> <u>catastrophic consequence</u>, undertake a quantitative *risk* assessment utilising the following methodology:<sup>12</sup>

# 4. Other provisions

57. Related to the HAZ objectives and policies are methods HAZ-NH-M1 to HAZ-NH-M5, explanation HAZ-NH-E1, principal reason HAZ-NH-PR1 and anticipated environmental results HAZ-NH-AER1 to HAZ-NH-AER5. We have reviewed the submissions and evidence on those provisions and Mr Maclennan's responses. The Panel has not identified any matters of concern with these provisions as finally recommended and adopt them accordingly.

# 4.1. HAZ-CL – Contaminated land

58. Approximately 60 submissions were received on the contaminated land or HAZ-CL section of the PORPS. Many of the submission points addressed alignment with the NESCS or other legislation. Before we proceed further, it is worth reiterating the definition of 'contaminated land' in s.2 of the RMA, which is as follows:

contaminated land means land that has a hazardous substance in or on it that-

(a) has significant adverse effects on the environment; or

(b) is reasonably likely to have significant adverse effects on the environment

59. Mr Maclennan summarised the approach to the HAZ-CL provisions as follows:

As the NESCS sets out a nationally consistent set of planning controls and soil contaminant values, the provisions within the pORPS avoid duplication by managing the adverse effects of contaminants on other receptors, including ecology, water quality or amenity values. Similarly, the management of waste is largely managed by local authorities under the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. Therefore, the focus of the provisions within the pORPS is to provide overarching direction on the waste minimisation hierarchy and the management of waste materials in the context of the RMA.

The PORPS 2019 includes provisions managing the use, storage and disposal of hazardous substances. However, the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017 removed the explicit function of regional and territorial authorities under section 30 and 31 to control hazardous substances so that RMA controls would not duplicate controls in the HSNO and the HSWA. As such, the pORPS has removed the provisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This methodology has been developed in general accordance with the Australian Geomechanics Society, 2007 methodology, which may usefully provide additional guidance.

managing hazardous substances and now relies on the HSNO and the HSWA controls to manage hazardous substances.<sup>13</sup>

- 60. We find no fault in this approach.
- 61. No submissions sought amendments to HAZ-CL-P16, HAZ-CL-P17, HAZ-CL-E2, HAZ-CL-AER6 and HAZ-CL-AER7. We do not consider that any consequential amendments are required to these provisions and we recommend that they are retained as notified.
- 62. We acknowledge the work of Mr Maclennan and the submitters to resolve the issues raised in submissions through pre-hearing discussions. As such, few issues relating to the HAZ-CL section were raised at the hearing and, of those, some of the requested amendments were recommended by Mr Maclennan in his reply report. As a result, this section of our report will be brief and, where we do not discuss a provision, this means that we have accepted the recommendation of Mr Maclennan in his reply report. This applies to the following provisions:
  - a. HAZ-CL-P13 Identifying contaminated land;
  - b. HAZ-CL-M6 -Regional plans;
  - c. HAZ-CL-M7 District plans;
  - d. HAZ-CL-M8 Waste management and minimisation plans;
  - e. New recommended HAZ-CL-M8A Prioritisation and action plans;
  - f. HAZ-CL-M9 Other incentives and mechanisms

## 4.2. HAZ-CL-O3 – Contaminated land

63. HAZ-CL-O3 is the sole objective in the HAZ-CL section and was notified as follows:

#### HAZ-CL-O3 – Contaminated land

*Contaminated land* and *waste* materials are managed to protect human health, *mana whenua* values and the *environment* in Otago.

- 64. Six submissions were received with DCC, Ravensdown and The Fuel Companies in support.
- 65. We support Kāi Tahu ki Otago's request that 'mana whenua' is replaced with 'Kāi Tahu' as this is consistent with our approach elsewhere in the pORPS.
- 66. Horticulture NZ and Federated Farmers sought to replace 'protecting' with 'not harming' in relation to human health, mana whenua values and the environment. Mr Maclennan considered in his s.42A report and reply report that 'protecting' is consistent with the NESCS, however Ms Wharfe for Horticulture NZ pointed out that 'protect' in the NESCS only applies to human health and not Kāi Tahu values and the wider environment. While her evidence requested that 'protect' be replaced with 'do not harm', she amended this in her presentation to the panel such that 'do not harm' only relates to Kāi Tahu values.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> S.42AOfficer's Report of Mr Andrew Maclennan, paras 473-474.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

67. We consider that this is an important point and agree with Ms Wharfe that HAZ-CL-P14(2) is to protect human health but clause (3) of this policy does not seek to protect other values. We accept the submission of Horticulture NZ.

#### 4.2.1.Recommendation

68. We recommend that HAZ-CL-O3 is amended as follows:

*Contaminated land* and waste material are managed to protect human health <u>and do</u> <u>not harm Kāi Tahu</u>, mana whenua values and the *environment* in Otago.

- 4.3. HAZ-CL-P14 Managing contaminated land, HAZ-CL-P15 New contaminated land and HAZ-CL-P18 Waste facilities and services
- 69. HAZ-CL-P14, HAZ-CL-P15 and HAZ-CL-P18 were notified as follows:

#### HAZ-CL-P14 – Managing contaminated land

Actively manage contaminated or potentially contaminated land so that it does not pose an unacceptable risk to people and the environment, by:

- (1) assessing and monitoring contaminant levels and environmental risks,
- (2) protecting human health in accordance with regulatory requirements,
- (3) avoiding, as the first priority, and only where avoidance is not practicable, mitigating or remediating, adverse effects of the contaminants on the environment, and
- (4) requiring closed landfills to be managed in accordance with a closure plan that sets out monitoring requirements and, where necessary, any remedial actions required to address ongoing risks.

#### HAZ-CL-P15 – New contaminated land

Avoid the creation of new *contaminated land* or, where this is not practicable, minimise adverse *effects* on the *environment* and *mana whenua* values.

#### HAZ-CL-P18 – Waste facilities and services

When providing for the development of facilities and services for the storage, recycling, recovery, treatment and disposal of *waste* materials:

- (1) avoid adverse *effects* on the health and safety of people,
- (2) minimise the potential for adverse *effects* on the *environment* to occur,
- (3) minimise risk associated with natural hazard events, and
- (4) restrict the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity *effects* near *waste* management facilities and services.
- 70. A new recommended cause (5) for HAZ-CL-P14 relating to closed landfills was recommended in Mr Maclennan's supplementary evidence following the pre-hearing meeting as follows:

# (5) prioritising the identification and management of closed landfills and *contaminated land* at risk from the *effects* of *climate change*.

- 71. We consider this to be a sound addition.
- 72. Submissions from Ravensdown and the Fuel Companies sought to delete HAZ-CL(3) or amend clause (3) to remove the reference to "avoid". Ms Taylor, in her evidence for Ravensdown, accepted the s.42A report's reasons for retaining clause (3). We are of the same view although, in line with our discussions and recommendations for other provisions in the PORPS, we recommend that 'is not practicable' be replaced with 'is not reasonably practicable'.
- 73. Turning to HAZ-CL-P15 and on a similar note, in response to a submission by Queenstown Airport Mr Mclennan has recommended adding 'to the greatest extent practicable' before 'adverse effects'. We recommend that this be amended to 'to the extent reasonably practicable' and consider that this is consistent with the submission of Queenstown Airport.
- 74. Similarly, 'to the greatest extent practicable' was recommended to be added to clause (2) of HAZ-CL-P18. We support the intent of this amendment in response to submissions by Forest and Bird and Kāi Tahu ki Otago but consider that this should be reworded to read 'to the extent reasonably practicable' for reasons discussed earlier in our report.
- 75. In relation to other submissions on both of these policies, we support the reasoning and recommendations of Mr Maclennan.

#### 4.3.1.Recommendation

76. We recommend that HAZ-CL-P14 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-CL-P14 – Managing contaminated land

Actively mManage contaminated or potentially *contaminated land* so that it does not pose an unacceptable *risk* to people and the *environment*, by:

- (1) assessing and, <u>if required</u>, monitoring *contaminant* levels and environmental *risks*,
- (2) protecting human health in accordance with regulatory requirements,
- (3) avoiding, as the first priority, and only where avoidance is not <u>reasonably</u> practicable, mitigating or remediating, adverse *effects* of the *contaminants* on the *environment*, and
- (4) requiring closed *landfills* to be managed in accordance with a closure plan that sets out monitoring requirements and, where necessary, any remedial actions required to address ongoing *risks*, and.
- (5) prioritising the identification and management of closed *landfills* and *contaminated land* at risk from the *effects* of *climate change*.

#### HAZ-CL-P15 – New contaminated land

Avoid the creation of new *contaminated land* or, where this is not practicable, minimise <u>to the extent reasonably practicable</u> adverse *effects* <u>of contamination</u> on the *environment* and *mana whenua* <u>Kāi Tahu</u> values.

78. We recommend that HAZ-CL-P18 be amended as follows:

#### HAZ-CL-P18 - Waste facilities and services

When providing for the development of facilities and services for the storage, recycling, recovery, treatment and disposal of *waste* materials:

- (1) avoid adverse *effects* on the health and safety of people,
- (2) <u>to the extent reasonably practicable</u>, minimise the potential for adverse *effects* on the *environment* to occur,
- (3) minimise *risk* associated with *natural hazard* events, and
- (4) restrict the establishment of activities that may result in *reverse sensitivity effects* near *waste* management facilities and services.

# Section 12: Historical and Cultural Values (HCV)

# 1. Introduction

- 1. This section of the recommendation report assesses the provisions of the pORPS which establish the planning framework for the management of historic heritage within the Otago region. The National Planning Standards require a chapter entitled 'Historical and Cultural Values' 'if relevant to the regional policy statement'. The Otago region is rich in historic heritage, with a wide range of important cultural and historic heritage places and areas, and hence the ORC has included such a chapter.
- 2. Section s6(f) of the RMA requires the protection of historic heritage from inappropriate subdivision, use and development as a matter of national importance. Included within the RMA definition of 'historic heritage' is reference to "sites of significance to Māori, including wāhi tupuna". The relationship of Māori and their culture and traditions with their ancestral lands, water, sites, waahi tapu, and other taonga are also identified as a matter of national importance by s6(e) of the RMA.
- 3. A large number of submission points have been received on the HCV provisions. The submissions address a number of themes and seek specific amendments to the provisions.
- 4. The Chair excused himself from consideration of provisions addressed by the submission lodged by Central Otago Heritage Trust because of a close friendship with Mr D.G Shattky of the trust. Commissioner Cubitt chaired the hearing on those submission points.
- 5. In addressing these submissions, we are indebted to the efforts of the Section 42A report writer, Ms Angela Fenemor. She identified a number of common topics across the provisions which guided the preparation of her s42A report. We have essentially used the format of her report as the basis for our recommendation report, although in some instances we have taken the grouping of the provisions a step further given the interconnectedness of many of the issues in play. As a consequence, not all of the sections of Ms Fenemor's report appear in this document.
- 6. The HCV chapter has two sections:
  - HCV-WT Wāhi tupuna
  - HCV-HH Historic heritage

# 2. General Themes

- 7. There were 14 general submissions on the HCV chapter, with two submitters seeking the chapter be retained as notified. A number of submitters raise issues with the wording of the chapter, specifically regarding the use of the terms 'historic' and 'heritage,' and the need for improved integration between the two sections of the chapter, WT Wāhi tūpuna and the HH Historic heritage.
- 8. With respect to the Heritage NZ request to change the chapter title to "HHCV Historic heritage and cultural values" (along with consequential amendments), the officer acknowledged the use of "historic heritage" in s6(f) of the RMA but noted that the title of the chapter is determined by the National Planning Standards.

- 9. In response to the Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust request to replace "Historic Heritage" with "Cultural & Natural Heritage" throughout the document, the officer noted that the terms are not synonymous and that there would be "significant repercussions for the meaning of several pORPS policies, including creating unexplored overlaps with the provisions for Natural Features and Landscapes."
- 10. The Central Otago Heritage Trust ('The Trust') made several submissions providing overall support to the section but made a number of specific requests. In relation to the need to cross reference between HCV-WT and HCV-HH to acknowledge they are not to be interpreted in isolation<sup>6</sup>, she did not believe there is anything in the section to suggest they are exclusive and felt cross-referencing was best left to the IM chapter. Mr Shattky and Ms Rusher, on behalf of the Trust, addressed this matter at the hearing in the context of the PORPS being provided online in a series of isolated sections. They stressed the importance of ensuring these sections are appropriately cross referenced online.
- 11. The Trust also requested that the objectives and policies be adjusted to prioritise the recording and sharing of information concerning heritage values, particularly where the Council is considering proposals for the modification or destruction of heritage sites. They also requested that the RPS provide a description or summary of Otago's heritage legacy.
- 12. In response to these requests, the officer noted that recording is part of the identification and protection of values and is already provided for. With no suggested wording provided, she recommended that this submission be declined. The Trust discussed this matter at the hearing, suggesting that the online heritage section of PORPS have electronic links to heritage databases.
- 13. In relation to the Trust's request that the RPS provide a description or summary of Otago's heritage legacy, the officer noted that no drafting or suggestions was provided and as a consequence, she was not in a position to propose content that might satisfy the submitter's concerns.
- 14. Mr Shattky and Ms Rusher addressed their concerns in this respect at the hearing. They also traversed what they referred to as 'the intangible cultural heritage values of a number of other cultures' who have contributed to the fabric of the Otago region. They felt that more historical context needed to be included in the PORPS, along with recognition of the contributions of all ethnicities to Otago's distinctive heritage legacy. However, no wording was provided to address their concerns.
- 15. The officer recommended accepting submissions that support the chapter in part, as some provisions have been modified.

## 2.1. Recommendation

16. The Panel essentially agrees with the position of the officer in relation to these general submissions and do not recommend any amendments. However, we were of the opinion that the Central Otago Heritage Trust raised several valid points about how the PORPS should be posted online, along with links to heritage data bases and further content on Otago's heritage legacy. These matters are outside the scope of our role, but we suggest that the Trust liaise with ORC staff around this matter.

# 3. Definition of Historic Heritage

17. The definition of historic heritage, as notified, states:

"has the same meaning as in section 2 of the Resource Management Act 1991 (as set out in the box below)

(a) means those natural and physical resources that contribute to an understanding and appreciation of New Zealand's history and cultures, deriving from any of the following qualities:	
(i)	archaeological:
(ii)	architectural:
(iii)	cultural:
(iv)	historic:
(v)	scientific:
(vi)	technological; and
(b) includes—	
(i)	historic sites, structures, places, and areas; and
(ii)	archaeological sites; and
(iii)	sites of significance to Māori, including wāhi tapu; and
(iv)	surroundings associated with the natural and physical resources

18. There are two submissions on the definition of historic heritage. Gerald Carter requests that "historic heritage" is replaced with "cultural and natural heritage", which the submitter notes is used by UNESCO. The Central Otago Heritage Trust sought the following addition of the term "historic heritage":

"(b) Includes – ... heritage values associated with natural and physical resources" The officer did not recommend any change to the definition, noting "that the term "historic heritage" is defined by the RMA, and those definitions have been used in the PORPS. This approach is consistent with the National Planning Standards."

## 3.1. Recommendation

19. We agree with the officer that no change should be made to the definition given it is defined by the RMA.

# 4. New Definition – Archaeological site

- 20. Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga request that a definition of "archaeological site" from the HNZPTA 2014 is included in the definitions list for consistency.
- 21. The officer agreed that including such a definition provides certainty to users, and that consistency with the HNZPTA 2014 appears to be a sensible solution. The officer was initially concerned that the definition from the HNZPTA 2014 is "subject to section 42(3)" of that Act and was unclear how this would affect the use of this definition in the context of the PORPS 2021. This was discussed at the pre-hearing conferencing, which confirmed that s.42(3) of the HNZPTA 2014 refers to the requirement for an archaeological authority, so is not relevant to

the definition of an 'archaeological site'. Based on this clarification, the officer agreed it was appropriate to include the definition.

#### 4.1. Recommendation

22. The Panel agrees that including a definition of archaeological site provides certainty to users, and that having a definition consistent with the HNZPTA 2014 appropriate. Hence, we recommend the following definition be included in the PORPS:

#### Archaeological site: means

- a. any place in New Zealand, including any building or structure (or part of a building or structure), that—
  - was associated with human activity that occurred before 1900 or is the site of the wreck of any vessel where the wreck occurred before 1900; and
  - provides or may provide, through investigation by archaeological methods, evidence relating to the history of New Zealand; and
- b. includes a site for which a declaration is made under section 43(1) of the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014.
- 23. The officer carried out the following s32AA evaluation with respect to the inclusion of the definition:

"The recommendation to include a definition of "archaeological site" will provide certainty for the users of the RPS on the meaning of archaeological site and will not affect the meaning or application of any provisions in the document. While the suggested amendments will not result in any changes to the implementation of the RPS, including a definition will likely result in improved effectiveness of the relevant provisions, compared to the effectiveness or efficiency assessment contained in the Section 32 Evaluation Report."

24. We agree and adopt that assessment accordingly.

# 5. Additional Definitions

- 25. Central Otago Heritage Trust (The Trust) requests the addition of new definitions, including:
  - Heritage
  - Cultural heritage value/s
  - Tangible value
  - Intangible value
  - Cultural landscape
  - Mana whenua
- 26. The Trust's concern was that PORPS uses various terms when referencing heritage matters without clearly defining or reflecting their specific meanings in the context they are used. They noted that UNESCO and ICOMOS NZ classify historic heritage qualities as 'tangible' or 'intangible' and consider a greater understanding of these qualities will contribute to achieving the objectives and policies. They sought amendments to clearly express that priority

be given to the protection of heritage values, as well as heritage sites (as emphasised in HCV-WT).

- 27. The officer noted that the term "mana whenua" is defined by the RMA, and that the terms "cultural heritage values", "tangible values" and "intangible values" are not used within the text of the *PORPS* and therefore do not need to be defined.
- 28. Nor did she consider that a separate definition of "heritage" is necessary, in addition to the definition of "historic heritage". With respect to "cultural landscape", she has recommended elsewhere in her report that this term be removed.
- 29. In response to the oral submissions from Mr Shattky and Ms Rusher on behalf of the Trust, the officer stated that she understood 'historic heritage' to be directly referencing tangible items (such as structures and facades). She went on to state that "without the tangible item", the historic heritage value is removed – historic heritage is an explicitly visual value" and that "by focusing only on protecting the intangible elements of historic heritage and neglecting the tangible, HCV-HH-O3 will not be attained".

#### 5.1. Recommendation and Reasons

30. The panel agrees that the proposed definitions do not need to be included in the PORPS. However, we accept the essence of what the submitter was saying but believe this is again a matter that could be usefully explored through the use of electronic links to heritage data bases as previously discussed.

# 6. Historical and Cultural Values – Wāhi Tūpuna (HCV-WT)

- 31. The Historical and cultural values chapter 13 in the PORPS is divided into two parts with the first being entitled HCV-WT Wāhi tupuna. It essentially addresses Kāi Tahu's aspirations to protect their significant sites. In that regard this part of the PORPS is squarely addressing one of the identified factors requiring recognition in s.6(e) of the RMA:
  - 6. Matters of national importance

In achieving the purpose of this Act, all persons exercising functions and powers under it, in relation to managing the use, development, and protection of natural and physical resources, shall recognise and provide for the following matters of national importance:

(e) the relationship of Māori and their culture and traditions with their ancestral lands, water, sites, waahi tapu, and other taonga: ...

32. The primary issues raised by the submission process in respect of the WT section of the HCV chapter related first to identification and then the management of effects on areas or sites identified as having wāhi tupuna values. In large part the conclusions reached by the s.42A report writer were regarded as sound by the panel. However, because of their importance some discussion is required by us. We will address the issues of management of effects first.

....

## 6.1. Management of effects

- 33. In respect of the issue of 'management' of effects on values some issues of concern were raised by submitters such as Federated Farmers that wāhi tupuna could be identified as being located on privately owned land and that the relevant policies and methods were worded in too restrictive a manner. Instead, a request was made to limit the severity of such an approach by instead requiring the level of protection to be from *"inappropriate subdivision, use and development"*. The s.42A report recommended against that amendment on the basis that the phrase did not appear in s.6(e) of the RMA.
- 34. In other areas of this report, particularly as to the level of protection of indigenous biodiversity, we have placed considerable weight on the fact that similarly s.6(c) RMA does not contain that qualifier whereas it does appear specifically s.6(a) as to natural character, and s.6(e) require that protection against adverse effects in the words of the Supreme Court is intended to be against material effects which are adverse to the values sought to be protected. Objective HCV-WT-O1 specified as an objective that *"Wāhi tupuna and their associated cultural values are identified and protected"* with HCV-WT-P1 as recommended being intended to sustain Kāi Tahu relationships with wāhi tūpuna by *"enabling Kāi Tahu to identify ad wāhi tūpuna any sites and areas of significance to mana whenua, along with the cultural values that contribute to each wāhi tūpuna being significant".*
- 35. In other words, identification at each stage is linked as to both location and values for the wāhi tūpuna involved. The same can be said of the relevant method HCV-WT-M3.
- 36. However most importantly as recommended the provisions of HCV-WT-P2 as to management of effects of wāhi tūpuna in the opening sub-clauses also refer specifically to managing of effects on the cultural values of the identified wāhi tupuna.
- 37. Accordingly, we agree with the s.42A recommendation not to insert the qualifier sought which has been uplifted from other subsections of s.6. We are satisfied that the PORPS as finally recommended in 10 October 2023 contains objectives, policies and methods which ensure that is wahi tūpuna envisaged by the PORPS is specified in descriptive terms in Appendix 7.
- 38. However, in the course of considering the manner of treatment of effects on wāhi tūpuna we have formed the view that HCV-WT-P2 as recommended really conflates two distinct issues which are better separated. As recommended it provides:

#### HCV-WT-P2 – Management of wāhi tūpuna

Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:

- avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values associated with of identified wahi tūpuna,
- (1A) avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse effects on the cultural values of identified wāhi tūpuna,
- (2) where <u>other</u> adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, <u>then either</u> remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna,
- (3) managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori, and

#### (4) avoiding any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and

308

(5) encouraging the enhancement of access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the particular wāhi tūpuna.

- 39. As can be seen sub-clauses (1), (1A) and (2) all address effects on the values of wāhi tūpuna. Sub-clauses (1A) and (2) in essence provide a simplified effects management hierarchy aimed at ensuring maintenance of the values of the wāhi tūpuna. In our view that meets the approach of the Supreme Court in the *Port Otago* case.
- 40. However, the heading to HCV-WT-P2 is "*Management of wāhi tūpuna*" which is not what subclauses (1), (1A) and (2) are about.
- 41. By contrast, sub clauses (3) and (4) are directly concerned with the management of wāhi tupuna themselves.
- 42. In our view there are two different purposes of the various sub-clauses of HCV-WT-P2 and those should be separate into different policies. HCV-WT-P2 requires a new heading of 'Management of effects on wāhi tūpuna values' and it should contain only sub-clauses (1), (1A) and (2). Then a new policy should retain the heading of 'Management of wāhi tūpuna' and include sub-clauses (3) and (4).
- 43. In terms of s.32AA the outcome will be greater clarity between the manner of treatment of effects on the protected values of wāhi tūpuna as compared to the actual management of the physical wāhi tūpuna themselves.
- 6.1.1. Recommendation
- 44. We recommend that the present policy HCV-WT-P2 be divided into two policies as follows:

#### HCV-WT-P2 – Management of effects on wāhi tūpuna

Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:

- avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values associated with of identified wahi tūpuna,
- (1A) avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse effects on the cultural values of identified wāhi tūpuna,
- (2) where <u>other</u> adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, <u>then either</u> remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna,

And

#### HCV-WT-P2A – Management of wāhi tūpuna

#### Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:

- (3) managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori, and
- (4) avoiding any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and

(5) encouraging the enhancement of access to wahi tupuna to the extent compatible with the particular wahi tupuna.

## 6.2. Identification of wāhi tupuna and their associated cultural values

- 45. Initially these identification provisions had led to a number of submission points being raised by Kāi Tahu parties. A common concern was to try to ensure that Kāi Tahu interests were always under their control as to whether to identify locations of significance as wāhi tūpuna and the nature of the values involved, by inserting the word 'appropriate' in relation to Kāi Tahu input. The s.42 report writer expressed a repeated concern that use of a word such as 'appropriate' introduced a level of uncertainty and vagueness that was best avoided. The report writer made the point that protection could only be gained if identification occurred, or an area or site regarded by Kāi Tahu as significant and that if it was to be so identified then protection of values could only occur if those were also identified at the same time.
- 46. We agree. And we also agree with the end result recommended by the report writer which ensures that local authorities under HCV-WT-M3 have to include Kāi Tahu in the identification process of both significant wāhi tūpuna and its associated values. Moreover, HCV-WT-M4 then enables Kāi Tahu to identify in accordance with its tikaka wāhi tūpuna sites, areas and values using the guidance in APP 7. Finally, HCV-WT-M4(4) enables mana whenua to determine the method of recording and whether that is to be by map or not. As to concerns being expressed by other submitters that they may leave them exposed to concerns as to effects which are not recorded, our response is that values of wāhi tūpuna are protected they will have to ensure that is done in co-operation with the relevant local authority in a manner that is transparent to all if it is to be effective.
- 47. However, a consequent amendment for consistency is needed in our view to recommend HCV-WT-AER1 which was recommended to read:

#### HCV-WT-AER1 <u>Wāhi tūpuna areas and sites</u> The areas and places of wāhi tūpuna are identified in the relevant *regional <u>plans</u>* and *district plans* <u>using</u> mechanisms deemed appropriate by Kāi Tahu.

48. This wording uses the term 'appropriate' where we do not think it should be used. The recommended HCV-WT-M1(1) enabled Kāi Tahu to identify sites in accordance with tikaka using the guide in APP 7. HCV-WT-M1(4) then allowed for Kāi Tahu to determine the recording method to be used. We agreed with those outcomes. This recommended wording in HCV-WT-AER1 is not consistent with those outcomes. It needs to be reworded to be consistent and we record that as our s.32AA analysis for this change.

#### 6.2.1. Recommendation

- 49. That HCV-WT-AER1 is amended to read:
  - HCV-WT-AER1 <u>Wāhi tūpuna areas and sites</u> The areas and places of wāhi tūpuna are identified in the relevant *regional plans* and *district plans* <u>using tikaka for</u> identification of wāhi tūpuna and their values and the manner of recording those being determined by Kāi Tahu.
- 50. We are otherwise satisfied with the protective regime outcome that has resulted from the submission process in the recommended 10 October 2023 version save for two other methods.

(2) require cultural impact assessments where activities have the potential to adversely affect <u>values of</u> wāhi tūpuna <u>and Kāi Tahu have identified the need for an</u> <u>assessment</u>,

(3) require *including* conditions on resource consents or designations to *provide buffers or setbacks between protect wāhi tūpuna and from incompatible activities,* 

52. In each case the protection of 'values' has been omitted and needs to be included to be consistent with the overall approach underpinning this section of the PORPS. Again it is that need for consistency which provides the s.32AA analysis for these changes.

#### 6.2.2. Recommendation

- 53. We recommend that HCV-WT-M2(2) and HCV-WT-M2(3) are amended to read:
  - (2) require cultural impact assessments where activities have the potential to adversely affect <u>values of</u> wāhi tūpuna <u>and Kāi Tahu have identified the need</u> <u>for an assessment to protect particular values</u>,
  - (3) require including conditions on resource consents or designations to provide buffers or setbacks between protect wāhi tūpuna values and from incompatible activities,
- 6.3. HCV-HH-03 Historic heritage resources
- 6.3.1. Discussion
- 54. As notified, HCV-HH-03 reads:

#### HCV-HH-O3 – Historic heritage resources

Otago's unique historic heritage contributes to the region's character, sense of identity, and social, cultural and economic well-being, and is preserved for future generations.

- 55. There are five submissions on HCV-HH-03 with four of those submitters supporting its retention as notified. The Dunedin City Council sought amendments to the objective to clarify that not every item of historic heritage must be preserved. They submitted the focus should be on retention of places and areas with special or outstanding historic heritage values or qualities with other heritage values being retained where not in conflict with other objectives.
- 56. In the initial s42A report, the officer agreed with the DCC that there may be some tension between heritage protection objectives and those that enable development. The officer considered that *"there are benefits in amending the wording of the objective to alleviate any concerns that all historic heritage sites and features are to be preserved in totality"* but was of the opinion that the submitter's wording did not provide sufficient protection of historic heritage. As a consequence, no change was initially recommended.
- 57. Discussion during the pre-hearing conference led to alternative wording being promoted that replaced 'preserved' with 'protection and enhancement'. This was accepted as appropriate by

the officer although she considered enhancement should be used in the context of people's understanding and appreciation of heritage.

- 58. At the hearing, however, Mr Freeland on behalf of Dunedin City Council, was still concerned with the fact that the objective provides protection for every item of historic heritage, regardless of competing objectives in the PORPS. He suggested some wording to address this. The reporting officer did not recommend adopting this wording as she considered the objective to be "the relevant place for setting a clear outcome and expectation for the protection of historic heritage, while the policies provide the guidance on how that is to be done effectively while being cognisant of other PORPS objectives".
- 59. The Panel had some sympathy for the DCC's submission given that s.6(f) does not envisage absolute protection of historic heritage. Rather that protection is from "*inappropriate subdivision, use, and development.*" In his closing, Mr Anderson reminded us that the Supreme Court stated in *King Salmon*<sup>1</sup>, "*inappropriate' should be interpreted in s.6(a), (b) and (f) against the backdrop of what is sought to be protected or preserved.*" He went on to note that "HCV-HH-P5(2) requires avoidance of adverse effects on areas or places with <u>special or outstanding</u> historic heritage, whereas section 6(f) refers to all historic heritage."
- 60. While we understand the Supreme Court's position in relation to s.6(a) and (b), the resources addressed in (f) are largely human made physical resources, often located in built up urban areas, as opposed to naturally occurring features such as landscapes. By its very nature, historic heritage is from an earlier time so there are challenges around maintaining it, particularly when it comes to built heritage, which is often no longer fit for purpose and/or located in strategically important areas within a city. This is the concern Mr Freeland was addressing.
- 61. In this context, what is considered 'appropriate' may well involve completely removing or heavily modifying 'what is sought to be protected or preserved'. This is quite often the case with heritage building that have become derelict due to them no longer being fit for purpose and therefore no longer commercially viable. By contrast, we cannot envisage any circumstances where a landscape would be 'removed'.
- 62. The PORPS historic heritage policy framework seems to us to merely focus on adverse effects without the context of what may or may not be appropriate. This causes concern when historic heritage may, for example, need to be removed for health and safety reasons or to make way for strategically significant projects.
- 63. While the DCC submission did not specifically request use of the 'inappropriate' phrase from the RMA, they did request that the objective be amended to "so it is clear that not every item of historic heritage must be preserved...". We believe the s.6 qualifier is there to recognise that point. As a consequence, we have included it in the objective to address Mr Freeland's concern.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> King Salmon [2014] 1 NZLR 593 at [105]

#### 6.3.2. Recommendation

64. Amend HCV-HH-O3 as follows:

#### HCV-HH-03 – *Historic heritage* resources

Otago's unique historic heritage contributes to the region's character, sense of identity, and social, cultural and economic well-being, and is preserved for future generations. people's understanding and appreciation of it is enhanced, and that it is protected for future generations against inappropriate subdivision, use and development.

#### 6.4. HCV-HH-P3 – Recognising historic heritage

- 6.4.1. Discussion
- 65. As notified, HCV-HH-P3 reads:

#### HCV-HH-P3 – Recognising *historic heritage*

Recognise that Otago's *historic heritage* includes:

- (1) Māori cultural and *historic heritage* values,
- (2) archaeological sites,
- (3) residential and commercial buildings,
- (4) pastoral sites,
- (5) surveying equipment, communications and transport, including *roads*, bridges and routes,
- (6) industrial historic heritage, including mills and brickworks,
- (7) gold and other mining systems and settlements,
- (8) dredge and ship wrecks,
- (9) ruins,
- (10) coastal *historic heritage*, particularly Kāi Tahu occupation sites and those associated with early European activities such as whaling,
- (11) memorials, and
- (12) trees and vegetation.
- 66. There are twelve submissions on HCV-HH-P3. Four submitters support the retention of HCV-HH-P3 as notified while two submitters seek that it be deleted because it is too vague and could lead to the identification of historic heritage features regardless of whether they are worthy of protection. These submitters consider a directive list unnecessary because historic heritage is defined in the RMA.
- 67. The remaining submitters seek a range of additions to the policy, including "Geological Heritage" and various infrastructure and mining relics. The Director General of Conservation

seeks recognition of the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act, which they say is directly relevant to the purpose of the policy. Federated Farmers and Waitaki DC sought consistency and clarification in relation to Kāi Tahu heritage while Federated Farmers proposed the deletion of 'vegetation' from the list. Toitū Te Whenua sought changes around how farming activities are identified.

- 68. In response to the request to delete the policy, the officer advised that "HCV-HH-P3 provides important regional context to the policy framework, to assist with understanding and acknowledging the types of values, sites and features that form part of Otago's historic heritage." She also noted that the list is non-exhaustive, and accepted several of the suggested amendments on the basis that they describe additional sites and features that are reflective of the types of historic heritage in Otago. The officer also recommended changes in relation to the reference to Māori values. In relation to geological heritage, she felt this was more appropriately managed in the NFL chapter.
- 69. The Director General of Conservation's submission regarding the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act was not addressed in the original s42 Report but was recommended for inclusion in the officers opening statement. How this was incorporated into the policy was amended in the officers reply to address the disjunct noted by the Panel between section 6 of the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act and the policy itself.
- 70. In response to the recommendations, Mr Bathgate for Kāi Tahu ki Otago noted that that there may be Māori historic heritage of non-Kāi Tahu origin and that reference to 'places and areas' as opposed to 'sites' is more consistent with HCV-HH-P4 and APP8<sup>2</sup>. The officer agreed with this in her reply and recommended those changes accordingly.
- 71. The Panel acknowledges that there is some logic to the submissions of Alluvium and Stoney Creek, Danny Walker and others as the RMA does indeed contain a definition of historic heritage. However, that definition is very generic, and we accept the officer's position that the resources identified in the policy illustrate what specific items in Otago may fall within that definition. For that reason, we also agree with the changes she has recommended to the list with the exception of cemeteries as requested by the Waitaki District Council. Cemeteries are managed under the Burial and Cremation Act 1964 and we do not think it appropriate that they be subject to heritage provisions

#### 6.4.2. Recommendation

72. That HCV-HH-P3 be amended as follows:

#### HCV-HH-P3 – Recognising historic heritage

Recognise that Otago's historic heritage includes:

- (1) Māori cultural and historic heritage values and sites, and places and areas,
- (2) archaeological sites,
- (3) residential and commercial buildings,
- (4) pastoral sites,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Michael Bathgate for Kāi Tahu (Appendix 1), page [23]

(5) surveying equipment, communications and transport, including roads, bridges, <u>railway infrastructure</u> and routes,

(6) industrial historic heritage, including mills, <u>quarries</u>, <u>limekilns</u>, <u>grain stores</u>, <u>water supply infrastructure</u> and brickworks,

(7) gold, limestone and other mining systems and settlements,

(8) dredge and ship wrecks, <u>and coastal structures and buildings</u>, including <u>breakwaters</u>, jetties, and lighthouses,

(9) ruins,

(10) coastal historic heritage, particularly Kāi Tahu occupation sites and those associated with early European activities such as whaling,

(11) memorials and

(12) trees and vegetation,

(13) military structures or remains, and

(14) Historic places within the meaning under section 6 of the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014.

# 6.5. HCV-HH-P4 – Identifying historic heritage and APP8

#### 6.5.1. Discussion

- 73. Policy HCV-HH-P4 and APP8 deal with the identification of historic heritage. The s42A report dealt with these provisions separately, at section 13.6.5 and section 13.6.17 respectively. Because they work in conjunction with each other, we have dealt with them together.
- 74. As notified, HCV-HH-P4 reads:

#### HCV-HH-P4 – Identifying historic heritage

Identify the places and areas of *historic heritage* in Otago in accordance with APP8 and categorise them as:

(1) places and areas with special or outstanding *historic heritage* values or qualities, or

(2) places and areas with historic heritage values or qualities.

#### 75. As notified, APP8 reads:

#### APP8 – Identification criteria for places and areas of historic heritage

A place or area is considered to have *historic heritage* if it meets any one or more of criteria below:

Aesthetic The place has, or includes aesthetic qualities that are considered to be especially pleasing, particularly beautiful, or overwhelming to the senses,

eliciting an emotional response. These qualities are demonstrably valued, either by an existing community or the general public, to the extent that they could be expected to experience a sense of loss if the qualities which evoke the aesthetic value were no longer there.

- Archaeological The place provides, or is demonstrably likely to provide, physical evidence of human activity that could be investigated using archaeological methods. Evidence obtained from an archaeological investigation could be expected to be of significance in answering research questions, or as a new or important source of information about an aspect of New Zealand history.
- Architectural The place reflects identifiable methods of construction or architectural styles or movements. When compared with other similar examples, or in the view of experts or relevant practitioners, it has characteristics reflecting a significant development in this country's architecture. Alternatively, or in conjunction with this, the place is an important or representative example of architecture associated with a particular region or the wider New Zealand landscape.
- CulturalThe place reflects significant aspects of an identifiable culture and it can be<br/>demonstrated that the place is valued by the associated cultural group as<br/>an important or representative expression of that culture.
- **Historic** The place contributes to the understanding of a significant aspect of New Zealand history and has characteristics making it particularly useful for enhancing understanding of this aspect of history, especially when compared to other similar places.
- Scientific The place includes, or is demonstrably likely to include, fabric expected to be of significance in answering research questions or a new or important source of information about an aspect of New Zealand's cultural or historical past through the use of specified scientific methods of enquiry.
- Social The place has a clearly associated community that developed because of the place, and its special characteristics. The community has demonstrated that it values the place to a significant degree because it brings its members together, and they might be expected to feel a collective sense of loss if they were no longer able to use, see, experience or interact with the place.
- **Spiritual** The place is associated with a community or group who value the place for its religious, mystical or sacred meaning, association or symbolism. The community or group regard the place with reverence, veneration and respect, and they might be expected to feel a collective sense of loss if they were no longer able to use, see, experience or interact with the place.
- TechnologicalThe place includes physical evidence of a technological advance or method<br/>that was widely adopted, particularly innovative, or which made a<br/>significant contribution to New Zealand history<br/>OR

The place reflects significant technical accomplishment in comparison with other similar examples or, in the view of experts or practitioners in the
field, has characteristics making the place particularly able to contribute towards our understanding of this technology.

TraditionalThe place reflects a tradition that has been passed down by a community<br/>or culture for a long period, usually generations and especially since before<br/>living memory, and has characteristics reflecting important or<br/>representative aspects of this tradition to a significant extent.

The significance of areas and places with *historic heritage* will be assessed having regard to the following criteria:

- (1) the extent to which the place reflects important or representative aspects of Otago or New Zealand history,
- (2) the association of the place with events, persons, or ideas of importance in Otago or New Zealand history,
- (3) the potential of the place to provide knowledge of Otago or New Zealand history,
- (4) the importance of the place to *takata whenua*,
- (5) the community association with, or public esteem for, the place,
- (6) the potential of the place for public education,
- (7) the technical accomplishment, value, or design of the place,
- (8) the symbolic or commemorative value of the place,
- (9) the importance of identifying historic places known to date from an early period of Otago's or New Zealand's settlement,
- (10) the importance of identifying rare types of historic places, and
- (11) the extent to which the place forms part of a wider historical and cultural area.
- 76. There were eight submissions on HCV-HH-P4. CODC, Kāi Tahu ki Otago, and QLDC sought that the policy be retained as notified. The Director General of Conservation submitted that there was not enough certainty or clarity around determining whether values, places or areas are special or outstanding (under the policy or the associated APP8) and requested clearer criteria or guidance. For similar reasons, Trojan and Wayfare both sought the deletion of the two clauses of the policy. The DCC submission highlighted the resourcing implications of having to identify two categories of heritage items and noted the potential inconsistency between the policy and their 2nd Generation District Plan. Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku sought recognition of wāhi tūpuna as part of historic heritage and that clause (2) provides appropriate description for wāhi tūpuna.
- 77. In respect to APP8, thirteen submissions were received, with the Director General of Conservation and QLDC seeking that it be retained as notified. Two submitters sought the removal of the 'Aesthetic, Social, Spiritual and Traditional' criteria from APP8, as well as all other references to those criteria. Two other submitters sought the addition of a new geological significance criteria to the list. One submitter sought clarification on why the identification criteria has changed from that recently resolved in the partially operative RPS.

Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga(HNZPT) support the inclusion of historic heritage significance assessment criteria but stated they must be correctly presented while DCC submits reference should be made to the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Significance Assessment Guidelines 2019.

- 78. In response to the DCC concerns, the officer noted that a two-tiered classification system is not a new requirement, but a refinement of the approach set out in the PORPS 2019. That RPS requires the identification of historic heritage of regional and national significance. The officer also drew our attention to the s32 evaluation report<sup>3</sup> stating that there will be an increase in cost for the territorial authorities, but that cost will be lower than the status quo for district councils that have not undertaken a plan review. For those councils that have already undertaken a plan review she, noted that while there will be additional costs, it is not anticipated that their plans will be reviewed ahead of a 10-year planning cycle response to the HCV-HH chapter.
- 79. The officer recommended rejecting the DCC submission and that of Trojan and Wayfare to delete clauses (1) and (2), which she advised are important for retaining the two-tiered classification approach, as APP8 does not provide the distinction between the special or outstanding. The officer also recommended rejection of the Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku submission as it lacked clarity.
- 80. In response to the Federated Farmers submission questioning the rationale for change in approach from the PORPS 2019, the s42A author report referred to the s32 report at paragraph 665, which states:

The PORPS 2019 provisions related to historic values have been implemented through various district planning processes, which has highlighted issues with the direction related to areas of "regional or national significance" and the ability of councils to apply a consistent approach to identifying and managing historic heritage.

- 81. No change was recommended in response to this submission. However, she did agree that reference to, and consistency with, the guidelines in APP 8 was appropriate and recommended some minor amendments accordingly. Further changes were made to APP8 in her supplementary report, so that the two types of historic heritage can be distinguished, which will enable the application of the effects management hierarchy in HCV-HH-P5.
- 82. In relation to the listed criteria in APP8, the officer agreed that the terms 'Aesthetic, Social, Spiritual and Traditional' are not included in the definition of section 2 of the RMA, but considered the use of these criteria "*a key component of a holistic, pragmatic and consistent approach to managing historic heritage in Otago, to best achieve the outcomes expressed in HH-HCV-O3*". With respect to geological heritage, she felt this was more appropriately managed in the NFL chapter.
- 83. The Panel largely agrees with the evidence of Mr Freeland for the DCC on this matter. He addressed the two-tiered approach at length in his evidence.<sup>4</sup> In his opinion, the cost associated with the two-tiered approach is unnecessary as District Plans currently manage all historic heritage in the same way, regardless of perceived historic importance, by a site-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Table 60, page 185

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> EIC of Paul Freeland, paragraphs 78-84

specific protection approach. In his opinion, there is "little demonstrable advantage to protecting historic places by way of a two-tier classification as this will generally mean that the protection measures for some places are either generalised or reduced in comparison to others. The practise of managing heritage values requires an understanding of what makes the place significant and site-specific protection measures are considered to be the most effective way of identifying and protecting parts of the place that demonstrate these values".

- 84. He expanded on the cost issue at the hearing, highlighting how significant it would be to confirm the categorisation in the context of the reassessment of approximately 760 existing heritage schedule items in the Dunedin City District Plan. Mr Freeland suggested an amendment to APP8 to address his concern which would only require two categories of historic heritage to be identified if the District Council chose an approach that treats them differently.
- 85. Mr Freeland's concerns with respect to the PORPS approach aligns with the experience of the Panel members. We agree with him that there is no demonstrable advantage of such an approach over the current approach adopted in most District Plans around the country. The Panel has reviewed the Section 32 Report on this issue and found it lacking on both these fronts. That Report does not seem to acknowledge, let alone quantify, the significant cost local authorities would be burdened with under this two-tiered approach.
- 86. While there is obviously a cost involved in identifying historic resources for inclusion in district plans, that cost increases dramatically if the actual historical significance of the resource must then be assessed. The officers reply report<sup>5</sup> referred to the 2020 report of Jeremy Moyle, an Archaeologist with Origin Consultants Ltd (the 'Origin Report'), which reviewed the approach taken by other councils to classifying historic heritage, but did not make any further comment on the findings. We have reviewed the Origin Report and note that it assessed the approach of 10 other councils to identifying geographic criteria (i.e. regionally or nationally important as opposed to 'significant or outstanding' as proposed here) and found that only three of them took that approach. While one of them was an Otago district council (being the Queenstown Lakes District Council), the other two were large urban authorities, being Auckland and Wellington City. Most other district plans, particularly smaller rural authorities, schedule heritage items and then use the resource consent process to manage effects on the item. Hence, the significance of the resource does not need to be determined as a part of the scheduling process - significance only needs to be addressed if it is likely that a development proposal may see a loss of these items, or their values. This approach also enables a framework that can permit activities where they will not affect the item or its values.
- 87. We cannot see how the two-tiered approach would change that or lead to an improvement in heritage protection. All it will do is impose a significant cost burden on local authorities, a cost that will be very difficult to bear for a number of Otago's smaller rural authorities. Under the current system, the cost of that assessment falls on those who will benefit from the proposal that may affect the item, not the general ratepayer.
- 88. We note that the Origin Report states that the current approach of the partially operative RPS 2019, which requires the identification of items of regional or national significance, would be "expected to be quite resource extensive" (page 6, 3<sup>rd</sup> paragraph). Yet we see little difference in the cost of what is proposed here, which is essentially Option C in that report, adopting the HNZPT approach to categorising historic heritage. The work involved in assessing historic heritage for 'special and outstanding' values is likely to be the same as assessing them for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> paragraph 84

'regional or national significance'. The obligations under the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014, and the associated processes, fall on HNZPT, not local authorities. As a rule, we do not consider it appropriate that legislation, or the processes in it, that are specifically designed for a Crown Entity should apply to other organisations, that operate under different legislation and where resource funding is much more limited.

- 89. We agree that the incorporation of a list of criteria and a process to enable the assessment of significance will ensure that there is consistency across Otago. However, we consider the current approach to heritage management within district plans as outlined by Mr Freeland to be a far more efficient approach in managing activities that may impact on heritage.
- 90. However, that does not stop councils from adopting a two-tiered approach if they so wish. That is likely to come down to a funding issue.
- 91. We were not entirely comfortable with Mr Freeland's drafting solution to the problem, which relates to APP8. We suspect that this was perhaps related to a scope issue, but we note that Trojan and Wayfare provide the scope to remove the two-tiered reference in policy. The DCC submission, however, does allow consequential amendments to link the significance criteria and assessment method under APP8 to the resource consent process.
- 92. Turning to the criteria themselves, the Panel has some sympathy for the submission of Alluvium and Stoney Creek, and Danny Walker and others who sought the removal of the Aesthetic, Social, Spiritual and Traditional criteria. The basis for this request is that these terms are not included in the definition 'historic heritage' in the RMA. They also rightly note that the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Significance Assessment Guidelines were based on the criteria which HNZPT are required to consider under the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act and do not consider it appropriate to use these criteria in an RMA context without comprehensive analysis of the implications of doing so.
- 93. On the other hand, Mr Mawdsley, the DCC Heritage advisor (in contrast to Mr Freeland as noted in the reply report), noted at the hearing that the criteria listed in APP8 are linked to the definition of historic heritage in the RMA. He also advised that similar criteria are used in the 2GP, and while the criteria may be phrased differently, the concepts remain the same.
- 94. While we could not find the similar criteria in the DCC 2GP, we tend to agree, for the most part, with Mr Mawdsley that the concepts encapsulated in the proposed criteria do reflect the definition of historic heritage in the RMA. While the criteria have specific meaning for 'cultural significance or value' and list 'Social, Spiritual and Traditional' values separately, with their own definitions, we consider these four criteria essentially form part of the wider reference to 'cultural' in the RMA definition of historic heritage. That definition begins with the chapeau "means those natural and physical resources that contribute to an understanding and appreciation of New Zealand's history and cultures, deriving from any of the following qualities..." (Panel's emphasis). We accept that 'Social, Spiritual and Traditional' values are cultural qualities that will contribute to 'an understanding and appreciation of New Zealand's history and cultures'.
- 95. Where we have some difficulty, however, is with the 'aesthetic' value listed in the criteria. That criterion is:

The place has, or includes, aesthetic qualities that are considered to be especially pleasing, particularly beautiful, or overwhelming to the senses, eliciting an emotional response. These qualities are demonstrably valued, either by an

existing community or the general public, to the extent that they could be expected to experience a sense of loss if the qualities which evoke the aesthetic value were no longer there.

96. The Panel considers this criterion to be out of place in a list of historic heritage criterion. It is more reflective of amenity or landscape values, as opposed to heritage values. The difficulty arises with the breath of what it can cover, being any 'place'. We note the examples included in the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Significance Assessment Guideline include the following:

The bush-clad, sheltered coastal environment of **Meretoto/Ship Cove**, Tōtaranui/Queen Charlotte Sound (Category 1, List No. 9900) has not changed markedly since the late 18th century. Early reservation of the site and a consequent lack of development preserved the scenic qualities warmly appreciated by James Cook and his fellow voyagers. Thickly clustered trees surrounding the cove that spill down to the water's edge, and the regenerated forest on the now predator-free Motuara Island, provide a safe home for the numerous bird species whose music enchanted Joseph Banks in 1770. The positive sensory experience created by the trees, birds, water and topography in concert are reminders of why Meretoto/Ship Cove became Cook's favourite New Zealand anchorage<sup>6</sup>

- 97. Because there is no reference in the definition to the 'place' needing to have a historical connection, while the Meretoto/Ship Cove 'place' clearly has historical significance and has a HNZPT listing, if it did not so, the definition of the 'aesthetic' value could still enable its listing as a 'historic heritage' site. That is because it would most likely meet the 'especially pleasing, particularly beautiful' criteria and is likely to be valued by the community. Much like the requested inclusion of a 'geological' value criterion, which the officer suggested was more of a 'natural feature' under s.6(b), sites that are 'especially pleasing, particularly beautiful' are more appropriately dealt with through landscape provisions.
- 98. As a consequence, we accept the submission of Alluvium and Stoney Creek, and Danny Walker and others in part and recommend the removal of the 'Aesthetic' criteria. Sites such as Meretoto/Ship Cove would still get identified under the 'historic' criteria, while buildings could get identified under the 'architectural' or 'historic' criteria. Those buildings that are not 'historic' as such, but that may be aesthetically pleasing and contribute to character of an area, can be addressed in a number of different ways by councils, if they so choose. For example, the DCC's 2GP identifies 'Character Contributing' buildings and requires consideration of townscape values in its policy provisions.

#### 6.5.2. Recommendation

99. Amend HCV-HH-P4 as follows:

#### HCV-HH-P4 – Identifying historic heritage

Identify the places and areas of historic heritage in Otago in accordance with APP8. and categorise them as:

(1) places and areas with special or outstanding historic heritage values or qualities, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Page 14, Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Significance Assessment Guidelines

100. Amend APP8 as follows:

APP8 – Identification criteria for places and areas of historic heritage

#### **<u>1. Identifying Areas and Places with Historic Heritage</u>**

....

A place or area is considered to have historic heritage if it meets any one or more of the criteria below:<sup>7</sup>

<b>Aesthetic</b>	The place has, or includes, aesthetic qualities that are
	considered to be especially pleasing, particularly beautiful, or
	overwhelming to the senses, eliciting an emotional response.
	These qualities are demonstrably valued, either by an existing
	community or the general public, to the extent that they could
	be expected to experience a sense of loss if the qualities which
	evoke the aesthetic value were no longer there.

The significance of areas and places with *historic heritage* will be assessed having regard to the following criteria:

#### 2. Identification of Special or Outstanding Heritage Values or Qualities

Where, for example, in a resource consent or notice of requirement process, a place or an area that has been identified as having historic heritage values or qualities, and is required to be assessed to determine whether those values or qualities are special or outstanding, that assessment must:

- (1) utilise the following criteria:
  - (a) the extent to which the place reflects important or representative aspects of Otago or New Zealand history,
  - (b) the association of the place with events, persons, or ideas of importance in Otago or New Zealand history,
  - (c) the potential of the place to provide knowledge of Otago or New Zealand history,
  - (d) the importance of the place to takata whenua,
  - (e) the community association with, or public esteem for, the place,
  - (f) the potential of the place for public education,
  - (g) the technical accomplishment, value, or design of the place,
  - (h) the symbolic or commemorative value of the place,
  - (i) the importance of identifying historic places known to date from an early period of Otago's or New Zealand's settlement,
  - (j) the importance of identifying rare types of historic places, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The identification criteria in APP8 follows O'Brian, R and Barnes-Wylie J, Guidelines for Assessing Historic Places and Historic Areas for the New Zealand Heritage List/Rārangi Kōrero (2019) which has been adopted by Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga as its Significance Assessment Guidelines (00123.003 Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga, 00139.239 DCC), with the exception that the 'Aesthetic value' has been removed this criterion.

- (k) the extent to which the place forms part of a wider historical and cultural area, <u>and</u>
- (2) apply the method set out in "Part Two: Applying the section 66(3) criteria" of Assessing Historic Places and Historic Areas for the New Zealand Heritage List/Rārangi Kōrero (2019).
- 101. Amend HCV-HH-PR2 Principal reasons

#### HCV-HH-PR2 – Principal reasons

Otago is a region rich in historic heritage, with a diversity of significant cultural and historic heritage places and areas that contribute to its special character and identity. Historic heritage encompasses historic sites, structures, places, and areas; archaeological sites; sites of significance to Māori (including wāhi tapu and wāhi taoka <u>sites</u>) and the broader surroundings and landscape in which they are situated. The heritage resources in Otago are reflective of the history that helped to shape the region, and is representative of the different cultures, industries and institutions that contributed to its development. Historic landscapes in the coastal environment are specifically recognised in Policy 17 of the NZCPS.

The provisions in this chapter assist in implementing section 6(f) of the RMA-1991 and the NZCPS by requiring:

 the identification of places and areas with historic heritage values and qualities and places and areas with special or outstanding historic heritage values and qualities using clear criteria and methodology that is regionally consistent. Where these resources need to be assessed to determine if they have special or outstanding values and qualities, regionally consistent criteria and methodology is to be followed.

...

# 6.6. HCV-HH-P5 – Managing Historic Heritage

- 6.6.1. Discussion
- 102. As notified, HCV-HH-P5 reads:

#### HCV-HH-P5 – Managing historic heritage

Protect *historic heritage* by:

- (1) requiring the use of accidental discovery protocols,
- (2) avoiding adverse *effects* on areas or places with special or outstanding *historic heritage* values or qualities,
- (3) avoiding significant adverse *effects* on areas or places with *historic heritage* values or qualities,
- (4) avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse *effects* on areas or places with *historic heritage* values or qualities,

- (5) where adverse *effects* demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating them, and
- (6) recognising that for *infrastructure*, EIT-INF-P13 applies instead of HCV-HH-P5(1) to (5).
- 103. There were 22 submissions on HCV-HH-P5, with only three (CODC, Meridian, and QLDC) seeking retention of it as notified. The remaining submissions sought a range of amendments including clarity on its effect, particularly around clause 4 and 5 and the accidental discovery protocols.
- 104. The Director General of Conservation sought amendments to enable consistency with their submission on HCV-HH-P4 while they also sought that clause 2 be amended to ensure there is no conflict with Policy HCV-HH-P7. Kāi Tahu ki Otago sought amendments to establish a clear hierarchy of effects management while Federated Farmers also sought changes to it.
- 105. Other submitters sought amendments to recognise infrastructure, in particular regionally and nationally significant infrastructure while the DCC submitted that there may be other projects (not just infrastructure) where significant positive effects may be 'worth' the loss of some historic heritage'. However, they considered the policy too onerous to allow for this. Oceana Gold and Toitū Te Whenua had similar concerns. Alluvium and Stoney Creek, and Danny Walker and others sought the deletion of clauses (2) and (3) for similar reasons, while Trojan and Wayfare sought the deletion of clause (2). Graymont sought amendments to ensure that existing activities can continue.
- 106. In the initial s42A report, the officer agreed with DoC that including a link to Policy HCV-HH-P7 (adaptive reuse and upgrade) is a clear way of providing for the integration of historic heritage values into new activities. However, she did not agree with submitters seeking what she termed a *"more enabling effects management hierarchy"* on the basis that *"Section 6 of the RMA provides clear guidance that historic heritage must be protected from inappropriate use, development or subdivision as a matter of national importance"*. She adopted a similar position in relation to the infrastructure submitters. In reference to sites or features that have special or outstanding historic heritage values, she recommended a strong policy position of avoiding adverse effects.
- 107. The officer adopted a similar position in relation to submissions seeking to weaken the avoidance approach and those seeking a pathway to either avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects. In relation to existing activities, she referred to section 10 of the RMA which provides protection for such activities. In her reply report, the officer did restructure the clauses related to other historic heritage, so it was clearer how the provisions worked.
- 108. In our discussion on Objective HCV-HH-O3 we noted that s.6(f) does not envisage absolute protection of historic heritage, but rather protection from "*inappropriate subdivision, use, and development.*" As a consequence of the DCC submission, we included the s.6(f) qualifier in the objective.
- 109. In relation to the request by QLDC for its inclusion in the policy, the officer did acknowledge that s.6(f) was qualified but she did not accept the Queenstown Airport submission to incorporate this reference into the chapeau of the policy. The officer held the position that for special or outstanding historic heritage values, a strong policy position of avoiding adverse effects must be retained and that this should also be the first preference in relation to other historic heritage sites or features. She stated that:

"Upholding the proposed effects management hierarchy is integral for achieving HCV-HH-O2, and it is my view that suggested amendments to provide carve outs or exemptions for particular types of activities (including infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant) would erode the strong policy position presented in HCV-HH-P5 for managing historic heritage. Where there is a functional need for a particular activity to occur at a site, the activity must be managed in accordance with

the policy, where there are options provided to mitigate or remedy some types of effects."The difficulty the Panel has with the officer's position is that the policy is very directive,

- 110. The difficulty the Panel has with the officer's position is that the policy is very directive, effectively requiring all adverse effects to be avoided (although we acknowledge the 'watering down' of this approach for 'other' historic heritage in the reply report), with little recognition, let alone a pathway, for activities that may be considered 'appropriate'. As we noted earlier in this decision, historic heritage resources are largely human made physical resources, often located in built up urban areas, as opposed to naturally occurring features such as landscapes.
- 111. As a consequence, there are significant challenges around maintaining historic heritage, particularly when it comes to built heritage. Heritage buildings are often not fit for modern day purposes so can become rundown and unsafe. An example of ensuring the ongoing viability of such buildings was raised with us by the Telecommunications submitters. They sought recognition of the fact *"that infrastructure service connections to heritage buildings support their ongoing use and therefore protection and upkeep"*.
- 112. However, their planning witness, Mr Horne, had significant concerns with HCV-HH-P5 (leaving aside the potential solution through the EI chapter) as service connections may fall foul of the 'avoid' approach, despite supporting the viability and ongoing use of such buildings. He stated that:<sup>8</sup>

'Given that district plans (as lower order planning documents) must give effect to the relevant Regional Policy Statement ("RPS") under the RMA, an "avoid" directive in the RPS may lead to outcomes such as non-complying activity status in district plans and/or notification. It also increases the risk that applications such as the Auckland Council City-Wide consent example be declined. In my opinion this may lead to unintended consequences and could make it difficult for telecommunications network operators to provide service connections to scheduled heritage buildings/buildings in heritage precincts, which would not be supporting their ongoing protection and use."

- 113. While infrastructure is dealt with in the EIT chapter, we agree with Mr Horne and think the issue is wider than just the provision of modern service infrastructure. Earthquake strengthening, firefighting capacity, and other modern health and safety requirements (including the install of lifts and restricted mobility access) may also fall foul of such a policy. Making such improvements to a building would not be 'inappropriate' in our view.
- 114. Such buildings may also be located in strategically important areas of a city. Mr Freeland addressed this issue in his evidence advising that this policy could have stopped the new Dunedin hospital because of the existence of historic heritage on its site.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> EIC, Chris Horner paragraph 4.14

115. Ms Hunter, for Oceana Gold, drew our attention to another circumstance where human made historic heritage resources can constrain activities with significant public benefit, this time in the rural environment. She highlighted *"the long-standing nature of the mining activity within the Macraes"*, advising that there a number of historic mining sites within the Macraes Mining operation area that could be affected by the operation. When these situations arise, she advised that:

"OceanaGold seeks, where practicable, to adopt measures such as the removal of significant artefacts, remediation and/or enhancement of other historic areas and features as part of its overall and ongoing site management."

- 116. The Graymont submission raised a similar issue, advising that their Makareao Plant and Quarry Site is classified as a Category 1 Historic Place, which provides insight into the history of the lime burning industry. While the site has a specific exclusion area over the quarry and plant that allows for its operations to take place (we assume from Heritage NZ), Graymont are seeking assurance that they can continue to operate, and maintain, develop and upgrade its facilities when necessary.
- 117. These are examples of activities that could potentially be 'appropriate use and development' which may impact on historic heritage values but are likely to face significant hurdles under the 'avoid' approach of this policy.
- 118. We also note that the DCC submission referenced policy 13.2.1.7 of their proposed District Plan, which also addresses safety concerns. The DCC sought the inclusion of something similar in the PORPS. That policy adopts an 'avoid unless' approach that would probably not be available under the current PORPS. The Policy reads as follows:

### Avoid the <u>demolition</u> of a <u>protected part</u> of a <u>scheduled heritage</u> <u>building</u> or <u>scheduled heritage structure</u>, unless the following criteria are met:

- a. ...
- *i.* the <u>building</u> or part of the <u>building</u> poses a significant <u>risk</u> to safety or <u>property</u>; or
- *ii.* the <u>demolition</u> is required to allow for significant public benefit that could not otherwise be achieved, and the public benefit outweighs the adverse effects of loss of the <u>building</u>; and
- b. there is no reasonable alternative to <u>demolition</u>, including repair, <u>adaptive</u> <u>re-use</u>, relocation or stabilising the <u>building</u> for future repair; and
- c. for <u>buildings</u> and <u>structures</u> located within a heritage precinct:
  - *i.* development post <u>demolition</u> will maintain or enhance the heritage streetscape character and amenity in accordance with Policy 13.2.3.6; and
  - *ii.* conditions will be imposed which would give reasonable certainty that this will be completed within an acceptable timeframe.
- 119. While we agree with the officer that as a s.6 matter, there should be a strong policy direction to avoid adverse effects on historic heritage, we feel the proposed policy goes too far in that direction and does not make provision for activities that may in fact be appropriate or

necessary. As a consequence, we consider it appropriate to include the s.6(f) qualifier in the chapeau as sought by Queenstown Airport. We have also accepted those submissions that seek recognition of those activities that may provide significant public benefit. Infrastructure is of course one of those activities and how that is treated in these circumstances will also be dealt with in the EI chapter but is also provided for in the exceptions here.

- 120. With respect to 'other' historic heritage, the Panel considers the 'avoid, remedy, mitigate' test is all that is necessary at an RPS level. The resource consent process will then determine what the appropriate response is in the context of the values being considered i.e. whether adverse effects need to be avoided, remedied or mitigated.
- 121. This recommended change also requires a consequential amendment to HCV-HH-E2.
- 6.6.2. Recommendation
- 122. That Policy HCV-HH-P5 be amended as follows:

### HCV-HH-P5 – Managing historic heritage

Except as provided for in EIT-INF-P13, protect *historic heritage* from inappropriate subdivision, use and development by:

- (1) requiring the use of accidental discovery protocols in accordance with APP11;
- (2) avoiding adverse effects on areas or places <u>which have been identified as having</u> special or outstanding *historic heritage* values or qualities, <u>except that in</u> <u>circumstances (a) to (f) below, they are remedied or mitigated to the extent</u> <u>practicable:</u>

(a) where HCV-HH-P6 applies, or

(b) a project has significant public benefit that outweighs the loss of historic heritage; or

(c) the activity has functional or locational constraints and has a significant public benefit; or

(d) the area or place is already impacted by an existing, lawfully established activity; or

(e) there is a significant risk to safety or property; or

(f) any adverse effects are minor and relate to work necessary to adapt a historic heritage building to modern use.

(3) avoiding, <u>remedying or mitigating</u> significant adverse *effects* on <u>other</u> areas or places with *historic heritage* values or qualities.

(4) avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse *effects* on areas or places with *historic heritage* values or qualities,

(5) where adverse *effects* demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating them, and

(6) recognising that for *infrastructure*, EIT–INF–P13 applies instead of HCV–HH– P5(1) to (5). activities do not detract from the region's special character and sense of identity. This also includes the enhancing places and areas of historic heritage by encouraging the <u>ongoing use and adaptive re-use of historic heritage</u>. integration of historic heritage values into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places in certain circumstances.

# 6.7. HCV-HH-P6 – Enhancing historic heritage and HCV-HH-P7 – Integration of historic heritage

- 6.7.1. Introduction
- 124. The s42A report addresses HCV-HH-P6 at section 13.6.7 and HCV-HH-P7 at section 13.6.8. We deal with them together as they relate to similar issues and at least two submitters have suggested that they are combined because of that.
- 125. As notified, HCV-HH-P6 and HCV-HH-P7 read as follows:

### HCV–HH–P6 – Enhancing historic heritage

Enhance places and areas of *historic heritage* wherever possible through the implementation of plan provisions, decisions on applications for *resource consent* and notices of requirement and non-regulatory methods.

### HCV-HH-P7 – Integration of historic heritage

Maintain historic heritage values through the integration of historic heritage values into new activities and the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places and areas.

- 126. Nine submissions were received on HCV-HH-P6 and six on HCV-HH-P7. CODC and QLDC sought HCV-HH-P6 be retained as notified while QLDC and the Waitaki DC sought HCV-HH-P7 be retained as notified. Kāi Tahu ki Otago also supported the direction of HCV-HH-P6 but submitted that HCV-HH-P7 could be amalgamated with it.
- 127. A number of submitters noted that it is not always possible or cost efficient to 'enhance' historic heritage as required by HCV-HH-P6 and sought amendments to include a qualifier (such as 'where practicable' and 'where reasonable). Manawa raised similar issues with the 'integration' required by HCV-HH-P7. The DCC sought clarity on what is meant by 'enhance' in the context of HCV-HH-P6 and recommended replacement wording focusing on encouraging maintenance and adaptive reuse. On the basis of their replacement wording, they submitted that HCV-HH-P7 could be deleted. Graymont sought a qualifier to HCV-HH-P6 to ensure existing activities can continue. Federated Farmers sought clarity regarding 'adaptive reuse or upgrade' within HCV-HH-P7 believing it should specifically refer to 'built' areas.
- 128. In relation to those submissions requesting that 'enhancement' be qualified in HCV-HH-P6, the officer considered the policy would be weakened. She had similar concerns in relation to the changes proposed to HCV-HH-P7. However, in response to the EIC of Ms Styles, on behalf of Manawa Energy, she agreed that 'where possible' HCV-HH-P6 sets a high bar. However, she was reluctant to accept 'where practicable' as in her opinion *"that allows for consideration of*

other factors, including cost implications of complying with the required provisions which could result in an environmental outcome (in this case, for historic heritage) that is at odds with the objectives (HCV-HH-O3)". As a consequence, she suggested the phrase "to the greatest extent practicable" as this would place the "onus on the resource user to demonstrate or show that the policy has been appropriately provided for."

- 129. The officer had similar concerns in relation to the changes proposed to HCV-HH-P7 and did not believe it needed clarification or amendment. She noted the proposed cross reference to HCV-HH-P7 in clause (2) of HCV-HH-P5, which she stated in her reply report *"effectively provides an exemption to meeting the requirement to avoid adverse effects on sites and places with outstanding or special historic heritage values or qualities*".
- 130. The officer was also unclear from the Federated Farmers submission on what the risks and/or benefits were of linking integration in HCV-HH-P7 to 'built' heritage only. She therefore recommended that the submission be rejected because it is unclear how this would improve the provision.
- 131. In the Panel's view, the two policies are essentially addressing the maintenance and enhancement components of 'protecting' heritage values through its ongoing use. In our view 'integration' in this context is a part of that ongoing, adaptive re-use of the resource. The goal is that the resource is maintained or enhanced (improved) and we agree that only one policy is required.
- 132. We accept that it is not always possible to incorporate or re-use historic heritage in developments so agree with the submitters that the words 'encourage' and 'practicable' should be used in this context. As a consequence, we have used 'as far as reasonably practicable'. We do not consider reference to the implementation of plan provisions, resource consents and notices or requirements is required in the policy. This is more appropriately addressed in the methods.
- 133. This recommended change also requires a consequential amendment to HCV-HH-E2, P2 and AER5.
- 6.7.2. Recommendation
- 134. Delete both HCV-HH-P6 and HCV-HH-P7 and replace with the following:

HCV-HH-P6A – Maintenance or enhancement of historic heritage

Encourage the ongoing use and adaptive re-use of *historic heritage* in a way that, as far as reasonably practicable, maintains or enhances the identified heritage values.

135. Amend HCV-HH-E2 – Explanation as follows:

The policies in this section are designed to ensure that Otago's unique historic heritage continues to contribute to the region's character, sense of identity, and social and economic well-being by requiring places and areas of significant historic heritage to be identified using regionally consistent methodology, then protecting or managing those sites or areas in particular ways to ensure that other activities do not detract from the region's special character and sense of identity. This also includes the enhancing places and areas of historic heritage by encouraging the ongoing use and adaptive re-use of historic heritage integration of historic heritage

### 136. Amend HCV-HH-PR2 – Principal reasons as follows:

Otago is a region rich in historic heritage, with a diversity of significant cultural and historic heritage places and areas that contribute to its special character and identity. Historic heritage encompasses historic sites, structures, places, and areas; archaeological sites; sites of significance to Māori (including wāhi tapu and wāhi taoka <u>sites</u>) and the broader surroundings and landscape in which they are situated. The heritage resources in Otago are reflective of the history that helped to shape the region, and is representative of the different cultures, industries and institutions that contributed to its development. Historic landscapes in the coastal environment are specifically recognised in Policy 17 of the NZCPS.

The provisions in this chapter assist in implementing section 6(f) of the RMA-1991 and the NZCPS by requiring:

...

- the protection of historic heritage from inappropriate subdivision, use and development,
- the <u>maintenance and</u> enhancement of historic heritage through <u>encouraging its</u> <u>ongoing use and adaptive re-use</u> the integration of historic heritage values into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places and areas in certain circumstances, and
- specified actions on the part of Otago's local authorities in managing historic heritage.

### 137. Amend HCV-HH-AER5 as follows:

**HCV–HH–AER5** Otago's existing built *historic heritage* is maintained <u>and enhanced</u> and integrated through efficient use, or adaptive reuse, where appropriate.

### 6.8. HCV-HH-M4 – Regional Plans and HCV-HH-M5 – District Plans

### 6.8.1. Introduction

- 138. There were three submissions on HCV-HH-M4, with Waka Kotahi seeking it be retained as notified. Toitū Te Whenua seeks to amend the provision to include any 'other soil disturbance' as a sub-clause to clause (2). Kāi Tahu ki Otago supports the provision with amendments to enable Kāi Tahu to exercise their kaitiaki role be identifying historic heritage values for mana whenua in accordance with HCV-HH-P4.
- 139. The officer was unclear on why the reference to 'other soil disturbance' was necessary given no reasons were provided. Hence, she recommended rejection of that submission. However, she agreed with the addition of a new clause requested by Kāi Tahu as this would ensure consistency with HCV-WT – Wāhi tupuna.

- 140. Ten submissions were received on HCV-HH-M5, with three seeking its retention as notified. Gerald Carter, and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust reiterate their concerns from earlier submissions that geological heritage is absent from the RPS as a whole, and that this is to be addressed.
- 141. DCC seeks amendments to address the fact that the location or presence of historic heritage is not always known, while Horticulture NZ s sought amendments to include further direction for the implementation of buffers or setbacks. Both Kāi Tahu ki Otago and Toitū Te Whenua requested the same amendments as they did to HCV-HH-M6.
- 142. The officer adopted the same position in relation to the Kāi Tahu ki Otago and Toitū Te Whenua submission as for HCV-HH-M6. In response to the Horticulture NZ submission, she did not consider further direction on this matter necessary and considered the requested amendments to be inconsistent with the effects management hierarchy. While she considered the submission of DCC appear to be pragmatic suggestion, she considered the structure of the provision should mean that known and unknown site are automatically considered.
- 143. In relation to HCV-HH-M4, we agree with the officer that it is unclear why a reference to 'other soil disturbance' is needed or in fact what it would cover. The definition of 'earthworks' is reasonably comprehensive so without any reasoning behind the request, we agree with the officer to reject this submission.
- 144. We also agree that it is appropriate, and consistent with the wāhi tupuna provisions, to add a new clause sought by Kāi Tahu to both methods.
- 145. With respect to HCV-HH-M5, while we acknowledge the issue raised by Toitū Te Whenua, we agree with the officer that the benefits of promoting public awareness of *historic heritage* values will outweigh the risk of any perverse outcomes. We also agree that the DCC amendment is not necessary, as the list is not exhaustive, and councils can offer whatever other financial incentives they with.
- 146. We are slightly confused over the submissions from Gerald Carter and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust, who request '*historic*' be removed from clause (2). Their submission had identified the provision being "(2) rates relief and resource consent fee waivers for activities that involve the retention of **historic heritage places or areas**". (Our emphasis). The notified provision does not include the word 'heritage' – it refers to 'historic places or areas' only. Deleting the word 'historic' would simply leave the phrase 'places and areas'. Deleting 'historic' would not be appropriate as a consequence. We assume here that the officer's comment that the existing reference is consistent with the RMA and New Zealand Planning Standards is because 'historic places and areas' are part of the definition of historic heritage in those documents.
- 6.8.2. Recommendation
- 147. We recommend HCV-HH-M4 and HCV-HH-M5 be amended to include the following

(2A) <u>enable Kāi Tahu to identify places and areas with historic heritage</u> values for mana whenua in accordance with HCV-HH-P4 that are located outside the beds of lakes and rivers, wetlands and the coastal marine.

### 6.9. HCV-HH-M6 – Incentives and education

- 6.9.1. Introduction
- 148. As notified, HCV-HH-M6 reads:

### HCV-HH-M6 – Incentives and education

*Local authorities* are encouraged to use other mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving Policies HCV-HH-P3 to HCV-HH-P7, including:

- (1) promoting public awareness of *historic heritage* values through providing information and education, and
- (2) rates differentials and *resource consent* fee waivers for activities that involve the retention of *historic heritage* places or areas.
- 149. There were seven submissions on HCV-HH-M6, with two seeking that it be retained as notified. Toitū Te Whenua submitted that releasing information to the public regarding historical and cultural sites may result in perverse outcomes, such as the destruction or vandalism of those sites. There is no explicit amendment sought.
- 150. Gerald Carter, and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust seek to replace the term 'historic' with 'heritage' while DCC seeks to amend the policy to include other 'economic instruments' as a means of broadening the scope of the policy. Kāi Tahu ki Otago, sought an amendment to include a clause specific to Kāi Tahu regarding interpretation of historic heritage values for mana whenua.
- 151. The officer accepted the Kai Tahu submission as they consistent with the direction set out in the MW and HCV-WT chapter while recommended rejection of the replacing the 'historic' terms as it is consistent the RMA and New Zealand Planning Standards. In relation to the DCC submission, she agrees that the list of mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving Policies HCV-HH-P3 to HCV-HH-P7 is non-exhaustive and does not prevent councils from utilising other economic incentives or instruments. However, she considered the amendments sought by DCC to be unclear, and do not improve the meaning or application of the method.
- 152. In relation to the identification and recording of sites and places of historic heritage, she considered this to be an important step in being able to appropriately manage activities in and near these sites. In her view, the benefit of this outweighs the risk of any perverse outcomes.
- 153. While the Panel acknowledges the issue raised by Toitū Te Whenua, we agree with the officer that the benefits of promoting public awareness of *historic heritage* values will outweigh the risk of any perverse outcomes. We also agree that the DCC amendment is not necessary, as the list is not exhaustive, and councils can offer whatever other financial incentives they with. The submission of Kāi Tahu ki Otago is accepted for the reasons previously given.
- 154. We are slightly confused over the submissions from Gerald Carter and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust, who request '*historic*' be removed from clause (2). Their submission had identified the provision being "(2) rates relief and resource consent fee waivers for activities that involve the retention of **historic heritage places or areas**". (Our emphasis). The notified provision does not include the word 'heritage' it refers to 'historic places or areas' only. Deleting the word 'historic' would simply leave the phrase 'places and areas'. Deleting 'historic' would not be appropriate as a consequence. We assume here that the officer's

comments that the existing reference is consistent with the RMA and New Zealand Planning Standards is because 'historic places and areas' are part of the definition of historic heritage in those documents.

### 6.9.2. Recommendation

155. Amend HCV-HH-M6 as follows:

### HCV-HH-M6 – Incentives and education

*Local authorities* are encouraged to use other mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving Policies HCV-HH-P3 to HCV-HH-P7, including:

- (1) promoting public awareness of *historic heritage* values through providing information and education, and
- (2) rates differentials and *resource consent* fee waivers for activities that involve the retention of *historic heritage* places or areas.
- (3) <u>enabling Kāi Tahu to interpret places and areas with historic heritage</u> values for mana whenua.

### 6.10. HCV-HH-E2 – Explanation

- 6.10.1. Discussion
- 156. As notified, HCV-HH-E2 reads:

### HCV-HH-E2 – Explanation

The policies in this section are designed to ensure that Otago's unique historic heritage continues to contribute to the region's character, sense of identity, and social and economic well-being by requiring places and areas of significant historic heritage to be identified using regionally consistent methodology, then protecting or managing those sites or areas in particular ways to ensure that other activities do not detract from the region's special character and sense of identity. This also includes enhancing places and areas of historic heritage by encouraging the integration of historic heritage values into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places in certain circumstances.

- 157. There were two submissions on this section, QLDC seeking its retention as notified and Kāi Tahu ki Otago seeks several amendments for the purpose of readability.
- 158. The officer considered that some of the amendments suggested by Kāi Tahu ki Otago generally improve the explanation, although she felt it appropriate to retain "in certain circumstances" on the basis that integration of historic heritage and adaptive reuse or upgrade is not applicable to all circumstances.
- 159. We agree with officer's position in relation to Kai Tahu's submission while we have also made consequential changes to HCV-HH-E2 in recognition of our changes to HCV-HH-P6 and HCV-HH-P7.

### 160. Amend HCV-HH-E2 as follows:

### HCV-HH-E2 – Explanation

The policies in this section are designed to ensure that Otago's unique historic heritage continues to contribute to the region's character, sense of identity, and social and economic well-being by requiring places and areas of significant historic heritage to be identified using regionally consistent methodology, then protecting or managing those sites or areas in particular ways to ensure that other activities do not detract from the region's special character and sense of identity. This also includes the enhancing places and areas of historic heritage by encouraging the ongoing use and adaptive re-use of historic heritage. integration of historic heritage values into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places in certain circumstances.

### 6.11. HCV-HH-PR2 – Principal reasons

- 6.11.1. Discussion
- 161. As notified, HCV-HH-PR2 reads:

### HCV-HH-PR2 – Principal reasons

Otago is a region rich in *historic heritage*, with a diversity of significant cultural and *historic heritage* places and areas that contribute to its special character and identity. *Historic heritage* encompasses historic sites, *structures*, places, and areas; archaeological sites; sites of significance to Māori (including wāhi tapu and wāhi taoka) and the broader surroundings and landscape in which they are situated. The heritage resources in Otago are reflective of the history that helped to shape the region, and is representative of the different cultures, industries and institutions that contributed to its development. Historic landscapes in the coastal *environment* are specifically recognised in Policy 17 of the NZCPS.

The provisions in this chapter assist in implementing section 6(f) of the RMA 1991 and the NZCPS by requiring:

- the identification of places and areas with *historic heritage* values and qualities and places and areas with special or outstanding *historic heritage* values and qualities using clear criteria and methodology that is regionally consistent,
- the protection of *historic heritage* from inappropriate *subdivision*, use and development,
- the enhancement of *historic heritage* through the integration of *historic heritage* values into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of *historic heritage* places and areas in certain circumstances, and
- specified actions on the part of Otago's *local authorities* in managing *historic heritage*.

- Implementation of the provisions in this chapter will occur primarily through regional and district plan provisions, however local authorities may also choose to adopt additional non-regulatory methods to support the achievement of the objectives.
- 162. There were five submissions on HCV-HH-PR2 with QLDC seeking its retention as notified. Gerald Carter, and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust again sought reference geological sites while Manawa also sought consistency with their earlier submission, on the 'integration' approach. Kāi Tahu ki Otago also sought consistency in the use of wāhi tupuna.
- 163. The officer dealt with the submission on geological sites as she did in the preceding sections. She also did not agree with the Manawa amendments given her recommendations in relation to policy HCV-HH-P7. With respect to the Kai Tahu submission, she agreed the addition of the word 'site' provide additional certainty but noted that the identification and management of effects on wāhi tupuna is set out in the HCV-WT chapter and felt that including it within the HCV-HH chapter may create some uncertainty or confusion about which provisions prevail.
- 164. We agree with the officer's position in respect to the Kai Tahu, Gerald Carter, and Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust submissions. We have, however, made consequently amendments to HCV-HH-PR2 as the result of our previous recommendations.
- 6.11.2. Recommendation
- 165. Amend HCV-HH-PR2 as follows:

### HCV-HH-PR2 – Principal reasons

Otago is a region rich in historic heritage, with a diversity of significant cultural and historic heritage places and areas that contribute to its special character and identity. Historic heritage encompasses historic sites, structures, places, and areas; archaeological sites; sites of significance to Māori (including wāhi tapu and wāhi taoka <u>sites</u>) and the broader surroundings and landscape in which they are situated. The heritage resources in Otago are reflective of the history that helped to shape the region, and is representative of the different cultures, industries and institutions that contributed to its development. Historic landscapes in the coastal environment are specifically recognised in Policy 17 of the NZCPS.

The provisions in this chapter assist in implementing section 6(f) of the RMA-1991 and the NZCPS by requiring:

- the identification of places and areas with historic heritage values and qualities and places and areas with special or outstanding historic heritage values and qualities using clear criteria and methodology that is regionally consistent and providing for the assessing of special or outstanding values and qualities with a regionally consistent criteria and methodology where this is required.
- the protection of historic heritage from inappropriate subdivision, use and development,
- the <u>maintenance and</u> enhancement of historic heritage through <u>encouraging</u> <u>its ongoing use and adaptive re-use</u> the integration of historic heritage values

into new activities and enabling the adaptive reuse or upgrade of historic heritage places and areas in certain circumstances, and

- specified actions on the part of Otago's local authorities in managing historic heritage.
- Implementation of the provisions in this chapter will occur primarily through regional <u>plans</u> and district plan provisions, however local authorities may also choose to adopt additional non-regulatory methods to support the achievement of the objectives.

### 6.12. HCV-HH-AER5

- 6.12.1. Discussion
- 166. As notified, HCV-HH-AER5 reads:

### HCV-HH-AER5

Otago's existing built *historic heritage* is maintained, enhanced and integrated through efficient use, or adaptive reuse, where appropriate.

167. There is one submission for HCV-HH-AER5, with QLDC seeking that it is retained as notified.

### 6.12.2. Recommendation

168. Due to the removal of Policy HCV-HH- P7, consequential amendments are required. It is therefore recommended that HCV-HH-AER3 be amended as follows:

### HCV-HH-AER5

Otago's existing built *historic heritage* is maintained <u>and enhanced</u> and integrated through efficient use, or adaptive reuse, where appropriate.

# Section 13: Natural features and landscapes (NFL)

### 1. Introduction

- 1. This section of the decision report assesses the provisions of the pORPS which establish the planning framework for the management of natural features and landscapes within the Otago region. The Otago region contains many natural features and landscapes which are valued for a number of reasons, including their cultural and social importance and their role in supporting domestic and international tourism. These areas are also often rural working landscapes.
- 2. Section 6(b) of the RMA requires the protection of the outstanding examples of these natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use and development. Some territorial authorities have also used two section 7 matters of the Act: (s7(c) the maintenance and enhancement of amenity values, and s7(f) the maintenance and enhancement of the quality of the environment, to provide a further level of landscape protection in planning documents.
- 3. Approximately 200 submission points have been received on the NFL provisions which address a number of themes and seek specific amendments to the provisions. In addressing these submissions, we are indebted to the efforts of the Section 42A report writer, Mr Andrew Maclennan. He identified a number of common topics across the provisions which have guided the preparation of his report. We have essentially used the format of his report as the basis for our decision report, although in some instances we have taken the grouping of the provisions a step further given the interconnectedness of many of the issues in play. As a consequence, not all of the provision related sections of Mr Maclennan's report appear in this document.
- 4. We would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to Mr Maclennan for his willingness to consult and engage with the parties throughout the process. This has led to many of the issues being resolved.

### 2. General themes

- 5. Prior to dealing with the specific provisions of the NFL provisions of the pORPS, the s42A report dealt with two general themes as follows:
  - The relationship of the NFL provisions with other chapters of the pORPS, and
  - Natural features and landscapes and Kāi Tahu cultural values
- 6. We consider there to be a third 'general theme' or issue that needs to be addressed up front, that being the mandatory requirement for the identification and maintenance and enhancement of *highly valued natural features and landscapes*. We address this first, before going on to address the two other general matters listed above.
- 7. Mr Maclennan also dealt with a number of definitions, but these are dealt with either in the context of the issue or elsewhere in the recommendation documents.

### 2.1 Highly Valued Natural Features and Landscapes

### 2.1.1 Discussion

8. The NFL provisions of the pORPS not only address the obligation of local authorities under section 6(b) of the Act to protect outstanding examples of natural features and landscapes, but they also provide a mandatory direction in relation to other features that do not meet the threshold for 'outstanding' but are considered 'highly valued' (referred to as 'HVNFL' here). The notified Objective NFL-O1 requires these areas and their values to be identified. Policy NFL-P3 then requires their maintenance or enhancement, as follows:

### NFL–P3 – Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes

Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:

- (1) avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and
- (2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.
- 9. While there was some support for this approach, a number of concerns were expressed with how the pORPS dealt with such landscapes, while a number of submitters requested that these provisions be deleted altogether.
- 10. The submission of Meridian and Rayonier Matariki Forests highlighted the fact that there is no directive in the RMA to identify and manage highly valued natural features and landscapes and sought the deletion of the provisions. Similarly, Network Waitaki, Contact, PowerNet, and Oceana Gold requested deletion of the relevant provisions on the basis that the policy NFL-P3 goes beyond the requirements of Part 2 of the RMA and they asserted the pORPS does little to distinguish between HVNFLs and ONFs/ONLs. Port Otago raised similar concerns. Several other submitters requested removal of HVNFL's as those provisions are unlikely to be required in the replacement RMA legislation. Harbour Fish also opposed the relevant policy and sought its deletion (although no reasons were provided).
- 11. In response to those submitters who requested HVNFL provisions be deleted, the s42A report drew our attention to Sections 7(c) and (f) of the RMA, which require decision makers to have 'particular regard' to the maintenance and enhancement of amenity values and the quality of the environment. The report went on to say that:

"It has been common practice throughout New Zealand to identify "visual amenity landscapes" or in the case of the pORPS "highly valued natural features and landscapes" as these areas contribute to the overall amenity and environmental quality of an area and the adverse effects on these locations is appropriate to manage"

And

"In order to ensure the pORPS achieves Sections 7(c) and (f) of the RMA, I consider it is appropriate to include provisions relating to HVNFLs".

12. In response to the Panel's questioning in relation to the requirements of s7(c) and (f), Mr Maclennan acknowledged that these sections do not make it mandatory to identify such landscapes and that there are other methods available to plan makers to address such issues. However, in his reply report Mr Maclennan continued to support retention of the HVNFLs, reiterating that it is common practice throughout New Zealand to identify such landscapes. Notably, he did soften his initial stance that HVNFLs would 'ensure' achievement of s7(c) and (f) to advising that they 'contribute' to giving effect to those sections.

### 2.1.2 Recommendation

13. That Policy NFL-P3 and all references to highly valued natural features and landscapes be deleted from the pORPS.

### 2.1.3 Reasons

- 14. As a number of submitters note, there is no directive in the Act that HVNFLs be identified in order to 'have particular regard to' the features referred to in s.7(c) and (f) of the Act. The Environment Court case referred to in Mr Anderson's opening submissions, *Upper Clutha Environmental Society Incorporated v Queenstown Lakes District Council* [2019] NZEnvC 205, does not address this issue directly. It deals with a district plan that has taken that approach, but it cannot be read as determining that such an approach is mandatory in relation to s.7 matters.
- 15. While the Panel acknowledges that HVNFLs may assist in local authorities addressing s.7 matters, we are not convinced that a mandatory regional direction is appropriate or necessary in relation to an issue that sits more comfortably with local communities to determine. Such a mandatory requirement cannot be justified merely on the basis that many local authorities may do this already. The Panel is aware of many that do not, including the Clutha District Council, in the Otago region.
- 16. The maintenance and enhancement of amenity values and environmental quality encompasses values wider than just landscape quality and can be achieved by a range of methods. Such measures include controls on density, building design and location, and nuisance type emissions including noise, odour and glare. In many rural districts (or rural zones), the landscape element of these values is often addressed by policy provisions that seek to maintain or enhance rural character and open space values.
- 17. While some Councils do use amenity landscape overlays, we are conscious of the fact that this approach tends to impact on rural communities the most. In Otago many of these communities already operate in s.6 landscapes, within the restrictions that imposes. We heard significant evidence from representatives of many of those rural communities on the large number of challenges they currently face. Section 7 landscape restrictions come at a cost, which benefits the wider community, not the landowner. While Mr Maclennan noted that *"there is generally an expectation that there is a greater ability to modify land use patterns and activities over time when compared to ONLs or ONFs"* within HVNFLs, the concerns of many of the submitters was that the proposed provisions do not reflect that.
- 18. It is our experience that the values that lead to the identification of s.6 outstanding landscapes and features are generally commonly held. However, the values below this threshold are generally more subjective as is the understanding of what maintenance means in this context. It is the experience of the Panel members that many of these HVNFL landscapes essentially

get treated the same as s.6 landscapes when it comes to the resource consent process. We do not consider this appropriate or warranted.

- 19. In our view, the costs of this planning restriction outweigh the benefits at a regional level. We believe it is more appropriate for local communities to determine how they have regard to s.7(c) and (f) in their planning documents. That may include identifying landscape overlays like those proposed here but it need not be mandatory at the regional level.
- 20. In coming to this conclusion, we were also swayed by the heavy body of evidence presented to us by the REG's (and others) which highlighted the enormous task this country faces if it is to seriously address the climate change issue. To decarbonise our economy in line with central government's statutory goal of net carbon zero by 2050 will require massive investment in renewable energy generation and transmission. Many of the physical attributes necessary to achieve that in Otago are, or are likely to be, located within s.6 environments, which significantly curtails the potential for such developments. This potential for conflict led to Meridian seeking the inclusion of a new policy to direct how natural features and landscapes are to be maintained and enhanced while also providing for renewable electricity generation. This is a very real issue confronting Otago (and the country) now and into the future. Further mandatory landscape restrictions do not seem sensible in this context.
- 21. As a consequence, we recommend the removal of all references to HVNFLs from the pORPS.
- 2.2 The relationship of NFL provisions with the CE chapter and Policy NFL-P6

### 2.2.1 Introduction

- 22. Mr Maclennan advised in his s42A report<sup>1</sup> that "the approach taken to the management of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes in the pORPS is to largely separate the management of these areas between the NFL chapter and the CE chapters. The objective in the NFL chapter applies to the coastal environment, however policy NFL-P6 specifies that natural features and landscapes in the coastal environment are managed by CE-P6. The CE chapter also includes provisions which set out the management of natural features, landscapes and seascapes."
- 23. As notified, NFL-P6 reads:

### NFL–P6 – Coastal features and landscapes

Natural features and landscapes located within the coastal environment are managed by CE–P6 and implementation of CE–P6 also contributes to achieving NFL–O1.

- 24. There were several submissions seeking clarification of the relationship between the two chapters. A number of these submitters sought amendments to integrate the management of natural features, landscapes and seascapes in the coastal environment into the NFL chapter while several submitters requested deletion of Policy NFL-P6.
- 25. Mr MacLennan's original position in his s42A Report was that no changes were necessary. However, in his supplementary evidence and opening statement he recommended a number

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> S42A Report, paragraph 14

of changes to the policy suite to clarify that certain policies did not apply within the coastal environment. Further amendments were made in his closing to include an 'advice note' at the start of the chapter that confirms the provisions do not apply to the coastal environment, with the subsequent removal of the references he had recommended earlier. He did, however, consider it appropriate that NFL-P6 remain even though it is only a cross reference policy. He did not consider coastal icons were necessary given the cross referencing proposed.

### 2.2.2 Recommendation

26. Delete Policy NFL-P6 and insert the following advice note at the beginning of the NFL chapter:

**Advice note:** pursuant to CE-P1 the provisions within this chapter do not apply in the coastal environment.

### 2.2.3 Reasons

27. We agree that the NFL provisions should not apply to the coastal environment given the application of the NZCPS to that geographic area. The PORPS provisions relating to natural features and landscapes in the coastal environment do not necessarily align with the provisions for the landward side of the coastal boundary. The advice note clarifies that. However, we do not see any purpose in retaining NFL-P6. With the introduction of the advice note, that policy becomes superfluous.

### 2.3 The relationship of NFL provisions with EIT chapter

### 2.3.1 Introduction

28. There were also several submitters seeking greater clarity regarding the relationship between the EIT and NFL provisions to ensure the functional and/or operational needs of infrastructure are recognised. Mr Maclennan agreed with these concerns and initially recommended that a new policy be inserted into the NFL chapter that essentially cross referenced the management of infrastructure in these environments to EIT-INF-P13. After the pre-hearing meeting, Mr Maclennan refined his recommendation in his supplementary evidence by incorporating the amendment into Policy NFL-P2.

### 2.3.2 Recommendation

29. Amend NFL-P2 as follows:

### NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:

managing the adverse effects of infrastructure on the values of outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.

### 2.3.3 Reasons

30. We agree with and adopt the final position of the S42A Report author because it is in line with the overall approach of the PORPS that all energy and infrastructure matters are dealt with in the EIT chapter.

### 2.4 Natural features and landscapes and Kāi Tahu cultural values

### 2.4.1 Introduction

31. The pORPS requires local authorities to collaborate with Kāi Tahu to identify and map outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes and the identification criteria in APP9 includes, as an associative attribute, cultural and spiritual values for Kāi Tahu. However, both Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku and Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu sought amendments to the NFL chapter to better reflect the relationship between natural features and landscapes and the values of Kāi Tahu. Mr Maclennan responded to these submissions by recommending the addition of the following to NFL-M1:

2A) collaborate with Kāi Tahu to identify the areas, values, and capacity of outstanding natural features and landscapes, and highly valued natural features and landscapes of significance for Kāi Tahu in accordance with NFL-P1,

32. In his reply report, Mr Maclennan accepted (for the most part) the evidence of Mr Bathgate to amend the new method proposed to better reflect a tikaka-based approach to landscape identification and description. However, he did not agree with Mr Bathgate that a new policy was necessary in the NFL section to ensure use of native reserves and Māori land was not restricted by these provisions as this was managed by MW-P4 and MW-P5.

### 2.4.2 Recommendation

33. That NFL-M1 is amended as follows:

### NFL-M1 – Identification

Territorial authorities must:

[...]

(2A) collaborate with Kāi Tahu to identify the areas, values, and capacity of natural features and landscapes of significance for Kāi Tahu in accordance with tikaka, and record and apply appropriate management responses as determined by *mana whenua*,

34. That MW-P4 is amended to read:

### MW-P4 – Sustainable use of Māori land Native Reserves and Māori land

Kāi Tahu are able to <del>protect,</del> develop and use *land* and resources within native reserves and <u>Māori *land* held under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993</u>, <u>including</u> within *land* affected by an ONFL, in <u>accordance with mātauraka and tikaka...</u>

35. That MW-M5 is amended to read:

### MW-M5 – Regional plans and district plans

Local authorities must amend their regional <u>plans</u> and district plans to:

••••

(2) provide for the use of native reserves and *Māori land*, held under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993 including within land affected by an ONFL's overlay in accordance with MW-P4, and recognise Kāi Tahu rakatirataka over this *land* by enabling *mana whenua* to lead approaches to manage any adverse *effects* of such use on the *environment*,

### 2.4.3 Reasons

- 36. We agree that there is the potential for conflict when providing for customary uses of outstanding natural features and landscapes and accept Mr MacLennan's position that a new policy is not necessarily needed in the NFL section to address the issue. The approach of the MW chapter provides explicit direction to enable the use of Māori land for some described purposes in accordance with mātauraka and tikaka. However, we do think it appropriate to note in both the policy and method he refers to that this customary use is also enabled on land that may be affected by a ONFL overlay's (along with other similar overlays) to avoid any doubt.
- 37. We also agree with Mr Maclennan that the phrase 'of significance for Kāi Tahu' in the new method proposed, which Mr Bathgate sought to remove, be retained as we think the reference to 'outstanding' is not necessary in this context as the focus of these provisions is on landscapes "of significance to Kāi Tahu", not outstanding landscapes in the usual s6(b) context.

### 3. Specific Provisions

- 3.2 NFL-O1 Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes
- 3.2.1 Introduction
- 38. As notified, NFL-O1 reads:

### NFL-O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes

The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* are identified, and the use and development of Otago's *natural and physical resources* results in:

- (1) the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes, and
- (2) the maintenance or enhancement of highly valued natural features and landscapes.
- 39. Only three submitters support NFL-O1 as notified. As discussed above, the Panel recommends that the reference to highly valued natural features and landscapes is removed from the pORPS and left as a matter for territorial authorities to address if they deem necessary. In relation to the remainder of the Objective, a number of submitters raised a concern with the unqualified nature of the protection proposed, given s.6(b) is qualified in that protection is only from "inappropriate subdivision, use and development".
- 40. Other changes requested included Kāi Tahu ki Otago seeking the addition of a 'restoration' limb to the objective to provide support for Policy NFL-P4, while Beef + Lamb and DINZ sought the term "protection" be replaced with "sustainment". Otago Rock Lobster sought to be

involved in the identification of outstanding seascapes so that the interests of the fisheries industry are recognised.

- 41. The initial position of the s42A report author was to recommend that Objective NFL-O1(1) remained unchanged on the basis that it clearly sets out the outcomes sought and "is appropriate for the nuanced approach to managing effects on outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes to be captured in the policies that implement the objective." Mr Maclennan did not consider replacing the term "protection" with "sustainment" would align with s 6(b) of the RMA.
- 42. However, he changed his position in his opening statement at the hearing and recommended that the objective be reframed to better align with the qualifying language of s6(b) of the Act.<sup>2</sup>
- 43. The restoration issue was addressed in his supplementary evidence, following discussions at the pre-hearing meeting with Kāi Tahu ki Otago. Mr Maclennan reconsidered his position and felt it was appropriate that the objective should prescribe the outcome that is sought to be achieved by the policies, in this case Policy NFL-P4.
- 44. However, that stance changed again in response to the evidence presented on behalf of Darby Planning LP & Others, Mt Cardrona Station, Oceana Gold OGL and Glenpanel Limited Partnership, who sought deletion of the reference to restoration given difficulties with interpretation and implementation. His final recommendation was to delete the restoration limb, largely on the basis that the protection concept can incorporate restoration, so it does not need to be directly mentioned in the objective. He also highlighted the interpretation issues raised by Mr Brown and Mr Ferguson.<sup>3</sup>
- 45. Mr Maclennan also addressed Mr Devlin's request to 'enable appropriate use and development' in such landscapes in his reply report, which he did not recommend on the basis that the intention of the chapter is not to 'enable' development<sup>4</sup>.
- 3.2.2 Recommendation
- 46. That Objective NFL-O1 be amended as follows:

#### NFL-O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes

The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and *highly valued* natural features and *landscapes* are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and *physical resources* results in:

- (1) the protection of <u>them</u> <del>outstanding natural features and landscapes,</del> <u>from</u> <u>inappropriate *subdivision*, use and development. <del>and</del></u>
- (2) the maintenance or enhancement of highly valued natural features and landscapes.
- 47. Delete NFL-P4 as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Opening Statement, Mr MacLennan, paragraph 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> NFL Reply report, Section 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid, paragraph 31

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

#### **NFL-P4 - Restoration**

Promote restoration of the areas and values of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* where those areas or values have been reduced or lost.

### 3.2.3 Reasons

- 48. With the exception of the issue relating to HVNFLs, the Panel is in agreement with Mr MacLennan's final position in relation to Objective NFL-O1(1). We agree that 'sustainment' is not the appropriate word given the use of 'protection' in s.6(b) (which we discuss in the legal issues chapter), and that protection in this instance is qualified in that section of the Act.
- 49. We also agree that 'restoration' should not be referred to in the objective. While we consider that 'restoration' can be a component of the 'protection', we do not think it necessary for an RPS to specifically promote 'restoration' in this context. We agree with the Ravensdown submission that the identification of a landscape or feature as outstanding in the first place should indicate that restoration is not required. As a consequence, we have deleted NFL-P4 as requested by Ravensdown. Having said that, there is nothing stopping territorial authorities from addressing this issue in their plans if they consider it warranted in certain circumstances. We imagine those circumstances to generally be in the context of decision-making in respect of resource consent applications in such areas.
- 50. With regard to Mr Devlin's request to enable 'appropriate use and development', while we understand his point, we do not think it necessary or appropriate for a regional policy statement to extend this far. How 'protection' of outstanding values is to be achieved is a matter best left to District Councils in the context of their particular circumstances.
- 3.3 Identification of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes - NFL-P1, NFL and APP9
- 3.3.1 Introduction
- 51. As notified, NFL-P1 reads:

#### NFL–P1 – Identification

In order to manage outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes*, identify:

- (1) the areas and values of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* in accordance with APP9, and
- (2) the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to accommodate use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding or highly valued.
- 52. The associated method is NFL-M1 which reads as follows:

#### NFL-M1 - Identification

#### Territorial authorities must:

- (1) include in their *district plans* a map or maps and a statement of the values of the areas of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* in accordance with NFL–P1,
- (2) include in their *district plans* a statement of the capacity of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* to accommodate change in use and development without their values being materially compromised or lost, in accordance with NFL–P1,
- (3) recognise that natural features and landscapes may span jurisdictional boundaries and work together, including with the Regional Council, to identify areas under (1) to ensure that the identification of natural features and landscapes are treated uniformly across district boundaries, and
- (4) prioritise identification under (1) in areas that are likely to contain outstanding natural features or landscapes and are likely to face development or growth pressure over the life of this RPS.
- 53. APP9 sets out the criteria for identifying the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features, landscapes and seascapes. The criteria are categorised into physical attributes, sensory attributes and associative attributes.
- 54. CODC and QLDC support the approach in the policy, while Harbour Fish requests that it be deleted altogether. A number of submitters raised concerns with the directive to identify 'capacity' for development within such landscapes, in particular the cost, resources and time required to reliably identify such capacity. Other submitters were concerned with the potential extent of such landscapes, highlighting the need to ensure that the ONLs are restricted to only those areas that are truly outstanding (with the emphasis on 'natural landscapes'). Others requested the recognition of existing activities along with the potential for new activities within these areas.
- 55. Manawa Energy and the Telecommunications Companies, along with a number of other submitters, sought that the policy and APP9 be updated to reflect national best practice guidance, being the New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects Te Tangi a te Manu Aotearoa New Zealand Landscape Assessment guidelines. Two submitters supported the retention of APP9 as notified while a number of other submitters requested specific recognition of recreation and amenity values, including those associated with waterbodies. Concern was also raised by many that no threshold for what is significant has been provided while others noted that there is ongoing development in the understanding of natural features, landscapes and seascapes and as such, the criteria will develop over time.
- 56. The need for consultation with affected stakeholders (including the fishing sector) and landowners in the identification process was also a regular theme in the submissions. ECan sought an amendment to clause (3) of NFL-M1 to require consultation with neighbouring local authorities in identifying outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes that span across jurisdictional boundaries while Toitū Te Whenua suggested this be extended to central government agencies such as LINZ. Several submitters requested that mapping be required, with some submitters requesting that this occur at regional level, while Otago Rock Lobster noted that mapping is problematic in the coastal environment and instead supports a marine strategy and non-statutory measures.
- 57. In his initial s42A report, Mr Maclennan was of the view that the notified criteria encompass the NZILA guidelines and reflect current practice. He highlighted the fact that "the NZILA

Guidelines (2021) emphasise landscape assessment methods should take a reasoned approach based on transparency and explanation rather than prescriptive or standardised methods." As a consequence, he did not consider it appropriate to elaborate on how landscape assessments, and the associated capacity issue, should be undertaken as that may depend on a number of variables and should be left to expert advice. In this context, he was unclear what relief Manawa Energy sought to ensure the policy wording reflects best practice. He also drew our attention to a number of Environment Court cases that addressed the issue of "natural" versus "modified".

- 58. However, through his supplementary and reply evidence, he accepted that the provisions were not fully aligned with best practice and recommended that APP9 be amended to fully reflect Te Tangi a te Manu as the most recent best practice for landscape assessment. In relation to whether an amendment is required to the methods to ensure territorial authorities are not required to re-map existing areas of ONF/L or HVNFL, his view was that the new criteria will only take effect when new identification of ONF/L is required. He also supported replacing 'Tāngata whenua' with 'Mana whenua' within (I), (m), (n), and (o), as suggested by Ms Bartlett for Kai Tahu.
- 59. In relation to how decisions are made regarding the thresholds to determine if a landscape or feature is outstanding or highly valued, he reiterated that there is no rigid or defined set of thresholds or a checklist that can be adopted and the best practice guidance recommends that methods for determining if a landscape is to be identified or not, are best left to expert assessment and opinion.
- 60. Mr Maclennan also addressed the issue of capacity further in his supplementary evidence and recommended that the word 'accommodate' be changed to 'absorb' to be consistent with the change he recommended to NFL-P2(1). He considered this change would protect such areas by shifting the focus to avoiding development which cannot be absorbed while also providing for the additional use of such landscapes once their capacity is understood. However, he changed his position again in response Mr Ferguson's evidence, accepting that undertaking an identification of landscape capacity for all ONF/L is an onerous task which may not be justified in all circumstances. As a consequence, his final recommendation was to remove subsection (2) of the policy. He also promoted some refinements to the policy, while also recommending an amendment to NFL-M1 that only requires capacity assessment in areas likely to face development or growth pressure.
- 61. With respect to the consultation issue, he highlighted Method NFL-M1, which requires territorial authorities to include such areas on the district plan maps. As this is a public process under Schedule 1 of the RMA, he considered it unnecessary to include this requirement in the pORPS. He took a similar approach with the provision for existing or new activities. Again, he considered that such matters are best determined through the district plan change process.
- 62. In response to ECan's request for amendments to clause (3), he agreed that the method should recognise the potential for features and landscapes to cross regional boundaries and ensure there is consistency in identification. However, it was not clear to him how extending the method to capture central government agencies as suggested by Toitū Te Whenua would influence the identification of features and landscapes.
- 63. In relation to the mapping issues raised, Mr Maclennan highlighted the approach directed by APP9 and NFL-M1 which he considered made it "clear that consent applicants are not required to undertake the region-wide mapping and that local authorities will manage the identification and management of outstanding and highly valued features and landscapes

across jurisdictional boundaries." He did not consider that a marine strategy and nonstatutory measures alone to be sufficient to meet the requirements of Part 2 of the RMA.

### 3.3.2 Recommendation

- 64. That APP9 be deleted and that identification of such features and landscapes be undertaken through reference to the full document from which the list in APP9 is taken, being "<u>Te Tangi</u> <u>a te Manu: Aotearoa</u> <u>New Zealand Landscape Assessment Guidelines', Tuia Pito Ora New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects, July 2022."</u>
- 65. That Policy NFL-P1 and Method NFL-M1 be amended, in respect of the provisions considered in this chapter, as follows:

### NFL–P1 – Identification

In order to manage Identify the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes, identify:

- (1) the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and in accordance with APP9, and Te Tangi a te Manu: Aotearoa New Zealand Landscape Assessment Guidelines', Tuia Pito Ora New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects, July 2022
- (2) the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to accommodate use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding or highly valued.

### NFL-M1 – Identification

Territorial authorities must:

...

(2) <u>in areas likely to face development or growth pressure</u>, include in their *district plans* a statement of the capacity of outstanding <del>and *highly valued* natural features and landscapes to accommodate <u>use or development while protecting the values</u> <u>that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding</u>, or maintaining the values that contribute to the natural feature and development without their values being <u>being highly valued\_change in use and development without their values being</u> materially compromised or lost, in accordance with NFL-P1,</del>

(3) recognise that natural features and landscapes may span jurisdictional boundaries and work together, including with the Regional Council <u>and adjoining</u> <u>Regional Councils</u>, to identify areas under (1) to ensure that the identification of <u>outstanding</u> natural features and landscapes are treated uniformly across district boundaries <u>and</u>, where appropriate, regional boundaries, and...

### 3.3.3 Reasons

66. Turning first to APP9, the Panel accepts that if identification criteria are to be included in the pORPS, then it should be the most up to date criteria available. However, having reviewed the list of 'identification criteria' finally recommended to us, we share the concern raised by the submitters that it appears to lack a threshold where it can be determined whether a landscape is outstanding or not. The 'identification criteria' would appear to us as merely a list of all

things one might find in the landscape we see around us (for example, 'food and wine that reflect a locale') and some we may possibly not (for example, 'wayfinding and mental maps'). The Te Tangi a te Manu guideline itself seems to confirm this. The 'identification criteria' are found (with great difficulty) at section 4.29 of that guideline, with the preface that "[t]he following lists illustrate typical factors often considered under the three dimensions." The 'three dimensions' referred to are identified at section 4.10 as being:

- a. physical: the physical environment—its collective natural and built components and processes,
- b. associative: the meanings and values we associate with places; and
- c. perceptual: how we perceive and experience places.
- 67. What the three dimensions mean is discussed at section 4.22 of guideline. Footnote 68 of that discussion, in reference to the terms chosen, states that "[t]he Guidelines settled on 'physical, associative, and perceptual' while recognising that those terms are not perfect or definitive. They represent an abstraction of the variety and complexity of relationships between people and place." The list at section 4.29 (reflected in the recommended APP9) provides a finer level of detail of the factors that **'are often considered'** under the three dimensions.
- 68. Critically, at section 4.31 Te Tangi a te Manu goes on to say:

To reiterate, while factor lists are useful reminders, they are not a formula: factors straddle dimensions (e.g. 'naturalness' results from the interplay of physical, associative, and perceptual dimensions) not every factor is relevant everywhere factors that are not listed may be relevant the relative weight given to a factor depends on context assessing and interpreting such factors (and the conclusions and recommendations that flow from them) is a matter of professional judgement—as with all matters of professional judgement, explanation and reasons are key.

- 69. Given the flavour of the discussion in the guideline itself, we struggle to understand how merely listing what are referred to as 'factors' (as opposed to identification criteria) in the pORPS, without the relevant context, assists local authorities to identify ONL/Fs. We note that the guideline itself states at section 1.08 that it is "to be read as a whole' and that parts should not be taken out of context. Section 1.09 states that "[t]he intent of the Guidelines is to set out a coherent framework of concepts, principles, and approaches that can be tailored to suit each assessment's purpose and context. Promotion of such flexibility is not to be misconstrued as 'anything goes': on the contrary, the approach promoted by these Guidelines demands that practitioners understand what they are doing, and why, and that they explain it in a transparent and reasoned way."
- 70. Clause 1.04 highlights the fact that the guideline adopts "a principles-based approach to methodology that allows for assessment methods to be tailored to each situation. They emphasise transparency and reason, rather than adherence to prescriptive methods. Such methods are unsuitable because of the need to interpret the different types of information and values (objective and subjective) inherent in landscapes, and the different purposes for which landscape assessments are carried out. Crucially, the flexibility of a principles-based approach also provides the flexibility necessary for practice to continue to evolve." (Our emphasis).
- 71. In this context, we question the value of APP 9 as recommended. We are mindful that this is not a new area of resource management and that a considerable body of case law has been

developed in relation to s6(b) matters. As a consequence of that, we are of the view that the pORPS does not need to be too directive or detailed on this matter. (Indeed, one could question the need to address the matter at all in an RPS given it is a section 6 matter.) In our opinion, the most appropriate approach is to remove APP9 and for the pORPS to merely refer to the guideline as the appropriate tool to utilise when assessing landscapes and natural features in their particular context or setting.

- 72. The question of scope arises with this approach. We did consider the suggestion of some submitters to include a threshold to determine 'outstanding' in APP9 but were not provided with such options by the evidence. The approach adopted retains the recommended criteria in an external document but incorporates the necessary context, as is intended by the guideline itself. We consider this gives effect to the submissions requesting better alignment with the guideline.
- 73. That reference to Te Tangi a te Manu also needs to recognise the issue raised by the DOC submission, that guidelines are often reviewed so become outdated as time goes by.
- 74. Subject to the changes we recommend around APP9 and highly valued areas, we are comfortable with where the parties have finally got to in relation to Policy NFL-P1 and Method NFL-M1. We also agree that requiring capacity to be assessed in all circumstances is an onerous task and likely to be unnecessary in most instances, outside of the Queenstown Lakes District at least.

### 3.4 NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

- 3.4.1 Introduction
- 75. As notified, NFL-P2 reads:

### NFL-P2 - Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:

- (1) avoiding adverse *effects* on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and
- (2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects*.
- 76. Only two submitters requested that the policy be retained as notified, with a large number of submitters concerned about the unqualified 'avoidance' approach adopted in the policy (particularly in the context of Queenstown, where the majority of the district is ONF or ONL). While framed slightly differently in each case, these submitters generally sought consistency with Section 6(b), which requires protection from inappropriate subdivision, use and development, and that only significant adverse effects are to be avoided.
- 77. One submitter sought clarification regarding what is meant by "value" in the context of contributing to an outstanding natural landscape or outstanding natural feature while another submitter considered that avoiding adverse effects on values, rather than landscapes or features themselves, is not consistent with section 6(b). Other submitters sought recognition for existing and new activities in such areas, exemptions for particular activities and the recognition of functional needs. These submissions are considered within the earlier 'Relationship of NFL provisions to other chapters' discussion.

- 78. While Mr Maclennan disagreed with submitters who sought the removal of 'avoid' from the policy, he did acknowledge that the scale or significance of adverse effects to be avoided must be considered as must the 'inappropriate subdivision, use, and development' qualifier of s6(b). He recommended "shifting the focus of NFL-P2 to avoiding development which cannot be absorbed by an ONL or ONF will ensure the protection of these areas while also providing for additional use of these areas once the landscape capacity of these areas is understood." His initial approach to these issues was further refined in his reply report after consideration of Mr Brown's<sup>5</sup> and Mr Ferguson's<sup>6</sup> evidence.
- 79. In response to the concerns of Mr Brass for DOC<sup>7</sup> and Mr Bathgate for Kāi Tahu ki Otago<sup>8</sup> that linking the management of these areas to the capacity to absorb changes could promote a 'maximum permissible harm' approach, Mr Maclennan again reiterated his view that s.6(b) of the Act is not a 'no change' provision and some flexibility to provide for an appropriate level of development within ONF/Ls is required.
- 80. With respect to the meaning of "value" in this context, Mr Maclennan referred to the proposed NZILA guidelines that state the reasons a landscape is valued the aspects that are important or special or meaningful. He did not consider the focus on values to be inconsistent with s.6(b) but considered that the recommended amendments would address the concerns of that particular submitter.

### 3.4.2 Recommendation

81. That Policy NFL-P2 be amended as follows:

### NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes <u>from inappropriate</u> <u>subdivision</u>, use and development by:

(1A) avoiding exceeding the landscape capacity of the natural feature or landscape,

- <u>maintaining</u> avoiding adverse *effects* on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and
- (2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects*-, and
- (3) managing the adverse *effects* of *infrastructure* on the values of outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.

### 3.4.3 Reasons

82. The Panel agrees with and adopts the final position of Mr Maclennan because his reasons reflect more closely the Part 2 approach of the RMA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Jeff Brown for Mt Cardrona Station, para [3.1] to [3.6]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Chris Ferguson for Darby Planning LP & Others, para [25] to [29]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Murray Brass for DOC, para [232] to [236]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Michael Bathgate for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, para [137] to [139]

### 3.5 NFL-P5 – Wilding conifers and APP5 – Species prone to wilding conifer spread

- 3.5.1 Introduction
- 83. As notified, NFL-P5 reads:

### NFL-P5 - Wilding conifers

Reduce the impact of wilding conifers on outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes by:

- (1) avoiding *afforestation* and *replanting* of *plantation forests* with *wilding conifer* species listed in APP5 within:
- (2) areas identified as outstanding natural features or landscapes, and
- (3) buffer zones adjacent to outstanding natural features and landscapes where it is necessary to protect the outstanding natural feature or landscape, and
- (4) supporting initiatives to control existing *wilding conifers* and limit their further spread.
- 84. Policy NFL-P5 sets out direction to reduce the impact of wilding conifers on outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes by avoiding afforestation and replanting of plantation forests with conifer species within identified outstanding natural features and landscapes in any buffer zones necessary to protect them. Additionally, the policy sets out support for initiatives to control existing wilding conifers. APP5 sets out the species prone to wilding conifer spread.
- 85. QLDC and WAI Wanaka support the policy and request that it be retained as notified.
- 86. City Forests Limited seeks that NFL-P5 is amended to acknowledge the existing provisions of the NESPF and the obligations already in place regarding the Wilding Calculator to manage any wilding spread from plantation forests. City Forests Limited also does not support increased buffer zones around ONFs and ONLs beyond those already required by the NESPF without clear scientific evidence of their efficacy.
- 87. DOC opposes NFL-P5 as its location within the NFL chapter implies that it is only an issue for outstanding natural features and landscape, but DOC observes that wilding conifers can also be problematic for agricultural land use and catchment hydrology. DOC seeks that the policy is relocated to the LF-LS chapter and the content is revisited to address other values that can be impacted.
- 88. Federated Farmers is concerned about the requirement to avoid planting in buffer zones around ONLs and ONFs as it is uncertain how large the buffer zones will be. Federated Farmers seeks an amendment to remove reference to buffer zones and instead that planting immediately adjacent to outstanding natural features and landscapes is to be avoided.
- 89. Rayonier and Toitū Te Whenua support in part NFL-P5 but seek that the policy is expanded. Rayonier seeks the inclusion of any forests, shelter belts and amenity plantings, not just plantation forests, and LINZ states that any plantation forests or invasive species, such as lupins, should be prevented from HVNFLs.

- 90. Waitaki DC seeks NFL-P5 is expanded from just plantation forests to also include carbon forestry. Wayfare also seeks that the policy extends to all wilding tree species and is not restricted to wilding conifers, with all planting of such species to be avoided.
- 91. Five submissions were received on APP5. Beef + Lamb and DINZ support APP5 and seek it is retained as notified. City Forests Limited, Federated Farmers and QLDC seek amendments to APP5. City Forests Limited seeks that heavy seed species, such as radiata pine, are removed from APP5. Federated Farmers seeks the Appendix is deleted and instead the pORPS provides for local authority plans to specify a list of wilding species prone to spread in their district. QLDC seeks that APP5 is amended to identify the wilding species contained in Rule 34.3 of the proposed Queenstown Lakes District Plan. Finally, DCC seeks that APP5 is reviewed by an ecologist to ensure the species are specific to the Otago context. They also suggest that APP5 could be expanded to include other tree species with significant invasive potential that are not conifers.
- 3.5.2 Recommendation
- 92. We recommend that Policy NFL-P5 is deleted in accordance with our recommendation on LF-LS-P16A.
- 3.6 NFL-M3 District plans
- 3.6.1 Introduction
- 93. As notified, NFL-M3 reads:

### NFL–M3 – District plans

*Territorial authorities* must prepare or amend and maintain their *district plans* to:

- control the *subdivision*, use and development of *land* and the use of the surface of *water bodies* in order to protect outstanding natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL–P2, and maintain and enhance highly valued natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL–P3,
- (2) provide for and encourage activities undertaken for the primary purpose of restoring highly valued natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL– P4, and
- (3) manage wilding conifer spread in accordance with NFL-P5.
- 94. Very few submissions were received on this method, with QLDC seeking that it be retained while the DCC noted that consequential relief may be required to address other submission points. Federated Farmers considered there is some confusion between Regional and District functions particularly in regard to the use of surface water bodies and amendments required accordingly.
- 95. Mr Maclennan was of the view that NFL-P3(1) correctly captures the roles of territorial authorities in managing activities on the surface of water bodies as set out in section 31 of the RMA.

### 3.6.2 Recommendation

96. That NFL-M3 be amended as follows:

### NFL-M3 – District plans

Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:

- control the subdivision, use and development of land and the use of the surface of *water bodies* in order to protect outstanding natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL-P2, and maintain and enhance highly valued natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL-P3,
- (2) provide for and encourage activities undertaken for the primary purpose of restoring highly valued natural features or landscapes in accordance with NFL– P4, and
- (3) manage wilding conifer spread in accordance with NFL-P5.

### 3.6.3 Reasons

97. We agree with Mr Maclennan in relation to s31 of the Act. The changes recommended are merely consequential amendments from other decisions.

### 3.7 NFL-M4 – Other incentives and mechanisms

- 3.7.1 Introduction
- 98. As notified, NFL-M4 reads:

#### NFL–M4 – Other incentives and mechanisms

Local authorities are encouraged to consider the use of other mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving the outcomes sought by the policies in this chapter, including:

- (1) funding assistance for restoration projects (for example, through the Regional Council's ECO Fund),
- (2) purchase of land that forms part of a natural feature or landscape,
- (3) development or design guidelines (for example, colour palettes for structures in or on natural features or landscapes),
- (4) rates relief for land that is protected due to its status as an outstanding natural feature or landscape,
- (5) education and advice,
- (6) waiver or reduction of processing fees for activities where the primary purpose is to enhance the values of highly valued natural features or landscapes, and
- (7) advocating for a collaborative approach between central and local government to fund and carry out wilding conifer control.

- 99. Kāi Tahu ki Otago supports the method while Federated Farmers seeks that a funding mechanism specifically for landscape restoration and enhancement in order to achieve NFL-P4. Federated Farmers also consider method NFL-P4 is currently too weak and seeks amendments while QLDC opposes clauses (2), (4) and (6) as they will have disproportionate costs for them as 95% of their District is identified as a natural feature or landscape. QLDC considers that the method sets an unreasonable expectation particularly in relation to land purchase or rates relief mechanisms.
- 100. Mr Maclennan noted that the current drafting does not reflect any obligation for local authorities to provide funding to achieve the outcomes sought by the pORPS, and already addresses restoration projects. Hence, he did not consider amendments necessary.

### 3.7.2 Recommendations

101. That NFL-M4 is amended as follows:

### NFL-M4 – Other incentives and mechanisms

Local authorities are encouraged to consider the use of other mechanisms or incentives to assist in achieving the outcomes sought by the policies in this chapter, including:

- (1) funding assistance for restoration projects (for example, through the Regional Council's ECO Fund),
- (2) purchase of land that forms part of a natural feature or landscape,
- (3) development or design guidelines (for example, colour palettes for structures in or on natural features or landscapes),
- (4) rates relief for land that is protected due to its status as an outstanding natural feature or landscape,
- (5) education and advice,
- (6) waiver or reduction of processing fees for activities where the primary purpose is to enhance the values of highly valued natural features or landscapes, and
- (7) advocating for a collaborative approach between central and local government to fund and carry out wilding conifer control.

### 3.7.3 Reason

- 102. We accept Mr MacLennan's reasoning and the only amendment made is to remove the reference to highly valued in (6). While the restoration policy NFL-P4 has been removed, we are comfortable that the method can still refer to 'restoration projects' as that can be seen as a part of protecting landscape values. We are also comfortable that the method can be read to apply to landscapes wider than 'outstanding' examples without a policy basis for 'highly valued' landscapes. The method imposes no obligation, so this is not seen as a bar to widening the scope of the method.
- 103. While we understand QLDC's concern, we would comment here that the protection of landscape values is for the wider public benefit but is at a cost (generally) to individual landowners. We do not think it is unreasonable that some recompense is considered,

particularly when certain industries that rely on such values (such as tourism) benefit significantly without contributing to that cost.

- 3.8 NFL-E1 Explanation
- 3.8.1 Introduction
- 104. As notified, NFL-E1 reads:

### NFL-E1 - Explanation

The policies in this chapter are designed to require outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* to be identified using regionally consistent attributes, then managing activities to either protect outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with section 6(b) of the RMA 1991 or maintain *highly valued natural features or landscapes* in accordance with section 7 of the RMA 1991. This distinction recognises that these areas have values with differing degrees of significance and that, generally, those classified as 'highly valued' will have greater capacity to accommodate land use change and development without values being adversely affected. The policies seek to control the impact of *wilding conifers* which are a particular threat to Otago's natural features and landscapes, in a way that recognises the regulations in the NESPF.

105. QLDC sought the retention of the provision while Federated Farmers was of the view that the provisions of the NFL chapter are not consistent with the explanation and sought amendments accordingly. With the changes recommended to the provisions, Mr Maclennan did not recommend any changes.

#### 3.8.2 Recommendation

106. Amend NFL-E1 as follows:

#### NFL-E1 - Explanation

The policies in this chapter are designed to require outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* to be identified using regionally consistent attributes, then managing activities to either protect outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with section 6(b) of the RMA 1991 or maintain *highly valued natural features or landscapes* in accordance with section 7 of the RMA 1991. This distinction recognises that these areas have values with differing degrees of significance and that, generally, those classified as 'highly valued' will have greater capacity to accommodate land use change and development without values being adversely affected. The policies seek to control the impact of *wilding conifers* which are a particular threat to Otago's natural features and landscapes, in a way that recognises the regulations in the NESPF.

#### 3.8.3 Reason

107. The amendments made are consequential to other changes recommended to the provisions.

### 3.9 NFL-PR1 – Principal reasons

- 3.9.1 Introduction
- 108. As notified, NFL-PR1 reads:

#### NFL–PR1 – Principal reasons

Natural features include resources that are the result of natural processes, particularly those reflecting a particular geology, topography, geomorphology, hydrology, ecology, or other physical attribute that creates a natural feature or combination of natural features. Landscapes include the natural and physical attributes of *land* together with air and *water*, which change over time, and which is made known by people's evolving perceptions and associations. Natural features and landscapes also have significant cultural value to Kāi Tahu. There are many sites of significance across Otago, reflecting the relationship of Kāi Tahu with the *land*, *water*, and sea.

The provisions in this chapter assist in protecting Otago's outstanding and *highly* valued natural features and landscapes by requiring:

- the identification of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* using regionally consistent criteria,
- the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes and maintenance of *highly valued natural features and landscapes*,
- an ongoing reduction in the impact of *wilding conifers* on natural features and landscapes, and
- specified actions on the part of Otago's *local authorities* in managing natural features and landscapes.

Implementation of the provisions in this chapter will occur primarily through *regional* and *district plan* provisions, however *local authorities* may also choose to adopt additional non-regulatory methods to support the achievement of the objectives.

109. Only one submission was received on this provision, with QLDC seeking that it be retained as notified. As a consequence, no analysis was required from Mr MacLennan.

### 3.9.2 Recommendation

110. Amend the provision as follows:

### NFL-PR1 - Principal reasons

Natural features include resources that are the result of natural processes, particularly those reflecting a particular geology, topography, geomorphology, hydrology, ecology, or other physical attribute that creates a natural feature or combination of natural features. Landscapes include the natural and physical attributes of *land* together with air and *water*, which change over time, and which is made known by people's evolving perceptions and associations. Natural features

and landscapes also have significant cultural value to Kāi Tahu. There are many sites of significance across Otago, reflecting the relationship of Kāi Tahu with the *land*, *water*, and sea.

- The provisions in this chapter assist in protecting Otago's outstanding and *highly valued* natural features and landscapes by requiring:
- the identification of outstanding and *highly valued* natural features and *landscapes* using regionally consistent criteria,
- the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes and maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes,
- an ongoing reduction in the impact of *wilding conifers* on natural features and landscapes, and
- specified actions on the part of Otago's *local authorities* in managing natural features and landscapes.

Implementation of the provisions in this chapter will occur primarily through *regional* and *district plan* provisions, however *local authorities* may also choose to adopt additional non-regulatory methods to support the achievement of the objectives.

### 3.9.3 Reason

- 111. The amendments made are consequential to other changes recommended to the provisions.
- 3.10 Anticipated Environmental Results
- 3.10.1 Introduction
- 112. As notified, the NFL-AERs read:

**NFL-AER1** The number, type, extent, and distribution of identified outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are maintained over the life of this RPS.

**NFL–AER2** The values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are not reduced or lost.

**NFL-AER3** Within areas identified as outstanding or highly valued natural features or landscapes, the area of land vegetated by wilding conifers is reduced over the life of this RPS.

113. Only one submission was received on these provisions, with QLDC seeking that they be retained as notified. As a consequence, no analysis was required from Mr Maclennan.

#### 3.10.2 Recommendation

114. Amend the provisions as follows:

**NFL-AER1** The number, type, extent and distribution of identified outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are maintained over the life of this RPS.

**NFL–AER2** The values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are not reduced or lost.

**NFL-AER3** Within areas identified as outstanding or highly valued natural features or landscapes, the area of land vegetated by wilding conifers is reduced over the life of this RPS.

- 3.10.3 Reasons
- 115. The amendments made are consequential to other changes recommended to the provisions.

## Section 14: Urban form and development (UFD)

### 1. Introduction

- 1. This recommendation report addresses the submissions on Chapter 15 of the PORPS, which deals with Urban Form and Development (UFD). Numerous amendments were proposed, both through the s.42A report and two sets of supplementary evidence by another s.42A writer, and in evidence from submitters. Ms Emily McEwan, planner with Dunedin City Council (DCC), proposed a comprehensive redrafting of the UFD objectives and policies. Numerous other submitters through their evidence also continued to propose changes notwithstanding the s.42A report and supplementary evidence.
- 2. In addition, several submitters, particularly led by Ms Wharfe for Horticulture NZ, requested that Rural issues to be dealt with in a separate Rural Chapter given that the Otago region is a heavily predominant rural area. Rural matters were further complicated by the National Policy Statement Highly Productive Land (NPS HPL) coming into force after the s.42A report was prepared. To cap it all off, the reporting officer changed during the process, further complicating matters.
- 3. Given the extent of the changes sought, it was floated at the hearing by the DCC counsel, Mr Michael Garbett, that a redraft of the chapter should occur. Others agreed that this was necessary while it was also suggested that this should include consideration on the desirability of a standalone rural chapter. Mr Michael Garbett discussed with ORC's advisers the possibility of any redraft process occurring before the ORC final reply, so that submitters would have an opportunity to respond before the Council's final reply. He formally made a request to that effect to the Panel on 14 February 2023.
- 4. The Panel shared the view that a redraft of Ch 15 was required, and that further consideration should be given to a standalone rural chapter. Minute 7 was issued accordingly, directing the process for this to occur. Ms White's redrafted chapter was circulated to submitters on 31 March 2023, and responses were provided by various parties. Ms White's reply report took into account those responses and was presented on the 23 May 2023.
- 5. The Panel is indebted to Ms White in this matter. Her redraft substantially improved the clarity of the chapter and helped narrow the issues in contention. Her redrafted chapter was circulated to submitters on 31 March 2023, and responses were provided by various parties. Her reply report addressed the outstanding matters, which she identified as:
  - a. The drafting approach taken to the notified UFD chapter and consistency with other chapters
  - b. The effect of the NPS-HPL
  - c. The appropriate location for the rural-focussed provisions in the UFD chapter
  - d. Direction of the urban intensification and urban expansion provisions
  - e. Provisions relating to the potential transition of industrial areas
  - f. Rural lifestyle development provisions

- g. Management of reverse sensitivity effects
- h. Regionally significant industry
- 6. Ms White's reply report also addresses a range of other, more minor matters where changes are recommended. These were addressed in the final section of her report.
- 7. In the main, we have agreed with Ms White's approach to the issues and as a consequence, our recommendation report essentially follows the issue-by-issue approach of her reply. In doing so, we have had regard to all the submissions and evidence received, along with the following reports and evidence provided in relation to this topic, being:
  - a. The Section 42A Hearing Report, Chapter 15: UFD Urban form and development, prepared by Kyle Balderston (27 April 2022).
  - b. Brief of Supplementary Evidence of Elizabeth Jane White, Urban Form and Development Chapter (11 October 2022).
  - c. Brief of Second Supplementary Evidence of Elizabeth Jane White, UFD Urban Form and Development (Highly Productive Land) (21 October 2022).
  - d. Third Brief of Supplementary Evidence of Elizabeth Jane White, UFD (Mineral Extraction) (24 February 2023).

## 2. Drafting approach and Objectives

- 2.0. Introduction
- 8. Before addressing the more specific changes sought to provisions, Ms White considered the broader drafting matters applying across the UFD chapter. These broadly related to concerns arising out of Ms McEwan's evidence for DCC. Ms McEwan was concerned that the objectives were not sufficiently clear, with many of them being *"descriptions of processes or activities* as opposed to *"end states"*. As such, the content of many of them was considered more appropriate as policies. In relation to policies, Ms McEwan's concern was that they lacked sufficient direction on how activities might need to be managed to achieve the objectives. She also sought several deletions (including UFD-O3 and UFD-P1), where she considered there was unnecessary repetition or overlap with the NPSUD and other provisions in the PORPS.<sup>1</sup>
- 9. In response, Ms White agreed that the number and length of the objectives of this chapter contrasts with the more succinct approach generally taken in other chapters of the pORPS. She also agreed that a number of the clauses contained within the objectives were process-related, which resulted in several clauses being duplicated at the policy level. Ms White also accepted that there are various matters addressed in other parts of the pORPS which do not need to be referred to again in the UFD chapter. This included matters addressed in the EIT and HAZ-NH chapters, although she did consider it appropriate to retain provisions relating to the integration of infrastructure provisions with growth planning, as these are not addressed in the EIT-INF chapter and are more relevant to the UFD chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Emily McEwan for Dunedin City Council, paras [22]-[33].

- 10. In relation to provisions that may overlap/duplicate the NPSUD, she did not consider it appropriate to simply delete these and rely on the NPSUD alone. She rightly noted that these provisions 'will guide urban development in all urban areas, not all of which are 'urban environments' under the NPSUD.' In her view 'there is no reason why the pORPS cannot provide additional direction for the growth and development of urban areas which compliments the NPSUD, if this is appropriate to achieve the objectives of the pORPS.' Despite this position, she did recommend amending provisions where they either did not align with the NPSUD, or unnecessarily duplicate it.
- 11. As a consequence, she recommended a redraft of the objectives to:
  - a. Combine UFD-O1, UFD-O2, UFD-O3 and UFD-O5 into a single objective which is more focused on the outcome sought in relation to the development of urban areas. This, in effect, removes a number of clauses that in my view are process-related, or methods to achieve the type of urban area which is sought, and therefore sit better at a policy level.
  - b. Amend UFD-O4 so that those clauses which are essentially methods are removed.
- 12. Ms White provided a useful table in her reply report that set out the reasoning for her restructuring of the objectives. That table is set out below:

Objective	Part	Comment
UFD-O2	Chapeau	Shifted to revised UFD-O1, with UFD-O1 now focused on development and change as this more accurately reflects what the direction in the pORPS relates to. Form and functioning, as it relates to the planning for growth, is a sub-set of this.
	(1)	Outcome component covered in UFD-O1(1) – part of meeting changing needs. Method aspect shifted to UFD-P1.
	(2)	Covered in UFD-O1(1).
	(3)	Addressed in other parts of RPS in relation to identified features, and where not an identified feature is addressed in UFD-O1(2).
	(4)	Urban design covered in addition to UFD-O1(2A) and liveability covered more broadly in UFD-O1(1).
	(5)	Covered broadly in addition to UFD-O1(2A).
	(6)	Covered, at an outcome level, through addition to UFD-O1(2).
	(7)	Addressed in other parts of pORPS.
	(8)	Covered broadly in addition to UFD-O1(2A).
	(9)	Covered broadly, at an outcome level, through addition to UFD-O1(2A).
	(9A)	Covered in EIT-INF.
	(10)	Outcome component (consolidated and well-designed) shifted to UFD-O1(2A). Method aspect shifted to UFD-P4.
	(11)	Covered at the objective level by IM-O1 and MW-O1, and otherwise more process-related and therefore included at the policy level.
UFD-O3	Chapeau	Generally considered to be a method, not an outcome.

	(1)	Covered in UFD-O1(1) (accommodating needs) and UFD-O1(2A) (integrated with infrastructure).
	(2)	Covered at outcome level in IM-O1 and MW-O1, and otherwise more process-related and therefore included at the policy level.
UFD-O4	(2)	Outcome aspect covered in UFD-O4(4), more detailed aspect covered at policy level.
	(3)	Generally considered to be a method, not an outcome, which is addressed in UFD-P4, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8. Outcome is reflected in UFD-O4(4) and (4A).
	New (4A)	Deletion of "the <i>natural and physical resources</i> that support" to reflect that key aspect is productive capacity and long-term viability (e.g. reverse sensitivity does not arise from loss of resources, but is something that can affect those resources being used to their fullest extent.)
	Old (4A)	Covered by MW-P4.
UFD-O5	Chapeau	Covered in UFD-O1(2B).
	(1)	Captured at an outcome level in UFD-O1(2B)) and in addition to UFD-P3(3).
	(2)	Captured at an outcome level in UFD-O1(2B)) or otherwise reflected in UFD-P1(3). Also covered in definition of well-functioning urban environment and therefore reflected in UFD-P4(1).
	(3)	Captured at an outcome level in UFD-O1(2B)) or otherwise reflected in UFD-P1(3).
	(4)	Captured at an outcome level in UFD-O1(2B)) or otherwise covered by EIT-EN-O3.
	(5)	Covered in EIT-EN-P8.

13. The objectives as she finally recommended them are shown below (without tracking):

#### UFD-O1 – Development of urban areas

The development and change of Otago's *urban areas* occurs in a strategic and coordinated way, which:

- (1) accommodates the diverse and changing needs and preferences of Otago's people and communities, now and in the future,
- (2) integrates effectively with surrounding *urban areas* and *rural areas*,
- (3) results in a consolidated, well-connected and well-designed urban form which is integrated with *infrastructure*, and
- (4) supports climate change adaptation and climate change mitigation.

#### UFD-O4 – Development in rural areas

Development in Otago's *rural areas* occurs in a way that:

- (4) provides for the ongoing use of *rural areas* for *primary production* and *rural industry*, and
- (4A) does not compromise the *productive capacity* and long-term viability of *primary production* and rural communities.

- 14. The majority of submitters supported the approach Ms White took to redrafting the provisions, with the condensing of the objectives supported for its efficiency and better clarity. A number of submitters also advised that the changes proposed addressed a number of their concerns. However, there were several issues outstanding that the submitters raised in their response to Ms White's redraft.
- 15. Kāi Tahu raised two matters in their response to the changes. Kāi Tahu still seek reference in UFD-O1 to involving mana whenua and 'providing for their aspiration and values' as notified within UFD-O3. In his submission in response to the minute, Mr Cameron submitted that the absence of any such reference diminishes recognition of mana whenua interests in a way that is inconsistent with the requirement of NPSUD to take into account the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi. Ms White, in her reasoning for the redrafted provisions, felt the original UFD-O3 was essentially a method, not an outcome (as it related to strategic planning) and that this particular reference is provided for at an outcome level within IM-O1 and MW-O1, with the method aspect of it included in the policies.
- 16. In relation to the provisions relating to development of Māori land,<sup>2</sup> Mr Cameron argued that the amendments weaken provision for its use and development by removing the positive references of 'providing for' use of this land. In Ms White's view, the subject provisions duplicate MW-P4 so are not needed. She did, however, consider explicit reference to MW-P4 in UFD-P7(6) to be appropriate to make the relationship between the two policies clear.
- 17. In this part of her report, Ms White also considered Kāi Tahu's request that planning for urban development takes into account the pressures on water bodies and the potential effects of stormwater and wastewater discharges. Ms White considered these matters to be sufficiently addressed in other provisions.<sup>3</sup>
- 18. Kai Tahu also sought the deletion of policy reference to the social and economic benefits of mineral and aggregate extraction from UFD-P7(4)). This was largely based on the effects of mining and aggregate extraction activities on a range of values. While the Panel acknowledges that mining has effects, we are comfortable that the appropriate safeguards are in place to address the effects of mining. In the Panels view, it is appropriate to recognise the locational constraints of minerals and aggregate because they are critical to the social and economic wellbeing of communities, and play a significant part in the development of technology that reduces our impact on climate.
- 19. Silver Fern Farms also suggested some minor amendments to the two new objectives. In relation to UFD-01, they sought the addition of 'and activities' to clause (2) to provide better linkage to the land use conflict policy. With respect to UFD-04(4) they sought the deletion of 'supported by' and 'in appropriate locations', considering them superfluous and restrictive. Ms White appears to have accepted the amendments to UFD-04(4) without any commentary and did not discuss the other change sought in her reply.
- 20. In her response to UFD-04, Ms Collie for Matakanui Gold was uncomfortable with the use of the phrase 'rural sector' in clause (4A) because it is not a defined term. In her opinion, 'primary production', a term defined in the NPS, is the more appropriate phrase and is directly relevant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> UFD-O4(4A), UFD-P7(5A), UFD-P9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> UFD-P4(3) and (4) and the LF chapter (LF-WAI-P3(4) and (5).

to productive capacity while also providing terminology consistency within the objective. Again, this appears to be accepted by Ms White, as it appears in her reply report UFD-04(4A) but does not appear to be commented on.

- 21. Fonterra's response to the redraft of the objectives sought the retention of the reference to minimising conflict between incompatible activities that was originally in UFD-O2(6) but which was removed by Ms White's redraft. Fonterra sought the addition of 'and manages conflict between incompatible land uses' to Ms White's UFD-O1(2). This provision, as now recommended in response to the DCC submission, is that development 'integrates with surrounding urban and rural area.' Ms White felt that this covered what was sought by Fonterra.
- 22. Ms Wharfe, for Horticulture NZ, also had concerns over this particular provision. She states that UFD-O1(2) (as recommended) "*is not clearly stating an outcome what does 'integrates effectively' mean? Before there was an objective of minimising conflict between incompatible activities. There is no specific mention of rural urban interface.*" Ms Wharfe also sought productive capacity in UFD-O4 to be replaced with 'productive efficiency' on the basis that this is limited to land based primary production and a limited range of assessment matters specific to highly productive land. She noted that Policy 5.3.1 of the partially operative ORPS uses both phrases.
- 23. Mr Farrell in his evidence sought the inclusion of additional clauses stating "enables outdoor recreation (including commercial recreation)" and "facilitates growth or expansion of existing visitor destination places and activities" in UFD-P7. but I do not consider that they are appropriate, as I disagree with Mr Farrell that these activities need to be specifically recognised and provided for. I note that the policy direction does not preclude these activities being established in rural areas, but UFD-P7 provides direction on how they are to be managed. I consider this is the appropriate approach to achieve the objectives.

#### 2.1. Recommendation

24. With respect the objectives of the UFD chapter, we recommend that UFD-O1 to UFD-O5 be deleted and replaced with the following two objectives:

#### UFD-O1 – Form and function Development of urban areas

The <u>development and change</u> form and functioning of Otago's *urban areas* <u>occurs</u> <u>in a strategic and coordinated way, which</u>:

(1) reflects accommodates the diverse and changing needs and preferences of Otago's people and communities, now and in the future, and

(2) maintains or enhances the significant values and features identified in this RPS, and the character and resources of each *urban area*. integrates effectively with surrounding *urban areas* and *rural areas*,

(2A) results in a consolidated, well-connected and well-designed urban form which is integrated with *infrastructure*, and

(2B) supports climate change adaptation and climate change mitigation.

Development in Otago's rural areas occurs in a way that:

(1) avoids impacts on significant values and features identified in this RPS,

(2) avoids as the first priority, land and soils identified as highly productive by LF-LS-P19 unless there is an *operational need* for the development to be located in *rural areas*,

(3) only provides for urban expansion, rural lifestyle and rural residential development and the establishment of *sensitive activities*, in locations identified through strategic planning or zoned within *district plans* as suitable for such development; and

(4) outside of areas identified in (3), maintains and enhances provides for the ongoing use of *rural areas* for *primary production* and *rural industry*, and

(4A) does not compromise the *natural and physical resources* that support the productive capacity, rural character, and long-term viability of *primary production* the rural sector and rural communities.

25. We also recommend that UFD-P7 – Rural areas be amended as follows:

#### UFD-P7 – The management of development in rural areas:

...

(3) prioritises land-based primary production on highly productive land in accordance with the NPS-HPL, except as provided for in (5) below,

<u>....</u>

(5) enables the use by Kāi Tahu of Native Reserves and Māori Land, for papakāika, kāika, nohoaka, marae and marae related activities in accordance with MW-P4,

(6) restricts the establishment of <u>non-rural</u> activities which could adversely affect, including by way of reverse sensitivity <u>or fragmentation</u>, the productive capacity of highly productive land <u>or existing or anticipated</u> primary production and rural industry activities, <del>unless those activities are undertaken in accordance with MW-P4</del> except as provided for in (5) or the NPS-HPL.

26. With respect to the policies of the UFD chapter, we accept the changes recommended in the final 10 October 2023 version except where changes are made below.

#### 2.2. Reasons

27. The Panel considers the drafting approach adopted by Ms White, largely driven by the submission of the Dunedin City Council, preferable to that of the notified version of the UFD chapter. Ms White's redraft has condensed the four urban objectives of the notified PORPS into a single objective. The result is that the outcomes sought for Otago's towns and settlements are expressed in a much clearer manner, without the substance being lost.

Content more appropriate as a policy or method has been appropriately relocated, while unnecessary duplication has been removed.

28. However, we agree with Ms White that it is not appropriate to delete all those provisions which may appear to duplicate or overlap with the NPSUD. This NPS applies to *'local authorities that have all or part of an urban environment within their district or region'*, with urban environment defined as:

"... any area of land (regardless of size, and irrespective of local authority or statistical boundaries) that:

a. is, or is intended to be, predominantly urban in character; and

b. is, or is intended to be, part of a housing and labour market of at least 10,000 people "

- 29. This clearly does not apply to all of Otago's towns and settlements. As a consequence, we agree that it is appropriate to require a level of strategic planning around the growth and development of Otago's smaller towns.
- 30. While the drafting approach taken by Ms White was generally supported by submitters, and recommended the relief sought in a large number of these submissions, there remain a number of outstanding issues that the Panel needs to address.
- 31. Kāi Tahu requested the retention of the reference to mana whenua and the need to provide for their aspirations and values in the objective. We agree with Ms White's position that the overarching Objectives IM-O1 and MW-O1 already satisfactorily provide for the 'outcome' part of this provision, being Kāi Tahu's involvement in the planning process to ensure their values are recognised and protected. It need not be restated here as the development of urban areas must be undertaken in a way that also gives effect to those objectives.
- 32. We also agree that as originally framed, providing for their aspirations and values in the strategic planning process is more appropriately located within the policies and methods. We note that UFD-P3 and P4 refer to addressing issues of concern to iwi and hapu, as do UFD-M1 and M2, which would encompass 'aspirations and values' as determined through the engagement process required by the overarching objectives and those already outlined in relevant iwi planning documents, which are directly referenced in the policy.
- 33. As a consequence, we do not recommend these changes.
- 34. However, when it comes to including a more specific provision for use and development of Native Reserves and Māori land, we tend to agree with Mr Cameron that the amendments weaken the current enabling approach to the use of this land by Kāi Tahu. The cultural evidence around this issue was extremely persuasive, as we have outlined in the legal section of this report. While we agree with Ms White that Kāi Tahu's request for an amendment to UFO-O1 is not necessary, we feel an explicit reference should be made in the policy to enable the use of this land by Kāi Tahu.
- 35. Having said that, we do not consider the second part of Mr Cameron's suggested amendment, which seems to suggest that the wider use of resources by Kāi Tahu is also enabled, to be appropriate or necessary. The provision enables the use of Māori land for its intended more culturally related purpose, which may sometimes conflict with other, more restrictive

resource management controls. We consider that appropriate, given the history of this land and the barriers to its use outlined in cultural evidence. However, Kāi Tahu's use of land that does not fall within the preserve of cultural use of Māori land should be managed through the general provisions of the PORPS.

- 36. In relation to Ms Wharfe's concern that UFD-O1(2) is not an outcome, we disagree. It would seem to us that the outcome is that development is effectively integrated with surrounding urban and rural areas. While there is no specific mention around 'minimising conflict', 'incompatible activities' and the 'rural urban interface', these are all matters that are integral to ensuring 'effective integration'. What 'integrates effectively' means, will be determined by the detail of the policies that follow, and the lower order planning documents.
- 37. For similar reasons, we do not consider the additions sought by Fonterra or Silver Ferns Farms to clause (2) are necessary. As discussed above, conflict with incompatible activities will be addressed by 'effective integration'. With respect to the addition of 'activities' to the clause, the broad reference to 'urban and rural areas' essentially encompasses the 'activities' that occur within them.
- 38. However, we do agree with Ms Wharfe in relation to the use of 'productive capacity' in UFD-O4. The definition of 'productive capacity' is sourced from the NPS-HPL and is defined as:

**productive capacity**, in relation to land, means the ability of the land to support land-based primary production over the long term, based on an assessment of:

a) physical characteristics (such as soil type, properties, and versatility); and

(b) legal constraints (such as consent notices, local authority covenants, and easements); and

(c) the size and shape of existing and proposed land parcels

39. The NPS-HPL has a narrower focus (highly productive land) than an RPS, which must consider rural resources (including soil) as a whole. As a consequence, we agree with Ms Wharfe. However, we note the 10 October 2023 reply version of the PORPS has removed reference to 'productive capacity' and clause 4(A) now simply states:

"does not compromise the long-term viability of *primary production* and rural communities."

- 40. The removal of 'productive capacity' has been credited to a Horticulture NZ submission but we are unclear where this was discussed in the officer's report. However, we agree with the change as it has a broader application given the definition of 'primary production'.
- 41. We also note that Ms White has removed the reference to 'the rural sector' from the objective. While Ms Collie raised issue with the clarity of this phrase in her response evidence, Matakanui Gold does not appear to have standing on the issue, with the change credited to the submission of Fulton Hogan and Royal Forest and Bird. Fulton Hogan do not appear to have standing on the issue either, but we agree with the change as 'primary production' and 'rural communities' effectively covers the board. The use of the undefined term 'rural sector', while generally understood, adds no value to the objective.

- 42. Ms White also disagreed with Mr Farrel in relation to the additional clauses addressing outdoor recreation and visitor destination places and activities in UFD-P7. We agree with Ms White that the policy direction does not preclude these activities being established in rural areas, but that UFD-P7 provides direction on how they are to be managed. Specific identification of these activities is not needed.
- 43. Ms Whites s32AA analysis stated that:

" the revised objectives are more appropriate to achieve the purpose of the RMA, because they:

a. Are more clearly focused on the outcomes sought for the Otago region, rather than the process for how those outcomes are achieved;

- b. Assist in giving effect to the NPSUD;
- c. Respond more clearly to the identified issue (SRMR-I4); and

d. More clearly demonstrate how the development of urban and rural areas will provide for the well-being of the Otago region (s5 RMA) and the amenity values which are anticipated which are to be maintained and enhanced in such development (s7(c))."

44. We adopt that analysis and consider our minor amendments further assist in this regard.

## 3. Location of rural provisions

- 45. The UFD chapter, as notified, included provisions relating to management and development in 'rural areas'. A number of submitters raised a general concern that 'rural' issues should not be in an 'urban' chapter. In her evidence, Ms Wharfe for HortNZ stated that rural matters should be contained in a separate chapter specific to the rural area which, in her view, is required by the National Planning Standards.<sup>4</sup> Ms Wharfe<sup>5</sup> also disagreed with Ms McEwan<sup>6</sup> for the DCC who preferred that aspects of the rural-based provisions which address non-urban activities be deleted because they do not logically sit in the UFD chapter and should be left to the district plan level to manage.
- 46. The initial section 42A report outlined why the rural-focused provisions were located within the UFD chapter, which seemed to us to be largely based on the management of urban expansion into rural areas. ORC's opening legal submissions<sup>7</sup> also advised that a separate chapter specific to the rural area is not required by the National Planning Standards. Ms White therefore considered the need for a rural chapter to be a question of merit.
- 47. While being concerned that separating out rural provisions misses the opportunity to consider urban expansion and the urban rural interface in an integrated way, Ms White accepted that there may be other reasons why the management of development within rural areas may better 'fit' in another chapter. Ms Boyd addressed the matter further in in her *Reply report 1:*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand, paras [323]-[333].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Rebuttal evidence of Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand, paras [19]-[28].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Emily McEwan for Dunedin City Council, paras [61]-[64].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ORC Submission for Hearing, UFD – Urban form and development (14 February 2023), paras [49]-[54].

Introduction and general themes. She recommended that UFD-O4, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8 (and related methods, explanations, principal reasons and anticipated environmental results) be relocated to the LF-LS chapter. Her main reasoning is that this improves integration with the management of land and soil resources, and particularly with highly productive land.

- 48. The Panel has some sympathy with the submitters over the lack of a specific rural chapter in the pORPS. The region is predominantly rural, and we do not understand why the management of urban expansion and the rural-urban interface should dictate that all rural development matters should be included in an urban form and development chapter. Such an approach largely ignores the bulk of the land use in the region and its significance to the social, economic, and cultural wellbeing of its communities.
- 49. Having said that, we think it is a little too late in the piece to be incorporating an entirely new chapter into the pORPS. This is further complicated by the fact that there has been no drafting provided by those submitters requesting such a chapter. Hence, as Ms Boyd noted, it is unclear what the scope and content of such a rural chapter would be, and how it would integrate with the other chapters of the pORPS. Hence, we agree with Ms Boyd's approach to the matter, which relocates provisions that relate to rural development to the LS- LS chapter.

## 4. Effect of the NPSHPL

#### 4.0. Introduction

- 50. As Ms White noted in her reply report, the National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land 2022 (NPSHPL) came into effect after the s42A reports were released. This required reconsideration of various provisions in the pORPS affected by it. Supplementary reports on the matter were produced by Ms Boyd and Ms White.<sup>8</sup>
- 51. In her reply, Ms White highlighted the various responses from submitters to the changes to the UFD chapter recommended through the supplementary evidence. She summarised them as either:
  - a. Supporting the rewording proposed.
  - b. Seeking amendments to explicitly refer to the NPSHPL.
  - c. Seeking additions to direct avoidance of urban rezoning of highly productive land at the objective level in UFD-O3, and in UFD-P1; and avoidance of rural lifestyle zones on highly productive land.
  - d. Seeking deletion of provisions relating to highly productive land, relying instead directly on the NPSHPL.
  - e. Seeking further amendments on the basis that avoidance as a 'first priority' is considered to be more stringent than the NPSHPL.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Brief of Second Supplementary Evidence of Felicity Ann Boyd, LF – Land and Freshwater (Highly Productive Land) (21 October 2022). Brief of Second Supplementary Evidence of Elizabeth Jane White, UFD - Urban Form and Development (Highly Productive Land) (21 October 2022).

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- f. Exempting development of Māori land on highly productive land where provided for under MW-P4.
- 52. In discussing the NPSHPL, Ms White highlighted the fact that it is a very prescriptive document that does not leave *"room for regional policy statements, regional plans or district plans to 'tease out' how the direction within it is to be achieved/implemented at a local level."* As such, she considered that the most appropriate approach in this instance is to directly refer to the NPSHPL. This led to several changes being recommended to UFD-P4(6), UFD-P7(6) and UFD-P8(4) so that they explicitly refer to the NPSHPL. She also noted that UFD-P7(3) refers to highly productive land by directing prioritisation of land-based primary production on it and considered it should be expanded to explicitly refer to the NPSHPL.
- 53. Of the submitters who responded to the redrafted provisions, only Ms Wharfe for Horticulture NZ commented on the recommended provisions. Her concern only related to the use of 'productive capacity' in UFD-P7(6).

#### 4.1. Recommendation

- 54. In addition to the changes made to the policies by the Panel accepting the officer's recommendations discussed in Section 2, we also recommend the following amendments in relation to the NPS HPL:
  - a. Amend UFD-P4(6) as follows:
    - (6) avoids<del>, as the first priority, highly productive land <u>except as provided for in</u> <u>the NPS-HPL, and identified in accordance with LF–LS–P19</u>,</del>
  - b. Amend UFD-P7(3) as follows:
    - (3) enables prioritises land-based primary production particularly on land or soils identified as on highly productive land in accordance with the NPS-HPLLF-LS-P19,
  - c. Amend UFD-P7(6) as follows (noting this incorporates changes recommended for other reasons):
    - (6) restricts the establishment of <u>residential non-rural</u> activities, <u>sensitive</u> activities, and non-rural businesses which could adversely affect, including by way of reverse sensitivity or fragmentation, the productive capacity of highly productive land, or existing or anticipated primary production and rural industry activities, unless those activities are undertaken in accordance with MW-P4 except as provided for in (5) or the NPS-HPL.
  - d. Amend UFD-P8(4) as follows:
    - (4) <u>it</u> avoids<del>, as the first priority,</del> *highly productive land* <del>identified in accordance</del> with LF–LS–P16 except as provided for in the NPS-HPL,

#### 4.2. Reasons

55. The provisions of the NPSHPL, and their implications for the Otago region, were the centre of much discussion at the hearing. However, we must agree with Ms White that the NPS is such a prescriptive document that despite its shortcomings in the context of the Otago region,

there is little room for a regional flavour. As a consequence, we accept that direct reference to the NPSHPL is really the only option.

56. Ms White's s32AA analysis concluded that "the changes are more effective at achieving UFD-O4 and are required to ensure that the pORPS gives effect to the NPSHPL as required under s62(3) of the RMA". We agree and adopt this analysis accordingly.

## 5. Urban intensification and expansion

#### 5.0. Introduction

- 57. UFD-P3 provides direction in relation to urban intensification while UFD-P4 provides direction in relation to urban expansion. The submissions on UFD-P3 addressed a number of issues, including the 'enabling approach', infrastructure matters, reverse sensitivity, development capacity, and clarity around 'identified features and values'. The submissions on UFD-P4 addressed a number of similar themes, including infrastructure, identified features and values, and reverse sensitivity, along with highly productive land, the rural urban interface, and alignment with the NPS-UD.
- 58. These matters have been addressed across the numerous officer reports on this chapter. Again, the redraft proposed by Ms White has largely been met with support from the submitters who responded. The majority of the changes have been discussed in Section 2.
- 59. Two matters remain outstanding. The first relates to the DCC submission seeking the deletion of UFD-P3 and UFD-P4. <sup>9</sup> Ms McEwan's view was that the wording of the policies was such that they could be interpreted as meaning urban intensification and expansion <u>must</u> be provided for/facilitated if the criteria in the policies are met. The original s42 writer, Mr Balderstone confirmed that the policy intent is not to limit the matters for consideration but to identify what criteria should, as a minimum, be met when intensification/expansion is contemplated. Ms White agreed in her first supplementary evidence that clause (4) of UFD-P3 (which relates to shortfall for housing or business space), could unintentionally limit when intensification occurs, while the chapeau also required amendment to clarify the intent.
- 60. In her reply, Ms White accepted that the recommended redraft could still be interpreted as meaning urban intensification and expansion must be provided for/facilitated if the criteria in the policies are met. This led to her providing further amendments to reframe the policies further to align with the original intent.
- 61. However, QLDC, who conditionally supported the original UFD-P4, did not agree with the use of the phrase 'only occurs where' in that policy. Ms Simpson for QLDC in her response evidence suggested the *"revised wording in my view results in the same concerns that the urban expansion can only occur when the listed matters are met. It does not appear to enable 'other matters' which may not have been included which does not appear to be the intent."* She suggested the wording should be reframed as "may occur where".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Emily McEwan for Dunedin City Council, paras [43]-[46].

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

- 62. By contrast, Silver Fern Farms supported the use of 'only occurs' because they considered the previous chapeau implied urban expansion must be facilitated.
- 63. Ms McIntyre<sup>10</sup> for Kāi Tahu also sought an additional clause to UFD-P4 that required the avoidance of increasing the demand on water supply in water-short areas and of the cumulative impacts of wastewater and stormwater on water bodies and coastal waters. However, Ms White considered this issue is sufficiently addressed in UFD-P4(3) and (4) and the LF chapter (LF-WAI-P3(4) and (5).
- 64. For completeness, we note that Ms McEwan for the DCC also requested that UFD-P4 (7)(b) and (c) be deleted because they contain direction which is too detailed for RPS. Ms White agreed.

#### 5.1. Recommendation

- 65. We recommend the following amendments to UFD-P3 and P4:
  - a. Amend the chapeau of UFD-P3 as follows:

Within *urban areas* Manage intensification in *urban areas*, so that as a minimum, is enabled where it:

b. Amend the chapeau of UFD-P4 as follows:

Expansion of existing *urban areas* is facilitated may occur where, at a minimum, the expansion:

c. Delete UFD-P4 (7)(b) and (c)

#### 5.2. Reasons

- 66. Turning first to the structure of the two policies, we essentially agree with the submitters' concern that their original construction effectively put Councils in a position where urban development must be enabled when the criteria was met. This is clearly not the intention, so we agree that Ms White's final recommendations are appropriate for UFD-P3. However, we tend to agree with Ms Simpson in relation to UFD-P4. Ms White's reasoning for the change to 'only occurs' was that the previous wording implies intensification must be enabled where only the matters listed are met. As noted previously, the policy intent is not to limit the matters for consideration but to identify what criteria should, as a minimum, be met when intensification/expansion is contemplated. Seen in that light, the two chapeaus should be similar. We agree with Ms Simpson that 'may occur' is more appropriate and prefer Ms White's previous use of 'at a minimum' in tandem with that.
- 67. We did give serious consideration to including Ms McIntyre's requested provision but in the end, we agreed with Ms White that those matters will require to be addressed under a number of provisions within the PORPS, in particular LF-WAI-P3(4) and (5). Iwi will also have the opportunity to raise specific issues, if and when they arise, through the application of UFD-P4 (4) and the wider processes put in place under the MW chapter.

#### Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Sandra McIntyre for Kāi Tahu ki Otago, paras [158]-[159].

68. With respect to s32AA, Ms White considers that the changes provide greater clarity on the action required to be taken and are therefore more efficient and effective at achieving UFD-O1. We agree.

## 6. Industrial activities

#### 6.0. Introduction

- 69. UFD-P6 provides direction in relation to the provisions for industrial activities in urban areas.
   Clause (4) specifically relates to the potential for the transition of industrial zoned areas for other purposes.
- 70. The DCC submission requested that both UFD-P5 and P6 be deleted because they were "not convinced it is necessary to have policies on commercial activities or industrial activities as these are arguably not a regionally significant issue nor ones that easily lend themselves to policy direction that will work well /be appropriate across all the diverse towns, settlements in the region and for the city of Dunedin." They were particularly opposed to UFD-P6 clause (4), which provides a pathway for the transition of industrial areas to other purposes. If the recommendation was not to delete of the policies, they proposed alternative wording to satisfy their concerns.
- 71. At the hearing, Ms McEwan advised that the biggest unresolved issue is that of UFD-P6(4). The DCC's other concerns could easily be resolved by minor amendments with the exception of UFD-P5(3) which should be deleted as it "could be read as encouraging unlimited supply of commercial land, which would undermine the 2GP's centres hierarchy and associated strategic directions..."
- 72. The concern with UFD-P6(4) was reiterated in Ms McEwan's response to the proposed redraft. She was also concerned about the drafting of UFD-P6(3), including concerns about the way the word 'avoid' is used.<sup>11</sup>
- 73. Ms White's preference was to retain UFD-P6(4) because there would otherwise be no direction at the pORPS level as to what tests any transition from industrial to commercial would need to meet. She did, however, promote some amendments to the structure of the policy and reworded the context of how 'avoid' is used in the policy.

#### 6.1. Recommendation

74. We recommended UFD-P6 be amended as follows:

#### UFD-P6 – Industrial activities

Provide for industrial activities in urban areas by:

- (1) (...)
- (3) managing the establishment of non-industrial activities, in industrial zones, by to avoiding activities likely to result in the likelihood of reverse sensitivity effects on existing or potential industrial activities arising, unless the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Memorandum of Emily Kate McEwan for Dunedin City Council, 21 April 2023, paras [2.2]-[3.2].

potential for reverse sensitivity is insignificant. or the likely to result in an inefficient use of industrial zoned *land* or *infrastructure*, particularly where:

- (a) the area provides for a significant *operational need* for a particular *industrial activity* or grouping of *industrial activities* that are unlikely or are less efficiently able to be met in alternative locations, or
- (b) the area contains *nationally* or *regionally significant infrastructure* and the requirements of EIT–INF–P15 apply, and
- (4) in areas that are experiencing or expected to experience high demand from other urban activities, and the criteria in (3)(a) or (3)(b) do not apply, managing the establishment of non-industrial activities and the transition of industrial zoned areas to other purpose, by first applying (1) and (2).

#### 6.2. Reasons

- 75. The Panel has some sympathy for the DCC's submission that this policy (and UFD-P5) are not addressing a regionally significant issue. Contrary to Ms White's position, we are doubtful that provision for industrial activities in District Plans requires direction from an RPS. This is particularly so with UFD-P6(4). We do not consider that to be a regional issue, let alone a regionally significant one. Accordingly, we accept Ms McEwan's evidence on the matter.
- 76. We also agree with Ms McEwan in relation to the use of 'avoid' in UFD-P6(3). We are comfortable with Ms White's rewording but still consider it appropriate to attach Ms McEwan's qualifier.
- 77. With respect to s32AA, the Panel considers that the remainder of the policy is sufficient to address any regionally significant issue with respect to the provision for industry. The changes are therefore considered more efficient and effective.

## 7. Rural lifestyle development

#### 7.0. Introduction

- 78. As notified, UFD-O4(3), UFD-P7(6) and UFD-P8 contained direction relating to rural lifestyle and rural residential development. That direction requires rural lifestyle development to only be provided for in locations identified through strategic planning or zoned within district plans as suitable for such development.
- 79. Ms Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand supports this approach to rural lifestyle development, but a number of submitters considered this too restrictive (Waterfall Park Development, Boxer Hills Trust and Darby Planning LP & Others). The concern of these submitters is centred on the fact that rural lifestyle development must be identified through strategic planning or zoned for that purpose and that such zones are to be located adjacent to existing or planned urban areas. Ms Simpson for QLDC also shared these concerns but advised caution around any redrafting to ensure it does not allow for urban development in rural areas.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Rebuttal evidence of Elizabeth Simpson for Queenstown Lakes District Council, paras [4.1]-[4.6].

- 80. Mr Brown (for Waterfall Park Developments/Boxer Hill Trust) and Ms McEwan (DCC) also identified a conflict between the requirement to locate close to existing or planned urban areas and the requirement to also avoid locations that are or likely to be used for urban expansion,<sup>13</sup> with Ms McEwan also noting the provisions could result in pressure for inappropriate rural lifestyle development adjacent to urban areas.<sup>14</sup>
- 81. Ms Tait for Fonterra also sought changes to UFD-O4(3) and (4) to direct avoidance of rural lifestyle development in areas which would compromise those matters currently set out in clause (4), rather than requiring it to be directed to strategically identified areas or specific zones.<sup>15</sup> Mr Tuck, for Silver Ferns Farms, sought an amendment to the redrafted provision that restricted rural lifestyle development to a zone or where not in a zone, it is designed and sited to avoid significant adverse effects on rural activities.
- 82. Ms White agreed that there may be instances where rural lifestyle development is appropriate within a rural zone, even if it is not the main purpose of that zone. She highlighted the definition of 'Rural Lifestyle Zone' in the National Planning Standards, noting that allowing rural lifestyle activities within rural areas is consistent with the zone description. Ms White also considered the requirement to locate adjacent to existing or planned urban areas unnecessarily limiting and agreed with Mr Brown and Ms McEwan that there is a conflict within the provisions in this regard. In her view, the remainder of the policy is sufficient to address the concerns of Ms Wharfe and Mr Tuck about effects on primary production activities, along with the recommended changes to address reverse sensitivity. Ms White also noted that primary production activities are also anticipated within rural lifestyle areas.

#### 7.1. Recommendation

- 83. The Panel's recommended amendments in relation to rural lifestyle development are as follows:
  - a. Delete UFD-P7(5) ("directs rural lifestyle development to areas zoned for that purpose in accordance with UFD-P8").
  - b. Delete UFD-P8(1) ("the land is adjacent to existing or planned urban areas and ready access to employment and services is available"), and make consequential amendments to clause (2) so that it no longer refers to clause (1).
  - c. Amend the title and chapeau of UFD-P8 to refer to "rural lifestyle development".

#### 7.2. Reasons

84. We agree with Waterfall Park Development, Boxer Hills Trust, Darby Planning LP & Others, QLDC and Ms White that the 'zoning only' approach proposed for lifestyle development is overly restrictive and will foreclose appropriate rural lifestyle opportunities outside of such zones. As Ms White highlighted, rural lifestyle development is consistent with, and anticipated in, rural zones. This is reflected in the definitions contained within the National Planning

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Jeff Brown for Waterfall Park Developments/Boxer Hill Trust, para [2.9]; Emily McEwan for Dunedin City Council, para [79].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Emily McEwan for Dunedin City Council, paras [77]-[82].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [12.14](e).

Standards. Not all District Councils currently have dedicated rural lifestyle zones but manage its development through standards in the rural zone.

85. While we acknowledge the concerns of Ms Wharfe and Mr Tuck (and others) as being valid, we agree with Ms White that the remainder of the policy will adequately address these concerns. Ms White, in her s32AA analysis, considers the remaining provisions to be sufficient to achieve the outcome sought in UFD-O4. Therefore, she believes that *"the deletion of these clauses will be more efficient at achieving the outcomes, as it will not restrict rural lifestyle development in locations or circumstances that may still achieve UFD-O4, while not reducing the effectiveness of the approach."* We agree and adopt that position accordingly.

### 8. Reverse sensitivity

#### 8.0. Introduction

- 86. A number of submissions seek changes to the UFD chapter to include more directive provisions on the management of reverse sensitivity effects. Several changes were recommended in the section 42A report to address concerns in these submissions.
- 87. Ms Wharfe, Mr Ensor and Ms Tait supported further changes to a number of provisions,<sup>16</sup> which generally seek to strengthen the direction by requiring avoidance of, or protection from, reverse sensitivity impacts.<sup>17</sup> In her oral presentation to the Hearing Panel, Ms O'Sullivan, on behalf of the Queenstown Airport, expressed her view that the management of reverse sensitivity, when looked at across the whole of the UFD chapter, is appropriate.
- 88. In her reply, Ms White advised that in her view, "management *of reverse sensitivity is an action, rather than an outcome*", and as a consequence, the changes recommended to the UFD objectives do not contain reference to reverse sensitivity. In relation to changes sought to UFD-P4(7), Ms White states that given the way the policy is framed, she considers it appropriate to require consideration of reverse sensitivity effects, rather than requiring avoidance. In her view it is only one factor to consider, and it should be balanced against other things, with no right of veto.
- 89. In relation to UFD-P7, which relates to the management of development in rural areas, Ms White notes that (6) requires explicit consideration of reverse sensitivity effects and the restriction of activities that could lead to such effects. She considers this appropriate without further amendment, noting 'restriction' is already a strong direction. Hence, she does not agree with Mr Ensor, for Fulton Hogan, who requested the use of 'avoidance' in this policy.
- 90. Ms White's recommended addition of 'avoid' in UFD-P8(3) is supported by a number of parties but is opposed by Ms McEwan. However, Ms White considers that such direction in this context is more appropriate to achieve UFD-O4 than a requirement to only minimise.

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 Hearing Panel report Appendix One: Report by the Non-Freshwater Hearings Panel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Including UFD-O2, UFD-O3, UFD-O4, UDF-P1, UFD-P4, UFD-P7, UFD-P8 and UFD-M2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand, paras [343]-[426] and [403]-[412]; Susannah Tait for Fonterra, paras [12.3]-[12.7], [12.16]-[12.19], [12.34] and [12.37]; Tim Ensor for Fulton Hogan, paras [25]-[35].

#### 8.1. Recommendation

- 91. The panel's recommendation in relation to this matter is to amend UFD-P8(3) as follows:
  - (3) <u>it minimises impacts on existing or anticipated primary production, rural</u> <u>industry and other rural activities</u> rural production potential, <u>amenity values</u> and the potential for reverse sensitivity effects.

#### 8.2. Reasons

- 92. The Panel generally agrees with the final position reached by Ms White on this matter. However, as we did in relation to UFD-P6, we agree with Ms McEwan in relation to the use of 'avoid' without qualification. We agree that this test is very strict as it refers to the potential for reverse sensitivity effects, which would effectively prohibit any activity that has any potential for reverse sensitivity effects, relative of the scale.
- 93. We note that even Ms Wharfe did not request a straight out avoid, seeking 'mitigation to the least extent possible' where avoidance is not possible. In our view, Ms Wharfe's position is essentially one of 'minimising' the effect of reverse sensitivity. In this context, we consider 'minimising' the most appropriate approach. Strict avoidance of 'potential effects' is virtually impossible to achieve.
- 94. Given the nature of the change, we do not consider further analysis in terms of s32AA is required. We also note here that the recommended addition of *"in adjoining rural production zones"* is not considered necessary and has not been accepted. Reverse sensitivity matters are unlikely to be confined to just rural production zones.

## 9. Regionally significant industry

#### 9.0. Introduction

- 95. Fonterra sought the addition of a reference to 'regionally significant industry' to a number of provisions within the UFD chapter, along with a definition of this term being inserted into the pORPS. The planner for Fonterra, Ms Tait, presented comprehensive evidence on why she considers it appropriate for the pORPS to provide recognition for such industry, particularly in terms of protecting it from inappropriate urban encroachment.<sup>18</sup> Ms Simpson, for QLDC, did not consider it an appropriate direction for an RPS and felt it was a blunt way to manage reverse sensitivity effects.<sup>19</sup>
- 96. In her reply report, Ms White<sup>20</sup> noted that:

"there are a number of provisions in the UFD chapter (as redrafted) that apply directly or indirectly to rural industry, regardless of its level of significance. These include:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Susannah Tait for Fonterra, para [3.1], Section 4, paras [12.6]-[12.7], [12.23]-[12.26], [12.30]-[12.32], [12.34] and [12.37](b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Rebuttal evidence of Elizabeth Simpson for Queenstown Lakes District Council, paras [6.1]-[6.3].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Paragraph 82

a. The integration between urban and rural areas (UFD-O1(2));

b. Provision for ongoing use of rural areas for rural industry in appropriate locations (UFD-O4(4));

c. Identification of potential conflict between incompatible activities and methods for resolution of these when undertaking strategic planning (UFD-P1(8A));

d. Considering adverse effects on rural industry activities when determining changes to the rural/urban boundary (UFD-P4(7)); and

e. Managing development in rural areas to provide for rural industry and restrict non-rural activities which could adversely affect existing or anticipated rural industry activities (UFD-P7(6))."

- 97. She was of the view that this direction appropriately addresses rural industry and that there is no further need to 'elevate' regionally significant industry. She also agreed with Ms Simpson (and Ms Boyd in other s42A reports) that recognising regionally significant infrastructure is no justification for, and is not the same as, recognising regionally significant industry. In her view, it is *"inappropriate to require that urban intensification and urban expansion must in all cases not compromise regionally significant industry."*<sup>21</sup>
- 98. Ms White also commented on other changes sought to the drafting, which she considered inappropriate because:
  - a. they result in process-related clauses being added back into the objective level (as sought through additions to UFD-O1); or
  - b. they add unnecessary 'inclusions' to clauses where this does not change the effect of the clause, but in her view, result in less clarity (UFD-O4(4A), UFD-P7(4)).

#### 9.1. Recommendation

99. We agree with Ms White on this matter. While we consider that local authorities may consider such an approach necessary or appropriate in their local planning documents, this will depend on local context. We think industry in general is adequately recognised and provided for in the proposed provisions of the PORPS.

## 10. Other changes

100. In her reply, Ms White recorded changes that she recommended in response to evidence, or following further consideration of matters raised in submissions, which she considers are appropriate. Because they related to more discrete issues generally raised by one party and led to significant rearrangement of this particular chapter, she compiled them in the table, which is set out below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> As sought through changes to UFD-P3 and UFD-P4 noted in Memorandum of counsel on behalf of Fonterra Limited, 21 April 2023.

Provision	Evidence	Change Sought	Recommendation
UFD-P2	Emily McEwan, para 42 and Annexure A	Reframe stem of policy, delete clauses (1)-(4) as these simply refer to other policies and add no value, and split clause (5) into two.	Agree that these changes are appropriate.
UFD-P4(7)	Susannah Tait, paras 12.25-12.26	Amendments to clause (7)(a) to improve understanding and clarity.	Agree with some of the changes proposed by Ms Tait. However, as a consequence of deleting (b) and (c) (refer below) this no longer needs to be a sub- clause, and re-ordering of wording is therefore also recommended for readability.
UFD-P4(7)	Emily McEwan, para 45(d) and Annexure A	Delete (7)(b) and (c) as they contain direction which is too detailed for RPS.	Agree. Do not consider the direction is necessary to achieve the outcomes sought.
UFD-P5	Emily McEwan, paras 51-52 and Annexure A	Add "where appropriate" to clause (1) as some zones will provide for some commercial activities, but appropriately limit others. Delete clause (3) because it is covered by UFD-P2. Amend clause 4 to "provide for" rather than "allow for" because the latter implies permitted activities, whereas another activity status may be more appropriate to ensure adverse effects can be managed.	Agree. Also consider clause (3) is also effectively covered already between P2, P3 and P4 and in clauses (1) and (2). This clause therefore does not appear to add anything further. "Provide for" is also more consistent with terminology used elsewhere in this chapter.
UFD-P6(3)	Liz Simpson, paras 4.3-4.5	Remove previously recommend addition of "(particularly residential or retail activities except yard-based retail)," in clause (3) as has the potential to unnecessarily narrow the application of the policy.	Agree. I also do not consider that this level of specificity is necessary at the pORPS level. I also consider it unclear what "particularly" is intended to mean and whether it implies a hierarchy.
UFD-P7(2)	00211.050	Remove all references to	While I do not agree with the
UFD-P8(3)	LAC	amenity values and rural	submitter's reasoning, I do not
UFD-E1	Properties	character as they are	consider it appropriate at the RPS

Provision	Evidence	Change Sought	Recommendation
	Trustees	contrary to proposed	level to direct that the amenity and
	Limited,	replacement legislation	character of rural areas are
	00210.050	and may stymie necessary	'maintained'. I do not consider that
	Lane	growth and development	this is linked back to the identified
	Hocking,	opportunities.	resource management issue, nor
	00118.066		will maintenance of existing
	Maryhill		amenity and character in all
	Limited,		instances necessarily align with the
	00014.066		outcomes sought across the
	Mt Cardrona		pORPS.
	Station,		
	00209.05		
	Universal		
	Development		
	Limited		
UFD-P7(4)	Lynette	Amend to use the word "provide" rather than	Agree. "Provide for" is also more
	Wharfe,	"facilitate" as 'provide'	consistent with terminology used
	paras 394-	gives clearer direction	elsewhere in this chapter.
	400	than 'facilitates', which is	
		more a direction of	
		'assisting'	
UFD-P7(4)	Anita Collie,	Amend clause (4)(b) to	Agree
	paras 5.9-	use terminology consistent with the Crown	
	5.10	Minerals Act and improve	
		the clarity of the policy.	
UFD-P7(6)	Susannah	Amend to refer to	Do not agree with referring to
	Tait, paras	"existing or permitted"	"permitted" at the pORPS level.
	12.31-12.32	primary production rather than "existing or	However, consider that
		potential".	"anticipated" provides better
		P	guidance than "potential" and
			recommend this change instead.
UFD-P7(6)	Tim Ensor,	Clause (6) should stand on	Agree that reference to UFD-P4 is
	paras 33-35	its own without recourse	not required as urban expansion is
		to UFD-P4(7) and that this connection should be	governed by UFD-P4 and once
		deleted.	established, the area will no longer
			be rural. Therefore this policy will
			not apply (but reference to UFD-P4
			implies it does.)
			Reference to UFD-P8 is also not
			required as UFD-P8 is
			recommended to apply to all rural
	Stave Turk	Amond title for	lifestyle development.
UFD-P8	Steve Tuck, Appendix C	Amend title for consistency with other	Agree.
		recommendations to	
	page 12	remove reference to	
		'rural residential'.	

Provision	Evidence	Change Sought	Recommendation
UFD-M1(4)	Liz Simpson, paras 5.1-5.2	Split requirements into two as the additional have resulted in the clause being too long and difficult to understand.	Agree.
UFD- AER12	Liz Simpson, paras 6.1-6.5	Amend wording so that it does not focus on 'inappropriate urban expansion and urban activities' as current wording implies they are anticipated within the region's rural areas.	Agree. For completeness I note that the final recommended wording of UFD-AER12 also removes reference to "productive capacity" as a result of Ms Boyd's analysis of this. <sup>22</sup>

- 101. Ms White also advised that there will be a range of changes are required to the methods, explanation, principal reasons and anticipated environmental results as a consequence of the changes, if they are accepted. She did not set them out in the reply report, but they are shown in the "reply report" version of the pORPS.
- 102. Ms White also considered the responses received in relation to the redrafting provided in response to Minute 7, and where she considered additional changes to be appropriate to improve the drafting, these changes were reflected in the recommended wording contained in her reply report and in the "marked up" version of the final recommendations.
- 103. We agree with Ms White on these submission points and have adopted her reasoning accordingly. In terms of s32AA, we also agree with her view that the amendments will provide greater clarity and in doing so will be more efficient and effective at achieving UFD-O1 and UFD-O4.
- 104. Most changes also do not alter the intent of the policies, methods or anticipated environmental results, but will make their application clearer. In those cases where the recommendation includes the removal of direction,<sup>23</sup> the direction is not necessary to achieve the outcomes sought, making the approach more efficient while still being effective.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Reply report 9: LF – Land and freshwater

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> UFD-P4(7)(b) and (c); and parts of UFD-P6(3), UFD-P7(2), UFD-P8(3), UFD-E1.

From:	Joanne Dowd
To:	<u>RPS</u>
Cc:	simon.peirce; Bridget.irving; Alec Findlater
Subject:	Submission by Aurora Energy Limited.
Date:	Friday, 3 September 2021 1:25:42 p.m.
Attachments:	Final Submission RPS21 as lodged 20210903.pdf

Hi There,

Please see attached a submission by Aurora Energy on the Proposed Regional Policy Statement 2021.

Can you please confirm receipt?

Many thanks Joanne

#### **JOANNE DOWD** PLANNING PROPERTY & ENVIRONMENT MANAGER

**EMAIL** joanne.dowd@auroraenergy.nz **DDI** +64 (21) 610 378 **MOB** +64 (21) 610 378 **PH** 0800 22 00 05 **WEB** www.auroraenergy.co.nz Aurora Energy, 10 Halsey Street, Dunedin 9016 PO Box 5140, Dunedin 9054





This message and any accompanying data may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient you are notified that any use, dissemination or copying of this message or data is prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately and erase all copies of this message and attachments.

Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

To access our free complaints process, please email Aurora Energy using the enquiry form on our website: www.auroraenergy.co.nz/contact. If we cannot resolve your complaint, you can contact Utilities Disputes on 0800 22 33 40 or go to www.utilitiesdisputes.co.nz. Utilities Disputes is a free and independent service for resolving complaints about utilities providers.



# Submission by Aurora Energy Limited

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement June 2021

3 September 2021

#### FORM 5

## SUBMISSION ON PUBLICALLY NOTIFIED PROPOSAL FOR POLICY STATEMENT OR PLAN CHANGE OR VARIATION UNDER CLAUSE 6 OF THE FIRST SCHEDULE, RESOURCE MANAGEMENT ACT 1991

То:	Otago Regional Council Private Bag 1954 <b>DUNEDIN</b>
Submission on:	Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021
Name: Address:	Aurora Energy Limited Po Box 1404 <b>Dunedin 9054</b>

This is a submission on the following proposed policy statement: Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement June 2021 (RPS21)

Aurora Energy Limited (Aurora Energy) could not gain an advantage in trade competition through this submission.

Overall issues that have determined the approach of Aurora Energy in preparing submissions on the Proposed District Plan are outlined below and attached as Appendix 1.

## 1 About Aurora Energy

Aurora Energy depends upon and fully supports the principles of sustainable management and efficient use of resources as outlined in Part 2 of the Resource Management Act (**RMA**). Aurora Energy has particular interests in ensuring that the RPS21 enables the continued and efficient operation of its electricity distribution network infrastructure, and in particular those parts of its network defined as Regionally Significant Infrastructure as well as generally ensuring that other existing and new regionally significant infrastructure within the Otago region is adequately provided for. In Aurora Energy's view, this has not been achieved in the notified version of the RPS21.

Aurora Energy owns, operates and maintains an electricity distribution network in the Dunedin and Central Otago region (including the Queenstown Lakes District). Aurora Energy's network distributes electricity from between the National Grid (from Grid-Exit Points) to more than 92,000 homes, farms and businesses across Otago. Aurora Energy's network comprises zone substations, overhead lines and underground cables located in public road reserve, as well as on private property.

In addition to the distribution network, Aurora Energy has the capacity to own and operate high voltage (up to 110kV) sub-transmission lines, and associated structures in future, and may be required to do so as regional electricity demand grows, especially in response to electrification in pursuit of national decarbonisation targets. Aurora Energy is committed to providing its customers in the region with an effective and secure supply of electricity, which in doing so provides a critical service to customers as well as a public good to local communities including hospitals, schools, offices and residential dwellings.

#### Background

Aurora Energy made submissions on the Regional Policy Statement notified in 2015 (**RPS2019**) and invested significant time and resources, engaging in that process, including through submissions, attendance at hearings, environment court appeals and mediation. The result of that process was to arrive at a position that was agreed between infrastructure providers and other interest groups.

The RPS2019 became partially operative on 15 March 2021, 3 months before the RPS21 was notified. It is extremely disappointing that many of the provisions that were achieved through RPS19 have not been carried through to the PRPS21. In essence, Aurora Energy is required to redefend the original position from 2015.

It is Aurora Energy's understanding that the review of the RPS2019 was predominantly to address freshwater management issues in response to Ministerial direction and to implement higher order planning documents, including the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020. In Aurora Energy's view, this did not warrant a wholesale review of the infrastructure provisions. There is little in the way of justification for such a review of the infrastructure provisions within the s 32 report and what appears to be a lack of understanding of what the previous framework tried to achieve in terms of infrastructure provision and protection from incompatible activities. This potentially would have been avoided if Aurora Energy had been provided the opportunity to review an advanced version of the plan<sup>1</sup>.

#### **RPS21 General Comments**

Issues around reverse sensitivity effects associated with Aurora Energy's electricity distribution network assets, were extensively canvassed as part of the RPS2019 and resulted in a policy suite and associated implementation methods which addressed Aurora Energy's concerns. Aurora Energy then relied on this higher order policy direction, to inform submissions on both the Second-Generation Dunedin City District Plan (**2GP**) and the Proposed Queenstown Lakes District Plan Staged Review (**QLDC PDP**). The policy reversal in the RPS21 will have significant implications for Aurora Energy beyond this process. Aurora Energy is now in a situation where it must now make submissions on RPS21 to inform the outcomes that have been reached at a District level.

As noted in an extract from the s 32 Report, the provisions contained in RPS19 provided clear direction to district councils on their roles and responsibilities. Aurora Energy agrees. However, the RPS21 has removed this "clear direction", especially as it applies to Aurora Energy's electricity distribution network.

512. Methods 3.1 and 4.1 require regional and district plans (respectively) to set objectives, policies and methods to implement the policies in the RPS. For infrastructure, Methods 3.1.5 and 4.1.16 require the regional council and territorial authorities to ensure the functional needs of infrastructure are not compromised. Method 4.1.17 requires district plans to identify National Grid transmission lines and corridors, and Method 4.1.18 requires identification of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure on planning maps. Both methods require plans to include provisions to avoid reverse sensitivity effects on the National Grid and nationally and regionally significant infrastructure and provide controls on activities to ensure their functional needs are not compromised. This provides clear direction to district councils on their roles and responsibilities, but there is a lack of specificity about some of ORC's functions. There is also a lack of direction about how adverse effects should be managed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Section 52 of the s 32 Evaluation Report relates to Clause 3, Schedule 1 and lists Aurora Energy as a party to whom a draft copy of the PORPS was provided. Aurora Energy is unaware of receiving this consultation draft. On 11 August, Aurora Energy contacted the ORC to confirm to whom in the organisation the draft had been sent. At the time of writing this submission, no confirmation had been received from the ORC on this matter.

513 <u>Methods 4.1.18 and 4.1.19 also specifically require territorial authorities to have</u> regard to the NZECP34:2001 Electrical Code of Practice for Electrical Safe Distances and the Electricity (Hazards from Trees) Regulations 2003. It is less clear from the methods how ORC is required to implement the provisions in the regional plan and how adverse effects should be managed.

[Emphasis added]

One of the purposes of a regional policy statement is to provide clear direction to district councils on their roles and responsibilities<sup>2</sup>. In particular, Section 61 of the RMA,<sup>3</sup> requires a regional policy statement to have regard to any – "(*i*) Management plans and strategies prepared under other Acts".

In Aurora Energy's view, this should include management plans and strategies prepared under the Electricity Act 1992 and including the Electricity (Safety) Regulations 2010 which includes by reference the New Zealand Electrical Code of Practice for Electrical Safe Distances 2001 (NZECP34).

NZECP34 sets out mandatory minimum safe electrical distance requirements with respect to overhead conductors, installations and other works associated with the supply of electricity to consumers. In that regard, the introduction to NZECP34 records

"the minimum safe distances have been set primarily to protect persons, property, vehicles and mobile plant from harm or damage from electrical hazards"

At a high level, NZECP34 seeks to address issues associated with reverse sensitivity where land use or subdivision activities encourage or enable circumstances in which Aurora Energy's existing distribution network is compromised or its ability to be operated, maintained and development is hindered. The importance of those effects are elevated given the status that RPS19 afforded to electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure.

Aurora Energy notes that the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017 (RLAA) introduced a procedural principle to ensure that council plans and policy statements include only matters relevant to the purpose of the RMA. Aurora Energy's considers that addressing reverse sensitivity and effects on public health and safety and wellbeing are germane to the purpose of the RMA and as such should be incorporated into RPS21. The submission that follows, and as outlined at **Appendix 1**, is in Aurora Energy's view the changes that would be required to effect this change.

#### Infrastructure Overview

Aurora Energy is responsible for the construction and maintenance of an efficient and safe electricity network, which involves without limitation the following infrastructure:

- Underground cables;
- Overhead lines;
- Substations/transformers/kiosks;
- Electricity structures (poles/pylons, earth rods and associated buildings); and
- Access tracks.

The operation, maintenance, development and upgrade of Aurora Energy's network has the potential to impact on land, water and vegetation resources to a varying degree. These impacts may arise from the excavation of land/earthworks and vegetation clearance associated with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Resource Management Act 1991 – 59 Purpose of regional policy statements - The purpose of a regional policy statement is to achieve the purpose of the Act by providing an overview of the resource management issues of the region and policies and methods to achieve integrated management of the natural and physical resources of the whole region.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Resource Management Act 1991, s 61(2)(a)(i)

erection, placement, upgrade, repair and maintenance of its infrastructure both on land and within the beds and margins of lakes and rivers.

Aurora Energy's key areas of concern are the objectives, policies and methods that will have effect on the activities or processes that are required to operate and develop its network over the shortmedium and long-term. In particular, there are certain land use activities associated with establishing new infrastructure and maintaining existing infrastructure which involve:

- The excavation of land;
- The disturbance/deposition of soil;
- Vegetation clearance (including indigenous biodiversity); and
- Potential discharges to water arising from earthworks.

Currently, Aurora Energy undertakes these activities in accordance with strict Industry codes of practice, local authority requirements, and electricity network technical specification standards.

In March 2021 the Commerce Commission made a determination on an application by Aurora Energy for a Customised Price-Quality Path (CPP) which will apply for the five years between RY22 – RY26. This relates to a \$563.4 million programme of essential investments in network maintenance, renewal and upgrades to improve the safety, reliability and resilience of Aurora Energy's network. This will see a continuation of the significant uplift in works on the Aurora Energy network commenced in 2017 and unprecedented in prior years.

It is therefore appropriate, given the regional significance of Aurora Energy's network, that its ongoing management is comprehensively enabled and provided for in the RPS21. It is appropriate that RPS21 contains close and practical linkages between its objectives, policies and methods relating to the physical resources, at both the regional and district level. This will facilitate integrated resource management occurring within the region, particularly as it relates to significant physical resources, such as Aurora Energy's sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure.

Aurora Energy seeks to ensure that the RPS21 contains appropriate provisions to ensure that it can provide adequate guidance in the development of any new regional and/or district plan and/or plan changes. More specifically, the PRPS needs to adequately provide for the core strategic infrastructure that is required to support growth within the Otago region.

For Aurora Energy, the provisions of RPS21 need to:

- 1) Recognise the benefits of the electricity distribution network, including in particular electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure;
- 2) Enable the ongoing operation and maintenance of its electricity distribution network;
- 3) Enable the existing network to be upgraded in order to meet foreseeable growth at all times;
- 4) Protect existing electricity distribution infrastructure from incompatible activities where there is the potential to create issues of reverse sensitivity; and
- 5) Provide an appropriate policy framework for the development of new lines.

In addition, Aurora Energy seeks that the RPS21 recognises the strategic and lifeline importance of its electricity network. This is essential to ensure that the RPS21 achieves the purpose of the RMA, in that the use, development, and protection of the electricity network (a physical resource) is managed in the most appropriate way to enable people and communities to provide for their social, economic and cultural wellbeing and for their health and safety.

The RPS21 goes some way to achieving these outcomes. In particular, it recognises the benefits of regionally significant infrastructure, and seeks to protect regionally significant infrastructure from new and incompatible land uses. Acceptable provisions are identified and sought to be retained.

However, some modifications and/or clarifications are required to the existing text, and additional text is required in order to address all of the relevant resource management issues identified above.

Electricity distribution networks are essential in the provision of safe, resilient, and cost-effective power supply in our communities and the promotion of the safe and efficient use of electricity. The distribution network and its assets are significant infrastructure in a local, regional, and even national sense (being that they play a key role in distributing electricity from the larger transmission network, (National Grid) and are of strategic importance. The electricity distribution network also plays a key role in New Zealand's climate change adaptation and mitigation policy and will be critical for achieving a transition to a low emissions economy.

## **Submission**

The specific provisions that Aurora Energy's submission relates to are set out in **Appendix 1** using the numbering system and headings contained in the RPS21. The submissions are set out immediately following these headings, together with the decision sought from Council. The decision that has been requested may suggest new or revised wording for identified sections of the RPS21. This wording is intended to be helpful but alternative wording of like effect may be equally acceptable. The wording of decisions sought shows new text as underlined and original text to be deleted as strikethrough.

Unless specified in each submission point, the reasons for supporting are that the policies are consistent with the RMA and would support the enhancement or protection of regionally significant infrastructure.

Alongside provisions for integrating development and infrastructure, it is also important to ensure continued policy direction for the avoidance of reverse sensitivity effects on strategic infrastructure.

## Relief Sought

Aurora Energy seeks a decision from the Independent Freshwater Commission that the amendments to the PRPS21 outlined at **Appendix 1**, be accepted.

For the avoidance of doubt, Aurora Energy seeks such similar, other, or consequential relief to issues, objectives, policies, methods, principal reasons and anticipated environmental results to provide the following outcomes which have guided the drafting of **Appendix 1**:

- The sustainable management of Aurora Energy's distribution network, including in particular its electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure;
- Provide for the ongoing operation, maintenance, repair and upgrade of the distribution network, including in particular minor upgrading of existing network assets;
- Enabling the development of new distribution network infrastructure to provide for the health and wellbeing of people and communities, including their social, cultural and economic needs;
- Providing an appropriate effects management framework for the management of Aurora Energy's distribution network in sensitive environments and culturally valued places, including in particular by recognising the functional and operational needs of infrastructure;
- The protection of the existing network from incompatible activities, including where those activities may give rise to reverse sensitivity issues; and
- Appropriate provision for the planning and development of new electricity distribution infrastructure as a method of adapting and responding to issues in the Otago region, including

in particular: climate change, decarbonising the economy, natural hazards and the health and safety and wellbeing of people and communities.

Finally, in the event that the amendments set out above or in **Appendix 1** are not implemented partially or fully, Aurora Energy seeks RPS21 be withdrawn entirely.

Aurora Energy **wishes to be heard** in support of its submission.

If others make a similar submission, Aurora Energy **will consider presenting a joint case** with them at a hearing.

Joanne Dowd Signed .

Joanne Dowd

#### Resource Planning, Property & Environmental Manager

Address for Service: Aurora Energy Limited 10 Halsey Street PO Box 5140 DUNEDIN 9058

#### **Contact Details:**

Attention: Joanne Dowd Telephone: 021 610 378

 Email:
 joanne.dowd@auroraenergy.nz

 bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz

 simon.peirce@gallawaycookallan.co.nz

#### **APPENDIX 1: RELIEF SOUGHT**

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
Part 1 – Ir	troduction and General I	Provisions		·
Interpreto	ation			
1.	Definition Additional Infrastructure	<ul> <li>has the same meaning as in clause 1.3 of the National Policy</li> <li>Statement on Urban Development (as set out in the box below)</li> <li>means: <ul> <li>a) public open space</li> <li>b) community infrastructure as defined in section 197 of the Local Government Act 2002</li> <li>c) land transport (as defined in the Land Transport Management Act 2003) that is not controlled by local authorities</li> <li>d) social infrastructure, such as schools and healthcare facilities</li> <li>e) a network operated for the purpose of telecommunications (as defined in section 5 of the Telecommunications Act 2001)</li> <li>f) a network operated for the purpose of transmitting or distributing electricity or gas</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Support	Aurora Energy supports the use of consistent terms used in higher order documents such as the Nation Policy Statement on Urban Development. The definition of "additional infrastructure "include "a network operated for the purpose of transmittin or distributing electricity or gas" and it is appropria that this definition is included within the RPS21.
2.	Definition Distribution Network	<ul> <li>has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 (as set out in the box below)</li> <li>a) means lines and associated equipment that are used for conveying electricity and are operated by a business engaged in the distribution of electricity; but</li> <li>b) does not include lines and associated equipment that are part of the national grid</li> </ul>	Support, in part	Aurora Energy owns, operates and maintains an electricity distribution network in the Dunedin and Central Otago region (including the Queenstown Lakes District). This network carries electricity from t National Grid to more than 92,000 homes and businesses across Dunedin City and Central Otago Region. The definition "Distribution Network" includes all of Aurora Energy's network. The definition of Distribution network does not refer "cables" which are installed underground as opposed to lines which are erected overhead. Bot convey electricity. Given that the term is not relied with respect to the natural wetland provisions (whi instead relies on specified or other infrastructure) th change is considered to be appropriate and assist avoid confusion.
3.	Definition Electricity sub- transmission infrastructure	means electricity infrastructure which conveys electricity between energy generation sources, the National Grid and zone substations and between zone substations.	Support	Aurora Energy owns substations, lines and cables located in public road reserve, as well as on privat property which convey electricity between the National Grid and zone substations, including

	Submission – decision sought by Council
s onal	<b>Retain</b> the definition as notified.
es ng ate	
4	Amend the definition as follows:
the	has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater)
0	Regulations 2020 (as set out in the box below)
f	<u>Means</u> a) means lines <u>, cables</u> and associated equipment that are
er to	used for conveying electricity and are operated by a business
oth d on	engaged in the distribution of electricity; but
nich this sts to	<ul> <li>b) does not include lines and associated equipment that are part of the national grid</li> </ul>
	Add the following text as a note below the definition to assist RPS21 readers:
	Note: Includes electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure.
ate	Retain definition as notified.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
				between Aurora Energy's 39 zone substations in the Otago Region.	
				In addition to the electricity sub-transmission network, Aurora Energy has the capacity to own and operate high voltage (up to 110kV) transmission lines, and associated structures and may be required to do so as regional electricity demand grows, especially in response to electrification in pursuit of national decarbonisation targets.	
4.	Definition	has the same meaning as in clause 3.21 of the National Policy	Support	Aurora Energy supports the use of consistent terms	Retain, definition as notified.
	Effects Management Hierarchy	<ul> <li>Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 (as set out in the box below) and in this RPS also applies to natural wetlands</li> <li>in relation to natural inland wetlands and rivers, means an approach to managing the adverse effects of an activity on the extent or values of a wetland or river (including cumulative effects and loss of potential value) that requires that:</li> <li>a) adverse effects are avoided where practicable,</li> <li>b) where adverse effects cannot be avoided, they are minimised where practicable,</li> <li>c) where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are remedied where practicable,</li> <li>d) where more than minor residual adverse effects cannot be avoided, and</li> </ul>		used in higher order documents such as the National Policy Statement on Freshwater Management 2020.	
		<ul> <li>e) if aquatic compensation is not appropriate, the activity itself is avoided</li> </ul>			
5.	Definition Functional Need	has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the <b>National Planning</b> Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below)	Support	Aurora Energy supports the use of consistent terms as required by the National Planning Standards 2019.	Retain definition as notified.
		means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that environment		The definition of "functional need" holds particular importance for Aurora Energy given that its infrastructure is highly constrained in terms of the environments that it is able to operate in. For that reason, the provision of electricity distribution infrastructure must be provided for where there is a functional need for it to be located there.	
6.	Definition Infrastructure	has the same meaning as in section 2 of the <b>Resource Management Act 1991</b> [refer RPS21 text]	Support	Aurora Energy supports the inclusion of a definition for "Infrastructure"	Retain definition as notified.
7.	Definition Lifeline Utility	means utilities provided by those entities listed in Schedule 1 of the <b>Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002</b>	Support	Schedule 1 of the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002 - Part B Entities Carrying on Certain Businesses includes "An entity that generates	Retain definition as notified.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
				electricity for distribution through a network or distributes electricity through a network."
				Aurora Energy distribution network satisfies that purpose and is therefore defined as a lifeline utility.
8.	Definition Operational Need	has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below)	Support	Aurora Energy supports the use of consistent terms required by the National Planning Standards 2019.
		means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because of technical, logistical or operational characteristics or constraints		The definition of "operational need", much like its counterpart "functional need" holds particular importance for Aurora Energy. Various engineering requirements for the type of infrastructure that is to installed often dictates where it can traverse, locat or operate. For that reason, the provision of electric distribution infrastructure must be provided for whe there is an operational need for it to be located there.
9.	Definition Other Infrastructure	has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the National Environmental Standard for Freshwater 2020 (as set out in the box below) means infrastructure, other than specified infrastructure, that was	Support	Aurora Energy supports the use of consistent terms used in higher order documents such as the Nation Environmental Standard for Freshwater.
		lawfully established before, and in place at, the close of 2 September 2020		The definition of "other infrastructure "is importance terms of the suite of provisions which Aurora Energy seeking below.
10.	Definition Regionally Significant Infrastructure	<ul> <li>means:</li> <li>(1) roads classified as being of regional importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification,</li> <li>(2) electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,</li> <li>(3) renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable electricity generation facilities designed and operated principally for supplying a single premise or facility,</li> <li>(4) telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities,</li> <li>(5) facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,</li> <li>(6) the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, Wanaka,</li> </ul>	Support, in part	<ul> <li>Aurora Energy's distribution network supplies</li> <li>electricity to approximately 92,000 homes across the</li> <li>Otago Region. "Electricity sub-transmission</li> <li>infrastructure" is not all of Aurora's network. Rather</li> <li>is those parts of its network which conveys electricity</li> <li>between the National Grid and renewable energy</li> <li>generation sources to zone substations and betwee</li> <li>zone substations as defined in the RPS21.</li> <li>As discussed further below, RPS19 contained a</li> <li>definition for Significant Electricity Distribution</li> <li>Infrastructure, which has been removed from PRPS2</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, Oamaru, Taieri,</li> <li>(7) navigation infrastructure associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,</li> <li>(8) defence facilities,</li> <li>(9) community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution infrastructure that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of</li> </ul>		The term was picked up in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 such that those lines were identified and effects on those lines from potentially incompatible activities were managed through methods such as corridors The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section. Aurora Energy seeks to re-insert the definition of Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure into the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
у.	
s as	Retain definition as notified.
ng o be ate ricity ere	
S	<b>Retain</b> definition as notified.
onal	
ce in gy is	
the	Amend sub-clause (2) as follows:
.,	means:
er, it city	(2) electricity sub-transmission
IУ	infrastructure and significant
een	<u>electricity distribution</u> infrastructure.
\$21.	
o on	
s rs.	
o the	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
11.	Definition	<ul> <li>water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies),</li> <li>(10) community stormwater infrastructure,</li> <li>(11) wastewater and sewage collection, treatment and disposal infrastructure serving no fewer than 25 households, and</li> <li>(12) Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection infrastructure and drainage schemes.</li> <li>has the same meaning as in clause 3.21 of the National Policy</li> </ul>	Support in	Aurora Energy's infrastructure is included in the terr
	Specified Infrastructure	<ul> <li>Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 (as set out in the box below)</li> <li>means any of the following: <ul> <li>a) infrastructure that delivers a service operated by a lifeline utility (as defined in the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002),</li> <li>b) regionally significant infrastructure identified as such in a regional policy statement or regional plan,</li> <li>c) any public flood control, flood protection, or drainage works carried out: <ul> <li>b) by or on behalf of a local authority, including works carried out for the purposes set out in section 133 of the Soil Conservation and Rivers Control Act 1951, or</li> <li>for the purpose of drainage by drainage districts under the Land Drainage Act 1908</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>	part	"Specified Infrastructure" to the extent that RPS21 defines it as "regionally significant infrastructure". The circular nature of this definition is confusing and unhelpful as it simply directs the reader's attention the definition of regionally significant infrastructure, which RPS21 has been tasked to define.
12.	Term Electricity Transmission Network	N/A	N/A	The term "electricity transmission network" has been used in the below provisions but has not been defined:         • EIT-INF-O6 - Long-term planning for electric transmission infrastructure         • EIT-INF-P16 - Providing for electricity transmission and the National Grid         • EIT-INF-M5 - District plans

	Submis	ssion – decision sought by Council
rm		<b>d</b> the definition of "specified ucture" as follows:
nd n to e,	<del>the Na</del> Freshw	e same meaning as in clause 3.21 of I <mark>tional Policy Statement for</mark> Y <b>ater Management 2020</b> (as set out box below)
	Means a)	any of the following: infrastructure that delivers a service operated by a lifeline utility (as defined in the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002),
	b)	regionally significant infrastructure identified as such in a regional policy statement or regional plan,
	C)	any public flood control, flood protection, or drainage works carried out:
	i.	by or on behalf of a local authority, including works carried out for the purposes set out in section 133 of the Soil Conservation and Rivers Control
	ii.	Act 1951, or for the purpose of drainage by drainage districts under the Land Drainage Act 1908
en icity	"electr "distrib	e all instances of the term ricity transmission network" with pution network" consistent with how frm has been defined in RPS21

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
				The drafting of the provisions suggests that the term refers to infrastructure for electricity transmission other than the National Grid. The only infrastructure that could be referring to is the electricity distribution network, as defined by PRPS21.	
13.	Definition – new – Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure	N/A	N/A	<ul> <li>RPS19 contained a definition for Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure, which has been removed from PRPS21. The definition and methods associated with it was included following considerable discussion between interested parties.</li> <li>The term was picked up in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 such that those lines were identified and effects on those lines from potentially incompatible activities were managed through methods such as corridors. The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section.</li> <li>The s 32 Report contains no discussion on the reason for removing this protection from these important lines. That is a critical issue for Aurora Energy given the lines serves an important role in providing for the social, economic, cultural and health and safety of the community. The term does this by identifying key functions, places and communities for which the resilience of the electricity distribution network is particularly important, including: <ul> <li>Maintaining the functionality of healthcare infrastructure such as hospitals and other emergency services;</li> <li>Maintaining electricity supply to other regionally significant infrastructure including ports, airports, etc; and</li> <li>Ensuring the resilience of the electricity supply to other regionally significant infrastructure including ports, airports, etc; and</li> <li>Ensuring the resilience of the electricity supply to isolated communities where there is limited redundancy available, or repairs are likely to be challenging is protected.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Including this definition in the RPS21 supports provisions relating to managing natural hazards, preparing for an adapting to climate change and supporting the health and wellbeing of the community.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Add a new definition for significant electricity distribution infrastructure as follows:</li> <li>Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure means electricity distribution infrastructure which supplies: <ol> <li>Essential and emergency services (such as hospitals and lifeline facilities);</li> <li>Other regionally significant infrastructure or individual consumers requiring supply of 1MW or more;</li> <li>ZO0 or more consumers; or</li> <li>Communities that are isolated and which do not have an alternative supply in the event the line or cable is compromised and where the assets are difficult to replace in the event of failure.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>
14.	Definition – new – Effects management hierarchy (other matters)		N/A	The existing definition of "effect management hierarchy" applies only to natural inland wetlands and rivers. However, the term can usefully be applied to managing adverse effects arising on other natural resources. It is a particularly important tool for	Add a new definition for "effects management hierarchy (Other Matters)" as follows:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council	
			Support			
No.	Provision	Text		Discussion managing infrastructure because infrastructure often has functional and operational needs that mean it must be located in a particular location, or there are operational requirements that affect the type of mitigation measures that can be applied. The effects management hierarchy provides clear and significant obligations on infrastructure providers to take all practicable steps to address the effects of their activities but acknowledges that in some cases it is not possible to avoid effects entirely.	Effects Management Hierarchy (other matters) means An approach to managing the adverse effects (including cumulative effects and loss of potential value) of an activity on the extent or values of a significant natural area, outstanding natural feature or landscape, outstanding water bodies (excluding rivers and natural wetlands), area of high or outstanding natural character, area or place of significant or outstanding historic heritage, wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, areas with protected customary rights, and areas of high	
					<ul> <li>recreational and high amenity value that requires that: <ul> <li>(a) Adverse effects are avoided where practicable,</li> <li>(b) Where adverse effects cannot be avoided, they are minimised where practicable,</li> <li>(c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are remedied where practicable,</li> <li>(d) Where adverse effects cannot be remedied, they are mitigated to the extent practicable,</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	
					(e) <u>Where more than minor adverse</u> <u>effects cannot be avoided,</u> <u>minimised, remedied or mitigated</u> <u>offsetting and/or environmental</u> <u>compensation must be</u> <u>considered, where appropriate.</u>	
					Any further other or consequential relief to provide an appropriate effects management regime for infrastructure in sensitive locations, including such locations set out in ss 6 and 7 RMA.	
Part 2 Resource Management Overview						
	ificant Resource Manag	gement issues for the region				
15.	Significant Resource Management Issue – New –	N/A	N/A	Aurora Energy does not support the SRMI as currently drafted as the introductory text is inconsistent with (and does not achieve) the sustainable management purpose of the RMA. The text is mainly	Add a new significant resource management issue addressing the extent to which the aspirations, challenges and resource management issues are	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
				focused on the use of, and impacts on, natural resources and fails to contemplate the use, development and protection of important physical resources.
				Aurora Energy seeks that the SRMI be amended to provide a more fulsome approach to achieving the purpose of the RMA in respect of promoting the sustainable management of important physical resources. This can be achieved by the insertion of new SRM Issue
				<ul> <li>In Aurora Energy's view a new significant resource management issue is required to recognise the significant role that the distribution network will have in achieving the goals set out by RPS21, including overcoming the issues set out in other SRMI. The following SRMI are of particular importance to Auro Energy: <ul> <li>SRMRI-11 – Natural hazards pose a risk to man Otago communities</li> <li>SRMI-12 – Climate change is likely to impact our economy and environment</li> <li>SRMI-14 – Poorly managed urban and residential growth affects productive land, treasured natural assets, infrastructure and community well-being.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
				It is important to ensure that the distribution network resilient in terms of its ability to adapt to or respond natural hazard events. In the short-term this may be through the use of temporary generators immediate following a natural hazard event. In the medium to long term this may be through the development of new lines that provide alternative or reinforced electricity supply. The issue is most severe with isolat communities who may be supplied electricity by Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure.
				<ul> <li>The regions' ability to adapt to the effects of climat change is interconnected with the distribution network in two key ways: <ol> <li>Providing for connection to small-scale electricity generation sources;</li> <li>Increasing the resilience of the network to anticipate and adapt to the effects of climate change on the frequency and magnitude of natural hazards.</li> </ol></li></ul>

	Submission – decision sought by Council
al	supported by a well-functioning electricity distribution network, suggested drafting as follows:
o	<u>SRMIX</u>
he	<u>Resilient electricity supply is critical to the</u> <u>health, wellbeing and prosperity of</u> <u>Otago, particularly in adapting to climate</u>
ofa	change.
e	Statement Electricity supply is essential to our way of life. It supports community wellbeing,
ave	health, safety and economic prosperity. It also has a critical role to play in adapting
irora	to climate change by supporting communities to become less reliant on fossil fuels for heating and transport. As
nany ct	such there will be a need for electricity network providers to undertake significant development and upgrades to support
	the communities needs in the future.
l, d	<u>Context</u> <u>Otago's electricity supply comprises</u> <u>electricity generation (primarily from</u>
ork is Id to	hydro-electricity generation); transmission through the National Grid; distribution from grid-exit points to zone substations,
be ately to	electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and finally through the distribution network to consumers.
of	The electricity distribution network
lated	connects Otago to electricity supply. As such, faults in the network can have a direct impact on the health and safety
ate	and wellbeing of people and communities. The importance of electricity distribution to the community is
	reinforced by its identification as a lifeline utility. Electricity distribution providers
)	have obligations to plan and prepare for significant natural hazard events to ensure
	that supply is able to be maintained and/or reinstated as soon as practicable.
	Climate change will have adverse effects

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
				The distribution network (much like other infrastructure) is constrained in its ability to locate in particular environments, including treasured natural assets such as ONL/ONF/SNA/ONCC (including highly valued historic environments and wähi tupuna) or other highly valued natural environments. The functional and operational needs of the distribution network are such that it may not be possible or practicable to avoid locating in these environments.	on these network providers by increasing the risks to the infrastructure due to increasing storm intensity, increasing temperatures etc. This will occur in conjunction with increasing demands on the network dur to population growth and greater reliance on electricity. Providers will need to adapt to other changes including more small-scale community electricity generation (such as in home solar), and should be avoided by providing a framework for the operation, maintenance, upgrade and development of that infrastructure. Impact Snapshot Environmental The distribution network has adverse effects on the environment which need to be appropriately managed. However, the management of the distribution network is limited by its functional and operational needs which often dictate where it can be located in the environment. The development, operation, maintenance and upgrade of the distribution network can be constrained or adversely affected by the establishment of incompatible activities around the network which can give rise to reverse sensitivity effects. Economic The distribution network is critical to the economic wellbeing of people and communities. Faults in the distribution network arising from natural hazards; adverse effects from climate change and incompatible activities increase the risk of network faults. Failing to proactive manage incompatible activities in proximity to the distribution network faults.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/	Discussion
			Support	

## Submission – decision sought by Council

<u>A lack of integrated management and</u> <u>long-term strategic planning for land-use</u> <u>activities can delay urban growth and</u> <u>land use changes reliant on an electricity</u> <u>supply.</u>

## <u>Social</u>

Incompatible activities can have adverse effects on the distribution network and may give rise to reverse sensitivity effects. This is particularly the case where urban expansion and intensification seeks to locate near the distribution network to a degree that can create risks to the health and safety and wellbeing of people. To avoid those risks, it is appropriate to manage incompatible activities near the distribution network, including primarily electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure.

Where the electricity network is not resilient enough it can exacerbate the adverse effects and consequences of adverse weather events and natural hazards which can impact on communities already affected by these events.

## OR, as alternative relief

Amend the SRMR to include a new issue that addresses the need to operate, maintain, develop and upgrade regionally significant infrastructure.

Aurora Energy welcomes the opportunity to work with the Council and other infrastructure providers to develop this text and in doing so, acknowledges that the new issue does not need to be exclusive to the distribution network, but may also relate to other important infrastructure and should recognise the critical role of electricity supply in achieving New Zealand's carbon zero future.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
IM – Intear	ated Management		Coppen		I
16.	Policy IM-P2 – Decision priorities	<ul> <li>Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall:</li> <li>1) firstly, secure the long-term life-supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment,</li> <li>2) secondly, promote the health needs of people, and</li> <li>3) thirdly, safeguard the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future.</li> </ul>	Oppose	Aurora Energy opposes Policy IM-P2 on the basis that it could result in a hierarchy that is not supported by section 5 of the RMA. It is inappropriate to insert an objective from the NPSFM that applies to freshwater management and seek to apply it to direct the management of all natural and physical resources. Such an approach does not align with the purpose of the RMA or achieve integrated management.	<b>Delete</b> Policy IM-P2 in its entirety.
17.	Policies IM-P14 – Human Impact	<ul> <li>Preserve opportunities for future generations by:</li> <li>1) identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the environment will be degraded,</li> <li>2) requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and</li> <li>3) regularly assessing and adjusting limits and thresholds for activities over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts.</li> </ul>	Oppose	<ul> <li>Policy IM-P14 appears to draw on concepts included in the consultation draft of the Natural and Built Environments Bill.</li> <li>Aurora Energy considers that such an approach is inappropriate because the RPS21 has been notified under the RMA and integrated management must achieve the sustainable management purpose of that legislation as opposed to possible draft future legislation.</li> <li>Further, Aurora Energy considers that the concept of environmental limits is uncertain in the context of the RPS21. Aurora Energy is therefore concerned that this provision may prevent activities occurring beyond those undefined limits, which may impact on Aurora's distribution network, because it cannot avoid adverse effects in all circumstances.</li> </ul>	Delete Policy IM-P14 in its entirety.
18.	Policies IM-P15 – Precautionary approach	IM-P15 - Precautionary approach Adopt a precautionary approach towards proposed activities whose effects are uncertain, unknown or little understood, but could be significantly adverse, particularly where the areas and values within Otago have not been identified in plans as required by this RPS.	Oppose	Aurora Energy opposes Policy IM-P15 on the basis that the policy lacks specificity to the extent that the policy suggests that for unknown activities, that have unknown effects, in areas with unknown values a precautionary approach (not defined) should be taken. Aurora Energy considers that, if the policies in the RPS21 are crafted to achieve the purpose of the RMA and implemented accordingly, there should be more clarity in respect of the management of natural and physical resources than is implied by this Policy. Aurora Energy seeks the deletion of this Policy and notes that the absence of this Policy does not prevent the application of a precautionary approach on a case-by-case basis.	<b>Delete</b> Policy IM–P15 in its entirety.
19.	IM-M1;		Oppose in		Any consequential amendments to:
	IM-M5;		part		
	·/····································				Methods IM-M1 and IM-M5

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
	IM-E1;				
	IM-PR1;				Explanation IM-E1;
	IM-AER1				
					Principal reasons: IM-PR1
	IM-AER2				Anticipated environment results IM-AER1;
	IM-AER3				IM-AER2 and IM-AER3
					To give effect to the above relief.
	nain Topics				
AIR Policies					
20.	AIR–P6 – Impacts on	Avoid discharges to air that adversely affect mana whenua values by	Oppose in	Aurora Energy supports the rationale of this policy.	Delete AIR-P6
20.	mana whenua	having particular regard to values and areas of significance to mana	part	However, the current drafting of this policy may lead	
	values	whenua.		to unintended consequences in terms of activities	OR
				undertaken by Aurora Energy on its network,	
				particularly in regard to the deployment and use of	Amend as follows:
				temporary and back-up diesel generators. Aurora	
				Energy relies on temporary diesel generators for	Avoid, Remedy or mitigate discharges to
				unplanned outages (such as those associated with	air that adversely affect mana whenua
				emergency situations including significant weather	values by having particular regard to
				events) or for planned works, to minimise outages on	values and <u>identified</u> areas of significanc
				affected communities and the health and safety of	to mana whenua.
				staff undertaking the work. The use of these	
				generators is to maintain a consistent electricity supply in the affected area.	
				In the majority of cases, temporary generators are	
				deployed within the road reserve, but some outages	
				will require deployment on private property	
				depending on the nature, significance and location	
				of the outage. The locational need for generators is	
				functional. Aurora Energy has undertaken modelling	
				with respect to contaminants to air arising from the	
				expected use of temporary generators. Modelling	
				suggests that use of the generators used by Aurora	
				Energy would not exceed relevant NESAQ and NZAAQG criteria levels for PM10, SO2 and NO2. The	
				results indicate that emissions from the generators	
				(30kVa and 100kVA) operated by Aurora Energy	
				would result in no significant adverse health effects.	
				Aurora Energy has sought to proactively engage with	
				relevant iwi stakeholders and intends to consult on its	
				proposal for the use of diesel generators in the future.	
				However, Aurora Energy opposes the use of an avoid	
				policy, particularly since the extent of areas affected	
				is unclear. Without spatial and methodological	
				parameters, areas to be avoided cannot be	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
				objectively determined or implemented. If areas of cultural significance which are likely to be affected by the use of diesel generators can be identified (or a site is a sensitive cultural site, use alert layers to advise of sensitive cultural sites without disclosure) then there is the opportunity to avoid (where practicable given the functional needs of the asset) and in areas where it is not possible to avoid, then opportunities should be provided to remedy or mitigate.
	Environment			
Objectives 21.	CE–O5 – Activities in the coastal environment	<ul> <li>Activities in the coastal environment: <ol> <li>make efficient use of space occupied in the coastal marine area,</li> <li>are of a scale, density and design compatible with their location,</li> <li>are only provided for within appropriate locations and limits, and</li> <li>maintain or enhance public access to and along the coastal marine area, including for customary uses.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Oppose, in part	Parts of Aurora Energy's network are located within the coastal environment and may be required to be upgraded or developed in order to reinforce the supply to that area or to increase capacity to the network. As such, there may be a functional and/or operational need for Aurora Energy to locate its network in the coastal environment. Aurora Energy's view is that consistent with the NZCPS, appropriate locations for infrastructure are where they have a functional or operation need to locate in that environment.
Policies	07.00	Ι		1
22.	CE-P2 - Identification	<ul> <li>Identify the following in the coastal environment: <ol> <li>the landward extent of the coastal environment, recognising that the coastal environment includes: <ol> <li>the coastal environment includes:</li> <li>the coastal marine area,</li> <li>islands within the coastal marine area,</li> <li>are significant, including coastal lakes, lagoons, tidal estuaries, saltmarshes, coastal wetlands, and the margins of these,</li> <li>areas at risk from coastal hazards as identified in CE-P2(4),</li> <li>coastal vegetation and the habitat of indigenous coastal species including migratory birds,</li> <li>elements and features that contribute to the natural character, landscape, visual qualities or amenity values,</li> <li>items of cultural and historic heritage in the coastal marine area or on the coast,</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li></ul>	Support, in part	It is important to recognise existing electricity distribution infrastructure located in the coastal environment. Aurora Energy's network includes asse within and around the Otago Harbour and coastal areas south of Dunedin. This infrastructure represent significant capital investment that provides econom and social benefits to the coastal communities and should be recognised by this policy.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
as of ted d (or if o e)	
sset) en	
thin o be	Amend CE-O5 (3) as follows:
e ne d/or	(3) are only provided for within appropriate locations <del>and limits, or, in the</del> <u>case of infrastructure where there is a</u> <u>functional or operational need, and</u>
ire d to	
assets stal sents nomic and	Retain Policy CE-P2 in so far as it provides for the recognition of existing physical resources that have modified the coastal environment.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		h. inter-related coastal marine and terrestrial systems, including the intertidal zone, and		
		<ul> <li>physical resources and built facilities, including infrastructure, that have modified the coastal environment,</li> </ul>		
		<ol> <li>areas of water quality in the coastal marine area that are considered to have deteriorated so that it is having a significant adverse effect on ecosystems, natural habitats, or water-based recreational activities, or is restricting existing uses, such as aquaculture, shellfish gathering, and cultural activities such as mahika kai and harvesting of kaimoana,</li> </ol>		
		<ol> <li>areas of coastal water where takata whenua have a particular interest,</li> </ol>		
		<ul> <li>4) areas that are potentially affected by coastal hazards (including tsunami), giving priority to the identification of areas at high risk of being affected, and</li> </ul>		
		<ol> <li>the nationally significant surf breaks at Karitane, Papatowai, The Spit, and Whareakeake and any regionally significant surf breaks.</li> </ol>		
23.	CE–P4 – Natural character	Identify, preserve and restore the natural character of the coastal environment by:	Oppose, in part	Parts of Aurora Energy's network are located within the coastal environment and may be required to be upgraded or developed in order to reinforce the supply to that area or to increase capacity to the network. As such, there may be a functional and/or
		<ol> <li>identifying areas and values of high and outstanding natural character which may include matters such as:</li> </ol>		
		a. natural elements, processes and patterns,		operational need for Aurora Energy to locate its
		<ul> <li>biophysical, ecological, geological and geomorphological aspects,</li> </ul>		network in the coastal environment.
		<ul> <li>natural landforms such as headlands, peninsulas, cliffs, dunes, wetlands, estuaries, reefs, freshwater springs and surf breaks,</li> </ul>		The current drafting of this policy seeks to avoid any adverse effect on areas identified as having outstanding natural character in the coastal environment. That level of protection is prohibitive in
		d. the natural movement of water and sediment,		terms of providing for Aurora Energy's existing
		e. the natural darkness of the night sky,		network.
		f. places or areas that are wild or scenic,		To ensure that infrastructure is provided for in these
		g. a range of natural character from pristine to modified,		environments, Aurora Energy seek to rely on the "effects management hierarchy (other matters)" as
		h. experiential attributes, including the sounds and smell of the sea, and their context or setting,		defined in this submission
		<ol> <li>avoiding adverse effects on natural character in areas identified as having outstanding natural character,</li> </ol>		
		<ol> <li>avoiding significant adverse effects and avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects on natural character outside the areas in (2) above,</li> </ol>		
		<ol> <li>encouraging de-reclamation of redundant reclaimed land where it would restore the natural character and resources of</li> </ol>		

	Submission – decision sought by Council
vithin I to be he the nd/or its	<b>Amend</b> CE-P4 to provide a carve out for existing infrastructure in the coastal environment to be operated, maintained and upgraded by applying the effects management hierarchy (other matters).
d any	
tive in	
hese e rs)" as	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
24.	CE-P9 - Activities on	<ul> <li>the coastal marine area and provide for more public open space, and</li> <li>5) promoting activities and restoration projects that will restore natural character in the coastal environment where it has been reduced or lost.</li> <li>The strategic and co-ordinated use of land within the coastal</li> </ul>	Support, in	
24.	CE-FY - Activities on land within the coastal environment	<ol> <li>Ine strategic and co-ordinated use of land within the coastal environment is achieved by:         <ol> <li>avoiding sprawling or sporadic patterns of subdivision, use and development,</li> <li>considering the rate at which built development should be enabled to provide for the reasonably foreseeable needs of population growth without compromising the values of the coastal environment,</li> <li>recognising the importance of the provision of infrastructure to the social, economic and cultural well-being of people and communities, maintaining or enhancing public access to the coastal environment, and</li> <li>considering where activities that maintain the character of the existing built environment should be encouraged, and where activities resulting in a change in character would be acceptable.</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	support, in part	<ul> <li>Policy 6 of the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement provides direction about infrastructure activities located in the coastal environment, and in particular (a) recognise that the provision of infrastructure, the supply and transport of energy including the generation and transmission of electricity, and the extraction of minerals are activities important to the social, economic and cultural well-being of people and communities; (relevant to clause 3).</li> <li>(e) consider where and how built development on land should be controlled so that it does not compromise activities of national or regional importance that have a functional need to locate and operate in the coastal marine area.</li> <li>(h) consider how adverse visual impacts of development can be avoided in areas sensitive to such effects, such as headlands and prominent ridgelines, and as far as practicable and reasonable apply controls or conditions to avoid those effects.</li> <li>(i) set back development from the coastal marine area and other water bodies, where practicable and reasonable, to protect the natural character, open space, public access and amenity values of the coastal environment; and character, open space, public access and amenity values of the coastal marine area:</li> <li>(c) recognises that there are activities that have a functional need to be located in the coastal marine area and provide for those activities in appropriate places.</li> </ul>
25.	CE–P10 – Activities within the coastal marine area	<ul> <li>Use and development in the coastal marine area must:</li> <li>1) enable multiple uses of the coastal marine area wherever reasonable and practicable,</li> <li>2) maintain or improve the integrity, form, function and resilience of the coastal marine area, and</li> </ul>	Support, in part.	<ul> <li>This policy appears to be a reflection of RPS19 policy</li> <li>5.4.9 albeit it has been drafted with a "broad brush" approach.</li> <li>It is important to recognise Aurora Energy's electricit distribution network where it has a functional and</li> </ul>

	Submission – decision sought by Council
ement ticular re, the ne and portant peing	Amend CE-P9 by adding a new clause as follows: (5) <u>Recognise and, where appropriate,</u> provide for infrastructure with a functional or operational need to locate in the coastal environment.
lause nt on ot ial o area.	
nsitive	
able ns to	
arine icable	
d t; and e	
ve a tal es in	
oolicy rush"	<b>Retain</b> Policy CE-P10 subject to amendments that do not require compliance with point (2) where there is a functional or operational need to locate in that environment.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ol> <li>have a functional or operational need to be located in the coastal marine area, or</li> </ol>		operational need to be located in the coastal ma area.
		<ol> <li>have a public benefit or opportunity for public recreation that cannot practicably be located outside the coastal marine area.</li> </ol>		The policy has been framed conjunctively such the even if Aurora Energy can demonstrate a function and operational need to locate in that environme may not be able to maintain or improve the integr form, function and resilience of the coastal marine area, which is a new aspect that has been include in this policy from PRPS19.
Methods				
26.	CE–M3 – Regional plans	<ol> <li>Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans no later than 31 December 2028 to:         <ol> <li>map areas of deteriorated water quality in the coastal environment, in accordance with CE-P2(2) and CE-P2(3),</li> <li>map the areas and characteristics of, and access to, nationally and regionally significant surf breaks,</li> <li>require development to be set back from the coastal marine area where practicable to protect the natural character, open space, public access and amenity values of the coastal environment,</li> <li>manage the discharge of contaminants into coastal water by:</li></ol></li></ol>		The functional and operational needs of Aurora Energy's electricity distribution network is such that not always practicable to setback infrastructure fro the coastal marine area. Although Aurora Energy's preference would be to ensure that it is, there are often instances where remote or isolated communities in proximity to the coastal marine are present limited opportunities for the placement of infrastructure elsewhere than the CMA. For that reason, Aurora Energy considers it important that reference to "where practicable" is maintained. Amendments are required to this method consister with Aurora Energy's submission on CE-P3.
		environment and minimising adverse effects on the life- supporting capacity of water within any mixing zone,		
		<ul> <li>b. prohibiting the discharge of untreated human sewage directly to water in the coastal environment,</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>prohibiting the discharge of treated human sewage directly to water in the coastal environment unless:</li> </ul>		
		(i) there has been adequate consideration of alternative methods, sites and routes for undertaking the discharge, and		
		<ul> <li>(ii) it can be demonstrated that the proposal has been informed by consultation with tangata whenua and the affected community, and</li> </ul>		
		(a) reducing the discharge of sediment by:		
		<ul> <li>(i) requiring that subdivision, use, or development will not increase sedimentation of the coastal marine area or other coastal water,</li> </ul>		

	Submission – decision sought by Council
arine	
at	
nat nal	
ent it	
grity,	
е	
led	
	Retain reference to "where practicable"
it it is	at (1)(3).
rom ''s	Amend CE-M3 such that the operation,
÷	maintenance and upgrade of
	infrastructure is provided for in
ea	accordance with the effects
f	management hierarchy (other matters).
ent	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/	Discussion
		(ii) controlling the impacts of vegetation removal on sedimentation including the impacts of harvesting plantation forestry, and	Support	
		(iii) reducing sediment loadings in runoff and in stormwater systems through controls on land use activities, and		
		(b) avoiding cross-contamination between sewage and stormwater systems where new systems are proposed and remedy cross-contamination where they currently exist in established systems, and		
		(c) having particular regard to:		
		(i) the sensitivity of the receiving environment,		
		<ul> <li>(ii) the nature of the contaminants to be discharged, the contaminant concentration thresholds not to be exceeded to achieve the required water quality in the receiving environment, and the risks if that concentration of contaminants is exceeded,</li> </ul>		
		(iii) the capacity of the receiving environment to assimilate the contaminants, and		
		(iv) avoiding significant adverse effects on ecosystems and habitats after reasonable mixing,		
		(2) control the use and development of the coastal marine area, in order to:		
		a) preserve the natural character; natural landscapes, features, and seascapes; and indigenous biodiversity of the coastal marine area in accordance with CE–P4, CE–P5 and CE–P6, and		
		<ul> <li>b) manage Otago's nationally and regionally significant surf breaks in accordance with CE–P7,</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>(3) include provisions requiring the adoption of a precautionary approach to assessing the effects of activities in the coastal environment in accordance with IM-P15 where:</li> </ul>		
		(a) there is scientific uncertainty, or		
		(b) there are potentially significant or irreversible adverse effects,		

Submission – decision sought by Council

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
27.	CE-M4 - District plans	<ul> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>(1) control the location, density and form of subdivision in the coastal environment (outside the coastal marine area),</li> <li>(2) control the location, scale and form of buildings and structures in the coastal environment (outside the coastal marine area),</li> <li>(3) control the location and scale of earthworks and vegetation planting, modification and removal in the coastal environment (outside the coastal marine area),</li> <li>(4) require resource consent for uses of land on reclamations that have occurred after the date this RPS becomes operative,</li> <li>(5) provide for the establishment of esplanade reserves and esplanade strips,</li> <li>(6) include provisions requiring the adoption of a precautionary approach to assessing the effects of activities in the coastal environment in accordance with IM-P15 where: <ul> <li>(a) there is scientific uncertainty, or</li> <li>(b) there are potentially significant or irreversible adverse effects,</li> </ul> </li> <li>(7) provide for walking access to the coastal marine area in accordance with Policy 19 of the NZCPS,</li> <li>(8) control vehicle access to the coastal marine area in accordance with Policy 20 of the NZCPS,</li> <li>(9) recognise takata whenua needs for papakāika, marae and associated developments within the coastal environment and make appropriate provision for them,</li> <li>(10) provide for and encourage activities undertaken for the primary purpose of restoring natural character, features, or</li> </ul>	Support Oppose	Amendments are required to this method consiste with Aurora Energy's submission on CE-P3.
		landscapes in accordance with CE–P4 and CE–P6.		
Principal re	easons			
28.	CE-PR1 – Principal reasons	<ul> <li>The coastal environment includes the coastal marine area, islands within the coastal marine area and the area landward of the line of mean high-water springs. The landward extent of the coastal environment is determined by the natural and physical elements, features and processes set out in Policy 1(2) of the NZCPS. The importance of the coastal environment is reflected in the statutory resource management framework, particularly as identified in sections 6 and 7 of the RMA 1991 and as set out in the NZCPS.</li> <li>A number of activities occur within or affect the coastal environment including urban development, recreational activities, transport infrastructure, port activities, infrastructure, energy generation and transmission, food production and other farming activities, plantation forestry, rural industry and mineral extraction. These activities can be important contributors to the existing and future health and well-being of communities. However, poorly located or managed activities can have adverse effects that compromise the values of the coastal</li> </ul>	Oppose, in part	CE-PR1 paints a broad summary of the application the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement in term how the coastal environment is to be preserved. In the case of infrastructure, and in particular, infrastructure of regional significance (including su transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure) the NZCPS seeks to recognise and provide for its ongoing operation where there is a functional or operational need for to locate in the coastal environment. Aurora Energy owns infrastructure in the coastal environment which has a functional and/or operational need to be located in that environme Accordingly, amendments have been sought to th section to provide for the operation, maintenance

	Submission – decision sought by Council
ent	<b>Amend</b> CE-M3 such that the operation, maintenance and upgrade of infrastructure is provided for in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (Other Matters).
on of ms of	Amend CE-PR1 as follows:
	A number of activities occur within or affect the coastal environment including urban development, recreational
ub- ity	activities, transport infrastructure, port activities, infrastructure, energy generation and transmission, food production and other farming activities,
or it	plantation forestry, rural industry and mineral extraction.
ent.	Some activities, particularly infrastructure have a functional or operational need to locate in the coastal environment and are
this e	important to the social, economic and cultural well-being of people and

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		environment such as natural character, biophysical processes, water quality, surf breaks, indigenous biodiversity and natural landscapes.		and upgrade of that infrastructure which ought to be reflected in this section.	<u>communities should be recognised and</u> <u>provided for.</u> These activities can be important
					nese activities can be important contributors to the existing and future health and well-being of communities. However, poorly located or managed activities can have adverse effects that compromise the values of the coastal environment such as natural character, biophysical processes, water quality, surf breaks, indigenous biodiversity and natural landscapes.
29.	CE-E1;		Oppose in		Any consequential amendments to:
27.	CE-PR1; CE-AER1; AND		part		Explanation: E1
	CE-AER6				Principal reasons: PR1
					Anticipated environment results: AER1 AND AER6
	d Fresh Water				To give effect to the above relief.
LF-FW - Fre					
Objectives			1		
30.	LF–FW–O10 – Natural character	The natural character of wetlands, lakes and rivers and their margins is preserved and protected from inappropriate subdivision, use and development.	Support, in part	Aurora Energy supports this objective as a general reflection of s 6(b) of the RMA. However, in Aurora Energy's view the operation of regionally significant infrastructure is an appropriate activity to be located in outstanding natural environments outside of the coastal environment.	<b>Retain</b> Objective LF-FW-O10 as notified.
Policies	-		-		
31.	LF–FW–P9 – Protecting natural wetlands	Protect natural wetlands by: 1. avoiding a reduction in their values or extent unless: a. the loss of values or extent arises from:	Support in part	Without appropriate carve-outs for specified infrastructure, this policy could operate as a prohibition on the installation of new electricity	<b>Replace</b> "specific" in Policy LF-FW-P9 1(a)(vi) with "specified".
		<ul> <li>i. the customary harvest of food or resources undertaken in accordance with tikaka Māori,</li> <li>ii. restoration activities,</li> <li>iii. scientific research,</li> </ul>		infrastructure within a natural wetland. That would be contrary to the discretionary activity pathway set out at regulation 45 of the National Environmental Standards for Freshwater 2020.	<b>Retain</b> (1)(a)(vi); 1(b)(i) and (iii) which provides a carve out for specified infrastructure and other infrastructure.
		<ul><li>iv. the sustainable harvest of sphagnum moss,</li><li>v. the construction or maintenance of wetland utility structures,</li></ul>		For that reason, Aurora Energy supports the reference	<b>Delete</b> 1(b)(ii).
		<ul> <li>vi. the maintenance or operation of specific infrastructure, or other infrastructure,</li> <li>vii. natural hazard works, or</li> <li>b. the Regional Council is satisfied that:</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>The maintenance or operation of specified infrastructure or other infrastructure; and</li> <li>the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure,</li> </ul>	Any further or consequential relief to algin this policy with the National Environmental Standards for Freshwater 2020.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
32.	LF-FW-P12 - Protecting outstanding water bodies	<ul> <li>i. the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure,</li> <li>ii. the specified infrastructure will provide significant national or regional benefits,</li> <li>iii. there is a functional need for the specified infrastructure in that location,</li> <li>iv. the effects of the activity on indigenous biodiversity are managed by applying either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</li> <li>v. the other effects of the activity (excluding those managed under (1)(b)(iv)) are managed by applying the effects management hierarchy, and</li> <li>2. not granting resource consents for activities under (1)(b) unless the Regional Council is satisfied that:</li> <li>a. the application demonstrates how each step of the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) will be applied to the loss of values or extent of the natural wetland, and</li> <li>b. any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v).</li> <li>The significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies are:</li> <li>(1) identified in the relevant regional and district plans, and</li> <li>(2) protected by avoiding adverse effects on those values.</li> </ul>	Oppose, in part	<ul> <li>there is a functional need for the specified infrastructure in that location,</li> <li>However, Aurora Energy does not support the inclusion of "the specified infrastructure will provid significant national or regional benefits" which goe beyond regulation 45.</li> <li>The Policy seeks to protect outstanding water bood by avoiding adverse effects on the outstanding values of those waterbodies. This avoidance approach is considered to be impractical for infrastructure that may have functional and operational requirements to locate in such areas.</li> <li>Aurora Energy is of the view that there should be scope within the policy to allow for the remediation mitigation of adverse effects, associated with infrastructure. It is important that all of Aurora Energy's network be subject to an effects management hierarchy that is consistent and workable for its infrastructure, while also providing appropriate levels of effects mitigation.</li> <li>The inclusion of a reference to the proposed effect management hierarchy (Other Matters) in this policy will achieve this outcome.</li> </ul>
33.	LF–FW–P13 – Preserving natural character	Preserve the natural character of lakes and rivers and their beds and margins by:         1) avoiding the loss of values or extent of a river, unless:         a. there is a functional need for the activity in that location, and         b. the effects of the activity are managed by applying:	Support, in part	Aurora Energy is supportive of the proposed carve out in this policy for activities that have a function need to be located within the lakes and rivers and their beds and margins. River and lake beds, and their riparian margins, often provide the location for new electricity distribution assets, many of which n not be able to locate elsewhere.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
ed	
vide goes	
odies	Amend Policy LF-FW-P12 as follows
)	
	The significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies are:
as. e	(1) identified in the relevant regional and district plans, and
ation or	(2) protected by avoiding adverse effects on those values; or
ng	(3) In the case of infrastructure, managed in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.
fects policy	
rve onal	Amend add new clause (9), as follows:
nd nfor h may	(9) despite (1)-(8), in the case of infrastructure the effects of the activity are managed by the effect's management hierarchy (other matters) in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ul> <li>i. for effects on indigenous biodiversity, either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</li> <li>ii. for other effects, the effects management hierarchy,</li> <li>2) not granting resource consent for activities in (1) unless Otago Regional Council is satisfied that: <ul> <li>a. the application demonstrates how each step of the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b) will be applied to the loss of values or extent of the river, and</li> <li>b. any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b),</li> </ul> </li> <li>3) establishing environmental flow and level regimes and water quality standards that support the health and well-being of the water body,</li> <li>4) wherever possible, sustaining the form and function of a water body that reflects its natural behaviours,</li> <li>5) recognising and implementing the restrictions in Water Conservation Orders,</li> <li>6) preventing the impounding or control of the level of Lake Wanaka,</li> <li>7) preventing modification that would reduce the braided character of a river, and</li> <li>8) controlling the use of water and land that would adversely affect the natural character of the water body.</li> </ul>		Aurora Energy is of the view that there should also be scope within the policy to allow for the remediation mitigation of adverse effects, associated with infrastructure. It is important that all of Aurora Energy's network be subject to an effects management hierarchy that is consistent and workable for its infrastructure, while also providing appropriate levels of effects mitigation. The inclusion of a reference to the proposed effects management hierarchy (Other Matters) in this polic will achieve this outcome.
Methods		direct the haloral character of the water body.		
34.	LF-FW-M6; LF-FW-E3; LF-FW-PR3		Oppose in part	
Topics				
	systems and indigenous	s biodiversity		
Policies 35.	ECO–P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka	<ul> <li>Except as provided for by ECO-P4 and ECO-P5, protect significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka by: <ol> <li>avoiding adverse effects that result in:</li> <li>any reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant) identified under ECO-P2(1), or</li> <li>any loss of Kāi Tahu values, and</li> <li>after (1), applying the biodiversity effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6, and</li> <li>prior to significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified in accordance with</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Oppose	<ul> <li>This policy is effectively a prohibition on the operation, maintenance and upgrade of Aurora Energy's network. Furthermore, the policy does not take into account the functional or operational needs for Aurora Energy's regionally significant infrastructure.</li> <li>The policy, without significant amendment, would constrain the ability to install regionally significant infrastructure, which by nature of its existence has regional benefits.</li> </ul>

	Submission – decision sought by Council
lso be	
ation or	
00	
ng	
fects policy	
	Any consequential amendments to:
	Methods: LF-FW-M6
	Explanation: LF-FW-E3
	Principal reasons: LF-FW-PRS
	To give effect to the above relief.
a	Delete ECO-P3
not I	OR
	Amend by adding a carve out for
	infrastructure in which the policy framework of EIT-INF applies, including by
uld nt	adding the following text:
ias	or, in the case of infrastructure, adverse effects are managed in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		ECO–P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance with IM–P15.		Furthermore, it is unclear how this policy will I give effect to the impending national policy statement for indigenous biodiversity. It is important that sufficient scope be provided to enable amendments to this policy and others to incorporate and give a fix to that higher order document.	OR <b>Amend</b> as necessary to give effect to the NPSIB. Any consequential amendments to ECO– M4 – Regional plans to give effect to the relief sought.
36.	ECO–P4 – Provision for new activities	<ul> <li>Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity by following the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy set out in ECO–P6 when making decisions on plans, applications for resource consent or notices of requirement for the following activities in significant natural areas, or where they may adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka: <ol> <li>the development or upgrade of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure that has a functional or operational need to locate within the relevant significant natural area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka,</li> <li>the development of papakāika, marae and ancillary facilities associated with customary activities on Māori land,</li> <li>the use of Māori land in a way that will make a significant contribution to enhancing the social, cultural or economic wellbeing of takata whenua,</li> <li>activities that are for the purpose of protecting, restoring or ecosystems that are taoka, or</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Oppose	Aurora Energy is concerned about the wide-ranging application of this policy to all indigenous biodiversity in New Zealand, including biodiversity that does not qualify an area as a Significant Natural Area which appears inconsistent with the national direction in the NPSIB	Delete policy ECO-P4         OR         Amend by adding a carve out for infrastructure in which the policy framework of EIT-INF applies, including by adding the following text:         or, in the case of infrastructure, adverse effects are managed in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.         OR         Amend the policy to give effect to the NPSIB.
37.	ECO–P5 – Existing activities in significant natural areas	<ul> <li>Except as provided for by ECO-P4, provide for existing activities within significant natural areas and that may adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka, if:</li> <li>1) the continuation of an existing activity will not lead to the loss (including through cumulative loss) of extent or degradation of the ecological integrity of any significant natural area or indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, and</li> <li>2) the adverse effects of an existing activity are no greater in character, spatial extent, intensity or scale than they were before this RPS became operative.</li> </ul>	Oppose	<ul> <li>ECO-P5 appears to be the counterpart to new activities provided for in ECO-P4. However, it is unclear whether the policy extends to the operation, maintenance and upgrade of existing activities, including all of Aurora's existing electricity distribution network as at the date of the PRPS21 becoming operative.</li> <li>Furthermore, inherent in the operation and maintenance of an electricity distribution network is the requirement to maintain vegetation (indigenous or otherwise) in proximity to Aurora Energy's network as set out in the Electricity (Hazards from Trees) Regulations 2003.</li> </ul>	Delete Policy ECO-P5 OR Amend the policy to provide for the ongoing operation, maintenance and upgrade of existing infrastructure, such as the inclusion of a new (3) (3) or, in the case of infrastructure, adverse effects are managed in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.
38.	ECO–P6 – Maintaining indigenous biodiversity	Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity (excluding the coastal environment and areas managed under ECO–P3) by applying the following biodiversity effects management hierarchy in decision- making on applications for resource consent and notices of requirement:	Oppose, in part	Aurora Energy supports the use of an effects management hierarchy particularly with respect to infrastructure, that is constrained in its ability to locate by its functional and operational requirements.	<b>Amend</b> by removing the term "demonstrably" and providing a carve out for infrastructure in which the policy framework of EIT-INF applies, including by adding the following text:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ol> <li>avoid adverse effects as the first priority,</li> <li>where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, they are remedied,</li> <li>where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided or remedied, they are mitigated,</li> <li>where there are residual adverse effects after avoidance, remediation, and mitigation, then the residual adverse effects are offset in accordance with APP3, and</li> <li>if biodiversity offsetting of residual adverse effects is not possible, then:         <ul> <li>the residual adverse effects are compensated for in accordance with APP4, and</li> <li>if the residual adverse effects cannot be compensated for in accordance with APP4, the activity is avoided.</li> </ul> </li> </ol>		
Methods			1	
39.	ECO-M4 - Regional plans	<ul> <li>Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to: <ol> <li>if the requirements of ECO-P3 and ECO-P6 can be met, provide for the use of lakes and rivers and their beds, including: <ol> <li>a. activities undertaken for the purposes of pest control or maintaining or enhancing the habitats of indigenous fauna, and</li> <li>the maintenance and use of existing structures (including infrastructure), and</li> <li>infrastructure that has a functional or operational need to be sited or operated in a particular location,</li> </ol> </li> <li>(2) require: <ol> <li>resource consent applications to include information that demonstrates that the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6 have been followed, and</li> <li>that consents are not granted if the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6 have not been followed, and</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li></ul>	Oppose, in part	Aurora Energy repeats its submission with respect the ECO-P3 and ECO-P6 noting that policy effectively acts as a prohibition on the operation, maintenant and upgrade on Aurora Energy's network.
40.	ECO–M5 – District plans	<ul> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to: <ol> <li>if the requirements of ECO-P3 and ECO-P6 are met, provide for the use of land and the surface of water bodies including: <ol> <li>a. activities undertaken for the purposes of pest control or maintaining or enhancing the habitats of indigenous fauna, and</li> <li>the maintenance and use of existing structures (including infrastructure), and</li> <li>infrastructure that has a functional or operational need to be sited or operated in a particular location,</li> </ol> </li> <li>2) control the clearance or modification of indigenous vegetation,</li> </ol></li></ul>	Oppose, in part	Aurora Energy repeats its submission with respect to ECO-P3 noting that policy effectively acts as a prohibition on the operation, maintenance and upgrade on Aurora Energy's network.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
	or, in the case of infrastructure, adverse effects are managed in accordance with EIT-INF-P13. OR Amend as necessary to give effect to the NPSIB.
ion with respect to policy effectively ation, maintenance network.	<b>Delete</b> reference to ECO-P3. Any consequential relief to give effect to Aurora Energy's submission on ECO-P3 to ECO-P6.
on with respect to vely acts as a ntenance and vork.	Delete reference to ECO-P3. AND Amend (2) as follows: control the clearance or modification of indigenous vegetation, including where required to provide for the ongoing
	operation, maintenance and upgrade of infrastructure.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ul> <li>3) promote the establishment of esplanade reserves and esplanade strips, particularly where they would support ecological corridors, buffering or connectivity between significant natural areas,</li> <li>4) require: <ul> <li>a. resource consent applications to include information that demonstrates that the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6 have been followed, and</li> <li>b. that consents are not granted if the sequential steps in the effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6 have not been followed, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>5) provide for activities undertaken for the purpose of restoring or enhancing the habitats of indigenous fauna, and</li> <li>6) prohibit the planting of wilding conifer species listed in APP5 within areas identified as significant natural areas.</li> </ul>			Any consequential relief to give effect to Aurora Energy's submission on ECO-P3 to ECO-P6.
41.	ECO-E1; ECO-PR1;		Oppose in part		Any consequential amendments to: Explanation: ECO-E1
					Principal reasons: ECO-PR1
					To give effect to the above relief.
	y, infrastructure and tra	nsport			
EN - Energy	<u>y</u>				
Policies 42.	EIT-EN-P8 - Small and community scale distributed electricity generation	Provide for small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities that increase the local community's resilience and security of energy supply.	Support, in part	Aurora Energy supports the provision for small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities within Otago. This is important in areas where substantial upgrades to the local electricity distribution network is not economically viable and provides remote communities such as Glenorchy, the opportunity to explore solar power and battery storage systems to reduce peak demand. More generally, small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities will play an increasingly important role in meeting national decarbonisation/electrification targets. Aurora Energy considers that recognition of the symbiosis between small and community scale generation activities and the distribution network is required and that provision for the distribution network with respect to those activities should be encouraged.	Amend Policy EIT-EN-P8 as follows: Provide for small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities that increase the local community's resilience and security of energy supply, including by providing for connection to the distribution network.
Policies	EIT-EN-P8 – Small and community scale distributed electricity generation	generation activities that increase the local community's resilience		community scale distributed electricity generation activities within Otago. This is important in areas where substantial upgrades to the local electricity distribution network is not economically viable and provides remote communities such as Glenorchy, the opportunity to explore solar power and battery storage systems to reduce peak demand. More generally, small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities will play an increasingly important role in meeting national decarbonisation/electrification targets. Aurora Energy considers that recognition of the symbiosis between small and community scale generation activities and the distribution network is required and that provision for the distribution network with respect to those activities should be	Provide for small and community scale distributed electricity generation activities that increase the local community's resilience and security of energy supply, including by providing for connection to

Submission – decision sought by Council
Any consequential relief to give effect to Aurora Energy's submission on ECO-P3 to ECO-P6.
Any consequential amendments to:
Explanation: ECO-E1
Principal reasons: ECO-PR1
To give effect to the above relief.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
43.	EIT–INF–O4 – Provision of infrastructure	Effective, efficient and resilient infrastructure enables the people and communities of Otago to provide for their social and cultural well- being, their health and safety, and supports sustainable economic development and growth within the region within environmental limits.	Oppose, in part	The terminology "within environmental limits" has been pre-emptively carried over from the Natural and Built Environments Exposure draft and carries little meaning in the current RMA context. Furthermore, it is unclear when any environmental limits will be imposed or the extent to which they will be applicable to regionally significant infrastructure. Although we can expect to see this language being used more and more it does not provide any guidance in the current context. Aurora Energy would support the use of this language in a later variation once the NBEA has been passed into law.	<b>Delete</b> EIT-INF-O4 Or <b>Amend</b> to remove the wording "within environmental limits" in this provision and elsewhere in RPS21.
44.	EIT–INF–O5 – Integration	Development of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure, as well as land use change, occurs in a co-ordinated manner to minimise adverse effects on the environment and increase efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the infrastructure.	Support	Aurora Energy supports the integrated development of infrastructure recognising that nationally and regionally significant infrastructure have a higher importance in terms of their function and benefits to the Otago Region.	<b>Retain</b> Objective EIT-INF-O5 as notified.
45.	EIT-INF-O6 - Long- term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure	Long-term investment in, and planning for, electricity transmission infrastructure, and its integration with land use, is sustained.	Support, in part	<ul> <li>New Zealand is embarking on a journey to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050. There is consensus that electrification of the transport sector provides one of the lowest cost opportunities to decarbonise the economy.</li> <li>One of the goals of the Government is an increase in the take up of electric vehicles. This will require an increase in the supporting infrastructure which is predominantly driven at the electricity distribution level. Therefore, long-term investment in and planning for electricity transmission and distribution should be promoted to ensure Otago can meet its regional obligations.</li> <li>Long term planning for the National Grid and distribution network will also support provision of additional infrastructure to support the objectives of the NPSUD and provision of adequate housing and business land capacity.</li> <li>Using the words electricity transmission infrastructure can cause confusion and is not a term that is defined within the plan. Furthermore, parts of Aurora Energy's network include sub-transmission infrastructure. Aurora Energy submits that the objective should be reworded to utilise defined terms to ensure that the objective is clear and unambiguous.</li> </ul>	Amend Policy EIT-INF-O6 - Long-term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure as follows: Long-term investment in, and planning for the national grid and distribution network electricity transmission infrastructure, and its integration with land use, is sustained.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
Policies					1
46.	EIT–INF–P10 – Recognising resource requirements	Decision making on the allocation or use of natural and physical resources must take into account the needs of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure.	Support in part	The intention of the policy is supported on the basis that land uses that rely on natural and physical resource ought to take into account electricity distribution infrastructure, particularly insofar as those activities give rise to potential reverse sensitivity issues. The policy, as notified, has been drafted at a high level that it is unclear what the "needs" of NSI and RSI are and how activities take them into account. Given the terms "functional needs" and "operational needs" are defined in PRPS21 it is considered that they should be included to provide focus and direction to this policy.	Amend Policy EIT-INF-P10 as follows: Decision making on the allocation or use of natural and physical resources must take into account the <u>functional and</u> <u>operational</u> needs of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure.
47.	EIT–INF–P11 – Operation and maintenance	<ul> <li>Except as provided for by ECO-P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while: <ol> <li>avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and</li> <li>if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects, minimising adverse effects.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Oppose, in part	For the reasons set out earlier in this submission, Aurora Energy is concerned about the wide-ranging application of Policy ECO-P4 to all indigenous biodiversity in New Zealand, including biodiversity that does not qualify an area as a Significant Natural Area.	<b>Delete</b> reference to ECO-P4 OR, any consequential amendments required to give effect to the NPSIB. Otherwise <b>retain</b> policy.
48.	EIT–INF–P12 – Upgrades and development	<ul> <li>Provide for upgrades to, and development of, nationally or regionally significant infrastructure while ensuring that: <ol> <li>infrastructure is designed and located, as far as practicable, to maintain functionality during and after natural hazard events,</li> <li>it is, as far as practicable, co-ordinated with long-term land use planning, and</li> <li>increases efficiency in the delivery, operation or use of the infrastructure.</li> </ol></li></ul>	Support, in part	<ul> <li>Aurora Energy supports the provision for upgrades to and development of its electricity distribution network. This will be particularly important over the next 5-10 years as Aurora Energy carries out significant investment to its network in accordance with its Customised Price Quality Path, approved by the Commerce Commission in March 2021. The investment in the network will enable Aurora Energy to</li> <li>a) Address historical under-investment that has resulted in degraded infrastructure;</li> <li>b) Expand and enhance existing levels of infrastructure renewal;</li> <li>c) Invest in growth and security to support growth and new electricity connections; and</li> <li>d) Lay the foundations for electrification and decarbonisation activities.</li> <li>It is therefore important that the ability to upgrade and develop the network is expanded beyond just those assets which are considered regionally significant. It should be widened to allow for "infrastructure' in general.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Amend Policy EIT-INF-P12 as follows:</li> <li>Provide for upgrades to, and development of, nationally or regionally significant infrastructure while ensuring that: <ol> <li>infrastructure is it is designed and located, as far as practicable, to maintain functionality during and after natural hazard events,</li> <li>it is, as far as practicable, coordinated with long-term land use planning, and</li> <li>increases efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the infrastructure is efficient.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>
49.	EIT–INF–P13 – Locating and managing effects of infrastructure	When providing for new infrastructure outside the coastal environment: (1) avoid, as the first priority, locating infrastructure in all of the following:	Oppose	The supply of electricity is critical to the Otago region. Businesses and the larger community rely on the availability of electricity to function.	<b>Delete</b> policy, OR
		a. significant natural areas,			<b>Replace</b> the policy as follows:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ul> <li>b. outstanding natural features and landscapes,</li> <li>c. natural wetlands,</li> <li>d. outstanding water bodies,</li> <li>e. areas of high or outstanding natural character,</li> <li>f. areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage,</li> <li>g. wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights, and</li> <li>h. areas of high recreational and high amenity value, and</li> <li>(2) if it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the functional or operational needs of the infrastructure manage adverse effects as follows:</li> <li>a) for nationally or regionally significant infrastructure:</li> <li>i. in significant natural areas, in accordance with ECO-P4,</li> <li>ii. in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF,</li> <li>iii. in outstanding water bodies, in accordance with LF-P12,</li> <li>iv. in other areas listed in EIT-INF-P13 (1) above, minimise the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance, and</li> <li>b) for all infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant, avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance.</li> </ul>		It is of the utmost importance to provide for the protection of strategic infrastructure such as the electricity distribution network in the RPS21. Aurora Energy operates an extensive electricity distribution network, including numerous sub- transmission and distribution lines, substations and other network assets to provide electricity supply to the Dunedin, Queenstown Lakes and Central Otago communities. Aurora Energy will also need to expand its network in the future to continue to meet demand for servicing as communities grow. It is essential that Aurora Energy's distribution network, is able to connect people wherever they may be located, including through reinforcing and improving the resilience of Aurora Energy's existing network. For those reasons, it is important that all of Aurora Energy's network be subject to an effects management hierarchy that is consistent and workable for its infrastructure, while also providing appropriate levels of effects mitigation. While Aurora Energy's preference is to seek to avoid locating infrastructure in sensitive locations, there will be instances where this is not possible or practicable. For example, within the Queenstown Lakes District, where 97% of the district is subject to an Outstanding Natural Landscape overlay. Given the scope of the effects management hierarchy (other matters) proposed much of the complicated drafting of this clause can be removed. It is expected that the suggested approach will provide a clear, workable and appropriate mechanism for operating Aurora Energy's network across various environments outside the coastal	<ul> <li>Provide for new infrastructure outside the coastal environment by:</li> <li>(1) avoiding, as the first priority, locating infrastructure in all of the following: <ul> <li>a. significant natural areas,</li> <li>b. outstanding natural features and landscapes,</li> <li>c. natural wetlands,</li> <li>d. outstanding water bodies,</li> <li>e. areas of high or outstanding natural character,</li> <li>f. areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage,</li> <li>g. wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights, and</li> <li>h. areas of high recreational and high amenity value, <u>or</u>,</li> </ul> </li> <li>2) if it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) because of the functional or operational needs of infrastructure, manage adverse effects as follows: <ul> <li>a. in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF, and</li> <li>b. for other locations applying the effects management hierarchy (other matters).</li> </ul> </li> <li>Any further or consequential relief so that in the event of conflict between EIT-INF-P13 and any other policy in the regional policy statement then EIT-INF-P13 applies.</li> </ul>
50.	EIT–INF–P14 – Decision making considerations	<ul> <li>When considering proposals to develop or upgrade infrastructure:</li> <li>1) require consideration of alternative sites, methods and designs if adverse effects are potentially significant or irreversible, and</li> <li>2) utilise the opportunity of substantial upgrades of infrastructure to reduce adverse effects that result from the existing infrastructure, including on sensitive activities.</li> </ul>	Oppose	environment. It is accepted that consideration of alternative sites is an appropriate measure in terms of assessing the efficacy of a particular proposal for infrastructure. However, in the case of developing or upgrading Aurora Energy's existing network functional or operational needs dictate the scope of options that can be assessed and implemented. For that reason, consideration of the functional or operational needs should be incorporated into this policy.	Delete Policy EIT-INF-P14 OR Amend policy by adding a new (3) as follows: (3) by taking into account the functional and operational needs of infrastructure.
51.	EIT–INF–P15 – Protecting nationally or regionally	Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,	Support, in part	Aurora Energy supports the inclusion of a policy that seeks to manage activities that may be incompatible	<b>Retain</b> Policy EIT-INF-P15 provided that Significant Electricity Distribution

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
	significant infrastructure	and/or where they may compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure.		with the operation of its electricity distribution network.	Infrastructure is included in the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure;
				However, the definition of "regionally significant infrastructure" excludes "Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure" (as defined in this	Or as consequential relief to that submission, <b>amend</b> the policy as follows:
				submission) which was previously provided for by RPS19 policy 4.4.5 where it sought to Identify significant electricity distribution infrastructure and	Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or
				manage effects of potentially incompatible activities through methods such as corridors.	regionally significant infrastructure <u>and</u> <u>significant electricity distribution</u> <u>infrastructure</u> , and/or where they may
				Although the drafting of that policy could have been improved by including a method (addressed below), it served an important function in terms of recognising and providing for this type of infrastructure.	compromise the functional or operational needs of that infrastructure.
52.	EIT–INF–P16 – Providing for electricity transmission and the	Maintain a secure and sustainable electricity supply in Otago by: 1) providing for development of, and upgrades to, the electricity transmission network and requiring, as far as practicable, its integration with land use	Oppose	Aurora Energy supports this policy to the extent that it seeks to maintain a secure and sustainable electricity supply in Otago. However, the drafting of the sub-	<b>Delete</b> Policy EIT-INF-P16 OR
	National Grid	<ul> <li>integration with land use,</li> <li>2) considering the requirements of and constraints on the functional or operational needs of the electricity transmission network,</li> <li>3) providing for the efficient and effective development,</li> </ul>		clauses to this policy do little to provide for that outcome and require significant amendment. The term "electricity transmission network" has not been defined, so the extent/scope of this policy is	<b>Amend</b> as follows to split out a separate policy with respect to the distribution network:
		<ul> <li>operation, maintenance, and upgrading of the National Grid,</li> <li>enabling the reasonable operation, maintenance and minor upgrade requirements of established electricity transmission</li> </ul>		unknown. Aurora Energy expects that Transpower New Zealand	Recognise and provide for the distribution network by: (1) providing for development and
		<ul> <li>assets, and</li> <li>5) minimising the adverse effects of the electricity transmission network on urban amenity, and avoiding adverse effects on</li> </ul>		Limited will make a submission that will seek to provide a bespoke approach for the National Grid. That has generally been appropriate given the	upgrade, and requiring, as far as practicable, its integration with land use;
		town centres, areas of high amenity or recreational value and existing sensitive activities.		National Grid is supported by a National Policy Statement. For that reason, it is appropriate for Aurora	(2) <u>Providing for the functional and</u> operational needs of the distribution
				Energy's distribution network to be provided for, on the basis that it is the fundamental cog between the National Grid and electricity supply to consumers. Therefore, electricity supply to consumers can only be	<ul> <li><u>network;</u></li> <li>(3) <u>Enabling the operation, maintenance</u> and minor upgrading of existing distribution network.</li> </ul>
				provided for to the extent that the electricity distribution network is provided for.	<ul> <li>(4) <u>Minimising, as far as practicable,</u> <u>adverse effects of the distribution</u> <u>network on existing land uses,</u></li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>Resilient, efficient and effective electricity supply from</li> <li>Aurora Energy's network is supported by: <ul> <li>a) the ability to operate and maintain the</li> <li>network, particularly through minor upgrading</li> <li>i.e. pole replacement, new conductors,</li> <li>installation of mid-span poles, etc. and</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>including amenity values.</li> <li>(5) Identifying electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure and managing effects of potentially incompatible activities.</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>b) The development of new electricity sub- transmission infrastructure to reinforce the existing network</li> </ul>	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
53.	EIT–INF–P17 – Urban growth and infrastructure	Provide for development infrastructure and additional infrastructure required to service existing, planned and expected urban growth demands in the short, medium and long term, taking in account UFD– P1 to UFD–P10.	Support	As Otago grapples with an increasing housing crisis and continues to adapt to climate change it is important that development of existing infrastructure and additional infrastructure (which includes the provision of electricity supply) is a key consideration in terms of the provision of infrastructure for urban growth.	Retain policy as notified.
54.	EIT-INF-PX	N/A	N/A	Aurora Energy is concerned that the existing policy suite in HAZ-NH does not adequately provide for the ongoing nature of upgrades and developments to the distribution network to adapt to and respond to the effects of climate change and how that will increase the frequency of or magnitude of natural hazards in Otago. In Aurora Energy's view, developing its network to respond to the effects of climate change is an ongoing task that will inevitably require long-term strategic planning and integrated management with other lifeline utilities. This form of adaptation is not necessarily "event-based" in the sense that Aurora Energy intends to carry out works to its network over time with the effect of increasing the resilience of the network to respond to the effects of climate change, as well as reinforcing the network with respect to increased electricity demand. To that end, Aurora Energy has sought an additional provision be added to HAZ-NH to provide for the ongoing adaptation to climate change which will inevitably require incremental upgrades to the	Add a new policy to EIT-INF- as follows: <u>EIT-INF-PX</u> <u>Encourage and support the development</u> <u>or upgrade of infrastructure necessary to</u> <u>mitigate risks of natural hazards including</u> <u>the adverse effects of climate change.</u>
				network as opposed to responding to isolated events.	
Methods			I	1	
55.	EIT–INF–M4 – Regional plans	Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to: (1) manage the adverse effects of infrastructure activities that: (a) are in the beds of lakes and rivers, or (b) are in the coastal marine area, or (c) involve the taking, use, damming or diversion of water or, (d) involve the discharge of water or contaminants, and (2) require the prioritisation of sites for infrastructure where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.	Support, in part	Aurora Energy supports the prioritisation of particular sites where adverse effects can be avoided to the extent that this is practicable taking into account the functional and operation needs of infrastructure. To that end, an amended is sought to Clause (2) that considers the practical constraints that can limit the ability to prioritise sites.	Amend EIT-INF-M5 clause (2) as follows: (2) require the prioritisation of sites for infrastructure where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or minimised <u>to the extent</u> <u>practicable.</u>
56.	EIT–INF–M5 – District plans	<ul> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>2) enable planning for the electricity transmission network and National Grid to achieve efficient distribution of electricity,</li> </ul>	Oppose	Aurora Energy has expended considerable time and cost involving itself in district plan processes for the past 5 years to seek positive outcomes with respect to the operation, maintenance, development or upgrade of its infrastructure, which was facilitated by the provisions of the PRPS19. Aurora seeks that this	Delete EIT-INF-M5 District Plans OR Amend as follows:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ol> <li>map the electricity transmission network, and in relation to the National Grid, identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li>manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand.</li> <li>manage the adverse effects of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading nationally or regionally significant infrastructure that are on:         <ul> <li>the sufface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>the sufface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> <li>ensure that development is avoided where:</li></ul></li></ol>		<ul> <li>provision be amended such that it provides a framework for the types of provisions that have been agreed to by various parties to those district plan review processes.</li> <li>In particular, amendments are required to: <ul> <li>replace the use of the non-defined term "electricity transmission network" with Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure; or Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure; or Electricity Distribution Network where appropriate.</li> <li>Expand the scope of the "buffer corridor" beyond the National Grid to include Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure as previously provided for in RPS2019; and</li> <li>Require prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters) as set out above.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to: <ol> <li>require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>provide for the operation and maintenance of the National Grid and the Distribution Network to achieve a resilient electricity supply.</li> <li>enable planning for the development and upgrade of the National Grid and Distribution Network.</li> <li>map the National Grid, and identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li>Map Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure and identify a corridor within which incompatible activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li>manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand,</li> <li>manage the adverse effects of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading infrastructure that are on:</li> <li>the surface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> <li>ensure that development is avoided where:</li> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure, b. it utilises infrastructure, capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>the required upgrading of infrastructure is not funded, and</li> </ol></li></ul>

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
					9) <u>require the prioritisation of sites in</u> <u>accordance with the effects</u> <u>management hierarchy (other</u> <u>matters).</u>
57.	EIT-INF-M6 - Advocacy	Local authorities must: <ol> <li>advocate for the upgrading or replacement of existing nationally or regionally significant infrastructure if the operation of infrastructure results in significant adverse effects; and</li> <li>work proactively with infrastructure providers to co-ordinate the upgrading or development of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure to support co-location or concurrent construction to reduce adverse effects</li> </ol>	Oppose, in part	Aurora Energy is presently carrying out a significant programme of works in accordance with its recently approved Customised Price Path, to upgrade, repair and maintain its aging infrastructure. This work can occur much more efficiently and effectively where that work is provided for by the planning framework in the Otago Region, including the Regional Policy Statement, Regional Land and Water Plan, and District Plans. Given the above, there may be significant adverse effects arising from existing infrastructure that is sought to be remedied but cannot proceed in an efficient or effective manner on the basis that the planning framework does not allow it. Therefore, to the extent that there is a known significant adverse effect arising from existing infrastructure and the ability to remedy that issue is significantly reduced by the nature of the planning framework subject to it, then it is considered that co-ordination between the local authority and infrastructure provider in terms of a private plan change should be encouraged to assist in resolving that issue.	<ul> <li>Amend Method EIT-INF-M6 as follows:</li> <li>Local authorities must: <ol> <li>advocate encourage for the upgrading or replacement of existing nationally or regionally significant infrastructure if the operation of infrastructure results in significant adverse effects; and</li> <li>work proactively with infrastructure providers to co-ordinate the upgrading or development of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure to: <ol> <li>support co-location or concurrent construction to reduce adverse effects;</li> <li>Initiate a private plan change to remedy the significant adverse effects.</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li></ul>
	EIT-EN-E1; EIT-EN-PR1; EIT-EN-AER1; EIT-EN-AER2; EIT-EN-AER4; EIT-INF-E2; EIT-INF-PR2; EIT-INF-AER5; EIT-INF-AER6 EIT-INF-AER7; EIT-INF-AER8 ards and risks Natural hazards				Any consequential amendments to: Explanation: EIT-EN-E1; EIT-INF-E2; Principal reasons: EIT-EN-PR1; EIT-INF-PR2 Anticipated environment results: EIT-EN- AER1; EIT-EN; EIT-INF-AER5; EIT-INF-AER6; EIT- INF-AER7; EIT-INF-AER8. To give effect to the above relief.
Policies 59.	HAZ–NH–P3 – New activities	HAZ-NH-P3 - New activities Once the level of natural hazard risk associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ-NH-P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes: (1) when the natural hazard risk is significant, the activity is avoided,	Oppose in part	Aurora Energy opposes Policy HAZ-NH-P3 on the basis that it includes an avoid policy which does not recognise situations were Aurora Energy's distribution network has a functional or operational need to locate in such areas.	Amend Policy HAZ-NH-P3 as follows: "Once the level of natural hazard risk associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ-NH-

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ul> <li>(2) when the natural hazard risk is tolerable, manage the level of risk so that it does not become significant, and</li> <li>(3) when the natural hazard risk is acceptable, maintain the level of risk.</li> </ul>		Clause (1) of the policy manages the activity (by 'avoiding') rather than providing an avenue to manage and reduce the risk in certain situations.	P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes: 1. when the natural hazard risk is significant, the activity is avoided <u>unless</u> <u>the activity is nationally or regionally</u> <u>significant infrastructure that has a</u> <u>functional need or operational need for its</u> <u>location and the risk is appropriately</u> <u>managed</u> ,
60.	HAZ–NH–P4 – Existing activities	<ul> <li>Reduce existing natural hazard risk by:</li> <li>1) encouraging activities that reduce risk, or reduce community vulnerability,</li> <li>2) restricting activities that increase risk, or increase community vulnerability,</li> <li>3) managing existing land uses within areas of significant risk to people and communities,</li> <li>4) encouraging design that facilitates: <ul> <li>(a) recovery from natural hazard events, or</li> <li>(b) relocation to areas of acceptable risk, or</li> <li>(c) reduction of risk,</li> </ul> </li> <li>5) relocating lifeline utilities, and facilities for essential and emergency services, away from areas of significant risk, where appropriate and practicable, and</li> <li>6) enabling development, upgrade, maintenance and operation of lifeline utilities and facilities for essential and emergency services.</li> </ul>	Oppose, in part Support, in part	Clause 5 of Policy HAZ-NH-P4 is opposed on the basis that Aurora Energy's entire network is identified as a lifeline utility and it may be inappropriate to relocate parts of Aurora Energy's network were doing so would reduce the resilience of the electricity supply to a particular location. That may create additional health and safety risks associated with the relocation. Clause 6 of Policy HAZ-NH-P4 is supported to the extent that it seeks to enable lifeline utilities for essential and emergency services.	<ul> <li>Delete Clause 5 of Policy HAZ-NH-P4</li> <li>OR</li> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>5) relocating lifeline utilities, and facilities for essential and emergency services, away from areas of significant risk, where appropriate and practicable, and</li> <li>Retain Clause 6 of Policy HAZ-NH-P4.</li> </ul>
61.	HAZ–NH–P8 – Lifeline utilities and facilities for essential or emergency services	<ul> <li>Locate, relocate, and design lifeline utilities and facilities for essential or emergency services to: <ol> <li>maintain their ability to function to the fullest extent possible, during and after natural hazard events, and</li> <li>take into account their operational co-dependence with other lifeline utilities and essential services to ensure their effective operation.</li> </ol></li></ul>	Oppose, in part	The Policy is not supported on the basis that the appropriate location and design of lifeline utilities is adequately addressed under the Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002 and does not require duplication of process under the RMA. Electricity Distribution Infrastructure may need to be maintained, repaired or upgraded including through the provision of temporary generators in hazard areas to serve communities due to functional and operational requirements. A more appropriate policy focus for lifeline utilities is to require district plans to adequately identify and map natural hazards to enable lifeline utility providers to have adequate information available in deciding where to locate their infrastructure.	<ul> <li>Amend Policy HAZ-NH-P8 as follows:</li> <li>Locate, relocate, and design lifeline utilities and facilities for essential and emergency services to: <ol> <li>Maintain their ability to function to the fullest extent possible, during and after natural hazard events, and</li> <li>Take into account their operational co-dependence with other lifeline utilities and essential services to ensure their effective operation.</li> </ol></li></ul>
62.	HAZ–NH–P9 – Protection of hazard mitigation measures	<ul> <li>Protect the functional needs of hazard mitigation measures, lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency services, including by:</li> <li>1) avoiding significant adverse effects on those measures, utilities or services,</li> </ul>	Support	Aurora Energy supports this policy to the extent that it seeks to avoid reverse sensitivity effects on the operation, maintenance, upgrade or development of its significant electricity distribution infrastructure	Retain Policy HAZ-NH-P9 as notified.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ol> <li>avoiding, and only where avoidance is not practicable, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects on those measures, utilities or services,</li> <li>maintaining access to those measures, utilities or services for maintenance and operational purposes, and</li> <li>restricting the establishment of other activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on those measures, utilities or services.</li> </ol>		which (in addition to all of Aurora Energy's infrastructure) is a defined lifeline utility.
63.	HAZ-NH-PX – new policy	N/A	N/A	Aurora Energy is concerned that the existing policy suite in HAZ-NH does not adequately provide for the ongoing nature of upgrades and developments to the distribution network to adapt to and respond to the effects of climate change and how that will increase the frequency of or magnitude of natural hazards in Otago. In Aurora Energy's view, developing its network to respond to the effects of climate change is an ongoing task that will inevitably require long-term strategic planning and integrated management wit lifeline utilities. This form of adaptation is not necessarily "event-based" in the sense that Aurora Energy intends to carry out works to its network over time with the effect of increasing the resilience of the network to respond to the effects of climate change as well as reinforcing the network with respect to increased electricity demand.
Methods			1	
64.	HAZ–NH–M3 – Regional plans	<ul> <li>Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to: <ol> <li>manage activities in the coastal marine area, beds of lakes and rivers, and wetlands to achieve policies HAZ–NH–P2 to HAZ–NH–P6 and APP6,</li> <li>include natural hazard reduction measures, such as removing or restricting existing land uses, where there is significant risk to people or property,</li> <li>protect natural or modified features and systems that provide mitigation from the adverse effects of natural hazards in accordance with HAZ–NH–P6,</li> <li>provide for hard protection structures in accordance with HAZ–NH–P7,</li> <li>provide for the functional needs of hazard mitigation measures, lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency services in accordance with HAZ–NH–P8 and HAZ–NH–P9,</li> <li>include provisions that require decision makers to apply the precautionary approach set out in HAZ–NH–P5 when considering applications for resource consent for activities that</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Support, in part	Retain method insofar as it is consistent with Aurora Energy's relief on policies.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
licy r the s to d to I yral	Add a new policy to HAZ-NH that addresses the ongoing development and upgrades to the distribution network that will be required to adapt to the adverse effects climate change will have on the frequency and magnitude of natural hazards, including by adding the following text:
m ora over of the ange, o	HAZ-NH-PXRecognise and provide for the ongoingdevelopment and upgrade of thedistribution network to adapt to theeffects of climate change by:1)Encouraging long-term planningfor the development and upgradeof the distribution network; and2)Integrated management withinfrastructure and lifeline utilities.
	<b>Add</b> any further or consequential relief to M3-M4 to give effect to this policy relief.
ora	Retain Method HAZ-NH-M3 insofar as it is consistent with Aurora Energy's relief on policies.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/	Discussion
			Support	
		will change the use of land and thereby increase the risk from		
		natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazard risk that is		
		uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or irreversible,		
		and		
		7) require a natural hazard risk assessment be undertaken where		
		an activity requires a resource consent to change the use of		
		land which will increase the risk from natural hazards within		
		areas subject to natural hazards, and where the resource		
		consent is lodged prior to the natural hazard risk assessment		
		required by HAZ–NH–M2(1) being completed, the natural		
		hazard risk assessment must include:		
		a) an assessment of the level of natural hazard risk associated		
		with the proposal in accordance with APP6, and		
		b) an assessment demonstrating how the proposal will achieve		
65.	HAZ-NH-M4 - District	the outcomes set out in Policies HAZ–NH–P3 and HAZ–NH–P4.	Current in	Retain method insofar as it is consistent with Aurora
65.	plans	Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:	Support in part	Energy's relief on policies.
		1) achieve policies HAZ–NH–P2 to HAZ–NH–P6 and APP6 on land	pan	Energy steller on policies.
		outside the coastal marine area, beds of lakes and rivers, and		
		wetlands by managing the location, scale and density of		
		activities that may be subject to natural hazard risk,		
		2) require implementation of natural hazard risk reduction		
		measures, including to existing activities in accordance with		
		HAZ–NH–P4,		
		3) protect the role of natural or modified features and systems		
		that provide mitigation from the adverse effects of natural		
		hazards in accordance with HAZ–NH–P6,		
		4) provide for hard protection structures in accordance with HAZ-		
		NH–P7,		
		5) provide for the functional needs of hazard mitigation measures,		
		lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency services in		
		accordance with HAZ–NH–P8 and HAZ–NH–P9,		
		6) include provisions that require decision makers to apply the		
		precautionary approach set out in HAZ–NH–P5 when		
		considering applications for resource consent for activities that		
		will change the use of land and which may increase the risk from natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazard risk		
		that is uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or		
		irreversible, and		
		7) require a natural hazard risk assessment be undertaken where		
		an activity requires a plan change or resource consent to		
		change the use of land which will increase the risk from natural		
		hazards within areas subject to natural hazards, and where the		
		application is lodged prior to the natural hazard risk assessment		
		required by HAZ–NH–M2(1) being completed, the natural		
		hazard risk assessment must include:		
		a) an assessment of the level of natural hazard risk associated		
		with the proposal in accordance with APP6, and		

	Submission – decision sought by Council
rora	<b>Retain</b> Method HAZ-NH-M4 insofar as it is
	consistent with Aurora Energy's relief on policies.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		b) an assessment demonstrating how the proposal will achieve		
		the outcomes set out in Policies HAZ–NH–P3 and HAZ–NH–P4.		
66.	HAZ-NH-M2		Oppose in	
	HAZ-NH-M5;		part	
	HAZ-NH-E1;			
	HAZ-NH-PR1;			
	HAZ-NH-AER1;			
	HAZ-NH-AER2;			
	HAZ-NH-AER3;			
	HAZ-NH-AER4;			
	HAZ-NH-AER5.			
	orical and cultural val	Ues		
HCV-WI - Policies	Wāhi tūpuna			
67.	HCV-WT-P2 -	Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:	Oppose in	Aurora Energy supports the principle of this policy.
	Management of wāhi tūpuna	<ol> <li>avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values associated with identified wāhi tūpuna,</li> <li>where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna,</li> <li>managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori,</li> <li>avoiding any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and</li> <li>encouraging the enhancement of access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the particular wāhi tūpuna.</li> </ol>	part	However, it is unworkable in its current format. Due t the nature of Aurora Energy's infrastructure, it can often be impossible to completely avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on Wahi Tupuna as these can extend over significant areas of land (such as ir the Queenstown Lakes District). However, there may be instances in which adverse effects that cannot be avoided, remedied or mitigated are deemed to be acceptable by relevant iwi and stakeholders. Nevertheless, , as clause 4 is drafted, this effectively provides a veto power to Kai Tahu, regardless of the functional or operational needs of that infrastructure. Given the functional and operational needs of infrastructure, it is appropriate to provide for infrastructure to meet this policy, even where all effects cannot be avoided. That is particularly so wir respect to Wahi Tupuna in urban areas, roads or areas which Aurora Energy may be able to undertake as of right, under relevant District Plans. The policy, puts into question the permitted activity statu of those activities which may severely hinder Aurora Energy's ability to maintain its network and provide for the health and wellbeing of the community.
68.	HCV-WT-M2;		Oppose in	The motion and wondoing of the contributily.
	HCV-WT-E1;		part	
	i i			
	HCV-WT-PR1;			

	Submission – decision sought by Council
	Any consequential amendments to:
	Methods: HAZ-NH-M5
	Explanation: HAZ-NH-E1
	Principal reasons: HAZ-NH-PR1
	Anticipated environment results: HAZ-NH- AER1; HAZ-NH-AER2; HAZ-NH-AER3; HAZ- NH-AER4; HAZ-NH-AER5.
	To give effect to the above relief.
cy. Due to	Delete Clause 4 Policy HCV-WT-P2
an dy or ese	OR <b>Amend</b> by inserting the following clause
n as in re may not be ro be	6) <u>recognising that for infrastructure,</u> <u>EIT-INF-P13 applies instead of</u> <u>HCV-WT-P2(1) to (5).</u>
ively of the acture.	
ll so with pr	
ans. This status urora vide	
•	Any consequential amendments to:
	Methods: HCV-WT-M2

Explanation: HCV-WT-E1

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
	- Historic heritage			
Policies	HCV-HH-P5 -			
69.	Managing historic heritage	<ol> <li>Protect historic heritage by:         <ol> <li>requiring the use of accidental discovery protocols,</li> <li>avoiding adverse effects on areas or places with special or outstanding historic heritage values or qualities,</li> <li>avoiding significant adverse effects on areas or places with historic heritage values or qualities,</li> <li>avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse effects on areas or places with historic heritage values or qualities,</li> <li>where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating them, and</li> <li>recognising that for infrastructure, EIT–INF–P13 applies instead of HCV–HH–P5(1) to (5).</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	Support in part	There are approximately 3,500 archaeological sites recorded in the national database (ArchSite) and 480 heritage places listed in the HNZPT Rarangi Kōrero located in the Otago region and which are supplied electricity by Aurora. Undertaking work in proximity to known Wāhi Tapu or Archaeological Sites is therefore not a new phenomenon for Aurora. Any work that will affect archaeological sites require an archaeological authority from Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga (HNZPT) as set out in the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014 an Aurora has developed processes and protocols for how works in these areas are: planned; managed and carried out. Aurora Energy is also supportive of the carve-out provided for infrastructure, subject to the necessary amendments being made to EIT-INF-P13 as set out in this submission.
70.	HCV-HH-M4;			
	HCV-HH-M5;			
	HCV-HH-E2;			
	HCV-HH-PR2;			
	HCV-HH-AER3;			
	HCV-HH-AER4;			
	HCV-HH-AER5.			
NFL – Natu	ural features and landsco			1
Objective	es		1	
71.	NFL–O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes	The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and physical resources results in: 1) the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes, and	Support, in part	Aurora Energy is generally supportive of this objective insofar as it is a reflection of s 6(b) of the RMA which seeks to protect outstanding natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development. However, Aurora Energy seeks

	Submission – decision sought by Council
	Principal reasons: HCV-WT-PR1
	Anticipated environment results: HCV-WT- AER2
	To give effect to the above relief.
sites and ingi ich works ical urora. equires lew of the 14 and s for ed ut ssary out in	Retain Policy HCV-HH-P5 as notified, subject to the necessary amendments being made to EIT-INF-P13 as set out in this submission.
	Any consequential amendments to:
	Methods: HCV-HH-M4; HCV-HH-M5;
	Explanation: HCV-HH-E2
	Principal reasons: HCV-HH-PR2
	Anticipated environment results: HCV-HH- AER3; HCV-HH-AER4; HCV-HH-AER5;
	To give effect to the above relief.
ective hich	<b>Retain</b> Objective NFL–O1 subject to relief being granted with respect to NFL-P2,
nd , and	OR

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ol> <li>the maintenance or enhancement of highly valued natural features and landscapes.</li> </ol>		amendments to the implementing policies such that provision is made for the operation, maintenance and upgrade of its electricity distribution network.	<b>Amend</b> as necessary to provide for the operation, maintenance and upgrade of the distribution network.
Policies			•		
72.	NFL–P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes	<ul> <li>Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>1) avoiding adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and</li> <li>2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Support, in part	Aurora Energy supports this policy insofar as it is a reflection of s 6(b) of the RMA which seeks to protect outstanding natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use, and development. Aurora Energy is the primary electricity distribution provider in the Queenstown Lakes District, of which approximately 97% is located within an ONL/ONF. On the face of this policy, it is unclear whether the operation, maintenance, upgrade or development of Aurora Energy's network would be contrary to this policy. Given the regional significance of Aurora Energy's network, greater certainty is required as to the extent to which effects are to be avoided, remedied or mitigated. In Aurora Energy's view, an appropriate mechanism to address adverse effects is to apply an appropriate effects management hierarchy that focuses on infrastructure.	Amend Policy NFL-P2 by including a carve-out for infrastructure as follows: (3) with respect to infrastructure, EIT-INF- P13 applies instead of NFL-P2.
73.	NFL-P3 Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes	<ul> <li>NFL-P3 - Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>1) avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and</li> <li>2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Support, in part	Aurora Energy repeats its submission with respect to NFL-P2.	Amend Policy NFL–P3 by including a carve-out for infrastructure as follows: (3) with respect to infrastructure, EIT-INF- P13 applies instead of NFL-P3.
74.	NFL-M2; NFL-M3; NFL-E1; NFL-PR1; NFL-AER1; NFL-AER2.				Any consequential amendments to: Methods: NFL-M2; NFL-M3 Explanation: NFL-E1 Principal reasons: NFL-PR1 Anticipated environment results: NFL- AER1; NFL-AER2 To give effect to the above relief.
UFD – Urba	n form and developmer	ht			
Objectives					
75.	UFD–O2 – Development of urban areas	<ul> <li>The development and change of Otago's urban areas:</li> <li>1) improves housing choice, quality, and affordability,</li> <li>2) allows business and other non-residential activities to meet the needs of communities in appropriate locations,</li> </ul>	Support in Part	Aurora is generally supportive of this objective, as it is appropriate to ensure that infrastructure is developed and able to be developed, in response to growth	<b>Retain</b> clause 9 of Objective UFD-02 as notified.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ol> <li>respects and wherever possible enhances the area's history, setting, and natural and built environment,</li> <li>delivers good urban design outcomes, and improves liveability,</li> <li>improves connectivity within urban areas, particularly by active transport and public transport,</li> <li>minimises conflict between incompatible activities,</li> <li>manages the exposure of risk from natural hazards in accordance with the HAZ–NH – Natural hazards section of this RPS,</li> <li>results in sustainable and efficient use of water, energy, land, and infrastructure,</li> <li>achieves integration of land use with existing and planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure and facilitates the safe and efficient ongoing use of regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>achieves consolidated, well designed and located, and sustainable development in and around existing urban areas as the primary focus for accommodating the region's urban growth and change, and</li> </ol>		and development in urban areas. This approach supports well -functioning urban environments.
		11) is guided by the input and involvement of mana whenua.		
Policies				
76.	UFD-P1 - Strategic planning	<ul> <li>Strategic planning processes, undertaken at an appropriate scale and detail, precede urban growth and development and: <ol> <li>ensure integration of land use and infrastructure, including how, where and when necessary development infrastructure and additional infrastructure will be provided, and by whom,</li> <li>demonstrate at least sufficient development capacity supported by integrated infrastructure provision for Otago's housing and business needs in the short, medium and long term,</li> <li>maximise current and future opportunities for increasing resilience, and facilitating adaptation to changing demand, needs, preferences and climate change,</li> <li>minimise risks from and improve resilience to natural hazards, including those exacerbated by climate change, while not increasing risk for other development,</li> <li>indicate how connectivity will be improved and connections will be provided within urban areas,</li> <li>provide opportunities for iwi, hapū and whānau involvement in planning processes, including in decision making, to ensure provision is made for their needs and aspirations, and cultural practices and values,</li> <li>facilitate involvement of the current community and respond to the reasonably foreseeable needs of future communities, and</li> </ol></li></ul>	Support in Part	Aurora is generally supportive of this policy, as it is appropriate to ensure integration of land use and infrastructure and to maximise existing and future opportunities to increase resilience to meet changin needs and demands and climate change.
77.	UFD–P3 – Urban intensification	Within urban areas intensification is enabled where it:	Oppose, in part	Clause 2 of Policy UFD-P3 supports enablement of intensification in urban areas where it is well served

	Submission – decision sought by Council
h	
is nd re	<b>Retain Clause</b> (2) and (3) of Policy UFD-P1 as notified.
nging	
of ed by	<b>Amend</b> Clause 3 of Policy UFD-P3 as follows:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ol> <li>contributes to establishing or maintaining the qualities of a well-functioning urban environment,</li> <li>is well-served by existing or planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure,</li> <li>meets the greater of demonstrated demand for housing and/or business use or the level of accessibility provided for by existing or planned active transport or public transport,</li> <li>addresses an identified shortfall for housing or business space, in accordance with UFD-P2,</li> <li>addresses issues of concern to iwi and hapū, including those identified in any relevant iwi planning documents, and</li> <li>manages adverse effects on values or resources identified by this RPS that require specific management or protection.</li> </ol>		existing or planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure. This aspect of Clause 2 is supported. However, the clause should also address the safe and efficient ongoing use of regionally significant infrastructure as promoted in Clause 9 of Objective UFD-O2 to ensure well-functioning urban environments.	<ul> <li>Within urban areas intensification is enabled where it:</li> <li>3. Is well served by existing or planned development Infrastructure and additional infrastructure, and does not compromise the safe and efficient ongoing use of regionally significant infrastructure,</li> </ul>
78.	UFD-P4 - Urban expansion	<ul> <li>Expansion of existing urban areas is facilitated where the expansion: <ol> <li>contributes to establishing or maintaining the qualities of a well-functioning urban environment,</li> <li>will not result in inefficient or sporadic patterns of settlement and residential growth,</li> <li>is integrated efficiently and effectively with development infrastructure and additional infrastructure in a strategic, timely and co-ordinated way,</li> <li>addresses issues of concern to iwi and hapū, including those identified in any relevant iwi planning documents,</li> <li>manages adverse effects on other values or resources identified by this RPS that require specific management or protection,</li> <li>avoids, as the first priority, highly productive land identified in accordance with LF-LS-P19,</li> <li>locates the new urban/rural zone boundary interface by considering: <ul> <li>adverse effects, particularly reverse sensitivity, on rural areas and existing or potential productive rural activities beyond the new boundary, and</li> <li>key natural or built barriers or physical features, significant values or features identified in this RPS, or cadastral boundaries that will result in a permanent, logical and defendable long-term limit beyond which further urban expansion is demonstrably inappropriate and unlikely, such that provision for future development infrastructure expansion and connectivity beyond the new boundary does not need to be provided for, or temporary zoning or infrastructure servicing boundary where provision for future development infrastructure</li> </ul> </li> </ol></li></ul>	Support, in part	Aurora is generally supportive of this policy as it is appropriate to enable the expansion of existing urban areas to achieve good urban form. In order to effectively operate the electricity distribution network, aurora Energy has numerous sub- transmission and distribution lines, substations and other network assets near residential areas including areas where proposed urban expansion may occur. Aurora Energy will also need to expand its network in the future to continue to meet demand for electricity as communities grow. This means that over time, residential developments could potentially encroach on Aurora Energy's network assets. The operation, maintenance and development of electricity distribution infrastructure can create noise and other disturbances to sensitive activities, such as residential activities, in close proximity. This gives rise to the potential for reverse sensitivity effects to adversely impact on Aurora Energy's operations. It is therefore important that the RPS21 retains an appropriate balance between enabling urban expansion while ensuring that this development is done in a way that protects electricity network infrastructure.	Amend UFD-P4 clause (3) as follows: Expansion of existing urban areas is facilitated where the expansion:  3) is integrated efficiently and effectively with development infrastructure and additional infrastructure in a strategic, timely and co-ordinated way, while restricting the establishment of those activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects.
79.	UFD–P3 – Urban intensification	expansion and connectivity should not be foreclosed, even if further expansion is not currently anticipated. Refer text of RPS21	Support, in part	Aurora Energy is supportive of policies in UFD which seeks to provide for urban expansion across various zones. To ensure that the integrated management of	Add a new sub-clause to each policy as follows:

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
	UFD-P3 - Urban intensification UFD-P4 - Urban expansion UFD - P5 Commercial Activities UFD-P6 - Industrial Activities UFD-P7 - Rural Areas UFD-P8 – Rural lifestyle and rural			distribution network activities and land use activities that may be the subject of urban expansion or intensification provision is required to ensure that incompatible activities are managed and sufficiently set-back from that infrastructure.	Recognise and provide for the distribution         network by identifying electricity sub-         transmission infrastructure and significant         electricity distribution infrastructure and         managing effects of potentially         incompatible activities.         Any further or consequential relief to M1-         M3 to reflect submission sought
	residential areas				
80.	UFD-M1;				Any consequential amendments to:
	UFD-M2;				Methods: UFD-M1; UFD-M2 to provide
	UFD-E1;				setbacks from urban form and development from electricity sub-
	UFD-PR1;				transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure.
	UFD-AER2;				Explanation: UFD-E1
	UFD-AER3;				Principal reasons: UFD-PR1
	UFD-AER4;				Anticipated environment results; UFD-
	UFD-AER7;				AER2; UFD-AER3; UFD-AER4; UFD-AER7; UFD-AER8
	UFD-AER8;				
Annondico					To give effect to the above relief.
Appendice 81.	APP3 – Criteria for biodiversity offsetting	<ol> <li>Biodiversity offsetting is not available if the activity will result in:         <ul> <li>a) the loss of any individuals of Threatened taxa, other than kānuka (Kunzea robusta and Kunzea serotina), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), or</li> <li>b) reasonably measurable loss within the ecological district to an At Risk-Declining taxon, other than manuka (Leptospermum scoparium), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008).</li> </ul> </li> <li>Biodiversity offsetting is available if the following criteria are met:         <ul> <li>a) the offset addresses residual adverse effects that remain after implementing the sequential steps required by ECO–P6(1) to (3),</li> </ul> </li> </ol>	Oppose, in part	APP3 imposes too high a bar in terms of when biodiversity offsetting can occur. That is particularly problematic for infrastructure such as Aurora Energy's electricity distribution network which is constrained in terms of its ability to locate in particular environment by its functional and operation needs. Furthermore, it is expected that the NPSIB will be released at the end of this year, at which point amendments to this policy will very likely be required. Until that document has been released, alignment with the draft NPSIB should be achieved to ensure a consistent national approach.	Remove limits as to when offsetting can be offered in clause (1). Or otherwise align to achieve consistency with national direction via the Draft NPSIB. Amend the offsetting requirements and outcomes so as to achieve consistency with recommended best practice for offsetting and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion
		<ul> <li>b) the offset achieves no net loss and preferably a net gain in indigenous biodiversity, as measured by type, amount and condition at both the impact and offset sites using an explicit loss and gain calculation,</li> <li>c) the offset is undertaken where it will result in the best ecological outcome, and as the first priority be: <ul> <li>i. close to the location of the activity, and</li> <li>ii. within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,</li> </ul> </li> <li>d) the offset is applied so that the ecological values being achieved are the same or similar to those being lost,</li> <li>e) the positive ecological outcomes of the offset endure at least as long as the impact of the activity and preferably in perpetuity,</li> <li>f) the offset achieves biodiversity outcomes beyond results that would have occurred if the offset was not proposed,</li> <li>g) the time delay between the loss of biodiversity and the realisation of the offset is achieved within the duration of the resource consent, and</li> <li>i) any offset developed in advance of an application for resource consent must be shown to have been created or commenced in anticipation of the specific effect of the proposed activity and would not have occurred if that effect was not anticipated.</li> </ul>		
82.	APP4 – Criteria for biodiversity compensation	<ul> <li>effect was not anticipated.</li> <li>1) Biodiversity compensation is not available if the activity will result in: <ul> <li>a) the loss of an indigenous taxon (excluding freshwater fauna and flora) or of any ecosystem type from an ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,</li> <li>b) removal or loss of viability of habitat of a Threatened or At Risk indigenous species of fauna or flora under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008),</li> <li>c) removal or loss of viability of a naturally rare or uncommon ecosystem type that is associated with indigenous vegetation or habitat of indigenous fauna, or</li> <li>d) worsening of the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008) conservation status of any Threatened or At Risk indigenous fauna.</li> </ul> </li> <li>2) Biodiversity compensation is available if the following criteria are met: <ul> <li>a) compensation addresses only residual adverse effects that remain after implementing the sequential steps required by ECO–P5(1) to (4),</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Oppose, in part	APP3 imposes too high a bar in terms of when biodiversity compensation can occur. That is particularly problematic for infrastructure such as Aurora Energy's electricity distribution network which is constrained in terms of its ability to locate in particular environment by its functional and operation needs. Furthermore, it is expected that the NPSIB will be released at the end of this year, at which point amendments to this policy will very likely be required Until that document has been released, alignment with the draft NPSIB should be achieved to ensure a consistent national approach.

	Submission – decision sought by Council
as vhich	<ul> <li><b>Remove</b> limits as to when biodiversity compensation can be offered in clause (1). Or otherwise align to achieve consistency with national direction via the Draft NPSIB.</li> <li><b>Amend</b> the compensation requirements and outcomes so as to achieve</li> </ul>
e uired. ent	consistency with recommended best practice for compensation and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.
jre a	

No.	Provision	Text	Oppose/ Support	Discussion	Submission – decision sought by Council
		<ul> <li>b) compensation is undertaken where it will result in the best practicable outcome and preferably: <ol> <li>close to the location of the activity, and</li> <li>within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,</li> </ol> </li> <li>c) compensation achieves positive biodiversity outcomes that would not have occurred without that compensation,</li> <li>d) the positive biodiversity outcomes of the compensation are enduring,</li> <li>e) the time delay between the loss of biodiversity through the proposal and the gain or maturation of the compensation's biodiversity outcomes is the least necessary to achieve the best possible outcome,</li> <li>f) the outcome of the compensation is achieved within the duration of the resource consent,</li> <li>g) biodiversity compensation developed in advance of an application for resource consent must be shown to have been created or commenced in anticipation of the specific effect of the proposed activity and would not have occurred if that effect was not anticipated, and</li> <li>h) the biodiversity compensation is demonstrably achievable.</li> </ul>			

From:	Sharon Aitchison
То:	<u>RPS</u>
Cc:	Megan Justice
Subject:	Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 - submission by Network Waitaki Ltd
Date:	Friday, 3 September 2021 2:46:56 p.m.
Attachments:	Form 5 and Annex A - Network Waitaki Proposed RPS 21 Submission 3 9 21.pdf
	Annexure A Final Network Waitaki Ltd Submission on Proposed Otago RPS 21.docx

Attention: ORC Policy Team

Please find attached (PDF combined version, and MS Word version of Annexure A) a submission by **Network Waitaki Ltd** with respect to the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021.

Please acknowledge receipt in due course.

Regards

Sharon (on behalf of Megan Justice)



## DDI +64 3 742 4012 | +64 27 255 1665 | PO Box 489, Dunedin 9054 www.mitchelldaysh.co.nz

The information contained in this email message received from Mitchell Daysh Limited (and accompanying attachments) may be confidential. The information is intended solely for the recipient named in this email. If the reader is not the intended recipient, you are notified that any use, disclosure, forwarding or printing of this email or accompanying attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately by return email.

## FORM 5

## SUBMISSION ON NOTIFIED PROPOSAL FOR POLICY STATEMENT OR PLAN, CHANGE OR VARIATION

Clause 6 of Schedule 1, Resource Management Act 1991

# To Otago Regional Council Private Bag 1954 DUNEDIN

Name Network Waitaki Limited ("NWL")

1. This is a submission on the following proposed policy statement *(the proposal):* 

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 ("PORPS")

2. NWL could not gain an advantage in trade competition through this submission.

#### 3. The specific provisions of the proposal that their submission relates to are:

- > Definitions (Part 1)
- Domains (Part 3)
- > Topics (Part 3)

More specifically, those provisions listed in Table 1 in Annexure A attached.

### 4. **NWL's submission is:**

The interests that have determined the approach of NWL in preparing submissions on the PORPS are as follows:

- a) NWL is an electricity distribution business, it offtakes electricity from the national grid and distributes it to homes, businesses, schools and communities in Oamaru and within rural areas of North Otago and parts of South Canterbury Regions.
- b) NWL is a network utility operator. Network utility operators are defined in the Resource Management Act 1991 ("the Act") and specifically include electricity operators or electricity distributors for the purpose of line function services.
- c) The electricity network owned by NWL in the Otago region comprises high voltage (HV) power lines (above and below ground) which distribute electricity to local zone substations where the voltage is reduced before distribution through medium voltage (MV) power lines (overhead and underground) as seen throughout Otago.

- d) NWL is responsible for the distribution of electricity to 13,170 Waitaki customers. Network Waitaki's customers extend from the Waitaki River to Shaq Point, and inland to Ohau and the Hakataramea Valley via a lines network spanning some 1.800km. Network Waitaki's infrastructure also includes 19 substations.
- e) Electricity is a vital resource for New Zealand, its economy and social and cultural wellbeing. Our network will require significant power system upgrades to support and enable the planned decarbonization of coal-based process heat in our district in line with New Zealand's transition to achieving 100% renewable electricity. The electrification of our transport fleet; and the forecast growth in our district. NWL seeks to ensure the ability to meet this demand in the most efficient and cost-effective manner. Due to the nature and scale of the NWL's critical assets, continual upgrade, maintenance and renewal are required to ensure security of supply of electricity to our existing and future customers.
- f) Network utility operators are often constrained in the selection of sites on which they locate, particularly when they are part of a regional distribution network. It is important to recognise the locational constraints in considering the overall impact of the environmental effects of network utilities and in designating sites for substations.
- g) Network Waitaki is a lifeline utility under the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002. This places an obligation on Network Waitaki to ensure that our network is able to function to the fullest possible extent during and after an emergency. The implications of planning provisions may affect our ability to construct network assets to be sufficiently resilient to natural disasters to meet this obligation and support our communities in the event of an incident.
- h) Set against this background is a growing body of regulation which make the delivery of electricity network infrastructure difficult. NWL, therefore, seeks to ensure that the networks it manages are adequately recognised in the PORPS, are protected from the potential adverse effects of other activities, and that the networks' future upgrade, maintenance and renewal are not unnecessarily impeded.

320.032

The particular parts of the PORPS that NWL either supports or opposes and the relief sought is outlined in Table 1 in Annexure A attached.

In summary, NWL:

- Opposes, opposes in part, supports and supports in part the PORPS as set out Table a) 1 in Annexure A attached.
- The reasons for NWL's opposition, opposition in part and support in part are that the b) PORPS, as notified and in the absence of amendments (or similar amendments) in accordance with this submission:

- Will not promote the sustainable management of natural and physical resources, will not achieve the purpose of the Resource Management Act 1991 ("Act"), and is otherwise contrary to Part 2 and other relevant provisions of the Act, particularly when having regard to the efficiency and effectiveness of the provisions relative to other means;
- (ii) Will not promote the efficient use and development of natural and physical resources; and
- (iii) Does not represent sound resource management practice particularly with respect to infrastructure planning and surrounding land use management.

#### 5. I seek the following decision from the local authority:

- a) The relief sought as set out in Table 1 which is attached as Annexure A (or those with similar or like effect) be accepted; and
- b) Such further or other relief as is appropriate or desirable in order to take account of the concerns expressed and relief sought in this submission; and
- c) Any consequential amendments to the PORPS necessary to give effect to a) and b) above; and
- d) That, in the event that the amendments set out above are not implemented, the PORPS be withdrawn.
- 6. NWL wishes to be heard in support of their submission.

If others make a similar submission, I will consider presenting a joint case with them at a hearing.

the Signature:

Tod Trotman, Network Waitaki Limited

(A signature is not required if you make your submission by electronic means.)

Date: 3 September 2021

Electronic address for Service: megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz

Telephone: 03 742 1772

Postal address (or alternative method of service under section 352 of the Act):

Mitchell Daysh Limited PO Box 489 Dunedin

Contact person: Megan Justice

#### Note to person making submission

If you are making a submission to the Environmental Protection Authority, you should use form 16B. If you are a person who could gain an advantage in trade competition through the submission, your right to make a submission may be limited by clause 6(4) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 of the Resource Management Act 1991.

Please note that your submission (or part of your submission) may be struck out if the authority is satisfied that at least 1 of the following applies to the submission (or part of the submission):

- > it is frivolous or vexatious:
- > it discloses no reasonable or relevant case:
- it would be an abuse of the hearing process to allow the submission (or the part) to be taken further:
- > it contains offensive language:
- it is supported only by material that purports to be independent expert evidence, but has been prepared by a person who is not independent or who does not have sufficient specialised knowledge or skill to give expert advice on the matter.

435

#### ANNEXURE A

#### SUBMISSION POINTS BY NETWORK WAITAKI LTD – PROPOSED OTAGO REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT 2021

#### Table 1

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
DEFINITIONS			
<b>Regionally Significant Infrastructure</b> : means: 1. roads classified as being of regional	Support	NWL owns electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and supports the inclusion of electricity sub-transmission infrastructure in this definition.	Retain definition subject to amending clause (2) as follows:
importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification,		The Otago Regional Policy Statement 2019 (" <b>RPS19</b> ") contained a definition for <i>Significant Electricity Distribution</i>	(2) electricity sub-transmission infrastructure <u>and significant</u>
<ol> <li>electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,</li> <li>renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable electricity generation facilities designed and operated principally for supplying a single premise or facility,</li> </ol>		Infrastructure, which has been removed from PRPS21. The term was picked up in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 such that those lines were identified and effects on those lines from potentially incompatible activities were managed through methods such as corridors. The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section.	<u>electricity distribution</u> infrastructure.
4. telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities,		NWL seeks to re-insert the definition of Significant Electricity	
<ol> <li>facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,</li> </ol>		Distribution Infrastructure into the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure.	
6. the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, Wanaka, Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, Oamaru, Taieri,			

436

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>navigation infrastructure associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,</li> </ol>			
8. defence facilities,			
9. community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution infrastructure that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution infrastructure (excluding delivery systems or infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies),			
10. community stormwater infrastructure,			
<ol> <li>wastewater and sewage collection, treatment and disposal infrastructure serving no fewer than 25 households, and</li> </ol>			
12. Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection infrastructure and drainage schemes.			
Additional infrastructure:	Oppose in part	Generally, NWL considers that the number of definitions to	Rationalise the definitions that relate
has the same meaning as in clause 1.3 of the National Policy Statement on Urban Development (as set out in the box below)		define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the	to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
		provisions are implemented. NWL considers that the	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>means:</li> <li>a. public open space.</li> <li>b. community infrastructure as defined in section 197 of the Local Government Act 2002.</li> <li>c. land transport (as defined in the Land Transport Management Act 2003) that is not controlled by local authorities.</li> <li>d. social infrastructure, such as schools and healthcare facilities.</li> <li>e. a network operated for the purpose of telecommunications (as defined in section 5 of the Telecommunications Act 2001).</li> <li>f. a network operated for the purpose of transmitting or distributing electricity or gas</li> </ul>		definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban Development and the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be combined/rationalised.	
Distribution network: has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 (as set out in the box below) a. means lines and associated equipment that are used for conveying electricity and are operated by a business engaged in the distribution of electricity; but does not include lines and associated equipment that are part of the national grid	Oppose in part	NWL questions the purpose of this definition as it does not relate to any provisions in the PORPS. Generally, NWL considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<b>Electricity sub-transmission infrastructure</b> : means electricity infrastructure which conveys electricity between energy generation sources, the National Grid and zone substations and between zone substations.	Oppose in part	NWL supports the inclusion of a definition of this infrastructure, and considers that the definition accurately describes this infrastructure. However, NWL considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
Functional need: has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below). means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that environment.	Support in part	NWL supports the inclusion of this definition in the PORPS as it is relevant to electricity distribution and sub-transmission activities and adds clarity for determining when an activity has a functional need to locate in a specific area. NWL questions whether the definition enables the consideration of efficiency when considering where infrastructure is located. For instance, there may be situations where an alternative route for a line is possible, but it would add considerable length to the line, which would have correspondingly greater adverse effects on the environment, greater financial costs and will use more energy.	Amend definition as follows: means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that environment, taking into account the efficiency of the proposal or activity. Or other relief to give effect to this submission point.
Specified infrastructure: has the same meaning as in clause 3.21 of the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 (as set out in the box below) means any of the following: a. infrastructure that delivers a service operated by a lifeline utility (as defined in	Oppose in part	Generally, NWL considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented. NWL considers that the definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban Development and the Resource Management (National	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002),		Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be	
<ul> <li>b. regionally significant infrastructure identified as such in a regional policy statement or regional plan,</li> </ul>		combined/rationalised.	
c. any public flood control, flood protection, or drainage works carried out:			
i. by or on behalf of a local authority, including works carried out for the purposes set out in section 133 of the Soil Conservation and Rivers Control Act 1951, or			
<i>ii. for the purpose of drainage by drainage districts under the Land Drainage Act</i> 1908			
<b>Operational need</b> : has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below) means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because of technical, logistical or operational characteristics or constraints	Support	NWL supports the inclusion of this definition in the PORPS as it is relevant to electricity distribution and sub-transmission activities and adds clarity for determining when an activity has an operational need to locate in a specific area.	Retain definition.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
Other infrastructure: has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the National Environmental Standard for Freshwater 2020 (as set out in the box below) means infrastructure, other than specified infrastructure, that was lawfully established before, and in place at, the close of 2 September 2020.	Oppose in part	Generally, NWL considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented. NWL considers that the definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban Development and the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be combined/rationalised.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
<ul> <li>Infrastructure:</li> <li>Has the same meaning as in section 2 of the Resource Management Act 1991 (as set out in the box below)</li> <li>means— <ul> <li>a. pipelines that distribute or transmit natural or manufactured gas, petroleum, biofuel, or geothermal energy:</li> <li>b. a network for the purpose of telecommunication as defined in section 5</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Support	NWL supports the inclusion of this definition, as it reflects the RMA definition.	Retain definition.
<ul> <li>of the Telecommunications Act 2001:</li> <li>c. a network for the purpose of radiocommunication as defined in section 2(1) of the Radiocommunications Act 1989:</li> <li>d. facilities for the generation of electricity, lines used or intended to be used to convey electricity, and support structures for lines</li> </ul>			

PR	OVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
	used or intended to be used to convey electricity, excluding facilities, lines, and support structures if a person—			
	<ul> <li>uses them in connection with the generation of electricity for the person's use; and</li> </ul>			
	<i>ii.</i> does not use them to generate any electricity for supply to any other person:			
e.	a water supply distribution system, including a system for irrigation:			
f.	a drainage or sewerage system:			
g.	structures for transport on land by cycleways, rail, roads, walkways, or any other means:			
h.	facilities for the loading or unloading of cargo or passengers transported on land by any means:			
i.	an airport as defined in section 2 of the Airport Authorities Act 1966:			
j.	a navigation installation as defined in section 2 of the Civil Aviation Act 1990:			
k.	facilities for the loading or unloading of cargo or passengers carried by sea, including a port related commercial undertaking as defined in section 2(1) of the Port Companies Act 1988:			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>anything described as a network utility operation in regulations made for the purposes of the definition of network utility operator in section 166.</li> </ol>			
New Definition	N/A	<ul> <li>The term "electricity transmission network" has been used in the below provisions but has not been defined:</li> <li>EIT–INF–O6 – Long-term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure</li> <li>EIT–INF–P16 – Providing for electricity transmission and the National Grid</li> <li>EIT–INF–M5 – District plans</li> <li>The drafting of the provisions suggests that the term refers to infrastructure for electricity transmission other than the National Grid. Therefore, it is concluded that these provisions are referring to the electricity distribution network, as defined by PORPS.</li> </ul>	<b>Replace</b> all instances of the term "electricity transmission network" with "electricity distribution network".
New definition	N/A	The RPS19 contained a definition for <i>Significant Electricity</i> <i>Distribution Infrastructure</i> , which has been removed from the PORPS. This definition was referred to in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 which sought to manage potentially incompatible activities through methods such as corridors. The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section of the RPS19.	Add a new definition for significant electricity distribution infrastructure as follows: <u>Significant Electricity Distribution</u> <u>Infrastructure means electricity</u> <u>distribution infrastructure which</u> <u>supplies:</u>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		<ul> <li>The s 32 Report contains no discussion on the reason for removing this protection from these important lines. That is a critical issue for NWL given the lines serve an important role in providing for the social, economic, cultural and health and safety of the community. The defined activity does this by identifying key functions, places and communities for which the resilience of the electricity distribution network is particularly important, including:</li> <li>Maintaining the functionality of healthcare infrastructure such as hospitals and other emergency services;</li> <li>Maintaining the resilience of the electricity supply to other regionally significant infrastructure including ports, airports, etc; and</li> <li>Ensuring the resilience of the electricity supply to isolated communities is protected.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Essential and emergency services (such as hospitals and lifeline facilities);</li> <li>Other regionally significant infrastructure or individual consumers requiring supply of 1MW or more;</li> <li>700 or more consumers; or</li> <li>Communities that are isolated and which do not have an alternative supply in the event the line or cable is compromised and where the assets are difficult to replace in the event of failure.</li> </ol>
New definition	N/A	The existing definition of "effect management hierarchy" applies only to natural inland wetlands and rivers. However, the term can usefully be applied to managing adverse effects arising from other types of activities, particularly infrastructure. The addition of the term is also important in terms of providing an appropriate carve-out for provisions which are highly prohibitive of activities in outstanding water bodies despite there being a functional or operational need for those activities to be located in that environment.	Add a new definition for "effects management hierarchy (Other Matters)" as follows: <u>Effects Management Hierarchy (other</u> <u>matters) means</u> <u>An approach to managing the</u> <u>adverse effects (including cumulative</u> <u>effects and loss of potential value) of</u> <u>an activity on the extent or values of a</u>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS		IEF SOUGHT (or other such lar outcome that has the same
				ct as the relief sought)
			sign	ificant natural area, outstanding
			natu	ral feature or landscape <u>,</u>
				tanding water bodies (excluding
				<u>rs and natural wetlands), area of</u>
			-	or outstanding natural character,
			-	n or place of significant or
				<u>tanding historic heritage, wahi</u>
			-	<u>ı, wahi taoka, areas with</u> ected customary rights, and areas
			-	gh recreational and high amenity
				e that requires that:
			(a)	Adverse effects are avoided
				where practicable,
			(b)	Where adverse effects cannot
				be avoided, they are minimised
				where practicable,
			(c)	Where adverse effects cannot
				be minimised, they are
				remedied where practicable,
			(d)	Where adverse effects cannot
				be remedied, they are mitigated
				to the extent practicable,
			(e)	Where more than minor adverse
			(0)	effects cannot be avoided,
				minimised, remedied or
				mitigated offsetting and/or
				environmental compensation

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)	
			<ul> <li><u>must be considered, where</u> <u>appropriate.</u></li> <li>(f) <u>If offsetting and/or</u> <u>environmental compensation is</u> <u>not appropriate the activity itself</u> <u>is to be avoided.</u></li> </ul>	
IM INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT				
<ul> <li>IM-P2- Decision Priorities</li> <li>Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall:</li> <li>1. Firstly, secure the long term life support capacity and mauri of the natural environment,</li> <li>2. Secondly, promote the health and safety needs of people, and</li> <li>3. Thirdly, safeguard the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic and cultural well being now and in the future.</li> </ul>	Oppose	This approach is almost directly derived from the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020. Applying this hierarchy as a mandatory decision making framework within Otago, for <i>all</i> decision making, is likely to cause implementation difficulties as in certain circumstances there will need to be a more nuanced approached taken to resource management.	Delete.	
<ul> <li>IM-P14- Human Impact</li> <li>Preserve opportunities for future generations by:</li> <li>1. identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the environment will be degraded,</li> </ul>	Oppose	NWL opposes the uncertainty that is inherent within the drafting of this policy. There is no certainty provided within the PORPS as to what is meant by the term "limits" and how these are intended to be developed or implemented. For example, are these "limits" intended to be used as consenting triggers, or are they intended to act as "environmental limits" or bottom lines?	Delete.	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and</li> <li>regularly assessing and adjusting limits and thresholds for activities over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts.</li> </ol>			
LAND AND FRESHWATER			
LF-FW-P9 - Protecting Natural Wetlands Protect natural wetlands by: <ol> <li>avoiding a reduction in their values or extent unless:</li> <li>(a) the loss of values or extent arises from: <ol> <li>the customary harvest of food or resources undertaken in accordance with tikata Maori,</li> <li>restoration activities,</li> <li>scientific research,</li> <li>the sustainable harvest of sphagnum moss,</li> <li>the construction or maintenance of wetland utility structures,</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	Oppose in part	NWL understands that this policy is to give effect to the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 and the Regulations relating to Freshwater Management ( <b>NESFW</b> ). However, NWL is concerned that this policy does not provide a consenting pathway for other activities which are also locationally or functionally constrained, such as electricity sub-transmission and distribution activities. As outlined in submissions below, NWL is also concerned that even if the effects management hierarchy was available to 'other infrastructure' activities, the limits as to how and when this can be applied under ECO-P3, ECO-P6 and APP3 and APP4 are unlikely to result in positive environmental and economic outcomes. This is discussed further with respect to these matters specifically.	Add the following clause to this policy: (b) the Regional Council is satisfied that: i. the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure <u>or</u> <u>significant electricity</u> <u>distribution infrastructure</u> , ii. the specified infrastructure or <u>significant electricity</u> <u>distribution infrastructure</u> will provide significant natural or regional benefits, iii. there is a functional need for

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>vi. the maintenance of operation of specific infrastructure, or other infrastructure,</li> <li>vii. natural hazards works, or</li> <li>(b) the Regional Council is satisfied that: <ul> <li>i. the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure,</li> <li>ii. the specified infrastructure will provide significant natural or regional benefits,</li> <li>iii. there is a functional need for the specified infrastructure in that location,</li> <li>iv. the effects of the activity on indigenous biodiversity are managed by applying either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</li> <li>v. the other effects of the activity (excluding those managed under (1)(b)(iv)) are managed by applying the effects management hierarchy, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>2. not granting resource consents for activities under (1)(b) unless the Regional Council is satisfied that:</li> </ul>		Further, NWL does not support the inclusion of clause 1(b)(ii) "the specified infrastructure will provide significant national or regional benefits" this is requirement goes beyond regulation 45 of the NESFW.	significant electricity distribution in that location,  Delete clause 1(b)(ii) Or other relief to include electricity sub-transmission and distribution activities.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(a) the application demonstrates how each step of the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) will be applied to the loss of values or extent of the natural wetland, and</li> <li>(b) any consent is granted subject to</li> </ul>			
(b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply for the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v).			
ECO- Ecosystems and Indigenous Biodiversity			
ECO-P2- Identifying significant natural areas and taoka Identify: (1) the areas and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2, and (2) indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO-M3.	Oppose in part	NWL is concerned that this policy, combined with the criteria in APP2, will result in a large portion of the Otago region being identified as an SNA. This policy does not require any areas to be clearly mapped or scheduled in any lower order plans, instead it requires SNA to be identified in accordance with the criteria set out in APP2. This approach lacks necessary precision. The criteria set out in APP2 also differs from the criteria that was recommended to the ORC by its consultants, Wildlands (refer Appendix 17 of the section 32 report). It appears that the Wildlands criteria were used for informing the section 32 analysis, however there is no clear understanding provided in the documentation as to why there has then been a shift to that what was notified (i.e. the criteria differs to that set out in Appendix 17). NWL is therefore concerned that the criteria as	Delete ECO-P2 or amend as follows: Identify: (1) the areas and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2, and (2) indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO-M3. Significant natural areas will be identified by local authorities using the criteria in APP2 and these areas will be mapped at an appropriate scale in the relevant regional and district plans.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		set out in APP2 has not been tested and found to be suitably robust under section 32 of the RMA. NWL is also concerned that the only significant mapping that was submitted as part of the supporting documentation relates to faunal SNA values. Mapping of flora SNAs has not yet been undertaken, and as noted, NWL is concerned that by applying the criteria in APP2, large areas of the region may exude qualities that would trigger one or more of the criteria and be deemed to comprise a SNA as a result. The land that may qualify as a SNA in the region is therefore currently uncertain. As evidenced in other regions such as Northland, approximately 42% of the Far North District was found to qualify as a SNA. Widespread qualification of land as a SNA within the Otago region (in conjunction with the associated ECO policies) is likely to result in significant developmental constraints and the Council has not quantified the commensurate economic and social costs of this. These costs should have been properly accounted for in terms of the Council meeting the requirements of section 32 of the Act.	Indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka will be identified by local authorities in accordance with ECO-M3, and these areas will be mapped in the relevant regional and district plans.
ECO–P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka Except as provided for by ECO–P4 and ECO– P5, protect significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka by:	Oppose	This policy is effectively a prohibition on the operation, maintenance and upgrade of existing electricity networks. The policy does not take into account the functional or operational needs of NWL's infrastructure networks, nor any future development of it.	Delete Policy ECO-P3 or amend as necessary to provide for the development of and ongoing operation, maintenance and upgrade of NWL infrastructure, and to give effect to the (draft) NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>avoiding adverse effects that result in:         <ul> <li>any reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant) identified under ECO-P2(1), or</li> <li>any loss of Kāi Tahu values, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>after (1), applying the biodiversity effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6, and</li> <li>prior to significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified in accordance with ECO-P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance with IM-P15.</li> </ol>		The policy, without significant amendment, would constrain the ability to develop regionally significant infrastructure, which has regional benefits. Furthermore, it is unclear how this policy will give effect to the impending national policy statement for indigenous biodiversity.	
<ul> <li>ECO-P4 – Provision for new activities</li> <li>Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity by following the sequential steps in the effect management hierarchy set out in ECO-P6 when making decisions on plans, applications for resource consents or notices of requirements for the following activities in significant natural areas, or where they may adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka:</li> <li>(1) The development or upgrade of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure that has a functional or operational need to</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	NWL supports the provision insofar as it enables consideration of consent applications for the development or upgrading of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure, despite their potential effect on SNAs. NWL considers that the policy should also provide for distribution networks where they have a functional or operational need to locate within an SNA to ensure the provision of electricity to the community is not precluded in these situations. Further, NWL has concerns with ECO-P6 and its reference to APP3 and APP4. The reasons for this are set out below in subsequent rows in this table.	Amend ECO-P4 (1) as follows: (1) The development or upgrade of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure <u>and</u> <u>significant electricity distribution</u> <u>infrastructure</u> that has a functional or operational need to locate within the relevant significant natural area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
locate within the relevant significant natural area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka.			Or other relief to give effect to his submission.
(2) the development of papakaika, marae and ancillary facilities associated with customary activities on Maori land,			
(3) the use of Maori land in a way that will make a significant contribution to enhancing the social, cultural or economic wellbeing of takata whenua,			
(4) activities that are for the purpose of protecting, restoring or enhancing a significant natural area or indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, or			
(5) activities that are for the purpose of addressing a severe and immediate risk to public health and safety.			
<b>ECO-P6 – Maintaining indigenous biodiversity</b> Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity (excluding the coastal environment and areas managed under ECO-P3) by applying the following biodiversity offects management	Oppose in part	NWL generally agrees with the cascading approach that has been developed within this policy on a principled basis. However, it submits that when this policy is considered alongside the limits or constraints which are set out in APP3	Amend to be consistent with the national direction such as the Draft NPSIB and NPSFW. Amendments to APP3 and APP4 are also necessary.
<ul> <li>following biodiversity effects management</li> <li>hierarchy in decision making on applications for</li> <li>resource consents and notices of requirement:</li> <li>(1) Avoid adverse effects as the first priority,</li> </ul>		and APP4 as to when offsetting and compensation are available, the policy becomes unworkable in certain circumstances. APP3 and APP4 contain a set of criteria as to when both offsetting and compensation is not an available	
(2) Where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be avoided, they are remedied,		method. These criteria are limiting and are written as a bottom line or hard limit. If they are not met, the option of offsetting	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(3) Where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided or remedied, they are mitigated,</li> <li>(4) Where there are residual adverse effects after avoidance, remediation and mitigation, then the residual adverse effects are offset in accordance with APP3, and</li> <li>(5) if biodiversity offsetting of residual adverse effects is not possible, then: <ul> <li>(a) the residual adverse effects are compensated for in accordance with APP4, and</li> <li>(b) if the residual effects cannot be compensated for in accordance with APP4, the activity is avoided.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		<ul> <li>and/or compensation is no longer available to be used as part of any effects management response. In these circumstances, the method directs the decision maker back to the first management tier – which is to "avoid".</li> <li>NWL submits that this policy and the way it draws on APP3 and APP4 is inconsistent with national direction such as the Draft National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity ("NPSIB") and NPSFW as to when, and under what circumstances, the full suite of the effects management methods can be applied. It is also inconsistent with section 104(1)(ab) of the RMA which requires a decision maker to have regard to <u>any</u> measure proposed or agreed to by the applicant for the purpose of ensuring positive effects on the environment to offset or compensate for any adverse effects on the environment that will or may result from allowing the activity.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>APP2 – Significance Criteria</li> <li>An area is considered to be a significant natural area if it meets any one or more of the criteria below:</li> <li>(a) An area that is an example of an indigenous vegetation type or habitat that is typical or characteristic of the original natural diversity of the relevant ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region. This may include degraded examples of their type or represent all that</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	NWL is concerned that the significance criteria within APP2 whilst similar to, differs to that contained in anticipated national direction (i.e. the Draft NPSIB). Parts of this criteria also differ to the technical advice provided by Wildlands in Appendix 17 of the supporting documentation to the PORPS (clauses (b) and (d)(iv)). It is uncertain whether APP2 has been properly evaluated in terms of section 32 of the Act. NWL is also concerned that the application of these criteria will mean a large proportion of the Otago region will be	Amend Appendix 2 – Significance criteria for indigenous biodiversity to ensure the significance criteria for indigenous biodiversity are specific and targeted to avoid the inclusion of inappropriate areas within SNAs. Ensure consistency with best practice or national policy direction when finalising this criteria.

PROVISI	ON	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(b) An included of the formation of included of the rest of the re	ains of indigenous vegetation and tats of indigenous fauna in some areas. adigenous marine ecosystem (including intertidal and sub-tidal habitats, and ding both faunal and floral mblages) that makes up part of at least of the natural extent of each of Otago's nal marine ecosystem types and cting the environmental gradients of egion. adigenous marine ecosystem, or habitat digenous marine fauna (including both tidal and sub-tidal habitats, and ding both faunal and floral ponents), that is characteristic or typical e natural marine ecosystem diversity of to.		<ul> <li>identified as an SNA. This issue has arisen in other parts of New Zealand where similar criteria have been used. For example, the Far North District Council identified 42% of its district as SNAs.</li> <li>Widespread qualification of land as a SNA within the Otago region (in conjunction with the associated ECO policies) is likely to result in significant developmental constraints and the Council has not quantified the commensurate economic and social costs of this. These costs should have been properly accounted for in terms of the Council meeting the requirements of section 32 of the Act.</li> </ul>	
()	rea that supports: An indigenous species that is threatened, at risk, or uncommon, nationally or within an ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region, or Indigenous vegetation or habitat of indigenous fauna that has been reduced to less than 20% of its former extent nationally, regionally or within a relevant land environment, ecological district, coastal marine biogeographic			

PR	ovis	SION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		region or freshwater environment including wetlands, or			
	(iii)	Indigenous vegetation and habitats within originally rare ecosystems, or			
	(iv)	The site contains indigenous vegetation or an indigenous species that is endemic to Otago or that are at distributional limits within Otago.			
	indig taxa refle	area that supports a high diversity of genous ecosystem types, indigenous or has changes in species composition ecting the existence of diverse natural ures or gradients.			
	An c for:	area that supports or provides habitat			
	(i)	Indigenous species at their distributional limit within Otago or nationally, or			
	(ii)	Indigenous species that are endemic to the Otago region, or			
	indig restr a res	genous vegetation or an association of genous species that is distinctive, of ricted occurrence, or has developed as sult of an unusual environmental factor ombinations of factors.			
		relationship of the area with its oundings (both within Otago and			

PR	OVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
	between Otago and the adjoining regions), including:			
	<ul> <li>(i) An area that has important connectivity value allowing dispersal of indigenous flora and fauna between different areas, or</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>(ii) An area that has an important buffering function that helps to protect the values of an adjacent area or feature, or</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>(iii) An area that is important for indigenous fauna during some part of their life cycle, either regularly or on an irregular basis, e.g. for feeding, resting, nesting, breeding, spawning or refuges from predation, or</li> </ul>			
()	A wetland which plays an important hydrological, biological or ecological role in the natural functioning of a river or coastal ecosystem.			
AP	P3 – Criteria for Biodiversity Offsetting	Oppose	NWL submits that the effect of APP3 is to unduly limit	Remove the limitations that are
(1)	Biodiversity offsetting is not available if the activity will result in: (a) the loss of any individuals of		biodiversity offsetting as an available environmental effects management option.	imposed which restrict when offsetting can be offered (in clause (1)). Or otherwise align to achieve consistency
	Threatened taxa, other than kānuka (Kunzea robusta and Kunzea serotina), under the New Zealand Threat		NWL considers that APP3 sets the threshold as to when offsetting can occur is too high. This will likely foreclose offsetting as a method, even where it is likely to result in significant beneficial ecological or biodiversity outcomes.	with national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), or (b) reasonably measurable loss within the ecological district to an At Risk- Declining taxon, other than manuka (Leptospermum scoparium), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008). 		<ul> <li>The approach taken in APP3 and APP4 (limits and outcomes required) is not consistent with national direction such as that contained within the (currently) Draft NPSIB. For comparative purposes, the Council should note that the Draft NPSIB states that biodiversity offsetting is not an appropriate option where:</li> <li>(i) Residual adverse effects cannot be offset because of the irreplaceability or vulnerability of the indigenous biodiversity affected.</li> <li>(ii) There are no technically feasible or socially acceptable options by which to secure gains within acceptable timeframes.</li> <li>(iii) Effects on indigenous biodiversity are uncertain, unknown or little understood, but potential effects are significantly adverse.</li> <li>The section 32 report states that APP3 and APP4 align with the relevant Environment Court decisions on similar provisions in the 2010 RPS. NWL notes that this Environment Court drafting of the compensation criteria was considered in the preparation of the Draft NPSIB. The NPSIB discussion document specifically invited stakeholders to consider the Environment Court (or Jackson Provisions) version as an alternative approach to that which was being promulgated in the Draft NPSIB Appendices 3 and 4. It is understood that this alternative approach was not favoured by the majority of the submitters (only one in favour). It is therefore highly unlikely that these alternative provisions will ultimately be preferred by the Government in its final drafting of the NPSIB.</li> </ul>	Amend the offsetting requirements and outcomes so as to achieve consistency with recommended best practice for offsetting and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		The Jackson Provisions have also not been adopted for SNA provisions recently developed elsewhere in New Zealand. The West Coast RPS, which was made operative in July 2020, aligns more closely to the Draft NPSIB as to when offsetting and compensation proposals can be considered. NWL is also concerned that APP3 and APP4 have not been thoroughly evaluated and tested in terms of section 32 of the	
		RMA. These appendices still come within the definition of "provisions" of the PORPS which must be evaluated under section 32. For the purpose of its analysis under section 32, the Council appears to have only considered "provisions", being the policies and the methods of the PORPS. NWL considers this to be a flawed approach.	
<ul> <li>APP4 – Criteria for Biodiversity Compensation</li> <li>(1) Biodiversity compensation is not available if the activity will result in:         <ul> <li>(a) the loss of an indigenous taxon</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Oppose	NWL submits that the effect of APP4 is to unduly limit biodiversity compensation as an available environmental effects management option.	Remove the limitations that are imposed which restricts when biodiversity compensation can be offered in clause (1). Or otherwise align
(excluding freshwater fauna and flora) or of any ecosystem type from an ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,		NWL considers that APP4 sets the threshold as to when compensation can occur is too high. This will likely foreclose compensation as a method even where it is likely to result in significant beneficial ecological or biodiversity outcomes.	to achieve consistency with national direction via the Draft NPSIB. Amend the compensation
(b) removal or loss of viability of habitat of a Threatened or At Risk indigenous species of fauna or flora under the		The section 32 report states that APP3 and APP4 align with the relevant Environment Court decisions on similar provisions in the 2010 RPS. NWL notes that this Environment	requirements and outcomes so as to achieve consistency with recommended best practice for

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), (c) removal or loss of viability of a naturally rare or uncommon ecosystem type that is associated with indigenous vegetation or habitat of indigenous fauna, or (d) worsening of the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008) conservation status of any Threatened or At Risk indigenous fauna		Court drafting of the compensation criteria was considered in the preparation of the Draft NPSIB. The NPSIB discussion document specifically invited stakeholders to consider the Environment Court (or Jackson Provisions) version as an alternative approach to that which was being promulgated in the Draft NPSIB Appendices 3 and 4. It is understood that this alternative approach was not favoured by the majority of the submitters (only one in favour). It is therefore highly unlikely that these alternative provisions will ultimately be preferred by the Government in its final drafting of the NPSIB. The Jackson Provisions have also not been adopted for SNA provisions recently developed elsewhere in New Zealand. The West Coast RPS, which was made operative in July 2020, aligns more closely to the Draft NPSIB as to when offsetting and compensation proposals can be considered. NWL is also concerned that APP3 and APP4 have not been thoroughly evaluated and tested in terms of section 32 of the RMA. These appendices still come within the definition of "provisions" of the PORPS, which must be evaluated under section 32. For the purpose of its analysis under section 32, the Council appears to have only considered "provisions", being the policies and the methods of the PORPS. NWL considers this to be a flawed approach.	compensation and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
EIT – ENERGY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND TRANS	PORT		
<b>EIT-INF-O4 – Provision of Infrastructure</b> <i>Effective, efficient and resilient infrastructure</i> <i>enables the people and communities of Otago</i> <i>to provide for their social and cultural well-</i> <i>being, their health and safety, and supports</i> <i>sustainable economic development and growth</i> <i>within the region within environmental limits.</i>	Oppose in part	<ul> <li>NWL supports the intent of this policy. However, it opposes the requirement for infrastructure to be managed within "environmental limits". As the environmental limits are not yet known this creates uncertainty as to what this means, and how this policy will be implemented.</li> <li>Further, the inclusion of the "environmental limits" qualifier in a policy, which is intended to be enabling, erodes the intent of the policy and is unnecessary given the range of other provisions contained in the PORPS, that impose restrictions on activities.</li> </ul>	Amend policy to be enabling of infrastructure, and remove the requirement for infrastructure to only be provided for where it achieves "environmental limits".
<ul> <li>EIT-INF-P11 – Operation and Maintenance</li> <li>Except as provided for by ECO–P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while:</li> <li>(1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and</li> <li>(2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects, minimising adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	NWL is concerned about the implementation difficulties associated with this policy, particularly as it only relates to the operation and maintenance of existing infrastructure. The policy requires the avoidance of significant adverse effects as the first priority, and only when avoidance is not practicable, other management methods are available. In some circumstances, there will be adverse effects from the conveyance of electricity that cannot be avoided, yet the broader community benefits arising from the supply of electricity to the community and businesses are such that the economic and social outcomes that accrue are so significant as to outweigh these effects.	<ul> <li>Delete Policy, or amend this policy as follows:</li> <li>-Except as provided for by ECO-P4, <u>a</u></li> <li><u>Allow</u> for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. while:</li> <li>(1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and</li> <li>(2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects.</li> </ul>

PROVIS	ION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
			NWL also submits that it is not clear what would be required by "minimising adverse effects". This does not appear to be consistent with the avoid, remedy or mitigate RMA regime, and the literal definition of minimise is to achieve "the smallest possible amount". In this context, the requirement to minimise adverse effects is not too dissimilar to an outright avoidance requirement.	
	P13 – Locating and managing effects structure	Oppose	NWL is concerned that this policy seeks to adopt a wholesale prevention of activities in areas of significance or higher	Delete this policy.
When p	roviding for new infrastructure outside		value, regardless of the degree of effect (i.e. its significance)	
the coas	stal environment:		or the significance of the value being affected, and regardless	
	id, as the first priority, locating astructure in all of the following:		of the importance of the infrastructure.	
(a)	significant natural areas,		NWL is concerned that it might not always be <i>possible</i> for an	
(b)	outstanding natural features and landscapes,		operationally feasible proposal to be identified that did not affect one or some of the matters listed in (1) of this policy.	
(c)	natural wetlands,		This policy means that an alternatives assessment will be	
(d)	outstanding water bodies,		necessary to accompany any application if it affects one or	
(e)	areas of high or outstanding natural character,		more of these areas, and as currently drafted, this alternative assessment would need to occur regardless of the scale of	
(f)	areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage,		effect on that value or resource. This is inconsistent with the requirements of the RMA. When the consideration of alternatives is required, both the applicant and the decision	
(9	wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights, and		maker will then need to consider whether they are 'possible'. Both parties will need to be satisfied that such alternatives are	
(h)	areas of high recreational and high amenity value, and		not possible.	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(2) if it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the functional or operational needs of the infrastructure manage adverse effects as follows:</li> <li>(a) for nationally or regionally significant infrastructure: <ul> <li>(i) in significant natural areas, in accordance with ECO–P4,</li> <li>(ii) in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF,</li> <li>(iii) in outstanding water bodies, in accordance with LF–P12,</li> <li>(iv) in other areas listed in EIT–INF–P13 (1) above, minimise the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>(b) for all infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant, avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance.</li> </ul>		An alternative may be considered 'possible' if it is technically feasible, whatever the cost. That is, whether something is 'possible' or not (e.g., 'avoid locating in higher value areas unless this is not possible') does not require a consideration of costs. Disregarding the consideration of costs is not a realistic proposition for infrastructure providers. NWL is also concerned that clause 2(b) requires all "additional infrastructure" to avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to these identified areas, even where it is demonstrated that the infrastructure has a functional or operational need to locate in this area. This policy will foreclose options for important infrastructure in Otago. NWL also submits that there are implementation issues with ECO-P4 and its reference to ECO-P6, and the effects management hierarchy is flawed as a result. There also appears to be an issue with reference to (2)(1)(a)(iii) – LF-P12. LF-P12 identifies outstanding water bodies - it does not relate to managing adverse effects.	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>EIT-INF-M5 - District plans</li> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to: <ol> <li>require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>enable planning for the electricity transmission network and National Grid to achieve efficient distribution of electricity,</li> <li>map the electricity transmission network, and in relation to the National Grid, identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li>manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand,</li> <li>manage the adverse effects of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading nationally or regionally significant infrastructure that are on:</li> <li>the surface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Oppose in part	<ul> <li>NWL is aware that the RPS19 included provisions to ensure District Plan appropriately recognised and provided for important infrastructure. NWL therefore seeks that this provision be amended such that it provides a framework for the types of provisions that have been agreed to by various parties to those district plan review processes.</li> <li>In particular, amendments are required to: <ul> <li>replace the use of the non-defined term "electricity transmission network" to be replaced with Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure; or Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure; or Electricity Distribution Network where appropriate.</li> <li>Expand the scope of the "buffer corridor" beyond the National Grid to include Electricity Sub- Transmission Infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure as previously provided for in RPS19.</li> <li>Require prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters) as set out above.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Delete EIT-INF-M5 District Plans or amend as follows</li> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>2) provide for the operation and maintenance of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network to achieve a resilient electricity supply,</li> <li>3) enable planning for the development and upgrade of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network,</li> <li>4) map the National Grid, Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure and identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,</li> <li>b. it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>c. the required upgrading of infrastructure is not funded, and</li> <li>d. require the prioritisation of sites where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.</li> </ul>			<ul> <li>effect as the relief sought)</li> <li>5) manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand,</li> <li>6) manage the adverse effects of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading infrastructure that are on: <ul> <li>a. the surface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>b. the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> </ul> </li> <li>7) ensure that development is avoided where: <ul> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,</li> <li>b. it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>c. the required upgrading of</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
			infrastructure is not funded, and d. <u>require the prioritisation of</u> <u>sites in accordance with the</u>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
			<u>effects management hierarchy</u> (other matters).
NFL - NATURAL FEATURES AND LANDSCAPES	5		
NFL-P2 – Protection of Outstanding Natural Features and Landscapes	Oppose	This policy requires the blanket avoidance of all adverse effects regardless of scale or severity. This is unreasonable and goes further than the requirements of section 6 of the	Delete this policy.
Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:		RMA. Further, this policy conflicts with other provisions that	
<ul> <li>Avoiding adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and</li> </ul>		recognise that, in some situations, some activities may generate adverse effects. NWL is concerned that this provision will override other provisions that make allowances for certain infrastructure activities in certain areas.	
(2) Avoiding, remedy or mitigating other adverse effects.			
NFL-P3 – Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes	Oppose	NWL submits that there is uncertainty regarding the term "highly valued natural features and landscapes". These are	Delete this policy, or amend so as to achieve the following:
Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:		defined in the PORPS as being section 7(c) and 7(f) type landscapes, however NWL is concerned that there appears to	Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:
<ul> <li>Avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and</li> </ul>		be little to distinguish these and the management of these types of landscapes from those recognised as being outstanding natural features and landscapes. For example, the criteria to identify both landscape types appear to be the	(1) Avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and
(2) Avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.		same (refer APP9) and this policy is very similar to the requirements set out in NFL-P2. While this policy seeks to maintain and enhance highly valued landscapes, the	( <del>2) Avoiding, remedying or mitigating</del> other adverse effects.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		management requirement is essentially the same as what is required in NFL-P2, which seeks instead to "protect" outstanding natural landscapes and features. Because these highly valued landscapes are not yet known, NWL is concerned that this policy regime sets too high a bar for lesser valued landscapes.	Avoiding, remedying or mitigating adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape.
UFD – URBAN FORM AND DEVELOPMENT			
<ul> <li>UFD-O2 - Development of urban areas</li> <li>The development and change of Otago's urban areas:</li> <li>(1) improves housing choice, quality, and affordability,</li> <li>(2) allows business and other non-residential activities to meet the needs of communities in appropriate locations,</li> <li>(3) respects and wherever possible enhances</li> </ul>	Support	NWL supports this policy as it establishes clear outcomes for urban environments and includes the provision of infrastructure.	Retain this policy.
the area's history, setting, and natural and built environment,			
(4) delivers good urban design outcomes, and improves liveability,			
<ul> <li>(5) improves connectivity within urban areas, particularly by active transport and public transport,</li> </ul>			
(6) minimises conflict between incompatible activities,			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(7) manages the exposure of risk from natural hazards in accordance with the HAZ–NH – Natural hazards section of this RPS,</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(8) results in sustainable and efficient use of water, energy, land, and infrastructure,</li> </ul>			
(9) achieves integration of land use with existing and planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure and facilitates the safe and efficient ongoing use of regionally significant infrastructure,			
<ul> <li>(10) achieves consolidated, well designed and located, and sustainable development in and around existing urban areas as the primary focus for accommodating the region's urban growth and change, and</li> <li>(11) is guided by the input and involvement of mana whenua.</li> </ul>			
UFD-O4- Development in rural areas	Oppose	NWL is concerned that this objective will act as a prohibition	Delete this objective.
<ul> <li>Development in Otago's rural areas occurs in a way that:</li> <li>(1) Avoids impacts on significant values and features identified in this RPS,</li> </ul>		to a significant number of activities within the rural environment. It requires the avoidance of all impacts on significant values and features identified in this PORPS and does not allow for any ability to manage those effects via	
(2) Avoids as the first priority, land and soils identified as highly productive by LF-LS-P19 unless there is an operational need for the development to be located in rural areas,		mitigation, remediation, offsetting or compensation / enhancement type measures. A blanket "avoidance of impact approach" is not necessarily going to be the answer in every circumstance to achieving the best environmental and	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(3) only provides for urban expansion, rural lifestyle, and rural residential development and the establishment of sensitive activities, in locations identified through strategic planning or zoned within district plans as suitable for such development; and</li> <li>(4) outside of areas identified in (3) maintains and enhances the natural and physical resources that support the productive capacity, rural character, and long term viability of the rural sector and rural communities.</li> </ul>		economic outcomes, and this needs to be better recognised and balanced throughout the PORPS. It is also unclear how this objective will be considered and reconciled against other provisions in the PORPS which provide (to an extent) a pathway for activities to develop and operate within areas of value.	
<ul> <li>UFD-P3 - Urban intensification</li> <li>Within urban areas intensification is enabled where it:</li> <li>(1) contributes to establishing or maintaining the qualities of a well-functioning urban environment,</li> <li>(2) is well-served by existing or planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure,</li> <li>(3) meets the greater of demonstrated demand for housing and/or business use or the level of accessibility provided for by existing or planned active transport or public transport,</li> <li>(4) addresses an identified shortfall for housing or business space, in accordance with UFD-P2,</li> </ul>	Support in part	NWL supports this policy as it establishes clear outcomes for urban intensification and acknowledges the importance of infrastructure in achieving this outcome.	Retain this policy.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(5) addresses issues of concern to iwi and hapū, including those identified in any relevant iwi planning documents, and			
(6) manages adverse effects on values or resources identified by this RPS that require specific management or protection.			

From:	Sharon Aitchison
То:	<u>RPS</u>
Cc:	Megan Justice
Subject:	Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 - submission by PowerNet Ltd
Date:	Friday, 3 September 2021 2:47:58 p.m.
Attachments:	Form 5 and Annex A - PowerNet Proposed RPS 21 Submission 3 9 21.pdf Annexure A Final PowerNet Submission Table 1 on Proposed Otago RPS 21.docx

Attention: ORC Policy Team

Please find attached (PDF combined version, and MS Word version of Annexure A) a submission by **PowerNet Ltd** with respect to the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021.

Please acknowledge receipt in due course.

Regards

Sharon (on behalf of Megan Justice)



#### DDI +64 3 742 4012 | +64 27 255 1665 | PO Box 489, Dunedin 9054 www.mitchelldaysh.co.nz

The information contained in this email message received from Mitchell Daysh Limited (and accompanying attachments) may be confidential. The information is intended solely for the recipient named in this email. If the reader is not the intended recipient, you are notified that any use, disclosure, forwarding or printing of this email or accompanying attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately by return email.

# FORM 5

## SUBMISSION ON NOTIFIED PROPOSAL FOR POLICY STATEMENT OR PLAN, CHANGE OR VARIATION

Clause 6 of Schedule 1, Resource Management Act 1991

# To Otago Regional Council Private Bag 1954 DUNEDIN

- Name PowerNet Limited ("PowerNet")
- 1. This is a submission on the following proposed policy statement (the proposal):

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 ("PORPS")

2. PowerNet could not gain an advantage in trade competition through this submission.

## 3. The specific provisions of the proposal that their submission relates to are:

- > Definitions (Part 1)
- > Domains (Part 3)
- > Topics (Part 3)

More specifically, those provisions listed in Table 1 in Annexure A attached.

## 4. **PowerNet's submission is:**

The interests that have determined the approach of PowerNet in preparing submissions on the PORPS are as follows:

- a) PowerNet is an electricity network management company, first established in 1994 by network owners Electricity Invercargill Limited ("EIL") and The Power Company Limited ("TPCL") to develop, manage and maintain their electricity network assets such as lines, poles, cables, substations and other equipment, in a cost-effective way.
- b) OtagoNet Joint Venture (OJV) is an electricity lines business that conveys electricity to much of rural Otago, areas of Frankton and part of Wanaka, supplying approximately 18,465 customers on behalf of seventeen energy retailers. OJV is operated and managed by PowerNet.

- c) PowerNet is a network utility operator. Network utility operators are defined in the Resource Management Act 1991 ("the Act") and specifically include electricity operators or electricity distributors for the purpose of line function services.
- d) The electricity network owned by PowerNet in the Otago region comprises high voltage (HV) power lines (above and below ground) which distribute electricity to local zone substations where the voltage is reduced before distribution through medium voltage (MV) power lines (overhead and underground) as seen throughout Otago.
- e) Specific to the Otago Region, PowerNet owns electricity zone substations and other assets are located throughout rural and urban areas of Otago. PowerNet's network covers five geographically distinct areas: south and west Otago from Lake Waihola to Owaka and inland to Clinton; north Otago coast from Waitati to Shag Point; inland central Otago from Falls Dam south to Hindon; parts of the Frankton/Lake Hayes area; and a small embedded network north east of Wanaka.
- f) Based on the regulatory Optimised Deprival Valuations (ODV) of the networks it manages, PowerNet is the equivalent of the fifth largest network company in New Zealand, delivering electricity to around 73,000 consumers.
- g) Electricity is a vital resource for New Zealand, its economy and social and cultural wellbeing. The demand for electricity is increasing with the diversification of the local economy in Otago, and PowerNet seeks to ensure the ability to meet this demand in the most efficient and cost-effective manner. Due to the nature and scale of the PowerNet's critical assets, continual upgrade, maintenance and renewal are required to ensure security of supply of electricity within Otago.
- h) Network utility operators are often constrained in the selection of sites on which they locate, particularly when they are part of a regional distribution network. It is important to recognise the locational constraints in considering the overall impact of the environmental effects of network utilities and in designating sites for substations.
- i) Significant development of PowerNet's infrastructure network will be required to manage New Zealand's transition to 100% renewable electricity. This will require upgrades to the lines network to connect to renewable generation sources and facilitating charging stations for electric vehicles, amongst many other, some unforeseen changes to the network. This transition will require increased development of electricity distribution infrastructure, as well as the need to ensure greater resilience of current electricity distribution infrastructure.
- j) Further, electricity distribution infrastructure is an 'all or nothing' resource. Building 95% of an electricity distribution network is as useful as building 0% for those areas unable to be serviced. As a result there may be situations where electricity distribution infrastructure needs to be built in sensitive locations if there is no practical alternative. As a result, planning provisions need

to be flexible enough to allow infrastructure development in certain situations, so as not to preclude this infrastructure, which is critical to the health and wellbeing and prosperity of New Zealanders.

k) Set against this background is a growing body of regulation which make the delivery of electricity network infrastructure difficult. PowerNet, therefore, seeks to ensure that the networks it manages are adequately recognised in the PORPS, are protected from the potential adverse effects of other activities, and that the networks' future upgrade, maintenance and renewal are not unnecessarily impeded.

The particular parts of the PORPS that PowerNet either supports or opposes and the relief sought is outlined in **Table 1** in **Annexure A** attached.

In summary, PowerNet:

- a) Opposes, opposes in part, supports and supports in part the PORPS as set out Table
   1 in Annexure A attached.
- b) The reasons for PowerNet's opposition, opposition in part and support in part are that the PORPS, as notified and in the absence of amendments (or similar amendments) in accordance with this submission:
  - Will not promote the sustainable management of natural and physical resources, will not achieve the purpose of the Resource Management Act 1991 ("Act"), and is otherwise contrary to Part 2 and other relevant provisions of the Act, particularly when having regard to the efficiency and effectiveness of the provisions relative to other means;
  - (ii) Will not promote the efficient use and development of natural and physical resources; and
  - (iii) Does not represent sound resource management practice particularly with respect to infrastructure planning and surrounding land use management.

#### 5. I seek the following decision from the local authority:

- a) The relief sought as set out in Table 1 which is attached as Annexure A (or those with similar or like effect) be accepted; and
- b) Such further or other relief as is appropriate or desirable in order to take account of the concerns expressed and relief sought in this submission; and
- c) Any consequential amendments to the PORPS necessary to give effect to a) and b) above; and
- d) That, in the event that the amendments set out above are not implemented, the PORPS be withdrawn.

473

#### 6. **PowerNet wishes to be heard in support of their submission.**

If others make a similar submission, I will consider presenting a joint case with them at a hearing.

Signature:



Mark Zwies, PowerNet Ltd

(A signature is not required if you make your submission by electronic means.)

Date: 3 September 2021

Electronic address for Service: <a href="mailto:megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz">megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz</a>

Telephone: 03 742 1772

Postal address (or alternative method of service under section 352 of the Act):

Mitchell Daysh Limited PO Box 489 Dunedin

Contact person: Megan Justice

#### Note to person making submission

If you are making a submission to the Environmental Protection Authority, you should use form 16B. If you are a person who could gain an advantage in trade competition through the submission, your right to make a submission may be limited by clause 6(4) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 of the Resource Management Act 1991.

Please note that your submission (or part of your submission) may be struck out if the authority is satisfied that at least 1 of the following applies to the submission (or part of the submission):

- > it is frivolous or vexatious:
- > it discloses no reasonable or relevant case:

474

- it would be an abuse of the hearing process to allow the submission (or the part) to be taken further:
- > it contains offensive language:
- it is supported only by material that purports to be independent expert evidence, but has been prepared by a person who is not independent or who does not have sufficient specialised knowledge or skill to give expert advice on the matter.

#### ANNEXURE A

#### SUBMISSION POINTS BY POWERNET LTD – PROPOSED OTAGO REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT 2021

## Table 1

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
DEFINITIONS			
<ul> <li>Regionally Significant Infrastructure: means:</li> <li>1. roads classified as being of regional importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification,</li> <li>2. electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,</li> <li>3. renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable electricity generation facilities designed and operated principally for supplying a single premise or facility,</li> <li>4. telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities,</li> <li>5. facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,</li> <li>6. the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, Wanaka, Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, Oamaru, Taieri,</li> </ul>	Support	<ul> <li>PowerNet owns electricity sub-transmission infrastructure and supports the inclusion of electricity sub-transmission infrastructure in this definition.</li> <li>The Otago Regional Policy Statement 2019 ("RPS19") contained a definition for <i>Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure</i>, which has been removed from PRPS21.</li> <li>The term was picked up in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 such that those lines were identified and effects on those lines from potentially incompatible activities were managed through methods such as corridors. The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section.</li> <li>PowerNet seeks to re-insert the definition of Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure into the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure.</li> </ul>	Retain definition subject to amending clause (2) as follows: (2) electricity sub-transmission infrastructure <u>and significant</u> <u>electricity distribution</u> <u>infrastructure</u> .

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>navigation infrastructure associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,</li> </ol>			
8. defence facilities,			
9. community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution infrastructure that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution infrastructure (excluding delivery systems or infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies),			
10. community stormwater infrastructure,			
<ol> <li>wastewater and sewage collection, treatment and disposal infrastructure serving no fewer than 25 households, and</li> </ol>			
12. Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection infrastructure and drainage schemes.			
Additional infrastructure:	Oppose in part	Generally, PowerNet considers that the number of definitions	Rationalise the definitions that relate
has the same meaning as in clause 1.3 of the National Policy Statement on Urban Development (as set out in the box below)		to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the	to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
means:		provisions are implemented. PowerNet considers that the definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>a. public open space.</li> <li>b. community infrastructure as defined in section 197 of the Local Government Act 2002.</li> <li>c. land transport (as defined in the Land Transport Management Act 2003) that is not controlled by local authorities.</li> <li>d. social infrastructure, such as schools and healthcare facilities.</li> </ul>		Development and the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be combined/rationalised.	
e. a network operated for the purpose of telecommunications (as defined in section 5 of the Telecommunications Act 2001).			
f. a network operated for the purpose of transmitting or distributing electricity or gas			
Distribution network: has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 (as set out in the box below) a. means lines and associated equipment that are used for conveying electricity and are operated by a business engaged in the distribution of electricity; but	Oppose in part	PowerNet questions the purpose of this definition as it does not relate to any provisions in the PORPS. Generally, PowerNet considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
does not include lines and associated equipment that are part of the national grid.			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<b>Electricity sub-transmission infrastructure</b> : means electricity infrastructure which conveys electricity between energy generation sources, the National Grid and zone substations and between zone substations.	Oppose in part	PowerNet supports the inclusion of a definition of this infrastructure, and considers that the definition accurately describes this infrastructure. However, PowerNet considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
Functional need: has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below). Means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that environment.	Support in part	PowerNet supports the inclusion of this definition in the PORPS as it is relevant to electricity distribution and sub- transmission activities and adds clarity for determining when an activity has a functional need to locate in a specific area. PowerNet questions whether the definition enables the consideration of efficiency when considering where infrastructure is located. For instance, there may be situations where an alternative route for a line is possible, but it would add considerable length to the line, which would have correspondingly greater adverse effects on the environment, greater financial costs and will use more energy.	Amend definition as follows: means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because the activity can only occur in that environment, taking into account the <u>efficiency of the proposal or activity</u> . Or other relief to give effect to this submission point.
<b>Specified infrastructure</b> : has the same meaning as in clause 3.21 of the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 (as set out in the box below) means any of the following:	Oppose in part	Generally, PowerNet considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented. PowerNet considers that the definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
a. infrastructure that delivers a service operated by a lifeline utility (as defined in the Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002),		Development and the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be combined/rationalised.	
<ul> <li>regionally significant infrastructure identified as such in a regional policy statement or regional plan,</li> </ul>			
c. any public flood control, flood protection, or drainage works carried out:			
<ul> <li>by or on behalf of a local authority, including works carried out for the purposes set out in section 133 of the Soil Conservation and Rivers Control Act 1951, or</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>ii. for the purpose of drainage by drainage districts under the Land Drainage Act 1908.</li> </ul>			
<b>Operational need</b> : has the same meaning as in Standard 14 of the National Planning Standards 2019 (as set out in the box below) means the need for a proposal or activity to traverse, locate or operate in a particular environment because of technical, logistical or operational characteristics or constraints	Support	PowerNet supports the inclusion of this definition in the PORPS as it is relevant to electricity distribution and sub- transmission activities and adds clarity for determining when an activity has an operational need to locate in a specific area.	Retain definition.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
Other infrastructure: has the same meaning as in regulation 3 of the National Environmental Standard for Freshwater 2020 (as set out in the box below) means infrastructure, other than specified infrastructure, that was lawfully established before, and in place at, the close of 2 September 2020.	Oppose in part	Generally, PowerNet considers that the number of definitions to define the different parts of the electricity industry could be simplified. The proliferation of these definitions may result in confusion about the intent of the provisions, and how the provisions are implemented. PowerNet considers that the definitions from the National Policy Statement on Urban Development and the Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Freshwater) Regulations 2020 that relate to electricity infrastructure should be combined/rationalised.	Rationalise the definitions that relate to the electricity infrastructure and make consequential changes to the wording in the relevant provisions.
Infrastructure: Has the same meaning as in section 2 of the Resource Management Act 1991 (as set out in the box below)	Support	PowerNet supports the inclusion of this definition, as it reflects the RMA definition.	Retain definition.
means— a. pipelines that distribute or transmit natural or manufactured gas, petroleum, biofuel, or			
<ul> <li>geothermal energy:</li> <li>b. a network for the purpose of telecommunication as defined in section 5 of the Telecommunications Act 2001:</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>c. a network for the purpose of radiocommunication as defined in section 2(1) of the Radiocommunications Act 1989:</li> <li>d. facilities for the generation of electricity, lines used or intended to be used to convey</li> </ul>			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
electricity, and support structures for lines used or intended to be used to convey electricity, excluding facilities, lines, and support structures if a person—			
i. uses them in connection with the generation of electricity for the person's use; and			
<li>ii. does not use them to generate any electricity for supply to any other person:</li>			
e. a water supply distribution system, including a system for irrigation:			
f. a drainage or sewerage system:			
<ul> <li>g. structures for transport on land by cycleways, rail, roads, walkways, or any other means:</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>h. facilities for the loading or unloading of cargo or passengers transported on land by any means:</li> </ul>	/		
i. an airport as defined in section 2 of the Airport Authorities Act 1966:			
j. a navigation installation as defined in section 2 of the Civil Aviation Act 1990:			
<ul> <li>k. facilities for the loading or unloading of cargo or passengers carried by sea, including a port related commercial undertaking as defined in section 2(1) of the Port Companies Act 1988:</li> </ul>			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>anything described as a network utility operation in regulations made for the purposes of the definition of network utility operator in section 166.</li> </ol>			
New Definition	N/A	<ul> <li>The term "electricity transmission network" has been used in the below provisions but has not been defined:</li> <li>EIT–INF–O6 – Long-term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure</li> <li>EIT–INF–P16 – Providing for electricity transmission and the National Grid</li> <li>EIT–INF–M5 – District plans</li> <li>The drafting of the provisions suggests that the term refers to infrastructure for electricity transmission other than the National Grid. Therefore, it is concluded that these provisions are referring to the electricity distribution network, as defined by PORPS.</li> </ul>	<b>Replace</b> all instances of the term "electricity transmission network" with "electricity distribution network".
New definition	N/A	The RPS19 contained a definition for <i>Significant Electricity</i> <i>Distribution Infrastructure</i> , which has been removed from the PORPS. This definition was referred to in Policy 4.4.5(e) of RPS19 which sought to manage potentially incompatible activities	Add a new definition for significant electricity distribution infrastructure as follows: <u>Significant Electricity Distribution</u> <u>Infrastructure means electricity</u> <u>distribution infrastructure which</u> <u>supplies:</u>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		<ul> <li>through methods such as corridors. The use of corridors was then picked up in the methods section of the RPS19.</li> <li>The s 32 Report contains no discussion on the reason for removing this protection from these important lines. That is a critical issue for PowerNet given the lines serve an important role in providing for the social, economic, cultural and health and safety of the community. The defined activity does this by identifying key functions, places and communities for which the resilience of the electricity distribution network is particularly important, including: <ul> <li>Maintaining the functionality of healthcare infrastructure such as hospitals and other emergency services;</li> <li>Maintaining the resilience of the electricity supply to other regionally significant infrastructure including ports, airports, etc; and</li> <li>Ensuring the resilience of the electricity supply to isolated communities is protected.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Essential and emergency services (such as hospitals and lifeline facilities);</li> <li>Other regionally significant infrastructure or individual consumers requiring supply of 1MW or more;</li> <li>700 or more consumers; or</li> <li>Communities that are isolated and which do not have an alternative supply in the event the line or cable is compromised and where the assets are difficult to replace in the event of failure.</li> </ol>
New definition	N/A	The existing definition of "effect management hierarchy" applies only to natural inland wetlands and rivers. However, the term can usefully be applied to managing adverse effects arising from other types of activities, particularly infrastructure. The addition of the term is also important in terms of providing an appropriate carve-out for provisions which are highly prohibitive of activities in outstanding water bodies	Add a new definition for "effects management hierarchy (Other Matters)" as follows: <u>Effects Management Hierarchy (other</u> <u>matters) means</u> <u>An approach to managing the</u> <u>adverse effects (including cumulative</u> <u>effects and loss of potential value) of</u>

despite there being a functional or operational need for those activities to be located in that environment.       an activity on the extent or values of a significant natural area, outstanding internet of indiacope, outstanding water bodies (excluding rivers and natural wellands), area of high or outstanding natural character, area or place of significant or outstanding historic heritage, wahi tapu, wahi taoka, areas with protected customary rights, and areas of high recreational and high amenity value that requires that:         (a) Adverse effects are avoided where practicable.       (b) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.         (b) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.       (c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.         (c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.       (c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.         (d) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.       (c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.         (d) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.       (e) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are minimised where practicable.         (e) Where more than minor adverse effects cannot be minimised wided, they are minimised where practicable.       (e) Where more than minor adverse effects cannot be minimised wided, they are minimised where practicable.	PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
minimisea, remealed or mitidated				<ul> <li>an activity on the extent or values of a significant natural area, outstanding natural feature or landscape, outstanding water bodies (excluding rivers and natural wetlands), area of high or outstanding natural character, area or place of significant or outstanding historic heritage, wahi</li> <li>tapu, wahi taoka, areas with protected customary rights, and areas of high recreational and high amenity value that requires that:</li> <li>(a) Adverse effects are avoided where practicable,</li> <li>(b) Where adverse effects cannot be avoided, they are minimised where practicable,</li> <li>(c) Where adverse effects cannot be minimised, they are remedied where practicable,</li> <li>(d) Where adverse effects cannot be remedied, they are mitigated to the extent practicable,</li> <li>(e) Where more than minor adverse</li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
			<u>compensation must be</u> <u>considered, where appropriate.</u> (f) <u>If offsetting and/or environmental</u> <u>compensation is not appropriate</u> <u>the activity itself is to be avoided.</u>
IM INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT			
<ul> <li>IM-P2- Decision Priorities</li> <li>Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall:</li> <li>1. Firstly, secure the long term life support capacity and mauri of the natural environment,</li> <li>2. Secondly, promote the health and safety needs of people, and</li> <li>3. Thirdly, safeguard the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic and cultural well being now and in the future.</li> </ul>	Oppose	This approach is almost directly derived from the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020. Applying this hierarchy as a mandatory decision making framework within Otago, for <i>all</i> decision making, is likely to cause implementation difficulties as in certain circumstances there will need to be a more nuanced approached taken to resource management.	Delete.
<ul> <li>IM-P14- Human Impact</li> <li>Preserve opportunities for future generations by:</li> <li>identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the environment will be degraded,</li> </ul>	Oppose	PowerNet opposes the uncertainty that is inherent within the drafting of this policy. There is no certainty provided within the PORPS as to what is meant by the term "limits" and how these are intended to be developed or implemented. For example, are these "limits" intended to be used as consenting triggers, or are they intended to act as "environmental limits" or bottom lines?	Delete.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>requiring that activities are established in places, and carried out in ways, that are within those limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and</li> <li>regularly assessing and adjusting limits and thresholds for activities over time in light of the actual and potential environmental impacts.</li> </ol>			
LAND AND FRESHWATER			
<ul> <li>LF-FW-P9 – Protecting Natural Wetlands</li> <li>Protect natural wetlands by:</li> <li>avoiding a reduction in their values or extent unless: <ul> <li>(a) the loss of values or extent arises from:</li> <li>i. the customary harvest of food or resources undertaken in accordance with tikata Maori,</li> <li>ii. restoration activities,</li> <li>iii. scientific research,</li> <li>iv. the sustainable harvest of sphagnum moss,</li> <li>v. the construction or maintenance of wetland utility structures,</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Oppose in part	PowerNet understands that this policy is to give effect to the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020 and the Regulations relating to Freshwater Management ( <b>NESFW</b> ). However, PowerNet is concerned that this policy does not provide a consenting pathway for other activities which are also locationally or functionally constrained, such as electricity sub-transmission and distribution activities. As outlined in submissions below, PowerNet is also concerned that even if the effects management hierarchy was available to 'other infrastructure' activities, the limits as to how and when this can be applied under ECO-P3, ECO-P6 and APP3 and APP4 are unlikely to result in positive environmental and economic outcomes. This is discussed further with respect to these matters specifically.	<ul> <li>Add the following clause to this policy:</li> <li>(b) the Regional Council is satisfied that: <ol> <li>the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure or significant electricity distribution infrastructure,</li> <li>the specified infrastructure or significant electricity distribution infrastructure or significant electricity distribution infrastructure will provide significant natural or regional benefits,</li> <li>there is a functional need for the specified infrastructure</li> </ol> </li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>vi. the maintenance of operation of specific infrastructure, or other infrastructure,</li> <li>vii. natural hazards works, or</li> <li>(b) the Regional Council is satisfied that: <ul> <li>i. the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of specified infrastructure,</li> <li>ii. the specified infrastructure will provide significant natural or regional benefits,</li> <li>iii. there is a functional need for the specified infrastructure in that location,</li> <li>iv. the effects of the activity on indigenous biodiversity are managed by applying either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</li> <li>v. the other effects of the activity (excluding those managed under (1)(b)(iv)) are managed by applying the effects management hierarchy, and</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		Further, PowerNet does not support the inclusion of clause 1(b)(ii) "the specified infrastructure will provide significant national or regional benefits" this is requirement goes beyond regulation 45 of the NESFW.	effect as the relief sought) significant electricity distribution in that location, Delete clause 1(b)(ii) Or other relief to include electricity sub-transmission and distribution activities.
satisfied that:			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(a) the application demonstrates how each step of the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) will be applied to the loss of values or extent of the natural wetland, and</li> <li>(b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply for the effects management hierarchies in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v).</li> </ul>			
ECO- Ecosystems and Indigenous Biodiversity			
ECO-P2- Identifying significant natural areas and taoka Identify: (1) the areas and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2, and (2) indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO-M3.	Oppose in part	PowerNet is concerned that this policy, combined with the criteria in APP2, will result in a large portion of the Otago region being identified as an SNA. This policy does not require any areas to be clearly mapped or scheduled in any lower order plans, instead it requires SNA to be identified in accordance with the criteria set out in APP2. This approach lacks necessary precision. The criteria set out in APP2 also differs from the criteria that was recommended to the ORC by its consultants, Wildlands (refer Appendix 17 of the section 32 report). It appears that the Wildlands criteria were used for informing the section 32 analysis, however there is no clear understanding provided in the documentation as to why there has then been a shift to that what was notified (i.e. the criteria differs to that set out in Appendix 17). PowerNet is therefore concerned that the	Delete ECO-P2 or amend as follows: Identify: (1) the areas and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2, and (2) indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO-M3. Significant natural areas will be identified by local authorities using the criteria in APP2 and these areas will be mapped at an appropriate scale in the relevant regional and district plans.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		criteria as set out in APP2 has not been tested and found to be suitably robust under section 32 of the RMA. PowerNet is also concerned that the only significant mapping that was submitted as part of the supporting documentation relates to faunal SNA values. Mapping of flora SNAs has not yet been undertaken, and as noted, PowerNet is concerned that by applying the criteria in APP2, large areas of the region may exude qualities that would trigger one or more of the criteria and be deemed to comprise a SNA as a result. The land that may qualify as a SNA in the region is therefore currently uncertain. As evidenced in other regions such as Northland, approximately 42% of the Far North District was found to qualify as a SNA. Widespread qualification of land as a SNA within the Otago region (in conjunction with the associated ECO policies) is likely to result in significant developmental constraints and the Council has not quantified the commensurate economic and social costs of this. These costs should have been properly accounted for in terms of the Council meeting the requirements of section 32 of the Act.	Indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka will be identified by local authorities in accordance with ECO-M3, and these areas will be mapped in the relevant regional and district plans.
ECO–P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka Except as provided for by ECO–P4 and ECO– P5, protect significant natural areas and	Oppose	This policy is effectively a prohibition on the operation, maintenance and upgrade of existing electricity networks. The policy does not take into account the functional or operational needs of PowerNet's infrastructure network, nor any future development of it.	Delete Policy ECO-P3 or amend as necessary to provide for the development of and ongoing operation, maintenance and upgrade of PowerNet's infrastructure, and to give effect to the (draft) NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka by:</li> <li>1) avoiding adverse effects that result in: <ul> <li>a) any reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant) identified under ECO-P2(1), or</li> <li>b) any loss of Kāi Tahu values, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>2) after (1), applying the biodiversity effects management hierarchy in ECO-P6, and</li> <li>3) prior to significant natural areas and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified in accordance with ECO-P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance</li> </ul>		The policy, without significant amendment, would constrain the ability to develop regionally significant infrastructure, which has regional benefits. Furthermore, it is unclear how this policy will give effect to the impending national policy statement for indigenous biodiversity.	
with IM–P15. ECO-P4 – Provision for new activities Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity by following the sequential steps in the effect management hierarchy set out in ECO-P6 when making decisions on plans, applications for resource consents or notices of requirements for the following activities in significant natural areas, or where they may adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka:	Oppose in part	PowerNet supports the provision insofar as it enables consideration of consent applications for the development or upgrading of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure, despite their potential effect on SNAs. PowerNet considers that the policy should also provide for distribution networks where they have a functional or operational need to locate within an SNA to ensure the provision of electricity to the community is not precluded in these situations.	Amend ECO-P4 (1) as follows: (1) The development or upgrade of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure <u>and</u> <u>significant electricity distribution</u> <u>infrastructure</u> that has a functional or operational need to locate within the relevant significant natural area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(1) The development or upgrade of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure that has a functional or operational need to locate within the relevant significant natural		Further, PowerNet has concerns with ECO-P6 and its reference to APP3 and APP4. The reasons for this are set out below in subsequent rows in this table.	species or ecosystems that are taoka. Or other relief to give effect to his
area(s) or where they may adversely affect indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka.			submission.
(2) the development of papakaika, marae and ancillary facilities associated with customary activities on Maori land,			
(3) the use of Maori land in a way that will make a significant contribution to enhancing the social, cultural or economic wellbeing of takata whenua,			
(4) activities that are for the purpose of protecting, restoring or enhancing a significant natural area or indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, or			
(5) activities that are for the purpose of addressing a severe and immediate risk to public health and safety.			
ECO-P6 – Maintaining indigenous biodiversity	Oppose in part	PowerNet generally agrees with the cascading approach that	Amend to be consistent with the
Maintain Otago's indigenous biodiversity		has been developed within this policy on a principled basis.	national direction such as the Draft
(excluding the coastal environment and areas		However, it submits that when this policy is considered	NPSIB and NPSFW. Amendments to
managed under ECO-P3) by applying the		alongside the limits or constraints which are set out in APP3	APP3 and APP4 are also necessary.
following biodiversity effects management		and APP4 as to when offsetting and compensation are	
hierarchy in decision making on applications for resource consents and notices of requirement:		available, the policy becomes unworkable in certain circumstances. APP3 and APP4 contain a set of criteria as to	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ol> <li>Avoid adverse effects as the first priority,</li> <li>Where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be avoided, they are remedied,</li> <li>Where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided or remedied, they are mitigated,</li> <li>Where there are residual adverse effects after avoidance, remediation and mitigation, then the residual adverse effects are offset in accordance with APP3, and</li> <li>if biodiversity offsetting of residual adverse effects is not possible, then:         <ul> <li>(a) the residual adverse effects are compensated for in accordance with APP4, and</li> <li>(b) if the residual effects cannot be compensated for in accordance with APP4, the activity is avoided.</li> </ul> </li> </ol>		<ul> <li>when both offsetting and compensation is not an available method. These criteria are limiting and are written as a bottom line or hard limit. If they are not met, the option of offsetting and/or compensation is no longer available to be used as part of any effects management response. In these circumstances, the method directs the decision maker back to the first management tier – which is to "avoid".</li> <li>PowerNet submits that this policy and the way it draws on APP3 and APP4 is inconsistent with national direction such as the Draft National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity ("NPSIB") and NPSFW as to when, and under what circumstances, the full suite of the effects management methods can be applied. It is also inconsistent with section 104(1)(ab) of the RMA which requires a decision maker to have regard to <u>any</u> measure proposed or agreed to by the applicant for the purpose of ensuring positive effects on the environment that will or may result from allowing the activity.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>APP2 – Significance Criteria</li> <li>An area is considered to be a significant natural area if it meets any one or more of the criteria below:</li> <li>(a) An area that is an example of an indigenous vegetation type or habitat that is typical or characteristic of the original</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	PowerNet is concerned that the significance criteria within APP2 whilst similar to, differs to that contained in anticipated national direction (i.e. the Draft NPSIB). Parts of this criteria also differ to the technical advice provided by Wildlands in Appendix 17 of the supporting documentation to the PORPS (clauses (b) and (d)(iv)). It is uncertain whether APP2 has been properly evaluated in terms of section 32 of the Act.	Amend Appendix 2 – Significance criteria for indigenous biodiversity to ensure the significance criteria for indigenous biodiversity are specific and targeted to avoid the inclusion of inappropriate areas within SNAs.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>natural diversity of the relevant ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region. This may include degraded examples of their type or represent all that remains of indigenous vegetation and habitats of indigenous fauna in some areas.</li> <li>(b) An indigenous marine ecosystem (including both intertidal and sub-tidal habitats, and including both faunal and floral assemblages) that makes up part of at least 10% of the natural extent of each of Otago's original marine ecosystem types and reflecting the environmental gradients of the region.</li> <li>(c) An indigenous marine fauna (including both intertidal and sub-tidal habitats, and including both faunal and floral gradients of the region.</li> <li>(c) An indigenous marine fauna (including both intertidal and sub-tidal habitats, and including both faunal and floral components), that is characteristic or typical of the natural marine ecosystem diversity of Otago.</li> </ul>		PowerNet is also concerned that the application of these criteria will mean a large proportion of the Otago region will be identified as an SNA. This issue has arisen in other parts of New Zealand where similar criteria have been used. For example, the Far North District Council identified 42% of its district as SNAs. Widespread qualification of land as a SNA within the Otago region (in conjunction with the associated ECO policies) is likely to result in significant developmental constraints and the Council has not quantified the commensurate economic and social costs of this. These costs should have been properly accounted for in terms of the Council meeting the requirements of section 32 of the Act.	Ensure consistency with best practice or national policy direction when finalising this criteria.
<ul> <li>(d) An area that supports:</li> <li>(i) An indigenous species that is threatened, at risk, or uncommon, nationally or within an ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region, or</li> <li>(ii) Indigenous vegetation or habitat of indigenous fauna that has been</li> </ul>			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
reduced to less than 20% of its former extent nationally, regionally or within a relevant land environment, ecological district, coastal marine biogeographic region or freshwater environment including wetlands, or			
<ul> <li>(iii) Indigenous vegetation and habitats within originally rare ecosystems, or</li> </ul>			
(iv) The site contains indigenous vegetation or an indigenous species that is endemic to Otago or that are at distributional limits within Otago.			
(e) An area that supports a high diversity of indigenous ecosystem types, indigenous taxa or has changes in species composition reflecting the existence of diverse natural features or gradients.			
(f) An area that supports or provides habitat for:			
(i) Indigenous species at their distributional limit within Otago or nationally, or			
<ul><li>(ii) Indigenous species that are endemic to the Otago region, or</li></ul>			
(h) Indigenous vegetation or an association of indigenous species that is distinctive, of restricted occurrence, or has developed as			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
a result of an unusual environmental factor or combinations of factors.			
<ul> <li>(i) The relationship of the area with its surroundings (both within Otago and between Otago and the adjoining regions), including:</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(i) An area that has important connectivity value allowing dispersal of indigenous flora and fauna between different areas, or</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(ii) An area that has an important buffering function that helps to protect the values of an adjacent area or feature, or</li> </ul>			
(iii) An area that is important for indigenous fauna during some part of their life cycle, either regularly or on an irregular basis, e.g. for feeding, resting, nesting, breeding, spawning o refuges from predation, or			
<ul> <li>(j) A wetland which plays an important hydrological, biological or ecological role in the natural functioning of a river or coastal ecosystem.</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>APP3 – Criteria for Biodiversity Offsetting</li> <li>(1) Biodiversity offsetting is not available if the activity will result in:</li> </ul>	Oppose	PowerNet submits that the effect of APP3 is to unduly limit biodiversity offsetting as an available environmental effects management option.	Remove the limitations that are imposed which restrict when offsetting can be offered (in clause (1)). Or otherwise align to achieve consistency

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>(a) the loss of any individuals of Threatened taxa, other than kānuka (Kunzea robusta and Kunzea serotina), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), or</li> <li>(b) reasonably measurable loss within the ecological district to an At Risk- Declining taxon, other than manuka (Leptospermum scoparium), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008).</li> <li></li> </ul>		<ul> <li>PowerNet considers that APP3 sets the threshold as to when offsetting can occur is too high. This will likely foreclose offsetting as a method, even where it is likely to result in significant beneficial ecological or biodiversity outcomes.</li> <li>The approach taken in APP3 and APP4 (limits and outcomes required) is not consistent with national direction such as that contained within the (currently) Draft NPSIB. For comparative purposes, the Council should note that the Draft NPSIB states that biodiversity offsetting is not an appropriate option where:</li> <li>(i) Residual adverse effects cannot be offset because of the irreplaceability or vulnerability of the indigenous biodiversity affected.</li> <li>(ii) There are no technically feasible or socially acceptable options by which to secure gains within acceptable timeframes.</li> <li>(iii) Effects on indigenous biodiversity are uncertain, unknown or little understood, but potential effects are significantly adverse.</li> <li>The section 32 report states that APP3 and APP4 align with the relevant Environment Court decisions on similar provisions in the 2010 RPS. PowerNet notes that this Environment Court drafting of the compensation criteria was considered in the preparation of the Draft NPSIB. The NPSIB discussion document specifically invited stakeholders to consider the Environment Court (or Jackson Provisions) version as an alternative approach to that which was being promulgated in the Draft NPSIB Appendices 3 and 4. It is</li> </ul>	with national direction via the Draft NPSIB. Amend the offsetting requirements and outcomes so as to achieve consistency with recommended best practice for offsetting and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		<ul> <li>understood that this alternative approach was not favoured by the majority of the submitters (only one in favour). It is therefore highly unlikely that these alternative provisions will ultimately be preferred by the Government in its final drafting of the NPSIB.</li> <li>The Jackson Provisions have also not been adopted for SNA provisions recently developed elsewhere in New Zealand. The West Coast RPS, which was made operative in July 2020, aligns more closely to the Draft NPSIB as to when offsetting and compensation proposals can be considered.</li> <li>PowerNet is also concerned that APP3 and APP4 have not been thoroughly evaluated and tested in terms of section 32 of the RMA. These appendices still come within the definition of "provisions" of the PORPS which must be evaluated under section 32. For the purpose of its analysis under section 32, the Council appears to have only considered "provisions", being the policies and the methods of the PORPS. PowerNet considers this to be a flawed approach.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>APP4 – Criteria for Biodiversity Compensation</li> <li>(1) Biodiversity compensation is not available if the activity will result in:         <ul> <li>(a) the loss of an indigenous taxon (excluding freshwater fauna and flora) or of any ecosystem type from an</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Oppose	PowerNet submits that the effect of APP4 is to unduly limit biodiversity compensation as an available environmental effects management option. PowerNet considers that APP4 sets the threshold as to when compensation can occur is too high. This will likely foreclose	Remove the limitations that are imposed which restricts when biodiversity compensation can be offered in clause (1). Or otherwise align to achieve consistency with national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,</li> <li>(b) removal or loss of viability of habitat of a Threatened or At Risk indigenous species of fauna or flora under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008),</li> <li>(c) removal or loss of viability of a naturally rare or uncommon ecosystem type that is associated with indigenous vegetation or habitat of indigenous fauna, or</li> <li>(d) worsening of the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008) conservation status of any Threatened or At Risk indigenous fauna</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>compensation as a method even where it is likely to result in significant beneficial ecological or biodiversity outcomes.</li> <li>The section 32 report states that APP3 and APP4 align with the relevant Environment Court decisions on similar provisions in the 2010 RPS. PowerNet notes that this Environment Court drafting of the compensation criteria was considered in the preparation of the Draft NPSIB. The NPSIB discussion document specifically invited stakeholders to consider the Environment Court (or Jackson Provisions) version as an alternative approach to that which was being promulgated in the Draft NPSIB Appendices 3 and 4. It is understood that this alternative approach was not favoured by the majority of the submitters (only one in favour). It is therefore highly unlikely that these alternative provisions will ultimately be preferred by the Government in its final drafting of the NPSIB.</li> <li>The Jackson Provisions have also not been adopted for SNA provisions recently developed elsewhere in New Zealand. The West Coast RPS, which was made operative in July 2020, aligns more closely to the Draft NPSIB as to when offsetting and compensation proposals can be considered.</li> <li>PowerNet is also concerned that APP3 and APP4 have not been thoroughly evaluated and tested in terms of section 32 of the RMA. These appendices still come within the definition of "provisions" of the PORPS, which must be evaluated under</li> </ul>	Amend the compensation requirements and outcomes so as to achieve consistency with recommended best practice for compensation and/or national direction via the Draft NPSIB.

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		section 32. For the purpose of its analysis under section 32, the Council appears to have only considered "provisions", being the policies and the methods of the PORPS. PowerNet considers this to be a flawed approach.	
EIT – ENERGY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND TRANS	PORT		
<b>EIT-INF-O4 – Provision of Infrastructure</b> <i>Effective, efficient and resilient infrastructure</i> <i>enables the people and communities of Otago</i> <i>to provide for their social and cultural well-</i> <i>being, their health and safety, and supports</i> <i>sustainable economic development and growth</i> <i>within the region within environmental limits.</i>	Oppose in part	PowerNet supports the intent of this policy. However, it opposes the requirement for infrastructure to be managed within "environmental limits". As the environmental limits are not yet known this creates uncertainty as to what this means, and how this policy will be implemented. Further, the inclusion of the "environmental limits" qualifier in a policy, which is intended to be enabling, erodes the intent of the policy and is unnecessary given the range of other provisions contained in the PORPS, that impose restrictions on activities.	Amend policy to be enabling of infrastructure, and remove the requirement for infrastructure to only be provided for where it achieves "environmental limits".
<ul> <li>EIT-INF-P11 – Operation and Maintenance</li> <li>Except as provided for by ECO–P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while:</li> <li>(1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and</li> <li>(2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects, minimising adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	PowerNet is concerned about the implementation difficulties associated with this policy, particularly as it only relates to the operation and maintenance of existing infrastructure. The policy requires the avoidance of significant adverse effects as the first priority, and only when avoidance is not practicable, other management methods are available. In some circumstances, there will be adverse effects from the conveyance of electricity that cannot be avoided, yet the broader community benefits arising from the supply of	Delete Policy, or amend this policy as follows: <u>-Except as provided for by ECO-P4, a</u> <u>Allow</u> for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. <del>while:</del> (1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		electricity to the community and businesses are such that the economic and social outcomes that accrue are so significant as to outweigh these effects.	( <del>2) if avoidance is not practicable,</del> and for other adverse effects <del>,</del> minimising adverse effects.
		PowerNet also submits that it is not clear what would be required by "minimising adverse effects". This does not appear to be consistent with the avoid, remedy or mitigate RMA regime, and the literal definition of minimise is to achieve "the smallest possible amount". In this context, the requirement to minimise adverse effects is not too dissimilar to an outright avoidance requirement.	
EIT-INF-P13 – Locating and managing effects on infrastructure	Oppose	PowerNet is concerned that this policy seeks to adopt a wholesale prevention of activities in areas of significance or	Delete this policy.
When providing for new infrastructure outside the coastal environment:		higher value, regardless of the degree of effect (i.e. its significance) or the significance of the value being affected,	
<ol> <li>avoid, as the first priority, locating infrastructure in all of the following:</li> </ol>		and regardless of the importance of the infrastructure.	
<ul> <li>(a) significant natural areas,</li> <li>(b) outstanding natural features and landscapes,</li> </ul>		PowerNet is concerned that it might not always be <b>possible</b> for an operationally feasible proposal to be identified that did not affect one or some of the matters listed in (1) of this policy.	
(c) natural wetlands, (d) outstanding water bodies,		This policy means that an alternatives assessment will be necessary to accompany any application if it affects one or	
(e) areas of high or outstanding natural character,		more of these areas, and as currently drafted, this alternative assessment would need to occur regardless of the scale of effect on that value or recourse. This is inconsistent with the	
(f) areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage,		effect on that value or resource. This is inconsistent with the requirements of the RMA. When the consideration of alternatives is required, both the applicant and the decision	

PROVISION		POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
prot (h) are	hi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with tected customary rights, and as of high recreational and high enity value, and		maker will then need to consider whether they are 'possible'. Both parties will need to be satisfied that such alternatives are not possible.	
areas list functiona infrastruc follows:	possible to avoid locating in the ted in (1) above because of the al or operational needs of the cture manage adverse effects as nationally or regionally significant		An alternative may be considered 'possible' if it is technically feasible, whatever the cost. That is, whether something is 'possible' or not (e.g., 'avoid locating in higher value areas unless this is not possible') does not require a consideration of costs. Disregarding the consideration of costs is not a realistic proposition for infrastructure providers.	
infro (i) (ii) (iii)	astructure: in significant natural areas, in accordance with ECO–P4, in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF, in outstanding water bodies, in		PowerNet is also concerned that clause 2(b) requires all "additional infrastructure" to avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to these identified areas, even where it is demonstrated that the infrastructure has a functional or operational need to locate in this area. This policy will foreclose options for important infrastructure in Otago.	
(iv)	accordance with LF–P12,		PowerNet also submits that there are implementation issues with ECO-P4 and its reference to ECO-P6, and the effects management hierarchy is flawed as a result. There also appears to be an issue with reference to (2)(1)(a)(iii) – LF-P12. LF-P12 identifies outstanding water bodies - it does	
nati	all infrastructure that is not ionally or regionally significant, id adverse effects on the values		not relate to managing adverse effects.	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance.			
<ul> <li>EIT-INF-M5 - District plans</li> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>2) enable planning for the electricity transmission network and National Grid to achieve efficient distribution of electricity,</li> <li>3) map the electricity transmission network, and in relation to the National Grid, identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li>4) manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand,</li> <li>5) manage the adverse effects of developing, operating, maintaining, or upgrading nationally or regionally significant infrastructure that are on:</li> <li>a) the surface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> </ul>	Oppose in part	<ul> <li>PowerNet is aware that the RPS19 included provisions to ensure District Plan appropriately recognised and provided for important infrastructure. PowerNet therefore seeks that this provision be amended such that it provides a framework for the types of provisions that have been agreed to by various parties to those district plan review processes.</li> <li>In particular, amendments are required to: <ul> <li>replace the use of the non-defined term "electricity transmission network" to be replaced with Electricity Sub- transmission infrastructure; or Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure; or Electricity Distribution Network where appropriate.</li> <li>Expand the scope of the "buffer corridor" beyond the National Grid to include Electricity Sub-Transmission Infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure as previously provided for in RPS19.</li> <li>Require prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters) as set out above.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Delete EIT-INF-M5 District Plans or amend as follows</li> <li>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>2) provide for the operation and maintenance of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network to achieve a resilient electricity supply.</li> <li>3) enable planning for the development and upgrade of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network,</li> <li>4) map the National Grid, Electricity Sub-transmission infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure and identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	simi	IEF SOUGHT (or other such ilar outcome that has the same ect as the relief sought)
<ul> <li>b) the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> <li>ensure that development is avoided where: <ul> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,</li> <li>b. it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>c. the required upgrading of infrastructure is not funded, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>d. require the prioritisation of sites where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.</li> </ul>			6)	<ul> <li>manage the subdivision, use and development of land to ensure nationally or regionally significant infrastructure can develop to meet increased demand,</li> <li>manage the adverse effects of developing, operating,</li> <li>maintaining, or upgrading infrastructure that are on:</li> <li>a. the surface of rivers and lakes and on land outside the coastal marine area, and</li> <li>b. the beds of lakes and rivers,</li> <li>ensure that development is avoided where:</li> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,</li> <li>b. it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>c. the required upgrading of infrastructure is not funded, and</li> <li>d. require the prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters).</li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
NFL – NATURAL FEATURES AND LANDSCAPES	5		
<ul> <li>NFL-P2 – Protection of Outstanding Natural Features and Landscapes</li> <li>Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>(1) Avoiding adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and</li> <li>(2) Avoiding, remedy or mitigating other adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Oppose	This policy requires the blanket avoidance of all adverse effects regardless of scale or severity. This is unreasonable and goes further than the requirements of section 6 of the RMA. Further, this policy conflicts with other provisions that recognise that, in some situations, some activities may generate adverse effects. PowerNet is concerned that this provision will override other provisions that make allowances for certain infrastructure activities in certain areas.	Delete this policy.
<ul> <li>NFL-P3 – Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes</li> <li>Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>(1) Avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and</li> <li>(2) Avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.</li> </ul>	Oppose	PowerNet submits that there is uncertainty regarding the term "highly valued natural features and landscapes". These are defined in the PORPS as being section 7(c) and 7(f) type landscapes, however PowerNet is concerned that there appears to be little to distinguish these and the management of these types of landscapes from those recognised as being outstanding natural features and landscapes. For example, the criteria to identify both landscape types appear to be the same (refer APP9) and this policy is very similar to the requirements set out in NFL-P2. While this policy seeks to maintain and enhance highly valued landscapes, the management requirement is essentially the same as what is required in NFL-P2, which seeks instead to "protect" outstanding natural landscapes and features. Because these highly valued landscapes are not yet known, PowerNet is	<ul> <li>Delete this policy, or amend so as to achieve the following:</li> <li>Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>(1) Avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and</li> <li>(2) Avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.</li> <li>Avoiding, remedying or mitigating adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape.</li> </ul>

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
		concerned that this policy regime sets too high a bar for lesser valued landscapes.	
UFD – URBAN FORM AND DEVELOPMENT			
<ul> <li>UFD-O2 - Development of urban areas</li> <li>The development and change of Otago's urban areas:</li> <li>(1) improves housing choice, quality, and affordability,</li> <li>(2) allows business and other non-residential activities to meet the needs of communities</li> </ul>	Support	PowerNet supports this policy as it establishes clear outcomes for urban environments and includes the provision of infrastructure.	Retain this policy.
<ul> <li>in appropriate locations,</li> <li>(3) respects and wherever possible enhances the area's history, setting, and natural and built environment,</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(4) delivers good urban design outcomes, and improves liveability,</li> <li>(5) improves connectivity within urban areas, particularly by active transport and public transport,</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(6) minimises conflict between incompatible activities,</li> <li>(7) management the support of risk from patients</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(7) manages the exposure of risk from natural hazards in accordance with the HAZ–NH – Natural hazards section of this RPS,</li> <li>(8) results in sustainable and efficient use of water, energy, land, and infrastructure,</li> </ul>			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(9) achieves integration of land use with existing and planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure and facilitates the safe and efficient ongoing use of regionally significant infrastructure,			
(10) achieves consolidated, well designed and located, and sustainable development in and around existing urban areas as the primary focus for accommodating the region's urban growth and change, and			
(11) is guided by the input and involvement of mana whenua.			
<ul> <li>UFD-O4- Development in rural areas</li> <li>Development in Otago's rural areas occurs in a way that:</li> <li>(1) Avoids impacts on significant values and features identified in this RPS,</li> <li>(2) Avoids as the first priority, land and soils identified as highly productive by LF-LS-P19 unless there is an operational need for the development to be located in rural areas,</li> <li>(3) only provides for urban expansion, rural</li> </ul>	Oppose	PowerNet is concerned that this objective will act as a prohibition to a significant number of activities within the rural environment. It requires the avoidance of all impacts on significant values and features identified in this PORPS and does not allow for any ability to manage those effects via mitigation, remediation, offsetting or compensation / enhancement type measures. A blanket "avoidance of impact approach" is not necessarily going to be the answer in every circumstance to achieving the best environmental and economic outcomes, and this needs to be better recognised	Delete this objective.
lifestyle, and rural residential development and the establishment of sensitive activities, in locations identified through strategic planning or zoned within district plans as suitable for such development; and		and balanced throughout the PORPS. It is also unclear how this objective will be considered and reconciled against other provisions in the PORPS which	

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(4) outside of areas identified in (3) maintains and enhances the natural and physical resources that support the productive capacity, rural character, and long term viability of the rural sector and rural communities.		provide (to an extent) a pathway for activities to develop and operate within areas of value.	
UFD–P3 – Urban intensification Within urban areas intensification is enabled where it:	Support in part	PowerNet supports this policy as it establishes clear outcomes for urban intensification and acknowledges the importance of infrastructure in achieving this outcome.	Retain this policy.
<ul> <li>(1) contributes to establishing or maintaining the qualities of a well-functioning urban environment,</li> </ul>			
(2) is well-served by existing or planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure,			
<ul> <li>(3) meets the greater of demonstrated demand for housing and/or business use or the level of accessibility provided for by existing or planned active transport or public transport,</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>(4) addresses an identified shortfall for housing or business space, in accordance with UFD–P2,</li> </ul>			
(5) addresses issues of concern to iwi and hapū, including those identified in any relevant iwi planning documents, and			

PROVISION	POSITION	REASONS	RELIEF SOUGHT (or other such similar outcome that has the same effect as the relief sought)
(6) manages adverse effects on values or resources identified by this RPS that require specific management or protection.			

Hello,

?

Please find **attached**, for filing, a further submission on the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 on behalf of Aurora Energy Limited.

Kind regards,

Simon Peirce Senior Solicitor DDI 03 2653423 simon.peirce@gallawaycookallan.co.nz

GALLAWAY COOK ALLAN LAWYERS Level 2, 123 Vogel Street | P O Box 143, Dunedin 9054, NZ | Ph 03 477 7312 | Fax: 03 477 5564

www.gallawaycookallan.co.nz

Covid-19: Our offices are open and we are able to see clients with appointments (but with masks, sign-in, extra hygiene measures and social distancing). We are also able to communicate remotely via phone or video and are happy to arrange this with you as needed.

For all contact details click HERE

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. Gallaway Cook Allan accepts no responsibility for changes made to this email or to any attachments after transmission from its offices. If you are not the intended recipient please tell us immediately and then delete this email. Thank you



# Further Submission by Aurora Energy Limited

Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021

12 November 2021

## FORM 6

# FURTHER SUBMISSION IN SUPPORT OF, AND IN OPPOSITION TO VARIOUS SUBMISSIONS ON PROPOSED OTAGO REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT 2021

То:	Otago Regional Council Private Bag 1954 <b>DUNEDIN</b>
Submission on:	Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement (PRPS21)
Name:	Aurora Energy Limited
Address:	PO Box 1404
	DUNEDIN

# **1** Introduction

Aurora Energy Limited (**Aurora Energy**) is the owner and operator of an electricity distribution network in Dunedin, Central Otago and the Queenstown Lakes District. This network carries electricity from the National Grid to more than 90,000 homes and businesses. Aurora owns substations, lines and cables located in public road reserve, as well as on private property. In addition to the distribution network, Aurora has the capacity to own and operate high voltage (up to 110kV) transmission lines, and associated structures in future, and may be required to do so as regional electricity demand grows.

For these reasons, the basis upon which Aurora Energy makes this further submission is that it has an interest in PRPS21 that is greater than the public generally.

Aurora Energy made an original submission on PRPS21 seeking a suite of relief that seeks to better manage, enable, protect and provide for its electricity network to support the health and wellbeing of the Otago Region.

## 2 Further Submission

Aurora Energy makes this further submission in support of and opposition to various original submissions on PRPS21. The various submission points that Aurora Energy supports and/or opposes are set out at **Appendix 1**, the decision that is sought.

Aurora Energy **wishes to be heard** in support of its further submission.

If other infrastructure providers make similar submissions, Aurora Energy **will consider presenting a joint case** with them at a hearing.

Joanne Dowd

Resource Planning, Property & Environmental Manager Dated 12 November 2021

## Address for Service:

#### Joanne Dowd

joanne.dowd@auroraenergy.nz

Aurora Energy Limited 10 Halsey Street PO Box 5140 DUNEDIN 9058

## Bridget Irving / Simon Peirce (Counsel for Aurora Energy)

Bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz Simon.peirce@gallawaycookallan.co.nz Gallaway Cook Allan Lawyers 123 Vogel Street PO Box 143 DUNEDIN 9054

## **APPENDIX 1: FURTHER SUBMISSION**

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
1.	Dunedin City Council	00139.026	IM – P2	<ul> <li>Where there are clear conflicts between RPS requirements amend so that there is clear guidance within the policy wording on how these should be managed (see general comments). For example: In giving effect to this RPS, decision-makers should consider:</li> <li>(1) All provisions relevant to the issue or decision,</li> <li>(2) if multiple provisions are relevant, consider the provisions together and apply relatively weight to them according to the terms in which they are expressed, and</li> <li>(3) notwithstanding the above, all provisions must be interpreted and applied to achieve the integrated management objectives IM – O1 to IM – O4.</li> <li>However, with additional guidance on weighting here it is essential that the weight of policy language is carefully considered and the comments from the DCC with respect to policy wording should be considered.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> adding with respect to various se relief seeking to provide infrastructure such that t infrastructure topic apply environment and landsc Aurora seeks the relief be
2.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.008	IM – P2	That the 'decision priority' framework in IM – P2 be limited to decision made on freshwater/those matters managed under the NPSFM 2020.	Aurora <b>supports</b> refining matters over which the N management. NPSFM20 framework approach to management, such as ir Aurora seeks the relief be
3.	Dunedin City Council	00139.027	IM – P2	Amend or add a new policy to reflect Part 2 of the RMA and clarify how 'long-term life- supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment' will be considered when conflicts arise. Amend to instead of creating a hierarchy between the natural environment and people, consider an approach which better reflects part 2 of the RMA which allows a focus on providing for human wellbeing but within environmental limits and in a way which maintains long-term life-supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment.	Aurora <b>supports</b> this gene RMA as opposed to refle Built Environments Act. Aurora seeks the relief be
4.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.036	IM – P2	<ul> <li>Delete policy or amend to address the following:</li> <li>The policy as drafted goes much further than this intension [s32 assessment, para 218]. It goes further than the NPSFM2020 which in Objective 1 puts the health and well-being of water bodies and freshwater ecosystems as the first priority, not the long-term life-supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment.</li> <li>The proposed RPS does not contain rules, decisions are not triggered by the RPS. It is therefore inappropriate to include 'decision making under the RPS shall' in the policy.</li> <li>The policy as drafted ignores the physical environment which is also integral to sustainable management (section 5(1) of the RMA). The policy is therefore inconsistent with both the NPSFM 2020 and the sustainable management purpose of the RMA.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie goes beyond the matter Aurora seeks the relief be

## opposition and decision requested

ng clarity and guidance on issues of weighting s sections of PRPS21. Aurora has sought general de a carve out relevant to electricity distribution at the provision contained within the oply over other topics, for example coastal dscapes.

be allowed.

ng the decision priority framework to those e NPSFM2020 apply – i.e. matters of freshwater 120 does not justify applying a blanket priority to all matters outside of freshwater s infrastructure in ONLs.

be allowed.

eneral relief which seeks to reflect Part 2 of the eflecting the exposure draft of the Natural and

be allowed.

lief sought on the basis that provision IM – P2 ters contemplated by NPSFM 2020.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
5.	OWRUG	00235.064	IM – P4	Amend as follows; protects <u>has regard to</u> their intrinsic values,	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie in Part 2 of the RMA to p such direction is provide instruments, then the ex- assessed should be at a Aurora seeks the relief b
6.	OWRUG	00235.071	IM – P14	Delete or amend as follows: Preserve opportunities for future generations by <u>when preparing Regional and District</u> <u>Plans:</u> (1) identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the environment will be degraded, requiring that activities occur within those limits, <del>are established in places, and carried</del> out in ways, that are within those limits and are compatible with the natural capabilities and capacities of the resources they rely on, and	Aurora <b>supports</b> simplifyi that limits will be set and The matters sought to be intent of the provision. Aurora <b>s</b> eeks the relief b
7.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.114	AIR – O1	Amend as follows: Ambient air quality provides for the health and well-being of the people of Otago, amenity and mana whenua values, and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems.: (1) the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems, (2) mana whenua values, (3) the health and well-being of the people of Otago, and amenity	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie more coherent manner. Aurora seeks the relief b
8.	Ravensdown Limited	00121.030	AIR – O2	Amend as follows: <u>Provide for discharges to air whilst ensuring their effects on Hh</u> uman health, amenity and mana whenua values and the life-supporting capacity of ecosystems are <u>appropriately</u> <u>managed</u> protected from the adverse effects of discharges to air.	Aurora <b>supports</b> remove discharges to air which i which seeks to appropri Aurora seeks the relief b

elief sought on the basis that there is no direction o protect the intrinsic values of ecosystems. Until ded in forthcoming legislation or higher order extent to which the intrinsic values are to be a level consistent with Part 2 of the RMA.

#### be allowed.

fying and focusing IM-P14 by simply setting out nd that activities must occur within those limits. be removed appear to be extraneous to the

be **allowed**.

elief which seeks to reframe the objective in a er.

be allowed.

val of an unjustifiably high bar with respect to h requires 'protection' in favour of an approach oriately manage discharges to air.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
9.	Dunedin City Council	00139.050	AIR – P4	Amend as follows: Avoid <u>or minimise as far as practicable</u> Add guidance to policy around activities that may be important to provide, e.g. infrastructure. Provide an explanation as to why this approach (if it is continued to be pursued) is considered necessary, along with high level guidance as to suitable alternatives/approaches that would be promoted.	Aurora <b>supports</b> removin "avoid" sought generally Aurora seeks the relief be
10.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.121	AIR – P6	Amend as follows: Avoid discharges to air that adversely affect mana whenua values <del>by having particular</del> regard to values and areas of significance to mana whenua. When assessing the impact of discharges to air on mana whenua values, have particular regard to sites and landscapes of significance to Kāi Tahu, including wāhi tūpuna, wāhi tapu, and wāhi taoka.	Aurora <b>conditionally sup</b> consistent with and prov submission. Aurora is supportive of g in which an applicant is Aurora considers it is nea term by including the wa Aurora seeks the decisio consistent with Aurora's s
11.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.135	CE – O5	<ul> <li>Renumber and amend as follows:</li> <li>CE - O\$ <u>O6</u> - Activities in the coastal environment</li> <li>Where required to locate in the coastal environment due to functional or operational need, or to provide for the cultural, social or economic wellbeing of people or their health and safety, A activities in the coastal environment:</li> <li>(1) avoid adverse environmental and cultural effects as a priority, including adverse effects on customary fisheries including mātaitai reserves and taiāpure,</li> <li>(2) make efficient use of space occupied in the coastal marine area,</li> <li>(3) are of a scale, density and design compatible with their location,</li> <li>(4) are only provided for within appropriate locations and limits, and maintain or enhance public access to and along the coastal marine area, including for customary uses including mahika kai and kaimoana gathering.</li> </ul>	Aurora opposes relief sou avoid policy. However, A reference to "functional Aurora therefore <b>oppose</b> be <b>declined</b> and otherw seeks it to be <b>allowed</b> .

ring instances of an unqualified use of the term ally by the Dunedin City Council.

be allowed.

**upports** the relief sought in so far as it is ovides for the relief sought by Aurora's

guidance which identifies the particular values is to have particular regard to. However, ecessary to remove the unconditional "avoid" words "avoid, remedy, or mitigate".

sion **partially allow** the relief insofar as it is 's submission on AIR-P6.

sought to point (1) where it seeks to insert a new r, Aurora supports the relief to incorporate nal or operational needs".

ses the relief sought to (1) and seeks that relief rwise supports the balance of relief sought and

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
12.	Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu	00234.017	CE – O5	<ul> <li>Renumber and amend as follows:</li> <li>"CE - O5 <u>O6</u> - Activities in the coastal environment</li> <li><u>To enable activities to locate in the coastal environment due to functional or operational need, or to provide for the cultural, social or economic wellbeing of people or their health and safety, provided: A activities in the coastal environment:</u></li> <li>(5) any adverse effects on Ngãi Tahu on cultural values, including adverse effects on customary fisheries including mātaitai reserves and taiāpure, are avoided;</li> <li>(6) any other adverse environmental effects are avoided, remedied or mitigated;</li> <li>(7) efficient use is made of space occupied in the coastal marine area,</li> <li>(8) activities are of a scale, density and design compatible with their location and the need to manage adverse effects; and,</li> <li>(9) are only provided for within appropriate locations and limits, and public access to and along the coastal marine area, including mahika kai and kaimoana gathering is maintained or enhanced, except where public access needs to be restricted for reasons of health and safety or ecological or cultural sensitivity."</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the requentionmental effect" is the basis that it is unclear regardless of scale or whe For example, Aurora unconstruction of existing infro- question with respect to Aurora however <b>support</b> functional or operational Aurora seeks the relief be
13.	Dunedin City Council	00139.062	CE – P1	<ul> <li>Retain a policy of this type and consider whether expanding this policy to recognise other relevant links to other sections (e.g. perhaps the ECO and INF sections), and/or adding similar policies to other sections, would aid interpretation.</li> <li>Amend to include reference to the land and freshwater chapter.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> adding manage activities beyon Aurora supports the inclu activities are managed i Aurora seeks the relief be
14.	Wise Response Society Inc	00509.062	CE – P4	Amend as follows:  (5) promoting activities and restoration projects that will restore natural character <u>and</u> <u>ecosystems</u> in the coastal environment where it has been reduced or lost. (6) <u>requiring new activities to achieve net ecological gain and be consistent with</u> <u>prevailing national renewable energy and emission reduction goals</u>	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie to provide a carve out for environment. Aurora seeks the relief be
15.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.038	CE – P5	Amend as follows: Infrastructure will need access to the effects management hierarchy in situations containing significant values	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> carve out for infrastructu "effects management h original submission. Aurora seeks the relief be
16.	OWRUG	00235.095	LF – FW – P12	Amend as follows: (3) recognising that for infrastructure, EIT – INF – P13 applies instead of LF – FW – P12.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie sought in its submission. Aurora seeks the relief be

equirement that "any other adverse " is to be avoided, remedied, or mitigated on ear whether this applies to all adverse effects whether those effects are more/less than minor. undertakes operation and maintenance frastructure the continuation of which is put at to this policy.

orts the relief in so far as it considers the nal needs of infrastructure.

be partially allowed/declined accordingly.

ng matters of clarification to CE-P1 which yond those currently described. For example, clusion of a new point (4) that infrastructure ed in accordance with EIT-INF.

## be allowed.

lief on the basis that its original submission seeks t for existing infrastructure in the coastal

## be declined.

orts the relief in so far as it seeks to provide a cture provided that it is compliant with the t hierarchy (other matters)" as sought in Aurora's

## be **partially allowed** accordingly.

lief on the basis that it is consistent with the relief .

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
17.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.023	LF – FW – P12	Amend as follows: Include a third point which could be worded as follows: "(3) <u>where relating to nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, protection through</u> <u>minimising adverse effects on those values."</u>	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> consistent with its original support inclusion of word direction as to the exten Aurora therefore support inclusion of the term "min how that is to be achiev Aurora seeks the relief be <b>the term "minimising</b> ".
18.	Minister for the Environment	00136.009	ECO – General	Amend ECO – Methods to give ORC an explicit role of providing initial spatial data and expertise for identifying Significant Natural Areas.	Aurora <b>supports</b> providin Aurora's concern is that limited to mapped area for ecological assessmen Aurora therefore seeks th
19.	Contact Energy Limited	00318.017	ECO – P2	Delete: OR Amend as follows: <u>"Identify:</u> (1) the areas and values of significant natural areas in accordance with APP2, and (2) indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka in accordance with ECO – M3. Significant natural areas will be identified by local authorities using the criteria in APP2 and these areas will be mapped at an appropriate scale in the relevant regional and district plans. Indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka will be identified by local authorities in accordance with ECO – M3, and these areas will be mapped in the relevant regional and district plans."	Aurora <b>supports</b> providin over which Significant Na Aurora seeks the relief ba
20.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.124	EIT-EN-P5	Amend as follows: "Avoid the development <u>or replacement</u> of non – renewable energy generation activities in Otago and facilitate <u>change from</u> the replacement of non – renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation."	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie number of diesel general supply to the community scheduled power shut d alternatives that would e the community that the Aurora seeks the relief be

rts a separate effects test for infrastructure nal submission. However, Aurora does not ording such as "minimising" without sufficient ent to which effects are to be minimised.

orts the intent of the relief, but opposes the ninimising" that is unqualified by direction as to eved.

## be allowed subject to amendments to qualify

ling certainty to the future mapped SNAs. at if SNAs are not mapped and the provisions eas, then there will be sweeping requirements ents in all instances.

the relief be **allowed**.

ling clarity and guidance as to the spatial areas Natural Areas will occupy.

be allowed.

lief sought on the basis that it operates a erators which are used for maintaining electricity hity during emergencies or where there are downs. There are no viable renewable energy d enable the continuity of electricity supply to e diesel generators offer.

## be declined.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
21.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.118	EIT-EN-P5	Amend as follows: "Avoid <u>Discourage</u> the development of non – renewable energy generation activities in Otago and facilitate the replacement of non – renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation. <u>This does not include the use of portable and</u> <u>temporary generators considered under EIT – EN – P8 "</u>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief number of diesel genera supply to the community scheduled power shut do alternatives that would e the community that the o Although Aurora is contir need to continue relying being.
22.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.126	EIT-EN-M2	Amend as follows: "(2) require the prioritisation of sites for new renewable electricity generation activities where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided <del>or, at the very least, minimised</del> ,  (8) Restrict the development or replacement of non – renewable energy generation activities in Otago and facilitate change from non – renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation."	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relief number of diesel general supply to the community scheduled power shut do alternatives that would e the community that the of Aurora seeks the relief be
23.	Te Ao Marama	00223.108	EIT – INF – General	Ensure there are no gaps or inconsistencies between the way infrastructure is management between this chapter and the Coastal Environment chapter	Aurora opposes the relief Coastal Environment cho managed appropriately Aurora seeks the relief be
24.	PowerNet Ltd	00511.032	EIT – INF – General	Recognise the locational constraints in considering the overall impact of the environmental effects of network utilities and in designating sites for substations. AND Planning provisions need to be flexible enough to allow infrastructure development in certain situations, so as not to preclude this infrastructure, which is critical to the health and wellbeing and prosperity of New Zealanders.	Aurora <b>supports</b> encoura infrastructure development development of infrastru- unqualified avoid policie Aurora seeks the relief be
25.	PowerNet Ltd	00511.033	EIT – INF – General	Ensure that the networks PowerNet Ltd manages are adequately recognised in the PORPS, are protected from the potential adverse effects of other activities, and that the networks' future upgrade, maintenance and renewal are not unnecessarily impeded.	Aurora <b>supports</b> addressi incompatible activities in lodged a submission whic parties arrived at on PRPS relevant stakeholders, wh many of which were not that package of provisio infrastructure from incom Aurora seeks the relief be

ief sought on the basis that it operates a rators which are used for maintaining electricity ity during emergencies or where there are downs. There are no viable renewable energy l enable the continuity of electricity supply to e diesel generators offer.

tinuing to investigate alternative options it will ng on temporary diesel generators for the time

#### be allowed.

lief sought on the basis that it operates a rators which are used for maintaining electricity ity during emergencies or where there are downs. There are no viable renewable energy l enable the continuity of electricity supply to e diesel generators offer.

#### be **declined**.

ief as it has sought a carve out from the hapter (and others) such that effects are ly with respect to the EIT-INF chapter.

## be **declined**.

raging a flexible approach to enabling ment in certain situations, such that ructure is not effectively prohibited by cies throughout PRPS21.

## be **allowed**.

ssing the potential adverse effects of in proximity to infrastructure. Aurora has hich seeks to align PRPS21 with where the RPS19 following extensive discussions between who are also submitters in this proceeding, but of afforded a consultation opportunity. Part of sions included a suite of protections to Aurora's ompatible activities.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
26.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.023A	EIT-INF - General	Amend as follows: For EIT – INF – M4 – Regional Plans delete the word 'minimised' and replace it with 'remedied or mitigated'. AND For EIT – INF – M5 – District Plans, to delete the word 'minimised' and replace it with 'remedied or mitigated'.	Aurora <b>supports</b> replacin mitigated" on the basis t threshold for reducing ac given the functional or o Aurora seeks the relief be
27.	Director-General of Conservation	00137.102	EIT – INF – O4	Amend EIT – INF – O4 to ensure that adverse effects are required to be minimised in all cases.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie "minimised" carries a hig which is not always possi of infrastructure. Aurora seeks the relief be
28.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.051	EIT – INF – O4	<ul> <li>Delete the reference to development being within 'environmental limits.</li> <li>OR</li> <li>Provide a definition of 'environmental limits' consistent with that contained in the NBA Exposure Draft, i.e. to confirm that such limits: <ul> <li>only apply to ecological integrity or human health (not more amorphous or subjective values such as amenity, character, or landscape)</li> <li>must be set by, or in strict accordance with, national direction</li> <li>can be met through offsetting and compensation.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Aurora supports deleting consistent with its origina Commission consider the appropriate, it is conside consistent with the relief s Aurora seeks the relief be
29.	Director-General of Conservation	00137.103	EIT – INF – O5	Amend EIT – INF – O5 to ensure that adverse effects are required to be minimised in all cases.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie "minimised" carries a hig which is not always possi of infrastructure. Aurora seeks the relief be
30.	OWRUG	00235.114	EIT – INF – O5	Amend to refer to infrastructure generally.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the gene types of infrastructure. Aurora seeks the relief be

ing the word "minimised" with "remedied or s that the term "minimised" carries a high adverse effects, which is not always possible operational needs of infrastructure.

#### be **allowed**.

lief sought on the basis that the term high threshold for reducing adverse effects, ssible given the functional or operational needs

## be **declined**.

ng the term "environmental limits" which is nal submission. However, should the hat the term "environmental limits" is dered that such a term needs a definition of sought in the submission.

#### be allowed.

lief sought on the basis that the term high threshold for reducing adverse effects, ssible given the functional or operational needs

## be **declined**.

eneral reference to "infrastructure" over specific

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
31.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.016	EIT – INF – O5	Amend as follows: "Development of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure, as well as land use change, occurs in a co – ordinated manner to: minimize (1) avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on the environment, and (2) ensure the operational and functional needs of the infrastructure is not compromised and increase efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the infrastructure."	Aurora <b>supports</b> replacing mitigated" on the basis th threshold for reducing ac given the functional or of Aurora seeks the relief be
32.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.128	EIT – INF – O5	Amend as follows: " ordinated manner to <u>avoid or</u> minimise"	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the unque direction as to whether a effects. Aurora seeks the relief be
33.	Transpower New Zealand Limited	00314.034	EIT – INF – O5	Amend as follows: "Development of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure <u>is coordinated with</u> , <del>as well as</del> land use change <u>so that the operation and use of the infrastructure is efficient</u> <u>and</u> , <del>occurs in a co-ordinated manner to minimise</del> adverse effects on the environment <u>are managed</u> <del>and increase efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the</del> <del>infrastructure</del> ."	Aurora <b>supports</b> the apprint infrastructure in the environal appropriate for this object the delivery of infrastruct extent to which adverse infrastructure. The dual of delivery and reducing the PRPS21 is untenable.
34.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.126	EIT – INF – O6	Amend as follows: "Long-term investment in, and planning for, <del>electricity transmission</del> infrastructure, and its integration with land use, is sustained."	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief infrastructure generally. Aurora seeks the relief be
35.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.078	EIT – INF – O6	<ul> <li>It is not clear what the objective is seeking to address (at least 13 definitions relating to infrastructure– but electricity transmission is not one of them).</li> <li>As electricity sub – transmission infrastructure is defined it would be appropriate that the policy applies to that infrastructure.</li> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>"EIT – INF – O6 Long term planning for electricity <u>sub–</u> transmission infrastructure"</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the inter extensive definitions relat infrastructure, and the us infrastructure in the subje seeking that the term ele with "the National Grid a been defined in PRPS21 of Aurora opposes the parti with Aurora's original sub

ing the word "minimised" with "remedied or s that the term "minimised" carries a high adverse effects, which is not always possible operational needs of infrastructure.

## be **allowed**.

equalified use of the term "avoid" without r activities ought to avoid *or* minimise adverse

## be **declined**.

opropriate management and operation of vironment. Aurora considers that it is not jective to require the increased efficiency of cture while also placing a high bar on the se effects are to be managed in relation to that al outcome sought between infrastructure the adverse effects as set out in the notified

## be **allowed**.

ief sought on the basis that it applies to .

## be **allowed**.

ent of the relief which seeks to rationalise the lated to infrastructure, particularly electricity use of the term electricity transmission ojective. Aurora has lodged a submission electricity transmission infrastructure be placed I and Distribution Network" as those terms have 1 and in Aurora's original submission.

Irticular drafting on the basis that it conflicts ubmission.

ral thrust of the relief be **allowed**.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
36.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.053	EIT – INF – O6	Amend as follows: Development and upgrading of electricity transmission infrastructure should be provided for over the longer term, not just planned for and invested in.	Aurora <b>supports</b> enabling infrastructure. However, the INF-O6 which seeks t Distribution Network" as Aurora's original submissi Aurora supports the inter drafting that has been o <b>declined</b> accordingly.
37.	OWRUG	00235.115	EIT – INF – O6	Amend to refer to infrastructure generally.	Aurora <b>supports</b> widenin objective, and througho Aurora seeks the relief be
38.	Transpower New Zealand Limited	00314.035	EIT – INF – O6	Amend as follows Replace with: "EIT – INF – O6 – Long – term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure <u>The</u> National Grid The operation, maintenance, upgrade and development of the National Grid is facilitated so that the national significance of the National Grid is recognised and the needs of people and communities are met now and in the future, while adverse effects of, and on, the National Grid are managed. Long – term investment in, and planning for, electricity transmission infrastructure, and its integration with land use, is sustained."	Aurora <b>opposes</b> focusing the expense of electricity significant electricity dist objective should recogn transmission infrastructure electricity supply in Otag Aurora seeks the relief be
39.	Dunedin International Airport Limited	00316.004	EIT – INF – P10	Amend as follows: "Decision making on the allocation or use of natural and physical resources must take into account recognise and provide for the needs of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure."	Aurora <b>supports</b> elevatin considers regionally signi electricity sub-transmissio Aurora seeks the relief be
40.	OWRUG	00235.116	EIT – INF – P10	Amend to refer to infrastructure generally.	Aurora <b>supports</b> widenin objective, and througho Aurora seeks the relief be

ling the long term provision of electricity er, the relief conflicts with Aurora's submission on as that is applied to "the National Grid and as those term have been defined in PRPS21 and hission.

tent of the relief, it opposes the particular n offered, and therefore seeks that the relief be

ning the scope of infrastructure referred to in this hout EIT-INF.

be allowed.

ing this provision solely to the National Grid to city sub-transmission infrastructure and listribution infrastructure. In Aurora's view, the gnise and provide for the transmission and subture given that both are required to deliver ago.

## be declined.

ting the extent to which decision making gnificant infrastructure (**RSI**), including Aurora's ssion infrastructure.

#### be allowed.

ning the scope of infrastructure referred to in this hout EIT-INF.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
41.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.116	EIT – INF – P10	<ul> <li>Amend so it states the 'needs' that must be taken into account. Consider replacing the word 'needs' with a more specific alternative, such as 'functional needs' and/or 'operational needs'.</li> <li>The policy could be combined with policy EIT – INF – P15.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarifying current drafting is unclear terms "functional and/or Aurora also <b>supports</b> cor policies seek to manage activities that can occur Aurora seeks the relief be
42.	Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Limited and Vodafone New Zealand	00310.006	EIT – INF – P11	Amend as follows: "Except as provided for by ECO – P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while "	Aurora <b>supports</b> widenin objective, and through Aurora seeks the relief be
43.	Dunedin City Council	00139.163	EIT – INF – P11	Amend to be more enabling, e.g. by amending to "minimising adverse effects <u>as far as</u> <u>practicable</u> ".	Aurora <b>supports</b> qualifyin Aurora's view, it is import the operation and main importance of maintaini of people and commun Aurora seeks the relief be
44.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.055	EIT – INF – P11	Delete the policy or revise to be more enabling of operation and maintenance of all infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie the operation and maint and RSI. Aurora seeks the relief be
45.	OWRUG	00235.117	EIT – INF – P11	Amend to refer to infrastructure generally.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie infrastructure referred to Aurora seeks the relief be
46.	Port Otago Ltd.	00301.035	EIT – INF – P11	Clarify how the effects test within this policy should be read in conjunction with other effects policies within other chapters of the RPS through including cross referencing in other chapters to indicate that this policy has precedence for the consideration of infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarifying read in conjunction with Aurora seeks the relief be

ving what is meant by the term "needs". The lear and unfocused despite the existence of the /or operational needs" in PRPS21.

combining P-10 with P-15 on the basis that both ge natural and physical resources and the cur within them in relation to NSI and RSI.

## be allowed.

ning the scope of infrastructure referred to in this hout EIT-INF.

## be allowed.

ying the use of the term "minimising". In ortant to consider the extent to which limits on intenance of RSI is practicable given the ining that infrastructure to support the wellbeing unity.

## be allowed.

lief generally on the basis that it seeks to enable sintenance of all infrastructure beyond just NSI

## be allowed.

lief which seeks to expand the scope of to.

#### be allowed.

ving the extent to which this policy should be it other policies in the infrastructure chapter.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
47.	PowerNet Ltd	00511.024	EIT – INF – P11	Delete Policy, or amend as follows: " Except as provided for by ECO – P4, a <u>A</u> llow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. <del>while:</del> (1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and (2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects, minimising adverse effects."	Aurora <b>supports</b> simplifyin contained at (1) and (2) relates to existing infrastru- as a permitted activity in importance of those act and communities in Otag unequivocally allow such
48.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.018	EIT – INF – P11	Amend as follows: "Except as provided for by ECO – P4, allow for Enable the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while: (1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and (2) if avoidance is not practicable, and for other adverse effects, minimising remedying or mitigating adverse effects.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> the remo- reframing the policy to b maintenance of infrastru Aurora also supports the test from "minimising" to enabling to operation ar Aurora seeks the relief be
49.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.117	EIT – INF – P11	<ul> <li>Amend by replacing the words 'allow for' with 'provide for'.</li> <li>Redraft (1) and (2) so they are linked with an 'or', as they provide alternatives.</li> </ul>	Aurora supports reframin maintenance of infrastru amendments to this polic out in this submission, suc Aurora seeks the relief be
50.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.129	EIT – INF – P11	Amend as follows: "Except as provided for by ECO – P4, allow for the operation and maintenance of existing nationally and regionally significant infrastructure while: (1) avoiding, as the first priority, significant adverse effects on the environment, and (2) if avoidance is not <u>demonstrably</u> practicable, <del>and for other adverse effects,</del> minimising remedy any remaining adverse effects <u>on the environment</u> , if remaining <u>adverse effects cannot be demonstrably completely remedied then mitigate remaining</u> <u>adverse effects</u> ."	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie threshold to reducing ad and maintenance of RSI and maintenance relate Furthermore, if Aurora is u its network, then its ability the community may be a Aurora seeks the relief be
51.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.040	EIT – INF – P11	Amend as follows: Include clearer distinction between the operation, maintenance, upgrade and new infrastructure, and replace 'avoid' with 'minimise' or similar.	Aurora <b>supports</b> distingui and <i>new</i> infrastructure, which appears to be unr Aurora seeks the relief be

ying INF-P11 and removing the effects test 2). The operation and maintenance of RSI structure and is often provided for (or allowed) in district plans within Otago. Given the ctivities to supporting the wellbeing of people rago it is considered that a policy should ch activities.

## be allowed.

moval of any cross reference to ECO – P4 and be more enabling of the operation and ructure.

e relief at (2) which seeks to reduce the effects to "remedying or mitigating" as that is more and maintenance of infrastructure.

## be **allowed**.

ning this policy to provide for the operation and ructure. However, Aurora considers that plicy should go further than what has been set uch as what has been sought in 00511.024.

## be **partially allowed**.

lief sought which places an unjustifiably high adverse effects with respects to the operation SI. The relief fails to consider that the operation tes to existing activities within the environment. s unable to adequately operate and maintain lity to maintain a resilient electricity supply to e compromised.

## be **declined**.

uishing between activities related to existing e, as well as the removal of the term "avoid" nnecessary in this policy.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
52.	Dunedin City Council	00139.164	EIT – INF – P12	<ul> <li>Amend as follows: <ul> <li>Replace 'development of' with 'new'.</li> <li>Consider separate policies for new (greenfields) infrastructure vs upgrades of existing infrastructure.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Add additional clause (4) to reflect role of infrastructure in community well-being.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the use between activities relate also supports recognition community wellbeing. Aurora seeks the relief be
53.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.127	EIT – INF – P12	Amend as follows or similar: (3) <u>as far as practicable, legitimate existing land uses are not adversely impacts; and</u> (4) increases efficiency in the delivery, operation or use of the infrastructure.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the high existing "legitimate" acti- practicable" is used, the activities that may opera any new buildings associ Aurora seeks the relief be
54.	OWRUG	00235.118	EIT – INF – P12	Amend to refer to infrastructure generally.	Aurora <b>supports</b> widening beyond NSI and RSI.
					Aurora seeks the relief be
55.	Port of Otago Ltd.	00301.039	EIT – INF – P12	Amend to include cross referencing in other chapters to indicate that this policy has precedence for the consideration of infrastructure. Fix drafting for sub – clause (3).	Aurora <b>supports</b> the use of the extent to which polic conjunction with other p
56.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.118	EIT – INF – P12	Amend so the policy applies to upgrades and development of other infrastructure. Consider combining with EIT – INF – P14.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> broader to other infrastructure be supports combining this p development and upgro Aurora seeks the relief be
57.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.130	EIT – INF – P12	Add the following clause to EIT – INF – P12: "adverse effects on indigenous biodiversity are avoided and managed as set out in the <u>BIO and CE chapters and natural character in the CE chapter</u> " Make amendments to additional policies as needed so that provisions which would provide for or enable infrastructure activities, must be in the context of also protecting, maintaining and restoring indigenous biodiversity	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relieve generally seeks a carve of and CE chapters subject hierarchy (other matters) Aurora seeks the relief be

e of language that assists with the distinction ted to existing and new infrastructure. Aurora on of the role of infrastructure and support in

#### be allowed.

gh threshold for "not adversely" impacting ctivities. Although the qualifier of "as far as ne relief still sets a wide scope for the types of erate or be located on the property including ociated with a farming activity.

## be **declined**.

ing the scope of infrastructure referred to

## be **allowed**.

e of cross referencing to provide clarity as to licies take precedence or should be applied in policies in the infrastructure chapter.

## be **allowed**.

ening the scope of this policy so that it applies beyond NSI and RSI. Additionally, Aurora is policy with P-14 which also applies to the grade of infrastructure.

## be **allowed**.

lief sought on the basis that its submission e out for infrastructure activities from the ECO ct to compliance with an effects management rs).

#### be **declined**.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
58.	Central Otago District Council (CODC)	00201.03	EIT – INF – P13	Support avoidance of new infrastructure in areas with high ecological, cultural, heritage landscape and amenity values.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the total described without sufficient or RMA Part 2 that such a need to provide for the h communities.
					Aurora seeks the relief be
59.	Beef & Lamb NZ and Deer Industry NZ	00237.053	EIT – INF – P13	Amend policy to avoid locating infrastructure in areas of productive land use where the activity affects the ability of the land to be used productively and consider the adverse effects on the land's productive capacity and flexibility.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relieve operates a significant and on private property, which sought would effectively infrastructure within these occupying narrow corride Aurora seeks that the reli
60.	Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Limited and Vodafone New Zealand	00310.007	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows: The effects management regime in Clause 2(a) of the policy applies to all infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief presently defined as RSI. which seeks to apply an set out in its submissions. Given the above, Aurora
61.	Director-General of Conservation	00137.107	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as required for consistency with relief sought for EIT – INF – O4 and O5. Amend EIT – INF – P13, or insert a new policy, to address new infrastructure within the coastal environment, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the NZCPS.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relier O4 and O5 seeks to minin Aurora seeks the relief be
62.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.128	EIT – INF – P13	Amend by adding a new 'i' to the list in EIT – INF – P13(1): <u>"(i) areas of highly productive soils"</u>	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relieve is likely to be located in the only occupying narrow of proportion of Aurora's new to contain HPS) and so A those areas (for functioned Aurora seeks the relief be
63.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.241	EIT – INF – P13	<ul> <li>Amend to clarify how new infrastructure in the coastal environment will be managed.</li> <li>Amend clause 1 as follows:</li> <li>(g) wāhi tūpuna, wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights, and</li> <li>Amend clause 2 by adding new subclause iv and v as follows:</li> <li>(iv) in wāhi tūpuna, in accordance with HCV – WT – P2,</li> <li>in outstanding natural features and landscapes, in accordance with NFL – P2,</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie (2) be replaced with an a However, Aurora would a include wāhi tūpuna, so managed. As demonstra hearings, the extent of w certainly not practicable invites discussion with Au

tal avoidance of new infrastructure in the areas cient justification from higher order instruments n an approach is appropriate, or outweighs the e health and wellbeing of people and

## be **declined**.

lief sought on the basis that it owns and amount of infrastructure in rural areas, including hich may contain productive soils. The relief ely prohibit Aurora from locating any new ese areas despite its infrastructure often ridors within rural areas.

## elief be **declined**.

elief on the basis that parts of its network are not SI. However, Aurora has sought conflicting relief an alternative effects management regime as ns.

## bra seeks that the relief be **partially allowed**.

ief sought on the basis that the submission on nimise adverse effects in all case.

## be **declined**.

ief sought on the basis that its existing network n large swathes of highly productive land, but v corridors within that land. Furthermore, a large network is located in the Rural Zone (most likely Aurora may be unable to avoid locating in onal and/or operational reasons).

## be **declined**.

elief sought on the basis that it has sought that an alternative effects management hierarchy. Id consider amending its relief in that respect to so that activities within those areas can be strated in the recent QLDC PDP Stage 3 f wāhi tūpuna areas in Otago is significant and ble for Aurora to avoid those areas. Aurora Aukaha on this point.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
					Aurora seeks the relief b
64.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.057	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows: Revise the policy to adopt a threshold of "reasonably practicable" rather than the current threshold of "possible", at Clause (2).	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief "possible" to achieve a "reasonably practicable are possible may cost w electricity supply or simp they require new overhe electricity connection. Aurora seeks the relief b
65.	OWRUG	00235.120	EIT – INF – P13	Amend EIT – INF – P13(2) as follows [amendments unmarked]: "(2) If it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas list in (1) above because of the functional or operational needs of the infrastructure manage effects as follows: (a) in significant natural areas in accordance with ECO – P6, (b) In natural wetlands in accordance with the relevant provisions of the NESF In other areas listed in EIT – INF – p13(1) above in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters).	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relievits original submission. Aurora seeks the relief b
66.	Port of Otago Ltd.	00301.040	EIT – INF – P13	Amend to include cross referencing in other chapters to indicate that this policy has precedence for the consideration of infrastructure. Remove references to areas or values that are not defined or identified through the RPS.	Aurora <b>supports</b> adding the PRPS21. Aurora seeks the relief b
67.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.020	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows:         Delete and replace with drafting comparable with Policy such as 4.3.4 in the 2019 RPS and clarify that this policy solely applies to nationally or regionally significant infrastructure proposals located in the areas identified in clause (1).         OR         Amend the policy as follows:         "When providing for new infrastructure outside the coastal environment:         (1) avoid, as the first priority, locating infrastructure in all of the following:         (a) significant natural areas,         (b) outstanding natural features and landscapes         (c) natural wetlands,         (d) outstanding water bodies         (e) areas of high or outstanding natural character         (f) areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage, and         (g) wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights, and         (h) areas of high recreational and high amenity value, and         (2) if it is not possible practicable to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the functional or operational needs of the infrastructure manage adverse effects as follows: (a) for nationally or regionally significant infrastructure:         (i) in significant natural areas, in accordance with ECO – P4,	Aurora <b>supports</b> a revers which only recently bec extensive negotiations b regrettable that parties of having come so far. How approach is unlikely to b why Aurora has lodged provisions to get them to last time. Aurora seeks the relief be

## be declined.

elief as there may be many engineering solutions a certain outcome but whether or not that is ole" is another question. Often the solutions that well out of proportion to the ability to provide nply prohibitive for customers to pay for, where head infrastructure to provide an additional

## be allowed.

lief sought on the basis that it is consistent with

be allowed.

ng cross-referencing to assist in the legibility of

## be allowed.

ersion back to the position reached with PRPS19, ecame operative and was the subject of s between the parties to that process. It is es are having to re-engage with this process lowever, it is expected that such a reversionistic o be acceptable to the commission which is ed a submission seek a suite of amendments to to a position close to where the parties got to

## be partially allowed.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
				<ul> <li>(ii) in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF,</li> <li>(iii) in outstanding water bodies, in accordance with LF – P12,</li> <li>(iv) in other areas listed in EIT – INF – P13(1) above, minimise remedy or mitigate the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance."</li> <li>AND</li> <li>Clarify that this policy solely applies to nationally or regionally significant infrastructure proposals located in the areas identified in clause (1).</li> </ul>	
68.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.119	EIT – INF – P13	Amend to provide guidance as to how 'high' recreational and amenity values referred to in (h) are to be measured or determined. Amend (2)(b) to use a different method to manage adverse effects on values, rather than avoidance as currently drafted.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the requ areas referred to therein. Otago, including areas of typically mapped in distr mapping will be required necessary. Aurora seeks the relief be
69.	Te Ao Marama	00223.109	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows: "(1)(g) <u>wāhi tūpuna,</u> wāhi tapu and wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights" Establish an effects management hierarchy in EIT – INF – P13 sub – clause (2)	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relieve Ao Marama on the basis significant parts of the re Aurora to avoid those are operational needs of its re Aurora seeks the relief be
70.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.042	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows: Include clearer distinction between the operation, maintenance, upgrade and new infrastructure, and replace 'avoid' with 'minimise' or similar.	Aurora <b>supports</b> providing between the new and expolicies in EIT-INF can be considers that the PRPS2 unqualified "avoid" or "m to how effects are to be Aurora seeks the relief be
71.	Wayfare Group Ltd	00411.062	EIT – INF – P13	Amend as follows: When providing for new infrastructure outside the coastal environment:  (2) if it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the functional or operational needs of the infrastructure manage adverse effects as follows: (a) for nationally or regionally significant infrastructure: (b) (a) in significant natural areas, in accordance with ECO – P4, (c) (b) in natural wetlands, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF, (d) (c) in outstanding water bodies, in accordance with LF–P12., (e) in other areas listed in EIT – INF – P13 (1) above, minimise the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance, and (f) for all infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant, avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance.	Aurora <b>supports</b> expandi currently provided for in I Aurora seeks the relief be

quest for clarification as to the mapping of the in. Aurora network spans a significant part of s of s 6(b) and s 7(c) landscapes which are strict plans. It is unclear whether additional ed for recreational areas so clarification is

## be **allowed**.

lief, but is open to discussing the point with Te sis that wāhi tūpuna areas are likely to span region. As such, it is often very difficult for areas as a result of the functional or s network.

## be **declined**.

ing clarity to the use of language to distinguish existing infrastructure and considers that the perationalised in that respect. Aurora also S21 contains far too many instances of "minimise" language without any guidance as per managed to address those thresholds.

## be **allowed**.

nding the scope of infrastructure beyond those in P13.

#### be granted.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
72.	Dunedin City Council	00139.165	General	Amend or add a new policy to clarify whether EIT – INF – P13 is intended to prevail over policies in other sections of the RPS, e.g. NFL – P2 and NFL – P3, in the event of a conflict.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the gen suite of amendments to precedence. Aurora sup that gives effect to this s management hierarchy included in this policy.
					Aurora seeks the relief b
73.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.058	EIT – INF – P14	Amend as follows: "When considering proposals to develop or upgrade infrastructure: (1) require consideration of alternative sites, methods and/or designs if adverse effects are potentially significant or irreversible, and (2) utilise the opportunity of substantial upgrades of infrastructure to reduce adverse effects that result from the existing infrastructure, including on sensitive activities where appropriate."	Aurora <b>supports</b> qualifyin appropriate to consider infrastructure. For examp to reduce adverse effect Aurora seeks the relief by
74.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.120	EIT – INF – P14	Amend to state whether or not it applies to nationally and regionally significant infrastructure. Amend the title of the policy so that it refers to upgrades and development of infrastructure. Consider combining with EIT – INF – P12.	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarifice infrastructure that it app be of such a small scale this policy.
					Aurora seeks the relief b
75.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.043	EIT – INF – P14	Amend as follows: Clarify the interpretation and application of the terms 'develop', 'upgrade' and 'substantial upgrade', and also amend the policy to encourage, rather than require, a reduction in adverse effects arising from existing infrastructure at the time that works are undertaken to upgrade that infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarification on the basis that the form be no analysis in the s 32 Aurora seeks the relief be
76.	Dunedin City Council	00139.167	EIT – INF – P15	Amend wording to: Manage activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, and/or where they may compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure in a way that avoids or minimises as far as practicable the risk of reverse sensitive effects.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie approach to this policy avoid" to manage, by a Aurora seeks that the rel to include significant ele
77.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.129	EIT – INF – P15	Amend as follows or similar: "Protecting <u>Recognising and providing for</u> nationally or regionally significant infrastructure <u>To the extent reasonably practicable</u> , seek to avoid the establishment of <u>sensitive</u> activities"	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie respect to RSI by introdu down the provision. Furth term "sensitive" activities protected by this provision Aurora seeks the relief by

eneral relief sought and has similarly sought a to policies in PRPS21 such that this policy takes upports any additional or consequential relief s submission, subject to an appropriate effects ny, such as that advanced by Aurora to be

## be allowed.

ving (2) to recognise that it may not always be er opportunities to reduce effects on existing nple, it is not reasonably practicable or possible ects from Aurora's Zone Substations.

## be **allowed**.

cation of this policy to apply as to the scope of oplies to as some infrastructure may necessarily ile so as to not warrant consideration against

## be granted.

cation of "upgrade" from "substantial upgrade" ormer, includes the latter and there appears to 32 report for a distinction with the latter.

## be **allowed**.

lief which includes a more coherent drafting y which reframes the policy from "seek to avoiding activities.

elief be **allowed** subject to additional wording lectricity distribution infrastructure.

lief sought which weakens protections with ducing effectively three effects tests that water rthermore, it is inappropriate to introduce the les, on the basis that it is relevant activity to be ision is the infrastructure, not the activity.

## be declined.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
78.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.079	EIT – INF – P15	Amend as follows: "Protecting <u>Recognising and providing for</u> nationally or regionally significant infrastructure Seek to avoid, <u>to the extent reasonably possible</u> , the establishment of <u>sensitive</u> activities that result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure and/ or compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure."	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relier respect to RSI by introduce down the provision. Furth term "sensitive" activities protected by this provision Aurora seeks the relief be
79.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.059	EIT – INF – P15	<ul> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>Consistent with the need to give effect to the NPSET, EIT – INF – P15 should be amended so that:</li> <li>the requirement or direction is strengthened: "seek to avoid" is not as strong as (in effect) 'avoid to the extent reasonably possible'</li> <li>the focus is on avoiding both reverse sensitivity and direct effects on the operation, maintenance, upgrading, and development of the electricity transmission network.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relier protection to RSI. Aurora seeks the relief be
80.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.022	EIT – INF – P15	Amend as follows:         "Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, and/or where they may compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure. Protect the efficient and effective operation of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure by:         (1) Avoiding activities that may give rise to an adverse effect on the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, (2) Avoiding activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure, (3) Avoiding activities and development that forecloses an opportunity to adapt, upgrade or develop nationally or regionally significant infrastructure to meet future demand.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief includes significant elect Aurora seeks the relief be amendment sought in th
81.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.121	EIT – INF – P15	Amend by replacing the word 'Protecting' with an alternative word, or rename the policy so it refers to reverse sensitivity (as per EIT – EN – P7).	Aurora <b>supports</b> renamin that it addresses reverses Aurora seeks the relief be
82.	Transpower New Zealand Limited	00314.036	EIT – INF – P15	Amend as follows: "Seek to a <u>A</u> void the establishment of <u>, or expansion of existing</u> . activities that may result in reverse sensitivity <u>adverse</u> effects <u>including reverse sensitivity</u> <u>effects</u> , on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure <del>, and/or where they may</del> compromise the functional or operational needs of nationally or regionally significant infrastructure."	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief the expansion of existing towards electricity condu- maintain, develop or upg broadening the scope of sensitivity effects general Aurora seeks the relief be

lief sought which weakens protections with ducing effectively three effects tests that water rthermore, it is inappropriate to introduce the es, on the basis that it is relevant activity to be sion is the infrastructure, not the activity.

## be **declined**.

ief which seeks to increase the level of

## be **granted**.

ief sought subject to an amendment that ctricity distribution infrastructure.

be **partially allowed**, subject to the this further submission.

ning the policy to alert plan users to the fact ses sensitivity effects on NSI and RSI.

## be **allowed**.

ief on the basis that it includes recognition of ng activities that may gradually encroach iductors and restrict the ability to operate, pgrade that infrastructure. Aurora also supports of the policy to refer to adverse reverse rally.

#### be **granted**.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
83.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.130	EIT – INF – P16	<ul> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>Define or clarify the term 'electricity transmission infrastructure'</li> <li>Amend EIT – INF – P16(5) as follows or similar:</li> <li>"(5) minimising the adverse effects of the electricity transmission network on <u>existing land</u> <u>uses and</u> urban amenity, <del>and avoiding adverse effects</del> on town centres, areas of high amenity or recreational value, <u>highly productive soils</u>, and existing sensitive activities. "</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie transmission infrastructure accordingly. Aurora <b>opposes</b> the ame owns and operate a cor which may include HPS I may not be possible to m Aurora seeks the relief be
84.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.080	EIT – INF – P16	<ul> <li>Clarify what 'electricity transmission infrastructure' EIT – INF – P16 applies to.</li> <li>Amend EIT – INF – P16 (5) by adding <u>"and highly productive land"</u></li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie transmission infrastructure accordingly. Aurora <b>opposes</b> the ame owns and operate a cor which may include HPS v adverse effects. Aurora seeks the relief be
85.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.243	EIT – INF – P16	Amend clause 5 as follows: (5) minimising the adverse effects of the electricity transmission network on urban amenity, and avoiding adverse effects on town centres <u>, areas of significance to mana</u> <u>whenua such as wāhi tūpuna</u> , areas of high amenity or recreational value and existing sensitive activities.	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie Ao Marama on the basis significant parts of the re Aurora to avoid those ar operational needs of its Aurora seeks the relief be
86.	OWRUG	00235.123	EIT – INF – M4	Amend the provisions to take into account the functional and operational needs of infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie minimise adverse effects practicable when consid that infrastructure. Aurora Seeks the relief be
87.	Dunedin City Council	00139.171	EIT – INF – M5	<ul> <li>Amend as follows: <ul> <li>Delete clause (1)</li> <li>Delete clause (2) or clarify what this means in a practical sense.</li> <li>Amend (3) to sound less like a rule, change to activities 'need to be managed'.</li> <li>Delete (6)(c) or amend to recognise that infrastructure upgrades may be funded in a variety of ways, to not rely on the definition of infrastructure, to remove the word 'avoid' as this is too strong.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Delete (7) or amend so it is clear what is being prioritised and how prioritisation is to be achieved.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie but subject to Aurora's s Aurora seeks the relief be

ief seeking clarity on the term 'electricity ure and seeks the relief be **allowed** 

nendment to P16(5) on the basis that Aurora onsiderable amount of its network in rural zones S but certainly include farming activities which minimise adverse effects.

## be **declined**.

lief seeking clarity on the term 'electricity ure and seeks the relief be **allowed** 

nendment to P16(5) on the basis that Aurora onsiderable amount of its network in rural zones S which may not be possible to minimise

## be **declined**.

elief, but is open to discussing the point with Te asis that wāhi tūpuna areas are likely to span region. As such, it is often very difficult for areas as a result of the functional or ts network.

## be **declined**.

lief, particularly with respect to its ability to cts, which may not be possible or reasonably sidering the functional or operational needs of

## be allowed.

lief for the reasons advanced by the submitter submission on this provision.

## be partially allowed.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
88.	Network Waitaki Limited	00320.026	<u>EIT – INF –</u> <u>M5</u>	Delete, or Amend as follows:         Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:         (1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or         regionally significant infrastructure,         (2) provide for the operation and maintenance of the National Grid and Electricity         Distribution Network to achieve a resilient electricity supply,         (3) enable planning for the development and upgrade of the National Grid and         Electricity Distribution Network,         (4) map the National Grid, Electricity Sub – transmission infrastructure and Significant         Electricity Distribution Infrastructure and identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive         activities shall generally not be allowed            d. require the prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters).	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie submission on this policy. Aurora seeks the relief be
89.	OWRUG	00235.124	EIT – INF – M5	Amend the provisions to take into account the functional and operational needs of infrastructure.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie minimise adverse effects practicable when consid that infrastructure. Aurora seeks the relief be
90.	PowerNet Ltd	00511.026	EIT – INF – M5	<ul> <li>Delete, or amend as follows:</li> <li>"Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</li> <li>1) require a strategic approach to the integration of land use and nationally or regionally significant infrastructure,</li> <li>2) provide for the operation and maintenance of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network to achieve a resilient electricity supply.</li> <li>3) enable planning for the development and upgrade of the National Grid and Electricity Distribution Network.</li> <li>4) map the National Grid, Electricity Sub – transmission infrastructure and Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure and identify a buffer corridor within which sensitive activities shall generally not be allowed, and</li> <li></li> <li>5) ensure that development is avoided where: <ul> <li>a. it cannot be adequately served with infrastructure,</li> <li>b. it utilises infrastructure capacity for other planned development, or</li> <li>c. the required upgrading of infrastructure is not funded, and</li> <li>d. require the prioritisation of sites in accordance with the effects management hierarchy (other matters)."</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie submission on this policy. Aurora seeks the relief be

lief on the basis that it is consistent with its cy.

be allowed.

lief, particularly with respect to its ability to cts, which may not be possible or reasonably nsidering the functional or operational needs of

#### be allowed.

lief on the basis that it is consistent with its cy.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
91.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.054	EIT – INF – M6	Amend as follows: Include recognition of the existing use rights of infrastructure and that infrastructure cannot always be easily upgraded or replaced. OR Delete this provision.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie rights of which a conside enjoys pursuant to the El Aurora seeks the relief be
92.	OWRUG	00235.119	EIT – INF – E2		Aurora <b>supports</b> expand and RSI, particularly give Aurora's network.
93.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	00305.059	EIT – INF – PR2	Amend as follows: Further consideration is given to the appropriateness and implications for infrastructure providers of the use of 'avoid' in this Principal Reason, with preference that the term 'avoid' is replaced with 'minimise' or similar.	Aurora seeks the relief by Aurora <b>supports</b> the subr remove, qualify or justify term is significantly const particularly NSI and RSI g also has reservations abo without an appropriate of has advanced in its subr Aurora seeks the relief bo
94.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.131	EIT – INF – AER7	Delete and replace as follows: <u>"Reverse sensitivity effects caused by sensitive activities on nationally and regionally</u> <u>significant infrastructure will be avoided to the extent reasonably possible."</u>	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> reverse sensitivity effects to the extent reasonably about the use of the terr activity that causes an c Aurora seeks the relief be
95.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.082	EIT – INF – AER7	Delete and replace as follows: " <u>Reverse sensitivity effects on nationally and regionally significant infrastructure from</u> <u>sensitive activities will be avoided to the extent reasonably possible</u> ."	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> reverse sensitivity effects to the extent reasonably about the use of the terr activity that causes an of Aurora seeks the relief bo
96.	OWRUG	00235.128	EIT – INF – AER8	Amend EIT – INF – AER8 as follows: "the adverse effects associated with infrastructure are avoided and minimised to the extent practicable in accordance with the effects management hierarchy".	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie infrastructure activities a reduced the extent reas Aurora seeks the relief be

lief on the basis that it recognises existing use derable amount of Aurora's infrastructure Electricity Act 1992.

## be **allowed**.

iding the scope of infrastructure beyond NSI ven that RSI does not include the entirety of

## be allowed.

bmission and other generally which seek to fy the use of the term "avoid" in PRPS21. Such a instraining to infrastructure activities, and I given their importance to the region. Aurora bout the unqualified use of the term "minimise" e effects management hierarchy, which Aurora bmission.

## be **allowed**.

**rts** the relief insofar as it recognises the adverse ets on NSI and RSI and that they will be avoided by possible. However, Aurora has reservations erm "sensitive" which theoretically includes any a adverse reverse sensitivity effect on NSI or RSI.

## be partially allowed.

rts the relief insofar as it recognises the adverse ets on NSI and RSI and that they will be avoided by possible. However, Aurora has reservations erm "sensitive" which theoretically includes any a adverse reverse sensitivity effect on NSI or RSI.

## be **partially allowed**.

lief which recognises that enabling anticipates a level of effects that have been asonably practicable.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
97.	Te Ao Marama	00223.118	HAZ- Hazards and Risks - General	Retain the aspects of this chapter that support climate change response.	Aurora <b>supports</b> provision change response and to Such an approach is pro electricity network, inclue transmission, sub-transmis collectively.
98.	Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited, Mobil Oil NZ Limited	00510.059	HAZ- Hazards and Risks - General	Amend as follows: <u>Policy X – Avoid duplication of hazardous substance controls provided by other</u> <u>legislation.</u>	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> rationali practicable and possible remove controls where t documents. However, Au be useful to include thos considers that they ough measures.
99.	Sanford Limited	00122.030	HAZ – NH – General	Amend Policy HAS NH P2, HAZ NH P3 and HAZ NH P4, Method HAZ–NH–M3 – Regional plans, Method HAZ–NH–M4 – District plans, and APP6 - Methodology for natural hazard risk assessment, to the extent required so that they does not direct individual developments be avoided where significant natural hazard risk can be suitably mitigated	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> addition assessment on enabling demonstrated that natur
100.	Oceana Gold (New Zealand) Limited	00115.026	HAZ – NH – O1	at that site for a particular development         Retain this objective. However, OceanaGold wishes to confirm that "tolerable" is         consistent with the acceptable hazard risk which appears to be more commonly used in practice.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> either fu "tolerable" which is used industry term "acceptab
101.	Central Otago District Council (CODC)	00201.037	HAZ – NH – O1	Provide clarity regarding what a 'tolerable level' is and record hazard identification at a land use activity level.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> either fu "tolerable" which is used industry term "acceptab
102.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.136	HAZ – NH – O2	Amend as follows: "Otago's people, property, <u>ecosystem health, indigenous biodiversity,</u> and"	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie ecosystem health and in expected to be manage and risks to those matters
103.	Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	00230.137	HAZ – NH – P1	Amend as follows: " communities, <u>ecosystem health, indigenous biodiversity</u> , and property by assessing: "	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie ecosystem health and in expected to be manage and risks to those matter
					Aurora seeks the relief be

ons of PRPS21 which support a positive climate to advance electrification of the economy. romoted and enabled by an efficient, resilient luding through consideration of electricity mission and distribution infrastructure

## be **allowed**.

alising and simplifying PRPS21 to the extent ole, including by considering opportunities to they are otherwise located in other Aurora accepts that to a certain degree it can ose controls in PRPS21 for convenience but ght not to be more restrictive than those other

## be **allowed**.

onal guidance on natural hazard risk g development of its network where it can be tural hazard risk can be suitably mitigated.

#### be **allowed**.

further clarification on the use of the term ed in the objective or replacement with the able".

#### be allowed.

further clarification on the use of the term ed in the objective or replacement with the able".

#### be **allowed**.

lief sought on the basis that the inclusion of indigenous biodiversity goes beyond what is ged through this chapter. Adverse effects on ers are more appropriately addressed at ECO.

#### be **declined**.

ief sought on the basis that the inclusion of indigenous biodiversity goes beyond what is ged through this chapter. Adverse effects on ers are more appropriately addressed at ECO.

#### be **declined**.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
104.	Central Otago District Council (CODC)	00201.039	HAZ – NH – P2	Clarify who will undertake the assessment – should be at a regional level.	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarifying assessment so that this is ad hoc basis.
105.	Trojan Holdings Limited (Trojan)	00206.054	HAZ – NH – P2	Amend as follows:         Assess the level of natural hazard risk by determining a range of natural hazard event scenarios and their potential consequences in accordance with:         (1) A risk table at a district or community scale undertaken in a consultation process with communities, stakeholders and partners regarding risk levels thresholds; or if this process has not been undertaken         (2) the criteria set out within APP6.	Aurora seeks the relief b Aurora supports the add scale at which assessme APP6 and directs that co stakeholders. In Aurora's undertaken with infrastru
106.	Wayfare Group Limited	00411.068	HAZ – NH – P2	Image: Internal set out within APPs.         Amend as follows:         Assess the level of natural hazard risk by determining a range of natural hazard event scenarios and their potential consequences in accordance with:         (1) A risk table or matrix at a district or community scale undertaken in a consultation process with communities, stakeholders and partners regarding risk levels thresholds; or if this process has not been undertaken         (2) the criteria set out within APP6.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports the add scale at which assessme APP6 and directs that co stakeholders. In Aurora's undertaken with infrastru Aurora seeks the relief be
107.	Graymont (NZ) Limited	00022.021	HAZ – NH – P3	Amend as follows: (1) when the natural hazard risk is significant, the activity is avoided <u>except where the</u> <u>activity may be functionally required to be undertaken in an area where the natural</u> <u>hazard risk is significant, then the activity must be managed so that it does not further</u> <u>increase the natural hazard risk,</u> 	Aurora <b>supports</b> recognizinfrastructure in HAZ-NH, avoid the location of ne hazards may prohibit the the social, economic, he communities.
108.	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	00321.076	HAZ – NH – P3	Amend as notified: Revise or expand on clause (3) on how in particular coastal hazard risks would be maintained over time, given they are expected to worsen over time due to climate change	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports guidance maintained in the coaste climate change. Aurora environment and will rec infrastructure in those are
109.	Transpower New Zealand Limited	00314.044	HAZ – NH – P3	Amend policy as follows: "Once the level of natural hazard risk associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ – NH – P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes: <u>1.</u> when the natural hazard risk is significant, the activity is avoided <u>unless the activity is</u> <u>nationally significant infrastructure that has a functional need or operational need for its</u> <u>location and the risk is appropriately managed</u> ,"	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>partially</b> supports the functional or operati types of infrastructure be transmission infrastructure infrastructure.
110.	Queenstown Lakes District Council	00138.149	HAZ – NH – P4	<ul> <li>Amend to clarify it and make it more directive and specific to address the concerns raised</li> <li>Should specify what level risk is to be reduced to. To be consistent with Objective 1, the policy must set out that risk is to be reduced to a level that is not greater than tolerable.</li> </ul>	Aurora supports the relief be

ving the party who will be undertaking the risk is is not attribute to individual applicants on an

## be allowed.

ddition of (1) on the basis that it clarifies the nents are to be carried out in accordance with consultation be undertaken with key a's view, such consultation should be tructure providers.

## be allowed.

ddition of (1) on the basis that it clarifies the ments are to be carried out in accordance with consultation be undertaken with key a's view, such consultation should be structure providers.

## be allowed.

nising the functional or operational needs of H, including P3, on the basis that seeking to new activities in areas of higher risk of natural the ability for infrastructure providers to support health and wellbeing of people and

## be allowed.

ance on the extent to which activities are to be astal environment considering the effects of ara has infrastructure located in the coastal require direction about the location of future areas.

## be allowed.

orts the relief insofar as it supports recognition of ational needs of infrastructure but seeks that the be expanded to include electricity sub rure and significant electricity distribution

## be partially allowed.

lief for the reasons given in that submission.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
				<ul> <li>1) and (2) appear to suggest that risk be reduced or community vulnerability be reduced; not clear why these present an either or option when both are important and should be sought.</li> <li>(3) Should also reference property alongside people and communities.</li> <li>Policy to acknowledge that risk can only be reduced when existing characteristics of people, property and communities are changed. Additional amendments should be considered to provide helpful direction as to how risk can be reduced.</li> <li>Should consider timelines for reducing risk and different methods for reduction i.e. in some instances reduction may be necessary now, or it may be necessary over a longer timeframe.</li> <li>Should provide additional context as to what constitutes vulnerable activities. This may include more traditional vulnerable activities (i.e. aged care facilities) as well as other types of activities that accommodate vulnerable populations such as tourists or transient populations.</li> <li>It is recommended that the policy outline when existing risk needs to be reduced i.e. when risk exceeds tolerable/is significant.</li> <li>The policy could consider non – RMA methods to reduce risk.</li> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>"Reduce existing natural hazard risk to a tolerable or lower level by"</li> <li>Delete (4)(a) and relocate to be associated with HAZ – NH – P3(3).</li> <li>(5) and (6) Recommend moving to HAZ – NH – P8</li> </ul>	
111.	Dunedin City Council	00139.198	HAZ – NH – P5	Clarify what the 'precautionary approach' is, and how it will be applied.	Aurora <b>supports</b> clarifying in the context of this cho to avoid, remedy or mitig risk. Furthermore, it is unc the need to provide for i natural hazard risk.
112.	Dunedin City Council	00139.199	HAZ – NH – P6	Amend to recognise that this policy should operate consistently with infrastructure policies.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> enabling chapter and EIT-INF, inclu- recognising the risk pose within them, and the nee- health and wellbeing of within areas of natural he
113.	Trustpower Limited	00311.054	HAZ – NH – P8	Amend as follows: Add new clause "(3) <u>recognise that there can be a functional and operational need for lifeline utilities</u> <u>and facilities for essential or emergency services to locate in areas of natural hazard risk</u> <u>in some circumstances</u> ."	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> conside of lifeline utilities to locat be possible or practicab electricity supply to peop Aurora seeks the relief be

ving the scope of the precautionary approach hapter, including whether this requires activities nitigate adverse effects or creating additional nclear how this policy will be balanced against or infrastructure activities in areas of known

#### be allowed.

ling a consistent approach between this including by enabling a balance between osed by natural hazards and activities located need to provide for the social, economic and of people and communities who may reside I hazard risk.

#### be allowed.

deration of the functional or operational needs cate in areas of natural hazard risk as it may not able to avoid those locations when providing eople or communities.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
114.	Dunedin City Council	00139.202	HAZ – NH – P9	Amend policy name as follows: Protection of hazard mitigation measures, <u>lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency</u> <u>services.</u> See generic comments on the use of the word 'avoid' in policies.	Aurora <b>supports</b> relief the Aurora seeks the relief be
115.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.026	HAZ – NH – P9	Amend as follows: "Protect the functional <u>and operational</u> need of hazard mitigation measures, lifeline utilities, and essential or emergency services, including by:"	Aurora <b>supports</b> consider functional needs of infras to support removal of the
116.	Dunedin City Council	00139.203	HAZ – NH – P10	Amend as follows: - 'Ensure' in this context has the same meaning as 'avoid'. See generic comments on the use of the word 'avoid' in policies. Clarify what is meant by 'redevelopment'.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports removin "ensure", in this context s activities such as infrastru operational needs to loc further supports addition including whether that the existing electricity infrastr Aurora seeks the relief be
117.	Horticulture New Zealand	00236.089	HAZ – NH – M3	Amend (7)(a) to add: " <u>commensurate with the level of risk from the proposed activity</u> "	Aurora <b>supports</b> ensuring a resource consent appl posed by the new activit
118.	Ravensdown Limited	00121.087	HAZ – NH – M3	Amend as follows: Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to:  (6) include provisions that require decision makers to apply the precautionary approach set out in HAZ – NH – P5 when considering applications for resource consent for activities that will change the use of land and thereby increase the risk from natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazard risk that is uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or irreversible, and (67)	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> removin the precautionary appro Aurora seeks the relief be
119.	Wayfare Group Limited	00411.072	HAZ – NH – M3	Amend as follows: Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its regional plans to: (1) manage activities in the coastal marine area, beds of lakes and rivers, and wetlands to achieve policies HAZ – NH – P2 to HAZ – NH – P6 <del>and APP6</del> , (2) include natural hazard reduction measures, <del>such as removing or restricting existing</del> <i>land uses, where there is significant risk to people or property</i> ,	Aurora <b>supports</b> narrowin land uses on the basis the significant electricity distr required to service the c with natural hazard redu
120.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.140	HAZ – NH – M4	Amend as follows: "(6) include provisions that require decision makers to apply the precautionary approach set out in HAZ – NH – P5 when considering applications for resource consent for activities that will change the use of land and which may increase the risk from natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazard risk that is uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or irreversible, and	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> ensuring a resource consent appl posed by the new activit Aurora seeks the relief be

he policy with the policy name.

## be **allowed**.

lering operational needs in addition to the rastructure. There appears to be no s 32 analysis the operational needs of lifeline utilities.

## be **allowed**.

ing the unqualified use of the term "avoid" or at such that there is a consenting pathway for tructure which may have functional or bocate in the coastal environment. Aurora anal guidance on the term "redevelopment" term includes the development or upgrade of structure.

## be **allowed**.

ng that the level risk assessment provided for in plication is consistent with the level of risk vity.

## be **allowed**.

ing (6) on the basis that it is unclear whether broach will apply to infrastructure activities.

## be **allowed**.

ving the policy away from restricting existing that such uses may relate to RSI, including istribution infrastructure and that infrastructure is community and can otherwise be managed duction measures.

## be allowed.

ng that the level risk assessment provided for in plication is consistent with the level of risk vity.

Ravensdown Limited	00121.088		(7) require a natural hazard risk assessment be undertaken where an activity requires a plan change or resource consent to change the use of land which will increase the risk from natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazards, and where the application is lodged prior to the natural hazard risk assessment <u>commensurate with the level of risk</u> to	
	00121.088		be required by HAZ – NH – M2(1) being completed, the natural hazard risk assessment must include:"	
	1	HAZ – NH – M4	Amend as follows: Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:	Aurora <b>supports</b> removin the precautionary appro
			(6) include provisions that require decision makers to apply the precautionary approach set out in HAZ – NH – P5 when considering applications for resource consent for activities that will change the use of land and which may increase the risk from natural hazards within areas subject to natural hazard risk that is uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or irreversible, and (67)	Aurora seeks the relief be
Federated Farmers of New Zealand Limited	00239.142	HAZ – NH – AER2	Amend as follows or similar: "No <u>Discourage</u> new developments <del>proceed</del> that have a significant level of risk."	Aurora <b>supports</b> reframin as "no" to an approach developments that are n instances where it is esse risk that is posed. The sco and which Aurora seeks
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.143	HAZ – NH – AER4	Amend as follows: "Where existing development is subject to <u>significant</u> risks from natural hazards, the level of risk is reduced <u>as far as practicable</u> to a tolerable level."	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> inclusion the basis that the comm that reducing the risk as prohibitive and require th appropriate that RSI or in way.
LAC Properties Trustees Limited	00211.033	HAZ – CL – P14	Amend policies so they do not provide a higher bar for protection than is in the NES contaminated land.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> maintair of contaminated land w
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.148	HCV – General	Amend the chapter so the focus is on protection from inappropriate subdivision, use and development as per HCV – WT – E1.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> reframin to a framework of protect and development of lan infrastructure located wit Otago Region. Although seeks to continue that re unclear as to the extent upgrade or developmen be avoided. Given the se avoidance cannot be ad
	armers of New ealand Limited ederated armers of New ealand AC Properties ustees Limited ederated armers of New	armers of New ealand Limited ederated armers of New ealand AC Properties rustees Limited ederated armers of New 00239.143 00211.033	armers of New ealand Limited0020000000000000000000000000000000000	ederated       00239.142       HAZ – NH –         ARE Properties       00239.143       HAZ – CL –         Place       Amend policies so they do not provide a higher bar for protection than is in the NES         ederated       00239.148       HAZ – CL –         Armend as follows:       "Where existing development is subject to significant risks from natural hazards, the level of risk is reduced as for as practicable to a tolerable level."

ing (6) on the basis that it is unclear whether broach will apply to infrastructure activities.

be allowed.

ning AER2 away from prohibitive language such that provides direction as to the types of e not encouraged by PRPS21. There may be sential that development proceeds despite the cope of new "developments" is also unclear ks clarity on – i.e. does this include RSI?

## be **allowed**.

on of references to "as far as practicable" on imunity need for RSI infrastructure may be such as far as possible, or to a tolerable level may be the infrastructure to be removed. It is r infrastructure generally be provided for in this

## be allowed.

aining consistency with the level of regulation with the NES Contaminated Soils.

## be **allowed**.

ning this chapter away from a protect by avoid rect by avoiding inappropriate subdivision, use and. Aurora has a significant amount of its within mapped Wāhi Tupuna areas in the gh Aurora has engaged with Aukaha (and relationship and consultation) it remains at to which the operation, maintenance, ent of its infrastructure is inappropriate or should e scope of Wāhi tupuna areas in Otago, total achieved.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
126.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.149	HCV – WT – O1	Amend as follows: "Wāhi tūpuna <u>sites are protected from inappropriate subdivision, us and</u> development and their associated cultural values are identified and <u>provided for and maintained</u> <del>protected</del> ."	Aurora <b>supports</b> reframin to a framework of protect and development of lan infrastructure located wit Otago Region. Although seeks to continue that re unclear as to the extent upgrade or developmen be avoided. Given the so
127.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.275	HCV – WT – O1	Amend as follows: HCV – WT – O1 – Kāi Tahu <del>cultural landscapes</del> <u>wāhi tūpuna</u> Wāhi tūpuna and their associated cultural values are identified, <u>where appropriate</u> , and protected.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports inclusion objective as it provides a operate, maintain, upgra onerous protection requi
128.	Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu	00234.034	HCV – WT – O1	Amend as follows: HCV – WT – O1 – Kāi Tahu <del>cultural landscapes</del> <u>wāhi tūpuna</u> Wāhi tūpuna and their associated cultural values are identified, <u>where appropriate</u> , and protected.	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports inclusion objective as it provides a operate, maintain, upgra onerous protection requi
129.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.150	HCV – WT – P2	Amend as follows: "Wāhi tūpuna are protected and managed by: (1) avoiding significant adverse effects <u>of inappropriate subdivision</u> , <u>use and</u> <u>development</u> on the cultural values associated with identified wāhi tūpuna, (2) where adverse effects <del>demonstrably</del> cannot be <del>completely</del> avoided, remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna, (3) managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori, (4) <del>avoiding</del> <u>managing</u> any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and (5) encouraging the enhancement of access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the particular wāhi tupuna <u>and with landowner consent</u> ."	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports an alterr policy that focuses on m on Wāhi tupuna mapped management hierarchy recognises that it is not a infrastructure to avoid loo management of their ad amendments at (1) and Aurora seeks the relief be
130.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.278	HCV – WT – P2	Amend as follows:         Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:         (1) avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values of identified wāhi tūpuna,         (2) where other adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, then         either remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of         the wāhi tūpuna,         (3) enabling Kāi Tahu to manage wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori,         4) avoiding any activities that are inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and         (5) enhancing access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the cultural values of the wāhi tūpuna.         1. avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values associated with identified wāhi tūpuna,	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relief "inappropriate" activities only necessary for those required to identify which respect to the values of t relief subject to inclusion Aurora seeks the relief be

ing this chapter away from a protect by avoid ect by avoiding inappropriate subdivision, use and. Aurora has a significant amount of its within mapped Wāhi Tupuna areas in the gh Aurora has engaged with Aukaha (and relationship and consultation) it remains at to which the operation, maintenance, ent of its infrastructure is inappropriate or should e scope of Wāhi tupuna areas in Otago, total achieved.

## be allowed.

on of the qualifier "where appropriate" in this s a level of flexibility for RSI to continue to grade and develop without being subject to quirements in all instances.

## be **allowed**.

on of the qualifier "where appropriate" in this s a level of flexibility for RSI to continue to grade and develop without being subject to quirements in all instances.

## be **allowed**.

ernative approach to the notified version of this managing the adverse effects of infrastructure bed areas consistent with its proposed effects by (other matters). Such an approach always possible or practicable for locating in Wāhi tupuna areas, requiring adverse effects. Aurora therefore supports the d (4) but does not express a view on (5).

## be allowed.

ief sought, particularly the reference ies at (4) which recognises that avoidance is e types of activities. However, direction will be ich types of activities are inappropriate with of that Wāhi Tupuna Area. Aurora supports the on of an additional (6) as sought in 00315.069.

FS#	Submitter Name	mitter Name Original Submission Point Number Number		Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op	
				<ul> <li>2. where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna,</li> <li>3. managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori,</li> <li>4. avoiding any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and</li> <li>5. encouraging the enhancement of access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the particular wāhi tūpuna.</li> </ul>		
131.     Transpower New Zealand Limited     00		00314.045 HCV - WT - P2		<ul> <li>Amend (HCV - WT - P2) as follows.</li> <li>"Wāhi tūpuna are protected by:</li> <li>1. avoiding significant adverse effects on the cultural values associated with identified wāhi tūpuna,</li> <li>2. where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating adverse effects in a manner that maintains the values of the wāhi tūpuna,</li> <li>3. managing identified wāhi tūpuna in accordance with tikaka Māori,</li> <li>4. avoiding any activities that may be considered inappropriate in wāhi tūpuna as identified by Kāi Tahu, and</li> <li>5. encouraging the enhancement of access to wāhi tūpuna to the extent compatible with the particular wāhi tupuna, <u>and</u></li> <li>6. managing the effects of the development of the National Grid on wāhi tupuna in accordance with EIT - INF - Px and (1) and (4) above do not apply."</li> <li>AND</li> <li>Cross reference Policy between HCV - WT - P2 (Submission Point 00314.045) and EIT - INF (Submission Point 00314.57)</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>conditionally sup</b> carve-out from this polic narrow reference to the this ought to be widened infrastructure and signific Aurora seeks the relief be	
132.	Toitū Te Whenua, Land Information New Zealand	00101.051	HCV – WT – M1	Local authorities must not only work together to ensure the identification process but must also work with private landowners to ensure the identification of those sites and prevent the destruction or degradation of those sites.	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie requirements with Aurora swathes of electricity dis areas.	
133.	Dunedin City Council	00139.230	HCV – WT – M2	<ul> <li>Clarify that not all responses might apply in all cases.</li> <li>Clarify which methods are in accordance with tikaka.</li> <li>Reduce the requirement for cultural impact assessments to being required on a case-by-case basis.</li> </ul>	Area seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> the requ undertaken on a case b areas can be extensive already, so requiring a C to be unnecessary based	
134.	Federated Farmers of New Zealand	00239.152	HCV – WT – M2	<ul> <li>Provide a definition of 'tikaka' and other key, undefined te reo terms.</li> <li>Under M2(2) ensure a 'cultural impact assessment' is provided by council – not something an individual landowner is left to determine.</li> <li>Under M2(3) Provide more clarity for landowners so they can engage and appropriately manage areas.</li> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>"(1) manage control activities in, or adjacent to, wāhi tūpuna sites and areas,</li> <li>(3) require including conditions on resource consents or designations where necessary to provide buffers or setbacks between protect wāhi tūpuna and from inappropriate subdivision, use and development incompatible activities, "</li> </ul>	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> the requ the method in which loc Aurora also supports the the basis that conditions may be recommended Aurora seeks the relief be	

**upports** the relief insofar as it seeks to provide a licy. However, Aurora does not support the ne National Grid in this relief and considers that ned to encompass electricity sub transmission ificant electricity distribution infrastructure.

be partially allowed.

lief subject to additional consultation ora as the owner and operator of significant distribution infrastructure within Wāhi Tupuna

## e allowed.

equirement for cultural impact assessments to be by case basis, recognising that Wāhi Tupuna re and Aurora's network spans many of them a CIA in all cases will be a costly and may prove sed on the works involved.

#### be allowed.

equest for clarity on the term "tikaka" as this is ocal authorities are required to comply with. he inclusion of the terms 'where necessary' on ons may not be required in all instances and ed as part of the CIA process.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op	
135.	Kāi Tahu ki Otago / Aukaha	00226.285	HCV – WT – AER2	Amend as follows: HCV – WT – AER2 Wāhi tūpuna and their values are <del>maintained</del> <u>protected</u> .	Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie appropriate reflection of Wāhi Tupuna. Aurora also to be from inappropriate opposed to all activities.	
136.	Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Limited and Vodafone New Zealand	00310.013	HCV – HH – P5	Amend as follows: Add a new clause recognising that infrastructure connections support the ongoing use and protection of historic heritage	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora supports recognit through the inclusion of i reference) as the ability heritage often requires n installation of pillar/link b Aurora seeks the relief be	
137.	137.         Dunedin City Council         00139.234         HCV – HH – P5			<ul> <li>Amend to include some consideration of significant positive effects, similar to 2GP policy 13.2.1.7. While noting there is some carve out for infrastructure this may not go far enough where other projects with significant positive effects may be 'worth' the loss of some historic heritage.</li> <li>Amend to include a caveat to balance 'avoid', such as "where practicable";</li> <li>Clarify Clauses 4 – 5:</li> <li>Are they meant to be read as one sentence or otherwise linked and, if so, are there missing punctuation or joining words?</li> <li>Is clause 5 meant to also apply as an alternative to clauses 2 and 3, e.g. that for any type of heritage as long as you can demonstrate you cannot avoid effects then you can just choose to remedy or mitigate them.</li> <li>Amend the word 'demonstrably' which is an unusual policy word choice and practicable is preferred as more commonly understood. If not change clarify what type of demonstration is envisaged?</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>supports</b> recognite development of historic infrastructure which ena Aurora similarly agrees w quality the term "avoid" adverse effects. Aurora seeks the relief be	
138.	OWRUG	P5 HH – P5. Alternatively, amend clause (6) of Policy HCV – HH – P5 to manage adverse effects on historic heritage for infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant in		Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie Aurora seeks the relief be		
139.	Dunedin City Council	Image: matrix of the state		Aurora <b>supports</b> reviewin term 'avoid' such that it		
140.	Alluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltd	00016.022	NFL – O1	Amend as follows: The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and physical resources results in: 1. the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use and development, and	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> the qual values to align with s 6(b Aurora seeks the relief be	

lief sought as it appears to be a more of Kai Tahu's role in identifying and managing also supports clarifying the extent of protection ate subdivision, use and development as es.

### be **allowed**.

nition of infrastructure in this policy, perhaps of its relief on EIT-INF-P13 (such as a crossry to use, adapt, upgrade or protect historic is new infrastructure connections, or the boxes or ancillary equipment.

## be allowed.

nition of positive effects associated with ic heritage, including elements such as hable the adaptive re-use of historic heritage. s with the inclusion of "where appropriate" to d" as it may not always be possible to avoid all

#### be allowed.

lief for the reasons given in that submission.

## be allowed.

ring all references to the unqualified use of the it is only used where required by Part 2 RMA.

#### be allowed.

ualification of avoiding adverse effects on ONLF (b) of the RMA.

FS#	Submitter NameOriginal Submission Point NumberProvision NumberSummary of Decision Requested		Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o	
141.	Ravensdown Limited	00121.093	NFL – O1	Amend as follows: Objective NFL – O1 – Outstanding <del>and highly valued</del> natural features, <del>and</del> <u>outstanding</u> <u>natural</u> landscapes <u>and visual amenity landscapes</u>	Aurora <b>supports</b> aligning RMA.
				The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and highly valued natural features, and <u>outstanding natural</u> landscapes <u>and visual amenity landscapes</u> are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and physical resources results in: (1) the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes, and (2) the maintenance or enhancement of highly valued natural features and <u>visual</u> <u>amenity</u> landscapes <u>that contribute to an area's overall visual amenity</u> .	Aurora seeks the relief b
142.	Wayfare Group Limited	00411.076.	NFL – O1	Amend as follows: The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and	Aurora <b>supports</b> the qua values to align with s 6(b
				physical resources results in: (1) the protection of outstanding natural features and <u>outstanding natural</u> landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use and development, and	Aurora seeks the relief be
143.	Alluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltd	00016.023	NFL – P2	Amend as follows: Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by: 1. avoiding, <u>as the first priority</u> , adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and where	Aurora <b>supports</b> the inclu follows an effects manage relief which seeks the ave avoiding.
				adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided due to the functional needs of an activity to locate within outstanding natural features or landscapes, remedying or mitigating them, and	Aurora seeks the relief be
144.	Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Limited and Vodafone New Zealand	00310.014	NFL – P2	Amend as follows: Amend to take into consideration the functional and operational requirements of Infrastructure, extent of benefits, practical alternatives and the extent to which adverse effects are mitigated. OR Add a new policy such that it takes into consideration the functional and operational requirements of Infrastructure, extent of benefits, practical alternatives and the extent to	Aurora <b>supports</b> greater needs of infrastructure to Landscapes. In areas, su comprise more than 95% effects cannot be avoid and wellbeing of people
145.	Director-General of Conservation	00137.147	NFL – P2	<ul> <li>which adverse effects are mitigated.</li> <li>Amend as follows or words to like effect:</li> <li>"1 avoiding adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding"</li> </ul>	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie the Supreme Court's dea protecting an ONLF requ contribute to the outstar directly contradicts that
146.	OWRUG	00235.141	NFL – P2	Amend Policy NFL – P2 as follows:	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie
				(3) recognising that for infrastructure, EIT – INF – P13 applies instead of NFL – P2.	original submission. Aurora seeks the relief be

ng this objective with s 6(b) and s 7(c) of the

be allowed.

ualification of avoiding adverse effects on ONLF (b) of the RMA.

## be allowed.

clusion of a carve out for infrastructure that nagement hierarchy, including as sought by this avoid as a first priority as opposed to always

be allowed.

er recognition of the functional and operational to located in ONLFs and/or Visual Amenity such as the Queenstown Lakes District this can 5% of the District. Recognition that all adverse bided is a requirement to provide for the health ple and communities.

#### be allowed.

elief sought on the basis that it is inconsistent with decision in King Salmon which recognises that equires the protection of the values that tanding status of the ONLF. The relief sought at finding.

#### be declined.

lief on the basis that it is consistent with its

FS#	Point Number       Amend as follows:         47.       Queenstown Airport Corporation       00313.029       NFL - P2       Amend as follows: "Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by: (1) avoiding significant adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, and (2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding. (3) recognising that for infrastructure, EIT - INF - P13 applies instead of NFL - P2(1) and (2)."		Reasons for support or o	
147.			Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie original submission. Aurora seeks the relief be	
148.			Aurora <b>partially supports</b> extended to apply to ele significant electricity dist Aurora seeks the relief be	
149.	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	Rewording is sought so that the functional and operational needs of infrastructure are recognised and provided for. This could include the insertion of a third point as follows: "(3) while recognising the functional and operational needs of nationally and regionally		Aurora <b>supports</b> amendi needs of infrastructure a Aurora seeks the relief be
150.	Dunedin City Council	significant infrastructure."         00139.243       NFL – P3         Amend INF policies to clarify relationship with NFL policies.		Aurora <b>supports</b> the relie submission, to clarity the instead of NFL. Aurora seeks the relief be
151.	1. avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature and         2. avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects,         3. avoiding, remedying or mitigating adverse effects of the development Grid and (1) above does not apply."         OR         Insert a new Policy in EIT – INF that sets out specific direction in respect of the the potential adverse effects of the maintenance, upgrade and development of the sets out specific direction in the potential adverse effects of the maintenance.		<ul> <li>"Maintain or enhance highly valued natural features and landscapes by:</li> <li>1. avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or landscape, and</li> <li>2. avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects,</li> <li>3. <u>avoiding, remedying or mitigating adverse effects of the development of the National Grid and (1) above does not apply.</u>"</li> <li>OR</li> <li>Insert a new Policy in EIT – INF that sets out specific direction in respect of the management of the potential adverse effects of the maintenance, upgrade and development of the National Grid that, in the event of conflict, prevails over policies in the NFL section of the Proposed ORPS.</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> extended to apply to ele significant electricity dist Aurora seeks the relief be

lief on the basis that it is consistent with its

be **allowed**.

orts the relief sought but seeks that it be electricity sub transmission infrastructure and distribution infrastructure.

## be partially allowed.

ading P2 so that the functional and operational e are recognised and provided for.

## be **allowed**.

elief sought and has sought, through its original he relationship of the INF policies to apply

### be allowed.

orts the relief sought but seeks that it be electricity sub transmission infrastructure and distribution infrastructure.

## be partially allowed.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
				Consider applying a policy similar to Policy CE – P1 in the NFL section of the Proposed ORPS.	
152.	Dunedin City Council	00139.249	General	Amend as follows: <ol> <li>Remove any duplication/paraphrasing of NPS – UD provisions where this does not add value;</li> <li>Avoid reopening of matters that have been recently resolved in the current partially operative RPS 2019 unless necessary to achieve other items in this list;</li> <li>Ensure that regional direction aligns and does not conflict with the direction on urban form and development within the recently developed and settled strategic directions that are included in the Dunedin City second generation District Plan (2GP).</li> <li>Ensure that housing and business land capacity requirements for all medium or high growth areas can be met effectively under the RPS, including by providing for enough feasible development options and by effectively and efficiently facilitating any public or critical infrastructure or services necessary to support growth to operate, develop or expand. Provide clear guidance on how to reconcile any tensions between achieving the above objective with other regional objectives for example around highly productive land, management of natural hazards risk, or landscape protection.</li> </ol>	Aurora <b>supports</b> the gen that had been finalised onew matters are to be in Aurora seeks the relief be
153.	Beef & Lamb NZ and Deer Industry NZ	00237.064	Amend	Include an additional anticipated environmental result as follows: <u>UFD – AER(12): avoid adverse effects on rural areas caused by reverse sensitivity.</u>	Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie of protection from revers recognising the function distribution infrastructure relief also disregards the in rural areas and puts in develop or upgrade that
154.	Federated       00239.180       New –       Add new as follows:         Farmers of New       UFD – AER12 Highly productive soils are protected from inappropriate development       UFD – AER13 The productive capacity, amenity and character of the rural environment         Zealand       UFD – AER13 The productive capacity, amenity and character of the rural environment         urban activities are not adversely impacted by inappropriate urban expansion and urban activities and reverse sensitivity issues.		Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora <b>opposes</b> the relie of protection from revers recognising the function distribution infrastructure relief also disregards the in rural areas and puts in develop or upgrade that Aurora seeks the relief be		
155.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	00313.030	UFD - 02	Amend as follows: Retain subclause (6) as notified. AND Amend subclause (9) as follows: "(9) achieves integration of land use with existing and planned development infrastructure and facilitates the safe and efficient ongoing <u>maintenance</u> , use, <u>development of and upgrades to</u> regionally significant infrastructure."	Aurora <b>supports</b> amendi environments expand, it this has an impact on ex substations and other RS development to further s environments and the he communities.

eneral relief which seeks a reversion to matters ad as part of PRS19 except to the extent that inserted to implement the NPSUD.

be **allowed**.

elief sought on the basis that it seeks a high level erse sensitivity effects on rural areas without onal and operational needs for electricity ure to be located in the rural environment. The ne considerable extent of existing infrastructure is into question the ability to operate, maintain, hat infrastructure.

#### be declined.

elief sought on the basis that it seeks a high level erse sensitivity effects on rural areas without onal and operational needs for electricity ure to be located in the rural environment. The ne considerable extent of existing infrastructure s into question the ability to operate, maintain, hat infrastructure.

## be **declined**.

nding this objective to consider RSI. As urban , it is important to consider the extent to which existing sub-transmission infrastructure, zone RSI which may need to be upgraded or er support growing well-functioning urban health and wellbeing of people and

FS#	S# Submitter Name Original Submission Provision Number Submitter Name			Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or op
where those activities are in appropriat            6. minimises conflict between incompa         Grid, avoids adverse effects on the ope         of the National Grid,            9. achieves integration of land use with         and additional infrastructure and facilit         maintenance, upgrade and developm        "         OR         In respect of the amendment to clause		<ul> <li>2. allows business and other non – residential activities to meet the needs of communities where those activities are in appropriate locations,</li> <li></li> <li>6. minimises conflict between incompatible activities <u>and</u>, in the case of the National Grid, avoids adverse effects on the operation, maintenance, upgrade and development of the National Grid,</li> <li></li> <li>9. achieves integration of land use with existing and planned development infrastructure and additional infrastructure and facilitates the safe and efficient ongoing use, maintenance, upgrade and development of regionally significant infrastructure,"</li> </ul>	Aurora <b>partially supports</b> extended to apply to ele significant electricity distr Aurora seeks the relief be		
157.	Meridian Energy Limited	00306.077; 00306.079; 00306.080	UFD – P1	Amend as follows: "Strategic planning processes, undertaken at an appropriate scale and detail, precede urban growth and development and:  (8) identify, maintain and where possible practicable, enhance important features and values identified by this RPS, and (9) avoid the potential for reverse sensitivity effects on nationally and regionally significant infrastructure."	Aurora <b>supports</b> recognit sensitivity effects on existi development is located sub-transmission lines or z developments be locate operation of the infrastru wellbeing of people and existing RSI is considered significant development, providers.
158.	Transpower New Zealand Limited	00314.051	UFD – O4	<ul> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>Development in Otago's rural areas occurs in a way that:</li> <li>1. avoids manages impacts on significant values and features identified in this RPS, and the National Grid, in the manner set out in other sections of this RPS,</li> <li>2. avoids as the first priority, gives preference to locations that are not on land and soils identified as highly productive by LF – LS – P19 unless there is an operational need for the development to be located in rural areas,"</li> </ul>	Aurora seeks the relief be Aurora partially <b>supports</b> from National Grid to ele significant electricity distr Aurora seeks the relief be
159.	159.     Queenstown Airport Corporation     00313.031     UFD – P1		UFD – P1	Amend as follows: "Strategic planning processes, undertaken at an appropriate scale and detail, precede urban growth and development and:  (7) facilitate involvement of the current community and respond to the reasonably foreseeable needs of future communities, <del>and</del> (8) identify, maintain and where possible, enhance important features and values identified by this RPS, <u>and</u> (9) ensure impacts on the operation of regionally and nationally significant infrastructure are avoided.	Aurora <b>supports</b> recognit sensitivity effects on existi impacts. This often occur rural zones, and fails to c substations which require distance to maintain the the health and wellbeing to ensure that existing RS of enabling significant de with RSI providers. Aurora considers that the adverse effects of incom

**ts** the relief sought but seeks that it be electricity sub transmission infrastructure and istribution infrastructure.

be partially allowed.

nition of the potentially adverse reverse isting RSI. This often occurs where planned d in rural zones and fails to consider existing r zone substations which requires ited a certain distance to maintain the ructure and to ensure the health and hd communities. It is important to ensure that ed and planned for in advance of enabling int, including through consultation with RSI

#### be **allowed**.

**ts** the relief subject to expanding the reference electricity sub transmission infrastructure and istribution infrastructure.

## be partially allowed.

nition of the potentially adverse reverse isting RSI and the need to avoid adverse curs where planned development is located in consider existing sub-transmission lines or zone ires developments be located a certain ne operation of the infrastructure and to ensure ng of people and communities. It is important RSI is considered and planned for in advance development, including through consultation

he relief could be refined to ensure that the ompatible activities are avoided.

FS#	Submitter Name Original Point Nur	Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o	
				Aurora seeks the relief b	
160.	PowerNet Limited 00511.020	0	Amend as follows: Ensure consistency with best practice or national policy direction when finalising this criteria, such that the significance criteria for indigenous biodiversity are specific and targeted to avoid the inclusion of inappropriate areas within SNAs.	Aurora <b>supports</b> ensuring national direction as to seeks that this be specif 'blanket' approach.	
				Aurora seeks the relief b	
161.	Queenstown Airport Corporation	3	Amend as follows: Significance Criteria is amended to ensure indigenous biodiversity are aligned with best practice or national policy direction and are specific and targeted enough to avoid the classification of inappropriate areas as SNAs	Aurora <b>supports</b> ensuring national direction as to seeks that this be specif 'blanket' approach.	
				Aurora seeks the relief b	
162.	Meridian Energy Limited	2	<ul> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>Meridian seeks that (1)(b) of APP3 be amended to remove the term "reasonably measurable" and to instead adopt "measurable". It is not clear how reasonably measurable would differ from measurable.</li> <li>AND</li> <li>Meridian seeks deletion of the term "positive" from criteria 2(e). This recognises that the other criteria require, as a minimum, no-net loss in indigenous biodiversity, and prevents criteria 2(e) being read as if enhancement of indigenous biodiversity outcomes is a compulsory requirement of offsetting. Meridian seeks that Criteria 2(f) is amended for the same reasons, that is, offsetting should be an option to achieve no-net-loss; and/or enhancement of indigenous biodiversity.</li> <li>AND further to the above, and as set out with respect to LF- WAI-P3, Meridian seeks the replacement of "possible" with "practicable".</li> <li>AND</li> <li>Amend APP3 (2)(f) as follows:</li> <li>"APP3 - Criteria for indigenous biodiversity offsetting</li> <li>(1) Indigenous Bbiodiversity offsetting is not available if the activity will result in:</li> <li>(a) the loss of any individuals of Threatened taxa, other than kānuka (Kunzea robusta and Kunzea serotina), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), or</li> <li>(b) teasonably measurable loss within the ecological district to an At Risk – Declining taxon, other than manuka (Leptospermum scoparium), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008).</li> <li>(2) Indigenous Bbiodiversity offsetting is available if the following criteria are met:</li> <li>(a) the offset addresses significant residual adverse effects that remain after implementing the sequential steps required by ECO – P6(1) to (3).</li> <li>(b)</li> <li>(e) the positive ecological outcomes of the offset endure at least as long as the impact of the</li> </ul>	Aurora supports the add	
			<ul> <li>and Kunzea serotina), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008), or</li> <li>(b) reasonably measurable loss within the ecological district to an At Risk – Declining taxon, other than manuka (Leptospermum scoparium), under the New Zealand Threat Classification System (Townsend et al, 2008).</li> <li>(2) Indigenous Bbiodiversity offsetting is available if the following criteria are met:</li> <li>(a) the offset addresses significant residual adverse effects that remain after implementing the sequential steps required by ECO – P6(1) to (3),</li> <li>(b)</li> </ul>		

## be **allowed**.

ing consistency with impending higher order o the significance criteria subject to APP2 and cific and targeted as opposed to a sweeping

# be **allowed**.

ing consistency with impending higher order o the significance criteria subject to APP2 and cific and targeted as opposed to a sweeping

be allowed.

dditional matters of clarification sought.

FS#	Submitter Name	Original Submission Point Number	Provision Number	Summary of Decision Requested	Reasons for support or o
				<ul> <li>(g) the time delay between the loss of <u>indigenous</u> biodiversity and the realisation of the offset is the least necessary to achieve the best <u>possible practicable</u> outcome,</li> <li>(h)"</li> </ul>	
1.					



From:	Sharon Aitchison
To:	RPS
Cc:	Megan Justice
Subject:	PORPS Further Submission - Network Waitaki Ltd
Date:	Friday, 12 November 2021 12:16:30 p.m.
Attachments:	ATT00001.aif
	Form 6 - Network Waitaki Ltd Further Submissions on PORPS 12 11 21.pdf

#### Attention: ORC Policy Team

Please find attached a Further Submission by **Network Waitaki Ltd** with respect to the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021. We undertake to serve copies of this further submission on the relevant submitters within 5 working days.

Please acknowledge receipt in due course.

Regards

Sharon (on behalf of Megan Justice)



Sharon Aitchison Office Manager

#### DDI +64 3 742 4012 | +64 27 255 1665 | PO Box 489, Dunedin 9054 www.mitchelldaysh.co.nz

The information contained in this email message received from Mitchell Daysh Limited (and accompanying attachments) may be confidential. The information is intended solely for the recipient named in this email. If the reader is not the intended recipient, you are notified that any use, disclosure, forwarding or printing of this email or accompanying attachments is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately by return email.

#### FORM 6

# FURTHER SUBMISSION IN SUPPORT OF, OR IN OPPOSITION TO, SUBMISSION ON NOTIFIED PROPOSED POLICY STATEMENT OR PLAN, CHANGE OR VARIATION

Clause 8 of Schedule 1, Resource Management Act 1991

To Otago Regional Council Private Bag 1954 DUNEDIN 9054

Email: rps@orc.govt.nz

#### Name Network Waitaki Limited

### 1. Further submitter details

Name of further submitter: Network Waitaki Limited ("NWL")

NWL made a submission on the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement ("**PORPS**"), being submission number 00320.

#### 2. Only certain people can make a further submission

NWL has an interest in the PORPS that is greater than the interest that the general public has on the following grounds:

- a) NWL is an electricity distribution business. It offtakes electricity from the national grid and distributes it to homes, businesses, schools and communities in Oamaru and within rural areas of North Otago and parts of South Canterbury Regions.
- b) NWL is a network utility operator. Network utility operators are defined in the Resource Management Act 1991 ("the Act") and specifically include electricity operators or electricity distributors for the purpose of line function services.
- c) The electricity network owned by NWL in the Otago region comprises high voltage (HV) power lines (above and below ground) which distribute electricity to local zone substations where the voltage is reduced before distribution through medium voltage (MV) power lines (overhead and underground) as seen throughout Otago.

#### 3. Hearing options

NWL does wish to be heard in support of its further submission.

If others are making a similar submission, NWL would consider presenting a joint case with them at the Hearing.

Signature:

#### Network Waitaki Limited

by its authorised agents Mitchell Daysh Ltd

M, ,

Date:12 November 2021Electronic address for service:megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nzTelephone:027 227 2444Postal address:Mitchell Daysh Ltd<br/>PO Box 489<br/>DUNEDIN 9054Contact person:Megan Justice

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	General submission	00239.195	Significantly review and amend the overly restrictive and prohibitive approach taken within the RPS.	Support	NWL considered that there are significant amendments that are necessary to the ORPS which is evident in the submissions received.	Allow
Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	General submission	00230.003	In relation to the use of effects management hierarchies, seek consistent amendments throughout the RPS to place the emphasis on avoiding the effects in the first place.	Oppose	NWL considered that it is inappropriate to require avoidance in all circumstances.	Disallow
Central Otago Environmental Society	General Submission	00202.001	The general tenor and direction of the ORPS is supported.	Oppose	There are significant amendments that are necessary to the ORPS which is evident by the submissions received.	Disallow
Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited, Mobil Oil NZ Limited	General Submission	00510.003	Give effect to National Policy Statements, Environmental Standards and Regulations, including the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement (NZCPS).	Support	It is necessary for the ORPS to give effect to the higher order national documents.	Allow
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	General Submission	00239.199	Amend to recognise that there are deep inconsistencies between the natural character, outstanding natural landscape, and outstanding water body provisions.	Support	Careful drafting of the provisions is required to ensure that the ability to develop important infrastructure is not unnecessarily constrained.	Allow
Dunedin City Council	CE – P4	00139.065	Amend to reflect general comments re use of the word 'avoid'.	Support	The use of the word 'avoid' in objectives and policies can result in unintended outcomes and can unnecessarily restrict infrastructure development.	Allow
New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	Definition	00321.106	Guidance on the definition of nationally significant infrastructure should be provided with reference to the Te Waihanga 30 Year Infrastructure Strategy which is due to be published in March 2022. AND	Support	NWL supports the approach sought by the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission.	Allow
			Nationally consistent guidance on the "Regionally Significant" infrastructure would be beneficial. This should include infrastructure that is interdependent (ie one is of little value without the other) or interconnected (part of the same network without which the network as a whole fails) with existing nationally or regionally significant infrastructure.			
			AND			
			There should specifically reference to economic infrastructure without which the economies of Otago cannot function. Including for example those highlighted by the submitters submission as unique to the Otago region and unable to locate outside of the areas listed in EIT–INF–P13 such as ski field infrastructure.			

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
Queenstown Lakes District Council	Definition	00138.029	Amend definitions to add a definition of 'environmental compensation'	Oppose in part	It is unclear at this stage what the wording of such a definition would be.	Disallowed in part
New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	Definition	00321.002	Amend as follows: The term "mitigate" should be reintroduced because it means "to make less severe", as opposed to minimise or "remedy", which means to repair or fix or make good	Support	NWL considered it inappropriate to require repair in all circumstances.	Allow
Ravensdown Limited	Definition	00121.005	Delete the definition for "Highly valued natural features and landscapes" and as a consequential amendment, remove and/or amend all references to 'highly valued natural features and landscapes'.	Support	NWL supports the deletion of this definition. This definition inconsistent with sections 7(c) and 7(f) of the RMA	Allow
Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	Definition	00305.005	Include a definition of Reverse Sensitivity, and we suggest the following, or similar, definition, which is taken from the Partially Operative Otago RPS 2019: "The potential for the operation of an existing lawfully established activity to be constrained or curtailed by the more recent establishment or intensification of other activities which are sensitive to the established activity."	Support	NWL agrees with the need for and proposed drafting of this definition as proposed in particular, recognises the value of including reference to the intensification of existing sensitive activities, as well as their establishment.	Allow
Meridian Energy Limited	Definitions	00306.012	Include a new definition: <u>"Upgrade means activities to bring existing structures up to current standards or to</u> <u>improve the functional characteristics of structures, provided that the effects of the</u> <u>activity are the same or similar in character, intensity and scale as the existing</u> <u>structure and activity. Within the footprint of authorised renewable electricity</u> <u>generation activities, upgrade also means increasing the generation or transmission</u> <u>capacity, or the efficiency or security of regionally significant infrastructure; and</u> <u>replacing ancillary structures"</u>	Support	NWL supports the amendments being proposed Allow by the submitter to this definition as it adds clarity.	
Aurora Energy Limited	SRMR – Significant Resource Management Issues for the Region	00315.015	Amend as follows: Add a new significant resource management issue addressing the extent to which the aspirations, challenges and resource management issues are supported by a well – functioning electricity distribution network, suggested drafting as follows:	Support	NWL supports this submission as it is important to recognise this resource management issue in the RPS, and provides context for the relevant provisions.	Allow
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	IM-O1 Integrated Management	00239.034	Amend as follows: "The management of natural and physical resources in Otago, by and for the people of Otago, including Kāi Tahu, and as expressed in all resource management plans and decision making, achieves healthy, resilient, and safeguarded natural systems, and the ecosystem services they offer provide, and supports <u>the social, cultural and</u> <u>economic</u> well-being of present and future generations, (mō tātou, ā, mō kā uri ā muri ake nei).	Support	NWL supports the amendments being proposed by the submitter to this objective. The addition of the in recognition of social, cultural and economic effects aligns with section 5 of the RMA.	Allow
Blackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limited	IM-P10	00119.002	Amend Policy IM-P10 Climate change adaptation and mitigation" as follows:	Support	The changes sought to this policy will enable some development, such as infrastructure, within	Allow

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opp
			(2) prioritise avoiding the establishment of new activities in areas subject to <u>significant</u> risk from the effects of climate change, unless those activities reduce, or are resilient to, those <u>significant</u> risks, and		areas identified as being at risk o change, when appropriate.
Aurora Energy Limited	CE – 05	00315.021	Amend Objective CE-05 'Activities in the coastal environment' as follows: "Activities in the coastal environment: 	Support	NWL supports the amendments by by the submitter to this Objective view that this amendment is cons NZCPS Policy 6.
			(3) are only provided for within appropriate locations and limits, <u>or, in the case of infrastructure where there is a functional or operational need, and</u> "		
Dunedin City Council	LF – WAI – P1	00139.081	Consider providing clarification or adding a new policy on priorities when there is conflict between them; e.g. housing development and water needed for drinking water with potential effects on the health and well-being of a water body.	Support in part	Improving clarification to assist th implementation of the ORPS is su
Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	ECO – General	00230.096	<ul> <li>Amend the ECO provisions to:</li> <li>Ensure that all areas meeting the APP2 significance criteria are to be protected</li> <li>That values identified through mapping will be schedules in the plan but will not be used as a comprehensive list.</li> <li>That resource consents will include assessment to identify values of any area which meets the significance criteria to provide the best and most recent information</li> </ul>	Oppose	The relief sought by the submitte will add uncertainty to the implen RPS.
Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	ECO-O2	00230.098	<ul> <li>Direct regional and district councils to map significant natural areas within the coastal environment</li> <li>Amend Objective ECO-02 "Restoring and Enhancing" as follows: "A net increase in the extent, <u>quality, quantity and occupancy diversity</u> of Otago's indigenous biodiversity results from restoration or enhancement and <u>improvement</u>."</li> </ul>	Oppose	'Quality, quantity and diversity'– t the terms 'extent and occupancy' ecological terms.
Dunedin City Council	ECO-M5	00139.138	<ul> <li>Delete Objective ECO – M5(1) District Plans:</li> <li><i>Territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>district plans</i> to:</li> <li>1. if the requirements of ECO–P3 and ECO–P6 are met, provide for the use of <i>land</i> and the surface of <i>water bodies</i> including: <ul> <li>a. activities undertaken for the purposes of pest control or maintaining or enhancing the habitats of indigenous fauna, and</li> <li>b. the maintenance and use of existing <i>structures</i> (including <i>infrastructure</i>), and</li> <li>c. <i>infrastructure</i> that has a <i>functional</i> or <i>operational need</i> to be sited or operated in a particular location,</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Support	NWL supports the deletion of EC clarification of ECO_P6 intention. objective is unclear.

t/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
risk of climate	
ents being proposed ective. It is NWL's consistent with the	Allow
sist the is supported.	Allow
mitter is unclear and oplementation of the	Disallow
ity'– too subjective – ancy' are recognised	Disallow
of ECO-M5(1) and the ntion. As worded, this	Allow

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
			Clarify whether the intention is that resource consent applications triggered by district plans are directly assessed against ECO – P6, or that territorial authorities incorporate this policy into district plans			
Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand Incorporated	ECO-M5	00230.114	<ul><li>Add a new clause to Objective ECO-M5 as follows:</li><li>(X) in all cases consider whether it may be appropriate to grant consent with conditions or for consent to be declined due to locational circumstances and to achieve other policy and objectives of the RPS."</li></ul>	Oppose	NWL oppose addition of (x) as this relief is not necessary given the requirements already contained in s104 of the RMA.	Disallow
LAC Properties Trustees Limited	EIT – General	00211.023	Recognise regional importance of development infrastructure, in particular for urban development	Support	NWL considers including a provision that recognises the importance of infrastructure for urban development is a useful addition to this chapter.	Allow
New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	EIT – General	00321.100	Place more emphasis on the benefits of infrastructure to society and the environment, and also on how the environment contributes to infrastructure.	Support	The amendments being sought by the submitter will emphasise the importance of infrastructure.	Allow
New Zealand Infrastructure Commission	EIT – General	00321.104	Enable infrastructure provision in outstanding natural areas	Support in part	The amendments being sought by the submitter will assist with the development of infrastructure in outstanding natural areas, when there is a locational need to do so.	Allow
Transpower New Zealand Limited	EIT – INF – General	00314.001	Revise and update approaches to nationally significant infrastructure and regionally significant infrastructure to provide greater clarity in respect of the intended approaches and outcomes, including through the use of consistent expression and hyperlinks to definitions.	Support	The amendments being sought by the submitter will emphasise the importance of infrastructure, and assist with the implementation of these provisions.	Allow
Aurora Energy Limited	EIT – INF – General	00315.012	Amend as follows: Replace all instances of the term "electricity transmission network" with "distribution network" consistent with how that term has been defined in RPS21 with respect to the following provisions • EIT–INF–O6 – Long – term planning for electricity transmission infrastructure • EIT–INF–P16 – Providing for electricity transmission and the National Grid • EIT–INF–M5 – District plans	Support	The amendments being sought by the submitter are consistent with NWTs submission on these definitions and activities.	Allow
Queenstown Airport Corporation	EIT – INF – O5	00313.016	<ul> <li>Amend as follows:</li> <li>"Development of nationally and regionally significant infrastructure, as well as land use change, occurs in a co – ordinated manner to: minimize</li> <li>(1) avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects on the environment, and</li> <li>(2) ensure the operational and functional needs of the infrastructure is not compromised and increase efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the infrastructure."</li> </ul>	Support	The amendments being sought by the submitter will emphasise the importance of infrastructure, and the constraints associated with it.	Allow

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):	
Royal Forest and	EIT – INF –	00230.128	Amend as follows:	Oppose	The amendment sought is not necessary, and	Disallow	
Bird Protection O5 Society of New Zealand Incorporated			Development of <i>nationally</i> and <i>regionally significant infrastructure</i> , as well as <i>land</i> use change, occurs in a co-ordinated manner to <u>avoid or</u> minimise adverse <i>effects</i> on the <i>environment</i> and increase efficiency in the delivery, operation and use of the <i>infrastructure</i> .		does not reflect the effects management regime of the RMA.		
Aurora Energy	EIT – INF –	00315.045	Amend as follows:	Support	This amendment will enable distribution	Allow	
Limited	O6		"Long – term investment in, and planning for the <u>national grid and distribution</u> <u>network</u> <del>electricity transmission infrastructure</del> , and its integration with land use, is sustained."		networks to be appropriately provided for, along with transmission.		
Aurora Energy	Aurora Energy EIT – INF – 00315.048		Amend Policy as follows:	Support	NWL considers that these outcomes are relevant to all infrastructure.	Allow	
Limited P12		"Provide for upgrades to, and development of, <del>nationally or regionally significant</del> infrastructure while ensuring that:					
		<ol> <li>infrastructure is it is designed and located, as far as practicable, to maintain functionality during and after natural hazard events,</li> </ol>					
			2) it is, as far as practicable, co – ordinated with long – term land use planning, and				
	<li>3) increases efficiency in the delivery, or <u>efficient</u>."</li>						
Z Energy Limited,	EIT – INF –	00510.041	Delete this policy: "When considering proposals to develop or upgrade infrastructure:	Support	NWL supports the deletion of this policy. NWL	Allow	
BP Oil NZ P14 Limited, Mobil Oil NZ Limited		(1) require consideration of alternative sites, methods and designs if adverse effects are potentially significant or irreversible, and		considers that the word 'irreversible' is problematic in this policy, as a less than minor irreversible effects would in this case trigger the			
			(2) utilise the opportunity of substantial upgrades of infrastructure to reduce adverse effects that result from the existing infrastructure, including on sensitive activities."		need to consider alternatives.		
Aurora Energy Limited	EIT - INF - P15	00315.053	Amend as follows Retain Policy EIT – INF – P15 provided that Significant Electricity Distribution Infrastructure is included in the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure;	Support	This relief is consistent with the framework sought by NWL in its submission.	Allow	
			OR				
			as consequential relief to that submission, amend the policy as follows:				
			"Seek to avoid the establishment of activities that may result in reverse sensitivity effects on nationally or regionally significant infrastructure <u>and significant electricity</u> <u>distribution infrastructure</u> , and/or where they may compromise the functional or operational needs of that infrastructure."				

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/opp
Aurora Energy	EIT – INF –	00315.054	Delete or include a new as follows:	Support	This relief is consistent with the f
Limited	P16		Recognise and provide for the distribution network by:		sought by NWL in its submission.
			(1) providing for development and upgrade, and requiring, as far as practicable, its integration with land use;		
			(2) Providing for the functional and operational needs of the distribution network;		
			(3) Enabling the operation, maintenance and minor upgrading of existing distribution network.		
			(4) Minimising, as far as practicable, adverse effects of the distribution network on existing land uses, including amenity values.		
			(5) Identifying electricity sub – transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure and managing effects of potentially incompatible activities.		
Federated Farmers of New Zealand	EIT – INF – AER7	00239.131	Delete and replace this Anticipated environmental result as follows: " <u>Reverse</u> sensitivity effects caused by sensitive activities on nationally and regionally significant infrastructure will be avoided to the extent reasonably possible"	Oppose	NWL does not consider the property provides sufficient clarity for this
BP Oil NZ H	HAZ –	zards and	Amend as follows:	Support	NWL agrees that duplication of c hazardous substances should be
	Hazards and risks General		Policy X – <u>Avoid duplication of hazardous substance controls provided by other</u> legislation.		
Aurora Energy	HAZ – NH –	00315.061	Amend policy as follows:	Support	NWL considers that the changes
Limited P	P3		"Once the level of natural hazard risk associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ – NH – P2, manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes:		policy is appropriate and practica
			(1) when the natural hazard risk is significant, the activity is avoided <u>unless the</u> <u>activity is nationally or regionally significant infrastructure that has a functional</u> <u>need or operational need for its location and the risk is appropriately managed,</u>		
Chorus, New	HAZ – NH –	00310.010	Amend as follows:	Support	NWL considers the relief sought
Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading	P8		"Locate, relocate, and design lifeline utilities and facilities for essential and emergency services to:		appropriate
Limited and Vodafone New Zealand			(2) Take into account their operational co – dependence with other lifeline utilities and essential services to ensure their effective operation."		
Aurora Energy	HCV – WT –	00315.069	Amend as follows:	Support in part	NWL supports the inclusion of cla policy. This relief is consistent wi framework sought by NWL in its
Limited	P2		Delete Clause 4 Policy HCV – WT – P2		
			OR		2 ,

/opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
the framework sion.	Allow
proposed wording this outcome.	Disallow
of controls for d be avoided.	Allow
nges sought to this acticable.	Allow
ught to be	Allow
of clause 6 to this nt with the n its submission.	Allow

Submitter	RPS Chapter	Original submission point number	Submission summary	Support or Oppose	The reasons for my support/op
			Amend by inserting the following clause		
			а 		
			<ol> <li>recognising that for infrastructure, EIT – INF – P13 applies instead of HCV – WT – P2(1) to (5).</li> </ol>		
Meridian Energy	NFL – 01	00306.068	Amend as follows:	Support	The relief sought reflects Part 2
Limited			NFL – O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes		
			The areas and values of Otago's outstanding <del>and highly valued</del> natural features and landscapes are identified, and the use and development of Otago's natural and physical resources results in <del>: (1)</del> the protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes, <del>and (2) the maintenance or enhancement of highly valued natural</del> <del>features and landscapes.</del>		
Meridian Energy	NFL – P4	00306.071	Amend as follows:	Support	The relief sought reflects Part 2
Limited			"Promote restoration of the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes where those areas or values have been reduced or lost. "		
New Zealand	NFL – PR1	00321.037	Amend as follows:	Support	Additional clarity is required to
Infrastructure Commission			Revise the provisions to provide clarity on:		conflicting provisions are to be ensuring the enabling provisior infrastructure are not overlooke
			<ul> <li>how this provision should be 'read together' with enabling policies in other topics that refer to the functional and operational needs of infrastructure to locate in certain environments.</li> </ul>		
			Meaning of "value" in the context of contributing to an 'ONL' or 'ONF'		
Aurora Energy	UFD – Urban	00315.081	amend as follows:	Support	This relief is consistent with the
Limited	form and development General	opment	Add a new sub – clause to each policy of the following polices UFD – P3; UFD – P5; UFD – P6 ; UFD – P7 ; UFD – P8 as follows:		sought by NWL in its submissic
			" …		
			(X) Recognise and provide for the distribution network by identifying electricity sub – transmission infrastructure and significant electricity distribution infrastructure and managing effects of potentially incompatible activities.		
			AND		
			Any further or consequential relief to M1 – M3 to reflect submission sought.		

opposition are:	I seek that the whole (or part [describe part]) of the submission be allowed (or disallowed):
2 of the RMA.	Allow
2 of the RMA.	Allow
o set out how e implemented and ons for ked.	Allow
ne framework ion.	Allow

Terry Dwayneinfo@eletbact.comAbraham, Benabrahambm@gmall.comAchari, Komalkomal achari@hotmall.comAdams, GYPSY-JAZZkyxxy.laz266@hotmall.comAgregate and Quarry Associationwayne@aa.org.nzAgresearch Limitedgraeme.mathleson@mitchelldaysh.co.nzAgresearch Limitedrace.mekni2e@torl.co.nzAnderson, Francesfrancesanderson.784@gmail.comAnderson, Francesmargus57@gmail.comAnderson, Francesmargus57@gmail.comAnderson, Francesmargus57@gmail.comAnderson, Francesmargus57@gmail.comAnderson, Francesmaruice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetjanack@xtra.co.nzAtkinson Janetangus.roberts.on@auroraenergy.nzBailin, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBailin, Romwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynmbainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaind, Matthewmbainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaind, Matthewmbainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaind, Matthewmaru@mail.comBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominial.comBalarot Lamber Merge Janet Lambardmysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agriamysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Lamber Lambardmysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agriamysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agriamysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agriamysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agriamysonsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalarot Agria	Submitter Name	Address for Service
Achari, Komalkomal achari@hotmal.comAdams, GYPS/JAZZgypsyste and Quary AssociationAgregate and Quary Associationwavn@aca.org.nzAgresearch Limitedgreame.mathleson@mitchelidaysh.co.nzAlluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltdkate.mckenzie@tprit.conAnderson Francesfrancesanderson784@gmail.comAnderson Francesmargus57@gmail.comAnderson Jesleykeleyma2016@gmail.comAnderson Jesleymagusf.dig.@hotmail.comAnderson Fancesmaruce.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetjanack@xtra.co.nzAtkinson Janetangus.roberts.on@auroraenergy.nzBailin, Raranu@hotmail.comBailin, Raranu@hotmail.comBailin, Raranu@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird, Matthewmbirdnz@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmabirdnz@gmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.dams@ballance.co.nzBallanter Claraclaraballantym@gcokallanco.nzBallanter Claraclaraballantym@gcokallanco.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantym@gcokallanco.nzBallantyne Claratombev.2009@hotmail.comBeer Hamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBack Janejane.black14@gmail.comBallantyne Claratarbine.hock1/@gmail.comBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne.co.nzBallantyne Claratarbine.hock1/@gmail.comBallantyne Claratarbine.hock1/@gmail.comBallantyne Claratarbine.hock1/@gmail.comBallantyne Clara	Terry Dwayne	<u>info@jetboat.com</u>
Adams, GYPSY-JAZZgypsy.jazz656@hotmail.comAgresearch Limitedwayne@aga.org.nzAgresearch Limitedkate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nzAlluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltdkate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nzAnderson, Lesleylesleymail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleymail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleymail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaruce.dale@bofmail.comArar Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaruce.dale@bofmail.comArar Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaruce.dale@bofmail.comBailine, RaranuelMottmail.comAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBailine, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaind Alisterbairdalistervilliambaird@mail.comBalder, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt,Andysabarct@gmail.comBeer Hills Trustrachel@bromail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.inving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBig Stone Forest Limitedkatya.boland87@gmail.comBig Adhaykatya.boland87@gmail.comBerardt,Andysabarct@gmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedkatya.boland87@gmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedkatya.boland87@gmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedkatya.boland87@gmail.com <tr< td=""><td>Abraham, Ben</td><td>abrahambm@gmail.com</td></tr<>	Abraham, Ben	abrahambm@gmail.com
Aggregate and Quarry Associationwarry @aga.org.ntAggregate and Quarry Associationgraeme.mathieson@mitchellaysh.co.nzAggregate and Quarry Associationkate.mckenzie@tpt.ot.co.nzAnderson Francesfrancesanderson784@gmail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleyma2016@gmail.comAnderson, LesleyMrangus27@gmail.comAnderson Auss. Alistari, Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivet,Mrangus27@gmail.comAntearoa Water Action (AWA)ngladding@hotmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dal@boffamiskell.co.nzAuroa Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBailin, Bromwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBaird, Matthewmainfamily@ktra.co.nzBaird, Matthewmainfamily@ktra.co.nzBaird, Matthewmainfamily@ktra.co.nzBallance, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBallance, Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.comBeer Mistymsy.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBear Mistymsy.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBear Mistyimae.back14@gmail.comBeer Mistyimae.back14@gmail.comBeer Mistyimae.back14@gmail.comBeer Mistyimae.back14@gmail.comBacktorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@lenenave.co.nzBoland Kaylakatharine.hockly@gmail.comBacktorn Lodge Glenorchy	Achari, Komal	komal_achari@hotmail.com
AgResearch Limitedgraeme.mathleson@mitchelldaysh.co.nzAlluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltdkate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nzAnderson rearcesfrancesanderson73448@mail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleyma2016@gmail.comAngus, Alistair, Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; RivettMrangus57@gmail.comAnderson atter Acton (AWA)ngladdin@chotnail.comAra Poutama Actearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaillie, Raranul@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@ktra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalistervilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdnz@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdnz@gmail.comBaker,, Kelseykelsey_baker@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.onzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt,Andymsy.ponsohy@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev.2009@hotmail.comBeveridge Thomastombev.2009@hotmail.comBack, Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janemay.ponsohy@beeflambnz.co.nzBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Janekayla.boland87@gmail.comBack Jane <td>Adams, GYPSY-JAZZ</td> <td>gypsy.jazz666@hotmail.com</td>	Adams, GYPSY-JAZZ	gypsy.jazz666@hotmail.com
Alluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltdkate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nzAnderson, Lesleyfrancesanderson784@zmail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleyma2016@gmail.comAngus, Alistair, Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett,Mrangus57@gmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzArar Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranu@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird, Matthewmainfar@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmainfar@gmail.comBalard, Matthewmainfar@gmail.comBalard, Matthewclaraballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBalant, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonbu@beeflambnz.co.nzBard Kaylajane.black14@gmail.comBeer Hilm Tustrackbalance.co.nzBard Kaylabridget irving@galawaycookallan.co.nzBeer Hills Trustragyann@@mail.comBeer Kills Trustragyann@@mail.comBorer Hills Trustragyann@@mail.comBorer Hills Trustcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder Stewartcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzBorer Hills Trustragyann@@mail.comBorer Hills Trustcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder Stewartcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder Stewartcraig	Aggregate and Quarry Association	wayne@aqa.org.nz
Anderson Francesfrancesanderson784@gmail.comAnderson, Lesleylesleyma2016@gmail.comAngus, Alistair; Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett,Margus/Si@gmail.comAntearoa Water Action (AWA)ngladding@hotmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBallie, Raranui@hotmail.comBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaker, KelseykelseyBaker, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.onzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarratt, Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.consolw@beefambnz.co.nzBerd Kithorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBlack, Inejane-black14@gmail.comBackris, Suewastrastt@gmail.comBistone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBistone Forest Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoard Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBuston, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBuston Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBistone Forest Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBistone Forest Limitedkayla.boland87@gmail.comBistone Forest Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBistone Forest Limitedk	AgResearch Limited	graeme.mathieson@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
Anderson, Lesleylesleyma2016@gmail.comAngus, Alistair; Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett, Aotearoa Water Action (AWA)Mrangus57@gmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetjanack@xtra.co.nzAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranui@bottmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwillambaird@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey_baker@hotmail.comBaldar Alisterbairdalisterwillambaird.comBalard Alisterbairdalisterwillambaird.comBalard Ryterbairdcaraballant.comBalard Ryterbairddominic.adams@balance.o.nzBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.o.nzBalantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt, Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeer Hils Trustrache@browandcompany.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlack Janecolling.comBoard Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoard Kaylacarabel@browandcompany.co.nzBradely, Suewindsurfsu@declarestewart.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlack JaneconBack JaneconBlack JaneconBack Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlack Janejane.	Alluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltd	kate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nz
Angus, Alistair;Singleton, Robert;Bryant, Neville;Mirangus57@gmail.comAotearoa Water Action (AWA)ngladding@hotmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffmails.coll.co.nzAutora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBailn, Bronwynthebainfamilw@ktra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamilw@ktra.co.nzBaird, Matthewalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbaird.a@gmail.comBalra, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBalrance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.onzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyme@columbacolinge.school.nzBalrantyne Claraclaraballantyme@columbacolinge.school.nzBarratt.Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeer + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmwsponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalacthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBalacthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.on.nzBoland Kaylakavla.boland87.@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldgagyann@gmail.comCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānaugen@cuee.nzCain whānau <t< td=""><td>Anderson Frances</td><td>francesanderson 784@gmail.com</td></t<>	Anderson Frances	francesanderson 784@gmail.com
Actearoa Water Action (AWA)ngladding@hotmail.comAra Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetanack@xtra.co.nzAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranu/@hotmail.comBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bromwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdn:@gmail.comBaker,, Kelseykelsey. baker@hotmail.comBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBalantore Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBalantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarattA.ndyasbarratt@gmail.comBeer Hamb New Zealand Ltdmwy.ponsonby@beeffamist.co.nzBlackt, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlacktorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland37@gmail.comBoaratt, Agnaradgyann@gmail.comBoaratt, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlacktorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland37@gmail.comBoaratt, Gana Board Clarattaradgyann@gmail.comBusters South Incmike.colling@business-south.org.nzBuster Clarattacraig.Maka@claderstewart.co.nzCampbell Jomelzademetzants@chotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscocat.akc@googlemail.comCampbell, Alistairscocat.akc@googlemail.comCanterJury Regional Council	Anderson, Lesley	
Ara Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Correctionsmaurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nzAtkinson Janetjanack@xtra.co.nzAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranui@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Aisterbairdalisterwillambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdnz@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey.baker@hotmail.comBallance, Kelseykelsey.baker@hotmail.comBallance, Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltdmystiel@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmystiel@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmystiel@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.ivving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakatyla.boland87@gmail.comBrardaly, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBrard Syneraggyann@gmail.comBord Kaylakatyla.boland87@gmail.comBord Kaylakatyla.boland87@gmail.comBrard Kaylasconta.akc@googli.comBrard Kaylasconta.gegyann6@gmail.comBrard Kaylasconta.gegyann6@gmail.comBrard Kaylainda.buxton24@gmail.comBrard Kaylasconta.akc@googli.comBrard Kaylasconta.gegyann6@gmail.comBrard Kaylasconta.gegyann6@gmail.comBrard Kaylasconta.gegyann6@gmail.com </td <td>Angus, Alistair; Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett,</td> <td>Mrangus57@gmail.com</td>	Angus, Alistair; Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett,	Mrangus57@gmail.com
Atkinson JanetJanack@xtra.co.nzAurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranui@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey. baker@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBallanter Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclarabalantyne@columbacollge.school.nzBaratt,Andyasbaratt@gmail.comBeen Mistymystiel@hotmail.comBeer Hamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastordev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBoard Kaylakayla.boland87.ggmail.comBoard Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCarpbell Demelzademelzahartis@hotmail.comCarpbell Demelzademelzahartis@hotmail.comCarpbell Demelzacareter.smith.co.nzCarpbell Demelzacareter.smith.co.nzCarpbell Demelzacaretersmith.co.nzCarpbell Demelzadelasuinest.co.nzCarpbell Demelzaann.rodge	Aotearoa Water Action (AWA)	ngladding@hotmail.com
Aurora Energy Limitedangus.robertson@auroraenergy.nzBaille, Raranui@hotmail.comBailn, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdn2@gmail.comBaker,, Kelseykelsey_baker@hotmail.comBaker,, Kelseykelsey_baker@hotmail.comBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBalance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBalantyne Claraclarabalantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBer K Lanejane.black14@gmail.comBlack Horn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.bland87@gmail.comBrade Ly, SuewindSurfsue@hotmail.comBrade Ly, SuewindSurfsue@hotmail.comBrade Ly, SuewindSurfsue@hotmail.comBrade Ly, Suemaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nz <tr<< td=""><td>Ara Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Corrections</td><td>maurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nz</td></tr<<>	Ara Poutama Aotearoa the Department of Corrections	maurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nz
Baillie, Raranui@hotmail.comBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalistervillambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdnz@gmail.comBaker,, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBAlance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@balance.co.nzBallanct Agri-Nutrients Ltdasbarratt@gmail.comBeart Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeart Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeart Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBeer + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBalanct Agri-Nutrientstombev200@chotmail.comBeser + Lamb New Zealand Ltdbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmake.colins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānaucraig.Maaka@caderstewart.co.nzCampell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarporter, Ianscoota.ak@googlemail.comCarporter, Ianscoota.ak@googlemail.comCarporter, Iancontact.comCarporter, Iancontact.comCarporter, Iancontact.comCarporter, Iancontact.comCarterbury Regional	Atkinson Janet	janack@xtra.co.nz
Bain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBain, Bronwynthebainfamily@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey baker@notmail.comBalton MARTINrainbowfarmnz@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBallantyne Clarasabarratt@gmail.comBean Mistymystiel@hotmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBevridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBlack Janebridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack Horn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBuston, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCaider Stewartcraig.Maak@calderstewart.co.nzCaider Stewartsconza.ac@goolen.nzCamp.Susanreidosuzi@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarterJourg Douncil [E	Aurora Energy Limited	angus.robertson@auroraenergy.nz
Bain, Bronwynthebainfamilv@xtra.co.nzBaird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdn.2@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBaker, Kelseyclaraballantyne@clombacollege.school.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarnatt, Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBear Mistymay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack Horn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBroad Usan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusthon, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comGain whānauBen@cuee.nzCailder Stewartco.nzCampbell, Alistairscota.akc@googlemail.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarepter, Ianauctretrismith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedelatertersmith.co.nzCarental Otago Environmental Societypail.hompson@eca.govt.nzCarental Otago Environmental Societypail.hompson@eca.govt.nzCarental Otago Environmental Societypail.hompson@eca.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCarental	Baillie, Ra	<u>ranui@hotmail.com</u>
Baird Alisterbairdalisterwilliambaird@gmail.comBaird, Matthewmbairdn2@gmail.comBaker, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBALD MARTINrainbowfarmn2@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBear Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBoard Kaylakatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoand Kaylarache@brownandcompany.co.nzBradely, Suewindsuffsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCaider StewartCraig, Maaka@caiderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzacraig.Maaka@caiderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzacraig.Maaka@caiderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzacraig.Maaka@caiderstewart.co.nzCarger-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCarger-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCarger-Douglas, Debbiecargerasmith.co.nzCarger-Douglas, Debbiecargerasmith.co.nzCarger-Douglas, Debbiecaleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nz	Bain, Bronwyn	thebainfamily@xtra.co.nz
Baird, Matthewmbairdnz@gmail.comBaker,, KelseykelseyBALD MARTINrainbowfarmnz@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBaratt, Andyasbaratt@gmail.comBeen Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeer Hamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.ivring@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBoand Kaylakatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoand Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoard Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzCamp Susancraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp Susancraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarenter, Ianiancrontr@gmail.comCarenter, Ianiancrontr@gmail.comCareter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@atra.co.nz <tr <td="">Central Otago Environmental</tr>	Bain, Bronwyn	thebainfamily@xtra.co.nz
Baker, Kelseykelsey baker@hotmail.comBALD MARTINrainbowfarmnz@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBallantyne Claracalraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBear Mistymsytie1@hotmail.comBear Hamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatarine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatyla.boland87@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedwindsurfsu@hotmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsu@hotmail.comBuston, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comBuston, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCader StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzacertair.gmail.comCampbell Demelzascoota.akc@googlemail.comCarent-fury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarent Jotago District Councilmarcentregmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximilian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCarent Otago District Councilann.rodgers@out.ox.onCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@out.co.nzCentral Otago District Councilgraveshattkv@gmail.comCentral Otago	Baird Alisterbaird	alisterwilliambaird@gmail.com
BALD MARTINrainbowfarmnz@hotmail.comBallance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBean Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBear Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoand Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBradely, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBradely, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBradely, Suemike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuston, LindaInida.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCader Stewartcraig.Maaka@caderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Geraid (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter- Sacey-Douglas, Debbiemax@cartersmith.co.nzCarbopent, Idago District Councilm.nrodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago District Councilm.nrodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Furinomental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCarbopenter, Ianann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCarbopenter, Ianann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCarbopenter, Ianmanragers@codc.govt.nzCarbopenter, Ianmanragers@codc.govt.nzCarbopenter, Ianma	Baird, Matthew	mbairdnz@gmail.com
Ballance Agri-Nutrients Ltddominic.adams@ballance.co.nzBallantyne Claraclaraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nzBarratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBean Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeer H Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland37@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradely, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCader StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCarerter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerakl (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Sma@cartersmith.co.nzCaster, Gerakl (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Sma@cartersmith.co.nzCarter, Gerakl (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Sma@cartersmith.co.nzCarteral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@cod.govt.nzCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@cod.govt.nzCentral Otago Strict Souciationann.rodgers@cod.govt.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationann.rodgers@cod.govt.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationann.rodgers@co	Baker,, Kelsey	kelsey_baker@hotmail.com
Ballantyne Claraclaraballantyne @columbacollege.school.nzBarratt, Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBean Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009/hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakatyla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maak@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Janiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarperter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarpenter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarperter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarperter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarperter, Janann.rodgers@cude.govt.nzCarperter, Janann.rodgers@cude.govt.nzCarperter, Janann.rodgers@cude.govt.nzCarperter, Janann.rodgers@cude.govt.nzCarperter, Jancleadlights@outlook.comCarterJ Otago District Councilann.rodgers@cude.govt.nzCarpertar Otago	BALD MARTIN	rainbowfarmnz@hotmail.com
Barratt,Andyasbarratt@gmail.comBean Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradey, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCalder Stewartcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarperter, Iancalcealights@outlook.comCarperter, Iancalcealights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilmi.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Ibstrict Councilmi.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgraveshattk/@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationand.y@mishasvineyard.com	Ballance Agri-Nutrients Ltd	dominic.adams@ballance.co.nz
Bean Mistymystie1@hotmail.comBeef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoare Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuston, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanrebury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.tompson@ecan.govt.nzCarare, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzcasey-Douglas, DebbieCarteral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murra@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Ballantyne Clara	claraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nz
Beef + Lamb New Zealand Ltdmay, ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nzBeveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarnerbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.tompson@ecan.govt.nzCarsey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCartarl Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCartarl Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Barratt,Andy	asbarratt@gmail.com
Beveridge Thomastombev2009@hotmail.comBig Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCaider StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCader Stewartcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCarterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarpeter, Iancharpersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Bean Misty	mystie1@hotmail.com
Big Stone Forest Limitedbridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nzBlack, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCaider StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCadder Stewartcraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidoszie@icloud.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCarterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCargey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Beef + Lamb New Zealand Ltd	may.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nz
Black, Janejane.black14@gmail.comBlackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakatyla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCarter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarsey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Beveridge Thomas	tombev2009@hotmail.com
Blackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limitedkatharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nzBoland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Big Stone Forest Limited	bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
Boland Kaylakayla.boland87@gmail.comBoxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationand.y@mishasvineyard.com	Black, Jane	jane.black14@gmail.com
Boxer Hills Trustrachel@brownandcompany.co.nzBradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Blackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limited	
Bradley, Suewindsurfsue@hotmail.comBroad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Boland Kayla	kayla.boland87@gmail.com
Broad Susan, Broad Donaldraggyann6@gmail.comBusiness South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Boxer Hills Trust	rachel@brownandcompany.co.nz
Business South Incmike.collins@business-south.org.nzBuxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Bradley, Sue	
Buxton, Lindalinda.buxton24@gmail.comCain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		raggyann6@gmail.com
Cain whānauBen@cuee.nzCalder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	Business South Inc	
Calder StewartCraig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nzCamp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		_
Camp, Susanreidosuzie@icloud.comCampbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-S max@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		
Campbell Demelzademelzaharris@hotmail.comCampbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		
Campbell, Alistairscoota.akc@googlemail.comCanterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		
Canterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nzCarpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	•	
Carpenter, Ianiancrpntr@gmail.comCarter, Gerald(passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-Smax@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	•	
Carter, Gerald (passed away send info to Maximillian Carter-S max@cartersmith.co.nzCasey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		
Casey-Douglas, Debbiedcleadlights@outlook.comCentral Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	•	
Central Otago District Councilann.rodgers@codc.govt.nzCentral Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		
Central Otago Environmental Societyphilh.murray@xtra.co.nzCentral Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com		-
Central Otago Heritage Trustgrayeshattky@gmail.comCentral Otago Winegrowers Associationandy@mishasvineyard.com	-	
Central Otago Winegrowers Association andy@mishasvineyard.com		
Central South Island Fish and Game Council <u>nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz</u>		
	Central South Island Fish and Game Council	nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz

Chambers, Lady Deborah debchambers@bankside.co.nz Chapman Jon doubleopards@hotmail.com zcharnin@gmail.com Charnin Zoe Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Lim chris@incite.co.nz Christchurch International Airport Limited (CIAL) aime.green@chapmantripp.com cadencebchung@gmail.com Chung, Cadence **City Forests Limited** peter.oliver@cityforests.co.nz **Clements Fiona** senorita.awesumo@gmail.com **Contact Energy Limited** chris.drayton@contactenergy.co.nz **Coonrod Michael** wanakawoodenboats@gmail.com **Cosy Homes Charitable Trust** info@cosyhomes.org.nz Crawford Phillipa pccrawford14@hotmail.com Currie, Adam Adamkmcurrie@gmail.com Currie, Mike currance@xtra.co.nz Cuthers, Maggie maggiecuthers@gmail.com DairyNZ Limited Carina.ross@dairynz.co.nz Derek.mclachlan@gallawaycookallan.co.nz Daisy Link Garden Centres Limited Danny Walker, Peter Hall, Cold Gold Clutha Ltd and Awa Kour kate.mckenzie@tprl.co.nz Darby Asset Management LP, Henley Downs Farm Holdings Ltd, Willow Pond Farm Ltd, Glendhu Bay Trustees Ltd, Glencoe Land Development Company Ltd, Mt Christina Ltd, Jacks Point Land Ltd, Jacks Point Village Holdings No 2 Ltd, Lowburn Land Holdings LP, Blackmans Creek Holdings Limited maree.baker-galloway@al.nz marianna.davi@hotmail.com Davi Marianna Davies. Laurie deloreanx2@gmail.com Dawood Hana hana.groot@gmail.com Dawson, Nick nickgueer@hotmail.com Deer Industry New Zealand Lindsay.Fung@deernz.org Dennison, Ann ann.dennison@xtra.co.nz johncrawforddickson@gmail.com Dickson John **Director-General of Conservation** mbrass@doc.govt.nz hollydove88@gmail.com Dove Holly Dowsett Lila lila.dowsett@gmail.com Ducrot, Barbara barbara.ducrot@gmail.com Duncan, Brent & Kelley fishybrent@hotmail.co.nz sarah.hickey@dcc.govt.nz **Dunedin City Council Dunedin International Airport Limited** Phil.page@gallawaycookallan.co.nz Elliott, Joy d.elliott@xtra.co.nz Ellis Kylie kyeellis1@gmail.com **Environmental Defence Society** shay@eds.org.nz environmentaljusticeotepoti@gmail.com Environmental Justice Ötepoti Ernslaw One Ltd Peter.Weir@Ernslaw.co.nz Evans, Meg mp3evans@outlook.com Extinction Rebellion Queenstown Lakes annasimmonds@gmail.com Federated Farmers of New Zealand elinscott@fedfarm.org.nz Field, Anthony ants.field@gmail.com ants.field@gmail.com Field, Anthony Fire and Emergency New Zealand – Te Kei Region (Otago/Sou liz.metsers@fireandemergency.nz Fischer, Elaine efischer@workmail.com Fisheries New Zealand, Ministry for Primary Industries jean.davis@mpi.govt.nz

559

560

Flanagan, Katherine Fluit Irene Flux, Tracey Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited Foothills Mining Ltd **Fouke Bernard** Frazer, lan Frew, Sharon **Fulton Hogan Limited** Gardner, Bill Gerber, Daniel Gillis Stasha Girling,Kit **Glenpanel Limited Partnership** Gollan Malcolm Goodman Kate Graymont (NZ) Limited Greaves, Paul George Greenpeace Aotearoa and 1259 supporters / direct submitter crose@greenpeace.org Gregor, Sarita **Gregory Nicky** Griffin, J Frank T Grimmett David (gone; replaced by Rita Przybilski ) Hannah, Patricia Harbour Fish, Southern Fantastic and Fantastic Holdings Harriss, Gavin Hartstone Jayne Hattrill, Richard Hawkins, David Henderson Marie-Claire Hendry, Tania Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Herlihy, Gavan James Highton, John Hippolite,Tyler Hodges, Suzanne Hogg, Gary Hopkins, Jim Horn, Rosie Horticulture New Zealand Horticulture New Zealand Horticulture New Zealand **Horwell Marion** Hoskin, Linda Howson, Andrew Richard Hudson, Peta Hughes, Siobhan Infinity Investment Group Holdings Limited James Helen James. Neil Jamieson, Philippa

katherine.m.flanagan@gmail.com irenefluit@gmail.com tracey.flux@gmail.com Ben.Williams@chapmantripp.com foothillsmining@gmail.com bfouke@xtra.co.nz ian.frazer@gmail.com mccomb.frew@xtra.co.nz tensor@tonkintaylor.co.nz billrg54@gmail.com gerberasetz@yahoo.com stasa@autistici.org Kit.girling@gmail.com blair@vivianespie.co.nz malcolmgollan@gmail.com kateegoodman@gmail.com bmurray@graymont.com pgreaves@xtra.co.nz sarita.macgregor@gmail.com gregorynicky@icloud.com frank.griffin@otago.ac.nz rita.przybilski@otago.ac.nz patriciaahannah@gmail.com chanelgardner@yahoo.com gavin@paydirt.co.nz jaynemadeline@gmail.com mmscreening@bigpond.com drhawkins50@gmail.com marieclaire.henderson@gmail.com tanzandmj@hotmail.com fdavies@heritage.org.nz herlihy@xtra.co.nz John.highton@otago.ac.nz tyler.hippolite@gmail.com antiguasue@hotmail.com garyhogg2004@xtra.co.nz jimhop46@gmail.com rihorn@photogirl.co.nz amelia.scharting@holmmajurey.nz nicola.buxeda@holmmajurey.nz louise.ford@holmmajurey.nz marionhorwell@gmail.com linda.hoskin@windowslive.com andrewrhowson@gmail.com peta@unifone.net.nz siobhan.hughes@outlook.com sarah.eveleigh@al.nz helenj83@live.com neiljames.otago@gmail.com philippa@earthlight.co.nz

561

Jarvis. Linda Jarvis, Stephen Jones, Danelle Joostens, Phillip Joyce, Peta Karimi, Abtin Kaufman, Dylan Keir, Mike **Keller Christine** Kerby Georgia Kern, Don Khouri Camille Kielgaard, Chris Kok, Robert Matthew Kramer, Mark J Kroon, Hanneke LAC Properties Trustees Limited Lakin, Emma Lamb Toria Lambert, Jeff Lane Hocking Larson, Tanya Lauder Creek Farming Lawrence, Louise Lawrie, Karla lentell harry Leusink, Maxim, Liddell, Elizabeth Liddicoat, Stuart Lopes, Eva Lowe, Michael Manawa Energy (formerly Trustpower Limited) Manuherekia Catchment Group (Incorporated Society) marcjoniak, krystyna Marks, Marj Marquand, Marion Marguand, Marion Marshall, Jonathan Marshall, Lis Maryhill Limited Matakanui Gold Limited Matheson Maire McArthur Ridge Vineyard Ltd Mccafferty, Sue McCall, Lloyd mcclintock Lorraine Mccutcheon Michael McDonald, Mark McDonald, Tania **Mcentee Phill** Mcentee, Phill

ljarvis.qt@gmail.com last1jarvis@gmail.com dnell.jones@gmail.com boaraxa@yahoo.co.nz petajoyce9@gmail.com cleanwalk.ourplanet@gmail.com dylan.kaufman123@gmail.com mike@jfk.nz mindmade@hotmail.com georgiakerby@gmail.com apteryx05@gmail.com camillekhouri@gmail.com chriskjelgaard@hotmail.com R.BKok@xtra.co.nz mjkramer@xtra.co.nz jakro@pl.net laura.mclaughlan@al.nz ems.lakin@hotmail.com mstorialamb@gmail.com alpbuild03@gmail.com laura.mclaughlan@al.nz tanya.renew@mail.com office@laudercreek.co.nz loulaw22@gmail.com karla.lawrie@gmail.com harrylentell4@gmail.com maxim leusink@hotmail.com lidmail@xtra.co.nz bigstuliddicoat@gmail.com evamplopes@gmail.com channel\_z@hotmail.com nicola.foran@manawaenergy.co.nz susie@mckconsultancy.co.nz cooper.krystyna@gmail.com sunnyjak@hotmail.com mmarquand@hotmail.com mmarquand@hotmail.com joe8326@gmail.com lis.marshall@icloud.com laura.mclaughlan@al.nz anita@townplanning.co.nz lachlan.maire@gmail.com robin@nimbusgroup.co.nz suemccafferty@xtra.co.nz lloyd@m90fs.co.nz peterfrancis@orcon.net.nz starboy31068@yahoo.com.au mcdonaldmac@ctra.co.nz tania@mcdonald.kiwi.nz phillmcentee@gmail.com phillmcentee@gmail.com

McGregor, Kitt Mcmillan, Samantha Melbourne Janet Meldrum Sophia Mercury NZ Ltd. Meridian Energy Limited **Micoud Florence** Miller Zena Minister for the Environment Ministry of Education Mokihinui Gold Ltd **Monckton Brian** Moore, Melissa Morgan, Andrea **Moutere Station** Mt Cardrona Station Network Waitaki Limited ("NWL") New Zealand Carbon Farming New Zealand Cherry Corp Limited New Zealand Defence Force New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga Ngāi Tahu Forestry NZ Pork Oceana Gold (New Zealand) Ltd O'Connor, Denis Off Road Adventures Limited Oliver, Jared Olsen Jen O'Neill, Shaun Otago Fish and Game Council **Otago Regional Council Otago Regional Council Otago Regional Council** Otago Rock Lobster Industry Association Inc and Pauamac 5 Irkatekhesson@gmail.com Otago Water Resource Users Group Palmer, Liz Parcell, Edgar Paul Estee Pereira, Janet Pilcher, Colleen Pomahaka Water Care Group PONCE, Raphaël Port Blakely NZ Ltd Port Otago Ltd Porteous,Sonya **PowerNet Limited** Prebble, Thomas price Frances Pritchard, Christopher **Quartly Victoria** Queenstown Airport Corporation Ltd

kittmcgregor@gmail.com samantha.mcmillan@hotmail.com herbmed@xtra.co.nz sophiameldrum@gmail.com fraser.graafhuis@mercury.co.nz andrew.feierabend@meridianenergy.co.nz florencemicoud@gmail.com cyrilzena@xtra.co.nz Macaela.flanagan@mfe.govt.nz Kate.Graham@beca.com nevisnugget@gmail.com monckton.brian@gmail.com tearapuna@gmail.com morgie@orcon.net.nz office@mouterestation.co.nz laura.mclaughlan@al.nz megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz ainsley@amconsulting.co.nz sarah.eveleigh@al.nz sbevin@tonkintaylor.co.nz robert.addison@tewaihanga.govt.nz jane.higgins@ntforestry.co.nz penny.cairns@pork.co.nz alison.paul@oceanagold.com paulo 66@outlook.co.nz ben@cuee.nz jared m oliver@hotmail.com jen.olsen@slingshot.co.nz shaun.oneill@talktalk.net nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz warren.hanley@orc.govt.nz alastair.logan@rossdowling.co.nz Thea.Sefton@rossdowling.co.nz bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz lizetapalmer@gmail.com edgarparcell@xtra.co.nz esteepaul6@gmail.com jaynedpereira2@gmail.com colleen@earthsong.org.nz lloyd@m90fs.co.nz raphael.ponce77@gmail.com zrobinson@portblakely.com joanne.dowd@portotago.co.nz songreenstone@gmail.com megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz thomasprebble@hotmail.com hadlow@beswickprice.net chris@hhq.nz victoriaquartly@gmail.com melissa.brook@queenstownairport.co.nz

563

**Queenstown Lakes District Council Ravensdown Limited Rayonier Matariki Forests Reeves Saleema Reid Pete Reitze Christine** Remy, Melanie **Rolfe Steffan** Ronald, David Rose, Christine Rose, Julie Rowe, Raewyn Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society NZ Rubensdoerffer, Birgit Rural Contractors New Zealand Inc. Rust, Rod Salis, Sergio Sandhu, Shammi Sanford Limited Schenk, Saskia Schlup Martin Scott Ilona Scown, Jan Scurrah Lisa Sewhoy, Tony Shannon Patrick Shaping Our Future Sharpe, Kelly Ann Sharpe, Toby William Montague Shimshon Yael Silver Fern Farms Simmons, Wilf Sinclair Manu Sipka Holdings Ltd Skinner, Evelyn, M Skinner\_Evelyn\_M Smith Paul Sole, Matthew Southern Inshore Fisheries Management Company Limited **Stebbings Brenda** Stent Hayley Stephens, Sam Stevenson, Judy Stewart, Lynne **Stokes Patrick** Stop Central Otago Airport Straterra Strath Clyde Water Ltd, McArthur Ridge Investment Group Ltcnorman.elder@awslegal.co.nz Sullivan, Jillian Sustainable Tarras Incorporated Society Suszko Donna

Erin.auchterlonie@gldc.govt.nz carmen@planzconsultants.co.nz andy.fleming@rayonier.com ma.saleema@xtra.co.nz petelisareid@xtra.co.nz christine.reitze@gmail.com melotago@gmail.com steffan.rolfe@xtra.co.nz jronald86@outlook.com christine.rose25@gmail.com kiwimusume@gmail.com rowe.clan@gmail.com P.Anderson@forestandbird.org.nz rubensd@web.de graeme.mathieson@mitchelldaysh.co.nz rodrust@xtra.co.nz sergio.salis@gmail.com shammi@xtra.co.nz AUndorf-Lay@sanford.co.nz saskia@vandergeest.co.nz mkschlup@xtra.co.nz ilonkazofia@gmail.com jan.scown@icloud.com lisa.scurrah@gmail.com tsewhoy@gmail.com patdinashannon@gmail.com executive@shapingourfuture.org.nz kellygynz@hotmail.com tobysharpe@mac.com yaels211@gmail.com steve.tuck@mitchelldaysh.co.nz wds555@outlook.com manu.sinclair@xtra.co.nz blair@vivianespie.co.nz evelynm.skinner1@gmail.com evelynm.skinner1@gmail.com paulsorrelsmith@gmail.com solem@xtra.co.nz cscott@southerninshore.co.nz stebbings.brenda@gmail.com hayley.stent@outlook.com sam@prospectsolutions.co.nz judystevenson@xtra.co.nz phil.lynne2@xtra.co.nz pat.stokes@hotmail.co.uk stopcentralotagoairport@gmail.com jeremy@straterra.co.nz jilliansullivan25@gmail.com Chris.goddard@blackswannz.com

donna.suszko99@gmail.com

Sutherland Andrew suthinch@xtra.co.nz karen\_knighton@hotmail.com Swainson, Karen Sycamore, Darryl Darryl@terramark.co.nz Tait Merren merrentait@gmail.com Tanner Rebecca becsskinner@mac.com **Taylor Storm** stormytaylor@hotmail.com Te Rūnanga o Moeraki, Kāti Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki, Te sandra@aukaha.co.nz Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu Tanya.Stevens@ngaitahu.iwi.nz Tengvar, Frida skogsdis@hotmail.com The Otago Fish and Game Council and the Central South Islan nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz **Thomson Chris** gytommo@xtra.co.nz Thomson Dawn dawnthomson@xtra.co.nz Thomson, Charlie charliethomson16@gmail.com **Thorne Jeanette** jcanthorne@gmail.com Thorne Jeanette jcanthorne@gmail.com Todi, Emese Erika todierika@yahoo.com Toitū Te Whenua, Land Information New Zealand IGunn@LINZ.govt.nz Transpower New Zealand Limited ainsley@amconsulting.co.nz **Trojan Holdings** ben@cuee.nz **Turner Brian** blturner@xtra.co.nz Turner, Sukhinder sukhiturner@xtra.co.nz Tussock Rise Ltd blair@vivianespie.co.nz Universal Developments Hawea Limited laura.mclaughlan@al.nz Universal Developments Hawea Limited and Lane Hocking laura.mclaughlan@al.nz University of Otago kevin.wood@otago.ac.nz Upper Clutha Angling Club johnbinney@iinet.net.au Valentine-Robertson, Adair adairvalrob@gmail.com van der Zwet, David wayne@aqa.org.nz Van Eyndhoven Sarah sjv44@uclive.ac.nz van Heugten, Melle lizzy.vanh@gmail.com Vergeer, Bligh bligh.vergeer@gmail.com mvergeerforestry@farmside.co.nz Vergeer, Marius WAI Wanaka julie@waiwanaka.nz Waihōpai Rūnaka, Te Rūnanga Ōraka Aparima, Te Rūnanga o maria.bartlett@tami.maori.nz Waitaki District Council vvanderspek@waitaki.govt.nz Waitaki Irrigators Collective Limited ejcsoal@icloud.com Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust manager@whitestonegeopark.nz Waite Katrine katywaite51@gmail.com Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency richard.shaw@nzta.govt.nz Wapstra, Miem miemkrieger@gmail.com Warrington, Aaron azza76@gmail.com Waterfall Park Developments Limited rachel@brownandcompany.co.nz Wayfare Group Limited ben@cuee.nz waymouthmhl@gmail.com Waymouth Mary Welschof, Dirk dirk.welschof@gmx.de Wickham, Jane jane.wickham@icloud.com Williams John johngwill43@gmail.com Wilson, Terry tww@slingshot.co.nz Wise Response Society Inc secretary@wiseresponse.org.nz Wolken, Deborah deborahwolken@gmail.com Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust science-advisor@yeptrust.org.nz

Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited, Mobil Oil NZ Limited Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited, Mobil Oil NZ Limited gavin.mccullagh@slrconsulting.com miles.rowe@slrconsulting.com felicity@incite.co.nz sarah.scott@simpsongrierson.com